
 

Lloyd White 
Head of Democratic Services 
London Borough of Hillingdon, 
3E/05, Civic Centre, High Street, Uxbridge, UB8 1UW 
www.hillingdon.gov.uk 

   

Cabinet 

 

   

Date: THURSDAY, 25 JULY 2013 
 

Time: 7.00 PM 
 

Venue: COMMITTEE ROOM 6 - 
CIVIC CENTRE, HIGH 
STREET, UXBRIDGE, UB8 
1UW 
 

  
Meeting 
Details: 

Members of the Public and 
Press are welcome to attend 
this meeting  
 

 

 
 
 
Councillors in the Cabinet: 
 
Ray Puddifoot (Chairman) 
Leader of the Council 
 

David Simmonds (Vice-Chairman) 
Deputy Leader / Education & Children’s Services 
 

Jonathan Bianco 
Finance, Property & Business Services 
 

Keith Burrows 
Planning, Transportation & Recycling 
 

Philip Corthorne 
Social Services, Health & Housing 
 

Douglas Mills 
Community, Commerce & Regeneration 
 

Scott Seaman-Digby 
Central Services 
 
 

  
Published: Wednesday, 17 July 2013 

 
 
This agenda and associated 
reports can be made available  
in other languages, in braille, 
large print or on audio tape on 
request.  Please contact us for 
further information.  
 

 Contact: Mark Braddock 
Tel: 01895 250470 
Fax: 01895 277373 
Email: mbraddock@hillingdon.gov.uk 

 
This Agenda is available online at:  
www.hillingdon.gov.uk 

Public Document Pack



 

 

Useful information for  
residents and visitors 
 
Travel and parking 
 
Bus routes 427, U1, U3, U4 and U7 all stop at 
the Civic Centre. Uxbridge underground station, 
with the Piccadilly and Metropolitan lines, is a 
short walk away. Limited parking is available at 
the Civic Centre. For details on availability and 
how to book a parking space, please contact 
Democratic Services 
 
Please enter from the Council’s main reception 
where you will be directed to the Committee 
Room.  
 
Accessibility 
 
An Induction Loop System is available for use in 
the various meeting rooms. Please contact us for 
further information.  
 
Reporting and filming of meetings 
 
Residents and the media are welcomed to report the proceedings of the public parts of this 
meeting. Any individual or organisation wishing to film proceedings will be permitted, 
subject to 48 hours advance notice and compliance with the Council’s protocol on such 
matters. The Democratic Services contact shown on the front of this agenda should be 
contacted first for further information. 
 
Emergency procedures 
 
If there is a FIRE, you will hear a continuous alarm. Please follow the signs to the nearest 
FIRE EXIT and assemble on the Civic Centre forecourt. Lifts must not be used unless 
instructed by a Fire Marshal or Security Officer. 
 
In the event of a SECURITY INCIDENT, follow instructions issued via the tannoy, a Fire 
Marshal or a Security Officer. Those unable to evacuate using the stairs, should make their 
way to the signed refuge locations. 
 
 
 
 

 
 

 



 

Notice (5-day) 
 
Notice of Intention to conduct business in private, any representations received and 
any urgent key decisions 
 
Whilst much of the business on the agenda for this meeting will be open to the public and 
media to attend, there will be some business to be considered that contains, for example, 
confidential, commercially sensitive or personal information. This is shown in Part 2 of the 
agenda. This is formal notice under The Local Authorities (Executive Arrangements) 
(Meetings and Access to Information) (England) Regulations 2012 to confirm that the 
Cabinet meeting to be held on: 
 

CABINET 
25 July 2013 

7pm, Committee Room 6 
 
will be held partly in private. The reason for this is because the private (Part 2) reports 
listed on the agenda for the meeting will contain either confidential information or exempt 
information under Part 1 of Schedule 12A to the Local Government (Access to Information) 
Act 1985 (as amended) and that the public interest in withholding the information 
outweighs the public interest in disclosing it. A list of the reports which are expected to be 
considered at this meeting in both public and private are set out in a list on this agenda 
and notice, including a number indicating the reason why a particular decision will be taken 
in private under the categories set out below: 
 
(1)  information relating to any individual 
(2)  information which is likely to reveal the identity of an individual 
(3)  information relating to the financial or business affairs of any particular person 

(including the authority holding that information) 
(4)  information relating to any consultations or negotiations, or contemplated 

consultations or negotiations, in connection with any labour relations matter arising 
between the authority or a Minister of the Crown and employees of, or office holders 
under, the authority. 

(5)  Information in respect of which a claim to legal professional privilege could be 
maintained in legal proceedings. 

(6) Information which reveals that the authority proposes  (a) to give under any 
enactment a notice under or by virtue of which requirements are imposed on a 
person; or (b) to make an order or direction under any enactment. 

(7)  Information relating to any action taken or to be taken in connection with the 
prevention, investigation or prosecution of crime. 

 
28 clear days notice of this Cabinet meeting (part to be held in private) and the decisions 
to be made has been given. The only exceptions to this are agenda items (no. 5) HS2 
Update and (no.22) Framework Agreement for Major Adaptations Works, where it was 
impracticable to give sufficient notice. The Chairman of the Executive Scrutiny Committee 
was notified in writing about these unscheduled reports. 
 
No representations have been received regarding this meeting. 
 
London Borough of Hillingdon 
 



 

Agenda 
 
 
 

1 Apologies for Absence  
 

2 Declarations of Interest in matters before this meeting  
 

3 To approve the minutes of the last Cabinet meeting 1 - 12 
 

4 To confirm that the items of business marked Part 1 will be 
considered in public and that the items of business marked Part 2 in 
private 

 
 

 

 
Cabinet Reports - Part 1 (Public) 
 

5 High Speed 2 Update (Cllrs Puddifoot & Burrows) 13 - 126 
 

6 Report from the Residents' & Environmental Services Policy 
Overview & Scrutiny Committees 2012/13 - A Review into local Pest 
Control Services and the impact of Waste Management processes on 
them (Cllrs Bianco, Burrows & Corthorne) 

127 - 162 
 

7 Joint Adult Mental Health Commissioning Plan 2013/15                    
(Cllrs Corthorne & Seaman-Digby) 

163 - 256 
 

8 Integrating Public Health in Hillingdon (Cllr Corthorne) 257 - 270 
 

9 Budget 2012/13 Outturn (Cllr Bianco) 271 - 300 
 

10 Monthly Council Budget Monitoring Report 2013/14 (Cllr Bianco) 301 - 342 
 

11 School Places Planning Update (Cllr Simmonds) 343 - 350 
 



 

 
Cabinet Reports - Part 2 (Private and Not for Publication) 
 

12 School Capital Programme Update (Cllrs Bianco & Simmonds) 351 - 364 
 

13 Contract Award for Meals on Wheels (Cllr Corthorne) 365 - 376 
 

14 Contract Award for Preventive Drop In and Outreach Service for 
Disabled People with Low or Moderate Needs (Cllr Corthorne) 

377 - 392 
 

15 Contract Hire of Winter Maintenance vehicles (Cllr Bianco) 393 - 402 
 

16 Repair and Maintenance of the Council Vehicle Fleet (Cllr Bianco) 403 - 408 
 

17 Contract Extension for Generic Carers Support Service and Young 
Carers Service (Cllrs Corthorne) 

409 - 424 
 

18 Contract Extension for Extra Care Housing provision of personal care 
(Cllr Corthorne) 

425 - 430 
 

19 Contract Award for Uxbridge Library Refurbishment (Cllr Bianco) 431 - 444 
 

20 Framework Agreement for Major Adaptations Works (Cllr Bianco) 445 - 458 
 

21 Collation & processing of rubble & hard core aggregates for highways 
functions (Cllr Burrows) 

459 - 466 
 

22 Land at Highfield Crescent, Northwood (Cllr Bianco) 467 - 472 
 

23 Park Lodge Farm, Harefield (Cllr Bianco) 473 - 526 
 

24 Voluntary Sector Leases (Cllr Bianco) 527 - 536 
 

 
The reports listed above in Part 2 are not made public because they contains exempt 
information under Part 1 of Schedule 12A to the Local Government (Access to Information) 
Act 1985 (as amended) and that the public interest in withholding the information outweighs 
the public interest in disclosing it. 

 
 

25 Any other items the Chairman agrees are relevant or urgent  
 



This page is intentionally left blank



_________________________________________________________________________ 
 

- Page 1 - 

Minutes 
 
Cabinet 
Thursday, 20 June 2013 
Meeting held at Committee Room 6 - Civic Centre, 
High Street, Uxbridge, UB8 1UW 
 

 

Published on: 21 June 2013 
* Decisions come into effect on: 28 June 2013 

 
 

 Cabinet Members Present:  
Ray Puddifoot (Chairman) 
David Simmonds (Vice-Chairman) 
Jonathan Bianco 
Keith Burrows 
Philip Corthorne 
Douglas Mills 
 
Members also Present:  
John Riley 
Susan O'Brien 
Wayne Bridges 
Brian Crowe 
Peter Curling 
Paul Harmsworth 
Henry Higgins 
 

783. APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE 
 
Councillor Scott Seaman-Digby gave his apologies for the meeting. 
 

784. DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST IN MATTERS BEFORE THIS MEETING 
 
Councillor Douglas Mills declared a non-pecuniary interest in Item 5 (minute 787) as 
his property would potentially be affected by the Government’s proposals. He 
remained in the room during the Leader’s update on the item. There was no vote on 
the matter. 
 

785. TO APPROVE THE MINUTES OF THE LAST CABINET MEETING 
 
The decisions and minutes of the last Cabinet meeting were agreed as a correct 
record. 
 

786. TO CONFIRM THAT THE ITEMS OF BUSINESS MARKED PART 1 WILL BE 
CONSIDERED IN PUBLIC AND THAT THE ITEMS OF BUSINESS MARKED 
PART 2 IN PRIVATE 
 
This was confirmed. 
 
 

Agenda Item 3

Page 1



_________________________________________________________________________ 
 

- Page 2 - 
 

 
787. UPDATE ON HIGH SPEED 2 

 
The Leader updated Cabinet on the status of the campaign against the 
Government’s proposals for High Speed 2, which were currently being considered by 
the Court of Appeal with an announcement likely soon. 
 
 

788. POLICE PARTNERSHIP TASKING TEAM 
 
RESOLVED: 
 
That the Cabinet: 
 
1. Authorises the Deputy Chief Executive and Corporate Director of Residents 

Services, in consultation with the Cabinet Member for Community, 
Commerce & Regeneration, to sign any necessary agreements and make 
grant funding available to the Metropolitan Police Service in the sum of 
£462,000 per annum for the period 1 March 2013 to 31 March 2014 on terms 
that require the Metropolitan Police to provide eleven additional police 
officers to serve within the London Borough of Hillingdon;  
 

2. Authorises the Deputy Chief Executive and Corporate Director of Residents 
Services, in consultation with the Cabinet Member for Community, 
Commerce & Regeneration, to enter into negotiations with the Metropolitan 
Police Service with a view to providing further grant funding to the 
Metropolitan Police in the sum of £462,000 per annum for the period 1 April 
2014 to 31 March 2016 on terms that are broadly similar to the 
arrangements for the period 1 March 2013 to 31 March 2014; and; 
 

3. Requests that the Deputy Chief Executive and Corporate Director for 
Residents Services refers items 1 and / or 2 (as applicable) back to the 
Cabinet in the event that match funding is not provided by the Mayor of 
London in respect of the provision of additional policing within the 
Borough.  

 
Reasons for decision 
 
Cabinet agreed to provide grant funding to the Metropolitan Police Service to be 
used for the provision of enhanced police services within the London Borough of 
Hillingdon to support the Council and residents’ community safety priorities.  
 
Alternative options considered and rejected 
 
Cabinet could have decide not to make further grant funding available which would 
have had a negative impact in tackling priority crime and disorder issues in the 
Borough. 
 
 
 

Page 2



_________________________________________________________________________ 
 

- Page 3 - 
 

 
Officer to action: 
 
Ed Shaylor – Residents Services 
 
 

789. PURCHASE OF CARBON ALLOWANCES 
 
RESOLVED: 
 
That Cabinet:  
 

1) Approve the purchase of allowances (estimated to be in the range of 
£328,000 to £340,000) from the Department of Energy and Climate 
Change to cover energy emissions (tonnes of carbon dioxide tCO2) 
produced during the 2012/13 Financial Year and regulated by the CRC 
Energy Efficiency Scheme Legislation; 

 
2) Agree that officers submit the Annual Report to the Environment 

Agency and; 
 
3) Note that the final cost of allowances for 2012/13 and the Council’s 

qualification status for Phase 2 of the CRC EES will be reported to 
Cabinet in September 2013. 

 
Reasons for decision 
 
Cabinet noted that the purchase of such allowances ensured that the Council 
complied with UK Legislation relating to energy efficiency. 
 
Alternatives considered and rejected 
 
Cabinet could have decided not to purchase and surrender allowances for its energy 
emissions (tonnes of carbon dioxide) regulated but would have then been in breach 
of the CRC Order and could have faced fines from the Environment Agency. 
 
Officer to action: 
 
Richard Coomber – Residents Services 
 

790. QUARTERLY PLANNING OBLIGATIONS MONITORING REPORT 
 
RESOLVED: 
 
That the Cabinet notes the updated financial information attached to the 
report. 
 
 
 
 

Page 3



_________________________________________________________________________ 
 

- Page 4 - 
 

 
Reasons for decision 
 
Cabinet noted the report which detailed the financial planning obligations held by the 
Council and what progress had, and was, being made. 
 
Alternative options considered and rejected 
 
To not report to Cabinet.  However, Cabinet believed it was an example of good 
practice to monitor income and expenditure against specific planning agreements.  
 
Officer to action: 
 
Nicola Wyatt, Residents Services 
 
 

791. SPECIAL EDUCATIONAL NEEDS TRAVEL ASSISTANCE AND TRANSPORT 
 
RESOLVED: 
 
That Cabinet: 
  

1) Approve the SEN Travel Assistance and Travel Policy (Appendix A) for 
adoption and implementation; 

 
2) Agree the award of 29 suppliers onto a Framework Agreement to 

provide all Home to School and SEN transport routes for 4 years (Lot 1); 
 

3) Agree the award of 3 suppliers onto a Framework Agreement for the 
provision of general taxi/transportation requirements to the Council 
(non Home to School/SEN Transport) (Lot 2) and; 

 
4) Agree the award of a 4 year contract to Cruise Minibuses Ltd to provide 

emergency transportation requirements in accordance with Civil 
Protection requirements (Lot 3). 

 
Reasons for decision 
 
Cabinet agreed a revised Special Educational Needs Travel Assistance and 
Transport Policy to support children and young people move towards independence 
and empowerment. Cabinet also made decisions in relation to the supporting 
framework agreement in order to implement this policy cost effectively. 
 
Alternative options considered and rejected 
 
Cabinet could have continued with the existing policy, which would not have 
supported the transformation changes being implemented across the Council. 
 
 
 

Page 4



_________________________________________________________________________ 
 

- Page 5 - 
 

 
Officer to action: 
 
Steve Palmer – Residents Services 
 
Exempt information 
 
Part of this decision was considered in the private part of the meeting under Item 10 
(minute 792). 
 
 

792. SPECIAL EDUCATIONAL NEEDS TRAVEL ASSISTANCE AND TRANSPORT - 
TENDER INFORMATION 
 
Cabinet considered the tender information on this item in relation to the 
previous report on the agenda. 
 
Exempt Information 
 
This information was included in Part II as it contained information relating to the 
financial or business affairs of any particular person (including the Authority holding 
that information) and the public interest in withholding the information outweighed 
the public interest in disclosing it (exempt information under paragraph 3 of Part 1 of 
Schedule 12A to the Local Government (Access to Information) Act 1985 as 
amended. 
 
 

793. SCHOOL CONDITION PROGRAMME OF WORKS 2013/14 (CLLRS BIANCO AND 
SIMMONDS) 
 
RESOLVED: 
 
That Cabinet: 
 

1. Notes the interim and longer-term work being done to improve the 
condition and fabric of the school estate and endorses the procurement 
strategy and the Allowable Solutions approach as set out in the report. 

 
2. Delegates authority to the Deputy Chief Executive and Corporate 

Director of Residents Services, in consultation with the Leader of the 
Council and Cabinet Member for Property, Finance and Business 
Services to: 

 
• Agree the priority programme of works and additional school 

requirements for 2013/14, as shown in appendix 1, and all 
necessary decisions in relation to further condition surveys 
required to support or shape this; 

 
• Agree any consequential works required in respect of Building 

Regulations as set out in the report; 

Page 5



_________________________________________________________________________ 
 

- Page 6 - 
 

 
• Agree a policy to determine fair contributions from schools to 

such condition works and authorise officers to implement this 
policy in negotiation with schools;  

 
• Authorise any urgent unforeseen works required during 2013/14 

and; 
 

• Procure and authorise all necessary matters in relation to such 
construction and associated consultancy contracts, agency 
resources and agree appropriate internal charges. 

 
3. Instruct officers to prepare a comprehensive cyclical condition survey 

programme moving forward, jointly funded by schools and to report 
back to Cabinet for approval. 

 
4. Request that the Chairman of the Executive Scrutiny Committee waives 

the scrutiny call-in on all these recommendations to enable any urgent 
works to commence swiftly. 

 
5. Agrees to withdraw the exempt nature of relevant parts of the report 

solely for officers of the Council to use to provide public information 
about this initiative and for other related purposes. 

 
Reasons for decision 
 
Cabinet agreed the provisional programme and delivery strategy for the 2013/14 
schools condition works, which was proposed through a joint funding programme 
with schools, that would address the maintenance backlog, urgent repairs and 
commence a cyclical programme or survey activity. 
 
Alternative options considered and rejected 
 
Cabinet could have delayed or amended the delivery strategy. 
 
Officer to action: 
 
Norman Benn – Residents Services 
 
Exempt Information 
 
This report was included in Part II as it contained information relating to the financial 
or business affairs of any particular person (including the Authority holding that 
information) and the public interest in withholding the information outweighed the 
public interest in disclosing it (exempt information under paragraph 3 of Part 1 of 
Schedule 12A to the Local Government (Access to Information) Act 1985 as 
amended. 
 
 
 

Page 6



_________________________________________________________________________ 
 

- Page 7 - 
 

 
 
Special Urgency Provisions 
 
This report had been circulated less than 5 working days before the Cabinet meeting 
and was agreed by the Chairman to be considered as urgent. 
 
 

794. SCHOOL CAPITAL PROGRAMME UPDATE 
 
RESOLVED: 
 
That Cabinet:  
 

1. Note the progress made with Phases 1, 2 and 3 of the Primary School 
Expansion Programme;  

 
2. Revoke the Cabinet Member decision of 21st May 2013 agreeing the local 

process for seeking academy/free schools proposers for new school 
and delegate authority to the Deputy Chief Executive and Corporate 
Director of Residents Services, in consultation with the Leader of the 
Council and Cabinet Member for Education & Children’s Services, to: 

 
• Determine the details of a revised local process for seeking 

academy/free school proposers for the two new primary schools in 
the light of revised DfE guidance and; 

 
• Undertake this process and submit the outcome to the DfE. 

 
3. Revoke the Cabinet decision of 23rd May 2013 to use of Mace as multi-

disciplined consultant for the Phase 3 Schools Programme and delegate 
authority to the Leader of the Council and Cabinet Member for Finance, 
Property and Business Services, in consultation with Deputy Chief 
Executive and Corporate Director of Residents Services, to place a 
contract with a multi-disciplinary consultancy for the Phase 3 Schools 
Programme. 

 
4. Requests that the Chairman of the Executive Scrutiny Committee waives 

the scrutiny call-in on all these recommendations to ensure the 
programmes can progress swiftly and that the necessary project 
commitments can be met on time. 

 
Reasons for decision 
 
Cabinet received an update on the primary school capital programme and made a 
number of decisions to progress the provision of sufficient school places, including 
those relating to the necessary building contracts and project funding. Cabinet also 
agreed to pursue a new local process for seeking Academy / Free School proposers 
following recent guidance issued by the Government. 
 

Page 7



_________________________________________________________________________ 
 

- Page 8 - 
 

Alternative options considered and rejected 
 
Cabinet could have decided to delay or not progress aspects of the building 
programme, which would have impacted upon the Council’s ability to provide 
sufficient school places. 
 
Officer to action: 
 
David Murnaghan – Residents Services 
 
Exempt Information 
 
This report was included in Part II as it contained information relating to the financial 
or business affairs of any particular person (including the Authority holding that 
information) and the public interest in withholding the information outweighed the 
public interest in disclosing it (exempt information under paragraph 3 of Part 1 of 
Schedule 12A to the Local Government (Access to Information) Act 1985 as 
amended. 
 
 

795. ENVIRONMENTAL ENFORCEMENT SERVICE - ACCEPTANCE OF TENDER 
 
RESOLVED: 
 
That Cabinet: 
 

1. Approve the award of the Environmental Enforcement Service contract 
to NSL Ltd, for a period of two years from 1st August 2013, with the 
option to extend for a further year; 

 
2. Approve the operating budget of £198k in the 2013/14 financial year 

and £253k in the 2014/15 financial year to create the expenditure 
budgets for the contracted service. Expenditure will be offset by 
corresponding income budgets for the Fixed Penalty Notices. 

 
Reasons for decision 
 
Following a procurement exercise, Cabinet awarded the most economically 
advantageous contract for the provision of environmental enforcement across the 
Borough. Cabinet welcomed the continued provision of patrols to take action against 
people who undertake anti-social behaviour, which included dropping litter, dog 
fouling, fly-tipping and public nuisance in parks and other public places. 
 
Alternative options considered and rejected 
 
Cabinet could have decided to terminate the scheme, which would not have assisted 
in keeping the Borough clean and safe. 
 
 
 

Page 8



_________________________________________________________________________ 
 

- Page 9 - 
 

 
 
Officer to action: 
 
Ed Shaylor – Residents Services 
 
Exempt Information 
 
This report was included in Part II as it contained information relating to the financial 
or business affairs of any particular person (including the Authority holding that 
information) and the public interest in withholding the information outweighed the 
public interest in disclosing it (exempt information under paragraph 3 of Part 1 of 
Schedule 12A to the Local Government (Access to Information) Act 1985 as 
amended. 
 
 

796. COLHAM BRIDGE, YIEWSLEY 
 
RESOLVED: 
 
That Cabinet approve the award of the Colham Bridge – New Parapet and 
Lighting Structures contract to Balfour Beatty Civil Engineering Limited, 
subject to capital release approval of funds from the 2013/14 Transport for 
London Local Implementation Plan allocation. 
 
Reason for decision 
 
Cabinet awarded the contract to create a new landmark bridge in Yiewsley / West 
Drayton to the company with the economically advantageous tender. Cabinet 
welcomed this improvement to the area, which was part of the Town Centre 
Improvements Initiative. 
 
Alternative options considered and rejected 
 
Cabinet could have decided to defer or postpone the implementation works to 
construct new parapet and lighting structures to Colham Bridge.  
 
Officer to action: 
 
David Knowles / Chris Tasker, Residents Services 
 
Exempt Information 
 
This report was included in Part II as it contained information relating to the financial 
or business affairs of any particular person (including the Authority holding that 
information) and the public interest in withholding the information outweighed the 
public interest in disclosing it (exempt information under paragraph 3 of Part 1 of 
Schedule 12A to the Local Government (Access to Information) Act 1985 as 
amended. 
 

Page 9



_________________________________________________________________________ 
 

- Page 10 - 
 

 
 

797. HILLINGDON'S INDEPENDENT FOSTERING AGENCY FRAMEWORK FOR THE 
WEST LONDON ALLIANCE - AWARD OF CONTRACT 
 
RESOLVED: 
 
That Cabinet: 
 
1) Agree to award contracts to framework providers who have met the required 
cost and quality standards; 
 
2) Delegate authority to the Director of Children & Young People’s Services to 
access the framework, subject to the participation of other boroughs and; 
 
3) Authorise the Council to enter into an Access Agreement with the following 
London boroughs: 
 

• Barnet 
• Brent 
• Ealing 
• Harrow 
• Hammersmith & Fulham 
• Hounslow 
• Royal Borough of Kensington & Chelsea 
• City of Westminster 

 
Reasons for decision 
 
Cabinet agreed to enter into agreements with other local authorities, using the 
collective purchasing power of West London, to deliver preferable rates for 
Independent Fostering Agencies and to more effectively and efficiently manage the 
quality and availability of placements for young children. 
 
Alternative options considered and rejected 
 
Cabinet could have decided to continue with the spot purchasing model for 
placements.  
 
Officers to action: 
 
Merlin Joseph, Children & Young People’s Services 
Paul Feven, Finance Directorate 
 
Exempt Information 
 
This report was included in Part II as it contained information relating to the financial 
or business affairs of any particular person (including the Authority holding that 
information) and the public interest in withholding the information outweighed the 
public interest in disclosing it (exempt information under paragraph 3 of Part 1 of 

Page 10



_________________________________________________________________________ 
 

- Page 11 - 
 

Schedule 12A to the Local Government (Access to Information) Act 1985 as 
amended. 
 
 
 

798. GYM AT THE GOALS COMPLEX, SPRINGFIELD ROAD HAYES 
 
RESOLVED: 
 
That the Cabinet delegate authority to the Leader of the Council and the 
Cabinet Member for Finance, Property and Business Services, in consultation 
with the Deputy Chief Executive and Corporate Director for Residents 
Services, to make all necessary decisions in respect of this matter. 
 
Reasons for decision 
 
Cabinet delegated authority in order to make the decisions regarding the future 
operation of the Gym at this site. 
 
Alternative options considered and rejected 
 
None. 
 
Officer to action: 
 
Susan Williams-Joseph 
 
Exempt Information 
 
This report was included in Part II as it contained information relating to the financial 
or business affairs of any particular person (including the Authority holding that 
information) and the public interest in withholding the information outweighed the 
public interest in disclosing it (exempt information under paragraph 3 of Part 1 of 
Schedule 12A to the Local Government (Access to Information) Act 1985 as 
amended. 
 
 

799. END OF MEETING - DECISION AUTHORITY 
 
No additional items were considered by the Cabinet. 
 
The meeting closed at 7.28 pm 
 
 
* IMPORTANT INFORMATION 
 
DECISION AUTHORITY 
 
Meeting after Cabinet, the Executive Scrutiny Committee did not call-in any of 
the Cabinet’s decisions.  

Page 11



_________________________________________________________________________ 
 

- Page 12 - 
 

 
The decisions of the Cabinet will therefore come into effect from 5pm, Friday 
28th June 2013, with the following exceptions: 
 

• Item 16 (minute 793) – All decisions in relation to the School Condition 
Programme of Works;  

• Item 11 (minute 794) – All decisions in relation to the School Capital 
Programme Update. 

 
Decisions on these two items will come into effect immediately following the 
agreement to waive the scrutiny call-in period by the Chairman of the Executive 
Scrutiny Committee.  
 
 
 
 
 

Page 12



 
Cabinet – 25 July 2013 

 
HIGH SPEED RAIL UPDATE 

 
Cabinet Members  Councillor Ray Puddifoot 

Councillor Keith Burrows 
 

Cabinet Portfolios  Leader of the Council 
Planning, Transportation and Recycling 

   
Officer Contact  Jales Tippell 

Residents Services 
   
Papers with report  Appendix 1: Letter to the London Assembly Environment 

Committee on the Government’s HS2 Phase One Design 
Refinement Consultation. 
 
Appendix 2: Letter to the London Assembly Transport 
Committee on the Government’s HS2 Phase One Design 
Refinement Consultation. 
 
Appendix 3: Response to the Government’s HS2 Phase One 
Design Refinement Consultation. 
 
Appendix 4: Response to the Government’s HS2 Phase One 
draft Environmental Statement Consultation. 

 
HEADLINE INFORMATION 
 
Summary 
 

 This report updates the Cabinet on the Government’s 
proposals for High Speed Rail, including an update of the 
legal challenge and seeks Cabinet endorsement for 
responses to both the Government’s HS2 Phase One Design 
Refinement Consultation and the HS2 Phase One draft 
Environmental Statement Consultation. 
 

   
Contribution to our 
plans and  
Strategies 

 Hillingdon’s emerging Local Plan 
Hillingdon’s Unitary Development Plan Saved Policies 2007 
Hillingdon Partners Sustainable Community Strategy 

   
Financial Cost  The Council’s 2011/12 Development and Risk contingency 

includes £100,000 that was earmarked for any potential 
challenge against the High Speed 2 rail link. 

   
Relevant Policy 
Overview  
Committee 

 Residents’ and Environmental Services Policy Overview 
Committee 

   
Ward(s) affected  South Ruislip, Manor, West Ruislip, Ickenham, Harefield,  
 
 

Agenda Item 5

Page 13



 
Cabinet – 25 July 2013 

 
 
RECOMMENDATIONS 
 
That the Cabinet: 
 
1. Notes the contents of the report, including the current position in relation to the 

legal challenge against HS2. 
 
2. Notes the letters sent to the London Assembly’s Environment and Transport 

Committees regarding the Government’s HS2 Phase One Design Refinement 
Consultation as set out in Appendices 1 and 2. 

 
3. Endorses the response that has been submitted to the Government’s HS2 

Phase One Design Refinement Consultation as set out in Appendix 3. 
 

4. Endorses the response that has been submitted to the Government’s HS2 
Phase One draft Environmental Statement Consultation as set out in Appendix 
4.  

 
5. Strongly appreciates the efforts of local residents groups that have been 

established in response to the HS2 proposal and reaffirms this Council's 
commitment to work closely with and support them as the campaign 
progresses; 

 
6. Reaffirms that the Leader of the Council can continue to take all necessary 

action to oppose the Government’s proposals for High Speed Rail, including 
legal action, funding and partnerships with the 51M Group and any other local 
authorities / organisations; and furthermore agrees that delegated authority be 
given to the Borough Solicitor and the Deputy Chief Executive and Corporate 
Director of Residents Services to formally implement any actions directed by 
the Leader. 

 
7. Instructs officers to take the necessary agreed actions to oppose the 

Government’s proposals for High Speed Rail, including joint working with the 
51M Group including any further contributions to it, and to report back to 
Cabinet on any significant issues. 

 
INFORMATION 
 
Reasons for recommendation 
 
The proposed High Speed 2 (HS2) rail line is likely to be the most significant development 
proposal in Hillingdon since the 3rd Runway. Its adverse impacts are considered to be far in 
excess of the benefits that will ensue from the proposal.  
 
By responding to the two consultations the council will be ensuring that potential impacts on 
communities are identified and appropriate mitigation measures sought for the borough. 
  
The council, as part of the 51m Group, took legal action to the Court of Appeal at the High 
Court in June 2013 and a Judgement is anticipated by the end of July.  Dependant upon 
the outcome of this, the Council and the 51m Group may need to consider further legal 
action including whether to appeal to the Supreme Court. 

Page 14



 
Cabinet – 25 July 2013 

 
Alternative Options Considered. 
 
The alternative option would be for the Cabinet to decide not to respond to the 
consultations. This is not considered to be an appropriate option due to the adverse 
impacts that HS2 will have upon residents of the Borough.  
 
The Cabinet could agree to halt legal action against the HS2 proposal and not pursue any 
potential action at the Supreme Court, should it be appropriate.  Again this may not be 
considered to be an appropriate option due to the adverse impacts that HS2 will have upon 
residents of the Borough. 
 
Comments of Policy Overview Committee(s) 
 
None at this stage. 
 
Supporting information 
 
Background 
 
1 The Cabinet Report in July 2011 set out the Council’s response to the Government’s 
consultation on HS2.  This 134 page submission emphasised our concerns on the 
approach to the high speed rail strategy; the insufficient assessment of alternatives; lack of 
alignment with other government strategies, most notably the aviation strategy; and gave 
specific details on the devastating local impacts the proposed high speed route would bring 
to large parts of the borough. This report updates the progress of HS2; seeks Cabinet 
endorsement of the consultation responses in relation to the two recent HS2 consultations 
on the Phase One Design Refinement and the Phase One draft Environmental Statement; 
and provides an update on steps taken to legally challenge the decisions made by the 
Government to date. 
 
Update on High Speed Two 
 
2. In January 2012 the Government set out its ‘Decision’ to proceed with the HS2 
project in its document ‘High speed rail: Investing in Britain’s future – decisions and next 
steps’ (DNS).  This document totally ignored the consultation responses that challenged the 
the heart of the principle of high speed rail and the route chosen.  Instead the document 
included decisions to: 
 
• proceed with the full Y network as was consulted on in 2011; 
• broadly proceed with the London to Birmingham route as previously consulted; 
• proceed with the Heathrow spur as previously consulted 
 
3 On a positive note the DNS indicated that consultation responses had exerted 
influence in some respects. because the decision to proceed included a tunnel from the 
Lord Halsbury Memorial Recreation Ground in Ealing through to Ickenham High Road.  For 
Hillingdon residents the inclusion of a tunnel was a significant improvement because the 
impacts of land take, visual intrusion, noise and vibration and the associated construction 
impacts such as in Blenheim Crescent, Roundways, Herlwyn Avenue, Lawn Close and 
Almond Close were much reduced. 
 
4 The inclusion of the tunnel at Ruislip also negated the harm posed by impacts at the 
Victoria Road Waste Transfer Station and there is no longer a requirement for the major 

Page 15



 
Cabinet – 25 July 2013 

bridge works previously identified at Long Drive and Bridgewater Road.  Furthermore the 
Recreation Ground at Ruislip and the Yeading Brook are also no longer impacted. 

 
5 The DNS did however result in adverse impacts arising from the construction of, and 
operation of two tunnel portals, one in Ealing close to the eastern boundary of the borough 
and the other close to West Ruislip station.  
 
6 The decision by the Government to retain the viaduct over the Colne Valley has 
meant that the disruption to the Hillingdon Outdoor Activities Centre (HOAC) is still severe 
and there are significant landscape and noise implications. 
 
7 The DNS was confusing in relation to Heathrow. Whilst confirming the commitment 
for a Heathrow spur, the information in the accompanying documentation does not give any 
detailed information as to where the links will actually be. 

 
8 Given that fundamental objections by the Council and 51m to the Government’s 
consultation in respect of the HS2 strategy and preferred route were not satisfactorily 
addressed, the Council as part of 51m took the decision to take legal action. In February 
2012 the letter before action was sent to the Secretary of State announcing the intention to 
seek a judicial review of the ‘Decision’ to proceed with HS2 on the basis that the ‘Decision’ 
was unlawful. An update on the legal challenge is provided in paragraphs 70-80 below. 

 
The Council’s engagement with the HS2 project to date 
 
9 Since the publication of the January 2012 decision document, HS2 Ltd has pressed 
on with progressing the proposal. The council has continued to attempt to influence the 
work of HS2 Ltd in order to obtain the best result for our communities.   The work to date 
has included: 

 
a) Environmental Impact Assessment (EIA) – consultation on scope and methodology 

 
10 In May 2012 Hillingdon co-ordinated the 51m response to the EIA scoping report.  
The conclusion was: 

 
“The draft Scope and Methodology report is ill conceived and totally 
inadequate.  It neither provides sufficient detailed information to allow an 
understanding of impacts and receptors, nor does it provide suitable outline 
methodologies on which to base comments.  51m understand the purpose of 
carrying out early consultation and supports the approach; however, the level 
of information provided by HS2 Ltd needs to be commensurate with the 
questions being asked of consultees.  This is far from the case for this 
consultation.  Instead, detailed project information is not provided, and the 
quality of some of the methodologies is far from adequate even at an outline 
stage.”   
 

11 It should be noted that in November 2012, HS2 Ltd published a revised EIA scoping 
report. Whilst this made some changes to reflect consultation responses, in principle there 
were still a number of glaring omissions and no real change of direction on the approach to 
the assessment by HS2 Ltd. 

 
b) Heath Impact Assessment – questionnaire on scope 

 

Page 16



 
Cabinet – 25 July 2013 

12 In November 2012, the council submitted a response to the questionnaire on 
scoping for the draft health impact assessment.  The council’s Head of Public Health raised 
significant concerns about the approach being undertaken and of the lack of detailed 
information for comment. 

 
c) HS2 Ltd Safeguarding Consultation and HS2 Ltd Property and Compensation 

Consultation 
 
13 In January 2013 the council responded to both the above consultations. The 
opportunity was taken to reinforce the council’s concerns about the inadequacy and 
unfairness of both of the consultations, including the lack of adequate information on which 
to fully understand the impacts. It was highlighted that the HS2 project itself should fully 
compensate the real costs to impacted communities and individuals and that compensation 
schemes should be sufficient to ensure this. The council drew particular attention to the 
need to have the same schemes offered in urban and in rural areas and not attempt to 
minimise the compensation schemes for urban areas simply because the costs, due to the 
number of properties impacted, would be greater.  The council’s responses are available on 
Hillingdon’s website.  The Government ignored the concerns of the council and others who 
raised objections and instead it formally adopted safeguarding directions for Phase One of 
HS2 Ltd on 9 July 2013. As a consequence of the directions being issued, councils are now 
required to consult HS2 Ltd with regard to planning applications in the safeguarded area 
along the HS2 route before granting planning consent. 
 

d) Publication of Phase Two route by HS2 Ltd 
 

14 On 28th January 2013, HS2 Ltd published ‘Phase Two: the route to Leeds, 
Manchester and beyond’. This alerted the communities further north, which had previously 
been relatively silent on the high speed rail proposals, to the potential local impacts of the 
project.  The announcement within this report, that work on the Heathrow Spurs had been 
officially put on hold until the Airports Commission reported its recommendations in mid 
2015, was also of strategic significance 

 
15 The Airports Commission was set up in late 2012 to look at short, medium and long 
term options for UK aviation. This provides clear evidence that the borough were correct to 
raise the concern that the high speed rail and aviation strategies should have been properly 
aligned to enable informed decisions. 
 
16 Unfortunately whilst the Heathrow Spur work was officially paused, the Exceptional 
Hardship Scheme consultation for Phase 2 included the Heathrow Spur along with outline 
details of the route. This has caused unnecessary concern and potential blight for a portion 
of the route which may never be enacted.    
 
Current HS2 Ltd Consultations 
 
17 On 16th May 2013, the Government launched two separate consultations, i.e. on the 
HS2 Phase One Design Refinement and the Phase One draft Environmental Statement.  
These consultations ended on 11th July and this Cabinet report seeks endorsement of the 
responses submitted to the Government. 
 
HS2 Phase One Design Refinement Consultation 
 
18 A summary of the consultation and the council’s response is set out below and the 
full response is at Appendix 3. 

Page 17



 
Cabinet – 25 July 2013 

 
19 There are 14 proposed changes to the design of the route that go beyond the normal 
process of design development.  The Secretary of State for Transport has decided to 
consult on these proposed changes before making a final decision on whether to include 
them within the design that will be submitted to Parliament alongside the Hybrid Bill. There 
are three route refinements that impact upon Hillingdon.  

 
a) Route Change 4 - Northolt Corridor 

 
20 The route has been altered to include an extended tunnel section from Old Oak 
Common right through to West Ruislip which negates the need for a tunnel portal just to the 
east of the borough boundary and removed the need for potential construction safeguarded 
areas close to residential areas in Rabournmead Road.  
 
21 Whilst supportive of the increased tunnelling to avoid the construction and operation 
of a tunnel portal in the eastern part of the borough, the document refers to an increase of 
around 1.3 million cubic metres in excavated material that would need to be removed from 
the tunnel worksites in the industrial areas adjacent to Old Oak Common and West Ruislip. 
No detail is given as to any resulting impacts from this increased construction work. 
 

b) Route Change 5 - Heathrow Junctions 
 
22 To avoid future disruption to an operational Phase One high speed line, this route 
refinement proposes passive provision now for the future connections to Heathrow, as part 
of the Phase One Hybrid Bill.  
 
23 This passive provision will require the cutting to the east of Harvil Road to be 
approximately 20 metres wider for about 650 metres before the proposed scheme crosses 
the Colne Valley on a viaduct. 
 
24 There are significant objections to this proposal. The inclusion of the Heathrow 
junctions in Phase One appears to be pre-judging the recommended options from the 
Airports Commission which are due in 2015. The two strategies i.e. high speed rail and 
aviation, should be aligned in terms of timescales.  The remit of the Airports Commission 
includes assessing all options and this has led to speculation about a new hub airport and 
the potential closure of Heathrow.  Given this uncertainty about the future of Heathrow, it 
seems ill-judged to pave the way for the HS2 junctions prior to a decision on the future of 
Heathrow airport. 

 
c) Route Change 6 - Colne Valley Viaduct 

 
25 The proposed route refinement has moved the HS2 line 60 metres to the north to 
minimise the length of span across the Rover Colne. Whilst this reduces the impact on the 
River Colne, it moves the viaduct closer to the residential areas in Harefield and also 
requires further demolitions at the Merck research centre and Dews Farm. 
 
26 It is considered that this route refinement should be rejected in favour of a tunnel 
from London continuing under the Colne Valley, which would represent the best option for 
residents. This would remove noise impacts from residents near the tunnel portal in West 
Ruislip and near the proposed viaduct.  It would also remove the need for the demolition of 
a number of properties within the borough and also preserve the well loved regional 
community resource that HOAC provides. 

 

Page 18



 
Cabinet – 25 July 2013 

Influencing the London Assembly 
 
27 A council officer and also a representative of the Ickenham Residents Association 
attended a London Assembly Environment Committee meeting on 12th June 2013 to 
discuss the HS2 Phase One draft Environmental Statement Consultation.  Officers have 
also submitted written comments to both the Environment and Transport Committees in 
order to inform their responses to the HS2 Ltd Design Refinement consultation.  These 
comments, which are included at Appendices 1 and 2, include seeking the support of the 
London Assembly to fight the irrational inclusion of the Heathrow spurs and to join the 
council in making the case for the tunnel from London to be extended under the Colne 
Valley, should the Government proceed with HS2. 
 
HS2 Phase One draft Environmental Statement Consultation 
 
28 The draft Environmental Statement Consultation has been accompanied by a large 
volume of information with an overview document and individual documents and map 
books for each defined area. The ones of interest to the council are Community Area 
Forum 6 - South Ruislip to Ickenham and Community Area Forum 7 - Colne Valley.  
 
29 A summary of the documentation and the council’s response is provided below. The 
full response can be found at Appendix 4. 
 

a) Community Area Forum 6 – South Ruislip to Ickenham 
 

Summary of the description of the area and proposed scheme 
 
30 The route will enter the eastern side of the borough by a tunnel. The route would 
continue in tunnel for 4.4km, at a depth approximately 30m below ground level, before 
emerging via a tunnel portal at West Ruislip to the west of Ickenham Road and West 
Ruislip station.  

 

31 On top of the covered section of the tunnel portal, a 30m by 35m ‘head house 
building’, approximately 9m high, would be located to the south-east of the Ruislip Golf 
Course. This structure would accommodate mechanical and electrical equipment rooms, 
emergency intervention and other facilities and would also require an area of hard-standing 
for maintenance and emergency services. A tunnel vent shaft and an auto-transformer 
station would be located in South Ruislip. 

 
32 Heading west the route will be on embankment and then in a cutting through the 
southern part of Newyears Green Covert to Harvil Road.  The route would require three 
new permanent under-bridges and one temporary under-bridge plus three new over-
bridges.  Demolitions have been identified as being required at ten separate locations along 
with 24 utility diversions in separate locations including mains gas, water mains, sewers, 
low and high voltage electricity lines.  
 
33 There would be two permanent road diversions plus diversions of a public right of 
way and a bridleway. Drainage ponds would be required for both railway track and 
highways drainage.  Two watercourses would require diversions during construction of the 
new Harvil Road Bridge; a permanent diversion for the Ickenham Stream and a temporary 
diversion of the Newyears Green Bourne.  There will be passive provision in this area for a 
HS2 link to Heathrow Airport. 
 

Page 19



 
Cabinet – 25 July 2013 

34 There are three main construction sites proposed in this section of route and each 
site is proposed to operate for a duration of seven years.  

 
Vent shaft at South Ruislip 

 
35 The vent shaft at South Ruislip includes the construction of the rectangular box 
shaft, head house building and auto transformer station with associated hard standing. The 
construction access route is identified as via the A40 continuing into Mandeville Road 
(A312), Eastcote Lane, Field End Road and Victoria Road.  

 
Tunnel Portal at West Ruislip 

 
36 The tunnel portal at West Ruislip includes tunnel excavation; a 570m long cutting 
south of Ruislip Golf Course for the ramp from the portal; and an embankment from a point 
south of Ruislip Golf Course to Breakspear Road South (approximately 600m long). The 
construction access route is identified as via the Western Avenue (A40) continuing onto 
Swakeleys Road (B467) and Ickenham Road (B466).  
 

Area between Breakspear Road South and Harvil Road 
 
37 The area between Breakspear Road South and Harvil Road includes construction of 
an embankment from Breakspear Road South to a point 200m to the west; a cutting 
between a point 200m west of Breakspear Road West to west of Harvil Road 
(approximately 1km in length and up to 20m deep); and embankment works from Newyears 
Green Bourne to south of proposed Harvil Road Marylebone to Aylesbury Line overbridge 
(approx 300m long).  

 
38 The construction access route is identified as via Western Avenue (A40) continuing 
onto Breakspear Road South or Harvil Road. Vehicles unable to pass under the 
Breakspear Road South bridge would access the site via Swakelys Road (B467) continuing 
onto Ickenham Road (B466), the A4180 and Breakspear Road South. 

 
b) Community Area Forum 7 Colne Valley (Hillingdon Impacts) 

 
Summary of the description of the area and proposed scheme 

 
39 After emerging at the tunnel portal south of the Ruislip Golf Course in West Ruislip, 
the route passes under the realigned Harvil Road. The route would then continue onto the 
3.4km viaduct crossing over the Colne Valley, including Harefield No 2 Lake used by the 
HOAC.  
 
40 Since the announcement in January 2012, the proposals for HS2 now differ in some 
respects with the introduction of an auto-transformer feeder station off Harvil Road and a 
National grid substation north of HOAC to provide traction power from national Grid power 
lines. Utility diversions will be needed to accommodate the auto-transformer station 
including a high pressure gas main and a high voltage pylon diversion. 

 
41 The Government’s Design Refinement Consultation includes a proposal to realign 
the Colne Valley viaduct approximately 60m further north with one viaduct supporting pier 
proposed within the River Colne. 
 

Page 20



 
Cabinet – 25 July 2013 

42 There is the provision of earthworks and turnouts to allow for the future provision of 
a Heathrow Spur. This would be the minimum required area to construct the spur without 
impacting on the operational capacity of Phase One. 
 
43 Two large construction sites are proposed within Hillingdon.  

 
Colne Valley viaduct southern approach embankment 

 
44 This site will include construction of the southern third of the Colne Valley viaduct 
and its approach embankment, as well as the Harvil Road Auto Transformer feeder station. 
Construction traffic and access would be via Harvil Road and southwards onto the A40 or 
via Harvil Road, Moorhall Road, the A412 (Denham Avenue) and onto the A40. The 
estimated duration of operation is 4 years. 

 
Colne Valley viaduct satellite compound 

 
45 This is a support site for the construction of the southern third of the Colne Valley 
viaduct and construction jetty access at HOAC. Construction traffic and access would be 
via Dew’s Lane, Harvil Road and southwards onto the A40 or via Harvil Road, Moorhall 
Road, the A412 and onto the A40. The estimated duration of operation is 3 years. 
 
46 There would be four major utility diversions within Hillingdon including a National 
Grid gas main close to Harvil Road, a water main to the north of Harvil Bridge, a pressured 
Thames Water sewerage main connecting to Harefield pumping station next to HOAC and 
the National Grid power line crossing the Colne Valley.  
 
47 There is a proposed permanent diversion of Harvil Road towards the east and also a 
permanent diversion of the public right of way running south from Harvil Road through 
HOAC. The proposal requires the demolition of several buldings including Dews farm and 
associated buildings and three buildings associated with HOAC. 

 
Hillingdon’s response to the draft Environmental Statement 
 
48 The council’s response (at Appendix 3) is divided into two parts, firstly objections in 
principle to the draft Environmental Statement (dES) and its failure to comply with a number 
of legal requirements; and secondly the more detailed response to specific local impacts 
which the council believes have been severely under-estimated.  
 
49 The main objections in principle relate to the fact that the draft Environmental 
Statement is not considered to be compliant with the EIA regulations.  The dES simply 
assesses the impacts of the conclusions of the Decisions and Next Steps Document 
(January 2012) (DNS).  It does not challenge conclusions, present alternatives or provide 
adequate justification for the proposed route.  There is no assessment of alternatives, no 
assessment of cumulative impacts of Phase 1 and Phase 2 and no assessment of impacts 
of other planned projects such as the impact of the Heathrow link and all that implies. 
 
50 For the above reasons the council’s response makes it clear that it expects all work 
to now cease on promoting and developing the current proposals. The more robust and 
comprehensive assessment, as alluded to by the Government’s legal representative in the 
Court of Appeal, including proper assessment of strategic alternatives and appropriate 
assessment of cumulative impacts, including the impact of, and re-assessment of any need 
for, the Heathrow link, should be fully developed, and consulted on, prior to the publication 

Page 21



 
Cabinet – 25 July 2013 

of the final HS2 Environmental Statement, which would accompany the Hybrid Bill before 
Parliament.  
 
51 In terms of local impacts, the council is particularly concerned about the inclusion of 
the London to Heathrow spur within the Phase 1 route, even though the full link to 
Heathrow is being put on hold.  The dES includes two spurs, one serving ‘the north’ and 
one serving London.  The extremely poor business case and the lack of information as to 
what the ‘other’ strategic reasons are for it, provide a very tenuous case for a Heathrow link 
at all.  In addition, the inclusion of the London to Heathrow spur purportedly prevents the 
extension of tunnelling from Ickenham through west London and across the Colne Valley.  
 
52 In terms of other specific local impacts, the council’s response raises grave concerns 
over the very limited information contained in the dES, with lots of obvious gaps.  This 
means that it is difficult to understand the potential impacts.  This applies to all topics 
covered by the dES including carbon emissions, socio-economic issues, agriculture, air 
quality, community, cultural heritage, ecology, land quality, landscape, sound and vibration, 
water resources, traffic and transport, A number of the topic areas introduce mitigation and 
conclusions on effects without even knowing all the impacts and receptors.   
 
53 In order to try to assess the potential impacts of the construction phase, the council 
has itself mapped the information provided in the dES on the proposed construction routes 
and included this in its consultation response. It is clear from this that HS2 Ltd have given 
insufficient regard to the impact on the borough roads and the surrounding road network 
and therefore underestimated the impacts on congestion, local air quality and noise and the 
impacts on other road users attempting to use this part of west London.  
 
54 Notwithstanding the above, it is clear even from the limited information within the 
dES that the environmental impacts of HS2 will cause considerable hardship in the short 
term and long lasting damage to residents in Hillingdon as set out in this response.  The 
council’s consultation response makes it clear that the dES has totally under-estimated the 
impact of HS2 on the borough.  The Colne Valley is an area of immense importance in 
landscape, recreational, amenity and ecological terms.  The proposed viaduct will cause 
considerable harm to this much loved area, which could be avoided if the proposed 3,840 
m long viaduct were to be replaced by 5,780m of additional tunnelling.  Furthermore, in 
Hillingdon we have the tunnel portal just 2,210m away from the viaduct and the area in 
between will become a massive construction site within a densely populated area with no 
easy access to the A40 or motorway network.  Based on the findings of the dES, it is 
therefore requested that HS2 Ltd now take the necessary mitigation action to extend the 
tunnel from London through to the western side of the Colne Valley. 
 
Community Engagement with HS2 Ltd 
 
55 Following the Government’s decision in January 2012 to proceed with the proposal, 
HS2 Ltd set up Community Area Forums. In Hillingdon this was divided into two areas, the 
South Ruislip and Ickenham Forum and the Colne Valley Forum which encompassed parts 
of Harefield and South Bucks.  
 
56 The Community Area Forum reports accompanying the draft Environmental 
Statement confirms there have been five separate meetings in each area and details areas 
of concern raised by the communities. 

 
 
 

Page 22



 
Cabinet – 25 July 2013 

South Ruislip and Ickenham  
 
57 The main themes to emerge from the meetings are identified by HS2 Ltd as: 

 
• Relocation of utility services including requiring co-ordination between all 

relevant parties to avoid longer than necessary localised disruption; 
• Heathrow spur location being above ground and the construction timetable 

associated with this; 
• Methods of tunnel construction; 
• Environmental surveys; 
• Position of tunnel portal and the potential extension of the tunnel westward 

under the River Pinn; 
• Noise and vibration during construction and operation, particularly for homes 

near cuttings and at the tunnel portal; and 
• Location of construction sites and proposed sub-station. 

 
Colne Valley Forum 

 
58 The main themes to emerge, from a Hillingdon perspective, are identified by HS2 Ltd 
as: 

 
• The ability of HOAC to continue to provide the outdoor community activities 

during construction of the viaduct and when the service is operational; 
• The option for tunnelling under the lakes; 
• The approach to the noise survey assessment; 
• The additional impact of the Feeder Station. 

 
59 Following concerns raised by residents, the Council Leader and key officers 
attended one meeting of the South Ruislip and Ickenham Forum. The provision of an 
independent chair was accepted as good practice, however, the HS2 Ltd staff appeared 
unable and/or unwilling to answer key concerns raised by residents.  Concerns raised were 
not responded to in any meaningful way. The general impression was of a PR exercise on 
behalf of HS2 Ltd as opposed to proper community engagement. 
 
60 Following this the Council sent out a questionnaire to Forum attendees to gauge 
their thoughts as to the effectiveness of the Community Forums. Following the submission 
of twelve separate responses, the overall community response can be summarised below: 
 

Set up of the Forums 
 
61 The Forums are a good idea but have not been carried out in reality. The meetings 
were not long enough to discuss issues in depth and the chosen community representation 
was deemed haphazard with no regard as to whether the different community groups were 
properly represented. The agendas were dictated by HS2 and no information was provided 
in advance of meetings, despite repeated requests, which would have made the meetings 
more productive. 

 
Forum Meetings 

 
62 The choice of an independent chair was appreciated.  Unfortunately too long was 
spent in each meeting on recorded notes of the previous meeting and not enough time for 
the actual agenda items. No proper minutes were taken and the meeting notes produced 

Page 23



 
Cabinet – 25 July 2013 

by HS2 Ltd lost the essence and tone of the meetings. The information, maps and 
presentations were generally of poor quality and it appeared obvious the HS2 Ltd staff had 
not made themselves aware of the local area. The actual engagement process was felt to 
be very poor with promises of answers to follow which were rarely acted upon. On a 
number of occasions complaints were raised in relation to the unprofessional behaviour of 
certain HS2 Ltd staff and formal complaints were made.  

 
Community Forum Objectives 

 
63 Overall the Forum members felt they had not gained anything from the meetings in 
terms of a better understanding of the local impacts. A lot of the responses referred to the 
meetings being “a tickbox exercise” and that HS2 Ltd were paying “lip service” to residents 
concerns but not acting on them. There was agreement that without the Forums there was 
no other way for communities to air their concerns but there was a lack of genuine 
engagement or two way dialogue. 

 
The council’s engagement with HS2 Ltd 
 
64 Direct engagement with HS2 Ltd at events such as HS2 Ltd Planning Forums and 
Technical Forums has not been possible due to lack of willingness on the part of HS2 Ltd to 
adequately fund officer time. There have been numerous attempts to resolve this on behalf 
of the council but this issue has not been satisfactorily resolved.  
 
65 The council has, and will continue, to respond to all relevant consultations to attempt 
to secure the best outcome for our residents if this scheme does end up going ahead.   

 
The council’s engagement with residents 

 
66 There has been continued support to our residents to try and help explain and 
understand the vast quantities of technical documents published by HS2 Ltd throughout 
this process. The council has used Hillingdon People to help interpret complex 
consultations and continues to update residents of progress through this and the dedicated 
pages on the council’s website.  
 
67 Following the publication of the DNS in January 2012 and the Property 
Compensation and the Safeguarding consultations in October 2012, a full residents 
meeting was held in February 2013. This was attended by the Leader of the Council and 
the Cabinet Member for Planning, Transportation and Recycling, and it provided an 
opportunity for residents to raise their concerns directly with the council. 
 
68 The council’s officer team continually raises residents concerns directly with HS2 Ltd 
to lend added weight. The recent fiasco surrounding the failure of HS2 Ltd to provide the 
correct documentation for the draft Environmental Statement consultation to the correct 
library locations, and at the start of the consultation process, is an example where 
complaints from the council concerning unfairness of the consultation process because 
HS2 Ltd failed to provide the correct information in a timely manner have added weight to 
the concerns raised by the residents groups. 

 
69 Council officers attend Stop HS2 community events to help residents understand the 
complexity of the HS2 Ltd consultations. As an example, the council. has developed and 
provided maps of the construction routes, as described in the draft Environmental 
Statement material, which has helped provide a visual representation of the impact of the 

Page 24



 
Cabinet – 25 July 2013 

construction phases. This material has helped residents understand the likely impacts and 
thus inform their individual consultation responses. 
 
Update on the legal challenge  
 
70 Given that many objections to the HS2 strategy, preferred route and alternatives put 
forward by the Council, and by 51m, in response to the Government's consultation exercise 
were not satisfactorily addressed, 51m commenced a judicial review action in the High 
Court. 
 
71 The grounds of challenge included the failure of the Government to consult properly, 
its failure to carry out adequate environmental assessments, the irrationality of the 
Government's decision making and a breach of the Government's public sector equality 
duty. 
 
72 Other judicial review actions were also brought by HS2AA, Heathrow Hub and 
Aylesbury Golf Club and all the legal challenges were ''rolled-up'' and heard together in the 
High Court over a period of ten days in December 2012.  
 
73 Mr Justice Ouseley, who heard the case, delivered his judgment in March 2013. He 
found in favour of HS2AA's challenge that the compensation consultation was 
fundamentally flawed but dismissed all the other grounds of challenge. 
 
74 The Judge gave HS2AA and 51m permission to appeal to the Court of Appeal on the 
Strategic Environmental Assessment ground and he also gave 51m permission to appeal 
on the ground that the Government had failed to re-consult on the Optimised Alternative 
which 51M had put forward. 
 
75 51m made an application to the Court of Appeal for leave to appeal on four other 
grounds which are a) the decision to promote HS2 by way of a Hybrid Bill breaches the 
Environmental Impact Assessment Directive, b) the consultation process was unlawful, c) 
the irrationality of the Government's decision making and d) a breach of the Government's 
public sector equality duty. Heathrow Hub also applied to the Court of Appeal for 
permission to appeal on the basis that the Government’s consultation process was 
unlawful.  
 
76 The Court of Appeal, which consisted of three very senior judges including the 
Master of the Rolls, heard 51m's, HS2AA's and Heathrow Hub's cases in June 2013. The 
Master of the Rolls indicated that the Court is likely to deliver its judgment by the end of 
July given the high profile nature of this case. 
 
77 No indication was given by the Judges as to what their decision is likely to be. 
However, they did express their astonishment that the Government's QC changed his case 
by saying that the environmental assessment process would be re-examined by the 
Government and that it would amend Parliamentary procedures to ensure that there is full 
compliance with European law. This issue was not raised at all during the High Court 
hearing and it took everyone by surprise.   
 
78 The general thrust of the Government's defence to 51m's appeal is that the HS2 
scheme is still at a very early stage and if there are any deficiencies in the process, the 
Government still has plenty of time to correct them. Therefore, any legal challenge should 
be brought when the scheme is completed and it is premature to do so at this stage.  51m's 
QC strongly argued that this is not realistic. The deficiencies are significant and blight and 

Page 25



 
Cabinet – 25 July 2013 

other hardship to many people is being caused now. Furthermore, it would be very difficult 
to bring a legal challenge at the end of the scheme when billions of pounds would have 
been spent. 
 
79 The Court of Appeal's powers are not limited to simply upholding or dismissing the 
appeal. One of the grounds of appeal is that the Government failed to carry out a Strategic 
Environmental Assessment. With regard to this particular ground, the Court of Appeal has 
the power to refer it to the European Court of Justice for determination if it takes the view 
that it is unable to decide the issue itself''. 
 
80 In the event that the Hybrid Bill process goes ahead, the council has retained a 
Parliamentary Agent to act on its behalf to ensure that the best outcome for its residents.   
 
Financial Implications 
 
The Council has currently pledged to fund costs up to £200,000 for the legal and other 
expenses of the 51M Group plus up to a further £100,000 for the cost of the appeal if 
required. 
 
EFFECT ON RESIDENTS, SERVICE USERS & COMMUNITIES 
 
The proposed HS2 Rail Line is likely to be the most significant development proposal in 
Hillingdon since the 3rd Runway.  The HS2 route runs straight through the borough.  
Despite the addition of a tunnel for part of the route there remains significant concerns 
about the effects of HS2 on residents, service users and communities.   
 
Consultation Carried Out or Required 
 
CORPORATE IMPLICATIONS 
 
Corporate Finance 
 
Corporate Finance notes the recommendations in the report and makes the following 
comments. There is currently specific provision within the Risk and Development 
contingency for the General Fund to cover up to £200k of costs to challenge the 
Government’s proposals for the High Speed Rail. There is also sufficient unallocated 
provision within the General Fund Contingency to cover the additional costs of appeal if 
required. 
 
Legal 
 
The legal implications are contained in the body of the report. 
 
Corporate Property and Construction 
 
Corporate Property and Construction supports the recommendations made in this report 
 
BACKGROUND PAPERS 
 
NIL 

 

Page 26



 

 

 

 

Residents Services 
T.01895 556 673  F.01895 250 493 
jtippell@hillingdon.gov.uk  www.hillingdon.gov.uk 
London Borough of Hillingdon, 
3N/02, Civic Centre, High Street, Uxbridge, UB8 1UW 
 

Appendix 1 
 
Ian Williamson 
FAO: The London Assembly Environment Committee 
City Hall 
The Queen’s Walk 
London 
SE1 2AA 
 
Our ref: JT/06/06/2013 
 
6th June 2013 
 
Dear Mr Williamson 
 
LONDON ASSEMBLY MEETING ON 12TH JUNE 2013:  
ITEM 6 – ENVIRONMENTAL IMPACT OF HIGH SPEED 2 
 
Following our helpful discussion last week, I am writing to you to request that the concerns 
in this letter are made known to the Environment Committee when they consider the 
environmental impacts of HS2.   
 
This letter sets out some key environmental issues in relation to the High Speed 2 draft 
Environmental Statement (draft ES).  It is acknowledged that the London Assembly’s 
Environment Committee are principally concerned with the environmental impacts on 
London; however, it is worth reviewing some of the strategic matters previously raised by the 
London Assembly and to consider whether there has been progress.  Several of these 
strategic matters are directly linked to understanding the environmental impacts and indeed 
whether enough consideration has been given to alternative schemes.   
 
Sections 1 – 5 below relate to a number of key strategic issues and sections 6 – 14 relate to 
more specific environmental matters arising from the consultation on the draft ES.  In light of 
the concerns raised, we would respectfully ask that the Environment Committee considers 
the following in its response to the draft ES consultation: 
 

The Environment Committee has serious concerns over the quality of the draft 
Environmental Statement in terms of the robustness of the information provided.  
There are significant omissions and misrepresentations in terms of the baseline 
information, survey data and what impacts of HS2 have been considered.  The draft 

Page 27



 

 

Environmental Statement fails to properly consider a number of environmental issues 
including the impacts on the London overground and underground; the HS1 link; 
climate change; dispersal of spoil/waste; noise; air quality; ecology and employment.  
Given the inadequacies of the draft Environmental Statement, a further period of 
consultation should be carried out once a ‘fit for purpose’ draft Environmental 
Statement has been produced. 

 
STRATEGIC COMMENTS 
 
In its response to the Government’s consultation on HS2, in July 2011, the London 
Assembly’s Transport Committee raised a number of concerns including the economic and 
transport case; the need for a national transport framework for HS2; the Heathrow Spur; the 
HS1 link; and Crossrail 2.  It would appear that almost two years since those comments were 
made, few of these issues have been satisfactorily addressed. 
 
1. No integrated Transport Strategy  
 
In its response to the Government’s consultation on HS2 in July 2011, the London 
Assembly’s Transport Committee concluded that HS2 should be placed within a detailed 
national transport framework.  One of the principle concerns of the London Borough of 
Hillingdon is that there is still no integrated national transport strategy, and it is assumed that 
Heathrow will remain the UK’s International Aviation Hub.  This means that HS2 is still being 
considered in isolation, and therefore the impending environmental and economic impacts on 
London cannot be put into an acceptable context.  In particular this results in significant 
problems with the following: 
 
2  Heathrow Spur  
 
In July 2011 the London Assembly’s Transport Committee also raised concerns about the 
Heathrow Spurs.  The Council was supportive of the recent announcement that a Heathrow 
Spur will be removed from the HS2 Phase 2 consultation.  Instead it is to be considered at a 
later date when the Davies Commission reports on aviation.  In principle this seems 
appropriate, but only if the Davies Commission influences decisions on the spur, and not vice 
versa.   
 
However, HS2 Ltd and the Government are continuing to develop the Heathrow Spur 
regardless of their announcement to put it on hold.  This suggests an element of 
predetermination, which raises questions about the scope of the Davies Commission.  In a 
recent letter to a Hillingdon resident, HS2 Ltd stated: 
 

The Government also believes the HS2 network should link to Heathrow and its 
preferred option is for this link to be built as part of Phase 2.  However, the airports 
commission, launched in September 2012 is recommending options for maintaining 
the Country’s status as an international aviation hub.   

 
The spur has obvious implications in the wider debate on aviation, and in particular Heathrow 
expansion.  Planning and promoting a Heathrow spur ahead of the Davies Commission 
report effectively tarnishes the process.   

Page 28



 

 

 
However, continuing to develop the Heathrow spur also has significant implications for how 
Phase 1 of HS2 is being developed.  The Council maintains that the tunnelling in London 
should be extended through Ickenham and under the Colne Valley.  This would remove a 
number of significant environmental and economic impacts and would follow HS2 Ltd’s own 
objectives of avoiding harm prior to finding mitigation.  However, the reason the tunnelling is 
not being extended is to ensure that the Heathrow Spurs are built into the Phase 1 proposals.  
In other words the Heathrow Spur is constraining the development options of Phase 1 
despite it being on hold.  It will lock London in to significant adverse environmental impacts, 
whether built or not; not to mention the wider implications of adding weight to arguments for 
expanding Heathrow.     
 
The Government is belatedly attempting to provide some integration between aviation and 
high speed rail.  However, by putting Heathrow spur proposals on hold at the same time as 
stating they are preferred option and planning Phase 1 to incorporate them, the Government 
is in danger of predetermining an unwelcome and undeliverable outcome.   
 
3  Crossrail 2 
 
In July 2011 the London Assembly’s Transport Committee supported TfL’s proposal that HS2 
should be supported by a new line linking Chelsea and Hackney (Crossrail 2).  The recent 
announcement that the Treasury is unlikely to fund Crossrail 2 for some time is also 
testament to the lack of an integrated strategy.  In particular Crossrail 2 is needed to help 
reduce growing crowding problems on a number of London overground and underground 
lines.  It is possible that funding on HS2 is impacting on the Crossrail 2 solution, even though 
the former increases the importance of delivering the latter.   
 
Furthermore, the regional option for Crossrail 2 falls approximately 15 miles short of Stansted 
and slightly less from Gatwick; a transport option that could open up airport growth away 
from Heathrow.   
 
The continued lack of any joined up transport thinking is impacting on the funding for 
Crossrail 2 and constraining options for airport growth.   
 
4  HS1 Link 
 
In July 2011 the London Assembly’s Transport Committee raised concerns about the HS1 
link.  The draft ES contains minimal information on the operation of the HS1 Link.  It suggests 
that there would be up to 3 trains an hour in peak times, with these being either single 
carriage (550 passengers) or double units (1100 passengers).  Elsewhere in the ES there is 
a clear statement that trains operating at peak hours will be double units.   
 
It would appear that HS2 Ltd are unable to say what will happen on the HS1 Link or provide 
any firm details of the operational arrangements – there is no information on ticketing, 
security controls, demand or the destination of these trains.  This demonstrates that HS2 Ltd 
are still very unclear on how HS2 will operate.  
 
 

Page 29



 

 

5  Passenger Numbers on HS2 
 
There is still a lack of publicly available information on the actual usage of HS2.  Whilst 
information has been presented about business cases and impacts on the north, most of 
which is disputed, there is still no detailed information on how many people will use the 
trains.   
 
The draft ES also does not provide this evidence in a clear or consistent manner which 
makes it impossible to understand the true impacts of the operations of HS2.  For example, it 
is not possible to fully understand how many passengers will alight or board at Euston, or 
what the impacts on other regional rail lines would be.    
 
There is some passenger data within the transport chapters but this does not seem to make 
sense.   
 

12.7.3[of Curzon Street CFA] ...The Proposed Scheme will result in approximately 
2,800 passengers using Curzon Street station in the morning peak hour and 
approximately 3,200 passengers using Curzon Street station in the evening peak hour 
in 2026. These numbers increase to approximately 7,000 passengers using Curzon 
Street station in the morning peak hour and approximately 8,000 passengers using 
Curzon Street station in the evening peak hour in 2041 (HS2 Phase Two) through 
increased train frequency and additional national rail destinations. It is expected that 
over half of the travellers on the Proposed Scheme at Curzon Street station would 
have an onward rail journey. 

 
12.6.3 [from Birmingham Interchange CFA]    With the introduction of the Proposed 
Scheme in 2026, there would be approximately 1,550 rail passengers boarding, 
alighting and interchanging at Birmingham Interchange station in the morning peak 
hours and around 1,750 rail passengers boarding, alighting and interchanging at 
Birmingham Interchange station evening peak hours. These passengers are forecast 
to generate around 950 two way vehicle trips in the morning peak hour and 950 two 
way vehicle trips in the evening peak hour. 

 
The first extract refers to the morning peak hour [8-9am] whilst the latter refers to peak hours 
[normally 7-10am].  Inconsistencies in methodology aside, the total passenger numbers 
referred to equates to 4350 people coming and going from the Birmingham Stations.  HS2 
will operate at 11 trains per hour, with 1100 seats available in the peak hours.   
 
The passenger numbers given for the Birmingham end are significantly less than available 
seats.  There is obviously something seriously wrong with the assessment and highlights a 
continued concern about passenger numbers.   
 
SPECIFIC ENVIRONMENTAL ISSUES 
 
6. General comments 
 
The draft ES does not contain any background information, and minimal information on the 
impacts.  It is therefore difficult to get a clear understanding of even the likely environmental 

Page 30



 

 

effects, let alone the actual effects.  For this reason, the draft ES should not be considered in 
the same manner as a draft strategic plan sent out for consultation.  In this example, the draft 
strategic plan would be a completed document which subject to consultation responses 
would be suitable to adopt.  In contrast, the draft ES is not fit for purpose to be given to a 
decision maker regardless of whether consultation responses are received or not.  It is an 
incomplete document, with significant amounts of omissions which by HS2 Ltd’s own 
admission requires further extensive work, including detailed field surveys and assessments.  
This document is not fit for a public consultation and certainly not suitable for interested 
parties to understand the impacts and effects of HS2. 
 
The following comments expand on these concerns in more detail and relate to some of the 
individual topics.  They highlight some of the concerns about the lack of information, and 
ultimately demonstrate it is not possible to understand the impacts on London.   
 
7 Greenhouse Gas Emissions  
 
No assessment has been made of the potential greenhouse gas emissions associated with 
HS2.  This means there is no assessment of the likely energy use and in turn the operational 
costs of HS2.   
 
Importantly though, there is no understanding of how HS2 will compete with domestic 
aviation or the subsequent impacts on London airports.  If HS2 does compete with aviation 
(unlikely until at least Phase 2) and there is a reduction in domestic slots, then this is most 
likely to result in an increase in long haul aviation.  Less domestic slots, particularly at 
Heathrow, could result in more long haul flights and more passengers.  This puts a 
constrained airport and surrounding area under further pressure.   
 
Ultimately, it is not possible to understand whether HS2 will have a positive or negative 
impact on carbon emissions.  The lack of an assessment and any conclusions are 
conspicuous by their absence.  All those across the UK will only become aware of the true 
carbon emissions of HS2 when the final ES gets submitted to parliament.   
 
8 Noise Impacts 
 
The information on noise is also sparse but the assessment that is presented is misleading.  
The principle noise impacts, construction aside, will come from the operation of the 
overground section where the trains emerge and enter the Ickenham High Street tunnel 
portal and then proceed across the Colne Valley.  The above ground section runs parallel 
with a busy residential area on the Greenways, Ickenham before progressing over the Colne 
Valley.   
 
The main concern relates to the methodology for assessing noise.  The draft ES only 
measures the average noise levels (to Laq) from the continuous period of 0700 to 2300.  In 
the first instance, this is insufficient since the trains are scheduled to run to 2400.  However, 
more importantly, averaging noise over a vast period of time misrepresents the noise 
impacts.   
 

Page 31



 

 

Noise from trains is, by their nature, intermittent.  There is a sudden and short burst of noise 
energy emitted before tailing off to background noise levels.  At peak time there will be 11 
trains per hour in one direction (11 in the other) which will result in periods of respite.  These 
respite periods increase during off peak times, when it is assumed that train frequency is 
reduced along with the number of carriages.  Averaging the noise impacts over 1 hour will 
mean respite periods are set alongside the sudden bursts of noise.   To extend the averaging 
over the whole day, allows the maximum peak period noise emissions of longer trains at 11 
per hour to be weighted against the off peak single unit trains and a less frequent service.  
This distorts the actual noise impacts experienced by residents, particularly in the sensitive 
early morning period.   
 
The Council and 51M asked for the noise assessment to be presented to maximum levels 
(Lmax).  This is in accordance with World Health Organisation guidelines which state: 
 

When there are distinct events to the noise such as with aircraft or railway noise, 
measures of the individual events should be obtained (using, for example, LAmax or 
SEL), in addition to LAeq,T measurements. 

 
In addition we asked for averages to differentiate between peak and off peak times.  This has 
not been done.   
 
The noise chapters allude to an assessment of maximum noise impacts, but the information 
has been withheld from this consultation.  As a consequence, what is left in the assessment 
is a disappointing misrepresentation of the true noise impacts.  It is simply not possible to 
understand the noise impacts.  More worryingly, the information presented is a biased 
attempt to dilute the likely harm of HS2.  
 
In addition, there is a lack of background data to understand the increases in noise levels.  
The area impacted in Hillingdon is suburban leading to more rural areas with existing noise 
levels not likely to be too high.  The noise impacts of HS2 need to be assessed not just in 
total magnitude, but also in the change from the existing baseline.  This has not been done. 
 
Finally, the noise contours for the surface route in Ickenham are very similar to the contours 
where the train passes on the viaduct over the Colne Valley.  It does not seem plausible that 
the geographical extent of noise impacts is the same at ground level with vegetated cover as 
it is 15m on a viaduct over vast expanses of water in a river valley. 
 
9 Air Quality Impacts from Construction Traffic  
 
There are still a significant amount of gaps in the information on construction traffic 
movement.  Some information has been provided in the transport sections on the likely traffic 
movements but no assessment has been made of what this means for the current road 
situations.  A lorry moving along a rural road will have less air quality impacts than a lorry 
stuck in peak time congestion.   
 
There is also no timetable for when construction will occur.  For example, to realign Harvil 
Road in Ickenham there will be more than 100 lorry movements a day for 0.5years; to create 
the vent shaft in South Ruislip there will be more than 800 lorry movements a day for 7 years.  

Page 32



 

 

In total the report outlines over 3000 daily light and heavy good vehicle movements in the 
Colne Valley and Ruislip Community Forum areas.   
 
It is not known how many of these vehicle movements will occur at the same time, or full 
details of the routes to be used.  If they all converge on major junctions to access strategic 
networks at the same time this could have serious impacts on air quality. 
 
The lack of information on transportation also constrains the air quality assessments.  The 
assessment for the Ruislip area amounts to three pages.  Each of the assessments contain 
superficial comments relating to dust, but with regards to traffic emissions Volumes 6 and 7 
both state: 
 

Construction activity could also affect local air quality through the additional traffic 
generated on local roads as a result of construction traffic routes and changes to 
traffic patterns arising from temporary road diversions.  Examination of the changes in 
air quality as a result of changes in traffic flows for 2017 along the affected roads will 
be assessed in the formal ES. 

 
Air quality management areas are defined largely due to transportation emissions.  Air quality 
conditions in the urban areas of the borough are particularly sensitive as they are across 
London.  To avoid publishing any form of assessment suggests that HS2 Ltd do not know 
enough about their scheme or are reluctant to publish information.  The final ES is due to be 
presented to Parliament next year, yet there is still a lot of work to be done regarding air 
quality.  To only present the air quality assessments as part of the final ES when it is 
submitted to Parliament is naïve and shows a lack of understanding on a hugely important 
and technical environmental issue. 
 
10 Air Quality Impacts from Passenger Dispersal 
 
There is still a distinct lack of information on the actual passenger demand and the dispersal 
at the 4 stations on the route; Euston, Old Oak Common, Birmingham Interchange and 
Curzon Street Birmingham.  This means that it is not possible to fully understand how many 
people will be actually using HS2, where they come from, how they will complete their 
London side journeys and the impacts on existing services.  For example, the document talks 
about 2500 new modal trips around Old Oak Common but does not break this down for each 
mode.  For example, it is not possible to understand how many more vehicle movements this 
would be.  It is therefore impossible to get an understanding of the impacts on air quality, 
whether good or bad.  This is particularly disappointing given that there are many areas 
around Euston and Old Oak that suffer from poor air quality. 
 
11 Ecology 
 
There is no ecological survey data provided but the conclusions of the assessment suggest 
there would only be significant effects at a local level.  Impacts on birds, including native and 
migrating species are not considered likely to be significant, but the draft ES does 
acknowledge that bird surveys are required.  It is not appropriate to make conclusions on the 
impacts of schemes prior to completing survey work.   
 

Page 33



 

 

There is a lack of clarity about how much woodland will be lost, where it will be lost from, and 
what and where mitigation will be delivered.  There is no assessment of the longer term 
impacts on the integrity of the Mid Colne Valley SSSi which is a nationally designated site.   
 
The Colne Valley is a hugely important resource for London and represents the western 
boundary enjoyed by vast numbers of people.  It is home to an exceptional range of wildlife, 
including European protected species.  The report is lacking any evidence to support the 
conclusions that impacts will be as low as suggested.  No survey data has been presented.   
 
In reality, the temporary construction period and the permanent placement of the route, 
particularly the viaduct, is likely to have a significant environmental effect.  There is local 
knowledge of significant populations of bats along with other UK protected species which 
have been ignored.   
 
The assessment of the ecological impacts would not be sufficient to accompany a small 
planning application let alone a scheme of this nature.  Far more work needs to be completed 
in a very short space of time.   
 
12 Landscape and Visual Impact Assessment 
 
The Colne Valley landscape is disturbed by the intrusion of a new viaduct.  The landscape 
impact assessment is not compliant with industry standard assessment guidelines, and the 
photomontages showing the Colne Valley viaduct are deliberately misleading and 
demonstrate the assessor’s bias in portraying the impacts.  The use of a particular camera 
angle, using a light grey structure on a light grey background is a technique designed to 
reduce the appearance of the viaduct when presenting a photomontage.   
 
The written assessment sets out the impacts but does not set out mitigation as to how to 
reduce the significant effects.  For example, the image of the viaduct shown in the 
photomontages is of bland structure that has no relationship with the surrounding area.  We 
have consistently asked for a commitment to an aspirational viaduct design and potentially 
opening up to a design competition.  No such commitment has been made.  The impacts on 
the Colne Valley have clearly been given little consideration or development work is still 
being undertaken.   
 
13 Economic Impacts 
 
The draft ES assesses the potential socio economic impact as well as environmental 
impacts.  For London the information is particularly weak.  Each Community Forum 
assessment area sets out the likely impacts on jobs and the potential job creations.   
 
Assessing the 7 relevant volumes for London reveals that a total of 3775 jobs will be 
displaced.  This should be tempered by a lack of complete assessments.  For example, the 
Colne Valley volume shows only 5 jobs will be displaced although we know the impacts on 
the Hillingdon Outdoor Activity Centre (HOAC) will result in a lot more.  HS2 Ltd is still 
completing their assessments so this figure is likely to change.  Furthermore, there is no 
information on where these jobs are or what they relate to. 
 

Page 34



 

 

In mitigation, HS2 Ltd has presented the potential construction job creations in person years.  
Across London this will equate to 17,900 person years of construction employment.  
Alternatively this could be read as 2,557 people employed for 7 years each.   
 
There is no wider assessment of the implications for the loss of jobs, for example, significant 
community businesses like HOAC cannot be simply portrayed in terms of job numbers.  
Furthermore, the implication that lost jobs could be mitigated for by the creation of ‘person 
years of construction employment’ is wholly inappropriate, particularly if there is no 
understanding of the types of jobs being lost.   
 
Finally, there is no analysis of how long the negative impacts would be outweighed by the 
positive.  It could be years of negative impacts before any positive benefits are realised.  In 
areas where there are not stations, such as Hillingdon, there is no rationale thinking to 
suggest that benefits of connectiing London to Birmingham will migrate to local areas.  This is 
further justification for minimising the environmental harm through tunnelling the complete 
length of the borough.   
 
14 Summary 
 
The London Assembly is seeking to understand the possible impacts of HS2 on London; 
however, based on the information provided so far this is not possible.  HS2 Ltd has provided 
insufficient background information, no survey data, and provides little or no details on what 
or where they have considered impacts.  The ES is not a draft in the sense it is a document 
that is complete subject to further comments.  Instead it is a draft in the sense of being a half 
completed document.  This is a fundamental flaw in this consultation which provides no 
scope for understanding the impacts of HS2.  In light of these concerns, we would 
respectfully ask that the Environment Committee considers the suggested response to the 
draft ES consultation as set out in paragraph 3 of this letter. 
 
Should you have any queries on the matters raised in this letter, please do not hesitate to 
contact me. 
 
Yours sincerely 
 
 
 
 
Jales Tippell 
Head of Planning Policy, Transportation and Community Engagement 

Page 35



Page 36

This page is intentionally left blank



 

 

Planning, Environment, Education and Community 
Services 
T.01895 556 673  F.01895 250 493 
jtippell@hillingdon.gov.uk  www.hillingdon.gov.uk 
London Borough of Hillingdon, 
3N/02, Civic Centre, High Street, Uxbridge, UB8 1UW 
 

Appendix 2 
 
 
 
 
Jo Sloman 
Assistant Scrutiny Manager 
London Assembly 
City Hall 
The Queen’s Walk 
London, SE1 2AA 
 
Ref: JT/20/06/13/HS2/LondonAssembly 
 
 
20 June 2013 
 
Dear Jo 
 
LONDON ASSEMBLY TRANSPORT COMMITTEE  
HS2 ROUTE REFINEMENT CONSULTATION 
 
Thank you for the opportunity to provide comments to the Transport Committee to assist in 
responding to HS2 Ltd’s Route Refinement consultation.   
 

Overview and Concerns 

As you will be aware, HS2 will generate a huge range of environmental and social impacts 
in the London Borough of Hillingdon.  HS2 is predominantly in tunnel in the east of the 
borough and emerges at West Ruislip before proceeding above ground and then on a 
viaduct across the Colne Valley.   
 
To facilitate the delivery of this project, HS2 Ltd ‘needs’ to undertake a monumental 
construction project in the west of the borough in Ruislip, Ickenham and in the Colne 
Valley lasting a minimum of 7 years.  The scale of the project is exacerbated by the fact 
that the tunnel portal at West Ruislip and the start of the Colne Valley viaduct are 
geographically in very close proximity.  The project includes a vast construction compound 
which would carve out a large swathe of green space between Harvil Road and the 
proposed cutting for HS2 through New Years Green Covert.  A further large construction 
sitre is required at the tunnel portal near West Ruislip Station.  The subsequent operation 
of HS2 will damage biodiversity with mitigation measures taking decades to provide 

Page 37



 

 

anything like adequate compensation; it will significantly increase noise to areas currently 
unexposed to high noise levels; there will be a complete change in the landscape of the 
Colne Valley; and there are currently likely to be significant effects on water resources.     
 
The Council believes that HS2 Ltd has not respected the level of environmental and social 
impacts in the borough and has not suitably justified why less damaging alternatives have 
been ruled out.   
 
In particular, HS2 Ltd has provided wholly inadequate reasoning why the Ruislip tunnel 
cannot be extended throughout the borough to emerge on the west of the Colne Valley  
 
As a consequence, the Council does not support the route refinements set out by HS2 Ltd, 
simply because they do not go far enough to removing years of construction misery 
followed by operational impacts without compensation.  The Council considers that it is 
justified in believing it will have ‘all the pain and none of the gain’. 
 

The Consultation 

The Route Refinement Consultation includes three changes that impact on Hillingdon: 
 

• Northolt Corridor (route refinement 4) 
• Heathrow Junction (route refinement 5) 
• Colne Valley Viaduct (route refinement 6) 

 
All three pose unacceptable impacts to the borough.  The Northolt Corridor refinement 
increases the amount of excavated material to be managed in Hillingdon; the inclusion of 
the Heathrow Spur effectively removes the options for extending the Ruislip tunnel; and 
the movement of the Colne Valley Viaduct does not remove risk to the Hillingdon Outdoor 
Activity Centre and results in the demolition of an additional dwelling and brings the route 
and its associated environmental impacts closer to residents.   
 

Why not Tunnel Further? 

At the heart of the problem remains HS2 Ltd’s inability to present a satisfactory case as to 
why tunnelling cannot be extended across the Colne Valley.  The draft Environmental 
Statement (dES) consultation running concurrently states: 
 

2.6.17 HS2 Ltd acknowledges that there would be environmental benefits if a tunnel 
was proposed; however, the use of the viaduct to cross the Colne Valley was based 
on a combination of practical, financial and safety considerations. The lakes are 
large former gravel pits and the ground beneath falls well below the water level. 
This means that tunnelling would likely be more difficult and expensive than 
elsewhere on the route. 
 
2.6.18 Consequently it was determined early in the project that tunnelling was not 
appropriate and an option for tunnelling has not been re-visited in detail as part of 

Page 38



 

 

the work since the announcement of the scheme in January 2012 (Colne Valley 
Community Forum Area: Report 7) 

 
This is a clear acknowledgement that HS2 Ltd is not prepared to reassess the cost of 
tunnelling versus the environmental effects even though a considerable amount of 
environmental and social assessment has been completed subsequently.  
 
Furthermore, the statement ‘The lakes are large former gravel pits and the ground beneath 
falls well below the water level. This means that tunnelling would likely be more difficult 
and expensive than elsewhere on the route’ has been given less credence by the 
submission of the preferred route for the Heathrow Spur (appendix 1).  This clearly shows 
tunnelling across the Colne Valley, at almost the same location where the viaduct goes.  In 
other words, it is perfectly possible.    
 
As a consequence of not tunnelling, the Borough will experience huge misery from the 
construction and operation as set out below: 
 

1  Construction traffic for 7 years in Ruislip and Ickenham will cause congestion, 
increase air quality impacts and in some cases may require significant engineering 
interjections which will need to be managed by Council and TFL resources.  HS2 Ltd 
has presented some construction route information in the dES but this has shocked 
residents more than it has informed.  Attached as appendix 2 is a map detailing work 
undertaken by the Council to ‘fill in the gaps’ in the information disclosed by HS2 Ltd. 
Included on this plan are key route barriers such as low bridges and (indicated as red 
circles) the Borough’s existing traffic congestion hotspots.  Some of the keys points 
arising from this include the following: 
 

• ‘A’ Roads will come to halt as up to 3300 lorries per day use the local road 
network to move spoil, workers and construction material. 

• These lorry movements and those likely to come from Old Oak Common will 
use the A40 as the primary route out of London to the motorway networks; 
despite the fact the A40 is currently exceeding minimum air quality limits on 
much of its route. 

• The attached map (appendix 2) shows the construction traffic will impact on 
existing significant hotspots of congestion.  Some of the routes involve mini 
roundabouts serving multiple links.  It is already difficult for cars to navigate 
these without significant numbers of large lorries increasing the problems. 

• A key access point to the site of the West Ruislip tunnel portal is indicated as 
being via Hill Lane, a narrow road with very poor visibility splays at its 
junction with Ickenham Road and also the only access to and from Ruislip 
Golf Centre, a restaurant, residential side roads and a pedestrian/ cycle route 
leading to the residential areas of West Ruislip. If, as is suggested, up to 800 
lorry movements a day are to use this short road and junction, the Council 
consider that adequate road safety measures including the possibility of 
traffic controls would be needed, which would in turn add to the high existing 
levels of traffic congestion in Ickenham Road.    

Page 39



 

 

• There is reference to the possible need to use an alternative construction 
traffic route via Ickenham Road, High Street Ruislip, Bury Street, Ladygate 
Lane and Breakspear Road. This is for situations where access under the 
existing road bridge in Breakspear Road South (carrying the Chiltern Line) is 
impassable by the vehicles in question. This route would have a severe 
impact on local roads including a high street and residential roads and a 
school (Whiteheath School in Ladygate Lane) which is already a daily source 
of traffic congestion.  

• There are many ‘A’ roads and local roads that are currently heavily used to 
the extent where busses already have problems.  It is very likely that buses 
will experience considerable disruption to their timetables for several years.  
The movement of large heavy goods vehicles, for example along Ruislip 
High Street, is simply untenable because there is simply not enough room for 
large vehicles to pass one another. 

• It is likely that the fire service and other emergency vehicles may experience 
difficulties as a result of increased traffic on already congested roads and the 
problems of roads not being wide enough to cope with two large vehicles 
needing to pass one another. 

• The diversion and use of major north – south networks will hamper anyone 
living in the north of the borough and trying to reach the south.  This is 
worsened by the need to temporarily close two major roads, Harvil Road, 
and Breakspear Road South.   

• Heavy and prolonged use of the borough’s north-south roads (such as Harvil 
Road, Ickenham Road, Breakspear Road South and West End Road) by 
construction traffic is likely to impinge on people’s ability to get to and from 
work, which will have an impact on businesses and the economy.  

• Also attached as appendix 4 is a bus map for the whole of the Hillingdon, 
which illustrates the poor existing connectivity between the north and south 
areas of the Borough. Comparison with the construction routes plan (which 
includes the relevant bus routes shaded in green) makes it clear that a 
number of key bus routes will be severely impacted for a period of up to 
seven years.  

• This may need TfL to consider curtailing, diverting or splitting these bus 
routes into two halves and at the very least will severely detract from service 
capacity and delivery. Key routes affected include the U9 (one of the very 
few public transport links of any kind that serves the village of Harefield), the 
U1 and U10 (both important routes linking Ruislip and Uxbridge, the latter 
also serving Ickenham).  

• Also affected are the special schools-only 697 and 698 services, which 
connect students in the south of the Borough with faith schools in the north. 

 
2  Millions of tonnes of waste material will need to be managed in and around Ruislip 
and Ickenham.  There is still a lot of uncertainty about when and how the excess 
material will be used.  Experience from the Crossrail project suggests that a 
considerable proportion of earth excavated from the tunnel may have to be transported 
by road, despite the suggestion from HS2 Ltd that other means of transport would be 
favoured. 
 

Page 40



 

 

3 There are other obvious concerns related to the loss of jobs; the loss of community 
facilities and the knock on impacts of these; the years of blight which has already 
begun; and the general change in perception of a vast area of west London which will 
be changed significantly for at least 7 years.   
 
4  The above ground route will cause unacceptable noise impacts.  The noise 
assessments produced show impacts that are likely to result in a 10db increase over 
existing situations.  This should be caveated by the fact HS2 Ltd has only shown 
average noise levels, i.e. the noise spikes as a train passes is averaged out by the few 
minutes of silence that follows.   
 
5  The viaduct results in the loss of important businesses and community facilities.  In 
particular the highly respected and well used Hillingdon Outdoor Activity Centre will 
have to close, despite HS2 Ltd suggesting the Colne Valley (refinement 6) removes 
some of the impacts.    
 
6  The dES suggests there will be significant effects on water resources although 
these will only be assessed through the Code of Construction Practice, i.e. after the 
scheme is approved.   
 
7  The dES suggest that the some of the Colne Valley lakes may need to be drained.  
The lakes are home to some of London’s most important bird populations and contain a 
site of special scientific interest.  The scheme will also result in the loss of ancient 
woodland and large areas of the countryside.  The mitigation and compensation will 
never make up for the level of destruction.   
 
8  The viaduct will fundamentally change the landscape in the Colne Valley for the 
worse. 
 

Heathrow Spurs 

Extending the tunnelling beyond West Ruislip and across the Colne Valley solves all these 
problems.  However, the real reason as to why the tunnelling cannot be extended is to 
ensure that the Heathrow Spurs (refinement 5) can be delivered as part of phase 1.  There 
are a number of concerns with this: 
 

1 The Heathrow link is currently on hold and awaiting the outcome of the Davies 
Commission on Aviation.  This means all the impacts experienced above may be for no 
good reason if the Davies Commission supports airport expansion in the Thames, at 
Gatwick or Stansted, or supports Heathrow’s expansion out west.  In other words, the 
significant effects are guaranteed, the delivery of the Heathrow link may never happen.   
 
2  Attached in appendix 3 is a copy of the service specification for HS2, i.e. the 
timetable of trains.  It shows 18 trains per hour in one direction (36 combined).  
Importantly it shows only two trains per hour in one direction (4 combined) serving 
Heathrow.  One train goes from Heathrow – Birmingham Interchange – Manchester 
(Outskirts) – Manchester.  The other train goes Heathrow – Birmingham Interchange – 
East Midlands – South Yorkshire – Leeds.  There are no trains shown to go from 
Euston – Old Oak Common – Heathrow.  In other words, the service specification on 

Page 41



 

 

which the business case is based, shows no usage of the London – Heathrow spur.  
Which begs the question, why is there a London spur?  18 trains per hour (shown on 
the service specification) leave little room for a meaningful service from Euston to 
London in any event. 
 
3 HS2 Ltd has rightly been less than forthcoming about the Business Cost Ratio for 
the Heathrow Spur which is known to be below 1:1 with evidence presented to the 
Judicial Review court suggesting it is as low as 0.3:1.   
 
4 A spur to Heathrow may help to predetermine the results of the Davies 
Commission.  However it is clear that Heathrow expansion is not a viable option, with 
or without a high speed rail link.   

 

Conclusion 

The Council is deeply concerned about the impacts of HS2 on the borough.  The route 
refinements do not go far enough.  If a case had been presented that tunnelling was 
technically impossible from West Ruislip to west of the Colne Valley, then the Council 
would have no choice but to accept this.  However, HS2 Ltd has said it is too difficult and 
costly, whilst simultaneously presenting a preferred route for a Heathrow spur that crosses 
the Colne Valley in tunnel.  Clearly the costs of environmental and social costs, including 
the disruption on the transport network and its consequences for example on businesses 
and air quality have not been taken into account.  
 
Hillingdon will experience huge levels of disruption from construction traffic with genuine 
concern from residents and officers as to how it is practically possible without bringing 
some areas to a standstill.  On top of this there are many other environmental effects 
which seem to have been irresponsibly dismissed out of hand by HS2 Ltd.  It is simply not 
acceptable to not even review the tunnelling option now that more details on the significant 
environmental effects have emerged.  To continue to pursue a London to Heathrow spur 
knowing the consequences is considered to be highly irresponsible.   
 
The Council seeks support from the London Assembly to fight the irrational inclusion of the 
Heathrow Spurs and in turn to help present a case for extending the tunnelling under the 
Colne Valley in order to mitigate the harmful impacts, including those relating to transport 
in the borough.   
 
We would welcome an opportunity to put our views to the Transport Committee if that is 
considered to be helpful.  Should you have any queries on our submission, please do let 
me know and I will be pleased to assist.  
 
Yours sincerely 
 
 
 
Jales Tippell 
Head of Transportation, Planning Policy and Community Engagement 

Page 42



 

 

 

 
Residents Services 
T.01895 556 673  F.01895 250 493 
jtippell@hillingdon.gov.uk  www.hillingdon.gov.uk 
London Borough of Hillingdon, 
3N/02, Civic Centre, High Street, Uxbridge, UB8 1UW 
 

Appendix 3 
 
To be emailed to: 
HS2DesignRefinement@ipsos.com 
 
Dear Sir/Madam 
 
HS2 London-West Midlands Design Refinement Consultation –  
Response of London Borough of Hillingdon  
 
Thank you for the opportunity to respond to the proposed design refinements for the HS2 
Phase One route as outlined in the above consultation document. This letter represents 
the formal consultation response on behalf of the London Borough of Hillingdon.  
 
You should be aware that Hillingdon Council strongly opposes the HS2 proposal and we 
are taking legal action to challenge the Government’s decision to proceed with the 
scheme.   In the event that the HS2 proposal goes ahead, we would like to be assured that 
our views are taken into account and acted upon.  
 
You may be aware that three of the proposed refinements directly impact on the borough 
and our response to these is detailed below. As the proposal for HS2 will generate 
significant environmental and social impacts on the borough we have outlined, in our 
response below, further route refinements we wish HS2 Ltd to include. We hope that these 
comments will be carefully considered and taken into account in revising the scheme. 
 
Question 4 - Northolt Corridor 
Question 
This proposed change consists of replacing the proposed surface section of the route 
between Old Oak Common and Northolt with a bored tunnel including three new vent 
shafts. Please give your views on this proposal, indicating whether or not you support the 
proposal together with your reasons. 
 
Hillingdon’s response 
1. You should be aware that Hillingdon Council strongly opposes the HS2 proposal 
and we are taking legal action to challenge the Government’s decision to proceed with the 
scheme.   In the event that the HS2 proposal goes ahead, we would like to be assured that 
our views are taken into account and acted upon.  We are supportive of the increased 
tunnelling to avoid the impact of the tunnel portal and its construction in Ealing and the 
eastern part of Hillingdon.  However given the additional impacts of this proposed route 

Page 43



 

 

refinement, we formally request a further route refinement to extend the tunnel throughout 
Hillingdon to emerge to the west of the Colne Valley.  We believe that this route 
refinement, which would involve 5,780 metres of additional tunnelling to replace the 3,840 
metre long proposed viaduct, should have been included in the route refinement 
consultation.  The proposed construction site at West Hyde has easy access to the M25 
and therefore would therefore not result in significant impacts on the local road networks. 
 
2. The reason for this request for a further route refinement is because the 
construction impacts in Hillingdon of the HS2 tunnel and viaduct over 7 years are 
untenable and the long term impacts in the borough of HS2 will damage biodiversity with 
mitigation measures taking decades to provide anything like adequate compensation; it will 
significantly increase noise to areas currently unexposed to high noise levels; there will be 
a complete change in the landscape of the Colne Valley; and there are currently likely to 
be significant effects on water resources.     
 
3. Clearly the costs of environmental and social costs, including the disruption on the 
transport network and its consequences for example on businesses and air quality have 
not been taken into account by HS2 Ltd.  We are very concerned that no detail is given in 
terms of the potential impacts caused by the removal of the additional excavated material 
arising from the Northolt Corridor route refinement, which has been identified by HS2 Ltd 
as around 1.3 million cubic metres, which will need to be removed from the tunnel 
worksites in the industrial areas adjacent to Old Oak Common and West Ruislip.  
 
4. The extended tunnel will result in huge volumes of waste material that will need to 
be managed in and around Ruislip and Ickenham.  There is still a lot of uncertainty about 
when and how the excess material will be used.  Experience from the Crossrail project 
suggests that a considerable proportion of earth excavated from the tunnel may have to be 
transported by road, despite the suggestion from HS2 Ltd that other means of transport 
would be favoured. 
 
5. Given the lack of information by HS2 Ltd on the construction impacts for 
construction traffic around the West Ruislip tunnel portal construction site, we have 
therefore carried out our own assessment of likely impacts on the transport network based 
on information provided in HS2 Ltd’s Draft Environmental Statement (see Appendix A).  
This shows that the scale of the impacts on Hillingdon are worsened because the tunnel 
portal at West Ruislip and the start of the Colne Valley viaduct are just 2,210 metres apart.  
This means that there is a vast construction site between Harvil Road and the proposed 
cutting for HS2 through New Years Green Covert, and a further large construction site at 
the tunnel portal near West Ruislip Station.  
 
6. As a consequence of not tunnelling across Hillingdon, its residents and businesses 
will experience immense misery from the construction and operation as set out below: 
 

• ‘A’ Roads will come to halt as up to 3300 lorries per day use the local road 
network to move spoil, workers and construction material. 

Page 44



 

 

• These lorry movements and those likely to come from Old Oak Common will use 
the A40 as the primary route out of London to the motorway networks; despite 
the fact the A40 is currently exceeding minimum air quality limits on much of its 
route. 

• The attached map (appendix A) shows the construction traffic will impact on 
existing significant hotspots of congestion.  Some of the routes involve mini 
roundabouts serving multiple links.  It is already difficult for cars to navigate 
these without significant numbers of large lorries increasing the problems. 

• A key access point to the site of the West Ruislip tunnel portal is indicated as 
being via Hill Lane, a narrow road with very poor visibility splays at its junction 
with Ickenham Road and also the only access to and from Ruislip Golf Centre, a 
restaurant, residential side roads and a pedestrian/ cycle route leading to the 
residential areas of West Ruislip. If, as is suggested, up to 800 lorry movements 
a day are to use this short road and junction, the Council consider that adequate 
road safety measures including the possibility of traffic controls would be 
needed, which would in turn add to the high existing levels of traffic congestion 
in Ickenham Road.    

• There is reference to the possible need to use an alternative construction traffic 
route via Ickenham Road, High Street Ruislip, Bury Street, Ladygate Lane and 
Breakspear Road. This is for situations where access under the existing road 
bridge in Breakspear Road South (carrying the Chiltern Line) is impassable by 
the vehicles in question. This route would have a severe impact on local roads 
including a high street and residential roads and a school (Whiteheath School in 
Ladygate Lane) which is already a daily source of traffic congestion.  

• There are many ‘A’ roads and local roads that are currently heavily used to the 
extent where busses already have problems.  It is very likely that buses will 
experience considerable disruption to their timetables for several years.  The 
movement of large heavy goods vehicles, for example along Ruislip High Street, 
is simply untenable because there is simply not enough room for large vehicles 
to pass one another. 

• It is likely that the fire service and other emergency vehicles may experience 
difficulties as a result of increased traffic on already congested roads and the 
problems of roads not being wide enough to cope with two large vehicles 
needing to pass one another. 

• The diversion and use of major north – south networks will hamper anyone living 
in the north of the borough and trying to reach the south.  This is worsened by 
the need to temporarily close two major roads, Harvil Road, and Breakspear 
Road South.   

• Heavy and prolonged use of the borough’s north-south roads (such as Harvil 
Road, Ickenham Road, Breakspear Road South and West End Road) by 
construction traffic is likely to impinge on people’s ability to get to and from work, 
which will have an impact on businesses and the economy.  

• Also attached as Appendix B is a bus map for the whole of the Hillingdon, which 
illustrates the poor existing connectivity between the north and south areas of 
the Borough. Comparison with the construction routes plan (which includes the 
relevant bus routes shaded in green) makes it clear that a number of key bus 
routes will be severely impacted for a period of up to seven years.  

Page 45



 

 

• This may need TfL to consider curtailing, diverting or splitting these bus routes 
into two halves and at the very least will severely detract from service capacity 
and delivery. Key routes affected include the U9 (one of the very few public 
transport links of any kind that serves the village of Harefield), the U1 and U10 
(both important routes linking Ruislip and Uxbridge, the latter also serving 
Ickenham).  

• Also affected are the special schools - only 697 and 698 services, which connect 
students in the south of the Borough with faith schools in the north. 

 
7. The proposals for HS2 have led to many other obvious concerns as follows: 
 

• The loss of jobs; the loss of community facilities and the knock on impacts of 
these; the years of blight which has already begun; and the general change in 
perception of a vast area of west London which will be changed significantly for 
at least 7 years.   

 
• The above ground route will cause unacceptable noise impacts.  The noise 

assessments produced show impacts that are likely to result in a 10db increase 
over existing situations.  This should be caveated by the fact HS2 Ltd has only 
shown average noise levels, i.e. the noise spikes as a train passes is averaged 
out by the few minutes of silence that follows.   

 
• The viaduct results in the loss of important businesses and community facilities.  

In particular the highly respected and well used Hillingdon Outdoor Activity 
Centre will have to close, despite HS2 Ltd suggesting the Colne Valley 
(refinement 6) removes some of the impacts.    

 
• The dES suggests there will be significant effects on water resources although 

these will only be assessed through the Code of Construction Practice, i.e. after 
the scheme is approved.   

 
• The dES suggest that the some of the Colne Valley lakes may need to be 

drained.  The lakes are home to some of London’s most important bird 
populations and contain a site of special scientific interest.  The scheme will also 
result in the loss of ancient woodland and large areas of the countryside.  The 
mitigation and compensation will never make up for the level of destruction.   

 
• The viaduct will also fundamentally change the landscape in the Colne Valley for 

the worse. 
 
8. We believe that all this grief and long lasting damage could be avoided if the 
proposed 3,840 m long viaduct could be replaced by 5,780m of additional tunnelling.  
Otherwise in Hillingdon, we will have the tunnel portal just 2,210m away from the viaduct 
and the area in between will become a massive construction site within a densely 
populated area with no easy access to the A40 or motorway network. 
 
 
 

Page 46



 

 

Question 5 - Heathrow Junctions 
Question 
This proposed change consists of making provision so that a future link to Heathrow can 
be connected to the Phase One main line with the minimum of disruption to HS2 train 
services. Please give your views on this proposal, indicating whether or not you support 
the proposal together with your reasons. 
 
Hillingdon’s response 
 
1. This response should be read alongside our response to Question 4. 
 
2. We do not support this proposal. It is our view that the inclusion of the Heathrow 
junctions in HS2 Phase One is pre-judging the outcome of the final recommendations from 
the Airports Commission which are due in 2015. The two strategies i.e. high speed rail and 
aviation, should be aligned in terms of timescales.  
 
3. As the remit of the Airports Commission includes assessing all options for the UK, 
this has led to calls for evidence on concepts such as new hub airports and also the 
potential closure of Heathrow. It is ill-judged and premature to pave the way for the 
junctions prior to a decision on the future of Heathrow airport.    
 
4. The service specification for HS2, as set out by HS2 Ltd i.e. the timetable of trains 
shows only two trains per hour in one direction (4 combined) serving Heathrow.  One train 
goes from Heathrow – Birmingham Interchange – Manchester (Outskirts) – Manchester.  
The other train goes Heathrow – Birmingham Interchange – East Midlands – South 
Yorkshire – Leeds.  There are no trains shown to go from Euston – Old Oak Common – 
Heathrow.  In other words, the service specification on which the business case is based, 
shows no usage of the London – Heathrow spur.  Which begs the question, why is there a 
London spur?  18 trains per hour (shown on the service specification) leaves little room for 
a meaningful service from Euston to London in any event. 
 
6. The map in the consultation document for this route refinement proposal has no 
accompanying detail of the eventual route alignment and no detail of any resulting 
potential impacts should this ever proceed. With no proven business case for a link to 
Heathrow, and, as there is a current aviation strategy vacuum on decisions for the future of 
airports, we firmly believe this route refinement should not proceed.  Instead the Heathrow 
Spur from Heathrow Airport to Euston should be deleted. 
 
6 Colne Valley Viaduct 
Question 
The proposed change consists of moving the proposed alignment of the Colne Valley 
viaduct by up to 60 metres to the north to reduce the disturbance to the River Colne. 
Please give your views on this proposal, indicating whether or not you support the 
proposal together with your reasons. 
 
Hillingdon’s response 
1. This response should be read alongside our response to Question 4. 
 

Page 47



 

 

2. We do not support this proposal. The movement of the line towards residential 
housing in South Harefield has the potential to increase noise impacts from the operation 
of the high speed line.  
 
 
3. The loss of the Harefield Outdoor Activities Centre (HOAC) as a viable business is 
still under threat and there are still potential impacts in terms of loss of amenity with the 
line now potentially more visible to areas of South Harefield.  The impacts on Hillingdon 
properties remain significant.  No details have been given to reassure the Council that this 
would not impact on visual, landscape or noise levels for our residents and therefore, the 
consultation is also inadequate in relation to sufficient information being made available to 
be able to make an informed response. 
 
4. As stated in our response to Question 4 of this consultation, we wish to add at this 
point a formal request for a further route refinement to be considered which would relieve 
all the environmental impacts within our borough namely an extension of the current 
proposed tunnel from West Ruislip through Ickenham and through the Colne Valley. We 
firmly believe that this option has been dismissed without appropriate consideration being 
given to the environmental and social benefits such a route refinement would bring. 
 
5. We note that the Community Forum Area report – South Ruislip to Ickenham, no 6, 
accompanying the draft Environmental Statement Consultation, refers to a proposal for a 
tunnel extension to the western end of the Northolt Corridor tunnel portal further to the 
west. The current proposed scheme has sited the tunnel eye 70m west of Ickenham Road. 
However, we note that consideration was given for an extension to the tunnel to 1.15km 
west of the original 2012 announcement. This option is referred to as: 
 

“the preferred option on environmental grounds as it reduces the effects of 
operational activities on the residential properties on The Greenway (south of the 
route). However, this option was not selected due to the engineering and cost 
reasons”. (para 2.6.11) 
 
It is apparent from the above that tunnelling represents an improvement from an 
environmental perspective.  
 
In addition we note that the Community Area Forum Report, Colne Valley, no 7, 
refers to a tunnel under the Colne Valley.  
 
“HS2 acknowledges that there would be environmental benefits if a tunnel was 
proposed; however the use of the viaduct to cross the Colne Valley was based on a 
combination of practical, financial and safety considerations”. (para 2.6.17)  

 
6. The document goes on to state that HS2 Ltd decided early in the project that 
tunnelling was not appropriate and an option for tunnelling has not been revisited in detail 
as part of the work since the announcement of the scheme in January 2012. 
 
7. We wish to reiterate our formal request for HS2 Ltd to consider a route refinement 
of a tunnel extension from London continuing through the Colne Valley. We believe this 

Page 48



 

 

represents the best option and should be further evaluated by HS2 Ltd in terms of the 
benefits it would bring.  
 
8. Such a proposal would remove noise impacts from residents near the tunnel portal 
in West Ruislip and from the proposed viaduct. It would remove the need for the demolition 
of a number of properties within the borough and also preserve the regional resource that 
HOAC provides.  
 
9. With the publication of the draft Environmental Statement, there is slightly more 
information now available on where construction sites will be and where the accompanying 
construction routes are proposed.  Even from the limited information available in the draft 
Environmental Statement documentation it is apparent that the consequence of not 
tunnelling under the Colne Valley will cause considerable hardship in the short term and 
long lasting damage (as set out in paras 6 and 7 in our response to Question 4 above), 
which could be avoided if the proposed 3,840 m long viaduct were to be replaced by 
5,780m of additional tunnelling.  Otherwise in Hillingdon, we have the tunnel portal just 
2,210m away from the viaduct and the area in between will become a massive 
construction site within a densely populated area with no easy access to the A40 or 
motorway network.  We therefore request that HS2 Ltd now take the opportunity to extend 
the tunnel from London through to the western side of the Colne Valley. 
 
We do hope that our comments will be fully taken into account. 
 
Yours faithfully 
 
 
 
Jales Tippell 
Head of Planning Policy, Transportation and Community Engagement 
 

Page 49



Page 50

This page is intentionally left blank



Appendix 4

HS2 Phase One Draft Environmental Assessment 
Consultation

Response by London Borough of Hillingdon

Page 51



1. Executive Summary 5

1.1. Objections in Principle 5

1.2. Action Required 6

2. Objections to the Process 7

2.1. Introduction 7

2.2. Outcome of Court Proceedings 7

2.3. Reliance on the Decisions and Next Step Document 8

2.4. There is no Assessment of Alternatives 8

2.5. Conclusion 9

3. Compliance with EIA Regulations 10

3.1. Introduction 10

3.2. Assessment of Alternatives 10

3.3. Cumulative assessment with other planned projects 11

3.4. Reliance on Code of Construction Practice 12

4. Heathrow Spurs and Link 14

4.1. Introduction 14

4.2. Reason to Pursue a Heathrow Spur 14

4.3. Reasons not to pursue a London to Heathrow Spur – Environmental Effects 15

4.4. Reasons not to pursue a London to Heathrow Spur – Cumulative Assessment 18

4.5. Reasons not to pursue a London to Heathrow Spur – Heathrow Decision on Hold 18

4.6. Summary 19

4.7. Conclusion 20

5. General Comments 22

5.1. Lack of Information 22

5.2. Passenger Numbers on HS2: What is being assessed? 22

5.3. Methodologies 25

6. Site Wide Comments: Carbon Emissions 27

Report page 2

Page 52



6.1. Greenhouse Gas Emissions 27

6.2. Presentation of Results 28

6.3. Methodology:  Assessment of Significance 28

6.4. Methodology:  Assumptions 29

6.5. Methodology:  Scope of Assessment 31

6.6. Carbon Timetable 33

6.7. Cumulative Impacts 33

7. Site Wide Comments:  Socio Economic 34

7.1. Inconsistencies in Assessment 34

8. Detailed Comments on Community Area Forum Reports 36

8.1. Introduction 36

9. Agriculture 37

9.1. Overview 37

10. Air Quality 40

10.1. Overview 40

11. Community 44

11.1. Overview 44

11.2. Specific Comments:  Report 6 Ruislip to Ickenham 45

11.3. Specific Comments:  Report 7 Colne Valley 46

12. Cultural Heritage 48

12.1. Overview 48

12.2. Specific Comments: Report 7 Colne Valley 49

13. Ecology 50

13.1. Overview 50

13.2. Specific Comments:  Report 6 Ruislip to Ickenham 52

13.3. Report 7 53

13.4. Inter-relationship and Cumulative Effects 55

14. Land Quality 56

14.1. Overview 56

14.2. Specific Comments: Report 7 Colne Valley 56

15. Landscape 57

15.1. Overview 57

Report page 3

Page 53



16. Socio Economic 59

16.1. Overview 59

17. Sound and Vibration 60

17.1. Overview 60

17.2. Specific Comments Report 7: Colne Valley 63

18. Traffic and Transport 64

18.1. Overview 64

18.2. Inappropriate Level of Impacts 65

18.3. Specific Comments: Report 6 Ruislip to Ickenham 68

18.4. Specific Comment: Report 7 Colne Valley 70

18.5. Conclusions 72

19. Water Resources 73

19.1. Overview 73

Report page 4

Page 54



1.

1.1.

Executive Summary 

Objections in Principle 

1.1.1. Hillingdon Council strongly opposes the HS2 proposal and we are taking legal 
action to challenge the Government’s decision to proceed with the scheme.   In 
the event that the HS2 proposal goes ahead, we would like to be assured that 
our views are taken into account and acted upon. 

1.1.2. The Council believes that the draft Environmental Statement (dES) does not 
comply with commitments made by the Secretary of State for Transport at the 
recent court proceedings.  In addition, the submitted document shows a failure 
to comply with a number of the requirements set out in the Environmental 
Impact Assessment Regulations.  An environmental statement is supposed to 
help a decision maker in reaching the right outcome on a project.  In this 
instance, the dES blindly assesses the conclusions of HS2 without providing 
any challenge to the merits, even where new environmental information shows 
the scheme will have significant effects.  The main concerns are summarised 
below:

1. The dES simply assesses the impacts of the conclusions of the DNS.  It 
does not challenge previous conclusions made solely on economic 
grounds, it does not present alternatives or provide adequate justification 
for the proposed route even though significant environmental effects are 
now known. 

2. The dES provides no cumulative assessment of Phases 1 and 2, or of a 
Heathrow Link. 

3. The dES includes conclusions on the proposed scheme before the 
assessments are complete.

4. The dES does not fill the information gap, resulting from a failure by of 
HS2 Ltd to complete a strategic environmental assessment.  It therefore 
does not adequately assess or present the merits of alternatives to the 
proposed scheme. 

5. There has been a complete failure for the significant environmental 
effects in west London to be given appropriate weighting in decision 
making on the proposed route.

6. The dES simply assesses the impacts of Heathrow spurs, but does not 
assess the merits.  This is particularly concerning given their inclusion 

Report page 5

Page 55



results in environmental effects in West London of such magnitude that 
they cannot be deemed justifiable by a balanced and fair assessor.

1.1.3. The Council believes the dES cannot be seen as a fair and balanced document 
as it is simply an assessment of the conclusions of the DNS.  There has never 
been a fair hearing into the environmental merits of alternative proposals, and 
as the business case for HS2 continues to plummet, this approach becomes 
more irrational. 

1.1.4. Furthermore, the dES was written and submitted prior to recent court 
proceedings and is therefore does not comply with commitments made by the 
Secretary of State. 

1.1.5. The Council considers it wholly inappropriate for HS2 Ltd to retrospectively 
produce environmental information after conclusions have been made in the 
dES.  It is also wholly inappropriate for HS2 Ltd to prepare an assessment of 
alternatives whilst still working on the environmental statement to support the 
proposed scheme.   

1.2. Action Required 

1.2.1. For the reasons above, the Council believes all work must cease on promoting 
and developing HS2.  A robust and comprehensive assessment of alternative 
measures should be fully developed and consulted on prior to completing an 
EIA compliant Environmental Statement on a preferred scheme.   

1.2.2. Notwithstanding the above, it is clear even from the limited information within 
the dES that the environmental impacts of HS2 will cause considerable 
hardship in the short term and long lasting damage to residents in Hillingdon as 
set out in this response.  The Colne Valley is an area of immense importance in 
landscape, recreational, amenity and ecological terms.  The proposed viaduct 
will cause considerable harm to this much loved area, which could be avoided if 
the proposed 3,840 m long viaduct were to be replaced by 5,780m of additional 
tunnelling.  Furthermore, in Hillingdon we have the tunnel portal just 2,210m 
away from the viaduct and the area in between will become a massive 
construction site within a densely populated area with no easy access to the 
A40 or motorway network.  Based on the findings of the dES, we therefore 
request that HS2 Ltd now take the necessary mitigation action to extend the 
tunnel from London through to the western side of the Colne Valley. 

Report page 6

Page 56



2.

2.1. Introduction 

2.2.

Objections to the Process 

The following comments are without prejudice to the legal matters raised by 
Harrison Grant on behalf of 51M in their letter to the Department for Transport 
Treasury Solicitor dated 21 June 2013 

2.1.1. In June 2013 the Royal Courts of Justice heard an appeal into a Judicial 
Review judgement handed down in March 2013.  Both cases centred on 
concerns of 51M (including the Council) that there are more suitable transport 
options than the proposed HS2 scheme.  In addition, the Court heard that HS2 
was predominantly being promoted on the back of economic assessments at 
significant environmental costs.  There has never been an adequate 
assessment of the environmental effects of alternatives to HS2, nor are all the 
impacts of HS2 known.  This is primarily because HS2 Ltd believes that the 
Strategic Environmental Assessment (SEA) regulations do not apply.  As a 
consequence, the environmental merits of alternative proposals have never 
been adequately presented and the Department for Transport (DfT) is 
continuing to promote an unsustainable scheme. 

2.1.2. The Council maintains that the principles of the SEA Regulations should have 
been fully applied so that the DfT understood the environmental benefits of 
alternative schemes.  Advancing a major transport proposal with a poor 
business cost ratio of a little over 1:1 combined with a considerable amount of 
significant environmental effects is irrational.  The primary problem is that the 
Government has never been in possession of all the relevant information on the 
all schemes when deciding to promote HS2. 

Outcome of Court Proceedings 

2.2.1. This issue has been at the heart of legal challenges.  51M and HS2 Action 
Alliance have both argued that there was a lack of consideration of alternatives, 
and that the Hybrid Bill process is incompatible with the EIA Regulations.

2.2.2. The Court heard a number of commitments made by the Secretary of State 
about how the ES will deliver a lawful and comprehensive tool to assist decision 
makers in determining the right scheme.  These commitments had never 
previously been made and arrived after the draft Environmental Statement 
(dES) was submitted.

Report page 7

Page 57



2.2.3. The court heard that the eventual decision by Parliament would be approached 
with an open mind, would include an assessment of reasonable alternatives 
and that the environmental statement would therefore assess and invite 
comments on all reasonable alternatives to the current HS2 proposal.  All 
options need to be adequately assessed to ensure decision makers could come 
to a fair and balanced decision.

2.2.4. Unfortunately, the dES predates the commitments made in Court on behalf of 
the DfT.  As a consequence, the dES does not reflect the suggested approach 
by the DfT and is therefore obviously inadequate and highly misleading.

2.3.

2.4.

Reliance on the Decisions and Next Step Document 

2.3.1. A further problem with the dES stems from the fact it is simply assessing the 
conclusions set out in the DNS in January 2012.

2.3.2. The dES does not challenge the conclusions of the DNS despite knowledge on 
the environmental effects now being known.  In doing so it assumes the 
conclusions reached in the DNS are indisputable.  EIA is supposed to influence 
the design and development of a scheme; in this instance though, the dES 
merely attempts to justify conclusions made long before environmental effects 
were known.  This also undermines Parliament’s ability to approach the 
decision making with an open mind.

There is no Assessment of Alternatives

2.4.1. Again, contrary to the claims in Court, there is no adequate assessment of 
strategic alternatives of any merit.  The Court heard that there should be a fair 
assessment of the alternatives allowing decision makers to understand the pros 
and cons of other schemes.  This led to a commitment to append a report to the 
final ES appraising the attributes of alternative schemes.   

2.4.2. The dES contains no such appraisal.  On the contrary, it merely outlines briefly 
the alternatives that have been assessed and describes reasons for not 
selecting them.

2.4.3. Furthermore, no fiscal cost has been attributed to the environmental benefits of 
alternatives.  Instead, the dES demonstrates that the economic issues have 
been solely considered for advancing the HS2 proposals.  The reality is that the 
environmental effects of alternatives have never been adequately considered 
and therefore weighed in the decision making for the preferred option.

Report page 8

Page 58



2.5. Conclusion 

2.5.1. The Council maintains that HS2 Ltd was wrong to avoid an SEA and in turn to 
not understand the environmental merits of alternative proposals.  The 
approach outlined in Court goes a little way to appeasing concerns that 
Parliament will be allowed to consider all options; however, retrospectively 
assessing all the options having spent over £250m and nearly two years 
pursuing a preferred option is hardly rational or logical.  Ultimately, it seems 
unlikely that alternative options will be given a fair and just hearing. 

2.5.2. The Council is rightly concerned about this rather confused assessment 
process belatedly cobbled together and not reflective of a multi billion pound 
and environmentally harmful transport project.  Notwithstanding these, it is 
necessary to consider whether HS2 Ltd is even on the right lines with the 
approach set out in Court. 

2.5.3. The dES was published for consultation prior to Court proceedings.  Evidently it 
was developed with an alternative process in mind than the one set out in 
Court.  It demonstrates a blind commitment to a scheme deemed preferable 
long before adequate environmental assessments of alternatives which are 
now proposed to be completed after a preferred option is selected.  As a 
consequence, it is difficult to see how HS2 Ltd can progress lawfully on 
developing the final ES whilst simultaneously providing a fair assessment of 
alternatives.   

2.5.4. The Council is aware that the final ES will approach 55,000 pages, whilst the 
dES is only 5000 pages.  This highlights the amount of work still needed for the 
final ES which includes undertaking detailed survey and data gathering.  The 
Council cannot see the logic in advancing this work in parallel with developing 
an assessment of alternatives.  This could be a further waste of public money; 
alternatively, it demonstrates that there is no real intention to fairly considering 
alternatives.  

2.5.5. Retrospectively applying the approaches set out in Court is hard enough.  But 
once the dES was published it makes it practically impossible to finalise the ES 
at great expense as well as setting out the true merits, environmental, social 
and economic of alternatives.

2.5.6. For the reasons above, the Council believes all work must cease on promoting 
and developing the HS2 proposals. A robust and comprehensive assessment 
of alternative measures should be fully developed and consulted on prior to 
completing an EIA compliant Environmental Statement on the preferred 
scheme.

Report page 9

Page 59



3.

3.1. Introduction 

3.2.

Compliance with EIA Regulations 

3.1.1. The Council has specific concerns about the dES’s compliance with the EIA 
regulations regardless of the matters set out in the previous chapter.

Assessment of Alternatives 

3.2.1. The EIA regulations require ES’s to consider alternatives to the proposals 
presented.  Schedule 4, Part 1[2] states that an Environmental Statement (ES) 
should include:

An outline of the main alternatives studied by the applicant or appellant and an 
indication of the main reasons for the choice made, taking into account the 
environmental effects.

3.2.2. The assessment of alternatives is presented in only 20 pages of assessment of 
strategic alternatives in chapter 7 of Volume 1.  This covers a range of 
alternatives in a very brief manner.  The preferred scheme is known to have 
significant environmental effects, yet is being pursued despite no proper 
understanding of the environmental effects of the alternatives.  For example, 
some of the alternative schemes have been ruled out because of negative 
carbon impacts, even though the impacts of the preferred scheme are not 
known and have previously been reported as being potentially significantly 
adverse.

3.2.3. Furthermore, the final ES is a reported 55,000 pages compared with the 5000 
page dES consultation.  This means much more work is being done to 
understand the environmental effects of the preferred scheme.  It is premature 
to rule out other options when it is clear that some of the alternatives have 
much better environmental performance.  This is highlighted by the fact that 
there is a need for a cumulative assessment of Phase 1 and 2, but which is not 
yet included within the dES.  How is it possible to rule out alternatives, without 
understanding the environmental effects of the proposed scheme? 

3.2.4. The Council does not believe the assessment of alternatives adequately 
considers, presents or takes into account the environmental effects of 
alternative schemes.  This is a multi billion pound transport project with 
significant environmental effects.  To present such minimal environmental 
information, and in some cases none, on the alternatives to HS2 is 
inappropriate and nor does it comply with the EIA regulations.

Report page 10

Page 60



3.3. Cumulative assessment with other planned projects 

3.3.1. Schedule 4, Part 1(4) of the EIA regulations requires ES’s to include: 

A description of the likely significant effects of the development on the 
environment, which should cover the direct effects and any indirect, secondary, 
cumulative, short, medium and long term, permanent and temporary, positive 
and negative effects of the development, resulting from— 

(a) the existence of the development;

(b) the use of natural resources; 

(c) the emission of pollutants, the creation of nuisances and the elimination of 
waste, and the description by the applicant or appellant of the forecasting 
methods used to assess the effects on the environment. 

3.3.2. In the context of EIA, the Infrastructure Planning Commmission (IPC) set out 
guidance on what is meant by the “the existence of development” and what 
needs to be considered in the context of cumulative assessments.  The 
guidance followed two significant Judicial Review decisions on the 
implementation of EIA. These decisions, Rochdale ex parte Milne (1999) and 
Rochdale ex parte Tew (2000) are collectively known as the Rochdale 
Envelope.  The advice by the IPC set out in the document: ‘Using the Rochdale 
Envelope’ in 2011 states: 

In assessing cumulative impacts, other major development should be identified 
through consultation with the local planning authorities and other relevant 
authorities on the basis of those that are: 

• Under construction 

• Permitted application(s), but not yet implemented 

• Submitted application(s) not yet determined 

• Projects on the IPC’s Programme of Projects 

• Identified in the relevant Development Plan (and emerging Development 
Plans - with appropriate weight being given as they move closer to adoption) 
recognising that much information on any relevant proposals will be limited 

• Identified in other plans and programmes (as appropriate) which set the 
framework for future development consents/approvals, where such 
development is reasonably likely to come forward 

Report page 11

Page 61



3.3.3. Phase 2 of HS2 forms part of the commitment for the wider project.  In addition, 
the inclusion of Heathrow spurs at significant environmental costs also need to 
be justified as part of a wider project.

3.3.4. The recent Court case also heard submissions and commitments from the DfT 
about the need to assess the cumulative impacts with Phase 2.

It [ written response to grounds of challenge that cumulative impacts had not 
been assessed] clearly says -- in writing it says that we will expect the 
environmental statement for the bill scheme to grapple not only with the direct 
effects of phase 1 but also with the cumulative effects of phase 2. 

3.3.5. The dES does not assess the cumulative impacts with Phase 2 but presents 
conclusions on alternatives having less merit.  This has predetermined the 
cumulative assessment and demonstrates that environmental considerations 
are not part of the decision to promote this scheme.

3.3.6. In addition, there is a significant lack of detail in both the DNS and dES 
regarding the need and operation of the Heathrow Spurs.  The cumulative 
impacts of building and operating the whole Heathrow spur must be considered 
in the dES.

3.3.7. The cumulative assessment is therefore inadequate, and fails to meet the 
commitments made in Court.  Proceeding with this scheme without full 
information on Phase 2 has been determined to be unlawful in the recent Court 
cases.  To continue to promote HS2 without the information on Phase 2 is not 
compliant with the EIA Regulations and provides further evidence to the lack of 
environmental impacts in the decision making chain.

3.3.8. The fact that the dES provides conclusions on the scheme before all the 
impacts are known is deeply concerning.  There is a lack of respect and 
understanding of the environmental effects of the proposed scheme.
Retrospectively providing cumulative assessments after reaching conclusions 
on the scheme is fundamentally wrong.

3.4. Reliance on Code of Construction Practice 

3.4.1. The Council is concerned to see that so much information is yet to be collected 
as part of the Code of Construction Practice (COCP).  For example: 

Report 6: Cultural Heritage, paragraph 6.5.2: 

A programme of archaeological investigation and recording to be undertaken 
prior to construction works affecting the assets; and 

Report page 12

Page 62



A programme of historic building investigation and recording to be undertaken 
prior to modification or demolition of the assets. 

Report 6: Land Quality, paragraph 8.5.1: 

The draft CoCP requires that a programme of ground investigation would take 
place prior to construction in order to confirm areas of contamination. A risk 
assessment would be undertaken to determine what, if any, site-specific 
remediation measures would be required to allow the Proposed Scheme to be 
constructed safely and to prevent harmful future migration of contaminants. 

Report 6: Ecology, paragraph 7.5.3:

The assessment assumes implementation of the measures set out within the 
draft CoCP, which includes translocation of protected species where 
appropriate. Water Resources investigation 

3.4.2. HS2 Ltd should be aware that the EIA regulations require full assessment of the 
likely significant effects.  Whilst the COCP can include general construction 
measures such as preventing dust from reaching watercourses, or watching 
briefs for archaeological reasons, it cannot contain assessments that need to 
inform the EIA.

Report page 13

Page 63



4.

4.1. Introduction 

4.2.

Heathrow Spurs and Link 

4.1.1. The Council is particularly concerned about the inclusion of the London to 
Heathrow spur within the Phase 1 route, even though the full link to Heathrow is 
being put on hold.

4.1.2. The Council (as part of 51M) challenged the inclusion of the Heathrow link in 
the DNS.  However, the judge ruled that Government were free to make policy 
decisions within the DNS, predominantly because there would still need to be a 
presentation of suitable options and assessments of the merits of the spurs 
prior to Parliament making a decision on them.  Furthermore, the appeal case 
heard clearly, that the DNS does not set a framework for the dES.  Therefore, 
from a legal perspective, Government can pursue a policy decision to promote 
the Heathrow link, but cannot decide on it until all options have been properly 
assessed.  The ES is the process for setting the case adequately for the spurs, 
the wider links and to properly justify its inclusion.

4.1.3. The dES assesses a scheme that includes the Heathrow spurs, but does not 
assess whether there should be one in the first place.  It is simply assessing the 
details set out in the DNS.  It is assuming the DNS has already determined the 
spurs are the best solution despite no comprehensive assessment of their 
merits, either economic or environmental, nor a comparative assessment with 
alternative options.  It therefore only assesses the impacts of the spurs, not 
whether they should be there at all.

4.1.4. Given the lack of assessment of the spurs, and HS2 Ltd blindly following the 
conclusions of the DNS, it is necessary for the Council to weigh up the 
justification within the DNS with the environmental effects described in the dES.
This will help identify the potential merits of the Heathrow link as part of a 
comprehensive assessment, which the Court found was necessary, but which 
HS2 Ltd has failed to do. 

Reason to Pursue a Heathrow Spur 

4.2.1. The original judicial review heard that the business case for the Heathrow link 
was very poor, with a business cost ratio of considerably less than 1:1 (the 
court heard it could be as low as 0.3). Beyond that, the merits or justification 
were never adequately presented. The DNS (para 4.25) stated: 

Report page 14

Page 64



Some consultation responses questioned the strength of the economic case for 
providing a direct link to Heathrow. The Government considers that its strong 
strategic case makes a direct Heathrow link the right approach to take, 
providing a properly integrated connection between the country’s major hub 
airport and HS2. The economic case of a project is only a single component in 
a much broader decision making process [emphasis added] 

4.2.2. The DNS also stated the objective for the Heathrow link:

The Government believes that there is a strong case for HS2 services to run 
directly into Heathrow. In particular, improved access to the country’s major hub 
airport for businesses in the Midlands and the North would create new 
opportunities for growth, and, by better linking these regions into the global 
reach of Heathrow, make them more attractive locations to invest and do 
business (para 4.23) 

Some responses misunderstood the Government’s proposals for direct services 
to Heathrow once the Y network is in place, believing that passengers would 
always have to use the Old Oak Common interchange to access Heathrow by 
changing trains. This is incorrect; under Phase 2 there will be trains direct to 
Heathrow from the Midlands and the North. (4.36) 

4.2.3. Clearly there is an objective to connect the Midlands and North, and this is 
reflected in the service specification outlined in the August 2012 Updated 
Economic Case document.  In Phase 2, this shows two trains per hour leaving 
Heathrow to serve the North (Manchester and Leeds).

4.2.4. There is still inadequate information justifying the Heathrow link.  There 
appears to be a belief that it is a good idea, but it can’t yet be proved and the 
dES assesses the Link as if it has already been determined to be necessary 
regardless of its environmental effects.  There is no further justification outside 
the limited information in the DNS on why a link is necessary.

4.3. Reasons not to pursue a London to Heathrow Spur – Environmental 
Effects

4.3.1. The DNS and subsequently the dES include two spurs, one serving ‘the north’ 
and one serving London.  The extremely poor BCR and the lack of information 
as to what the ‘other’ strategic reasons are provide a very tenuous case for a 
Heathrow link at all.  However, given the only objective for the Heathrow link 
would be to serve the ‘north and Midlands’ (see extract above) there is 
absolutely no reason for a London to Heathrow spur.   This is supported by the 
fact there are no trains shown to use the London to Heathrow spur which is 

Report page 15

Page 65



hardly surprising given the existing extent of connections to Heathrow, 
combined with the impending Crossrail link. 

4.3.2. In addition, the inclusion of the London to Heathrow spur purportedly prevents 
the extension of tunnelling from Ickenham through west London and across the 
Colne Valley.  In this area, the above ground line and construction of the tunnel 
portal will have significant environmental effects as detailed in the dES.  More 
importantly, in some instances, it will not be possible, let alone harmful, for 
construction vehicles to use the areas suggested: 

1. Construction of the tunnel Ruislip tunnel portal has not been adequately 
thought through and is simply unlikely to be possible due to the complex 
existing road network. HS2 Ltd assesses this as significant.  In 
particular, as shown in Appendix A to this response: 

a. ‘A’ Roads will come to halt as up to 3300 lorries per day use the local 
road network to move spoil, workers and construction material. 

b. Lorry movements and those likely to come from Old Oak Common will 
use the A40 as the primary route out of London to the motorway 
networks; despite the fact the A40 is currently exceeding minimum air 
quality limits on much of its route. 

c. Construction traffic will impact on existing significant hotspots of 
congestion.  Some of the routes involve mini roundabouts serving 
multiple links.  It is already difficult for cars to navigate these without 
large lorries increasing the problems.  In some instances, the routes 
selected simply cannot accommodate the type of lorries proposed. 

d. There is reference to the possible need to use an alternative 
construction traffic route via Ickenham Road, High Street Ruislip, Bury 
Street, Ladygate Lane and Breakspear Road. This is for situations 
where access under the existing road bridge in Breakspear Road 
South (carrying the Chiltern Line) is impassable by the vehicles in 
question. This route would have a severe impact on local roads 
including a high street and residential roads and a school (Whiteheath 
School in Ladygate Lane) which is already a daily source of traffic 
congestion.  

e. There are many ‘A’ roads that are currently heavily used to the extent 
where busses already have problems.  The movement of huge goods 
vehicles, for example along Ruislip High Street, is simply untenable.

f. The diversion and use of major north – south networks will hamper 
anyone living in the north of the borough and trying to reach the south.
This is worsened by the need to temporarily close two major roads, 
Harvil Road, and Breakspear Road South.

Report page 16

Page 66



2. The dES suggest that some of the Colne Valley lakes may need to be 
drained.  The lakes are home to some of London’s most important bird 
populations and contain a site of special scientific interest.  The scheme will 
also result in the loss of ancient woodland and large areas of the 
countryside.  The mitigation and compensation will never make up for the 
level of destruction.  HS2 Ltd assesses the ecology effects as 
significant.

3. The above ground route will cause unacceptable noise impacts.  The noise 
assessments show impacts that are likely to result in a 10db increase over 
existing situations.  This should be caveated by the fact HS2 Ltd has only 
shown average noise levels, i.e. the noise spikes as a train passes is 
averaged out by the few minutes of silence that follows. HS2 Ltd assesses 
this as significant.

4. The viaduct results in the loss of important businesses and community 
facilities.  In particular the highly respected and well used Hillingdon 
Outdoor Activity Centre will have to close, despite HS2 Ltd suggesting the 
Colne Valley (refinement 6) removes some of the impacts. HS2 Ltd 
assesses this as significant.

5. The dES suggests there will be significant effects on water resources 
although these will only be assessed through the Code of Construction 
Practice, i.e. after the scheme is approved. HS2 Ltd assesses this as 
significant.

6. The viaduct will fundamentally change the landscape in the Colne Valley for 
the worse. HS2 Ltd assesses this as significant.

7. Millions of tonnes of waste material will need to be managed in and around 
Ruislip and Ickenham.  There is still a lot of uncertainty about when and how 
the excess material will be used.

8. A number of heavily used public rights of way connecting the north of the 
borough with south are severed.

9. There are three large scale construction sites in close proximity, one either 
side of the Colne Valley and another at the tunnel portal.  The cumulative 
effects have not been considered.

4.3.3. In addition there are other obvious concerns related to the loss of jobs; the loss 
of community facilities and the ‘wider economic dis-benefits’; the years of blight 
which has already begun; and the general change in perception of a vast area 
of west London which will be changed significantly for at least 7 years.

Report page 17

Page 67



4.4.

4.5.

Reasons not to pursue a London to Heathrow Spur – Cumulative 
Assessment

4.4.1. The spurs are being included to facilitate a possible future connection to 
Heathrow.  The preferred option for this link has been published and shows 
significant deep bore tunnelling, surface routing, and green tunnelling across 
the Colne Valley twice.  This too will have significant environmental effects and 
the spurs cannot be considered in isolation.

4.4.2. As stated in the previous section, ES’s need to consider the cumulative effects 
of other plans or programmes.  The inclusion of the spurs represent a wide 
series of effects that cannot be dismissed at this stage.

Reasons not to pursue a London to Heathrow Spur – Heathrow Decision 
on Hold 

4.5.1. The decision to connect to Heathrow was put on hold as part of the 
announcement for Phase 2: 

As stated in January 2012, the Government believes that the HS2 network 
should link to Heathrow and its preferred option is for this to be built as part of 
Phase Two.  However, the Government has since established an independent 
Airports Commission, chaired by Sir Howard Davies, to recommend options for 
maintaining the country’s status as an international aviation hub. 

The Government has therefore taken the decision to pause work on the spur to 
Heathrow until after 2015 when it expects the Airports Commission to publish 
its final report.  The proposals for the Heathrow spur and station are not 
planned to be part of the Phase Two consultation.  However, there would still 
be the opportunity to consult separately at a later point and include the 
Heathrow spur in legislation for Phase Two without any impact on the delivery 
time if that fits with the recommendations of the Commission. 

To avoid severe disruption to the Phase One line after it has opened, however, 
the Government would consider carrying out the preparatory construction work 
needed to preserve the option of our preference serving Heathrow in the future. 
Including this work now could save significant disruption and cost at a later 
point.

4.5.2. Connecting HS2 to Heathrow may never happen and in any event is dependent 
on an entirely separate decision on aviation.  The development of high speed 
rail in the absence of an integrated transport strategy could therefore 
predetermine the wrong rail high speed rail links.  This is clearly highlighted by 

Report page 18

Page 68



the inclusion of spurs in Phase 1, with all the significant environmental effects 
they bring, on the off chance that they may one day be needed.

4.6. Summary  

4.6.1. All the above significant adverse environmental, social and economic effects 
provide clear justification as to why the proposed viaduct is untenable and why 
tunnelling through west London and under the Colne Valley would be hugely 
beneficial.

Providing a Heathrow Link from HS2 

Pros Cons

Connecting the Midlands and North to 
Heathrow

Business Cost Ratio of less than 1 

Other strategic reasons (not detailed) No cumulative assessment of the 
disbenefits
Significant adverse transport effects
Significant adverse effects from 
construction and doubts about 
whether it could be achieved 
Significant adverse effects from noise 
Significant adverse effects on air 
quality
Significant adverse effects on ecology 
Significant adverse effects on public 
rights of way 
Loss of public facilities and 
businesses 
Significant adverse landscape effects 
The connection may never happen 

Significant flood risk effects 

Heathrow may not remain the UK’s 
hub airport

4.6.2.

Providing the London to Heathrow Spur 

Pros Cons

No trains programmed to use the link 
No business case 

Facilitates a future connection from 
London to Heathrow

No cumulative assessment with the 
effects of the future link 

Report page 19

Page 69



Removes the ability to tunnel across 
west London
Significant adverse transport effects to 
deliver them 
Significant adverse effects from 
construction and doubts about 
whether it could be achieved 
Significant adverse effects from noise 
Significant adverse effects on air 
quality
Significant adverse adverse effects on 
ecology
Significant flood risk effects 
Significant effects on public rights of 
way
Loss of public facilities and 
businesses 
Significant adverse landscape effects 
Heathrow may not remain the UK’s 
hub airport 

4.7. Conclusion 

4.7.1. There is no assessment of why the spurs are needed or the why the tunnelling 
cannot be extended across the Colne Valley.  Instead the following justification 
is given: 

2.6.17 HS2 Ltd acknowledges that there would be environmental benefits if a 
tunnel was proposed; however, the use of the viaduct to cross the Colne Valley 
was based on a combination of practical, financial and safety considerations. 
The lakes are large former gravel pits and the ground beneath falls well below 
the water level. This means that tunnelling would likely be more difficult and 
expensive than elsewhere on the route. 

2.6.18 Consequently it was determined early in the project that tunnelling was 
not appropriate and an option for tunnelling has not been re-visited in detail as 
part of the work since the announcement of the scheme in January 2012 (Colne 
Valley Community Forum Area: Report 7) 

4.7.2. This is a clear acknowledgement that HS2 Ltd is not prepared to reassess the 
cost of tunnelling versus the environmental effects even though a considerable 
amount of environmental and social assessment has been completed 
subsequently.

Report page 20

Page 70



4.7.3. Furthermore, the statement ‘The lakes are large former gravel pits and the 
ground beneath falls well below the water level. This means that tunnelling 
would likely be more difficult and expensive than elsewhere on the route’ has 
been given less credence by the submission of the preferred route for the 
Heathrow Spur.  This clearly shows tunnelling across the Colne Valley, at 
almost the same location where the viaduct goes.  In other words, it is perfectly 
possible.

4.7.4. The level of environmental effects west of Ruislip is so significant that there is 
little option but to tunnel.  There is simply no justification, financial or otherwise, 
for such a high level of environmental harm.   

4.7.5. The Council believes the inclusion of the London to Heathrow spur constrains 
the inclusion of tunnelling across the Colne Valley; as a consequence the dES 
represents an unlawful approach for the following reasons: 

1. The DNS is being used as the framework for the dES conclusions on the 
spurs.

2. There is no operational, strategic or business case presented to justify the 
significant effects of the Heathrow spurs and link.   

3. There is no cumulative assessment of the impacts of providing the whole 
Heathrow link. 

4. There is no adequate justification as to why the tunnelling stops west 
Ruislip despite the significant environmental effects of the surface route.

5. There is no adequate assessment of the alternatives to the proposed 
scheme, i.e. tunnelling beyond the Colne Valley.   

6. The environmental costs have not been considered when deciding on the 
proposed scheme.   

4.7.6. The Council requires an urgent review of the inclusion of the Heathrow Link and 
in particular the London to Heathrow spur.  The decision to rule out further 
tunnelling was made prior to the information in the dES which is likely to 
present a worse case on completion. The level of environmental, social and 
economic effects cannot simply be dismissed in a couple of paragraphs.  The 
Council considers the ES is presenting a misleading case to decision makers 
and is therefore unlawful.

Report page 21

Page 71



5.

5.1.

5.2.

General Comments 

Lack of Information 

5.1.1. It has been reported that the final ES will amount to 55,000 pages.  This 
consultation runs to nearer 5,000. This demonstrates a lack of information 
being presented to consultees and the amount of gaps in the information.  
Asking consultees to comment on the environmental impacts when the majority 
of the assessment information remains withheld or incomplete is not very 
sensible.   

5.1.2. The lack of information presents only part of the environmental impacts and 
leaves consultees guessing or concerned as to whether their issues will ever be 
considered in the final version.

5.1.3. The lack of information also undermines the conclusions reached before 
assessments have been completed.  A number of the topic areas introduce 
mitigation and conclusions on effects without even knowing all the impacts and 
receptors.

Passenger Numbers on HS2: What is being assessed? 

5.2.1. The Council is also concerned about the level of information presented 
regarding the operation of the trains.  To date HS2 Ltd has never properly 
outlined how many people will be using the trains throughout the day, and what 
this means for passenger dispersals at a specific local level.

5.2.2. The transport chapters broadly outline what the passenger dispersal numbers 
would be but these are highly confused and use a variety of different 
methodologies.  Ultimately, it hides the fact that the trains themselves will have 
little usage.   

5.2.3. Volume 1 (3.3.5) states there would be 11 trains per hour in one direction 
during the peak hour which is taken as being 8-9am and 5-6pm.  Trains could 
be 200m (single units) or 400m (double units) depending on demand.  The 
Camden Community forum volume is the only place where the dES set outs the 
types of trains running at peak hours: 

Report page 22

Page 72



On opening, Phase One would run up to 14 trains per hour (tph)1. HS2 trains 
would be up to 400 metres (m) long with 1,100 seats during peak hours. 
Beyond the dedicated high speed track, these high speed trains would connect 
with and run on the existing WCML to serve passengers beyond the HS2 
network. A connection to HS1 would also allow some services to run to 
mainland Europe via the Channel Tunnel. 

5.2.4. To understand passenger dispersal from these 11 trains, which is important to 
assess the cumulative environmental effects on specific location, readers would 
have to turn to the service specification set out in the DNS accompanying 
reports.  The information is not contained in the dES.

5.2.5. The service specification being used to explain the operation of HS2 shows just 
3 trains per hour serving Birmingham (4 at peak times) from London.  There 
would be the same amount of trains moving in the opposite direction.  The 4 
peak time trains (8 in both directions) could carry up to 1,100 passengers each.  
This means there is a potential for 8,800 people to move to and from 
Birmingham.

5.2.6. The Curzon Community Forum Volume 26 states: 

12.7.3 ...The Proposed Scheme will result in approximately 2,800 passengers 
using Curzon Street station in the morning peak hour and approximately 3,200 
passengers using Curzon Street station in the evening peak hour in 2026. 
These numbers increase to approximately 7,000 passengers using Curzon 
Street station in the morning peak hour and approximately 8,000 passengers 
using Curzon Street station in the evening peak hour in 2041 (HS2 Phase Two) 
through increased train frequency and additional national rail destinations. It is 
expected that over half of the travellers on the Proposed Scheme at Curzon 
Street station would have an onward rail journey. 

5.2.7. Birmingham Interchange Community Forum Volume 24 states: 

12.6.3 With the introduction of the Proposed Scheme in 2026, there would be 
approximately 1,550 rail passengers boarding, alighting and interchanging at 
Birmingham Interchange station in the morning peak hours and around 1,750 
rail passengers boarding, alighting and interchanging at Birmingham 
Interchange station evening peak hours. These passengers are forecast to 
generate around 950 two way vehicle trips in the morning peak hour and 950 
two way vehicle trips in the evening peak hour. 

                                           

1 NB: this conflicts with: “The current assumed initial service pattern is for 11 trains per hour (tph) in
each direction during peak hours” (3.3.5 of Volume 1)

Report page 23

Page 73



5.2.8. In the second extract, the figure refers to ‘morning peak hours’ implying the 
passenger dispersal is taken against the whole three hours in morning (7-10am 
as set out in the Camden assessment).  This results in just 516 passengers for 
the morning peak hour 8-9am. 

5.2.9. What this shows is a problematic correlation between the capacity on the trains 
and those who will actually use it.  A potential of 8800 passengers equates to 
actual passenger numbers of just 3316 in the morning peak hour combined 
across the two Birmingham stations.  It could be that initially the trains will only 
run as single units, in which case there would be just 4400 passenger capacity.   

5.2.10. The reality is that there is such a dearth of information that it is impossible to 
fully understand what HS2 Ltd is assessing.  It is fundamentally important to set 
out all the relevant information on train movements so consultees can 
understand:

The interaction of effects across the whole day, not just peak time. 

The cumulative impacts with existing developments 

The cumulative effects of different environmental areas, e.g. air quality. 

The likely socio-economic effects in the off peak 

An understanding of the energy usage of trains related to passenger 
numbers.  A train at 15% full has a greater carbon impact per passenger 
than one at 100% full.

5.2.11. The problem with the assessment of passenger dispersal is further enhanced 
by the conflicting methodologies for the London stations.  The Euston 
assessment simply sets out an increase from existing passenger numbers, and 
not the total as used in the Birmingham assessment.  The Old Oak Common 
assessment is substantially different and presents no assessment at all: 

The Proposed Scheme at Old Oak Common is likely to result in an increased 
number of trips (both vehicular and non-vehicular) to and from the area. This is 
anticipated to be a maximum in one direction of 2,500 trips by all modes in the 
AM peak hour (08:00 to 09:00). (Volume 4, 12.6.3) 

The assessments in the dES are incomplete, poorly presented, missing 
information, misleading and ultimately redundant as an exercise to assess the 
effects of HS2.  The final ES must present: 

Consistent methodologies 

A full timetable throughout the day including the capacity of each train 

The likely usage of the trains 

Report page 24

Page 74



The passenger dispersals at all the stations in the same format 

The amount and mode of onward journeys 

A future timetable for when capacity is likely to increase 

5.2.12. In addition, there is no assessment or details at all about the passenger 
dispersal north of Birmingham.  7 of the 11 trains per hour at peak time do not 
stop at Birmingham and head in a variety of northern directions.  HS2 will have 
a direct impact on passenger dispersal at northern stations that also needs to 
be assessed.

5.2.13. The Council considers it a fundamental failure of HS2 Ltd to not properly outline 
what they are assessing and using such a range of poorly presented 
methodologies.  It makes for a very poor ES that cannot in any way be effective 
in aiding decision makers.   

5.3. Methodologies 

5.3.1. The Council was rightly disappointed by the level of information in the draft 
Scope and Methodology Report, and not to be consulted on the final Scoping 
report was considered to be a mistake.

5.3.2. The failure to outline the specific receptors in the Scoping reports has resulted 
in a dES that is far from adequate.  For example, many of the roads shown to 
accommodate HS2 construction traffic in Ruislip are simply not useable, due to 
factors such as constrained road width and low bridges.  Setting out the likely 
routes in the scoping reports would have allowed for greater dialogue between 
consultees, residents and HS2 Ltd which would have resulted in a more robust 
Environmental Statement.

Stage 2:
Scoping

What do we
assess?

How do we
assess it?

Stage 3:
The

Assessment

What are the
conclusions?

Stage 1:
Screening

Is assessment
required?

5.3.3. The general approach to EIA is set out above.  HS2 Ltd never adequately 
agreed or presented the information required for stage 2.  Only broad details 
were presented in the scoping reports but not the specifics required.  As a 
consequence, for the first time, the dES presents consultees with the receptors 
(but not all) being assessed, the methodologies (broadly) and the assessment 

Report page 25

Page 75



conclusions all at the same time.  The problem is that because HS2 Ltd failed 
to apply the EU guidance on scoping reports, and instead operated in isolation, 
they have used the wrong methodologies to assess the wrong receptors.  This 
has resulted in inaccurate conclusions. 

5.3.4. This is best highlighted in the construction routes outlined in the Ruislip area.
Some of the roads shown cannot practically accommodate the traffic being 
suggested.  If the details on construction had been presented earlier and 
consulted upon, ‘what would be assessed’ could have been tailored to reflect 
detailed knowledge of the area.  The subsequent dES would have used the 
correct methodologies to assess the appropriate receptors.  However, as HS2 
Ltd failed to complete stage 2 at the correct time, they have presented a series 
of construction routes, complete with conclusions of the impacts based on 
receptors that do not work.  As a consequence:

The conclusions in the assessment are wrong 

The impacts on air quality need to be reassessed 

The assessment on business impacts needs reviewing 

Noise impacts will now need to be considered for a different construction 
route

5.3.5. The approach taken shows a lack of understanding of the objectives of EIA and 
the EU Guidance.  It has resulted in a complete waste of resources and 
needlessly misled residents.

5.3.6. More fundamentally, the report presents misleading conclusions which cannot 
lawfully be a basis for making a final decision.   

Report page 26

Page 76



6.

6.1.

Site Wide Comments: Carbon Emissions 

Greenhouse Gas Emissions

6.1.1. The Council is hugely disappointed that HS2 Ltd has not provided even an 
initial appraisal of climate change impacts.  It is recognised that this is a difficult 
topic to comprehensively assess, but to provide no assessment at all is deeply 
concerning.  This is likely to be a contentious issue given the many variables 
that need to be assessed and the widely publicised dismissal of Government’s 
original assertion that this was a green transport scheme.

6.1.2. The lack of any information is further complicated by the fact that the only 
assessment undertaken to date by HS2 Ltd (Appraisal of Sustainability 2) 
concluded that the carbon impacts ranged from slightly positively to 
unquantifiably negative; a range that provided very little assistance to 
understanding the likely impacts.

6.1.3. It would have been useful to present an initial appraisal complete with 
assumptions on certain aspects of the scheme to allow interested parties to 
have a greater understanding of what will be assessed.  The minimum 
information provided in the dES and final Scoping Report provides only a broad 
outline, but does not allow interested parties to ascertain the details, for 
example what assumptions are being made regarding HS2 impacts on flights, 
long haul and short haul?  How much electricity will each train use? What is the 
modal shift from road journeys? 

6.1.4. The recent EU guidance on Integrating Climate Change and Biodiversity into 
Environmental Impact Assessment states: 

Be practical and use your common sense! When consulting stakeholders, avoid 
drawing out the EIA procedure and leave enough time to properly assess 
complex information.

6.1.5. It is far from sensible to present no information on the assumptions to be used, 
no information on the forecasting methods, no information on the quantification 
of significance, let alone not present any of initial findings on such a contentious 
subject.  The first time interested parties will see this will be during the 
consultation on the final ES and when it gets presented to Parliament.  This 
leaves very little margin for error.

Report page 27

Page 77



6.2.

6.3.

Presentation of Results 

6.2.1. The dES presents a situation whereby the conclusions on climate impacts will 
be portrayed in ranges.  This was the approach adopted in the AoS originally.
Unfortunately, this shows a misunderstanding of the purpose of EIA.  EIA 
requires the likely significant effects to be assessed.  It should inform the 
decision maker of the effects, not provide a range on which to pick and choose 
where they believe the project may sit.

6.2.2. It is accepted that a number of assumptions will be made for the future impacts, 
but the principle of EIA is to describe the likely effects.  The authors of the 
climate chapter need to be able to make a specific conclusion on the likely 
effects.  If the decision makers are presented with a range of effects that span a 
wide order of magnitude then the report cannot be compliant with the EIA 
Regulations.

6.2.3. Uncertainties are inherent in understanding the future implications of the 
impacts of climate change.  However, this should not be a reason for 
presenting decision makers with a large range of possible effects.  The recent 
EU guidance on Integrating Climate Change and Biodiversity into 
Environmental Impact Assessment sets out approaches to how uncertainties 
should be addressed.  It accepts that it is necessary to present uncertainties, 
but it clearly requires assessments to make a recommendation of the likely 
effects based on a precautionary approach.

Methodology:  Assessment of Significance 

6.3.1. One of the biggest concerns regarding the ‘climate’ chapter is the continuing 
failure to adequately set out the methodology for defining significance.  So far 
there have been three documents that have broadly covered the methodology 
for assessing climate impacts.  These were the draft Scoping Report, the final 
Scoping Report, and this dES.  They are all written slightly differently, but 
importantly they have all failed to set out the methodology for assessing 
significant effects as well as the assumptions that will be used to determine 
impacts.

6.3.2. The latest projections from the Department for Energy and Climate Change 
carry a lot of uncertainty but suggest that the UK will not meet its targets set for 
the fourth carbon budget (2023 – 2027), although it will meet the previous 3.

6.3.3. Given the level of importance of reducing greenhouse gas emissions, any 
increase above the baseline should be considered significant and reported to 
decision makers accordingly.  This is a flagship scheme with objectives for 

Report page 28

Page 78



significant carbon reductions.  The methodology for assessing the effects 
should therefore be commensurate with the scale of the project, and should be 
aligned with the objectives to reduce carbon.  If the project fails to adequately 
reduce emissions in line with the objectives then it should be considered to 
have an adverse effect.  The following methodology should be used in relation 
to total aviation emissions and separate total transport emissions, as well as for 
total UK emissions.

Impact on total transport Greenhouse Gas Emissions 

0% + increase Significant Adverse Effect 

0.1 - 1% Decrease Moderately Adverse Effect 

1.1 - 2% Decrease Slightly Adverse Effect 

2.1 - 4% Decrease Slightly Beneficial Effect 

4.1 - 6% Decrease Moderately Beneficial Effect 

6.1% + Decrease Significant Beneficial Effect 

6.3.4. Generally it is considered wiser to produce the method for assessing 
significance and the assumptions to be used ahead of collecting the data.  This 
removes accusations of author bias and allows interested parties to have input 
into how the assessment will be completed.  Unfortunately in this instance, the 
author is withholding this information.  Therefore, interested parties will see the 
assessment inputs (assumptions and data), the methodology and the outputs 
(conclusions) all at the same time. If the inputs are wrong, the whole 
assessment could be misleading and therefore not compliant with EIA 
Regulations.

6.4. Methodology:  Assumptions 

6.4.1. Figure 1 (Page 16) of Report 27 (Site Wide Effects) sets out a hierarchy of 
influence that HS2 will have on emissions: 

Report page 29

Page 79



6.4.2. The report states the following regarding the levels of influence shown in the 
figure:

These layers of declining influence for HS2 (green being the elements of the 
footprint it has most influence over and blue the least) mean that some parts of 
the carbon footprint may be best represented as a range.  (5.4.5, Report 27) 

6.4.3. There are a number of inaccurate assumptions about the influence of HS2 that 
is likely to result in author bias and misleading the true effects of HS2.  
Ultimately this will result in non-compliance with the EIA Regulations.  

6.4.4. HS2 has been promoted as a competing transport option for both air and to a 
lesser extent, road.  It is also designed to ‘free up capacity’ on the existing rail 
network.  The Decisions and Next Step Report (January 2012) states: 

The quicker journey times that high speed rail systems can achieve are key to 
their competitive position in relation, in particular, to air travel. Providing an 
attractive and considerably lower-carbon alternative to much domestic and 
other short-haul aviation is an important objective 

6.4.5. In other words the very purpose of HS2 is to generate a modal shift.  For the 
author to suggest that modal shift is an indirect impact of HS2 is fundamentally 
wrong and highly misleading.  If HS2 is not going to have a direct influence on 
modal shift, what is the point in building it? 

Report page 30

Page 80



6.4.6. The real problem is that the author has failed to set out the forecasting methods 
for assessing effects as required by the EIA Regulations.  They have also failed 
to understand the impacts of other plans and programmes. 

6.4.7. For example, if HS2 achieves its objectives it will have a direct impact on 
domestic air journeys.  Currently, there is no policy or legislative interventions 
that can control what happens to the freed flight slots. If a domestic flight slot 
freed by HS2 becomes a long haul flight, then HS2 is having a direct and 
adverse influence on carbon emissions.

6.4.8. If there were suitable plans and programmes in place to control what happens 
to flight slots, then it could be argued that released capacity is outside of the 
influence of HS2.  However, the ES needs to present the case of what is likely 
to happen given the existing plans or programmes.  If this means HS2 has a 
negative impact, then this needs to be presented to decision makers who may 
be inclined to set mitigation to rectify the adverse effects.   

6.4.9. Similarly, if HS2 results in the loss of some classic line services, and therefore 
increasing local road journeys, then this also needs to be considered a direct 
influence and assessed accordingly.   

6.4.10. The inclusion of train speed in the indirect impacts box is also peculiar.  The 
speed of the train is part of the operational requirements of HS2 and therefore a 
direct part of the scheme.  The assessment therefore needs to be clear about 
the impacts of the train speed on the energy demand, and in turn the resulting 
emissions.

6.4.11. The emissions relating to the energy consumption of HS2 is a direct impact of 
the scheme.  It is accepted that the carbon emissions are directly related to the 
national grid energy sources and therefore dependent on the future energy mix.  
However, as stated above, the ES is supposed to include the methods for 
forecasting environmental effects.  The scoping reports and this dES should 
have therefore set out what the author considers to be the likely carbon 
intensity of the national grid in the future.  This could then be agreed with 
interested parties and thus removing results that show a range of effects.
These impacts would then be reported as direct.  Instead, it is likely that a 
range of conclusions will be presented to decision makers which will fail to 
comply with the EIA Regulations.

6.5. Methodology:  Scope of Assessment 

6.5.1. All three methodologies presented to date by HS2 Ltd in the scoping reports 
and this dES do not fully set out the details of what will be assessed, let alone 

Report page 31

Page 81



an initial assessment.  It is therefore necessary to set out some of the topics 
that need to be considered alongside the HS2 Ltd’s broader topics.  The 
assessment should include: 

The assumptions and assessment of onward movement from passenger 
dispersal.

The assumptions of traffic generated by those travelling to new stations and 
the subsequent impacts.  For example, how many journeys to the new 
Birmingham Interchange station will there be.  High number of movements 
in areas with poor air quality are considered to be likely significant effects 
and therefore need proper assessment.

The assumptions on the loss of classic line services and subsequent likely 
impacts from increased road journeys. 

The assumptions about the reduction of journeys by air as a result of HS2, 
including, the details on the number of planes impacted, and the amount of 
passengers.   

The assumptions of the impacts of any freed up domestic slots being 
switched to long haul flights and the likely destinations.  A realistic scenario 
should be adopted about where these flights would be switched to.  It 
should be assumed that these freed up domestic slots are likely to be long 
haul given there are no plans and programmes controlling flight 
destinations.  Furthermore, the ongoing rhetoric about the UK missing out 
on ‘emerging economies’ and the need for urgent capacity to serve these 
countries means that destinations such as China and Brazil would be first 
on the list for any freed up domestic flights slots.

The assumptions for construction traffic and the subsequent emissions.
The information on the construction traffic impacts is scare, but does show 
areas in Birmingham and London where congestion is likely to be a 
significant problem.  A lorry moving swiftly on an open road emits a lot less 
than one stuck in busy urban traffic.  This needs to be factored into the 
assessment.

The environmental effects of operations at alternative slower speeds need 
to be considered and presented appropriately.  As no adequate assessment 
has been undertaken to date, and the final route already determined, it 
seems unlikely that climate impacts featured in the decision making 
process.  It may therefore be difficult to achieve a fully compliant EIA. 

The assumptions relating to the likely impacts from construction and 
transportation of the rolling stock needs to be presented and assessed.  
Whilst rolling stock is omitted from business cost analysis, EIA does require 

Report page 32

Page 82



all parts of the project to be assessed.  A precautionary approach should be 
adopted.

Assumptions over the future emissions of non HS2 modes of transports.

Clear appraisal of the cumulative impacts of Phase 1 and Phase 2 
combined.

6

6

.6. Carbon Timetable 

6.6.1. HS2 was initially badged as being ‘broadly carbon neutral’.  This finding was 
later criticised by the Transport Select Committee who concluded that this 
should not be sold as a ‘green scheme’.  It seems unlikely that a detailed 
assessment of HS2 will be able to determine that it has a beneficial impact on 
carbon emissions, particularly given the current forecast for the carbon intensity 
of the national grid, and the lack of controls over aviation.

6.6.2. However, even assuming a best case scenario it will take a long time for HS2 to 
become carbon neutral and then beneficial (if at all).  It is therefore important to 
present a carbon timetable for decision makers.  It will be some time after 
opening before any positive (if any) impacts on carbon emissions will be 
realised, and if this hinders meeting legally binding carbon reduction targets 
then it needs to be presented.

6.6.3. On the other hand, significant investment in the whole of the UK’s existing rail 
infrastructure will achieve a greater competitor to road journeys much quicker.  
It would also have less operational and construction impacts. 

6.6.4. The conclusions on carbon emissions therefore need to be presented in a 
timeline to assist decision makers.

.7. Cumulative Impacts 

6.7.1. The initial carbon appraisal (Appendix B, AOS) was highly confusing and poorly 
presented.  It is not surprising that the carbon credentials of the scheme were 
heavily questioned.

6.7.2. One of the main problems with the initial report was it was not clear about what 
was being assessed, whether it was Phase 1, or Phase 1 and 2 combined.  The 
final ES must make a clear assessment of Phase 1, setting out the 
assumptions to be used, and then clearly set out the cumulative effects of 
Phase 1 and 2. 

Report page 33

Page 83



7.

7.1.

Site Wide Comments:  Socio Economic

Inconsistencies in Assessment 

7.1.1. There are discrepancies in the presentation of the number of jobs being lost in 
the site wide assessment (Report 27) and the individual reports.  Report 27 
states:

So in total approximately 2,190 jobs could be lost route-wide from businesses 
affected during the construction phase, which would be a moderate adverse 
effect and therefore considered to be significant. 

7.1.2. The following extracts are taken from the 7 London related Community Forum 
Area reports: 

Report 1 

It is estimated that the Proposed Scheme would result in the displacement or 
possible loss of a total of 2,570 jobs within this area. 

Report 2 

It is estimated that the Proposed Scheme would result in the displacement or 
possible loss of around 150 jobs within this CFA. 

Report 3 

It is estimated that the Proposed Scheme would result in the displacement or 
possible loss of around 50 jobs within the study area. 

Report 4 

It is estimated that the Proposed Scheme would result in the displacement or 
possible loss of around of 750 jobs within this CFA. 

Report 5 

It is estimated the Proposed Scheme would result in the displacement or 
possible loss of a total of around 20 jobs within the area. 

Report 6 

It is estimated that the Proposed Scheme would result in the displacement or 
possible loss of a total of up to 230 jobs within this area. 

Report page 34

Page 84



Report 7 

It is estimated that the Proposed Scheme would result in the displacement or 
possible loss of a total of up to 5 jobs 

Report 26 

Across all the employment areas reviewed, an estimated 2,850 jobs will either 
be displaced or possibly lost in the wider West Midlands region 

7.1.3. In total London loses nearly 4,000 jobs, and the West Midlands region loses 
2,850.  This does not take into account the 18 other individual Community 
Forum Area reports.  The total in the site wide assessment (2190) is 
considerably different from those presented in the individual reports.  None of 
this is evidence based, none of it supported by data, and none of it properly 
detailed.

7.1.4. The final ES must make a better attempt at being consistent, and must also use 
clear and consistent methodologies.

Report page 35

Page 85



8.

8.1. Introduction 

Detailed Comments on Community Area Forum Reports 

8.1.1. The following sections relate to the specific information set out in the 
Community Area Reports.  The Community Area Forum Reports referred to 
are:

Report 6: South Ruislip to Ickenham (“Report 6”) 

Report 7: Colne Valley (“Report 7”) 

8.1.2. The comments are provided in environmental topic areas and separated to the 
Community Area Forum Reports where appropriate.  The concerns of the 
Council are often generic to both Reports, primarily because of the stage at 
which the assessments have been presented.  It is therefore more appropriate 
to set the comments out regarding the environmental topic areas.

8.1.3. In general, the Council believes that the dES is far from heading in the direction 
of a well informed and compliant EIA.  In too many instances conclusions have 
been reached without full knowledge of the impacts and receptors.   

Report page 36

Page 86



9.

9

Agriculture

.1. Overview 

9.1.1. The Council is unable to comment on the Agriculture and Forest chapters in 
much detail, because the quality of information in these chapters is so poor.
The information presented contains too many gaps and there is an element of 
flippancy regarding the impacts.  There is no assessment, simply a description 
of the impacts.  This is not in compliance with the EIA Regulations.   

9.1.2. In particular, the Council is surprised to see that there are no maps included 
whatsoever of the areas referred.  For example Report 6 states:

3.5.10 At the height of construction there would be a significant effect on six 
holdings due to the proportion of the farm that would be removed (described 
above). Two would also be significantly affected by property demolition (Oak 
Farm and Gatemead Farm). 

3.5.11 Following the construction phase much of the land would be restored 
and returned to agricultural use, and there would be no significant permanent 
residual effects associated with the construction of the Proposed Scheme. 

9.1.3. Similarly, Report 7 states: 

3.5.10 Three holdings would be affected in this area. Based on the information 
currently available, it is likely that three holdings – Park Lodge Farm, Home 
Farm and Denham Park Farm – would experience significant effects due to the 
proportion of land loss during construction. 

3.5.11 Following the construction phase, much of the land would be returned to 
agricultural use. As a result, the permanent land take for two of the holdings 
would involve only modest proportions of the holdings and would not be likely to 
have a significant effect. For Denham Park Farm, however, the permanent loss 
of land is still considered likely to represent a significant proportion of the farm 
(though accurate farm details are still awaited). 

9.1.4. There is no information on the amount of land impacted, ‘how much of the land’ 
will be restored and not one map showing the areas effected.  Consultees have 
not been given the necessary information to provide adequate comments.

9.1.5. The errors in the assessment are made worse by the fact that HS2 Ltd has not 
even collected adequate information on the farms to be impacted as set out in 
Table 4 of Report 6: 

Report page 37

Page 87



Holding Primary farming activity
Priors Farm, Ruislip No data available 
Oak Farm Small-scale beef rearing 
Gatemead Farm Small-scale beef rearing 
Brackenbury Farm Grazing, limited data available 
Copthall Farm Grazing, limited data available 
Harvil Farm Grazing, limited data available 

9.1.6. HS2 Ltd cannot possibly be in a position to determine the scale of effect without 
1), knowing the details of the farms impacted and 2) consulted and engaged 
with farmers/landowners about the extent of land to be lost. 

Mitigation

9.1.7. EIA Regulations require ES’s to include: 

A description of the measures envisaged to prevent, reduce and where 
possible offset any significant adverse effects on the environment. (Schedule 4, 
Part 1[5]) 

9.1.8. The assessment concludes that there will be significant environmental effects 
on agriculture but does not meet the requirements set out above.  There is no 
proposed mitigation for the loss of agricultural activity during construction, the 
loss of the farmland or ability to manage it. 

Interaction of Effects 

9.1.9. The impacts on farming and on those employed on the areas affected are not 
reflected in the socio-economic assessment. 

Forests

9.1.10. The Council is also concerned by the level of consideration given to forests in 
the area.  Report 7 states: 

3.5.9 Loss of commercially managed woodland and forestry land would be 
mitigated, where practicable, by replanting in nearby locations. In this area 
some 13.0ha has been identified, south of the main construction site, for 
woodland planting and it is proposed that soils displaced from Wyatts Covert 
would be used in this woodland creation. Although the loss of forestry land 
would be a significant effect during the construction phase, the effect would 
become insignificant as planting matures. 

Report page 38

Page 88



9.1.11. There are number of problems with the statements in this paragraph that clearly 
shows limited assessment as taken place: 

1  There is no indication of where the deforesting will occur.   
2 There is no information on the type of forest, although the ecology 

section states there will be a loss of ancient woodland.  This is 
irreplaceable and no mitigation can overturn the significance of this loss.

3 There is no information on where the mitigation will go, and on what or 
whose land it is.

4 There is no information on the management and maintenance of 
mitigation which if being relied on to reduce the significance of effects is 
a fundamental issue to be resolved before determination. 

Conclusion

9.1.12. The Council finds the information within the Agriculture chapters to be of such a 
low quality that it is unable to provide detailed comments.  The lack of any 
mapping or presentation of the areas discussed is highly disappointing.  
Furthermore, landowners in the area, of whom the Council is one, cannot 
possibly concur with the conclusions.  No assessment has been presented, i.e. 
the types of impact (soils removed, length of time where land is unavailable) or 
the receptors (the specific locations, the areas lost).  It is therefore not possible 
to determine the effects (i.e. the impacts on the receptors).

9.1.13. The final ES needs to improve considerably and clearly set out all elements of 
the assessment.  If it takes the form of the dES the Council considers that there 
is sufficient information missing to be not compliant with the EIA Regulations.   

Report page 39

Page 89



10.

1

Air Quality 

0.1. Overview 

10.1.1. The dES states it is not necessary to undertake any background air quality 
modelling since the collation of local monitoring and modelling data has been 
deemed sufficient. It should be noted there are no automatic air quality 
monitoring stations in Hillingdon close to the areas of concern and therefore 
this needs to be examined in more detail. It is not clear what process has been 
established to ensure that the statement regarding local monitoring and 
modelling data being sufficient is valid and robust. 

10.1.2. There is no discussion on what is considered as significant in regards to air 
quality impacts.  The Council considers the following a significant effect: 

1. Any increases in air quality emissions in areas already exceeding EU limit 
values

2. Any increases in air quality emissions that tip areas into the exceedence 
of EU limit values. 

3. Any increases in air quality emissions in areas that are likely to exceed EU 
limit values in the future.    

Baseline Assessment Methodology  

10.1.3. The Defra background maps have been used to characterise the baseline 
conditions in the Colne Valley Area (Report 7).  The GLA background maps 
have been used to characterise the baseline conditions in the South Ruislip to 
Ickenham area (Report 6). It should be noted that the GLA background maps 
are more appropriate for use in areas of Hillingdon as it provides more detailed 
regional data as opposed to national data. As the Colne Valley Area 7 includes 
parts of Hillingdon, it would be more appropriate to use the GLA background 
maps in this area. 

Identification of Receptors 

10.1.4. The methodology focuses on identifying human receptors that could experience 
an air quality impact as a result of the scheme and also ecological receptors 
sensitive to dust and nitrogen deposition. Receptors have been identified as 
residential and some commercial premises within 350m of construction activity 

Report page 40

Page 90



and within 200m of the roads affected by changing traffic flows.  It is not 
possible to support the assumption that 350m or 200m assessment zones are 
appropriate due to the lack of information.  Full details of the final construction 
routes combined with an understanding of congestion areas, may require a 
review of the scope of assessing receptors.  This highlights a problem of not 
knowing the impacts, before understanding the range of receptors.

10.1.5. It is difficult to assess whether the approach is sound without the detail of the 
study area, the receptors chosen and the baseline assessment from which the 
future predictions will be made. Traffic impacts may result in a wider study area 
needed for the air quality assessment as the local road network could see 
substantial increases in traffic volumes which could have significant effects over 
a wider area.

Construction Traffic Baseline 

10.1.6. The main air quality impacts in Hillingdon will arise from the construction phase.
Both reports stated that HGVs would be expected to form a relatively high 
proportion of overall traffic flows and increases of over 30% on forecast 
baseline levels could be expected. 

10.1.7. It is simply not possible to agree to the scope of the assessment without 
knowing the full routes of the construction traffic or the type and quantity of 
vehicles.  All this should have been set out in the scoping report, but even in 
this dES, the information is not available.  It is therefore not possible for the 
Council to conclude that the impacts on air quality have been appropriately 
considered.

10.1.8. The Council has found it necessary to use the information provided to develop 
its own strategic understanding of the traffic impacts.  The construction routes 
simply stop at the edge of maps.  There is no wider assessment of where all 
these routes end up.  The Council cannot see why this information was not 
provided by HS2 Ltd, instead, lines on map simply end.  This was extremely 
unhelpful for such a contentious topic.  From the Council’s mapped information 
provided in the main construction routes will be through densely populated 
areas. The A40 corridor is a busy through route in the northern part of the 
borough.  It is therefore at least a regional level receptor.  The roads leading to 
and from this main route are congested and experience levels of pollution 
above the EU minimum limit values. The borough has a monitoring station on 
West End Road which in 2012 monitored levels of 52ug/m3 annual mean 
nitrogen dioxide (nb EU limit value for annual mean nitrogen dioxide is 
40ug/m3). On Warren Road, a residential street off Swakeleys Road, there is a 

Report page 41

Page 91



pollution monitor which has measured levels consistently above the EU limit 
value over the last 5 years; in 2012 this was 44.6ug/m3. The impacts of a 30% 
increase in traffic, especially in the more polluting vehicles such as HGVs, 
could be highly significant and must be robustly addressed.

10.1.9. The Council considers this a likely significant effect and one which needs full 
appraisal within the final ES.

Likely residual significant effects 

10.1.10.HS2 Ltd is relying heavily on the Code of Construction Practice to limit impacts 
on air quality.  As stated previously, the COCP cannot be relied upon to assess 
and reduce effects.  Significant effects need to be fully appraised in the final ES 
and presented to decision makers.

10.1.11.Notwithstanding the above, the borough will be seeking detailed Local 
Environment Management Plans for construction sites, construction routes and 
roads.  No mention is made in regard to the use of low emission vehicles or the 
use of the cleanest vehicles in order to reduce pollution impacts from 
construction traffic. This aspect must be addressed in the final ES and a clear 
commitment made for the use of low or zero emission vehicles wherever 
feasible.

Monitoring

10.1.12.Air quality objectives have hourly, daily and annual limits for the protection of 
health. Where construction sites and routes are in close proximity to sensitive 
receptors, monitoring will be needed to ensure all such limits are not exceeded. 
Given the duration of the construction phases, the provision of long term 
monitoring will need to be considered.  This must include appropriate pre-
construction monitoring to establish a robust baseline from which to assess 
compliance and impacts.  Full details on how compliance will be enforced also 
needs to be submitted.

Conclusions from Assessments 

10.1.13.Given that the construction maps only show part of the routes and no strategic 
mapping is provided, there is a wholly inadequate amount of evidence to 
conclude that there will be no air quality impacts arising from the construction 
stages.

Report page 42

Page 92



10.1.14.The most acceptable way to mitigate any potential air quality impacts is not to 
route construction traffic through populated areas.  The final ES should address 
this issue as an alternative to the proposed scheme. 

10.1.15.The success of mitigation will depend upon the robustness of the measures 
and their enforcement. This includes aspects such as avoiding congestion, no 
idling, ensuring no re-suspension of tracked out dust on construction routes. 
These issues must be addressed by HS2 Ltd.  Extending the tunnel west of 
London across the borough and under the Colne Valley, instead of the 
proposed viaduct would enable more direct access for construction vehicles 
obnto the M25 and avoid construction traffic using busy local and regional 
roads within Hillingdon and west London. 

Operational Impacts 

10.1.16. In regard to operational impacts, the main air quality impacts will arise from any 
permanent changes to the road alignments.  Conclusions cannot be reached 
until this work has been completed.

Report page 43

Page 93



11.

1

Community  

1.1. Overview 

11.1.1. The Council is concerned that the level of information presented about 
communities cannot provide residents will a full understanding of the impacts.  
The lack of maps is once against frustrating in this regard.  In addition there is 
no presentation of any other data particularly on the potentially effected areas, 
and no survey data.  There is no indication of when surveys were undertaken, 
or who was consulted in providing the information presented. 

Inter-relationship of Effects 

11.1.2. Once again there is a lack of correlation with other environmental topics; in 
particular, the transport sections.  EIA needs to consider the interaction of 
effects, and therefore the impacts on traffic, road congestion, and lorry 
movements needs to be considered carefully within the community sections.

11.1.3. As the transport sections for both Reports 6 and 7 are based on inadequate 
assessments, it is not possible to understand the impacts on the communities 
in these areas.

11.1.4. Furthermore, the reports acknowledge significant effects relating to 
transportation, landscape, loss of community and business facilities, noise, 
ecology, and public rights of way; however there is no assessment of the inter-
relationship between these, and particular the impacts on the community. 

11.1.5. For example, there is acknowledgement that Ruislip Shooting Club will be lost, 
Ruislip Golf Course will be constrained, and the Hillingdon Outdoor Activity 
Centre will be lost.  Furthermore, the assessment makes no consideration for 
the impacts on the communities who use these facilities. 

11.1.6. Finally, the blight and noise impacts from operation are likely to have significant 
permanent effects on the community which have not been adequately 
considered.

11.1.7. The lack of an assessment of the inter-relationship of effects does not comply 
with the EIA Regulations. 

Report page 44

Page 94



Cancellation of Community Forums 

11.1.8. One of the reasons for failures in the community sections stems from HS2 Ltd’s 
decision to cancel Community Forums. This was done early in the process, 
when communities had very little information to inform them about HS2.  The 
reality is that the lack of respect for communities and the potential impacts has 
resulted in a poorly informed dES. 

Lack of Methodology for Report Significance 

11.1.9. Like many of the other chapters there is not enough information for readers to 
understand how significance is measured.  This is fundamental to the purpose 
of EIA.  The presentation of conclusions can only be considered to be author 
subjectivity which raises concerns of bias.  For example Report 6 states: 

5.5.3 It is considered, in the context of the community assessment, that the 
permanent loss of these dwellings is a minor adverse effect and is, therefore, 
not considered significant. 

11.1.10. It is not clear why the author believes the loss of these units would be 
considered insignificant or the measurements techniques used. 

Public Rights of Way 

11.1.11.The Council does not understand the purpose of presenting no information on 
the Public Rights of Way for both Reports 6 and 7.  There will be a significant 
effect on existing routes, but there are also opportunities to create new rights of 
way as well as protecting existing routes. 

11.1.12.The Council can only pass substantial comment once full details of the 
construction routes, the length of diversions, the construction and operational 
exclusion zones, the location of construction compounds are all overlaid onto a 
meaningful rights of way map.   

11.2. Specific Comments:  Report 6 Ruislip to Ickenham 

Lost Community Infrastructure 

11.2.1. There are a number of community facilities to be lost in this area.  However, 
there is no mitigation presented.  Report 6 states: 

5.5.4 The licence conditions of the Rifle Club require the club to be in 
continuous operation which means that an alternative site would need to be 
found prior to the commencement of construction works. 

Report page 45

Page 95



11.2.2. HS2 Ltd cannot wait until construction to find solutions.  EIA requires “a 
description of the measures envisaged to prevent, reduce and where possible 
offset any significant adverse effects on the environment.” The dES contains no 
such information.  The final ES must include the mitigation solutions for the loss 
of full usage of Ruislip Golf Course, the loss of the Rifle Club, and the mitigation 
for the impacts on Copthall Covert. 

11.2.3. This information must be presented to the decision makers in the final ES.  
There must be no reliance on future solutions that are unknown at the decision 
making stage.

Public Rights of Way (PROW) 

11.2.4. Report 6, section 2.3.27 refers to two Public Footpaths, these being: 

PROW adjacent to Ickenham Stream. In conflict with the text in the dES 
there are no public footpaths marked on the map book.  Obviously this 
makes assessing the comments in dES impossible.  The report could refer 
to public footpaths U81 & R146, which connects the Greenway with Ruislip 
golf course.

Bridleway to east of Breakspear Road South. Again, no public footpath is 
marked on the map and there is no Bridleway shown. A Bridleway does 
exist on the west of Breaksear Road South and the report should refer to 
public footpaths U45, U46 & U47. Again with no further information 
available, no further comment can be made. 

11.2.5. The routes above also carry the Hillingdon Trail and Celendine Route trails. 

11.2.6. Bridleway U42 which runs from Breaksear Road South to Newyears Green 
Lane will undoubtedly be affected as the start of the Bridleway encompasses 
the access road to Schering Plough, which in part will be demolished as part of 
the project. 

11.2.7. It is not possible to provide detailed comments on the impacts on rights of way 
due to the poor presentation of data.  The Council is aware that the Ramblers 
Associations in the area are significantly concerned with the level of information 
presented and the conclusions from the assessment. 

11.3. Specific Comments:  Report 7 Colne Valley 

11.3.1. The level of information presented in this Report is particular disappointing.  
The route is above ground and crosses the Colne Valley, which is a heavily 
used and a highly regarded asset that attracts people from far and wide.  To 

Report page 46

Page 96



present no meaningful assessment and to leave it all to the final ES defeats the 
purpose of consulting on the dES.  It also means the Council is constrained as 
to the level of comments it can provide.

11.3.2. Of particular concern though is how after 2 years, there is still a lack of 
understanding as to the role of the Hillingdon Outdoor Activity Centre or 
suitable mitigation for its loss.

11.3.3. This must be resolved in the final ES.  It is an asset of beyond local importance 
and therefore a solution needs to be found prior to decision making. 

Public Rights of Way (PROW) 

11.3.4. Paragraph 2.3.29 refers to Public Footpath U34 which runs from Moor Hall 
Road to Dellside, Harefield.  The report states a permanent diversion via the 
west and south side of the proposed Harvil Road auto transformer site will be 
required.  No further information is given and the map book highlights no public 
footpath.  It is not possible for the Council to comment.  There may be potential 
to extend and connect U34 / Harvil road to Breakspear Road South alongside 
the track, therefore creating a link into Buckinghamshire from Ruislip. 

11.3.5. The Council can only pass substantial comment once full details of the 
construction routes, the length of diversions, the construction and operational 
exclusion zones, the location of construction compounds are all overlaid onto a 
meaningful rights of way map.   

Report page 47

Page 97



12.

1

Cultural Heritage 

2.1. Overview 

12.1.1. The information presented in Reports 6 and 7 do not amount to an assessment 
on which the Council can comment.  The inputs and assumptions presented 
are purely subjective, and without the supporting background information, i.e. 
survey information, landscape assessments etc it is not possible to provide 
detailed comments at this stage. 

12.1.2. In addition, it does not appear that HS2 Ltd has used local data but instead has 
taken only the information from English Heritage.  The cumulative impacts on 
local assets of heritage value need to be fully assessed.  Information is 
available on the Council’s website.   

Non Compliance with EIA Regulations 

12.1.3. One of the main concerns regarding the assessment of Cultural Heritage is that 
an important part of understanding the effects will be done as part of the Code 
of Construction Practice, i.e. after the decision. Report 6 states: 

6.4.10 HER data identified a further 25 assets within the study area. This 
includes archaeological evidence of an Iron Age to Romano-British settlement 
that may extend into the permanent land take or temporary land take. There 
was also evidence for archaeological remains from the prehistoric to post-
medieval period and three 20th century assets relating to the RAF Northolt site. 

12.1.4. The failure to present the assessment methodology means readers are not 
aware of how receptors such as the “Iron Age to Romano-British settlement” 
have been categorised.  Any effects on such a historic asset would be 
considered to be significant however, the assessment is left to the Code of 
Construction Practice which will include: 

A programme of archaeological investigation and recording to be undertaken 
prior to construction works affecting the assets; and 

A programme of historic building investigation and recording to be undertaken 
prior to modification or demolition of the assets. (6.5.2 of Report 6) 

12.1.5. As repeated throughout this response, the COCP cannot be left to assess 
significant effects.  Full investigations and surveys need to be presented to 
decision makers in the same way as an EIA would support a planning 
application.   

Report page 48

Page 98



12.2. Specific Comments: Report 7 Colne Valley 

12.2.1. The Widewater Lock Conservation Area (CA) appears to be incorrectly shown 
on the relevant map (CT-01-10) in the Vol 7 map book.  The repositioning of the 
viaduct brings it much closer to the boundary of the CA. 

12.2.2. Whilst Local Plan: Part1 policies are noted, the proposed Colne Valley 
Archaeology Priory Zone (APZ) is not identified in the text, nor is it shown on 
the corresponding maps. Whilst not yet formally designated, it will come into 
force during the lifetime of the scheme and the updated evidence base for the 
APZs is currently being drafted, which should again be noted.

12.2.3. Para 6.5.7 covers comments on the residual impact of the construction of the 
viaduct on Cultural Heritage.  Bizarrely, it notes that the construction would 
have no long term residual effects, but in the same section notes that Dews 
Farm and archaeology on the route would be demolished or removed. 

12.2.4. The gravel workings and the resultant landscape are all part of the heritage of 
the borough and were a consideration when the local conservation areas were 
designated.  To say that they have not compromised the historic landscape 
setting of the area shows a lack of understanding of the history of the valley 
and a lack of appreciation of its unique character.  

12.2.5. The impact of the viaduct on the setting of the Widewater Lock CA and on 
views from the open fields on the lower, north western slopes and open areas 
of the Harefield Village CA seem not to have been fully considered.   The 
impact of the viaduct on Dews Farm, Harefield, a Locally Listed Building, is 
noted in the text at paragraph 6.5.8, but this is not shown on the corresponding 
maps.

12.2.6. The Council believes the value of the Colne Valley as a historical receptor has 
been undervalued.  However, as no information is present, it is not possible to 
understand how it has been valued, or how all the heritage assets have been 
considered.  A considerable amount of work needs to be undertaken to ensure 
this chapter is comprehensive.

Report page 49

Page 99



13.

1

Ecology  

3.1. Overview 

13.1.1. The Council is surprised that HS2 Ltd has managed to conclude that there are 
limited environmental effects without undertaking detailed survey works.  This is 
even stranger given the line of route crosses the Colne Valley one of the most 
important areas of wildlife for London and Buckinghamshire.   

13.1.2. In general, EIA requires information on impacts and receptors to be collected 
before concluding on the assessment.  It is interesting to see that the authors of 
the ecology sections have managed to reach conclusions on the effects without 
undertaking assessments. 

13.1.3. The Colne Valley in particular, is a highly valuable resource and the levels of 
impacts are being completely under valued.  The dES represents a highly 
misleading and questionable assessment. 

13.1.4. Ultimately, the predetermination of the conclusions without any proper 
assessments or surveys is a matter of significant concern.  The fact that 
statements on the significance of effects have already been made raises 
doubts of lawful compliance with the EIA Regulations even if further information 
will be produced to try and justify conclusions already made. 

13.1.5. Baseline

13.1.6. The Council cannot understand how the author is able to present the 
environmental baseline position without referring to the amount of survey work 
or its location, although it does state in Report 7: 

7.3.4:  Field surveys undertaken to date have been limited to locations where 
landowner permission has been obtained and to areas accessible to the public, 
largely in the Mid Colne Valley SSSI. 

13.1.7. This further undermines any conclusions reached and demonstrates the 
author’s lack of understanding of EIA and ecology assessments.

Report page 50

Page 100



Methodology

13.1.8. The lack of a suitable methodology also fails to comply with the EIA 
Regulations.  The author is required to set out the methods for assessing 
significance.  For example Table 6 of Report 7 advises readers that bats are 
considered to be up to “county/metropolitan” value.  Bats are European 
protected species and therefore of international importance.  It is unclear how 
the author has managed to demote bats to a county level particularly as no 
assessments have taken place.  The same applies to great crested newts 
which have been classified as “district value”. 

Approach to Assessment 

13.1.9. EIA requires the significant effects to be assessed and the measures to reduce 
or remove those effects.  The assessment must therefore assess the 
development pre and post mitigation proposals.  The best form of mitigation is 
to avoid the impacts in the first place and particularly for ecology impacts where 
mitigation takes many years to establish and will never mitigate for the 
intervening years of harm.

13.1.10.The final ES must assess the scheme proposals, clearly setting out all the 
information and survey data, and then make an assessment based pre and 
post mitigation proposals.  The period before mitigation establishes must be 
given sufficient weight.  The dES misrepresents these intervening years, and 
focuses on the results once all mitigation has been established. 

Lack of Information 

13.1.11.The assessment also suffers from a lack of mapping showing the areas to be 
impacted.  Describing broad areas in the text does not constitute an 
assessment.  This makes it impossible for consultees to provide assistance or 
comments and undermines the point of a consultation.   

EU Directive 

13.1.12.The Council feels it necessary to remind the author of this chapter that the EU 
Directive, in particular article 16, still applies to HS2 Ltd and the proposed 
scheme.  This requires consideration of European protected species prior to 
decision making.

Report page 51

Page 101



Mitigation

13.1.13.The Council is surprised that mitigation is being proposed long before the 
assessments are undertaken to understand the impacts that need mitigating.

13.1.14.Consultees cannot therefore provide comments on the level of mitigation at this 
stage.

13.2. Specific Comments:  Report 6 Ruislip to Ickenham 

13.2.1. The second bullet point of 7.5.2 provides a description of the impacts on 
Ickenham Stream.  There is insufficient information to justify the conclusions 
made.  There is no information on the amount of open watercourse to be lost, 
nor how this will be done.  There is no information on the interconnecting 
habitats.  The section refers to habitat creation ‘associated’ with the Ickenham 
Stream diversion in the southern part of West Ruislip Golf Course.  There are a 
number of problems with these statements: 

1. There are no maps supporting the text which makes commenting 
impossible.

2. There are no details of the habitat creation.  Losing 600m of open water 
channel will require significant mitigation.  There is mention of creation of 
a “sinuous watercourse” but this is meaningless without detailed 
information.  As no assessment has been provided as to the areas lost, it 
is not possible to comment as to whether the “sinuous watercourse” is 
acceptable mitigation, or even feasible.

3. The creation of the “sinuous watercourse” will only “partially” mitigate for 
the loss of breeding bird, reptiles and invertebrates.  This is unacceptable. 

4. There is no understanding of who would manage the mitigation areas, or 
how much of the golf course, already impacted, will be affected.

13.2.2. The third bullet point in 7.5.2 refers to information not provided.  It suggests that 
the ‘flood attenuation” mitigation will include wetland habitats.  However, there 
are no details on what this actually consists of or where it will go.  Given the 
author does not know what the impacts at Ruislip Golf course are, it is difficult 
to conclude that these will be offset by the flood attenuation which the author of 
the water resources chapters does not know about.  In theory this sounds 
plausible, but EIA does not work on the basis of the theories of authors.  It 
requires assessments of fact, none of which have been provided. 

Report page 52

Page 102



13.2.3. Paragraph 7.5.3 suggests that the Code of Construction Practice will include 
details on the translocation of protected species.  Decision makers will require 
full information on the impacts on ecology before they can make their decision.  
This requires assessment of the protected species to be impacted, and where 
translocation would take place.  All these details need to be in place before the 
decision makers can make their determination.  Parliament is not outside of EU 
Law and the principles of the Wooley v Cheshire case will still be applicable.   

13.2.4. Paragraph 7.5.4 suggests that tunnelled sections of the route will not impact on 
ecological features.  This is not possible to conclude without full details of the 
impacts on the water environment, particularly groundwater which feeds many 
important ecological features. 

13.2.5. Paragraph 7.5.5 includes conclusions which cannot be reached until 
assessments are made.  It also uses ambiguous phrases such as ‘a small 
number of trees’, details of which are not provided.  The Council agrees with 
the conclusions that the loss of woodland would be significant and the author 
should also be mindful of the conclusions from Report 7 even though the 
findings from the reports are presented in an inconsistent manner.  For 
example some loss of trees and vegetation is given in hectares, whilst the 
impacts on sites are given as percentages (sometimes in the context of what is 
lost, other times what remains).  Despite that it is clear to see that across 
Reports 6 and 7 there would be levels of loss that go to regional/national levels 
of concerns including 20% loss of woodland supporting the SSSi along with 
over 50 hectares of other lost vegetation (potentially as much as 100 hectares 
but the poor presentation makes it difficult to assess).

13.2.6. The impacts in Report 6 cannot be considered in isolation.  The cumulative 
impacts on ecology alone make the decision not to tunnel through the Colne 
Valley purely a fiscal option.  Compliance with the EIA regulations is therefore 
questionable.

13.3. Report 7

13.3.1. The contents of Report 6 were not sufficient to support the conclusions made, 
raising doubts about the ecological objectives of HS2 Ltd.  However, Report 7 
is of an even lower standard.  Once again mitigation has been proposed before 
the effects are adequately known (Paragraph 7.5.2).  Furthermore, no 
information on the mitigation is proposed, including the advanced planting 
mentioned in the third bullet point.  This refers to the creation of new woodland 
as close as possible to the SSSi.  It would have been much more helpful to 
provide the location of this on a map so consultees could offer comment as to 

Report page 53

Page 103



whether it is even practical.  A map would also have allowed landowners of the 
site in question to have some sort of idea what is being imposed on them.

13.3.2. Paragraph 7.5.3 once again relies heavily on the role of the Code of 
Construction Practice.  Decision makers will require full information on the 
impacts on ecology before they can make their decision.  This requires 
assessment of the protected species to be impacted, and where translocation 
would take place.  All these details need to be in place before the decision 
makers can make their determination. Parliament is not outside of EU Law and 
the principles of the Wooley v Cheshire case will still be applicable.   

13.3.3. The conclusions in 7.5.4 need to be supported by adequate assessment of the 
migration patterns of the wintering birds referred to.  To suggest that there are 
other lakes in the area therefore losing one would not result in any problems 
does not constitute an assessment.  A full ecological impact assessment of the 
Colne Valley needs to be undertaken.

13.3.4. Again, 7.5.6 refers to new woodland planting but there are no maps.  It also 
suggests that the huge loss of woodland (in excess of the 15 hectares created), 
including irreplaceable woodland would result in significant beneficial effects.  
There are a number of issues with this assertion: 

1. There is no supporting evidence making it meaningless. 

2. There are no assessments of the existing woodland lost, so no information 
on the effects. 

3. There is no information on the receiving land, so who will manage and 
maintain this new woodland and does the landowner know what is being 
imposed on them.

4. 15 hectares does not make up for the loss or function of the all areas 
impacted.

5. It will take decades for the new planting to have any level of positive gain, 
and the loss in the intervening years has not even been considered.

13.3.5. The author of the report appears to be assessing a theoretical approach to a 
scheme in the hope that it works. There is no relationship between the 
conclusions reached and evidence presented.  The author now has to attempt 
to match the assessment to the conclusions which is inappropriate and likely to 
result in an obviously misleading output.

Report page 54

Page 104



13.3.6. Paragraph 7.5.9 suggests that approximately 20% of the Mid Colne Valley SSSi 
woodland and supporting wetland vegetation would be lost.  It then concludes 
that the mitigation would provide greater habitat than that lost.  This is an 
interesting conclusion to reach based on the presentation of no supporting 
evidence.  The Council will wait to see the assessment as to whether it can 
support this highly unlikely conclusion.   

13.3.7. Paragraph 7.5.14 suggests that there are no predicted significant effects on 
water quality.  However, there is insufficient evidence available to support this 
claim, and importantly, Report 7 (water chapter) suggests that the gravels may 
need to be drained to construct the viaduct.  Considerable levels of work need 
to be undertaken to support the conclusions reached.   

13.3.8. Paragraph 7.5.21 states that 4 Dabubenton’s bat roosts will be removed.  This 
is a rather random comment thrown into the ‘assessment’ without any evidence 
and after admitting bat surveys are required.  The extent of woodland to be lost 
including 20% of the SSSi will have significant impacts far beyond 4 
Daubenton’s roosts.  The Council expects to see much greater survey data to 
support the claims made.

13.4. Inter-relationship and Cumulative Effects 

13.4.1. The ecology impacts are obviously heavily interlinked to other topics.  For 
example, the water chapter in Report 7 suggests that some of the Colne Valley 
gravels will need to be drained.  There are also impacts on groundwater that 
need to be considered.  Noise impacts across the Colne Valley also need to be 
considered.

13.4.2. There is a lot of work to be done to the ecology chapters in themselves, but 
there is a lot of work required on other topics before the ecology chapters can 
be finalised.   

Report page 55

Page 105



14.

1

1

Land Quality 

4.1. Overview 

14.1.1. The Council is concerned that there will not be sufficient investigative works 
prior to determination.  The majority of the investigative works will be 
undertaken through the Code of Construction Practice as stated in Report 7: 

8.5.2 The draft CoCP sets out the measures and standards of work that would 
be applied to the construction of the Proposed Scheme. Its requirements would 
involve detailed ground investigations in order to confirm the full extent of areas 
of contaminated land. 

14.1.2. The Council believes that this approach is only suitable in areas where there is 
unlikely to be a significant environmental effect. 

4.2. Specific Comments: Report 7 Colne Valley 

14.2.1. There is an extensive area north of Dews Farm that is known to be heavily 
contaminated.  This is in close proximity to existing water abstraction points but 
also near historic points that would benefit from being reopened.

14.2.2. HS2 Ltd’s failure to set out the methodology, i.e. what receptors are nearby, 
how receptors and are graded makes it difficult for the Council to put the likely 
effects on this area in the context of the dES.

14.2.3. However, the Council considers that the above ground works would have a 
high level of impact on a highly sensitive receptor.  The sensitivity of the 
receptor relates to both the existing level of contamination and the location of 
potable water abstraction points that serve large parts of the Colne Valley area.  
The effects are therefore of more than local importance and could significantly 
impact a highly important water resource for the region. 

14.2.4. As a consequence, there is likely to be a significant environmental effect that 
cannot be investigated after determination through the COCP.  There would be 
failure to comply with the EIA regulations if a decision were taken without an 
understanding of the effects in this area. 

Report page 56

Page 106



15.

1

Landscape 

5.1. Overview 

15.1.1. The Council received a desk top survey of visual receptors in 2012.  The 
Council undertook a site visit with HS2 Ltd officers in late 2012.  No further 
discussions or information was received until the dES consultation.  This is 
disappointing given the level of information presented is far from sufficient for 
readers to understand the landscape impacts of the scheme.

15.1.2. Furthermore, new information has subsequently been submitted, regarding the 
movement of the route, the construction compounds and ancillary equipment 
such as feeder stations. 

15.1.3. This has effectively rendered the 2012 discussions outdated, and the Council 
advises that a new approach to the landscape assessment is agreed given the 
changes.  This will require new viewpoints being established.   

15.1.4. There is little else for the Council to comment on given the paucity of 
information available.

Inadequate Photomontages 

15.1.5. The photomontages shown are misleading and clearly demonstrate author 
bias, e.g. the light grey viaduct on a light grey lake, with a light grey sky 
demonstrates an attempt to understate the prominence of the viaduct.  This is 
simply inappropriate.  However, the Council is aware the impact assessment is 
being developed further and it needs to be in accordance with the new 
guidance on landscape impact assessments.  This would result in a suitable 
assessment that can be used in a meaningful manner. 

15.1.6. The Council agrees that the impacts on the Colne Valley are significant.  The 
level of mitigation proposed will therefore need to be clearly set out in the final 
ES.  This includes a lot of planting to act as ‘buffers’ and screening.  A 
timetable for planting would need to be included to ensure that mitigation is 
properly considered i.e. advance planting should be undertaken wherever 
possible at the outset of the work so it is in place and part established on 
opening.

Report page 57

Page 107



Quality of the Viaduct Design 

15.1.7. In addition, the Council is aware that the design of the viaduct is still being 
developed.  The Council maintains that the level of significant environmental 
effects in the areas covered by Reports 6 and 7 are of such a harmful 
magnitude that they far outweigh the costs involved with tunnelling.  However, if 
HS2 Ltd is to pursue a viaduct then the Council would expect as a minimum, a 
commitment to an iconic design ideally through a design competition.  This 
would need to be reflected in the landscape assessment.

Landscape Character Assessment 

15.1.8. There is no reference to Hillingdon’s Landscape Character Assessment which 
is an error and results in an inappropriate assessment.  This is an adopted 
document and should provide an objective baseline on which to base the 
assessment.  The authors cannot use their own interpretation of Report 6 and 7 
areas.  EIA requires consideration of other plans and programmes of which the 
adopted landscape character assessment is one.

Mitigation

15.1.9. There should be a much greater commitment to high finishes on ancillary 
infrastructure such as feeder stations and rail related buildings.  The report 
refers to possible green walls and roofs, but these should be deemed 
necessary and not an option, particularly in the rural locations of the Borough.

Construction

15.1.10.As stated above, the original viewpoints were taken before changes to the route 
were known (as set out in the route refinement consultation) or details provided 
on the construction compounds.

15.1.11.The Council does not agree with HS2 Ltd’s assertion that a 7 year siting of 
construction compounds is just a ‘temporary’ impact and therefore of minimal 
significance.  This is an unusually long, intensive and extensive construction 
operation that will have significant effects for a large period of time.  To under 
value the level of effects as ‘temporary’ is inappropriate.

15.1.12.The Council considers that the construction compounds will have a highly 
negative impact for a period of at least 7 years on a highly sensitive receptor.
The impacts are of more than local importance and require assessment in the 
ES.  In particular, HS2 Ltd need to develop a mitigation approach to the 
construction compounds to minimise the impacts.

Report page 58

Page 108



16.

1

Socio Economic 

6.1. Overview 

16.1.1. The Council does not consider the information contained in the socio-economic 
chapter to be at all helpful.

16.1.2. There is no information on what was surveyed and when; or how the figure of 
jobs lost (230 in Report 6 and 5 in Report 7) has been calculated.

16.1.3. The Council is also concerned about the presentation of construction jobs in 
‘person years’ when describing jobs created, and the actual number of jobs 
when presenting the number lost.  This does not allow for a meaningful 
comparative assessment.

16.1.4. This chapter also suffers from the lack of inter-relationship assessments, for 
example, it does not consider what the impacts on jobs of increased congestion 
or severance of roads would have on the area.  It also does not consider the 
blight, perceived or otherwise, on the character and operation of the areas, 
particularly Ruislip.   

16.1.5. The Council could have provided more meaningful comments at this stage had 
HS2 Ltd presented information on the methodology and provided the baseline 
information particularly regarding the 235 (both reports 6 and 7) jobs lost. 

16.1.6. The Council is concerned that Report 7 only acknowledges the loss of 5 jobs 
which clearly does not include the Hillingdon Outdoor Activity Centre. 

16.1.7. It is not appropriate to ask for comments on such a poorly informed topic.  The 
Council will await the final ES before commenting fully. 

Report page 59

Page 109



17.

1

Sound and Vibration 

7.1. Overview 

17.1.1. Once again there is a lack of data on the impacts and receptors.  An 
appropriate assessment is therefore not possible to be presented.  Withholding 
baseline information and parts of the assessment is also inappropriate.  These 
are set out in more detail below.

17.1.2. Noise impacts are perceived to be significantly harmful for high speed trains.
To be compliant with the EIA regulations, HS2 Ltd need to be honest and open 
about the level of noise from the scheme.  The dES does not provide a good 
start.  It includes assessments using biased and misleading calculations, and 
does not include information where this would normally be provided.   

17.1.3. Decision makers should be given a full and comprehensive assessment on 
which to base a judgement.  Misleading assessments would not comply with 
the EIA Regulations. 

Assumptions 

17.1.4. A number of assumptions have been made about the technology to be 
employed in particular the rolling stock.  Report 1 states: 

5.12.21:  It has been assumed that HS2 trains will be specified to be quieter 
than the relevant current European Union requirements and this will include 
reduction of aerodynamic noise from the pantograph that would occur above 
300kph(186mph) with current pantograph designs, drawing on proven 
technology in use in East Asia.  It is also assumed that the track will be 
specified to reduce noise, as will the maintenance regime.   

17.1.5. It is important for the final ES to set out the specifics of the technology being 
used in the assessment.  This should include what level of noise characteristics 
are expected from the rolling stock.  These assumptions should then be used 
as the specifications for future tendering or commissioning of work.  The final 
ES should therefore set the specifications and not assume that these will be set 
elsewhere.  The final ES needs to provide the clear project description.  The 
specifications outlined above, along with all those used in assessments need to 
be adequately described in the final ES.  These should then inform the 
construction and operation stages.

Report page 60

Page 110



Withholding Information  

17.1.6. The Council is concerned that the dES refers to assessments which have not 
been included.  In particular Report 1 includes: 

5.12.5:  The lowest daytime sound level contour shown on the maps is 50dB.  
For HS2’s envisaged operation this is equivalent to a night-time sound level of 
40db.  In general below these levels adverse effects are not expected.  In 
assessing the risk of sleep disturbance, the maximum noise level for each train 
pass by has also been calculated and considered in this initial assessment.

17.1.7. The Council cannot understand why the information referred to (underlined) has 
not been disclosed.  HS2 Ltd was well aware that there are considerable 
concerns about noise and therefore to present only averages which distorts the 
true impacts and withhold maximum levels is highly frustrating.  It does nothing 
to support HS2 Ltd’s assertions that noise impacts will be minimal.

Construction

17.1.8. Noise impacts from construction vehicles are being left to the Code of 
Construction Practice to be assessed. As set out previously, this is not 
satisfactory.  The amount of lorries moving through Ruislip in particular will 
generate significant amounts of noise; although it should be noted this is based 
on a precautionary approach due to limited amount of information on transport 
movements.  However, 7 years of construction vehicles followed by the 
operational impacts will have a significant effect in certain areas.  These effects 
need to be assessed in the ES and not left until after the decision in the COCP. 

Environmental baseline 

17.1.9. Detailed results of baseline surveys have not been included in the dES.
Assessments cannot be completed without disclosure of the baseline noise 
levels.  These should have been included in the dES and must be fully 
disclosed within the final ES.  These should be set out as noise contour maps 
so a comparison can be made with the contour maps for the operational noise. 

17.1.10. It is noted that the methodology only considers absolute noise levels and not 
changes.  The Council considers that significance can also result from 
noticeable changes in noise levels even if absolute levels do not reach 
‘significant’.  This is particularly important in the Colne Valley (Report 7) where 
baseline noise levels are unlikely to be very high.

Report page 61

Page 111



Methodology

17.1.11. It is extremely important for the final ES to include noise maps that show the 
baseline noise levels, the noise impacts from HS2 and the baseline overlain 
with the HS2 impacts.  Two versions of each of these maps should be provided, 
one for the average noise levels, and one for the maximum noise levels.

17.1.12.The Council cannot understand why HS2 Ltd is insisting on assessing night 
time noise levels at 55dB in contrast to EU guidance.  Report 6 states:   

11.6.4:  Residential receptors within the daytime 65dB contour, and therefore 
the night-time 55dB contour, have been identified as being likely to experience 
a significant adverse effect from HS2 noise alone. This is in line with the 
daytime threshold for in the Noise Insulation Regulations and the interim target 
defined in the World Health Organization’s Night Noise Guidelines 

17.1.13.The World Health Organisation guidelines state: 

Considering the scientific evidence on the thresholds of night noise exposure 
indicated by Lnight,outside as defined in the Environmental Noise Directive 
(2002/49/EC), an Lnight,outside of 40 dB should be the target of the night noise 
guideline (NNG) to protect the public, including the most vulnerable groups 
such as children, the chronically ill and the elderly. Lnight,outside value of 55 
dB is recommended as an interim target for the countries where the NNG 
cannot be achieved in the short term for various reasons, and where policy-
makers choose to adopt a stepwise approach.

17.1.14.There is no logical reason for using the interim measurement for HS2.  The 
Council maintains that the 40dB level should be the assessment point for the 
impacts of night time noise for HS2.

17.1.15.The Noise Insulation (Railways and Other Guided Transport systems) 
Regulations state the daytime period is taken to mean 06:00 to 24:00 but HS2 
Ltd use the daytime period as 07:00 to 23:00 hours. 

Mitigation

17.1.16.Details on the triggers for mitigation have still not been provided.  The dES 
concludes that areas within the Borough will suffer from significant effects 
although how these will be reduced is unknown.  The final ES must clearly state 
what triggers mitigation.  This should not be left to the Code of Construction 
Practice.  Decision makers need to be made fully aware of all the significant 
effects and the measures to reduce them.

Report page 62

Page 112



What is assessed? 

17.1.17. It is not clear from the assessment what is being considered.  The project could 
result in 18 trains per hour operating at 250mph.  The final ES must make it 
clear that it is assessing the maximum noise levels and the average levels must 
make allowance for a number of higher end noise impacts, for example, two 
trains passing at 250mph out of a tunnel.

17.1.18. If the final ES does not clearly state what is being assessed then it will not be 
compliant with the EIA Regulations.

17.2. Specific Comments Report 7: Colne Valley 

17.2.1. The Council is surprised to see that the noise contours for the Colne Valley 
where the network runs 15m high on a viaduct in a river valley are the same as 
the surface route where the trains emerge from a cutting.

17.2.2. The Council will await the final evidence to support this but must point out that a 
pre and post mitigation assessment needs to be carried out.

Report page 63

Page 113



18.

1

Traffic and Transport 

8.1. Overview 

18.1.1. The Council has serious concerns about the level of information presented, and 
lack of assessment relative to the affected areas.

18.1.2. The main traffic impacts will be caused by the 7 year construction period to 
manage tunnel spoil, build a viaduct, excavate a ventilation shaft and support 
construction compounds.  The area selected for this intensive and extensive 
operation is a highly constrained urban area in Ruislip and Ickenham, as well 
as the main north-south transport routes in the Borough.

18.1.3. The map books include routes of the construction traffic, but importantly, these 
only show a small part of the journeys.  The lines representing the traffic routes 
simply stop at the edge of each map, and many areas are not mapped, which 
means there is a vacuum  of information.  No strategic network has been 
presented.  Again, the Council finds it surprising that HS2 Ltd is withholding 
such important information relating to a highly contentious subject.  The Council 
has had to interpret the limited data available, and generate the likely strategic 
transport network.  This is attached at Appendix A. 

Baseline

18.1.4. No baseline information has been provided, and there is a small amount of 
detailed information on the existing use of the roads.  The Council is also 
concerned about when the surveys were taken.  Report 6, 12.4.1 states: 

A combination of desktop research and observational traffic and transport 
surveys have been undertaken in order to understand the 2012 baseline 
transport situation within the vicinity of the construction site compounds in the 
South Ruislip to Ickenham area. 

18.1.5. At the end of 2012 the Council was consulted on a safeguarding consultation 
that showed the construction compounds in a completely different location to 
those in the dES.  It is therefore necessary to fully detail where the survey work 
was undertaken in relation to the construction route maps.  It is likely that some 
of the roads considered for the old construction compound locations would not 
be relevant to the new locations.   

Report page 64

Page 114



18.1.6. In general, the baseline traffic situations have not been adequately presented 
for all the roads to be impacted.  Furthermore, there is no detail on the 
assumptions used for forecasting traffic. 

18.1.7. Chapter 12 of Report 6 provides some detail on the traffic and transport 
impacts envisaged by HS2 Ltd.  This detail is inevitably limited and paragraph 
12.3.2 acknowledges: 

…it should be noted that the transport and passenger modelling of HS2 is 
continuing to be developed and therefore the assessment will be updated for 
the formal ES. 

18.1.8. The lack of information makes it difficult to fully appraise the dES.  Furthermore, 
there is a lack of information on the concurrent movement of traffic serving 
different parts of the construction.  The Council cannot ascertain the cumulative 
level of traffic impacts.  The information on diversions is also minimal.  Road 
closures can have minimal impacts if they last only a weekend, but they will 
have significant effects if they last through the week, or even years. 

18.1.9. Finally, it is unlikely that the baseline position takes into account significant 
development proposals in the area that will fundamentally alter the traffic 
regime.

18.1.10.Such an inadequate amount of information does not allow the Council to 
provide meaningful comment on the baseline position.  The Council will have to 
wait for the final ES before understanding the baseline position.  This is a 
worry, because if this is wrong, the whole assessment is wrong. 

Inter-relationship of Effects 

18.1.11.The lack of baseline, and therefore the inadequacies of the assessment mean 
that it is not possible to fully understand other environmental impacts, 
particularly related to air quality and noise.  All these assessments are 
predicated on the baseline position being accurate.  The Council considers HS2 
Ltd has missed a significant opportunity to present meaningful data on which 
consultees can provide insightful comments.

18.2. Inappropriate Level of Impacts 

18.2.1. The information provided demonstrates that Ruislip and Ickenham will be 
subjected to a 7 year long construction operation.  The Council has significant 
concerns about the cumulative environmental effects of this construction work, 

Report page 65

Page 115



but with regards to transportation the Council does not believe that it is even 
physically possible for the following reasons: 

1. The construction traffic is routed around Ruislip and includes a busy high 
street with on street parking.  Busses already have difficulty navigating this 
route.  HS2 Ltd has targeted this route for hundreds of HGV movements a 
day.

2. The attached map at Appendix A shows areas of significant congestion, 
on and off peak.  Some of these roads will see hundreds of additional 
movements per day. 

3. Some of the roads highlighted as being used for HGVs simply cannot 
accommodate them due to on street parking restrictions, or mini 
roundabouts with numberous access and egress points. 

4. The majority of traffic will eventually use the A40 to link up with more 
major transport networks such as motorways.  This road is heavily used 
with the connecting local network at capacity at points.

5. The area targeted for additional traffic movement contains air quality 
levels that exceed minimum EU standards.

18.2.2. The information provided in the Draft Environmental Statement shows that the 
scale of the impacts on Hillingdon are worsened because the tunnel portal at 
West Ruislip and the start of the Colne Valley viaduct are just 2,210 metres
apart.  This means that there is a vast construction site between Harvil Road 
and the proposed cutting for HS2 through New Years Green Covert, and a 
further large construction site at the tunnel portal near West Ruislip Station.
We believe that if the 3,840m long proposed viaduct were replaced by a 
5,780m tunnel under the Colne Valley, then the immense misery from the 
construction and operation which Hillingdon’s residents and businesses will 
experience could be avoided.  The information provided in the Draft 
Environmental Statement shows that the transport impacts on Hillingdon 
include the following: 

 ‘A’ Roads will come to halt as up to 3300 lorries per day use the local road 
network to move spoil, workers and construction material. 

 These lorry movements and those likely to come from Old Oak Common 
will use the A40 as the primary route out of London to the motorway 
networks; despite the fact the A40 is currently exceeding minimum air 
quality limits on much of its route. 

Report page 66

Page 116



 The attached map (Appendix A) shows the construction traffic will impact 
on existing significant hotspots of congestion.  Some of the routes involve 
mini roundabouts serving multiple links. It is already difficult for cars to 
navigate these without significant numbers of large lorries increasing the 
problems.

 A key access point to the site of the West Ruislip tunnel portal is indicated 
as being via Hill Lane, a narrow road with very poor visibility splays at its 
junction with Ickenham Road and also the only access to and from Ruislip 
Golf Centre, a restaurant, residential side roads and a pedestrian/ cycle 
route leading to the residential areas of West Ruislip. If, as is suggested, 
up to 800 lorry movements a day are to use this short road and junction, 
the Council consider that adequate road safety measures including the 
possibility of traffic controls would be needed, which would in turn add to 
the high existing levels of traffic congestion in Ickenham Road.

 There is reference to the possible need to use an alternative construction 
traffic route via Ickenham Road, High Street Ruislip, Bury Street, Ladygate 
Lane and Breakspear Road. This is for situations where access under the 
existing road bridge in Breakspear Road South (carrying the Chiltern Line) 
is impassable by the vehicles in question. This route would have a severe 
impact on local roads including a high street and residential roads and a 
school (Whiteheath School in Ladygate Lane) which is already a daily 
source of traffic congestion.

 There are many ‘A’ roads and local roads that are currently heavily used 
to the extent where busses already have problems.  It is very likely that 
buses will experience considerable disruption to their timetables for 
several years.  The movement of large heavy goods vehicles, for example 
along Ruislip High Street, is simply untenable because there is simply not 
enough room for large vehicles to pass one another. 

 It is likely that the fire service and other emergency vehicles may 
experience difficulties as a result of increased traffic on already congested 
roads and the problems of roads not being wide enough to cope with two 
large vehicles needing to pass one another. 

 The diversion and use of major north – south networks will hamper 
anyone living in the north of the borough and trying to reach the south.
This is worsened by the need to temporarily close two major roads, Harvil 
Road, and Breakspear Road South.   

 Heavy and prolonged use of the borough’s north-south roads (such as 
Harvil Road, Ickenham Road, Breakspear Road South and West End 
Road) by construction traffic is likely to impinge on people’s ability to get to 
and from work, which will have an impact on businesses and the 
economy.

 The bus map (see Appendix B) for the whole of the Hillingdon illustrates 
the poor existing connectivity between the north and south areas of the 

Report page 67

Page 117



Borough. Comparison with the construction routes plan (which includes 
the relevant bus routes shaded in green) makes it clear that a number of 
key bus routes will be severely impacted for a period of up to seven years.

 This may need TfL to consider curtailing, diverting or splitting these bus 
routes into two halves and at the very least will severely detract from 
service capacity and delivery. Key routes affected include the U9 (one of 
the very few public transport links of any kind that serves the village of 
Harefield), the U1 and U10 (both important routes linking Ruislip and 
Uxbridge, the latter also serving Ickenham).

 Also affected are the special schools - only 697 and 698 services, which 
connect students in the south of the Borough with faith schools in the 
north.

 The severe disruption due to the adverse transport impacts during the 7 
year construction period will have severe implications for the local and 
regional economy, including loss of jobs as people find that they cannot 
satisfactorily access their workplace. 

18.3. Specific Comments: Report 6 Ruislip to Ickenham 

18.3.1. South Ruislip Vent Shaft: access to this is shown running from Victoria Road, 
near the site of the proposed re-development of the former Express Dairy site.
Some detail on construction proposals is given on page 86 of the Community 
Forum Area Report for South Ruislip to Ickenham. It is not clear whether this 
involves temporary or permanent impact on the immediate area, although the 
vent shaft itself sits over the proposed tunnel alignment, possibly on Chiltern 
Railways land on the opposite side to Trenchard Avenue. 

18.3.2. Bridgwater Road: the tunnel passes under Bridgwater Road at a depth of 
around 25 metres below ground level. It is likely that this road will suffer 
significantly from detours due to road works, closures and diversions on the 
other roads in the area. 

18.3.3. West End Road: at the point where the tunnels cross the line of West End 
Road, on roughly the same alignment as the existing LUL Central Line and 
Chiltern Rail lines, the long section provided in the DES shows the tunnel 
inverts (lowest point) to be some 29 metres below ground level. There is 
therefore no direct impact on the road network of the tunnels themselves.
However, it is likely that here as elsewhere, work will need to be undertaken to 
divert, strengthen or otherwise modify some of the adjacent mains (in particular 
high voltage power supplies and water mains) and depending on the work 
involved (not clear at this stage) and the short to medium term impact on traffic 
on West End Road is likely to be severe. 

Report page 68

Page 118



18.3.4. West Ruislip Tunnel Portal and Ickenham Road: the tunnels emerge from the 
previous section at West Ruislip, across the road from West Ruislip LUL and 
Chiltern Line station, in Ickenham Road. This involves the construction of a 
massive tunnel ‘headhouse’ which will have a serious impact on Ruislip Golf 
Course.

18.3.5. The construction traffic trip generation table on page 85 of the Community 
Forum Area Report for South Ruislip to Ickenham indicates that this site will 
involve ‘in excess of 800 trips per day by Light and Heavy Goods Vehicles’ over 
a seven year period. 

18.3.6. It is not clear how construction under Ickenham Road will be handled. The 
proposed HS2 alignment runs slightly north of the Chiltern Line at this point. 
Ickenham Road already crosses the Chiltern Line on a substantial road bridge 
and this may prove advantageous in terms of the tunnel construction, but this is 
not clear at this stage. 

18.3.7. The DES plans show a local construction access route via the short section of 
Hill Lane which presently serves as the road access to the Golf Club as well as 
the residential Harwell Close. It is likely that residents as well as patrons of the 
Golf Club will suffer considerable impact from this construction traffic, for an as 
yet unknown duration. 

18.3.8. A construction phase plan within the ‘Map Books’ document indicates a 
construction route running north along Ickenham Road through the White Bear 
Roundabout towards Ruislip High Street, but there is no indication of the route 
on the plans provided northwards thereafter. The traffic impact of construction 
traffic on the already busy White Bear Roundabout and the junction of High 
Street and Ickenham Road will be severe. 

18.3.9. Buried within the documentation is a reference to the possible need to use an 
alternative construction traffic route via Ickenham Road, High Street Ruislip, 
Bury Street, Ladygate Lane and Breakspear Road. This is for situations where 
access under the existing road bridge in Breakspear Road South (carrying the 
Chiltern Line) is impassable by the vehicles in question. This route would have 
a severe impact on local roads including a high street and residential roads and 
a school (Whiteheath School in Ladygate Lane) which is already a daily source 
of traffic congestion. 

18.3.10. In a similar manner, the construction phase plan shows the route southwards 
heading past Heacham Drive in the general direction of the Ickenham Road/ 
Swakeleys Road junction, another section which already reaches saturation at 
peak times, but again the detail on the plans stops at their edge. However it is 

Report page 69

Page 119



possible to surmise the likely extended route despite the lack of detail from HS2 
Ltd and the impact on, for example, the retail area in Ickenham Village (in 
Swakeley Road) is likely to be severe. 

18.3.11. Ickenham Road carries the U1 and U10 bus routes and these will clearly suffer 
if the road is closed for any extended period of time. 

18.4. Specific Comment: Report 7 Colne Valley 

18.4.1. Breakspear Road South: this road is one of only three viable north-south traffic 
routes for much of the local neighbourhood (the others are Ickenham Road and 
Harvil Road). The proposed HS2 route runs to the north of the existing Chiltern 
Line and will, like the latter, cross Breakspear Road South via an overbridge.

18.4.2. The Construction Phase plan indicates that there will be both a ‘temporary’ and 
a ‘permanent’ bridge at this point. 

18.4.3. Construction of this could be undertaken either as an entirely in-situ process or 
could rely on some pre-fabrication. The former would involve longer time and in 
particular severely impacting road closure; the latter would either involve local 
fabrication (and a compound on which to do this) or transport to site in sections 
by road.

18.4.4. The DES plans show a significant amount of excavation and construction work 
in the section to the east of Breakspear Road South, including accommodation 
of the point where the new line crosses the River Pinn as well as a major canal 
feeder diversion. Transport to and from this area by any other means (in 
particular rail) could be impracticable, not least because the Chiltern Line is 
several metres above ground at Breakspear Road South. 

18.4.5. The new alignment will lead to the need to construct a new private access road 
just north of the HS2 crossing point and pairs of ‘emergency access points’ and 
‘maintenance access points’ on the western side of Breakspear Road South. 

18.4.6. Harvil Road: the most significant direct highways impacts would appear to be at 
Harvil Road, which is the sole practical traffic route between Harefield and 
Ickenham. Harvil Road carries the U9 bus route, a critical link to Ickenham and 
Uxbridge for the residents of Harefield whose only alternative is the 331 via 
Moorhall Road and Denham. 

18.4.7. The proposals call for the construction of new section of Harvil Road, running 
from a point south of its present junction with Skip Lane to a point where Harvil 

Report page 70

Page 120



Road currently crosses a stream via a short section of overbridge (‘Harvil Road 
Newyears Green Bourne Bridge’). 

18.4.8. It is likely that some of this major construction work could be undertaken while 
the existing section of Harvil Road between these points (including the narrow, 
awkwardly skewed road bridge over the Marylebone to Aylesbury branch of the 
Chiltern Line) remains open to through traffic.

18.4.9. However even during this period it is likely that there may be extensive and 
long duration earth movements by road arising from the major open-cut 
excavation for the section of HS2 which slices through the area to the south of 
New Years Green Covert. 

18.4.10.This open cut section is described on the plans as being required for ‘Heathrow 
Link passive provision’ which appears to mean that this method of construction 
and open cut has been pre-determined solely to protect the proposals for a 
possible future Heathrow spur, irrespective of counter arguments in favour of 
tunnelling through this area. 

18.4.11.The Construction Phase plans in the Map Book indicate the creation of a major 
‘Harvil Road Construction site’ which appears to take the form of a substantial, 
roughly triangular area forming a construction compound, where it is likely that 
construction materials and site arisings will be stored. Road traffic is shown on 
a related plan running both north and south from the junction of Harvil Road 
with Swakeleys Road but as with Ickenham Road, the construction route details 
run over the edge of the plans provided. 

18.4.12.To the west of the new section of Harvil Road a large compound is indicated 
with an ‘ATFS’ in the centre, which refers to an ‘Auto Transformer Feeder 
Station’ which is associated with power supplies for the line. 

18.4.13.Any disruption to Harvil Road is likely to have a major traffic impact on other 
local roads, as drivers try to find alternative routes. New Years Green Lane is 
already used as a commuter rat-run between Breakspear Road South and 
Harvil Road, with traffic using it to travel between West Ruislip (and from areas 
to the east) to Ickenham, Denham and Harefield and this is likely to increase 
significantly. 

18.4.14.To the west of Harvil Road, the proposed HS2 line runs westward towards 
South Buckinghamshire with a major viaduct over the current site of the 
Hillingdon Outdoor Activity Centre (HOAC). At this section, the DES plans 
change from the so-called ‘London Metropolitan’ section to the ‘Country South’ 
area.

Report page 71

Page 121



18.4.15. It is unclear at this stage what the split will be between access from the Harvil 
Road side and the Denham/ Maple Cross side, although the indication of 
‘temporary exit slip roads from M25 for construction’ suggests the latter. The 
proposed HS2 route enters a tunnelled section just to the east of the M25 and 
westwards from this point runs beneath the Chiltern hills. 

18.5. Conclusions 

18.5.1. Even from the limited information available in the draft Environmental 
Statement documentation it is apparent that the consequence of not tunnelling 
under the Colne Valley will cause considerable hardship in the short term and 
long lasting damage (as set out above in our response to the HS2 Design 
Refinement Consultation), which could be avoided if the proposed 3,840 m long 
viaduct were to be replaced by 5,780m of additional tunnelling.  Otherwise in 
Hillingdon, we have the tunnel portal just 2,210m away from the viaduct and the 
area in between will become a massive construction site within a densely 
populated area with no easy access to the A40 or motorway network.  We 
therefore request that HS2 Ltd now take the opportunity to extend the tunnel 
from London through to the western side of the Colne Valley. 

Report page 72

Page 122



19.

1

Water Resources 

9.1. Overview  

19.1.1. There are a number of conclusions reached in the dES that are not supported 
by any evidence.  EIA is required to assess all likely significant environmental 
effects.  The diversion of rivers and watercourses, and the tunnelling through 
aquifers are all considered to be likely significant effects and need full 
assessment in the EIA. 

19.1.2. The proposed diversions of the Ickenham Stream and River Colne will also 
impact on the hydrology of these areas and potentially increase flood risk. 
These have not yet been investigated to understand the full impacts and 
feasible mitigation and therefore which is the best environmental option.  To 
omit these assessments, or leave them to the Code of Construction Practice 
would be in breach of the EIA Regulations.

Conclusions before Assessments 

19.1.3. No acknowledgement of the potential impact of diversions on flood risk have 
been recognised within the dES.  It is simply stated the channels will be 
maintained on a like for like basis and therefore no impact is likely. A Flood 
Risk Assessment must be undertaken in order to ensure the all the risks and 
implications have been properly considered and assessed. The temporary 
works will be in situ for a considerable period of time and would also have a 
considerable impact and should be located outside the floodplain wherever 
possible.  This is not currently the case. 

Lead Local Flood Authority 

19.1.4. It is surprising that Reports 6 and 7 refer to surface water flooding but make no 
reference to Lead  Local Flood Authorities in establishing the baseline or 
developing the assessment.  Surface water management is now in the remit of 
Lead Local Flood Authorities, of which the Council is one.  Discussing surface 
water management with the Environment Agency does not fulfil objectives of 
the Flood and Water Management Act and is likely to result in conflicting 
advice, since it is the Council has the local expertise and knowledge. 

19.1.5. Consent for works on ordinary watercourses is required from the LLFA.
Consent could be withheld if it is consider impacts have not been properly 
assessed or will lead to significant likelihood of flooding.   

Report page 73

Page 123



Baseline and Assessment 

19.1.6. The dES has been based on information on ‘the flood map for surface water’ 
obtained from the Environment Agency. However later on it refers to the use of 
the surface water management plan (SWMP) produced by the Council as base 
line information. Clarity should be provided on the use of the best available 
information.

19.1.7. The Council has undertaken a SWMP which is also referred to within the dES.  
This shows that the proposed route runs through a number of Critical Drainage 
areas and areas at risk of local flooding.  The works are therefore likely to 
exacerbate the risk of flooding to people and property.  A more detailed site 
specific Surface Water Monitoring and Management plan must be undertaken 
in order to ensure all the risks have been properly considered and assessed to 
inform the proposal options.  For example the proposed option of lowering 
Breakspear Road, which already has extensive flooding problems, would 
exacerbate local flood risk identified in the SWMP.  This cannot be left to the 
COCP.

Policy Requirement 

19.1.8. The water chapters fail to acknowledge the London Plan’s policies on the Blue 
Ribbon Network.  The proposals cross a number of watercourses within the 
area and these proposals do not comply with the enhancement of these 
watercourses as required the Blue Ribbon Policy.  This includes for example 
the narrow 8m span bridge crossing for HS2 across the River Pinn, which 
would detrimentally affect the Blue Ribbon Corridor in this area.  The policy 
should be acknowledged and the proposals reflect their aims.

Increasing Flood Risk 

19.1.9. The preferred option is to divert the Ickenham stream (Canal Feeder) to the 
River Pinn rather than continue the current line of the stream.  This would 
compound a flood risk situation by diverting flows back into the River Pinn 
rather than removing them to a different catchment.  This would prevent the use 
of this stream as a flood relief channel to deal with flood flows from the Mad 
Bess Brook. The overall impacts of this are assessed to be minor without a full 
assessment of the flood risk implications, or the implications on the 
downstream stretch of the canal feeder and removing the flow feeding it.  The 
Council considers this to be a significant environmental effect which needs 
proper assessment in the final ES. 

Report page 74

Page 124



19.1.10.Between Harvil Road and Dews Lane there is reference to a small ditch within 
the temporary land take area.  No assessment of its catchment area or even 
reference to how this will be dealt with is included within the report. 

19.1.11.New Years Green Bourne is proposed to have a new bridge over it in the form 
of a new Harvil road realignment. This river causes a number of flooding 
problems upstream on New Years Green Lane, with constant water fed from 
groundwater in the surrounding hills feeding the New Years Green Bourne. 
There are potential benefits to a clear span crossing but also implications to 
downstream receptors which it is acknowledged needs to be investigated 
further to confirm implications.  This needs to be considered as part of the final 
ES and not left to the COCP. 

19.1.12.The proposed diversion of the River Colne due to the viaduct location is given 
limited assessment.  The change in the water management regime in the area 
could result in changes in the extent of floodplain which could in turn have 
harmful impacts on flood risk management. The river also forms the county 
boundary at this location, which would result in more complex management 
arrangements for the area.

19.1.13.Paragraph 13.4.10 states: 

The National Grid Feeder Station is part of the Proposed Scheme and would be 
partly located within Flood Zone 2 and Flood Zone 3 of the Newyears Green 
Bourne catchment. At this location flood flow velocities are expected to be low 
or stagnant since this is an area of ponding. 

19.1.14.The Council has serious concerns about placing a feeder station in the 
floodplain.  There have been countless ‘lessons learned’ documents (starting 
with the Pitt Report) from recent flood events that advise against this.  Given 
the vast array of land not at risk of flooding in the area, and to the west of the 
Colne Valley, there seems little obvious reason why it has to be placed in an 
area at risk of flooding.

Reliance on the COCP 

19.1.15.Once again, the COCP is being relied upon to provide assessments and ensure 
the proposals will not have adverse effects.  The proposals have the potential 
to increase the risk of flooding to people and property and should not be left 
until after the decision to be assessed.  This is in breach of the EIA regulations.   

Report page 75

Page 125



Drainage at Breakspear Road South 

19.1.16. It is unclear how drainage of HS2 will be dealt with yet the implications are 
significant. The Council has closed the Breakspear Road South on a number of 
occasions due to the safety implications from the flooding of the road from 
surrounding ordinary watercourses and surface water.  The proposals to lower 
the road in this area needs serious consideration.  This would increase the 
flooding frequency of an important north-south connection and therefore a 
significant effect that needs assessing.

Report page 76

Page 126



 
Cabinet – 25 July 2013 

RESIDENTS’ AND ENVIRONMENTAL SERVICES POLICY OVERVIEW 
COMMITTEE: REVIEW OF LOCAL PEST CONTROL SERVICES AND THE 
IMPACT OF WASTE MANAGEMENT PROCESSES ON THEM 
 
Cabinet Members  Councillor Jonathan Bianco 

Councillor Philip Corthorne 
Councillor Keith Burrows 

   
Cabinet Portfolios  Finance, Property and Business Services 

Social Services, Health & Housing 
Planning, Transportation and Recycling 

   
Officer Contact  Charles Francis, Administration Directorate 
   
Papers with report  Residents’ and Environmental Services Policy Overview 

Committee review of Local Pest Control Services and the Impact 
of Waste Processes on them. 

 
HEADLINE INFORMATION  
 
Purpose of report 
 

 To receive the Residents’ and Environmental Services Policy 
Overview Committee’s review of Local Pest Control Services and 
the Impact of Waste Management Processes on These 

   
Contribution to our 
plans and strategies 

 Putting our residents first. 

   
Financial Cost  To be contained within budget. 
   
Relevant Policy 
Overview Committee 

 Residents’ and Environmental Services 2012/2013 

   
Ward(s) affected  All 
 
 
RECOMMENDATIONS 
 
That Cabinet:  
 
Domestic Housing   
 

1. ask officers to request the support of the Hillingdon Registered Social Landlords 
Forum to encourage a provision for: 

a) more uniform tenancy conditions to prevent pest infestation; and  
b) improved communications to support, educate, advise and guide their 

residents about handling waste through ‘Welcome packs’ or other 
introductory material. 

 
 
 

Agenda Item 6

Page 127



 
Cabinet – 25 July 2013 

 
2. notes the roles of private landlords, social landlords and the Council (as a 

landlord) in terms of how pest infestations are dealt with effectively in tenanted 
properties; and work with these groups to ensure that all tenants are aware of best 
practice. 

 
3. asks officers to encourage social responsibility of individual tenants and 

homeowners, whether in social or private sector housing, to properly manage their 
domestic waste to minimise pest problems through: 

a) educational materials and leaflets;  
b) the wider use of signage to re-enforce the necessity of effective pest control 

and waste management;  
c) articles in Hillingdon People twice a year to remind residents about effective 

ways of managing waste; and  
d) education through schools. 

 
4. in the case of persistent offenders and individuals or groups who have been 

reminded of their responsibilities, endorses the Council’s enforcement methods to 
ensure that domestic waste is managed properly. 

 
5. instructs officers to send the report to the National Landlords Association and 

other relevant bodies, representing private sector landlords for information and to 
promote voluntary agreement among their members. 

 
Pest Control Services 
 

6. notes the Committee’s endorsement of a new, more equitable approach to 
providing Pest Control Services following the BID review and the current 
concessions policy, which includes a free pest control service for all over 65’s, 
disabled and those on benefits. 

 
7. asks officers to ensure residents and landlords are aware of the services available 

from the Council to tackle pest problems, including an indication of costs.  Cabinet 
also asks officers to encourage Registered Social Landlords to provide advice on 
the use of these services. 

 
Waste Services & Enforcement 
 

8. supports the education and encouragement of businesses to take full 
responsibility for the cleanliness of the land they occupy, as well as to comply 
fully with the “Duty of Care for Waste Management”. 

 
9. supports the continuation of enforcement and alley gating be considered in areas 

where there is a high level of illegal dumping of waste.  These methods are 
positive solutions to areas of the Borough with high pest infestation and the 
benefits of alley gating to businesses have been positive in certain areas of the 
Borough. 

 
Resident Engagement  
 

10. instructs officers to ensure that, when leaflets and waste campaigns are refreshed, 
they promote a universal message. 

 

Page 128



 
Cabinet – 25 July 2013 

 
Reasons for recommendations 
 
The main objective of this review was to understand the Council’s role and responsibilities for 
pest control services and explore the relationship between this service and waste management.  
The review also sought to provide a sound understanding of the different types of pests, the 
likely health implications posed by these to humans and the wider implications if they were to go 
unchecked. 
 
In terms of waste management, the review also examined how food waste generated by 
residents and businesses was managed prior to, during and after the collection process to 
establish where improvements might be made. 
 
Alternative options considered / risk management 
 
The Cabinet could decide to reject some or all of the Committee’s recommendations and add 
more of its own. 
 
Supporting Information 
 
1. The Terms of Reference of the review were as follows: 

• To understand the Council’s roles and responsibilities in this area; 
• To examine the current and planned service provision for pest control (domestic and 

commercial) and its relationship to waste management and anti-social behaviour;  
• To understand the different types of pests, populations and likely infestation trends, 

including how this may impact public health and social stigma; 
• To examine the problems pests cause to individuals, local neighbourhoods, commercial 

businesses and the wider environment; 
• To review the effect of temperature, climate, urban development and underground 

infrastructure (and any other factors) on pest populations; 
• To explore how waste management processes and practices in Hillingdon (by 

residents, businesses, contractors and the Council) can help to mitigate any pest 
infestations; 

• To explore how food waste generated by residents and businesses is managed prior to, 
during and after the collection process;  

• To review any existing policies in this area and best practice elsewhere; 
• To consider the importance, relevancy and adequacy of public information available to 

residents and businesses; 
• To examine opportunities for improved partnership working to ensure pest problems 

are addressed as efficiently and swiftly as possible; 
• To bring forward considered (and costed, where applicable) proposals to Cabinet for 

consideration. 
 

2. The review took place in meetings held between January and April 2013 and the following 
witnesses presented evidence: 
• Ed Shaylor - Community Safety and ASB Investigations Service Manager 
• Paul Richards - Green Spaces, Sport and Leisure Senior Manger 
• Shabeg Nagra - Public Protection Services Manager 
• Colin Russell - Waste Division Manager 
• Chris Troy - Environmental Protection Unit Manager 
• Colin Edards - Pest Control Contractor engaged by the Council 
• Councillor Janet Gardner - Dawley Housing Group and LBH 

Page 129



 
Cabinet – 25 July 2013 

• David Brough, Hayes Town Partnership 
• Les Drussel, Ruislip Manor Chamber of Commerce 
• Sinead Lee, Paradigm Housing  

 
3. Many of the recommendations of this review relate to using the Registered Social Landlords 

Forum to reduce pest infestations through education to improve waste management 
processes.  It should be noted that the Registered Social Landlords Forum is an 
independent body and so positive changes will be reliant on partnership working with the 
Authority.   

 
4. The review was carried out with the understanding that any suggested recommendations for 

any further publicity information and marketing enhancements to improve waste collections 
would only be undertaken with further feasibility work by officers and Cabinet as part of the 
service and budget planning process. 

 
5. During the course of the review, it was noted that the Council had outsourced some pest 

control services to “Of Mice and Men” to supplement the service currently offered. This 
company’s role has been increased recently within the Borough to cope with higher resident 
demand. The intention is to fully outsource the service as part of the Council’s ongoing 
Business Improvement Delivery (BID) programme. These changes will result in a simplified 
billing arrangement between the Council and contractors and new customer service 
arrangements, improving the response of the service. It is noted that owner occupiers or 
private tenants who no longer qualify for concessions will be directed to local contractors 
operating in the private sector. 

 
6. This is a review from the previous Committee cycle in 2012/2013. 
 
Financial Implications 
 
The Committee’s recommendations can be contained within existing budgets. 
 
EFFECT ON RESIDENTS, SERVICE USERS & COMMUNITIES 
 
What will be the effect of the recommendations? 
 
The implementation of the improved waste management processes will help reduce the number 
of pest infestations in the Borough and this action will contribute to improved public health for 
Borough residents. 
  
Consultation Carried Out or Required 
 
The Committee received evidence from the witnesses listed above.  
 
CORPORATE IMPLICATIONS 
 
Corporate Finance 
 
Corporate Finance has reviewed this report and notes the recommendations arising from the 
review of local pest control services. Any decisions arising from the report that have financial 
implications for either additional funding or a reductions in funding  will be considered as part of 
the Council’s MTFF 2014/15 -2018/19.    
 
 

Page 130



 
Cabinet – 25 July 2013 

 
Legal 
 
There are no specific legal implications arising from this report. 
 
BACKGROUND PAPERS 
 
NIL 

Page 131



Page 132

This page is intentionally left blank



Local Pest Control Services 
and the impact of Waste 

Management processes on these 

Report of the Residents’ & Environmental 
Services Policy Overview Committee 

2012/13

Members of the Committee 
Cllr Susan O’Brien (Chairman) 

Cllr Mary O’Connor (Vice-Chairman) 
Cllr Carol Melvin 
Cllr David Payne 

Cllr Michael White 
Cllr David Yarrow 

Cllr Lynne Allen 
Cllr Kuldeep Lakhmana 

Page 133



CONTENTS

Chairman’s Foreword        Page 3 

Summary of Recommendations      Page 4 

About the Review        Page 6 

Background Information        Page 9 

Pest Service Provision       Page 11 

Waste management processes & practices in Hillingdon Page 13 

Resident Engagement        Page 19 

Working in Partnership       Page 20 

Appendix A         Page 23 

Appendix B         Page 27 

Page 134



Chairman’s Foreword 
I am pleased to present this review on Local Pest Control Services and the impact of 
waste management on these in Hillingdon. Population movement, urban 
development, waste disposal and even the weather are just some of the factors that 
combine together to influence pest populations. Pest control is a national issue that 
needs to be addressed at a community level as well as an individual one.  

Research suggests that the rodent population can transmit diseases to humans.
Therefore, it is of paramount importance to ensure the Council and residents work 
together to reduce this problem by addressing waste management.

This review looked at the Council’s current role and responsibilities for pest control as 
well as proposals for the future. Given the simple message that poor waste 
management contributes to greater pest numbers, the review looked at how waste 
management education could be used to improve matters. The review also 
highlighted the current complexity of waste management and examined the various 
Council Departments involved in addressing the pests / waste management issue. 
The Council also needs to work with their external partners (such as Thames Water, 
British Waterways, London Underground, Network Rail, etc) to significantly reduce 
the pest problem in Hillingdon.

The education of the whole community in safe, efficient waste containment and 
disposal is fundamental to the limitation of pests in the Borough. This will need the 
support and participation of all identified internal and external partners.  

I would like to thank the Committee and officers for all their hard work and particularly 
to our witnesses for their expertise and guidance. 

Councillor Susan O’Brien 

Residents’ & Environmental Services Policy Overview Committee 2012/2013 

Review Page 3 

  

Page 135



Residents’ & Environmental Services Policy Overview Committee 2012/2013 

Review Page 4 

Summary of Recommendations
On the basis of the evidence received, the Committee made the following 
recommendations to Cabinet:

RECOMMENDATIONS

That Cabinet:

Domestic Housing

1. ask officers to request the support of the Hillingdon Registered Social 
Landlords Forum to encourage a provision for: 

a. more uniform tenancy conditions to prevent pest infestation; and
b. improved communication to support, educate, advise and guide 

their residents about handling waste through ‘Welcome packs’ or 
other introductory material. 

2. notes the roles of private landlords, social landlords and the Council (as 
a landlord) in terms of how pest infestations are dealt with effectively in 
tenanted properties; to work with these groups to ensure that all tenants 
are aware of best practice. 

3. asks officers to encourage social responsibility of individual tenants and 
homeowners, whether in social or private sector housing, to properly 
manage their domestic waste to minimise pest problems through: 

a. educational materials and leaflets;  
b. the wider use of signage to re-enforce the necessity of effective 

pest control and waste management;  
c. articles in Hillingdon People twice a year to remind residents 

about effective ways of managing waste; and  
d. education through schools. 

4. endorses the Council’s enforcement methods, in the case of persistent 
offenders and individuals or groups who have been reminded of their 
responsibilities, to ensure that domestic waste is managed properly. 

5. instructs officers to send the report to the National Landlords 
Association and other relevant bodies, representing private sector 
landlords for information and to promote a cohesive voluntary 
agreement among their members. 

Pest Control Services

6. notes the Committee’s endorsement of a new, more equitable approach 
to providing Pest Control Services following the BID review and the 
current concessions policy, which includes a free pest control service 
for all over 65’s, disabled and those on benefits. 

Page 136



Residents’ & Environmental Services Policy Overview Committee 2012/2013 

Review Page 5 

  

7. asks officers to ensure residents and landlords are aware of the services 
available from the Council to tackle pest problems, including an 
indication of costs.  Cabinet also asks officers to encourage Registered 
Social Landlords to provide advice on the use of these services. 

Waste Services & Enforcement

8. supports the education and encouragement of businesses to take full 
responsibility for the cleanliness of the land they occupy, as well as to 
comply fully with the “Duty of Care for Waste Management”. 

9. supports the continuation of enforcement and alley gating schemes to 
be considered in areas where there is a high level of illegal dumping of 
waste.  Both these methods are positive proven solutions to areas of the 
Borough with high pest infestation issues.

Resident Engagement 

10. instructs officers to ensure that, when leaflets and waste campaigns are 
refreshed, they promote a universal message. 

Page 137



Residents’ & Environmental Services Policy Overview Committee 2012/2013 

Review Page 6 

About the Review 

OBJECTIVES

The main objective of this review was to understand the Council’s role and 
responsibilities for pest control services and explore the relationship between this 
service and waste management processes.

The review also sought to provide a sound understanding of the different types of pests; 
the likely health implications posed by these to humans and the wider implications if they 
were to go unchecked. 

In terms of waste management, the review also examined how food waste generated by 
residents and businesses was managed prior to, during and after the collection process to 
establish where improvements might be made. 

In order to achieve this, Members were presented with evidence and research on 
pests, waste management processes, an overview of current collection 
arrangements, information on existing regulations and the practices of neighbouring 
authorities.

In undertaking this review the Committee also aimed to contribute to the Council’s 
priority themes by ensuring that the following areas were considered: 

 Our People – Putting our residents first and at the heart of all we do, 
promoting civic pride; 

 Our Natural Environment – Protecting and enhancing the Borough’s natural 
environment;

 Our Built Environment – Continue to improve our buildings, roads and 
footways and ensure that new buildings fit with the surrounding environment. 

Reasons for the review 

Evidence shows 1 that the rat population in the UK has been steadily increasing, with 
marked rises in infestations in domestic premises in both urban and rural areas. A 
previous survey showed a 39% increase in infested domestic premises over the last 
20 years. Subsequent surveys have shown a continuing increase in infestation levels 
with domestic premises in rural areas twice as likely to be infested with rats than 
those in urban environments.

Problems caused by rats can be divided into three main areas: 
1. Health problems – rats have a role in the spread of many human pathogens, 

heightened by their close association with humans 
2. Contamination of food stocks 
3. Damage to property and materials – such as the gnawing of electrical cables 

or food bins 

                                           
1 Campaign for Responsible Rodenticide Use www.thinkwildlife/org.uk

Page 138



Residents’ & Environmental Services Policy Overview Committee 2012/2013 

Review Page 7 

  

There is a one hundred year old adage that humans are never more than six feet 
away from a rat - but it is not clear where the adage comes from.  The leader of the 
wildlife programme at the Food and Environment Research Agency 2 states that 50 
metres is a much more realistic estimate.  It is rare that rats are inside dwellings.
Less than half a per cent of dwellings have rats and in those cases it would be a 
small number.  About 3% of dwellings have rats outside, in the garden or compost 
heap and 5% of commercial properties.  Around 5% of the sewers have rats present 
and around 40% of agricultural buildings and farms, where they have got lots food 
and shelter.  

Housefly populations are predicted to increase due to long term favourable climatic 
conditions. Closer to home, Hillingdon officers highlighted that bedbug infestations 
have increased and this is an issue impacting on all local authorities, particularly 
those in urban areas.

Trends and patterns in population, development, hygiene standards, waste 
processes, funding for pest control services and even the weather (amongst many 
others factors) all impact upon pest populations. Pest infestations can affect 
individuals, their health and have knock on consequences for others and the local 
environment. With this in mind, the review sought to examine how waste 
management processes could be improved. 

The Committee is keen to ensure that the services provided by Hillingdon Council 
aim to tackle this problem in a proactive and joined-up way. 

TERMS OF REFERENCE 

The terms of reference of the review were as follows: 
 To understand the Council’s roles and responsibilities in this area; 
 To examine the current and planned service provision for pest control (domestic 

and commercial) and its relationship to waste management and anti-social 
behaviour;

 To understand the different types of pests, populations and likely infestation 
trends, including how this may impact on public health and social stigma; 

 To examine the problems pests cause to individuals, local neighbourhoods, 
commercial businesses and the wider environment; 

 To review the effect of temperature, climate, urban development and 
underground infrastructure (and any other factors) on pest populations; 

 To explore how waste management processes and practices in Hillingdon (by 
residents, businesses, contractors and the Council) can help to mitigate any 
pest infestations; 

 To explore how food waste generated by residents and businesses is managed 
prior to, during and after the collection process; 

 To review any existing policies in this area and best practice elsewhere; 
 To consider the importance, relevance and adequacy of public information 

available to residents and businesses; 

                                           
2 http://www.bbc.co.uk/news/magazine-20716625 17th December 2012 

Page 139



Residents’ & Environmental Services Policy Overview Committee 2012/2013 

Review Page 8 

 To examine opportunities for improved partnership working together to ensure 
pest problems are addressed as efficiently and swiftly as possible; and 

 To bring forward considered (and costed, where applicable) proposals to 
Cabinet for consideration. 

WITNESSES

This review was undertaken over 4 meetings from January to April 2013 and the 
following witnesses presented evidence: 

 Ed Shaylor - Community Safety and ASB Investigations Service Manager 
 Paul Richards - Green Spaces, Sport and Leisure Service Manager 
 Shabeg Nagra - Public Protection Service Manager 
 Colin Russell - Waste Division Manager 
 Chris Troy - Environmental Protection Unit Manager 
 Colin Edards - Pest Control Contractor engaged by the Council 
 Councillor Janet Gardner - Dawley Housing Group 
 David Brough - Hayes Town Partnership 
 Les Drussel - Ruislip Manor Chamber of Commerce 
 Sinead Lee - Paradigm Housing Group 

Page 140



Residents’ & Environmental Services Policy Overview Committee 2012/2013 

Review Page 9 

  

Background Information 

TYPES OF PESTS 

The dictionary definition of “pests” is that it is a general term for organisms which 
cause a nuisance, but more specifically may cause illness, damage or consume food 
crops and other material important to humans.  Environmental Health Practitioners 
consider the following pests to be of Public Health significance:

 Rats/Mice (rodents);  
 Cockroaches;  
 Pigeons;  
 Bedbugs; and  
 Foxes (are technically not pests as they are wild animals). 

The Prevention of Damage by Pests Act 1949 defines “infestation” as the presence 
of rats, mice, insects or mites in numbers which involve an immediate or potential risk 
of substantial loss or damage to food. 

Further information on the following key issues can be found in Appendix A:
 The different types of pests, populations and likely infestation trends; 
 The health implications of the pests listed above; and
 The problems pests cause to individuals, local neighbourhoods, commercial 

businesses and the wider environment. 

RESPONSIBILITIES IN RELATION TO PESTS FOR ALL LOCAL AUTHORITIES 

The principal legislation in place for dealing with pest control issues is:
 Environmental Protection Act 1990;  
 Prevention of Damage by Pests Act 1949;  
 Food Safety Act 1990;  
 Health & Safety at Work Act etc 1974;
 Public Health Act 1936; and  
 Housing Act 2004 (Houses in Multiple Occupation).  

Tools for the enforcement of this legislation include: informal/warning letters; 
improvement notices; formal cautions; prosecutions; and the carrying out of works in 
default. Food premises with a pest infestation, which is an imminent risk to health, 
may be closed.

Local Authorities are not legally required to provide a pest control service, but the 
Prevention of Damage by Pests Act 1949 (PDPA) imposes a duty on a local authority 
to “take such steps as may be necessary to secure as far as practicable that their 
district is kept free from rats and mice” and, in particular, to keep the local authority’s 
own land (and land the local authority occupies) free from rats and mice.  The PDPA 
also imposes a duty on local authorities to enforce the same duty on other owners 
and occupiers of land. It is worth noting that occupiers of land (except agricultural 
land) are required to give written notice to the local authority if it comes to their 
knowledge that rats or mice are present on the land in substantial numbers. 

Page 141



Residents’ & Environmental Services Policy Overview Committee 2012/2013 

Review Page 10 

NATIONAL CONTEXT – STATUS OF PEST CONTROL WITHIN LOCAL 
AUTHORITIES  

Historically, local authorities have generally provided pest control services. The focus 
of these services was to protect public health and had the advantage of being able to 
act strategically, rather than in a reactive, ad-hoc, property-by-property manner. This 
enabled them to react promptly and effectively to pest infestations that arose in the 
community. Services were not assessed on an individual’s ability to pay.  

As financial pressures on local authorities have increased, a review of the provision 
and identification of potential savings and income generation became important. This 
led to charges for pest control services being introduced in many cases, initially for 
nuisance pests (such as garden ants and wasps) but then extended more widely.  

ENQUIRY

Based on this background information and the evidence provided by expert 
witnesses, the Committee was able to develop findings and recommendations that 
aimed to enhance waste management processes and thereby reduce pest 
populations. For ease of reference, evidence, findings and recommendations are set 
out below under the following sections: 

1. Pest Service Provision (and its relationship to waste management) 
2. Waste management processes and practices in Hillingdon and steps to 

mitigate any pest infestations; 
3. Resident Engagement  
4. Working in Partnership 

APPENDICES 

Appendix A – Information on pests: 
problems caused 
possible health implications 
other factors 

Appendix B – Current pest provision and Enforcement 

Page 142



Residents’ & Environmental Services Policy Overview Committee 2012/2013 

Review Page 11 

  

                                           

1. Pest Service Provision (and its relationship to waste 
management)

Current Pest Service Provision / Duty 

During the course of the review, pest control services in Hillingdon were provided in 
the following ways: 

Open Spaces – Outsourced to Rentokil 
Domestic Premises (rats and mice only) – free service provided to Council 
tenants only. Variable fees and charges paid by other service users 
Commercial Premises (food) – Inspections conducted by the Council’s Food 
Safety Team 
Commercial Premises (non-food) – Inspections conducted by the Residents 
Services Directorate – Anti-Social Behaviour Investigations Team 
Commercial Premises (mixed) – Inspections conducted by Residents 
Services Directorate 

Further details on the remit of pest control services, the different types of 
environment in which they operate and enforcement options can be found in 
Appendix B.

Fees and Charges 3 and
Changes to the pest control service from April 2013

Since April 2013, parts of the Pest Control Service have been outsourced to local 
contractors to cover the following services within one maintenance service: 

 Hillingdon Housing Services tenants – free service 
 Owner Occupiers where concessions apply – charge £15 
 Residents in receipt of state pension (over age of 65 years) – free service 
 Council buildings, Civic Centre, green spaces  
 Concessions and residents aged over 65 are free of charge 

The provision of Pest Control Services to owner occupiers or private tenants who do 
not qualify for concessions continues and they directed to local contractors if they 
wish to use such services. 

Concessions and requests from those over 65 are dealt with by the Council’s in-
house team or private provider, but booked through the Council’s contact centre 
which has improved the way the service responds to residents. 

3 See Appendix B 

Page 143



Residents’ & Environmental Services Policy Overview Committee 2012/2013 

Review Page 12 

RECOMMENDATIONS: Pest Control Services

That Cabinet:

6. notes the Committee’s endorsement of a new, more equitable approach 
to providing Pest Control Services following the BID review and the 
current concessions policy, which includes a free pest control service 
for all over 65’s, disabled and those on benefits. 

7. asks officers to ensure residents and landlords are aware of the services 
available from the Council to tackle pest problems, including an 
indication of costs.  Cabinet also asks officers to encourage Registered 
Social Landlords to provide advice on the use of these services. 

Page 144



2. Waste management processes and practices in 
Hillingdon and steps to mitigate any pest infestations 

Hillingdon’s Waste Management Services - Overview

Commercial Waste

Waste Services rent waste collection bins to commercial premises and then collect 
trade waste from them under contract.  This is a chargeable service with the authority 
duty bound to recover its costs. 

Street Cleaning 

The Street Cleaning Service collects dumped rubbish from roads and pavements, as 
well as green spaces and open spaces that the local authority has a duty to maintain.
Officers are aware that there are a number of potential pest hotspots throughout the 
Borough, where private land (such as rear access roads) can attract fly-tipped 
rubbish which then often attracts pests.  In some areas (and if there are extenuating 
circumstances), the Council adds private roads like this to street cleansing regimes, 
but is mindful that such action does not set a precedent which could expose the 
Council to a permanent arrangement and a considerable increase in costs.  Unless 
the circumstances are unique, taking responsible action to clear waste can actually 
increase a problem as householders and fly-tippers become aware and may leave 
even more waste in the knowledge that it will be taken away at regular intervals. 

A Flow Diagram illustrating Waste Management 

Residents’ & Environmental Services Policy Overview Committee 2012/2013 

Review Page 13 

  

Page 145



Residents’ & Environmental Services Policy Overview Committee 2012/2013 

Review Page 14 

Domestic Waste

Hillingdon operates three separate collection services to households across the 
Borough:

 Residual waste collection (black bags to landfill) 
 Co-mingled recycling (paper, card, glass, plastic and tins) 
 Garden waste (including vegetables peelings, etc) 

Residual waste and co-mingled recycling are collected weekly.  Garden waste is 
collected fortnightly.

Schedules are designed to ensure that the fortnightly collection of green waste 
coincides with the collection of other waste collections.  In all circumstances, 
residents are required to: 

place bags out for collection in their front garden, drive or path, but not on the 
pavement or grass verge 

 not place bags out for collection earlier than 17:30 on the evening before 
 if collection is via rear service road, waste to be placed at a regular and at a 

convenient collection point 
 at no time during the week, store refuse/recycling anywhere other than within 

the property boundary 

The Committee was informed that a number of generic problems existed, irrespective 
of the type of tenure. These included: 

 A lack of basic hygiene standards existed in some households whereby waste 
bins (especially food waste) were not being cleaned or emptied on a regular 
basis.

 Kitchen floors, walls and ‘splash back’ areas in kitchens / food preparation 
areas were not being systematically cleaned or even cleaned at all. 

 Domestic waste was not being separated correctly between food and 
recyclable waste. This often meant that both types of waste were cross 
contaminated and residual food waste made both types of waste equally 
attractive to pests. 

 Full domestic refuse sacks were not being stored in a secure environment 
which meant that odours made them attractive to foxes and / or domestic pets 
which scavenged, thereby opening the bags for other pests to gain access. 

 Domestic refuse (food waste and recyclable) was being stored in a location 
which was not readily accessible to waste services. This meant that only 
some waste was collected on a regular basis. In some cases, if the waste was 
not immediately visible, this could be missed altogether causing a stockpile to 
develop given the time constraints and collection schedules of waste services 
to cover a given area in a specific amount of time. 

 Domestic waste was being put on the pavement / alley way / access point or 
left at the agreed collection point well in advance of the Council guidance for 
household convenience. This meant that the waste would be exposed to the 
possibility of being opened and readily available to pests to either feed or 
breed in the waste. 

Page 146



Residents’ & Environmental Services Policy Overview Committee 2012/2013 

Review Page 15 

  

 Households tended to overlook the potential problems created by green 
waste (given this could include damaged or rotting fruit) and often neglected 
how this was stored and managed in comparison to food waste. 

The Committee heard that pest control services were provided free of charge to 
Council tenants. However, there was no discretion or allowance made for those 
residents housed by social landlords and experiencing social hardship and this was 
considered to be inequitable.

To improve waste management processes and reduce the scale of any pest problem, 
Council tenants were regularly reminded of their duty under their tenancy 
agreements to manage their waste as effectively as possible and that all occupiers 
were obliged to take reasonable steps to keep individual areas clean. In many cases, 
there was confusion by private tenants and tenants of social landlords about the 
specific terms of tenancy agreements and about which party was responsible for pest 
control and eradication. It should be noted that responsibility for the management of 
waste normally resides with the tenant. However, in most cases the landlord is 
responsible for ongoing maintenance to the property such as making good any holes 
in walls, cracked pipes or ensuring there is adequate provision for waste storage, all 
of which would be material factors in controlling the opportunities for pests to access 
an environment conducive to them increasing in number and / or accessing 
foodstuffs.

If pest control action is deemed to be necessary, notices can be served by the 
Council on owners and occupiers, thereby giving them 21 days to remove waste 
products (such as soft materials) or to set baiting to kill rats and mice. If this work is 
not undertaken, then the Council is obliged to take action under the umbrella of 
public health and undertake the work itself - the owners or occupiers will then be 
recharged for this work. 

There are a number of leaflets available, including Your guide to Waste & Recycling and
Street Scene Enforcement Team Trade Waste for businesses, which illustrate the types 
of information the Council is providing and the key messages that are being given 
out.

As well as the information and advice readily available at municipal buildings, leaflets 
are also posted to residents when it is established that there are specific problems, 
like an infestation problem in a particular area.  If problems persist, pest issues are 
reported to the Anti-Social Behaviour Investigation Team (ASBIT) and are 
investigated by an inspector. The Committee was encouraged to learn that the 
ASBIT and Waste Division officers work closely together and both teams reinforce 
each others approach of taking preventative action and using inspectors where 
necessary, rather than pursuing prosecutions. In those areas where there is a quick 
turn around in occupancy, leaflet drops are mostly ineffective due to the frequent 
change in tenancy. 

Page 147



Residents’ & Environmental Services Policy Overview Committee 2012/2013 

Review Page 16 

RECOMMENDATIONS: Domestic Housing 

That Cabinet:

1. ask officers to request the support of the Hillingdon Registered Social 
Landlords Forum to encourage a provision for: 

a. more uniform tenancy conditions to prevent pest infestation; and
b. improved communications to support, educate, advise and guide 

their residents about handling waste through ‘Welcome packs’ or 
other introductory material. 

2. notes the roles of private landlords, social landlords and the Council (as 
a landlord) in terms of how pest infestations are dealt with effectively in 
tenanted properties; and work with these groups to ensure that all 
tenants are aware of best practice. 

3. asks officers to encourage social responsibility of individual tenants and 
homeowners, whether in social or private sector housing, to properly 
manage their domestic waste to minimise pest problems through: 

a. educational materials and leaflets;  
b. the wider use of signage to re-enforce the necessity of effective 

pest control and waste management;  
c. articles in Hillingdon People twice a year to remind residents 

about effective ways of managing waste; and  
d. education through schools. 

4. endorses the Council’s enforcement methods in the case of persistent 
offenders and individuals or groups who have been reminded of their 
responsibilities, endorses the Council’s enforcement methods to ensure 
that domestic waste is managed properly. 

5. instructs officers to send the report to the National Landlords 
Association and other relevant bodies, representing private sector 
landlords for information and to promote a cohesive voluntary 
agreement among their members. 

Page 148



Residents’ & Environmental Services Policy Overview Committee 2012/2013 

Review Page 17 

  

Commercial Waste

Anyone who runs a business, regardless of size, is legally responsible for ensuring 
that the waste created is collected and disposed of correctly.  This is called 'Duty of 
Care'.  To comply with legal obligations under s.34 Environmental Protection Act 
1990, businesses must ensure that: 

 all waste is kept secure and safely until it is collected 
 any person or company collecting waste is registered as a 'licensed waste 

carrier' by the Environment Agency 
 Waste Transfer Notes provided by the licensed waste carrier are kept for two 

years as documented evidence that waste has been dealt with legally 

The cost of collecting business waste is not included in Business Rates. Businesses 
can engage a private contractor who is a licensed waste carrier, or use the Council’s 
competitively priced service. 

The Council’s service is run on a not-for-profit basis and any revenue generated is 
put back into Hillingdon waste services. 

As part of the Council service, businesses are provided with the correct documents to 
comply with legal duties.  They are also assured that they meet the Pre Treatment 
Regulations for commercial waste because the waste is collected as part of the 
municipal waste stream. 

The Council inspects, though a team separate from the provision of Waste Services, 
any business which appears to be non-compliant with the Duty of Care.  Often this is 
in response to complaints of the presence of smell or vermin.  The most common 
offences are: 

 insufficient receptacles for business waste – not enough or too small – leading 
to over-spilling and lids not closing, and rubbish being placed on top of or 
outside the receptacles 

 mixing business waste with domestic waste to achieve free collection 
 receptacles being stored in the wrong place 
 waste being collected by un-licensed waste carriers – increasing the risk of fly-

tipping – or no waste collection contract being in place 
 no documentation of waste transfer or waste collection contract 

All of these offences can be dealt with by the service of a legal notice requiring 
compliance (or the production of documents) and non-compliance can lead to a 
Fixed Penalty Notice or court prosecution.  This does not prevent the use of 
alternative notices under the Prevention of Damage by Pests Act 1949. 

Business waste contraventions are often described as being caused by third parties. 
For example, rubbish being placed into trade receptacles by unauthorised persons, 
domestic waste being mixed with trade waste or rubbish being littered or fly-tipped 
onto the site.  However, Members are minded that businesses have a responsibility 
to keep their land clear and make sure their waste receptacles are not being 
misused.

Page 149



Residents’ & Environmental Services Policy Overview Committee 2012/2013 

Review Page 18 

RECOMMENDATIONS: Waste Services & Enforcement

That Cabinet:

8. supports the education and encouragement of businesses to take full 
responsibility for the cleanliness of the land they occupy, as well as to 
comply fully with the “Duty of Care for Waste Management”. 

9. supports the continuation of enforcement and alley gating schemes to 
be considered in areas where there is a high level of illegal dumping of 
waste.  Both these methods are positive proven solutions to areas of the 
Borough with high pest infestation issues. 

Conclusions and proposed remedial actions 

In conclusion, the Committee is proposing that the following measures could be 
taken to improve waste management and reduce the incidence of pests: 

 Residents Associations should be encouraged to use newsletters to highlight 
best practice. 

 Leaflets should be used to underline the relationship between good waste 
management and controlling pest numbers. 

 Officers should be asked to use Hillingdon People (the Council newsletter) as 
a vehicle to highlight the need for continued vigilance and to include a page of 
universal ‘dos and don’ts’ to improve waste practices.

 That clarification be given to what the main categories of pests are and what 
the specific charges would be to address individual problems. 

 That it be highlighted that Council services only address the treatment of rats 
and mice. 

 The Council’s information, advice and guidance (this would include website 
information) on pests needs to be refreshed and should include specific 
information relating to bees and wasps. 

 The Pest Control Association has suggested that the key way of addressing 
pests is through an educational approach, as problems usually stem from 
human behaviour. As such, preventative action is preferable to remedial 
action.

 That new signage incorporating pictures and simple language i.e. fly-tipping 
(does everyone understand what this phrase means) with a universal 
message be rolled out when leaflets and waste campaigns are refreshed. 

Page 150



Residents’ & Environmental Services Policy Overview Committee 2012/2013 

Review Page 19 

  

3. Resident Engagement 

The Committee strongly believes that the education of the whole community in safe 
and efficient waste handling and disposal is fundamental to the limitation of pests 
within the Borough. In the Committee’s view, an important element in the success of 
initiatives is the promotion and communication of achievements and new initiatives to 
the widest audience. It is agreed that, for effective waste management and pest 
control to take place, residents, the business community, support organisations and 
other stakeholders need to be aware what initiatives, services and support exists. 

Corporate Communications plays a valuable role in increasing public awareness and 
other stakeholder understanding of the different types of service provided by the 
Council as well as how to access those services which the Council might not provide. 
There are three principal means of doing this:

1. Core activities – including media relations, publications (such as Hillingdon 
People), corporate branding, marketing (leaflets, posters and displays) and 
digital media. 

2. Consultation and engagement – to help the Council understand current 
residents’ views, satisfaction levels and thinking on specific policy issues or 
services.  Examples include the annual residents’ survey or the recent 
consultation on changes to council tax benefits.

3. Campaigns – these are linked to key service priorities and range from fully 
integrated campaigns (which includes some or all of the above) to event-
based or public information campaigns.

RECOMMENDATION: Resident Engagement

That Cabinet:

10. instructs officers to ensure that, when leaflets and waste campaigns are 
refreshed, they promote a universal message. 

Page 151



Residents’ & Environmental Services Policy Overview Committee 2012/2013 

Review Page 20 

4. Working in Partnership 

External Partners

At the Committee’s final witness session, Members heard from representatives of the 
following partner organisations: 

 David Brough – Chairman of Hayes Town Partnership 
 Les Drussel – Chairman of Ruislip Manor Chamber of Commerce 
 Councillor Janet Gardner – Chairman of Dawley Housing Co-operative  
 Sinead Lee – Paradigm Housing Group  

Pests - Urban Environments and New Development 

During discussions about pests, their habitats and likely effects on health, the 
Committee heard how urban environments and, in particular, new developments 
could give rise to pest populations: 

 Reducing the habitats for pests in rural environments and urban sprawl makes 
urban areas more susceptible to pests. 

 Urban planners and developers often seek to integrate, visually and 
ecologically, construction projects, such as housing developments and 
recreational areas, with their natural surroundings.  However, they often do so 
without considering the risk of increased pest infestation. 

 Changes to building design aimed at meeting modern lifestyle and legal 
requirements have provided conditions more conducive to pest infestations. 
One example of this is the effect of humidity on house dust mites. 

 Throughout the building industry (from legislative controls to design and 
construction), more emphasis needs to be placed on the means of providing 
adequate ventilation through suitable technology and improved window 
design.

 Simple maintenance failures, such as broken roof tiles, damaged water pipes 
and overflowing cisterns, along with common mistakes in design or 
construction (such as excessive use of impermeable membranes), can lead to 
excessive moisture in buildings which can attract pests. 

 Correct storage of rubbish in closed bags or containers, particularly when 
waiting for collection, is essential in preventing rat and fly problems. Particular 
care should be taken with food waste. 

 In gardens, water butts, ponds and water features may provide breeding sites 
for flying insects, such as midges and mosquitoes, especially when stagnant.

One of the witnesses suggested that, given the factors listed above, passive control 
through improved design and construction of urban sprawl and housing stock was 
the most sustainable approach.  This could be addressed by introducing a condition 
which places the onus for pest eradication on developers.  

Page 152



Residents’ & Environmental Services Policy Overview Committee 2012/2013 

Review Page 21 

  

It was also acknowledged that, at present, residents have to pay to address the 
problems of rats nesting in their gardens, which had been driven there because their 
original habitat had been disturbed or destroyed by building works. It was felt that 
residents should not have to bear the burden of developers who were causing the 
problem in their locality. Further measures included: 

 Developers ensuring that, where land was contaminated with rats, the land 
was cleared of vermin before commencing building work. 

 From April 2013, Public Health issues would be the responsibility of the 
Council and it would then be a case of making the developer aware. 

 The most appropriate way of tackling development issues would be through 
the Building Act (1984) rather than through planning conditions, as the 
legislation enables quicker resolutions (for example in dealing with defective 
drainage) or Prevention of Damage by Pests Act 1949. 

 The onus rested with the owner or occupier to engage pest control services, 
but if the rats were coming from another property, enforcement action could be 
taken against that property. 

Costs / Usage of the Pest Control Service and Local Partnerships 

The Committee endorsed the preventative approach being taken in Hayes Town 
which was currently through the dual approach of community education and 
enforcement action. This approach centred around raising the profile of a cleaner and 
greener Hayes through the Hayes Project and was working in collaboration with the 
Hayes Community Engagement Group. 

The project also involved working with Botwell House, Dr Tripletts School and Minet 
Junior School to raise awareness amongst children by actively engaging them by 
getting them to conduct surveys of bags and litter left in the streets.  In addition, a 
poster was produced showing the children and the slogan “Hayes school children say 
make Hayes Town cleaner and greener – Help keep our Town clean”. Litter 
collection is also undertaken with the 3 schools.  These types of initiatives have 
impacted on local traders as they have been asked to participate by displaying anti-
litter posters in their shop windows. 

There is clear evidence that these activities work and promote a change in attitudinal 
behaviour, which is one of the most powerful ways of reducing a pest problem. The 
use of workshops is another idea which has seen traction in Hayes to improve poor 
food hygiene and encourage compliance with regulations. In this regard, the Hayes 
Town Business Forum has offered to work with the Council to set up similar 
workshops elsewhere so positive messages can be disseminated Borough wide. 

Tenants living above shops and issues arising 

The Committee’s attention was drawn to the challenging problem of people living 
above shops - the high turnover of renting in some areas of the Borough means that 
effective enforcement is often difficult. With regard to putting rubbish out on the 
wrong day and causing infestation, the legislation could be amended so that private 

Page 153



Residents’ & Environmental Services Policy Overview Committee 2012/2013 

Review Page 22 

landlords are regarded as businesses. This could then be used to encourage them 
to ensure that their tenants properly manage their waste. 

It has been suggested that one of the most successful ways of addressing these 
problems is through the widespread use of pictorial messages.  The Council could 
explore the possibility of using a sponsor to produce a calendar which could be 
placed in commercial kitchens, providing information about waste and recycling. 

Social Housing / Enforcement and Remedies 

The Committee was assured that Paradigm Housing took active steps to address any 
breaches to tenancy agreements.  However, as with many other organisations, 
Paradigm Housing also had to deal with issues of stretched resources. 

The Committee suggested that Social Landlords should be encouraged to take the 
following steps: 

 Provide refuse containers for better waste management. 
 A more rigorous approach to enforcing tenancy agreements. 
 When designing buildings, to take account of accessible refuse storage for 

occupants.
 Planting schemes that do not encourage harbourage for rodents. 
 Provide locking refuse bins, which would assist in easier identification of 

residents living in flats in regard to anti-social behaviour. 
 Undertake inspections and enforcement against tenants who do not manage 

their waste properly. 
 Where there is a high turnover of tenants, provide a welcome pack to include 

information about refuse, Council Services and public health issues; tenants 
should be required to sign to confirm their responsibilities prior to being given 
the keys to their homes. 

 Ensure that there is a clear procedure for reporting any pest issues. 

Thames Water

In 2000, Water UK issued a protocol providing a mechanism for improved 
communication and co-ordination between local authorities and sewage undertakers 
on the control of rats in sewers. The protocol called for co-operation on rodent control 
and for sewer baiting and surface treatments to be undertaken in a complementary 
manner and in agreement with all relevant agencies. The Chartered Institute of 
Environmental Health (CIEH) supported the National Protocol and continues to work 
with DEFRA and Water UK to improve its profile nationwide.

The aim of the London Sewer Rat Baiting and Treatment Protocol is to clarify and 
support improved communications between all the relevant agencies and set in place 
a system of developing appropriate and agreed plans for treatment, remediation and 
prevention of rat infestations.

Page 154



Residents’ & Environmental Services Policy Overview Committee 2012/2013 

Review Page 23 

  

Appendix A 
Perceived Major Pests

Rats
 Are the most common pests in homes and businesses.  
 They are widely found in urban and rural areas including homes, gardens, 

sheds and garages.
 Also commonly found living in sewer systems. This is particularly an issue 

where drainage systems are not in use and not blocked off.

Problems caused by rats
Rats can transmit many diseases to humans including: 

1. salmonellosis (food poisoning) 
2. typhus 
3.  trichinosis 
4.  jaundice (Weils disease).  

 Rats will eat or contaminate food intended for humans and can cause damage 
to buildings and other structures by gnawing and burrowing. 

Alleviation 
 Rats are difficult to eradicate once an infestation takes place in a property. 

Pest control officers would normally survey the infestation and then place 
poison bait in the most appropriate locations. Follow up visits are made in 
order to ensure the success of the treatment.

Cockroaches
 Usually live inside buildings and thrive around the heating ducts and boiler 

rooms of large centrally heated buildings, e.g., hospitals, bakeries, hotel and 
restaurant kitchens, laundries and blocks of flats. They congregate around 
pipes, stoves and sinks, especially in humid areas. 

Problems caused by cockroaches
1. They eat any sort of food and contaminate food and food utensils, or food 

preparation surfaces as they move.
2. They taint food with an obnoxious smell and may be carriers of various 

diseases, including serious food poisoning. 

Alleviation 
 Control of cockroaches is seldom easy because of the difficulty of getting the 
insecticide to the insect. They are usually treated by an aerosol based 
insecticide.

Pigeons
 Theses are located in town centres where they have adapted well to the 
artificial cliffs of buildings.

Page 155



Residents’ & Environmental Services Policy Overview Committee 2012/2013 

Review Page 24 

Problems caused by Pigeons 
1. The fouling of buildings and monuments. Acidic droppings react with 

chemicals in the stonework causing erosion of the surfaces. 
2. Accumulations of droppings can become infested with mites and insects.  
3. Fouling can block gutters and downpipes, causing water damage through 

seepage coming into the property; and block chimneys, causing smoke 
problems or gasses such as carbon monoxide being forced back into the 
house.

4. Accumulations of droppings pose a risk to health and safety causing slip 
hazards.

5. Large numbers of roosting pigeons can give rise to odour and noise 
complaints.

6. Pigeons carry many diseases including:
a. chlamydosis 
b. cryptococcosis 
c. campylobacter 
d. salmonellosis 
e. erysipelas allergic alveolitis (pigeon faextrinsic ancier's lung) 

Alleviation
 The only effective way to control pigeons and other pest species of birds is to 
remove food sources, roosting sites and breeding sites.  

Foxes
Controlling urban foxes is difficult, expensive and not very successful. Foxes have 
been in urban areas for so long that they have reached a state of equilibrium and 
they regulate the size of their own population.

Problems caused by foxes
1. Noise – stemming from fights over territory and mating. 
2. Fouling of gardens.  
3. They can be carriers of disease. 

Alleviation
 Urban fox control is both difficult and very expensive. Shooting is not 
acceptable in urban areas, nor is snaring and so only live trapping is left. This 
is not usually very effective.

Bedbugs
 Bedbugs are a new threat to the community - they feed on human blood at 

night.
 They live in mattresses, within bed frames, under bed bases, within bed 

headboards, behind loose wallpaper, within paintings, wall sockets, 
telephones, behind wall partitioning, suspended ceilings, skirting boards, on 
clothing or furnishings, and anywhere with a dark crack/crevice/seam 
providing harbourage. 

Page 156



Residents’ & Environmental Services Policy Overview Committee 2012/2013 

Review Page 25 

  

 They can be detected through: blood spotting on bedding; brown excrement 
spots close to where they live and on bedding; whitish/opaque un-hatched and 
hatched eggs; and a sweet almond smell is common.

 Bedbugs are not normally seen during the day. 

Problems caused by bedbugs
1. Bedbugs are not known to carry disease.  
2. Some people are particularly sensitive to the bites and experience an allergy 

and inflammation, especially to the arms and shoulders.  

Alleviation
 Infested bedding and furnishings should be laundered in a hot wash and care 

should be taken not to aid dispersal of the infestation via laundry baskets.
 In severe cases, items of furniture will require removal and burning.  
 Treatment consists of the application of an insecticide, usually in a spray form, 

in and around the infested areas.

An A to Z of pests can be found on the British Pest Control Association website at the 
following link: 
http://www.bpca.org.uk/pages/index.cfm?page_id=15&title=a_to_z_of_pests

The problems pests cause to individuals, local neighbourhoods, commercial 
businesses and the wider environment:

 Pests cause damage to structures and contaminate products. Rodent activity 
is a nuisance and, at worst, can lead to fires and floods. Bird fouling can make 
pavements unsafe and result in significant claims for damages. Food and 
medical supplies are rendered unfit for sale or unusable when contaminated 
by either insect or rodent pests.

 Pest infestations make urban areas undesirable and inhibit inward investment. 
They tend to be part of a vicious circle - poor housing, health and education 
together with social exclusion; low business investment and high 
unemployment are common in areas where chronic pest infestations persist.
Existing businesses may struggle to survive, finding the environment both 
unattractive and uneconomic and so may cease trading. Empty properties can 
become targets for fly-tippers and vandals.

The effect of temperature, climate, urban development and underground 
infrastructure (and any other factors) on pest populations:

 Temperature - Climate and weather can substantially influence the 
development and distribution of insects. Insects are cold-blooded organisms 
and hence the temperature of their bodies is approximately the same as that 
of the environment. Therefore, temperature is probably the single most 
important environmental factor influencing insect behavior, distribution, 
development, survival and reproduction. 

Page 157



Residents’ & Environmental Services Policy Overview Committee 2012/2013 

Review Page 26 

 In the case of birds, temperature as a single factor does affect bird behaviour. 
A freeze kills much of the vegetation and the insects that many northern birds 
need. The loss of reliable food sources without a change in the photoperiod 
could cause some birds to migrate. 

 Climate – According to the Chartered Institute of Public Health, the current 
trend for warmer, wetter weather, higher sea levels and more extreme weather 
events such as flooding will become more frequent. This in turn will lead to 
increased pest populations and greater interaction with humans. 

 Urban Development – Provide ready supplies of food, water, shelter and 
sources of warmth which assist pests to propagate. 

 Underground Infrastructure – Pipe works carrying electricity, gas, water and 
sewage provide conduits for pests to traverse urban environments. 

Page 158



Residents’ & Environmental Services Policy Overview Committee 2012/2013 

Review Page 27 

  

Appendix B 

Current pest provision – prior to April 2013 

Current Service Provision (Open Spaces) 

In Green Spaces and Golf Courses, the Council uses Rentokil to undertake surveys 
and provide control measures for rats in parks and mice in buildings. 

The Council has also been using a local pest controller to assist with moles in fine 
turf. There is also an issue with foxes on the golf courses as both the number of 
foxes and damage caused by them is increasing.

Current Service Provision (Domestic Premises) 

London Borough of Hillingdon Residents Services Directorate provides a pest control 
service for rats (and mice internal to properties only).  The Council has landlord 
responsibility for Hillingdon Housing Services tenants and a free service is provided 
to them. In April 2011, however, fees were introduced for non-Council tenants and 
owner occupiers resulting in a reduction in demand for the service. Consequently, the 
in-house pest control service has assumed pest control work around the Civic Centre 
and the Council tenant service from Hillingdon Housing Services. 

Callers can book appointments and make payment either by telephone or on-line on 
the Council website. Information and advice on the website for pest control was 
updated in the summer of 2012. 

The charges for the service can be categorised as follows: 
 Resident Owner Occupiers where no concessions apply - £60 for x 3 visits 
 Resident Owner Occupiers where concessions apply, i.e., in receipt of benefits 

- £15 for x 3 visits 
 Any additional visit or initial visit - £36 or £15 where concessions apply 
 Private Landlords (rented houses) - £93.60 for x 3 visits 
 Hillingdon Housing Services tenant’s request – no charge 
 Council Buildings – Civic Centre requirements, Green spaces and any Council 

buildings – internally re-charged at cost 
 Concessions and over 65’s - no charge 

Current Service Provision (Commercial Premises) 

The Residents Services Directorate’s Food Safety Team carries out an inspection 
programme of food business, dealing with structural, operational and hygiene 
requirements. The inspection considers the layout and design of the food business 
concerned to ensure good food hygiene practices including protection against 
contamination and, in particular, pest control. Inspections cover provisions for 
storage and disposal of food waste, non-edible by-products and other refuse. The 

Page 159



Residents’ & Environmental Services Policy Overview Committee 2012/2013 

Review Page 28 

officer will consider the design and management of refuse stores so as to ensure that 
they may be kept clean and free from animals and pests. Hygiene Improvement 
Notices may be served on the food business operator where there is a record of 
continued non-compliance. 

Other provisions in relation to the cleanliness of the workplace and facilities for rest 
and eating meals, etc, extend to non-food business. These controls may be applied 
through the Health and Safety at Work Act and associated workplace health, safety 
and welfare regulations. 

The Hygiene Improvement Notice does not deal with accumulations of rubbish or 
harbourage of pests in non food related locations.  Non-food establishments are 
inspected in response to reports by the Residents Services Directorate’s Anti Social 
Behaviour Investigations Team.  On the first inspection, advice will be given by the 
officer to the trader to make sure they are aware of their responsibilities, with 
particular effort made to assist small traders to be aware of the steps they must take 
to manage waste. 

If advice is not effective in resolving the problem, consideration will be given to 
serving a Legal Notice (see above) on the person responsible and or the owner of 
the land.  With regard to commercial waste the following additional provisions apply: 

 Environmental Protection Act 1990 
o S.47 requirement to store trade refuse in a suitable container 
o S.34 duty of care for persons responsible for waste to take all measures 

applicable to prevent any contravention by any other person of law and 
to ensure that transfer of waste is only to a person authorised for 
transport purposes 

o Regulations under s.34 relating to the requirement to have in place a 
waste management plan and, if necessary, a contract with a provider of 
waste removal and transfer services 

Current Service Provision (Mixed Premises) 

There are often occasions where more than one type of premises or land is affected 
by rodent activity. Examples might include: 

 a parade of trading premises 
 private flats above 
 yards that form part of those premises to the rear
 yards that abut an un-adopted service road and the service road backs onto 

public open space 
 flats that gain access via a staircase from the service road to balconies 

Due to poor waste management by traders and residents, accumulations of both 
trade and domestic waste build up giving a food source for rodents that are seen to 
have habitat in the public open space. 

Page 160



Residents’ & Environmental Services Policy Overview Committee 2012/2013 

Review Page 29 

  

In such situations officers break down the various elements that have combined - 
these being: 

 Pest control action (i.e., baiting and poisoning) in the public open space. There 
are no enforcement actions to be taken as the open space is owned by the 
Council. 

 Investigation of whether the trading premises is meeting its waste 
management and property ownership duties.  Officers will conduct inspections 
of trading premises where waste must be securely contained, normally using 
bulk waste bins that have secure lockable lids. These bins should be regularly 
emptied by a registered waste collection company who will ensure correct 
disposal. This process must be recorded and audited. Should the officer find 
any failing in this duty, enforcement action will be instigated under 
Environmental Protection Act 1990 s34.  Owners or occupiers have a 
requirement to keep land clean, tidy and sanitary, or formal actions will be 
taken to enforce clearance of accumulations and treatment for any rodents 
upon the land under Prevention of Damage by Pests Act 1949 s4. In cases 
where an un-adopted service road is not kept clear of waste, occupiers of 
premises that directly abut the service road with be served a notice to clear it 
under Public Health Act 1936 s78.  

 Whether the residents of the flats have sufficient knowledge about how their 
waste should be stored prior to collection and when and where their waste 
should be presented for collection.  Residents of flats will be visited to ensure 
that they are fully aware where domestic waste should be stored and that 
residents are aware of the collection day. Each flat will be given a guidance 
leaflet confirming the correct practice. Should there be continuing failure to 
store or present domestic waste in the agreed manner, notice can be served 
to formalise storage and presentation for collection under Environmental 
Protection Act 1990 s46. 

Costs to the Council of providing the Pest Control Service  

Cost 2011/2012 £113,000

Income 2011/2012 £76,000 (£36,000 external income and £40,000 
recharges from other Council departments) 

Net Cost 2011/2012 £37,000

        
Enforcement of the duties of occupiers of land 

Properties are inspected by the Residents Services Directorate’s Anti Social 
Behaviour Investigations Team in response to reports, as it is deemed that not 
dealing properly, either deliberately or negligently, with waste accumulations, or build 
up of undergrowth providing food or shelter for rodents is anti-social by nature as it is 
likely to cause nuisance for other people or a health risk. 

Page 161



Residents’ & Environmental Services Policy Overview Committee 2012/2013 

Review Page 30 

On the first inspection, advice will be given by the officer to the occupier to make sure 
they are aware of their responsibilities, with particular effort made to assist older or 
vulnerable residents to be aware of the steps they must take to manage their 
property, or how to seek assistance if they cannot manage it themselves. 
If advice is not effective in resolving the problem, consideration will be given to 
serving a Legal Notice on the occupier and / or owner under one of the following 
provisions: 

 Environmental Protection Act 1990 
o S.46 requirement to present refuse in a prescribed manner 
o S.59 requirement to remove waste stored or deposited on land not 

licensed for such 
o S.80 requirement to abate a statutory nuisance connected to land in 

such a state as to be prejudicial to health or a nuisance 
o S.92 requirement to remove litter from land where it is detrimental to the 

amenity of the area 
 Prevention of Damage by Pests Act 1949 

o S.4 requirement to remove or prevent conditions which provide 
harbourage for rodents 

 Public Health Act 1961  
o S.34 requirement to remove waste from land which is seriously 

detrimental to the amenities of the neighbourhood 
 Public Health Act 1936 

o S.78 requirement to sweep or cleanse passages or yards 
o S.79 requirement to remove noxious matter from land 
o S.83 requirement to cleanse filthy and verminous premises 

 Town and Country Planning Act 1990 
o S.215 requirement to remedy the condition of land which is seriously 

adverse to the amenities of an area 

If these notices are not complied with, there are various penalties set out in 
legislation and, in most cases, the Council will carry out the necessary work (“work in 
default”) and charge the cost to the person responsible. 

Page 162



 
 

 
Cabinet – 25 July 2013 

JOINT COMMISSIONING PLAN FOR ADULTS OF ALL AGES WITH 
MENTAL HEALTH PROBLEMS 2013-15 – OUTCOME OF CONSULTATION 
 
Cabinet Member(s)  Councillor Philip Corthorne 

Councillor Scott Seaman-Digby 
   
Cabinet Portfolio(s)  Social Services, Health and Housing 

Central Services 
   
Officer Contact(s)  Tony Zamon, Adult Social Care 

Paul Feven, Finance 
   
Papers with report  Joint Commissioning Plan 
 
1. HEADLINE INFORMATION 
 
Summary 
 

 The Cabinet approved the Joint Commissioning Plan for Adults of 
All Ages with Mental Health Problems 2013-15 in December 2013 
subject to public consultation. Since December, the consultation 
process has been completed. In addition, the Social Services, 
Health and Housing Policy Overview Committee (POC) review of 
adult mental health services has been completed.  
 
The Plan has now been revised to incorporate the feedback 
received, the recommendations of the POC review and an 
implementation plan.  
 
This report includes an overview of the consultation process and a 
summary of the outcome including the changes made to the draft 
Plan as a result of comments received. 

   
Contribution to our 
plans and strategies 

 The recommendations support the objectives of the Sustainable 
Community Strategy, the Health and Wellbeing Strategy, the 
Transforming Adult Social Care: Personalisation and 
Commissioning Plan 2011 - 2015 and the Carers Commissioning 
Plan 2011 – 2015. 

   
Financial Cost  There are no financial implications associated with this report. 
   
Relevant Policy 
Overview Committee 

 Social Services, Housing & Public Health 

   
Ward(s) affected 
 

 All 

 
 
 
 
 

Agenda Item 7

Page 163



 
 

 
Cabinet – 25 July 2013 

 
2. RECOMMENDATION  
 
That Cabinet approves the Joint Commissioning Plan for Adults of All Ages with Mental 
Health Problems (2013-15), amended as a result of consultation.  
 
Reasons for recommendation 
 
Delivery of the Plan will improve mental health and wellbeing, customer experience of mental 
health services and outcomes from treatment and support.  
 
Alternative options considered / risk management 
 
The alternative is not to approve the Plan or require further amendments prior to approval. 
 
Policy Overview Committee comments 
 
The previous Social Services, Health & Housing Policy Overview Committee in 2012/13, 
recommended that the Council and CNWL should work in partnership through the Mental 
Health Partnership Board in order to ensure that there is access to excellent outreach services 
in the community for all service users and their carers. In particular, the following areas required 
attention from the partners: 
 

• Identifying needs and early identification  
• Information and support for users and carers  
• Enabling people to make choices, balancing risks and community involvement  
• Partnership working 
• Staff training and development  
• Learning from best practice 
• Use of resources  

 
The Plan has been revised to incorporate the recommendations and findings from the POC 
Review undertaken from September 2012 to January 2013.  
 
3. INFORMATION 
 
Background  
 
1. In March 2012, Hillingdon Council and Hillingdon’s Clinical Commissioning Group (CCG) 
jointly initiated a refresh of the 2008 plan for adults with mental health problems aged 18-64 
years1. It was agreed that the revised plan would include a focus on improving services for 
people with dementia.  
 
2. In December 2012, Cabinet and the CCG approved the Joint Commissioning Plan for Adults 
of All Ages with Mental Health Problems 2013-15, subject to public consultation.  
 
3. The Council and the CCG have since jointly undertaken a 12 week public consultation 
programme which commenced on 24 January 2013 in order to seek the views of service users, 
carers, service providers and the people living and/or working in Hillingdon.   

                                                 
1A strategy for adult services for mental health and wellbeing, 2008-13, NHS Hillingdon and London Borough of Hillingdon, 2008 

Page 164



 
 

 
Cabinet – 25 July 2013 

 
National Context  
 
4. The new Plan will support the local delivery of the national direction for mental health 
services as described in No Health Without Mental Health2. This acknowledges the importance 
of mental health and wellbeing for individuals, bringing together priorities for adults and older 
adults into a single document with 6 key outcomes specified for people of all ages with mental 
health problems: 
 

• More people will have good mental health 
• More people with mental health problems will recover 
• More people with mental health problems will have good physical health 
• More people will have a positive experience of care and support 
• Fewer people will suffer avoidable harm 
• Fewer people will experience stigma and discrimination 

 
Mental Health Services in Hillingdon  
 
5. The new Plan builds on the strengths and addresses the development areas for services for 
adults with functional mental health problems in Hillingdon: 
 

Mental Health Service Provision for Adults: Strengths 
• Some aspects of primary care of mental health problems are strong e.g. a higher 

percentage of patient on Coronary Heart Disease and diabetes registers have 
been screened for depression (89.5% compared to 88.5%) 

• The balance of investment in community based support and services is relatively 
high compared to benchmark comparator groups 

• The rate of readmission to inpatient services is low 
• Hillingdon’s use of secure and high dependency services is low as evidenced by 

low levels of expenditure.  

• For its population need, Hillingdon has a larger mental health employment 
scheme caseload than the London average 

 
Mental Health Service Provision for Adults: Areas for Development 

• Expenditure on residential care is greater than Hillingdon’s comparators (39% of 
care costs in 2011/12 compared to an average in London of 31%) 

• There are inequalities in the rate of admission to inpatient services in Hillingdon; 
the rate for white ethnic groups in Hillingdon is 30% lower than the England 
average for all ethnic groups but the admission rate for black ethnic groups is 
47% higher than the England average 

• The rate for alcohol related harm is higher than the London average 
• Hillingdon has only a small investment in services that respond to the needs of 

people with depression and anxiety (Improving Access to Psychological 
Therapies (IAPT) initiative) 

• Hillingdon has no community team for eating disorder or for people with forensic 
needs 

                                                 
2 No health without mental health – a cross-government mental health outcomes strategy, DH, 2011 

Page 165



 
 

 
Cabinet – 25 July 2013 

• There are gaps in the assessment, treatment and support available for people 
diagnosed with dementia and their carers. Crisis support has been identified as a 
significant gap.  

• Most of the specialist dementia provision is provided in bed based hospital 
services. The average length of stay is 119 days and the majority of admissions 
to these services are from residents’ own homes - 62%. However, 64% of 
residents are discharged to nursing homes 

• The waiting times for memory assessment and diagnosis is up to 6 months, 
which leads to delays in the provision of support and treatment. 

 
The Vision for Hillingdon’s Adult Mental Health Services  
 
6. The new strategy for Hillingdon aims to promote recovery, mental health and wellbeing 
underpinned by an overarching vision:  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Priorities within Hillingdon’s Plan  
 
7. The revised Plan continues to builds on the priorities identified in 2008: 

• Support for carers 
• Crisis support 
• Support at home when unwell 
• Access to psychological therapies 
• Information about services and treatment  

 
 

People with mental health problems and their carers living in Hillingdon should 
benefit from opportunities for positive mental well-being which includes: 
 

o Involvement with community, friends and family  
o Meaningful occupation, learning and leisure 
o Good health care 
o Good housing 
o Financial security  
o Access to all of the above for people with significant mental 

health problems as well as access to specialist services which 
provide for their individual needs and preferences 

o Promoting recovery from the effect of mental health problems 
 
Services should support people with mental health problems to recover and 
ensure that both they and their carers:    
 

o Are supported to live a normal life as far as possible 
o Are empowered to take control of their lives 
o Are fully involved in the planning and delivery of services  
o Are included in local communities and activities 
o Are not stigmatised or discriminated against on any grounds 
o Have easy access to up to date and accurate information 
o Have options in the choices of high quality care and support  

available locally  
o Have personalised care plans that are built around their needs 

and wishes  
o Are supported with services that promote and enable recovery 

and wellbeing 

Page 166



 
 

 
Cabinet – 25 July 2013 

8. In addition, the new Plan targets a number of areas for improvement over the next 2 years:  
 

• Promoting community based care - shifting the setting of care to community settings 
wherever possible, enabled by investment in primary care based mental health services 

• Improving the infrastructure for support and information in the community  
• Improved dementia assessment, treatment and support  
• Addressing inequalities and tackling exclusion 
• Improving the quality and effectiveness of services as well as the efficiency and value for 

money of services 
• Improving the way in which care is delivered so that care is 

o Personalised  
o Targeted to address the issues of greatest concern to the individual  
o Focussed on recovery and outcomes  
o Effectively co-ordinated and seamless  

• Improve the times for memory assessment through reconfiguration of inpatient services 
and investment in a Memory Assessment Service.  

 
Key actions within Hillingdon’s Plan 
 
9. The actions proposed to improve mental health services for adults with functional illness are:  
 

• Ensuring early intervention and promoting mental health and wellbeing in all communities  
• Establishing a joint approach and improving mental health services assessment, 

treatment and support in primary care  
• A greater focus on recovery  
• Developing alternatives to residential care  
• Reducing incidents of suicide  
• Developing and implementing clear customer pathways for integrated care  
• Improving support to carers, including during crises  
• Providing interventions that address the needs of people who required specialised 

assessment, treatment and support   
• Maximising the contribution of voluntary/community services, service users and carers 

 
10. The actions proposed to improve services for older adults with functional mental health 
problems and/or dementia are:  
 

• Supporting people in their own homes for as long as possible  
• Promoting awareness of dementia and increasing the rate of diagnosis  
• Improving the co-ordination of care through improved assessment and multi-disciplinary 

working in primary care  
• Reducing reliance on acute mental health beds  
• Commissioning a dementia resource centre  
• Developing the infrastructure for community based assessment, treatment and support  
• Maximising the contribution of the voluntary sector  
• Providing specialist advice to residential and nursing home services  
• Improving support to carers to enable them to continue in their caring role  
• Developing care pathways for people with early onset dementia as well as people with a 

learning disability and dementia  
 
 

Page 167



 
 

 
Cabinet – 25 July 2013 

 
What success will look like: 
 
11. As a result of the successful delivery of the Plan, Hillingdon’s residents should expect to 
see: 
 

• Improved mental health and wellbeing in the population as a whole 
• Improved access, diagnosis and earlier intervention for both the general population and 

for disadvantaged groups with mental health problems  
• A co-ordinated approach to assessment, treatment and support for both physical and 

mental health needs  
• A shift from bed and secondary care based services to community and primary care 

based assessment, treatment and support, with this being delivered as close to people’s 
homes as possible 

• Improved access to specialist assessment, treatment and support for those who need it 
• Greater choice and flexibility in the range of housing and options for personalised support  
• A focus on supporting recovery and real outcomes for individuals  
• Priority given to improving support to retain or secure employment  
• Increased control and choice for service users and carers through the provision of more 

accessible information and advice and increased involvement in service development 
and delivery 

 
Next steps 
 
12.  A joint Mental Health Transformation Group will be set up and implementation of the Plan 
will commence subject to CCG and Cabinet approval of the Plan. The Group will monitor 
achievement of the agreed outcomes.  
 
Financial Implications  
 
13. There are no direct financial implications contained this report.  Any future services 
commissioned in line with this Commissioning Plan will be subject to the relevant authorisation 
process. 
 
4. EFFECT ON RESIDENTS, SERVICE USERS AND COMMUNITIES 
 
What will be the effect of the recommendation? 
 
14. The Plan will give focus to the drive to improve quality, effectiveness and efficiency of 
services for adults of all ages with mental health problems in Hillingdon and deliver the key 
outcomes required from mental health services.  
 
15. An Equality Impact Assessment has been completed and is available to members on 
request.  
 
Consultation Carried Out or Required  
 
16. The Council and Hillingdon CCG undertook joint consultation on the Plan from 24 January 
to 17 April 2013. The consultation consisted of: 
 

• An online invitation to members of the public to submit comments on the strategy 

Page 168



 
 

 
Cabinet – 25 July 2013 

• 2 public consultation events  
• Discussions at regular forums including  

• Mental Health Service User and Carer Forum 
• Mental Health Carers group  
• Oak Tree Group (Local service user forum) 
• Re-Think carers group  

 
17. During the consultation, there was engagement with statutory sector organisations 
(including Council Members and officers, Hillingdon CCG and CNWL), voluntary and 
independent sector organisations, service users and carers. 
 
18. There was strong support for the strategy evidenced throughout the consultation process. 
The following areas were particularly commented upon as positive elements of the Plan:  
 

• The overall strategic direction including the specific priorities for improvement  
 

• The partnership approach between the Council and the NHS to the future development 
and delivery of services  

 
• The proposed shift from a bed to a community/home treatment based service 

 
• The recognition of the importance of improving the co-ordination of care 

 
• The focus on improving recovery and outcomes 

 
• The recognition of the need to address mental health inequalities 

 
• The consultation process itself and the open and inclusive approach that had been 

adopted by the Council and the CCG 
 
19. The Plan has now been revised in accordance with the feedback received as part of the 
consultation as well as the Policy Overview Committee review. The following are the key 
changes made as a result of consultation: 
 
Overall change to the Plan Detail 
The addition of new 
priorities 
 

• Recovery 
• Developing community and primary care based mental health 

services) 
• Improved diagnosis, assessment, treatment and support for 

people with dementia  
• Developing the network of support in the community e.g. 

through the development of community groups, the voluntary 
sector and initiatives such as peer support, advocacy and 
befriending services  

The development of an 
implementation plan for 
year 1 of the plan (2013-14) 

• To ensure the best use of resources. 
• To improve the mental health and wellbeing of the population 

of Hillingdon.  

Page 169



 
 

 
Cabinet – 25 July 2013 

with 5 key strategic 
priorities:  
 

• To improve support to carers enabling them to continue in 
their caring role and to enjoy quality of life for themselves. 

• To provide care closer to home by increasing access to 
community based assessment, treatment and support. 

• To improve access to evidence based assessment, treatment 
and support for people with dementia and their carers. 

 
Changes to the vision 
statement to: 
 

• Include carers in order to acknowledge their contribution and 
the need to provide effective support, information and advice. 

• Emphasise the focus on promoting recovery. 
• Emphasise the intention to empower service users and 

carers. 
• Emphasise the need to focus on promoting high quality care 

and support.  
 

 
20. In addition, the following areas already contained within the Plan have been strengthened 
as a result of consultation feedback:  
 

a) Ensuring that service users and carers continue to be fully informed, involved and 
engaged in service delivery and development by developing a vibrant, empowered 
user/carer movement.  

 
b) Providing effective leadership and adopting a partnership approach to service 

improvement and delivery. 
 

c) Prioritising mental health promotion and prevention, in particular challenging and tackling 
stigma.  

 
d) Promoting recovery. 

 
e) Emphasising the intention to provide assessment, treatment in the home as far as 

possible.   
 

f) Supporting staff to develop new ways of working and achieve the significant cultural shift 
needed to achieve the required improvement in outcomes for service users and carers.  

 
g) Prioritising the provision of support to enable people to gain or retain employment.  

 
h) Improving access to services and providing robust and accessible information, advice 

and support for service users and carers (including review of the Council’s website and 
directory of services). 

 
i) Ensuring more timely access to housing by ensuring closer working between mental 

health services and the Council’s housing teams. 
 

j) Ensuring the development of a life course approach, ensuring a seamless transition from 
child and adolescent to adult mental health services, ensuring that the needs of children 

Page 170



 
 

 
Cabinet – 25 July 2013 

and adolescents whose parents are diagnosed with mental health problems are 
addressed and that support is offered to young carers.    

 
k) Ensuring that people are properly supported as they leave services and know how to re-

access support if necessary. 
 

l) Prioritising staff training and development for staff, including ensuring that those who are 
in the front line working with the wider population have mental health first aid training.  

 
m) Consideration of the potential for greater independence offered by the use of assistive 

technologies. 
 

n) Developing a single point of access to services for people with dementia and their carers.  
 

o) Focussing on the quality of services.  
 
21.. The timescale for implementation of the Plan has been extended from 2 to 3 years in order 
to give sufficient time to work with key partners to achieve the significant changes in service 
models and culture. This extension also aligns the actions to the timescales in the Hillingdon 
CCG recovery plan and the Council’s strategic plans for social care.  
 
5. CORPORATE IMPLICATIONS 
 
Corporate Finance 
 
22. The total combined budget for services providing support to adults of all ages with mental 
health problems provided by the Council, NHS Hillingdon and Hillingdon Clinical Commissioning 
Group is estimated to be in excess of £40m per annum. This report sets out a commissioning 
plan to improve outcomes for people with mental health problems of all ages.  This 
commissioning plan, linked with the ongoing transformation of Social Care services and the 
development of the Supported Housing Programme, is key to the delivery of significant savings 
for 2013/14 and future years within the Council's MTFF. 
 
Legal 
 
23. This report seeks Cabinet's approval of the Joint Commissioning Plan following a period of 
public consultation. The Commissioning Plan sets out how the Council will commission service 
for clients with mental health problems and legal advice is always available to ensure that the 
Council meets its statutory obligations to clients with a mental health problem. 
 
24. The Borough Solicitor confirms that there are no legal impediments to Cabinet approving 
this Commissioning Plan. 
 
6. BACKGROUND PAPERS 
 
NIL 

Page 171



Page 172

This page is intentionally left blank



1

Pr
om

ot
in
g
m
en

ta
lw

el
lb
ei
ng

an
d
en

ab
lin

g
re
co
ve
ry

fr
om

m
en

ta
lh
ea
lt
h
pr
ob

le
m
s
in
H
ill
in
gd
on

H
ill
in
gd
on

’s
Jo
in
tc
om

m
is
si
on

in
g
pl
an

fo
r
ad

ul
ts
of

al
la
ge
s
w
it
h

m
en

ta
lh
ea
lt
h
pr
ob

le
m
s
20

13
16

Ju
ne

20
13

Page 173



2

C
O

N
T

E
N

T
S

EX
EC

U
TI
V
E
SU

M
M
A
RY

PA
RT

1:
IN
TR

O
D
U
CT

IO
N

1.
1

1.
2

1.
3

1.
3.
1

1.
3.
2

1.
4

1.
4.
1

1.
4.
2

1.
5

D
ef
in
it
io
n
of

M
en

ta
lH

ea
lt
h
D
is
or
de

r

Th
e
A
pp

ro
ac
h
to

D
ev
el
op

in
g
th
e
A
du

lt
M
en

ta
lH

ea
lt
h
St
ra
te
gy

Lo
nd

on
Bo

ro
ug
h
of

H
ill
in
gd

on
:P

ro
fil
e

G
en

er
al
Ch

ar
ac
te
ri
st
ic
s
of

H
ill
in
gd
on

an
d
H
ea
lt
h
an

d
So
ci
al
Pr
of
ile

Th
e
Pr
of
ile

of
M
en

ta
lH

ea
lt
h
N
ee
d
in
H
ill
in
gd
on

Th
e
N
at
io
na

lC
on

te
xt

fo
r
th
e
D
el
iv
er
y
of

Se
rv
ic
es

fo
r
A
du

lt
s
of

A
ll
A
ge
s
w
it
h
M
en

ta
lH

ea
lt
h
Pr
ob

le
m
s

Th
e
N
at
io
na

lC
on

te
xt

fo
r
th
e
D
el
iv
er
y
of

Se
rv
ic
es

fo
r
A
du

lt
s
w
it
h
M
en

ta
lH

ea
lt
h
Pr
ob

le
m
s

Th
e
N
at
io
na

l
Co

nt
ex
tf
or

th
e
D
el
iv
er
y
of

Se
rv
ic
es

fo
r
O
ld
er

A
du

lt
s
w
it
h
M
en

ta
lH

ea
lt
h
Pr
ob

le
m
s

Th
e
Lo
ca
lC
on

te
xt

fo
r
th
e
D
el
iv
er
y
of

M
en

ta
lH

ea
lt
h
Se
rv
ic
es

fo
r
A
du

lt
s
of

A
ll
A
ge
s

8 9 9 9 10 12 12 13 15
PA

RT
2:
SE
RV

IC
ES

FO
R
A
D
U
LT
S
W
IT
H
M
EN

TA
L
H
EA

LT
H
PR

O
BL
EM

S
IN

H
IL
LI
N
G
D
O
N

2.
1

2.
2

2.
2.
1

2.
2.
2

2.
2.
3

2.
3

2.
3.
1

2.
3.
2

2.
3.
3

2.
4

2.
4.
1

2.
4.
2

Re
vi
ew

of
th
e
St
ra
te
gy

fo
r
A
du

lt
Se
rv
ic
es

fo
r
M
en

ta
lH

ea
lt
h
an

d
W
el
lb
ei
ng

20
08

13

U
se

of
Re

so
ur
ce
s
in
M
en

ta
lH

ea
lt
h
Se
rv
ic
es

fo
r
A
du

lt
s
w
it
h
M
en

ta
lH

ea
lt
h
Pr
ob

le
m
s
in

H
ill
in
gd
on

H
ill
in
gd
on

CC
G
an

d
Lo
nd

on
Bo

ro
ug
h
of

H
ill
in
gd
on

:U
se

of
Re

so
ur
ce
s
fo
r
O
ld
er

A
du

lt
s
w
it
h
M
en

ta
lH

ea
lt
h
Pr
ob

le
m
s

H
ill
in
gd
on

CC
G
:U

se
of

Re
so
ur
ce
s
fo
r
A
du

lt
s
w
it
h
M
en

ta
lH

ea
lt
h
Pr
ob

le
m
s

Lo
nd

on
Bo

ro
ug
h
of

H
ill
in
gd

on
:U

se
of

Re
so
ur
ce
s
fo
r
A
du

lt
s
w
it
h
M
en

ta
lH

ea
lt
h
Pr
ob

le
m
s

Th
e
Pe

rf
or
m
an

ce
of

Se
rv
ic
es

fo
r
A
du

lt
s
w
it
h
M
en

ta
lH

ea
lt
h
Pr
ob

le
m
s
in

H
ill
in
gd
on

Th
e
Pe

rf
or
m
an

ce
of

N
H
S
Co

m
m
is
si
on

ed
Se
rv
ic
es

fo
r
A
du

lt
s
w
it
h
M
en

ta
lH

ea
lt
h
Pr
ob

le
m
s

Th
e
Pe

rf
or
m
an

ce
of

LB
H
Co

m
m
is
si
on

ed
Se
rv
ic
es

fo
r
A
du

lt
s
w
it
h
M
en

ta
lH

ea
lt
h
Pr
ob

le
m
s

Ra
te
s
of

Su
ic
id
e
in

H
ill
in
gd
on

Th
e
St
ra
te
gy

fo
r
Se
rv
ic
es

fo
r
A
du

lt
s
w
it
h
M
en

ta
lH

ea
lt
h
Pr
ob

le
m
s
in
H
ill
in
gd
on

20
13

16
Th

e
V
is
io
n
fo
rS

er
vi
ce
s
fo
r
A
du

lt
s
w
it
h
M
en

ta
lH

ea
lt
h
Pr
ob

le
m
s
in
H
ill
in
gd
on

20
13

16
Th

e
St
ra
te
gy

fo
r
Se
rv
ic
es

fo
r
A
du

lt
s
w
it
h
M
en

ta
lH

ea
lt
h
pr
ob

le
m
s
in
H
ill
in
gd
on

20
13

16

17 19 19 19 19 21 21 22 23 24 24 25

PA
RT

3:
SE
RV

IC
ES

FO
R
O
LD

ER
A
D
U
LT
S
W
IT
H
M
EN

TA
L
H
EA

LT
H
PR

O
BL
EM

S
IN

H
IL
LI
N
G
D
O
N

Page 174



3

3.
1

3.
2

3.
2.
1

3.
2.
2

3.
2.
3

3.
3

3.
3.
1

3.
3.
2

3.
4

Th
e
D
ev
el
op

m
en

to
fS

er
vi
ce
s
fo
r
O
ld
er

Pe
op

le
w
it
h
M
en

ta
lH

ea
lt
h
Pr
ob

le
m
s
in
H
ill
in
gd
on

20
11

12

U
se

of
Re

so
ur
ce
s
in
M
en

ta
lH

ea
lt
h
Se
rv
ic
es

fo
r
O
ld
er

A
du

lt
s
w
it
h
M
en

ta
lH

ea
lt
h
Pr
ob

le
m
s
in
H
ill
in
gd
on

H
ill
in
gd
on

CC
G
an

d
Lo
nd

on
Bo

ro
ug
h
of

H
ill
in
gd
on

:U
se

of
Re

so
ur
ce
s
fo
r
O
ld
er

A
du

lt
s
w
it
h
M
en

ta
lH

ea
lt
h
Pr
ob

le
m
s

H
ill
in
gd
on

CC
G
:U

se
of

Re
so
ur
ce
s
fo
r
O
ld
er

A
du

lt
s
w
it
h
M
en

ta
lH

ea
lt
h
Pr
ob

le
m
s

Lo
nd

on
Bo

ro
ug
h
of

H
ill
in
gd

on
:U

se
of

Re
so
ur
ce
s
fo
r
O
ld
er

A
du

lt
s
w
it
h
M
en

ta
lH

ea
lt
h
Pr
ob

le
m
s

Th
e
Pe

rf
or
m
an

ce
of

Se
rv
ic
es

fo
r
O
ld
er

A
du

lt
s
w
it
h
M
en

ta
lH

ea
lt
h
Pr
ob

le
m
s
in
H
ill
in
gd
on

Th
e
Pe

rf
or
m
an

ce
of

N
H
S
Co

m
m
is
si
on

ed
Se
rv
ic
es

fo
r
A
du

lt
s
w
it
h
M
en

ta
lH

ea
lt
h
Pr
ob

le
m
s

Th
e
Pe

rf
or
m
an

ce
of

LB
H
Co

m
m
is
si
on

ed
Se
rv
ic
es

fo
r
O
ld
er

A
du

lt
s
w
it
h
M
en

ta
lH

ea
lt
h
Pr
ob

le
m
s

Th
e
St
ra
te
gy

fo
r
Se
rv
ic
es

fo
r
O
ld
er

A
du

lt
s
w
it
h
m
en

ta
lh
ea
lt
h
pr
ob

le
m
s
in

H
ill
in
gd
on

20
13

16

31 35 35 35 35 36 36 36 36

G
LO

SS
A
RY

A
PP

EN
D
IC
ES 1 2 3 4 5 6

Li
vi
ng

W
el
lw

it
h
D
em

en
ti
a:
N
at
io
na

lD
em

en
ti
a
St
ra
te
gy
,2
00

9:
O
bj
ec
ti
ve
s

M
en

ta
lH

ea
lt
h
Pr
om

ot
io
n
an

d
W
el
lb
ei
ng
:A

ch
ie
ve
m
en

ts
20

11
12

an
d
In
te
nt
io
ns

20
12

16
Lo
nd

on
Bo

ro
ug
h
of

H
ill
in
gd

on
:P

ri
or
it
ie
s
fo
r
Im

pr
ov
em

en
t
20

12
16

N
at
io
na

lM
en

ta
lH

ea
lt
h
D
as
hb

oa
rd
:N

o
he

al
th

w
it
ho

ut
m
en

ta
lh

ea
lt
h:

a
cr
os
s
go

ve
rn
m
en

tm
en

ta
lh
ea
lt
h
ou

tc
om

es
st
ra
te
gy

fo
r

ad
ul
ts
of

al
la
ge
s

Th
e
Jo
in
tS

tr
at
eg
y
an

d
Co

m
m
is
si
on

in
g
Pl
an

fo
rA

du
lt
s
w
it
h
M
en

ta
lH

ea
lt
h
Pr
ob

le
m
s
in

H
ill
in
gd
on

:
Im

pl
em

en
ta
ti
on

Pl
an

20
13

14
Th

e
Jo
in
tS

tr
at
eg
y
an

d
Co

m
m
is
si
on

in
g
Pl
an

fo
rA

du
lt
s
w
it
h
M
en

ta
lH

ea
lt
h
Pr
ob

le
m
s
in

H
ill
in
gd
on

:E
qu

al
it
y
Im

pa
ct
A
ss
es
sm

en
t

EX
EC

U
TI
V
E
SU

M
M
A
RY

In
M
ar
ch

20
12

,H
ill
in
gd
on

Cl
in
ic
al
Co

m
m
is
si
on

in
g
G
ro
up

(H
ill
in
gd
on

CC
G
)

an
d
th
e
Lo
nd

on
Bo

ro
ug
h
of

H
ill
in
gd
on

(L
BH

)i
ni
tia

te
d
a
re
fr
es
h
of

th
e

st
ra
te
gy

fo
ra

du
lts

w
ith

m
en

ta
lh
ea
lth

pr
ob

le
m
s
ag
ed

18
64

ye
ar
s1
an
d

1 A
st
ra
te
gy

fo
ra

du
lt
se
rv
ic
es

fo
rm

en
ta
lh
ea
lth

an
d
w
el
lb
ei
ng
,2
00

8
13

,N
H
S
H
ill
in
gd
on

an
d
Lo
nd

on
Bo

ro
ug
h
of

H
ill
in
gd
on

,2
00

8

Page 175



4

th
e
de

ve
lo
pm

en
to

fa
pl
an

to
im

pr
ov
e
se
rv
ic
es

fo
rp

eo
pl
e
w
ith

de
m
en

tia
in
or
de

r
to

cr
ea
te

a
ne

w
al
la
ge

ad
ul
tm

en
ta
lh
ea
lth

se
rv
ic
es

st
ra
te
gy
/p
la
n.

In
20

11
,t
he

go
ve
rn
m
en

t
re
fr
es
he

d
th
e
st
ra
te
gi
c
di
re
ct
io
n
fo
r
m
en

ta
l

he
al
th

se
rv
ic
es

pu
bl
is
hi
ng

N
o
he

al
th

w
ith

ou
tm

en
ta
lh
ea
lth

–
a
cr
os
s

go
ve
rn
m
en

tm
en

ta
lh
ea
lth

ou
tc
om

es
st
ra
te
gy

2
.T
he

st
ra
te
gy

ac
kn
ow

le
dg
es

th
e
im

po
rt
an
ce

of
m
en

ta
lh
ea
lth

an
d
w
el
lb
ei
ng

fo
r

in
di
vi
du

al
s
an
d
th
e
co
un

tr
y’
s
so
ci
al
an
d
ec
on

om
ic
st
at
us

an
d
ad
op

ts
a

“l
ife

co
ur
se
”
ap
pr
oa
ch

br
in
gi
ng

to
ge
th
er

pr
io
rit
ie
s
fo
r
ch
ild
re
n,
ad
ul
ts
an
d

ol
de

ra
du

lts
in
to

a
si
ng
le
do

cu
m
en

t.
6
ke
y
ou

tc
om

es
ar
e
sp
ec
ifi
ed

fo
r

pe
op

le
w
ith

m
en

ta
lh
ea
lth

pr
ob

le
m
s
of

al
la
ge
s:

M
or
e
pe

op
le
w
ill
ha
ve

go
od

m
en

ta
lh
ea
lth

M
or
e
pe

op
le
w
ith

m
en

ta
lh
ea
lth

pr
ob

le
m
s
w
ill
re
co
ve
r

M
or
e
pe

op
le
w
ith

m
en

ta
lh
ea
lth

pr
ob

le
m
s
w
ill
ha
ve

go
od

ph
ys
ic
al

he
al
th

M
or
e
pe

op
le
w
ill
ha
ve

a
po

si
tiv

e
ex
pe

rie
nc
e
of

ca
re

an
d
su
pp

or
t

Fe
w
er

pe
op

le
w
ill
su
ff
er

av
oi
da
bl
e
ha
rm

Fe
w
er

pe
op

le
w
ill
ex
pe

ri
en

ce
st
ig
m
a
an
d
di
sc
ri
m
in
at
io
n

Th
es
e
ar
e
re
fle

ct
ed

in
th
e
ke
y
ob

je
ct
iv
es

in
th
e
ne

w
H
ill
in
gd
on

pl
an

w
hi
ch

ha
ve

be
en

ca
rr
ie
d
fo
rw

ar
d
fr
om

th
e
20

08
st
ra
te
gy

as
th
ey

re
m
ai
n

re
le
va
nt
: Ad

ul
ts
of

al
la
ge
s
liv
in
g
in
H
ill
in
gd
on

w
ith

m
en

ta
lh
ea
lth

pr
ob

le
m
s

sh
ou

ld
be

ab
le
to
:

Li
ve

a
no

rm
al
lif
e
as

fa
ra

s
po

ss
ib
le

Be
in
cl
ud

ed
in
lo
ca
lc
om

m
un

iti
es

an
d
ac
tiv

iti
es

2
N
o
he

al
th

w
ith

ou
tm

en
ta
lh
ea
lth

–
a
cr
os
s
go
ve
rn
m
en

tm
en

ta
lh
ea
lth

ou
tc
om

es
st
ra
te
gy
,D

H
,2
01

1

N
ot

be
st
ig
m
at
is
ed

or
di
sc
rim

in
at
ed

ag
ai
ns
to

n
an
y

gr
ou

nd
s

H
av
e
ea
sy

ac
ce
ss
to

up
to

da
te

an
d
ac
cu
ra
te

in
fo
rm

at
io
n

H
av
e
op

tio
ns

in
th
e
ch
oi
ce
s
of

ca
re

av
ai
la
bl
e
lo
ca
lly

H
av
e
pe

rs
on

al
is
ed

ca
re

pl
an
s
th
at

ar
e
bu

ilt
ar
ou

nd
th
e

w
is
he

s
of

ea
ch

in
di
vi
du

al
an
d
th
ei
r
ca
re
rs

Be
su
pp

or
te
d
w
ith

se
rv
ic
es

th
at

pr
om

ot
e
an
d
en

ab
le

re
co
ve
ry

an
d
w
el
lb

ei
ng

N
at
io
na
le
st
im

at
es

su
gg
es
tt
ha
t1

in
4
pe

op
le
w
ill
de

ve
lo
p
a
m
en

ta
lh
ea
lth

co
nd

iti
on

du
ri
ng

th
ei
r
lif
et
im

e
an
d
th
is
ca
n
ra
ng
e
fr
om

de
pr
es
si
on

to
de

m
en

tia
.
M
en

ta
lh
ea
lth

pr
ob

le
m
s
ha
ve

tr
ad
iti
on

al
ly
be

en
di
vi
de

d
in
to

2
m
ai
n
gr
ou

ps
:

O
rg
an

ic
di
so
rd
er
s:
Id
en

tif
ia
bl
e
br
ai
n
m
al
fu
nc
tio

n
Fu
nc
ti
on

al
di
so
rd
er
s:
D
is
or
de

rs
no

tc
au
se
d
by

st
ru
ct
ur
al

ab
no

rm
al
iti
es

of
th
e
br
ai
n:

o
N
eu

ro
si
s:
se
ve
re

fo
rm

s
of

no
rm

al
ex
pe

ri
en

ce
s
su
ch

as
lo
w
m
oo

d,
an
xi
et
y

o
Ps
yc
ho

si
s:
se
ve
re

di
st
or
tio

n
of

a
pe

rs
on

's
pe

rc
ep

tio
n
of

re
al
ity

Th
e
le
ve
lo
fd

ep
ri
va
tio

n
im

pa
ct
s
on

th
e
m
en

ta
lh
ea
lth

st
at
us

of
a

po
pu

la
tio

n
an
d
th
er
ef
or
e
its

ne
ed

fo
r
m
en

ta
lh
ea
lth

se
rv
ic
es
.M

en
ta
l

he
al
th

ne
ed

in
H
ill
in
gd
on

is
es
tim

at
ed

to
be

18
pe

rc
en

tl
ow

er
th
an

th
e

En
gl
an
d
av
er
ag
e.

W
ith

th
e
ad
ul
tp

op
ul
at
io
n
gr
ow

in
g
at

ap
pr
ox
im

at
el
y
1
pe

rc
en

tp
er

an
nu

m
,a
nd

a
hi
gh
er

ra
te

of
in
cr
ea
se

fo
r
ol
de

ra
du

lts
ap
pr
ox
im

at
el
y
7

pe
rc
en

tp
er

an
nu

m
,t
he

re
w
ill
ha
ve

be
en

a
sl
ig
ht
,b
ut

no
ts
ig
ni
fic
an
t

ch
an
ge

to
20

12
.

It
is
es
tim

at
ed

th
at

th
er
e
ar
e
2,
58

4
ad
ul
ts
w
ith

de
m
en

tia
in
H
ill
in
gd
on

.
Th
is
is
lik
el
y
to

in
cr
ea
se

by
ap
pr
ox
im

at
el
y
10

%
(2
40

pe
op

le
)b

et
w
ee
n

Page 176



5

20
12

an
d
20

20
3 .
75

%
of

th
e
in
cr
ea
se

ca
n
be

at
tr
ib
ut
ed

to
pe

op
le
ag
ed

85
an
d
ov
er
.

Th
e
pl
an

bu
ild
s
on

th
e
st
re
ng
th
s
an
d
ad
dr
es
se
s
th
e
w
ea
kn
es
se
s
of

se
rv
ic
es

fo
ra

du
lts

w
ith

fu
nc
tio

na
lm

en
ta
lh
ea
lth

pr
ob

le
m
s
in
H
ill
in
gd
on

:

So
m
e
as
pe

ct
s
of

pr
im

ar
y
ca
re

of
m
en

ta
lh
ea
lth

pr
ob

le
m
s
e.
g.
a

hi
gh
er

pe
rc
en

ta
ge

of
pa
tie

nt
on

Co
ro
na
ry

H
ea
rt
D
is
ea
se

(C
H
D
)

an
d
di
ab
et
es

re
gi
st
er
s
ha
ve

be
en

sc
re
en

ed
fo
r
de

pr
es
si
on

(8
9.
5%

co
m
pa
re
d
to

88
.5
%
)

In
ve
st
m
en

ti
n
ho

m
e
su
pp

or
ts
er
vi
ce
s
i.e
.c
om

m
un

ity
ba
se
d

su
pp

or
ti
s
re
la
tiv

el
y
hi
gh

In
ve
st
m
en

ti
n
co
m
m
un

ity
ba
se
d
m
en

ta
lh
ea
lth

se
rv
ic
es

is
pr
op

or
tio

na
te
ly
(1
%
)h

ig
he

rt
ha
n
th
e
av
er
ag
e
fo
rb

en
ch
m
ar
k

co
m
pa
ra
to
rg

ro
up

s,
i.e
.t
he

re
st
of

Lo
nd

on
,t
hr
iv
in
g
Lo
nd

on
pe

rip
he

ry
an
d
th
e
re
st
of

En
gl
an
d,
w
hi
ls
ti
nv
es
tm

en
ti
n
in
pa
tie

nt
se
rv
ic
es

is
3%

le
ss

Th
e
ra
te

of
re
ad
m
is
si
on

to
in
pa
tie

nt
se
rv
ic
es

is
lo
w

Fo
ri
ts
po

pu
la
tio

n
ne

ed
,H

ill
in
gd
on

ha
s
a
la
rg
er

m
en

ta
lh
ea
lth

em
pl
oy
m
en

ts
ch
em

e
ca
se
lo
ad

th
an

th
e
Lo
nd

on
av
er
ag
e

Ex
pe

nd
itu

re
on

re
si
de

nt
ia
lc
ar
e
is
gr
ea
te
rt
ha
n
H
ill
in
gd
on

’s
co
m
pa
ra
to
rs
(3
9%

of
ca
re

co
st
s
in
20

11
/1
2
co
m
pa
re
d
to

an
av
er
ag
e
in
Lo
nd

on
of

31
%
an
d
a
lo
w
fig
ur
e
of

8%
)

Th
e
ra
te

of
co
nt
ac
tw

ith
se
co
nd

ar
y
ca
re

in
co
m
m
un

ity
m
en

ta
l

he
al
th

se
rv
ic
es

is
hi
gh

co
m
pa
re
d
to

th
e
Lo
nd

on
av
er
ag
e

Th
er
e
ar
e
in
eq

ua
lit
ie
s
in
th
e
ra
te

of
ad
m
is
si
on

to
in
pa
tie

nt
se
rv
ic
es

in
H
ill
in
gd
on

;t
he

ra
te

fo
rw

hi
te

et
hn

ic
gr
ou

ps
in

H
ill
in
gd
on

is
30

%
lo
w
er

th
an

th
e
En

gl
an
d
av
er
ag
e
fo
r
al
le
th
ni
c

gr
ou

ps
bu

tt
he

ad
m
is
si
on

ra
te

fo
rb

la
ck

et
hn

ic
gr
ou

ps
is
47

%
hi
gh
er

th
an

th
e
En

gl
an
d
av
er
ag
e

3
Th
es
e
nu

m
be

rs
in
cl
ud

e
ad
ul
ts
ag
ed

un
de

r
65

w
ith

de
m
en

tia
bu

tt
he

nu
m
be

rs
ar
e
ve
ry

sm
al
l

(a
pp

ro
x.
55

)

Th
e
ra
te

fo
ra

lc
oh

ol
re
la
te
d
ha
rm

is
hi
gh
er

th
an

th
e
Lo
nd

on
av
er
ag
e

H
ill
in
gd
on

ha
s
on

ly
a
sm

al
li
nv
es
tm

en
ti
n
se
rv
ic
es

th
at

re
sp
on

d
to

th
e
ne

ed
s
of

pe
op

le
w
ith

de
pr
es
si
on

an
d
an
xi
et
y
(Im

pr
ov
in
g

A
cc
es
s
to

Ps
yc
ho

lo
gi
ca
lT
he

ra
pi
es

(IA
PT
)i
ni
tia

tiv
e)

H
ill
in
gd
on

’s
us
e
of

se
cu
re

an
d
hi
gh

de
pe

nd
en

cy
se
rv
ic
es

is
lo
w
as

ev
id
en

ce
d
by

lo
w
le
ve
ls
of

ex
pe

n d
itu

re
.

H
ill
in
gd
on

ha
s
no

co
m
m
un

ity
te
am

fo
re

at
in
g
di
so
rd
er

or
fo
r

pe
op

le
w
ith

fo
re
ns
ic
ne

ed
s

It
ad
dr
es
se
s
th
e
ke
y
co
nc
er
ns

re
la
tin

g
to

se
rv
ic
es

fo
rp

eo
pl
e
w
ith

de
m
en

tia
an
d
th
ei
r
ca
re
rs
:

Th
e
w
ai
tin

g
tim

es
fo
rm

em
or
y
as
se
ss
m
en

ta
nd

di
ag
no

si
s
is
up

to
6
m
on

th
s,
w
hi
ch

le
ad
s
to

de
la
ys

in
th
e
pr
ov
is
io
n
of

su
pp

or
ta

nd
tr
ea
tm

en
t.
Th
is
is
ab
ou

tt
o
be

ad
dr
es
se
d
th
ro
ug
h
re
co
nf
ig
ur
at
io
n

of
in
pa
tie

nt
se
rv
ic
es

le
ad
in
g
to

a
re
du

ct
io
n
fr
om

40
to

25
be

ds
an
d
re

in
ve
st
m
en

ti
n
a
M
em

or
y
A
ss
es
sm

en
tS

er
vi
ce

fr
om

N
ov
em

be
r2

01
2

Th
er
e
ar
e
ga
ps

in
th
e
as
se
ss
m
en

t,
tr
ea
tm

en
ta

nd
su
pp

or
t

av
ai
la
bl
e
fo
rp

eo
pl
e
di
ag
no

se
d
w
ith

de
m
en

tia
an
d
th
ei
rc
ar
er
s,
in

pa
rt
ic
ul
ar
,g
ap
s
in
th
e
pr
ov
is
io
n
of

cr
is
is
su
pp

or
t

M
os
to

ft
he

sp
ec
ia
lis
td

em
en

tia
pr
ov
is
io
n
is
pr
ov
id
ed

in
be

d
ba
se
d
ho

sp
ita

ls
er
vi
ce
s.
Th

e
av
er
ag
e
le
ng
th

of
st
ay

is
11

9
da
ys

an
d
th
e
m
aj
or
ity

of
ad
m
is
si
on

s
to

th
es
e
se
rv
ic
es

ar
e
fr
om

re
si
de

nt
s’
ow

n
ho

m
es

62
%
.H

ow
ev
er
,6
4%

of
re
si
de

nt
s
ar
e

di
sc
ha
rg
ed

to
nu

rs
in
g
ho

m
es

Th
er
e
is
si
gn
ifi
ca
nt

in
ve
st
m
en

tb
y
bo

th
H
ill
in
gd
on

CC
G
an
d
LB
H
in
se
rv
ic
es

fo
ra

du
lts

w
ith

m
en

ta
lh
ea
lth

pr
ob

le
m
s
in
H
ill
in
gd
on

.I
n
20

11
/1
2

H
ill
in
gd
on

CC
G
in
ve
st
ed

£2
7.
2,
w
ith

£4
.8
m

be
in
g
in
ve
st
ed

in
se
rv
ic
es

fo
r

ol
de

ra
du

lts
.D

ur
in
g
20

11
/1
2
LB
H
in
ve
st
ed

£5
.9
m

in
su
pp

or
tin

g
ad
ul
ts
of

Page 177



6

w
or
ki
ng

ag
e
w
ith

m
en

ta
lh
ea
lth

pr
ob

le
m
s.

LB
H
al
so

sp
en

t£
7m

in
su
pp

or
tin

g
pe

op
le
w
ith

de
m
en

tia
.

Th
e
w
or
k
un

de
rt
ak
en

to
de

ve
lo
p
th
e
st
ra
te
gy

in
di
ca
te
s
th
at

th
er
e
is

po
te
nt
ia
lf
or

si
gn
ifi
ca
nt

im
pr
ov
em

en
tt
o
th
e
ef
fic
ie
nc
y
an
d
ef
fe
ct
iv
en

es
s

of
th
e
se
rv
ic
es

in
qu

es
tio

n
th
ro
ug
h
ad
op

tio
n
of

an
in
te
gr
at
ed

,w
ho

le
sy
st
em

s
ap
pr
oa
ch
,b
ui
ld
in
g
on

th
e
cu
rr
en

ts
tr
en

gt
h
of

G
Ps

in
m
an
ag
in
g

ad
ul
ts
w
ith

m
en

ta
lh
ea
lth

pr
ob

le
m
s
in
th
e
co
m
m
un

ity
.I
th

as
be

en
ag
re
ed

th
at

se
rv
ic
es

sh
ou

ld
be

pe
rs
on

al
iz
ed

an
d
co
m
m
un

ity
ba
se
d
w
ith

a
fo
cu
s

on
re
co
ve
ry

an
d
im

pr
ov
ed

ou
tc
om

es
.I
m
pr
ov
em

en
tw

ill
be

ac
hi
ev
ed

th
ro
ug
h
ef
fe
ct
iv
e
pa
rt
ne

rs
hi
p
w
or
ki
ng

th
at

en
ab
le
s
se
rv
ic
e

re
co
nf
ig
ur
at
io
n
an
d
re
de

si
gn
,l
ea
di
ng

to
a
sh
ift

fr
om

a
be

d
ba
se
d
to

co
m
m
un

ity
ba
se
d
se
rv
ic
e
w
ith

tr
ea
tm

en
tp

ro
vi
de

d
at

ho
m
e
as

fa
r
as

po
ss
ib
le
,a
nd

ac
hi
ev
in
g
a
sh
ift

fr
om

se
co
nd

ar
y
to

pr
im

ar
y
ca
re

as
se
ss
m
en

t,
tr
ea
tm

en
ta

nd
su
pp

or
t.
Th

er
e
w
ill
be

a
fo
cu
s
on

m
on

ito
ri
ng

an
d
ev
id
en

ci
ng

pe
rf
or
m
an
ce

an
d
im

pr
ov
em

en
ts
.

Th
e
ke
y
ac
tio

ns
pr
op

os
ed

to
im

pr
ov
e
m
en

ta
lh
ea
lth

se
rv
ic
es

fo
ra

du
lts

w
ith

fu
nc
tio

na
li
lln
es
s
ar
e:

En
su
rin

g
ea
rl
y
in
te
rv
en

tio
n
an
d
pr
om

ot
in
g
m
en

ta
lh
ea
lth

an
d

w
el
lb
ei
ng

in
al
lc
om

m
un

iti
es

St
re
ng
th
en

in
g
th
e
pa
rt
ne

rs
hi
p
be

tw
ee
n
st
ak
eh

ol
de

rs
,i
nc
lu
di
ng

se
rv
ic
e
us
er
s
an
d
ca
re
rs
an

d
es
ta
bl
is
hi
ng

a
jo
in
ta

pp
ro
ac
h
to

th
e

im
pr
ov
em

en
to

f
m
en

ta
lh
ea
lth

se
rv
ic
es

as
se
ss
m
en

t,
tr
ea
tm

en
t

an
d
su
pp

or
ti
n
pr
im

ar
y
ca
re

D
ev
el
op

in
g
an
d
im

pl
em

en
tin

g
in
te
gr
at
ed

ca
re

pa
th
w
ay
s

Im
pr
ov
in
g
su
pp

or
tt
o
ca
re
rs
,i
nc
lu
di
ng

du
rin

g
cr
is
es

Cr
ea
tin

g
pe

rs
on

al
is
ed

al
te
rn
at
iv
es

to
re
si
de

nt
ia
lc
ar
e

En
su
rin

g
ef
fe
ct
iv
e
as
se
ss
m
en

t,
tr
ea
tm

en
ta

nd
su
pp

or
fo
rp

eo
pl
e

w
ith

sp
ec
ia
lis
tn

ee
ds

M
ax
im

is
in
g
th
e
co
nt
ri
bu

tio
n
of

vo
lu
nt
ar
y
an
d
co
m
m
un

ity
se
rv
ic
es

In
vo
lv
em

en
to

fs
er
vi
ce

us
er
s
an
d
ca
re
rs

In
fo
rm

ed
pr
io
rit
y
se
tt
in
g

Re
du

ci
ng

in
ci
de

nt
s
of

su
ic
id
e

A
fo
cu
s
on

em
po

w
er
m
en

t,
re
co
ve
ry

an
d
ou

tc
om

es

To
su
pp

or
td

el
iv
er
y
of

th
es
e
ch
an
ge
s
an
d
th
e
ov
er
al
li
m
pr
ov
em

en
to

f
as
se
ss
m
en

t,
tr
ea
tm

en
ta

nd
su
pp

or
tf
or

ad
ul
ts
w
ith

m
en

ta
lh
ea
lth

pr
ob

le
m
s
in
H
ill
in
gd
on

,H
ill
in
gd
on

CC
G
an
d
LB
H
w
ill
pr
ov
id
e
st
ro
ng

le
ad
er
sh
ip
,a
do

pt
in
g
a
pa
rt
ne

rs
hi
p
ap
pr
oa
ch

w
ith

al
ls
ta
ke
ho

ld
er
s

in
cl
ud

in
g
CN

W
L
to

in
te
gr
at
e
pl
an
s
to

im
pl
em

en
t
pe

rs
on

al
is
at
io
n,
im

pr
ov
e

th
e
ra
ng
e
an

d
qu

al
ity

of
ac
co
m
m
od

at
io
n
an
d
en

su
re

su
pp

or
tf
or

em
pl
oy
m
en

ta
nd

tr
ai
ni
ng

an
d
co
m
m
un

ity
ba
se
d
ac
tiv

iti
es

an
d
su
pp

or
t

in
iti
at
in
g
th
e
fo
llo
w
in
g
sp
ec
ifi
c
ac
tio

n:

Im
pr
ov
e
th
e
pr
im

ar
y
ca
re

ba
se
d
m
en

ta
lh
ea
lth

se
rv
ic
es

in
fr
as
tr
uc
tu
re

–
by

im
pl
em

en
tin

g
th
e
“s
hi
ft
in
g
se
tt
in
gs

of
ca
re
”

w
or
ks
tr
ea
m
s
pr
io
ri
tis
ed

fr
om

th
e
N
W

Lo
nd

on
M
en

ta
lH

ea
lth

In
te
gr
at
ed

Ca
re

Pa
th
w
ay

(IC
P)

/S
tr
at
eg
y

Im
pr
ov
e
th
e
ra
ng
e
of

ac
co
m
m
od

at
io
n
an
d
su
pp

or
ta

va
ila
bl
e
in

th
e
co
m
m
un

ity
Im

pr
ov
e
th
e
ef
fic
ie
nc
y
an
d
re
du

ce
th
e
co
st
of

se
rv
ic
es

Th
e
ke
y
ac
tio

ns
pr
op

os
ed

to
im

pr
ov
e
se
rv
ic
es

fo
ro

ld
er

ad
ul
ts
w
ith

fu
nc
tio

na
lm

en
ta
lh
ea
lth

pr
ob

le
m
s
an
d/
or

de
m
en

tia
ar
e:

Su
pp

or
tin

g
pe

op
le
in
th
ei
r
ow

n
ho

m
es

fo
ra

s
lo
ng

as
po

ss
ib
le

In
cr
ea
si
ng

th
e
ra
te

of
di
ag
no

si
s
of

de
m
en

tia
Im

pr
ov
in
g
th
e
co

or
di
na
tio

n
of

ca
re

th
ro
ug
h
im

pr
ov
ed

as
se
ss
m
en

ta
nd

m
ul
ti
di
sc
ip
lin
ar
y
w
or
ki
ng

in
pr
im

ar
y
ca
re

Pr
om

ot
in
g
aw

ar
en

es
s
of

de
m
en

tia
Re

du
ci
ng

re
lia
nc
e
on

ac
ut
e
m
en

ta
lh
ea
lth

be
ds

D
ev
el
op

in
g
th
e
in
fr
as
tr
uc
tu
re

fo
rc
om

m
un

ity
ba
se
d
as
se
ss
m
en

t,
tr
ea
tm

en
ta

nd
su
pp

or
t

M
ax
im

is
in
g
th
e
co
nt
ri
bu

tio
n
of

th
e
vo
lu
nt
ar
y
se
ct
or

Page 178



7

Co
m
m
is
si
on

in
g
a
de

m
en

tia
re
so
ur
ce

ce
nt
re

Pr
ov
id
in
g
sp
ec
ia
lis
ta

dv
ic
e
to

re
si
de

nt
ia
la
nd

nu
rs
in
g
ho

m
e

se
rv
ic
es

Co
nf
irm

in
g
th
e
re
so
ur
ce
s
av
ai
la
bl
e
to

co
nt
in
ue

th
e
ps
yc
hi
at
ri
c

lia
is
on

pi
lo
ta

tT
he

H
ill
in
gd
on

H
os
pi
ta
l

Im
pr
ov
in
g
su
pp

or
tt
o
ca
re
rs
to

en
ab
le
th
em

to
co
nt
in
ue

in
th
ei
r

ca
rin

g
ro
le

D
ev
el
op

in
g
ca
re

pa
th
w
ay
s
fo
rp

eo
pl
e
w
ith

ea
rl
y
on

se
td

em
en

tia
D
ev
el
op

in
g
ca
re

pa
th
w
ay
s
fo
rp

eo
pl
e
w
ith

a
le
ar
ni
ng

di
sa
bi
lit
y

w
ith

de
m
en

tia

Th
is
w
ill
be

ac
hi
ev
ed

by
im

pl
em

en
tin

g
th
e
re
vi
se
d
ca
re

pa
th
w
ay
s
an
d

pl
an
s
fo
rs
pe

ci
al
is
tm

en
ta
lh
ea
lth

se
rv
ic
es

fo
ro

ld
er

ad
ul
ts
de

ve
lo
pe

d
du

rin
g
20

12
13

by
th
e
m
ul
ti
ag
en

cy
st
ra
te
gy

gr
ou

p
an
d
bu

ild
in
g
on

th
e

ne
w
in
te
rm

ed
ia
te

ca
re

se
rv
ic
es

be
in
g
pu

ti
n
pl
ac
e
fo
ro

ld
er

ad
ul
ts
.

A
s
a
re
su
lt
of

th
e
ab
ov
e,
th
e
po

pu
la
tio

n
of

H
ill
in
gd
on

sh
ou

ld
ex
pe

ct
to

se
e:

Im
pr
ov
ed

ac
ce
ss
fo
rt
he

ge
ne

ra
lp
op

ul
at
io
n
an
d
fo
r

di
sa
dv
an
ta
ge
d
gr
ou

ps
Im

pr
ov
ed

de
m
en

tia
di
ag
no

si
s
ra
te
s

A
sh
ift

fr
om

be
d
an
d
se
co
nd

ar
y
ca
re

ba
se
d
to

co
m
m
un

ity
an
d

pr
im

ar
y
ca
re

ba
se
d
as
se
ss
m
en

t,
tr
ea
tm

en
ta

nd
su
pp

or
t

In
eq

ua
li t
ie
s
fo
rb

la
ck

an
d
m
in
or
ity

et
hn

ic
(B
M
E)

co
m
m
un

iti
es

an
d

di
sa
dv
an
ta
ge
d/
vu
ln
er
ab
le
pe

op
le
be

in
g
ad
dr
es
se
d

M
en

ta
lh
ea
lth

an
d
w
el
lb
ei
ng

in
th
e
po

pu
la
tio

n
as

a
w
ho

le
be

in
g

pr
om

ot
ed

Im
pr
ov
ed

ac
ce
ss
to

cr
is
is
su
pp

or
t

Pr
ov
is
io
n
of

as
se
ss
m
en

t,
tr
ea
tm

en
ta

nd
su
pp

or
ta

s
cl
os
e
to

pe
op

le
’s
ho

m
es

as
po

ss
ib
le
,e
ns
ur
in
g
th
at

sp
ec
ia
lis
tb

ed
ba
se
d

an
d
co
m
m
un

ity
se
rv
ic
es

ar
e
ac
ce
ss
ed

on
ly
w
he

n
th
is
is
th
e
be

st
op

tio
n
to

su
pp

or
tr
ec
ov
er
y

A
fo
cu
s
on

re
co
ve
ry

an
d
ou

tc
om

es
an
d
pe

rs
on

al
is
ed

ap
pr
oa
ch
es

to
as
se
ss
m
en

t,
tr
ea
tm

en
ta

nd
su
pp

or
t

Se
rv
ic
e
us
er
s
em

po
w
er
ed

th
ro
ug
h
th
e
pr
om

ot
io
n
of

ch
oi
ce

an
d

co
nt
ro
la
nd

pr
ov
is
io
n
of

ea
sy

ac
ce
ss
to

in
fo
rm

at
io
n
an
d
ad
vi
ce

Se
rv
ic
es

th
at

ar
e
in
fo
rm

ed
by

be
st
pr
ac
tic
e
an
d
ev
id
en

ce
of

ne
ed

an
d
pe

rf
or
m
an
ce

Ca
re
rs
be

in
g
su
pp

or
te
d,
ha
vi
ng

ch
oi
ce

an
d
co
nt
ro
la
nd

be
in
g

em
po

w
er
ed

th
ro
ug
h
ea
sy

ac
ce
ss
to

in
fo
rm

at
io
n
an
d
ad
vi
ce

Be
st
us
e
of

av
ai
la
bl
e
re
so
ur
ce
s
be

in
g
m
ad
e
to

ac
hi
ev
e
va
lu
e
fo
r

m
on

ey
ou

tc
om

es
fo
rr
es
id
en

ts

A
pl
an

to
de

liv
er

th
e
re
qu

ir
ed

im
pr
ov
em

en
ts
id
en

tif
yi
ng

bo
th

th
e
jo
in
t

an
d
in
di
vi
du

al
ac
tio

n
re
qu

ir
ed

by
H
ill
in
gd
on

CC
G
an
d
LB
H
to

im
pr
ov
e

se
rv
ic
es

w
or
ki
ng

w
ith

ke
y
pa
rt
ne

rs
ha
s
be

en
ag
re
ed

.S
ee

Fi
gu
re

15
be

lo
w
.

Th
ro
ug
h
th
e
pr
oc
es
s
of

co
ns
ul
ta
tio

n
on

th
e
st
ra
te
gy

an
d
im

pl
em

en
ta
tio

n
pl
an

an
d
th
e
LB
H
Po

lic
y
an
d
O
ve
rv
ie
w
Co

m
m
itt
ee

re
vi
ew

of
ad
ul
tm

en
ta
l

he
al
th

se
rv
ic
es

th
at

w
as

un
de

rt
ak
en

fr
om

Se
pt
em

be
r2

01
2
to

Ja
nu

ar
y

20
13

,f
ee
db

ac
k
w
as

re
ce
iv
ed

th
at

w
ill
be

us
ed

to
in
fo
rm

im
pl
em

en
ta
tio

n
of

ea
ch

el
em

en
to

ft
he

pl
an
.T
he

fe
ed

ba
ck

re
ce
iv
ed

is
su
m
m
ar
is
ed

at
Ap

pe
nd

ic
es

5
an
d
6.
A
n
im

pl
em

en
ta
tio

n
pl
an

fo
ry

ea
r1

of
th
e
st
ra
te
gy

(2
01

3
14

)i
s
in
cl
ud

ed
at

A
pp

en
di
x
7.
A
fu
ll
eq

ua
lit
ie
s
im

pa
ct
as
se
ss
m
en

t
fo
rt
he

st
ra
te
gy

w
as

ca
rr
ie
d
ou

tf
ol
lo
w
in
g
th
e
co
ns
ul
ta
tio

n
pr
oc
es
s.
N
o

ne
ga
tiv

e
in
di
ca
to
rs
fo
re

qu
al
ity

w
er
e
id
en

tif
ie
d
th
ro
ug
h
th
is
pr
oc
es
s.
Se
e

Ap
pe

nd
ix
8.

PA
RT

1:
IN
TR

O
D
U
CT

IO
N

1.
1
D
ef
in
it
io
ns

of
m
en

ta
lh
ea
l t
h
di
so
rd
er

Th
er
e
ar
e
m
an
y
de

fin
iti
on

s
of

m
en

ta
lh
ea
lth

bu
tm

os
tw

ou
ld
ag
re
e
th
at

it
co
ns
is
ts
of

a
se
to

fo
ut
w
ar
dl
y
ob

se
rv
ab
le
sk
ill
s,
at
tr
ib
ut
es

an
d
be

ha
vi
ou

rs
(s
uc
h
as

th
e
ab
ili
ty

to
liv
e
pr
od

uc
tiv

el
y,
ad
ju
st
to

ch
an

ge
an
d
to

m
ai
nt
ai
n

sa
tis
fy
in
g
re
la
tio

ns
hi
ps

w
ith

ot
he

rs
)a
nd

a
se
to

fp
er
so
na
le
m
ot
io
ns

an
d

th
ou

gh
ts
(s
uc
h
as

en
jo
ym

en
to

fl
ife

,a
se
ns
e
of

se
lf
w
or
th

an
d
em

pa
th
y)
.

Page 179



8

Th
e
te
rm

'm
en

ta
lh
ea
lth

pr
ob

le
m
'i
s
us
ed

in
th
is
do

cu
m
en

tt
o
de

sc
rib

e
th
e
fu
ll
sp
ec
tr
um

of
m
en

ta
lh
ea
lth

is
su
es
,f
ro
m

co
m
m
on

ex
pe

ri
en

ce
s
su
ch

as
'fe

el
in
g
de

pr
es
se
d'
to

m
or
e
se
ve
re

cl
in
ic
al
sy
m
pt
om

s
su
ch

as
cl
in
ic
al

de
pr
es
si
on

an
d
en

du
ri
ng

pr
ob

le
m
s
su
ch

as
sc
hi
zo
ph

re
ni
a.

M
en

ta
lh
ea
lth

pr
ob

le
m
s
ha
ve

tr
ad
iti
on

al
ly
be

en
di
vi
de

d
in
to

2
m
ai
n
gr
ou

ps
:

O
rg
an

ic
di
so
rd
er
s:
Id
en

tif
ia
bl
e
br
ai
n
m
al
fu
nc
tio

n
Fu
nc
ti
on

al
di
so
rd
er
s:
D
is
or
de

rs
no

tc
au
se
d
by

st
ru
ct
ur
al

ab
no

rm
al
iti
es

of
th
e
br
ai
n:

N
eu

ro
si
s:
se
ve
re

fo
rm

s
of

no
rm

al
ex
pe

rie
nc
es

su
ch

a
lo
w
m
oo

d,
an
xi
et
y
an
d
Ps
yc
ho

si
s:
se
ve
re

di
st
or
tio

n
of

a
pe

rs
on

's
pe

rc
ep

tio
n
of

re
al
ity

Te
rm

in
ol
og
y
fo
rm

en
ta
lh
ea
lth

pr
ob

le
m
s
va
ri
es

co
ns
id
er
ab
ly
ac
ro
ss

pr
of
es
si
on

s
an
d
cu
ltu

re
s,
ac
co
rd
in
g
to

pr
ev
ai
lin
g
at
tit
ud

es
to
w
ar
ds

m
en

ta
lh
ea
lth

an
d
cu
rr
en

tu
nd

er
st
an
di
ng
.
Th

e
fo
llo
w
in
g
te
rm

s
ha
ve

be
en

ad
op

te
d
fo
rt
hi
s
pl
an
:

Co
m
m
on

m
en

ta
lh

ea
lt
h
pr
ob

le
m
s:
e.
g.
an
xi
et
y,
de

pr
es
si
on

,
ph

ob
ia
s,
ob

se
ss
iv
e
co
m
pu

ls
iv
e
an
d
pa
ni
c
di
so
rd
er
s

Se
ve
re

an
d
en

du
ri
ng

m
en

ta
lh

ea
lt
h
pr
ob

le
m
s:
e.
g.
ps
yc
ho

tic
di
so
rd
er
s
(in

cl
ud

in
g
sc
hi
zo
ph

re
ni
a)
an
d
bi
po

la
ra

ff
ec
tiv

e
di
so
rd
er

(m
an
ic
de

pr
es
si
on

)
Pe

rs
on

al
it
y
di
so
rd
er
:a
n
en

du
rin

g
pa
tt
er
n
of

in
ne

re
xp
er
ie
nc
e

an
d
be

ha
vi
ou

rs
th
at

de
vi
at
e
m
ar
ke
dl
y
fr
om

th
e
ex
pe

ct
at
io
n
of

th
e
in
di
vi
du

al
's
cu
ltu

re
,i
s
pe

rv
as
iv
e
an
d
in
fle

xi
bl
e,
ha
s
an

on
se
ti
n

ad
ol
es
ce
nc
e
or

ea
rl
y
ad
ul
th
oo

d,
is
st
ab
le
ov
er

tim
e
an
d
le
ad
s
to

di
st
re
ss
or

im
pa
ir
m
en

t

M
or
e
re
ce
nt
ly
,a

sy
st
em

of
cl
us
te
rin

g
m
en

t a
lh
ea
lth

pr
ob

le
m
s
in
to

ca
re

cl
us
te
rs
ha
s
be

en
ad
op

te
d
as

sh
ow

n
in
Fi
gu
re

1
be

lo
w
.

Fi
gu
re

1:
M
en

ta
lh

ea
lt
h
ca
re

cl
us
te
rs

Cl
us
te
r

no
.

Cl
us
te
r
la
be

l
Cl
us
te
r
re
vi
ew

in
te
rv
al

(m
ax
im

um
)

00
Va

ria
nc
e

A
nn

ua
l

01
Co

m
m
on

m
en

ta
lh
ea
lth

pr
ob

le
m
s
(lo

w
se
ve
rit
y)

12
w
ee
ks

02
Co

m
m
on

m
en

ta
lh
ea
lth

pr
ob

le
m
s

15
w
ee
ks

03
N
on

ps
yc
ho

tic
(m

od
er
at
e
se
ve
rit
y)

6
m
on

th
s

04
N
on

ps
yc
ho

tic
(s
ev
er
e)

6
m
on

th
s

05
N
on

ps
yc
ho

tic
(v
er
y
se
ve
re
)

6
m
on

th
s

06
N
on

ps
yc
ho

tic
di
so
rd
er
s
of

ov
er
va
lu
ed

Id
ea
s

6
m
on

th
s

07
En
du

rin
g
no

n
ps
yc
ho

tic
di
so
rd
er
s
(h
ig
h
di
sa
bi
lit
y)

A
nn

ua
l

08
N
on

ps
yc
ho

tic
ch
ao
tic

an
d
ch
al
le
ng
in
g
di
so
rd
er
s

A
nn

ua
l

09
D
O
N
O
T
U
SE
:B

la
nk

cl
us
te
r(
pr
ev
io
us
ly
dr
ug

an
d
al
co
ho

l)
N
/A

10
Fi
rs
te

pi
so
de

in
ps
yc
ho

si
s

A
nn

ua
l

11
O
ng
oi
ng

re
cu
rr
en

tp
sy
ch
os
is
(lo

w
sy
m
pt
om

s)
A
nn

ua
l

12
O
ng
oi
ng

or
re
cu
rr
en

tp
sy
ch
os
is
(h
ig
h
di
sa
bi
lit
y)

A
nn

ua
l

13
O
ng
oi
ng

or
re
cu
rr
en

tp
sy
ch
os
is
(h
ig
h
sy
m
pt
om

an
d
di
sa
bi
lit
y)

A
nn

ua
l

14
Ps
yc
ho

tic
cr
is
is

4
w
ee
ks

15
Se
ve
re

ps
yc
ho

tic
de

pr
es
si
on

4
w
ee
ks

16
D
ua
ld
ia
gn
os
is
(s
ub

st
an
ce

ab
us
e
an
d
m
en

ta
li
lln
es
s)

6
m
on

th
s

17
Ps
yc
ho

si
s
an
d
af
fe
ct
iv
e
di
so
rd
er

di
ff
ic
ul
tt
o
en

ga
ge

6
m
on

th
s

18
Co

gn
iti
ve

im
pa
irm

en
t(
lo
w
ne

ed
)

6
m
on

th
s

19
Co

gn
iti
ve

im
pa
irm

en
to

rd
em

en
tia

(m
od

er
at
e
ne

ed
)

6
m
on

th
s

20
Co

gn
iti
ve

im
pa
irm

en
to

rd
em

en
tia

(h
ig
h
ne

ed
)

6
m
on

th
s

21
Co

gn
iti
ve

im
pa
irm

en
to

rd
em

en
tia

(h
ig
h
ph

ys
ic
al
ne

ed
or

en
ga
ge
m
en

t)
6
m
on

th
s

Cl
us
te
rs
1
17

ca
n
be

ca
te
go
ris
ed

as
fu
nc
tio

na
lm

en
ta
lh
ea
lth

pr
ob

le
m
s.

Cl
us
te
rs
18

–
21

ca
n
be

ca
te
go
ri
se
d
as

or
ga
ni
c
m
en

ta
lh
ea
lth

pr
ob

le
m
s.

1.
2
Th

e
ap

pr
oa

ch
to

de
ve
lo
pi
ng

th
e
ad

ul
t
m
en

ta
lh

ea
lt
h
st
ra
te
gy

W
rit
te
n
in
20

08
,t
he

cu
rr
en

ts
tr
at
eg
y
fo
ra

du
lts

w
ith

m
en

ta
lh
ea
lth

pr
ob

le
m
s
ag
ed

18
64

ye
ar
s
ad
dr
es
se
s
th
e
ne

ed
s
of

ad
ul
ts
of

“w
or
ki
ng

ag
e”

w
ith

fu
nc
tio

na
lm

en
ta
lh
ea
lth

pr
ob

le
m
s.
Th
e
ne

ed
s
of

pe
op

le
w
ith

Page 180



9

ei
th
er

or
bo

th
fu
nc
tio

na
lm

en
ta
lh
ea
lth

pr
ob

le
m
s
an
d/
or

de
m
en

tia
ag
ed

65
ye
ar
s
an
d
ov
er

ar
e
ad
dr
es
se
d
se
pa
ra
te
ly
w
ith

in
ol
de

rp
eo

pl
e’
s
m
en

ta
l

he
al
th

se
rv
ic
es
.T
he

in
te
nt
io
n
of

th
is
se
pa
ra
tio

n
is
to

fa
ci
lit
at
e
ac
ce
ss
to

se
rv
ic
es

fo
ro

ld
er

ad
ul
ts
w
ho

re
qu

ire
su
pp

or
tf
or

th
ei
rm

en
ta
lh
ea
lth

pr
ob

le
m
s
th
ro
ug
h
th
e
ag
ei
ng

pr
oc
es
s.
H
ow

ev
er
,i
ti
s
no

w
re
co
gn
is
ed

th
at

a
si
ng
le
cu
to

ff
in
ag
e
–
65

ye
ar
s
–
do

es
no

ta
de

qu
at
el
y
re
fle

ct
in
di
vi
du

al
di
ff
er
en

ce
/n
ee
d
as

pe
op

le
an
d
th
at

th
is
ap
pr
oa
ch

is
in
fa
ct
di
sc
ri
m
in
at
or
y.

In
lin
e
w
ith

na
tio

na
lp
ol
ic
y,
it
ha
s
th
er
ef
or
e
be

en
ag
re
ed

th
at

th
er
e
w
ill
be

a
pa
th
w
ay

fo
ra

du
lts

of
al
la
ge
s
w
ith

fu
nc
tio

na
lm

en
ta
lh
ea
lth

pr
ob

le
m
s

an
d
se
pa
ra
te

pa
th
w
ay

fo
r
ol
de

ra
du

lts
w
ith

fu
nc
tio

na
lm

en
ta
lh
ea
lth

pr
ob

le
m
s
w
ho

ar
e
ph

ys
ic
al
ly
fr
ai
la
nd

/o
rh

av
e
de

m
en

tia
.
In
ad
di
tio

n,
as

th
e
la
tt
er

pa
th
w
ay

m
ay

no
ta

llo
w
th
e
di
ff
er
en

tia
ln
ee
ds

of
yo
un

ge
ra

du
lts

w
ith

de
m
en

tia
(e
ar
ly
on

se
td

em
en

tia
)t
o
be

ad
dr
es
se
d
ap
pr
op

ri
at
el
y,

th
er
e
w
ill
be

a
fu
rt
he

r
pa
th
w
ay

fo
rt
hi
s
cl
ie
nt

gr
ou

p.
Th
e
ne

ed
s
of

ad
ul
ts

w
ith

ea
rl
y
on

se
td

em
en

tia
ar
e
us
ua
lly

ad
dr
es
se
d
ap
pr
op

ri
at
el
y
by

th
e

co
m
m
un

ity
te
am

fo
ra

du
lts

w
ith

m
en

ta
lh
ea
lth

pr
ob

le
m
s
w
ho

ar
e

ph
ys
ic
al
ly
fr
ai
la
nd

/o
rh

av
e
de

m
en

tia
.

Th
e
st
ra
te
gi
es

to
su
pp

or
ti
m
pr
ov
em

en
to

fs
er
vi
ce
s
to

de
liv
er

th
e

pa
th
w
ay
s
fo
r
ad
ul
ts
an
d
ol
de

ra
du

lts
st
an
d
al
on

e
bu

ta
re

br
ou

gh
t

to
ge
th
er

in
to

a
si
ng
le
do

cu
m
en

ta
s
a
pl
an

fo
rs
er
vi
ce
s
fo
ra

du
lts

w
ith

m
en

ta
lh
ea
lth

pr
ob

le
m
s
of

al
la
ge
s
in
H
ill
in
gd
on

20
12

15
4 .

Th
e
ne

w
st
ra
te
gy

bu
ild
s
on

th
e
jo
in
tw

or
k
un

de
rt
ak
en

du
ri
ng

an
d
si
nc
e

20
08

an
d
de

sc
ri
be

s
th
e
in
di
vi
du

al
an
d
jo
in
ta

ct
io
n
th
at

bo
th

H
ill
in
gd
on

CC
G
an
d
LB
H
in
te
nd

to
ta
ke
.C
ur
re
nt

re
so
ur
ce
s
an
d
th
e
pe

rf
or
m
an
ce

of
bo

th
he

al
th

an
d
so
ci
al
ca
re

se
rv
ic
es

ar
e
as
se
ss
ed

an
d
th
e
ne

ed
an
d

4
*T
hr
ou

gh
ou

tt
hi
s
do

cu
m
en

t,
th
e
te
rm

ad
ul
ts
w
ith

m
en

ta
lh
ea
lth

pr
ob

le
m
s
is
us
ed

to
re
fe
rt
o
ad
ul
ts

of
al
la
ge
s
w
ith

fu
nc
tio

na
lm

en
ta
lh
ea
lth

pr
ob

le
m
s
w
ho

do
no

tr
eq

ui
re

ac
ce
ss
to

se
rv
ic
es

fo
ro

ld
er

ad
ul
ts
w
ith

m
en

ta
lh
ea
lth

pr
ob

le
m
s.
Th

e
te
rm

ol
de

r
ad
ul
ts
w
ith

m
en

ta
lh
ea
lth

pr
ob

le
m
s
is
us
ed

to
re
fe
rt
o
ph

ys
ic
al
ly
fr
ai
l o
ld
er

ad
ul
ts
w
ith

fu
nc
tio

na
lm

en
ta
lh
ea
lth

pr
ob

le
m
s
an
d/
or

de
m
en

tia
w
ho

se
ne

ed
s
ar
e
m
or
e
ap
pr
op

ri
at
el
y
m
et

ou
ts
id
e
th
e
pa
th
w
ay

fo
ra

du
lts

w
ith

fu
nc
tio

na
lm

en
ta
lh
ea
lth

pr
ob

le
m
s

po
te
nt
ia
lf
or

im
pr
ov
em

en
to

fb
ot
h
he

al
th

an
d
so
ci
al
ca
re

se
rv
ic
es

fo
r

ad
ul
ts
w
ith

m
en

ta
lh
ea
lth

pr
ob

le
m
s
in
H
ill
in
gd
on

is
id
en

tif
ie
d.

1.
3
Lo
nd

on
Bo

ro
ug
h
of

H
ill
in
gd

on
:p

ro
fil
e

1.
3.
1
G
en

er
al
ch
ar
ac
te
ri
st
ic
s
of

H
ill
in
gd

on
an

d
he

al
th

an
d
so
ci
al
pr
of
ile

H
ill
in
gd
on

is
a
di
ve
rs
e,
pr
os
pe

ro
us

bo
ro
ug
h
in
W
es
tL
on

do
n.

It
is
th
e

se
co
nd

la
rg
es
to

fL
on

do
n'
s
32

bo
ro
ug
hs

co
ve
rin

g
42

sq
ua
re

m
ile
s.
Th
e

bo
ro
ug
h
is
bo

rd
er
ed

by
H
er
tf
or
ds
hi
re
,B

uc
ki
ng
ha
m
sh
ir
e,
H
ou

ns
lo
w
,

Ea
lin
g,
an
d
H
ar
ro
w
.T
he

no
rt
h
of

th
e
bo

ro
ug
h
is
se
m
ir
ur
al
an
d
Ru

is
lip

is
th
e
m
aj
or

ce
nt
re

of
po

pu
la
tio

n.
Th

e
so
ut
h
is
m
or
e
de

ns
el
y
po

pu
la
te
d
an
d

ur
ba
n
an
d
co
nt
ai
ns

th
e
ad
m
in
is
tr
at
iv
e
ce
nt
re

of
U
xb
ri
dg
e
an
d
to
w
ns

of
H
ay
es

an
d
W
es
tD

ra
yt
on

.
H
ill
in
gd
on

is
ho

m
e
to

H
ea
th
ro
w
A
ir
po

rt
an
d

th
e
la
rg
es
tR

A
F
ai
rs
ta
tio

n
at

RA
F
N
or
th
ol
t.

Th
e
es
tim

at
ed

th
e
po

pu
la
tio

n
of

H
ill
in
gd
on

is
26

6,
10

05
.T
he

re
is
a

si
gn
ifi
ca
nt
ly
la
rg
er

pr
op

or
tio

n
of

pe
op

le
in
yo
un

ge
ra

ge
gr
ou

ps
(5

19
ye
ar
s)
in
co
m
pa
ri
so
n
to

En
gl
an
d
an
d
Lo
nd

on
.T
he

po
pu

la
tio

n
of

ol
de

ra
ge

gr
ou

ps
(5
0+
)i
s
la
rg
er

th
an

Lo
nd

on
bu

ts
m
al
le
rt
ha
n
En
gl
an
d.
H
ow

ev
er
,

th
e
po

pu
la
tio

n
of

25
44

ye
ar

ol
ds

is
le
ss
th
an

th
e
Lo
nd

on
av
er
ag
e
bu

ts
til
l

la
rg
er

th
an

En
gl
an
d,
es
pe

ci
al
ly
th
e
fe
m
al
e
po

pu
la
tio

n.

Th
e
po

pu
la
tio

n
ag
ed

16
64

ye
ar
s
in
H
ill
in
gd
on

is
gr
ow

in
g
by

ap
pr
ox
im

at
el
y
1%

pe
r
an
nu

m
.
It
is
es
tim

at
ed

th
at

th
er
e
ar
e
cu
rr
en

tly
36

,2
00

pe
op

le
ag
ed

65
ye
ar

an
d
ov
er

in
th
e
Bo

ro
ug
h.

Th
is
nu

m
be

ri
s

pr
oj
ec
te
d
to

in
cr
ea
se

by
to

38
,6
00

7%
fr
om

20
12

to
20

17
.
Th
e
nu

m
be

r
of

pe
op

le
ag
ed

85
an
d
ov
er

is
ex
pe

ct
ed

to
in
cr
ea
se

to
5,
40

0
w
ith

in
th
is

pe
ri
od

11
%
.
89

%
of

th
e
ol
de

ra
du

lt
po

pu
la
tio

n
ar
e
w
hi
te

w
ith

th
e

re
m
ai
nd

er
co
m
in
g
fr
om

bl
ac
k
or

m
in
or
ity

et
hn

ic
(b
m
e)

ba
ck
gr
ou

nd
s.

5
O
N
S
20

10
m
id

ye
ar

po
pu

la
tio

n
es
tim

at
es

Page 181



10

It
is
es
tim

at
ed

th
at

th
er
e
ar
e
4,
77

8
ho

us
eh

ol
ds

w
ith

oc
cu
pa
nt
s
w
ho

ar
e

fr
ai
le
ld
er
ly
w
ith

in
th
e
bo

ro
ug
h.
N
ea
rly

a
qu

ar
te
r
of

th
es
e
ar
e
th
ou

gh
tt
o

be
liv
in
g
in
un

su
ita

bl
e
ho

us
in
g.

It
is
es
tim

at
ed

th
at

13
,4
95

ol
de

rp
eo

pl
e

ar
e
liv
in
g
al
on

e
in
H
ill
in
gd
on

.I
ti
s
pr
ed

ic
te
d
th
e
po

pu
la
tio

n
of

ol
de

r
pe

op
le
liv
in
g
al
on

e
w
ou

ld
ha
ve

in
cr
ea
se
d
by

6%
to

14
,3
13

by
20

16
.7
4%

of
H
ill
in
gd
on

’s
po

pu
la
tio

n
ag
ed

ov
er

60
ar
e
ow

ne
ro

cc
up

ie
rs
an
d
of

th
is

67
%
ow

n
th
ei
rh

om
es

ou
tr
ig
ht
.
A
pp

ro
xi
m
at
el
y
22

%
of

ol
de

ra
du

lts
liv
e
in

th
e
so
ci
al
re
nt
ed

se
ct
or

an
d
on

ly
4%

in
pr
iv
at
e
re
nt
ed

ac
co
m
m
od

at
io
n.

A
pp

ro
xi
m
at
el
y
14

%
of

ol
de

ra
du

lts
liv
e
on

th
ei
ro

w
n.
St
ro
ke

is
a
m
aj
or

ca
us
e
of

di
sa
bi
lit
y
an
d
in
20

10
/1
1
(t
he

la
st
ye
ar

fo
rw

hi
ch

va
lid
at
ed

da
ta

is
av
ai
la
bl
e)

3,
30

5
pe

op
le
w
er
e
re
po

rt
ed

by
G
Ps

as
liv
in
g
w
ith

st
ro
ke
.
Th
is
is

pr
oj
ec
te
d
to

in
cr
ea
se

to
4,
35

1
by

20
15

.C
ur
re
nt
ly
th
er
e
ar
e
12

,7
83

pe
op

le
ov
er

th
e
ag
e
of

65
w
ho

ha
ve

di
ab
et
es
.

BM
E
co
m
m
un

iti
es

m
ad
e
up

ap
pr
ox
im

at
el
y
32

%
of

th
e
po

pu
la
tio

n
of

H
ill
in
gd
on

in
20

11
,a
n
in
cr
ea
se

of
12

%
si
nc
e
20

01
.T
he

la
rg
es
te

th
ni
c

m
in
or
ity

co
m
m
un

ity
is
A
si
an

20
%
,o
fw

hi
ch

12
%
is
In
di
an
.T
he

Bl
ac
k

A
fr
ic
an

po
pu

la
tio

n
is
4%

of
th
e
to
ta
lp
op

ul
at
io
n.
A
fu
rt
he

r2
0%

in
cr
ea
se

is
pr
oj
ec
te
d
to

20
20

.T
he

re
ar
e
si
gn
ifi
ca
nt

nu
m
be

rs
of

as
yl
um

se
ek
er
s
an
d

re
fu
ge
es

in
H
ill
in
gd
on

pu
tt
in
g
si
gn
ifi
ca
nt

pr
es
su
re

on
pr
ov
id
er
s
in
te
rm

s
of

th
e
ne

ed
to

un
de

rs
ta
nd

an
d
re
sp
on

d
to

cu
ltu

ra
ld
iff
er
en

ce
s
an
d
ha
vi
ng

to
re
sp
on

d
to

in
di
vi
du

al
be

ha
vi
ou

rs
.

Li
fe

ex
pe

ct
an
cy

fo
rm

en
in
H
ill
in
gd
on

fo
r2

00
8
10

w
as

78
.7
ye
ar
s
w
hi
ch

w
as

si
m
ila
rt
o
Lo
nd

on
an
d
En

gl
an
d
av
er
ag
es
;a
nd

th
e
fe
m
al
e
lif
e

ex
pe

ct
an
cy

fo
rH

ill
in
gd
on

w
as

83
.4
ye
ar
s
si
gn
ifi
ca
nt
ly
hi
gh
er

th
an

th
e

En
gl
an
d
av
er
ag
e,
bu

ts
im

ila
rt
o
Lo
nd

on
av
er
ag
e.
Li
fe

ex
pe

ct
an
cy

fo
rm

en
an
d
w
om

en
ha
s
in
cr
ea
se
d
on

av
er
ag
e
by

at
le
as
t2

.5
ye
ar
s
du

rin
g
th
e
pa
st

15
ye
ar
s.
G
eo

gr
ap
hi
c
ar
ea
s
in
th
e
so
ut
h
of

th
e
bo

ro
ug
h
ha
ve

ge
ne

ra
lly

lo
w
er

lif
e
ex
pe

ct
an
cy

th
at

th
os
e
in
th
e
no

rt
h
an
d
w
hi
ls
tt
he

St
an
da
rd
is
ed

M
or
ta
lit
y
Ra

tio
(S
M
R)

fo
r
H
ill
in
gd
on

is
si
m
ila
rt
o
Lo
nd

on
an
d
En

gl
an
d
an
d

im
pr
ov
in
g,
th
e
SM

R
in
th
e
m
os
td

ep
riv

ed
co
m
m
un

iti
es

ha
s
be

en
w
or
se
ni
ng
.

H
ill
in
gd
on

is
15

7t
h
ou

to
f3

54
m
os
td

ep
ri
ve
d
di
st
ri
ct
s
in
En
gl
an
d
an
d
24

th

ou
to

f3
3
m
os
td

ep
riv

ed
Lo
nd

on
bo

ro
ug
hs
.H

ow
ev
er

it
is
co
ns
tit
ut
ed

of
de

m
og
ra
ph

ic
zo
ne

s
ra
ng
in
g
fr
om

ve
ry

de
pr
iv
ed

to
ve
ry

af
flu

en
t.
Th

e
no

rt
h
of

th
e
bo

ro
ug
h
is
se
m
ir
ur
al
w
ith

la
rg
e
se
ct
io
ns

of
gr
ee
n
be

lt
la
nd

;
th
e
so
ut
h
of

th
e
bo

ro
ug
h
is
m
or
e
ur
ba
n
an
d
de

ns
el
y
po

pu
la
te
d
w
ith

so
m
e

ar
ea
s
fa
lli
ng

in
th
e
m
os
td

ep
ri
ve
d
20

%
na
tio

na
lly
.
O
ve
ra

qu
ar
te
r

26
%

of
al
lc
hi
ld
re
n
in
H
ill
in
gd
on

ar
e
liv
in
g
in
po

ve
rt
y
as

co
m
pa
re
d
w
ith

22
%
in

En
gl
an
d
an
d
30

%
in
Lo
nd

on
.T
he

re
is
a
hi
gh

bu
rd
en

of
ho

us
eh

ol
ds

ne
ed

in
g
su
pp

or
tf
or

ph
ys
ic
al
di
sa
bi
lit
ie
s
in
cl
ud

in
g
fr
ai
le
ld
er
ly
fr
ai
la
du

lts
an
d
th
er
e
ar
e
si
gn
ifi
ca
nt

he
al
th

in
eq

ua
lit
ie
s
w
ith

in
th
e
bo

ro
ug
h
–
lif
e

ex
pe

ct
an
cy

ca
n
va
ry

by
as

m
uc
h
as

8.
1
ye
ar
s
fo
rm

al
es

be
tw

ee
n
w
ar
ds
,

an
d
7.
4
ye
ar
s
fo
rf
em

al
es
.

1.
3.
2
Pr
of
ile

of
m
en

ta
lh
ea
lt
h
ne

ed
in

H
ill
in
gd
on

Th
e
le
ve
lo
fd

ep
ri
va
tio

n
an
d
so
ci
al
st
at
us

of
pe

op
le
w
ith

in
a
pa
rt
ic
ul
ar

po
pu

la
tio

n
ha
s
a
si
gn
ifi
ca
nt

im
pa
ct
on

its
m
en

ta
lh
ea
lth

st
at
us

an
d

th
er
ef
or
e
its

ne
ed

fo
rm

en
ta
lh
ea
lth

se
rv
ic
es
.M

en
ta
l
he

al
th

ne
ed

in
H
ill
in
gd
on

is
es
tim

at
ed

to
be

18
pe

rc
en

tl
ow

er
th
an

En
gl
an
d
as

a
w
ho

le
fo
rt
he

fir
st
tw

o
in
di
ce
s
th
at

ar
e
ap
pl
ic
ab
le
to

m
en

ta
li
ll
he

al
th
–m

en
ta
l

ill
ne

ss
ne

ed
s
in
de

x
(M

IN
I)
an
d
m
en

ta
li
lln
es
s
ne

ed
s
in
de

x
20
00
(M

2K
).

Fu
nc
ti
on

al
ill
ne

ss

Ta
bl
e
1
be

lo
w
sh
ow

s
th
e
es
tim

at
e
of

w
ee
kl
y
pr
ev
al
en

ce
of

m
en

ta
lh
ea
lth

pr
ob

le
m
s
in
th
e
ag
e
ra
ng
e
16

64
ye
ar
s
us
ed

in
th
e
la
te
st
(2
00

8)
m
en

ta
l

he
al
th

jo
in
ts
tr
at
eg
ic
ne

ed
s
as
se
ss
m
en

t(
JS
N
A)

fo
rt
he

H
ill
in
gd
on

G
P

Page 182



11

re
gi
st
er
ed

po
pu

la
tio

n
6 .
W
ith

th
e
ad
ul
tp

op
ul
at
io
n
gr
ow

in
g
at

ap
pr
ox
im

at
el
y
1
pe

rc
en

tp
er

an
nu

m
an
d
a
hi
gh
er

ra
te

of
in
cr
ea
se

fo
r

ol
de

ra
du

lts
of

ap
pr
ox
im

at
el
y
7
pe

rc
en

tp
er

an
nu

m
,t
he

re
w
ill
ha
ve

be
en

a
sl
ig
ht
,b
ut

no
ts
ig
ni
fic
an
tc
ha
ng
e
in
th
es
e
fig
ur
es

to
20

12
.

Ta
bl
e
1:

Es
ti
m
at
e
of

th
e
in
ci
de

nc
e
of

fu
nc
ti
on

al
ill
ne

ss
in

H
ill
in
gd
on

In
ci
de

nc
e
of

Fu
nc
ti
on

al
Ill
ne

ss
in
H
ill
in
gd

on
Ps
yc
ho

ti
c
ill
ne

ss
73
0

M
ix
ed

an
xi
et
y
an

d
de

pr
es
si
on

16
,7
80

G
en

er
al
is
ed

de
pr
es
si
on

8,
57

0
D
ep

re
ss
iv
e
Ep

is
od

e
5,
11

0
A
ll
ph

ob
ia
s

3,
47

0
O
bs
es
si
ve

co
m
pu

ls
iv
e
di
so
rd
er

2,
29

0
Pa

ni
c
di
so
rd
er

1,
28

0
A
ll
N
eu

ro
si
s

31
,5
50

D
ru
g
de

pe
nd

en
ce

7,
66

0
A
lc
oh

ol
de

pe
nd

en
ce

14
,7
70

D
em

en
ti
a

It
is
es
tim

at
ed

th
at

th
er
e
ar
e
2,
58

4
ad
ul
ts
w
ith

de
m
en

tia
in
H
ill
in
gd
on

.
Pr
oj
ec
tio

ns
su
gg
es
tt
ha
tt
hi
s
nu

m
be

r
w
ill
in
cr
ea
se

by
ap
pr
ox
im

at
el
y
10

%
(2
40

pe
op

le
)b

et
w
ee
n
20

12
an
d
20

20
7 .
75

%
of

th
e
in
cr
ea
se

ca
n
be

at
tr
ib
ut
ed

to
pe

op
le
ag
ed

85
an
d
ov
er

w
ith

an
tic
ip
at
ed

gr
ow

th
of

ap
pr
ox
im

at
el
y
10

%
(f
ro
m

11
67

to
12

80
pe

op
le
)w

ith
in
th
is
pe

ri
od

.
Se
e

Ta
bl
e
2
be

lo
w
fo
re

st
im

at
ed

nu
m
be

rs
of

pe
op

le
w
ith

de
m
en

tia
in
th
e

H
ill
in
gd
on

po
pu

la
tio

n
20

08
to

20
25

.
Ta
bl
e
2:

Es
ti
m
at
ed

pr
ev
al
en

ce
of

de
m
en

ti
a
(a
ll
ag
es
)i
n
H
ill
in
gd
on

20
08

–
20

25
8

6
H
ill
in
gd
on

Jo
in
tS

tr
at
eg
ic
N
ee
ds

A
ss
es
sm

en
t,
H
ill
in
gd
on

PC
T
an
d
Lo
nd

on
Bo

ro
ug
h
of

H
ill
in
gd
on

,
20

08
7
Th
es
e
nu

m
be

rs
in
cl
ud

e
ad
ul
ts
ag
ed

un
de

r
65

w
ith

de
m
en

tia
bu

tt
he

nu
m
be

rs
ar
e
ve
ry

sm
al
l

(a
pp

ro
x.
55

)
8
So
ur
ce
s:
D
em

en
tia

U
K.

G
LA

lo
w
es
tim

at
e
po

pu
la
tio

ns
(2
00

8
ba
se
d)

pr
oj
ec
tio

ns
fo
r2

00
8
20

25

Ye
ar

Ea
rl
y

O
ns
et

M
ild

M
od

er
at
e

Se
ve
re

To
ta
l

In
cr
ea
se

on
20
12

(%
)

20
08

56
1,
32
8

77
6

30
8

2,
46

8
/

20
12

57
1,
39
2

81
0

32
5

2,
58

4
/

20
15

59
1,
41
4

83
1

33
4

2,
63

8
2.
9

20
20

63
1,
51
1

89
0

36
0

2,
82

4
10
.2

20
25

66
1,
61
2

95
1

38
7

17
.7

85
3
pe

op
le
–
30

%
of

th
e
es
tim

at
ed

nu
m
be

ro
fa
du

lts
w
er
e
re
gi
st
er
ed

w
ith

G
Ps

as
ha
vi
ng

de
m
en

tia
in
20

10
/1
1
(t
he

la
st
ye
ar

fo
r
w
hi
ch

va
lid
at
ed

da
ta

is
av
ai
la
bl
e)
.

Pe
op

le
w
it
h
le
ar
ni
ng

di
sa
bi
lit
ie
s
w
ho

ha
ve

de
m
en

ti
a

Pe
op

le
w
ith

le
ar
ni
ng

di
sa
bi
lit
ie
s
ar
e
m
or
e
su
sc
ep

tib
le
to

de
m
en

tia
as

th
ey

ag
e
m
or
e
qu

ic
kl
y
th
an

th
e
ge
ne

ra
lp
op

ul
at
io
n.

Pr
oj
ec
tio

ns
su
gg
es
tt
ha
t

th
e
nu

m
be

ro
fp

eo
pl
e
w
ith

le
ar
ni
ng

di
sa
bi
lit
ie
s
liv
in
g
in
to

ol
d
ag
e
is

in
cr
ea
si
ng

an
d
it
is
pr
ed

ic
te
d
th
at

th
er
e
w
ill
be

an
in
cr
ea
se

of
7%

fr
om

13
,4
95

to
14

,3
13

ol
de

r
pe

op
le
w
ith

le
ar
ni
ng

di
sa
bi
lit
ie
s
be

tw
ee
n
20

12
an
d
20

16
.

1.
4
Th

e
na

ti
on

al
co
nt
ex
tf
or

th
e
de

liv
er
y
of

m
en

ta
lh

ea
lt
h
se
rv
ic
es

fo
r

ad
ul
ts
of

al
la
ge
s

1.
4.
1
Th

e
na

ti
on

al
co
nt
ex
tf
or

th
e
de

liv
er
y
of

se
rv
ic
es

fo
r
ad

ul
ts
w
it
h

m
en

ta
lh

ea
lt
h
pr
ob

le
m
s

Page 183



12

Th
e
im

po
rt
an
ce

of
m
en

ta
lw

el
lb
ei
ng

fo
r
in
di
vi
du

al
s
an
d
th
e
co
un

tr
y’
s

so
ci
al
an
d
ec
on

om
ic
st
at
us

ha
s
be

en
in
cr
ea
si
ng
ly
re
co
gn
is
ed

ov
er

th
e
la
st

15
ye
ar
s.

A
s
a
re
su
lt,

im
pr
ov
em

en
to

fm
en

ta
lh
ea
lth

se
rv
ic
es

ha
s

in
cr
ea
si
ng
ly
be

en
pr
io
ri
tis
ed

by
th
e
go
ve
rn
m
en

t.
19

99
sa
w
th
e

pu
bl
ic
at
io
n
of

th
e
N
at
io
na
lS
er
vi
ce

Fr
am

ew
or
k
fo
rM

en
ta
lH

ea
lth

Se
rv
ic
es

9
(N
SF
).
Th
is
sp
ec
ifi
ed

th
e
ap
pr
oa
ch

to
de

liv
er
y
an
d
th
e
ra
ng
e
of

se
rv
ic
es

th
at

sh
ou

ld
be

co
m
m
is
si
on

ed
to

en
su
re

th
at

bo
th

pe
op

le
w
ith

co
m
m
on

m
en

ta
lh
ea
lth

pr
ob

le
m
s
an
d
pe

op
le
w
ith

se
ri
ou

s
m
en

ta
li
lln
es
s

w
er
e
ab
le
to

ac
ce
ss
th
e
as
se
ss
m
en

t,
tr
ea
tm

en
ta

nd
su
pp

or
tt
he

y
ne

ed
.

A
lm

os
t1

0
ye
ar
s
la
te
r,
N
ew

H
or
iz
on

s:
A
sh
ar
ed

vi
si
on

fo
rm

en
ta
lh
ea
lth

se
rv
ic
es

10
w
as

pu
bl
is
he

d.
Th

is
la
id
ou

ta
m
ul
ti
st
ak
eh

ol
de

rv
is
io
n
fo
r

m
en

ta
lh
ea
lth

se
rv
ic
es

an
d
ad
op

te
d
a
br
oa
d
vi
ew

of
th
e
ac
tio

n
ne

ed
ed

to
pr
om

ot
e
th
e
em

ot
io
na
lw

el
lb
ei
ng

an
d
m
en

ta
lh
ea
lth

of
th
e
na
tio

n
as

a
w
ho

le
,c
le
ar
ly
sp
ec
ify
in
g
th
e
ro
le
of

w
id
er

pu
bl
ic
he

al
th

an
d
co
m
m
un

ity
in
fr
as
tr
uc
tu
re
s
in
pr
om

ot
in
g
em

ot
io
na
lw

el
lb
ei
ng

an
d
m
en

ta
lh
ea
lth

.I
n

20
11

,t
he

pu
bl
ic
he

al
th

st
ra
te
gy
,N

o
he

al
th

w
ith

ou
tm

en
ta
lh
ea
lth

11

re
in
fo
rc
ed

th
is
m
es
sa
ge

an
d
la
id
ou

tp
la
ns

to
en

su
re

im
pr
ov
em

en
t.

O
ve
rt
he

pa
st
10

ye
ar
s,
in
cr
ea
si
ng

im
po

rt
an
ce

ha
s
be

en
gi
ve
n
to

de
liv
er
in
g
pe

rs
on

al
is
ed

,p
er
so
n
ce
nt
re
d,
ef
fe
ct
iv
el
y
co

or
di
na
te
d

as
se
ss
m
en

t,
tr
ea
tm

en
ta

nd
su
pp

or
tf
or

in
di
vi
du

al
s
an
d
th
ei
r
ca
re
rs
.I
n

ad
di
tio

n,
a
“l
ife

co
ur
se
”
ap
pr
oa
ch

to
m
en

ta
lh
ea
lth

se
rv
ic
es

pr
ov
is
io
n
ha
s

be
en

ad
op

te
d.
Th
er
e
ha
s
al
so

be
en

an
in
cr
ea
si
ng

e m
ph

as
is
on

en
su
ri
ng

th
e
ef
fe
ct
iv
en

es
s
an
d
ef
fic
ie
nc
y
of

se
rv
ic
es
,w

ith
a
fo
cu
s
on

en
su
ri
ng

an
d

m
ea
su
rin

g
re
co
ve
ry

fr
om

m
en

ta
lh
ea
lth

pr
ob

le
m
s.
Id
en

tif
yi
ng

w
ay
s
of

m
ea
su
rin

g
ou

tc
om

es
fo
ri
nd

iv
id
ua
ls
an
d
th
e
po

pu
la
tio

n
as

a
w
ho

le
ha
s

th
er
ef
or
e
be

co
m
e
in
cr
ea
si
ng
ly
im

po
rt
an
t.

9
Th

e
N
at
io
na
lS
er
vi
ce
s
Fr
am

ew
or
k
fo
rM

en
ta
lH

ea
lth

Se
rv
ic
es

in
En

gl
an
d,
D
H
,1
99

9
10
N
ew

H
or
iz
on

s:
A
sh
ar
ed

vi
si
on

fo
r
m
en

ta
lh
ea
lth

se
rv
ic
es
,D

H
,x
xx

11
N
o
he

al
th

w
ith

ou
tm

en
ta
lh
ea
lth

,D
H
,2
01

1

D
el
iv
er
y
of

pe
rs
on

al
is
ed

,r
ec
ov
er
y
an
d
ou

tc
om

es
or
ie
nt
at
ed

se
rv
ic
es

is
th
e
fo
cu
s
of

th
e
20

11
,m

en
ta
lh
ea
lth

st
ra
te
gy
,N

o
he

al
th

w
ith

ou
tm

en
ta
l

he
al
th
:a

cr
os
s
go
ve
rn
m
en

tm
en

ta
lh
ea
lth

ou
tc
om

es
st
ra
te
gy

fo
rp

eo
pl
e

of
al
la
ge
s1

2
an
d
th
e
20

12
im

pl
em

en
ta
tio

n
gu
id
e1

3 .
O
ve
rt
hi
s
pe

ri
od

,t
he

ro
le
of

ca
re
rs
an
d
th
e
ne

ed
to

su
pp

or
tt
he

m
,t
he

ne
ed

to
re
co
gn
is
e
an
d

re
sp
on

d
to

in
di
vi
du

al
pr
ef
er
en

ce
s
an
d
lif
e
ch
oi
ce
s,
in
cl
ud

in
g
re
sp
on

di
ng

to
th
e
ne

ed
s
of

pe
op

le
fr
om

di
ff
er
en

tb
la
ck

m
in
or
ity

an
d
et
hn

ic
ba
ck
gr
ou

nd
s
an
d
th
e
ne

ed
to

en
su
re

pr
ot
ec
tio

n
(s
af
eg
ua
rd
in
g
of

th
e

rig
ht
s)
of

in
di
vi
du

al
s
w
ho

ar
e
vu
ln
er
ab
le
as

a
re
su
lt
of

th
ei
r
m
en

ta
lh
ea
lth

pr
ob

le
m
s
ha
ve

co
m
e
to

th
e
fo
re
.

Th
e
co
nc
ep

to
fr
ec
ov
er
y
ha
s
de

ve
lo
pe

d
si
gn
ifi
ca
nt
ly
ov
er

th
is
pe

ri
od

.I
n

m
en

ta
lh
ea
lth

,‘
re
co
ve
ry
’i
s
su
m
m
ar
is
ed

in
Fi
gu
re

2
be

lo
w
.

Fi
gu
re

2:
Th

e
co
nc
ep

to
fr
ec
ov
er
y
in
m
en

ta
lh

ea
lt
h
14

In
20

11
,T
he

Ce
nt
re

fo
r
M
en

ta
lH

ea
lth

an
d
th
e
N
H
S
Co

nf
ed

er
at
io
n’
s

M
en

ta
lH

ea
lth

N
et
w
or
k
w
er
e
co
m
m
is
si
on

ed
to

pi
lo
ta

n
ap
pr
oa
ch

to
or
ga
ni
sa
tio

na
lc
ha
ng
e
ba
se
d
on

pr
om

ot
in
g
re
co
ve
ry
.T
he

Im
pl
em

en
tin

g
Re

co
ve
ry

Th
ro
ug
h
O
rg
an
is
at
io
na
lC
ha
ng
e
(Im

RO
C)

pr
oj
ec
ti
s
a
ne

w

12
N
o
he

al
th

w
ith

ou
tm

en
ta
lh
ea
lth

:a
cr
os
s
go
ve
rn
m
en

tm
en

ta
lh
ea
lth

ou
tc
om

es
st
ra
te
gy

fo
r
pe

op
le

of
al
la
ge
s,
D
H
,2
01

1
13
N
o
he

al
th

w
ith

ou
tm

en
ta
lh
ea
lth

:a
cr
os
s
go
ve
rn
m
en

tm
en

ta
lh
ea
lth

ou
tc
om

es
st
ra
te
gy

fo
r
pe

op
le

of
al
la
ge
s:
Im

pl
em

en
ta
tio

n
G
ui
de

,D
H
,2
01

2
14
Su
pp

or
tin

g
Re

co
ve
ry

in
M
en

ta
lH

ea
lth

,M
en

ta
lH

ea
lth

N
et
w
or
k,
N
H
S
Co

nf
ed

er
at
io
n,
Br
ie
fin

g
Is
su
e

24
4,
Ju
ne

20
12

RE
CO

V
ER

Y
is
th
e
pr
oc
es
s
th
ro
ug
h
w
hi
ch

pe
op

le
fin

d
w
ay
s
of

liv
in
g
m
ea
ni
ng
fu
ll
iv
es

w
it
h
or

w
it
ho

ut
on

go
in
g
sy
m
pt
om

s
of

th
ei
rc
on

di
ti
on

.U
se
rs
of

m
en

ta
lh
ea
lt
h

se
rv
ic
es

ha
ve

id
en

ti
fie

d
3
ke
y
pr
in
ci
pl
es
:

Th
e
co
nt
in
ui
ng

pr
es
en

ce
of

ho
pe

th
at

it
is
po

ss
ib
le
to

pu
rs
ue

on
e’
s

pe
rs
on

al
go
al
s
an

d
am

bi
ti
on

s
Th

e
ne

ed
to

m
ai
nt
ai
n
a
se
ns
e
of

co
nt
ro
lo
ve
r
on

e’
s
lif
e
an

d
on

e’
s

sy
m
pt
om

s
Th

e
im

po
rt
an

ce
of

ha
vi
ng

op
po

rt
un

it
ie
s
to

bu
ild

a
lif
e
‘b
ey
on

d
ill
ne

ss
’

Page 184



13

ap
pr
oa
ch

to
he

lp
in
g
pe

op
le
w
ith

m
en

ta
lh
ea
lth

pr
ob

le
m
s
th
at

ai
m
s
to

ch
an
ge

ho
w
th
e
N
at
io
na
lH

ea
lth

Se
rv
ic
e
(N
H
S)
op

er
at
es

so
it
ca
n
fo
cu
s

m
or
e
on

he
lp
in
g
th
os
e
pe

op
le
w
ith

th
ei
r
re
co
ve
ry
.
O
rg
an
is
at
io
ns

th
at

ha
ve

ad
op

te
d
th
is
ap
pr
oa
ch

ha
ve

be
en

sh
ow

n
to

su
pp

or
ts
ig
ni
fic
an
t

im
pr
ov
em

en
tt
o
th
e
m
en

ta
lh
ea
lth

st
at
us

an
d
qu

al
ity

of
lif
e
of

se
rv
ic
e

us
er
s.

Re
co
ve
ry

is
on

e
of

6
ou

tc
om

es
re
qu

ir
ed

fo
rp

eo
pl
e
w
ith

m
en

ta
lh
ea
lth

pr
ob

le
m
s
th
at

ha
ve

be
en

cl
ea
rl
y
sp
ec
ifi
ed

in
N
o
he

al
th

w
ith

ou
tm

en
ta
l

he
al
th
:a

cr
os
s
go
ve
rn
m
en

tm
en

ta
lh
ea
lth

ou
tc
om

es
st
ra
te
gy

fo
rp

eo
pl
e

of
al
la
ge
s1

5 .
Se
e
Fi
gu
re

3
be

lo
w
.

Fi
gu
re

3:
O
ut
co
m
es

fo
r
pe

op
le
w
it
h
m
en

ta
lh

ea
lt
h
pr
ob

le
m
s
20

12
16

In
es
se
nc
e,
th
is
m
ea
ns

th
at

“m
or
e
pe

op
le
w
ho

de
ve
lo
p
m
en

ta
lh
ea
lth

pr
ob

le
m
s
w
ill
ha
ve

a
go
od

qu
al
ity

of
lif
e
–
gr
ea
te
ra

bi
lit
y
to

m
an
ag
e
th
ei
r

ow
n
liv
es
,s
tr
on

ge
rs
oc
ia
lr
el
at
io
ns
hi
ps
,a

gr
ea
te
rs
en

se
of

pu
rp
os
e,
th
e

sk
ill
s
th
ey

ne
ed

fo
rl
iv
in
g
an
d
w
or
ki
ng
,i
m
pr
ov
ed

ch
an
ce
s
in
ed

uc
at
io
n,

be
tt
er

em
pl
oy
m
en

tr
at
es
,a
nd

a
su
it a

bl
e
an
d
st
ab
le
pl
ac
e
to

liv
e”

17
.

A
ke
y
fe
at
ur
e
of

th
e
cu
rr
en

tc
on

te
xt
fo
r
m
en

ta
lh
ea
lth

se
rv
ic
es

de
liv
er
y
is

th
e
fo
cu
s
on

ea
rl
y
in
te
rv
en

tio
n
an
d
th
e
pr
om

ot
io
n
of

he
al
th

an
d

w
el
lb
ei
ng
.T
he

re
is
an

in
cr
ea
se
d
un

de
rs
ta
nd

in
g
of

th
e
im

pa
ct
of

m
en

ta
l

15
N
o
he

al
th

w
ith

ou
tm

en
ta
lh
ea
lth

:a
cr
os
s
G
ov
er
nm

en
tm

en
ta
lh
ea
lth

ou
tc
om

es
st
ra
te
gy

fo
r
pe

op
le

of
al
la
ge
s,
D
H
,2
01

1
16
N
o
he

al
th

w
ith

ou
tm

en
ta
lh
ea
lth

:a
cr
os
s
go
ve
rn
m
en

tm
en

ta
lh
ea
lth

ou
tc
om

es
st
ra
te
gy

fo
r
pe

op
le

of
al
la
ge
s:
Im

pl
em

en
ta
tio

n
pl
an
,D

H
,2
01

2
17
N
o
he

al
th

w
ith

ou
tm

en
ta
lh
ea
lth

:a
cr
os
s
go
ve
rn
m
en

tm
en

ta
lh
ea
lth

ou
tc
om

es
st
ra
te
gy

fo
r
pe

op
le

of
al
la
ge
s:
Im

pl
em

en
ta
tio

n
pl
an
,D

H
,2
01

2

he
al
th

on
ph

ys
ic
al
he

al
th

an
d
th
e
ov
er
al
lw

el
lb
ei
ng

of
th
e
po

pu
la
tio

n.
Re

sp
on

si
bi
lit
y
fo
ra

dd
re
ss
in
g
th
is
ar
ea

of
he

al
th

an
d
so
ci
al
ca
re

po
lic
y
lie
s

w
ith

pu
bl
ic
he

al
th

de
pa
rt
m
en

ts
.

Re
sp
on

si
bi
lit
y
fo
rp

ub
lic

he
al
th

w
ill
be

tr
an
sf
er
re
d
fr
om

th
e
N
H
S
to

lo
ca
l

au
th
or
iti
es

fr
om

A
pr
il
20

13
.H

ea
lth

an
d
W
el
lb
ei
ng

Bo
ar
ds

(H
W
Bs
),

br
in
gi
ng

to
ge
th
er

lo
ca
lc
ou

nc
ill
or
s,
G
Ps

an
d
di
re
ct
or
s
of

pu
bl
ic
he

al
th
,

ad
ul
ta

nd
ch
ild
re
n'
s
se
rv
ic
es

ha
ve

be
en

es
ta
bl
is
he

d
to

en
su
re

a
co

or
di
na
te
d
ap
pr
oa
ch

to
ad
dr
es
si
ng

th
e
he

al
th

an
d
w
el
lb
ei
ng

of
lo
ca
l

co
m
m
un

iti
es
.T
he

H
W
Bs

ai
m

to
w
or
k
w
ith

th
e
lo
ca
lc
om

m
un

ity
to

im
pr
ov
e
th
e
he

al
th

an
d
w
el
lb
ei
ng

of
th
e
lo
ca
lp
op

ul
at
io
n
an
d
re
du

ce
he

al
th

in
eq

ua
lit
ie
s.
Th
ey

al
so

ha
ve

a
re
sp
on

si
bi
lit
y
to

pr
om

ot
e
in
te
gr
at
ed

ap
pr
oa
ch
es

to
he

al
th

an
d
so
ci
al
ca
re

se
rv
ic
es

an
d
pr
ov
id
e
a
se
tt
in
g
to

w
or
k
w
ith

w
id
er

pa
rt
ne

rs
to

ad
dr
es
s
th
e
ot
he

rk
ey

in
flu

en
ce
s
on

he
al
th

su
ch

as
ho

us
in
g
an
d
ed

uc
at
io
n.
In
or
de

r
to

id
en

tif
y
lo
ca
lp
rio

rit
ie
s,
th
e

H
W
Bs

ar
e
re
qu

ir
ed

to
un

de
rt
ak
e
a
de

ta
ile
d
as
se
ss
m
en

to
fl
oc
al
ne

ed
s

(J
SN

A)
to

as
si
st
w
ith

th
e
id
en

tif
ic
at
io
n
of

lo
ca
lp
rio

rit
ie
s
an
d
ho

w
th
ey

ca
n

be
ad
dr
es
se
d.
Th

e
JS
N
A
th
er
ef
or
e
un

de
rp
in
s
th
e
he

al
th

an
d
w
el
lb
ei
ng

st
ra
te
gy
.

1.
4.
2
Th

e
na

ti
on

al
co
nt
ex
tf
or

th
e
de

liv
er
y
of

m
en

ta
lh

ea
lt
h
se
rv
ic
es

fo
r

ol
de

r
ad

ul
ts
w
it
h
m
en

ta
lh
ea
lt
h
pr
ob

le
m
s

Im
pr
ov
in
g
m
en

ta
lh
ea
lth

se
r v
ic
es

fo
ro

ld
er

pe
op

le
ha
s
be

en
pr
io
ri
tis
ed

re
ce
nt
ly
.S
ta
nd

ar
d
Se
ve
n
of

th
e
O
ld
er

Pe
op

le
’s
N
at
io
na
lS
er
vi
ce

Fr
am

ew
or
k1

8
an
d
la
te
rp

ub
lic
at
io
ns

su
ch

as
Fo
rg
et

M
e
N
ot

19
Se
cu
rin

g
Be

tt
er

M
en

ta
lH

ea
lth

fo
rO

ld
er

A
du

lts
20
,E
ve
ry
bo

dy
’s
Bu

si
ne

ss
21
an
d

Ra
is
in
g
th
e
St
an
da
rd

22
sp
ec
ifi
ca
lly

ad
dr
es
se
d
th
e
m
en

ta
lh
ea
lth

ne
ed

s
of

18
O
ld
er

Pe
op

le
’s
N
at
io
na
lS
er
vi
ce

Fr
am

ew
or
k
D
H
,2
00

1,
Lo
nd

on
19
“F
or
ge
tM

e
N
ot
”,
A
ud

it
Co

m
m
is
si
on

,2
00

0,
20

02
,L
on

do
n

20
“S
ec
ur
in
g
Be

tt
er

M
en

ta
lH

ea
lth

fo
rO

ld
er

A
du

lts
”,
D
H
,2
00

5,
Lo
nd

on
21
“E
ve
ry
bo

dy
’s
Bu

si
ne

ss
”,
CS
IP
,2
00

5,
Lo
nd

on
22
“R
ai
si
ng

th
e
St
an
da
rd
”
Ro

ya
lC
ol
le
ge

of
Ps
yc
hi
at
ri
st
s,
20

06
,L
on

do
n

M
or
e
pe

op
le
w
ill
ha

ve
go
od

m
en

ta
lh
ea
lt
h

M
or
e
pe

op
le
w
it
h
m
en

ta
lh
ea
lt
h
pr
ob

le
m
s
w
ill
re
co
ve
r

M
or
e
pe

op
le
w
it
h
m
en

ta
lh
ea
lt
h
pr
ob

le
m
s
w
ill
ha

ve
go
od

ph
ys
ic
al
he

al
th

M
or
e
pe

op
le
w
ill
ha

ve
a
po

si
ti
ve

ex
pe

ri
en

ce
of

ca
re

an
d
su
pp

or
t

Fe
w
er

pe
op

le
w
ill
su
ff
er

av
oi
da

bl
e
ha

rm
Fe
w
er

pe
op

le
w
ill
ex
pe

ri
en

ce
st
ig
m
a
an

d
di
sc
ri
m
in
at
io
n

Page 185



14

ol
de

ra
du

lts
.
Th
es
e
do

cu
m
en

ts
w
er
e
fo
llo
w
ed

by
th
e
Cl
in
ic
al
G
ui
de

lin
e

42
:D

em
en

tia
,s
up

po
rt
in
g
pe

op
le
w
ith

de
m
en

tia
an
d
th
ei
r
ca
re
rs
in
he

al
th

an
d
so
ci
al
ca
re

23
.T
hi
s
pu

bl
ic
at
io
n
id
en

tif
ie
d
ad
dr
es
si
ng

di
sc
ri
m
in
at
io
n,

tr
ai
ni
ng
,e
ns
ur
in
g
va
lid

co
ns
en

tf
or

tr
ea
tm

en
t,
im

pr
ov
in
g
ca
re
r

as
se
ss
m
en

ta
nd

su
pp

or
t,
co

or
di
na
tio

n
an
d
in
te
gr
at
io
n
of

he
al
th

an
d

so
ci
al
ca
re

as
pr
io
rit
ie
s
fo
ri
m
pr
ov
em

en
to

fd
em

en
tia

ca
re
.
A
si
ng
le
po

in
t

of
re
fe
rr
al
fo
rd

em
en

tia
vi
a
m
em

or
y
cl
in
ic
s
w
as

id
en

tif
ie
d
as

an
es
se
nt
ia
l

se
rv
ic
e
co
m
po

ne
nt
.

Im
pr
ov
in
g
M
en

ta
lW

el
lb
ei
ng

an
d
O
ld
er

Pe
op

le
24
co
m
pl
em

en
te
d
th
e

gu
id
an
ce

in
th
e
N
IC
E/
SC
IE
Cl
in
ic
al
G
ui
de

lin
e,
pr
om

ot
in
g
th
e
de

ve
lo
pm

en
t

an
d
re
te
nt
io
n
of

sk
ill
s
of

da
ily

liv
in
g
by
:

In
cr
ea
si
ng

ac
ce
ss
to

re
lia
bl
e
in
fo
rm

at
io
n
ab
ou

tm
ee
tin

g
he

al
th

ca
re

ne
ed

s,
nu

tr
iti
on

,p
er
so
na
lc
ar
e,
st
ay
in
g
ac
tiv

e
Ac
ce
ss
in
g
se
rv
ic
es

an
d
be

ne
fit
s,
ho

m
e
an
d
co
m
m
un

ity
sa
fe
ty

an
d

lo
ca
lt
ra
ns
po

rt
sc
he

m
es

D
ev
el
op

in
g
ta
ilo
re
d
ex
er
ci
se

an
d
ph

ys
ic
al
ac
tiv

ity
pr
og
ra
m
m
es

fo
r

an
d
w
ith

in
di
vi
du

al
s

Th
e
pr
ov
is
io
n
of

tr
ai
ni
ng

ap
pr
op

ria
te

to
th
ei
r
ro
le
to

de
liv
er

th
e

ab
ov
e
fo
ra

ll
pr
of
es
si
on

al
s
in
vo
lv
ed

in
th
e
ca
re

of
ol
de

rp
eo

pl
e

In
20

08
,T
ra
ns
fo
rm

in
g
th
e
Q
ua
lit
y
of

D
em

en
tia

Ca
re
:C

on
su
lta

tio
n
on

a
N
at
io
na
lD

em
en

tia
St
ra
te
gy

25
,p
ro
po

se
d
im

pr
ov
em

en
ts
to

th
e
qu

al
ity

of
de

m
en

tia
ca
re
.I
n
20

09
,T
he

N
at
io
na
lD

em
en

tia
St
ra
te
gy

26
w
as

pu
bl
is
he

d.
Th
is
id
en

tif
ie
d
17

ob
je
ct
iv
es

to
en

su
re

th
at

pe
op

le
w
ith

de
m
en

tia
an
d

th
ei
r
ca
re
rs
re
ce
iv
e
ef
fe
ct
iv
e
tr
ea
tm

en
ta

nd
su
pp

or
t.
Se
e
Fi
gu
re

4
be

lo
w

an
d
Ap

pe
nd

ix
1.

23
Cl
in
ic
al
G
ui
de

lin
e
42
:
D
em

en
tia

:s
up

po
rt
in
g
pe

op
le
w
ith

de
m
en

tia
an
d
th
ei
rc
ar
er
s
in
he

al
th

an
d

so
ci
al
ca
re
,N

IC
E/
SC
IE
,2
00

6
24
Pu

bl
ic
H
ea
lth

G
ui
da
nc
e
16

:I
m
pr
ov
in
g
M
en

ta
lW

el
lb
ei
ng

an
d
O
ld
er

Pe
op

le
,N

IC
E,
20

08
,L
on

do
n

25
Tr
an
sf
or
m
in
g
th
e
Q
ua
lit
y
of

D
em

en
tia

Ca
re
:C

on
su
lta

tio
n
on

a
N
at
io
na
lD

em
en

tia
St
ra
te
gy
”,

D
H
/C
SL
G
&
CP

/S
CP

I/
SR

20
08

26
Li
vi
ng

w
el
lw

ith
de

m
en

tia
:A

N
at
io
na
lD

em
en

tia
St
ra
te
gy
,D

H
,2
00

9

Fi
gu
re

4:
Su
m
m
ar
y
of

O
bj
ec
ti
ve
s:
liv
in
g
w
el
lw

it
h
de

m
en

ti
a2

7

O
bj
ec
tiv

e
1

Im
pr
ov
in
g
pu

bl
ic
an
d
pr
of
es
si
on

al
aw

ar
en

es
s
an
d
un

de
rs
ta
nd

in
g

of
de

m
en

tia
O
bj
ec
tiv

e
2

G
oo

d
qu

al
ity

ea
rly

di
ag
no

si
s
an
d
in
te
rv
en

tio
n
fo
ra

ll
O
bj
ec
tiv

e
3

G
oo

d
qu

al
ity

in
fo
rm

at
io
n
fo
rt
ho

se
w
ith

di
ag
no

se
d
de

m
en

tia
an
d
th
ei
rc
ar
er
s

O
bj
ec
tiv

e
4

En
ab
lin
g
ea
sy

ac
ce
ss
to

ca
re
,s
up

po
rt
an
d
ad
vi
ce

fo
llo
w
in
g
di
ag
no

si
s

O
bj
ec
tiv

e
5

D
ev
el
op

m
en

to
fs
tr
uc
tu
re
d
pe

er
su
pp

or
ta

nd
le
ar
ni
ng

ne
tw

or
ks

O
bj
ec
tiv

e
6

Im
pr
ov
ed

co
m
m
un

ity
pe

rs
on

al
su
pp

or
ts
er
vi
ce
s

O
bj
ec
tiv

e
7

Im
pl
em

en
tin

g
th
e
Ca
re
rs
’S
tr
at
eg
y

O
bj
ec
tiv

e
8

Im
pr
ov
ed

qu
al
ity

of
ca
re

fo
rp

eo
pl
e
w
ith

de
m
en

tia
in
ge
ne

ra
l

ho
sp
ita

ls
O
bj
ec
tiv

e
9

Im
pr
ov
ed

in
te
rm

ed
ia
te

ca
re

fo
rp

eo
pl
e
w
ith

de
m
en

tia
O
bj
ec
tiv

e
10

Co
ns
id
er
in
g
th
e
po

te
nt
ia
lf
or

ho
us
in
g
su
pp

or
t,
ho

us
in
g
re
la
te
d

se
rv
ic
es

an
d
te
le
ca
re

to
su
pp

or
tp

eo
pl
e
w
ith

de
m
en

tia
an
d
th
ei
rc
ar
er
s

O
bj
ec
tiv

e
11

Li
vi
ng

w
el
lw

ith
de

m
en

tia
in
ca
re

ho
m
es

O
bj
ec
tiv

e
12

Im
pr
ov
ed

en
d
of

lif
e
ca
re

fo
rp

eo
pl
e
w
ith

de
m
en

tia
O
bj
ec
tiv

e
13

A
n
in
fo
rm

ed
an
d
ef
fe
ct
iv
e
w
or
kf
or
ce

fo
rp

eo
pl
e
w
ith

de
m
en

tia
O
bj
ec
tiv

e
14

A
jo
in
tc
om

m
is
si
on

in
g
st
ra
te
gy

fo
rd

em
en

tia
O
bj
ec
tiv

e
15

Im
pr
ov
ed

as
se
ss
m
en

ta
nd

re
gu
la
tio

n
of

he
al
th

an
d
ca
re

se
rv
ic
es

an
d
of

ho
w
sy
st
em

s
ar
e
w
or
ki
ng

fo
rp

eo
pl
e
w
ith

de
m
en

tia
an
d
th
ei
rc
ar
er
s

O
bj
ec
tiv

e
16

A
cl
ea
rp

ic
tu
re

of
re
se
ar
ch

ev
id
en

ce
an
d
ne

ed
s

O
bj
ec
tiv

e
17

Ef
fe
ct
iv
e
na
tio

na
la
nd

re
gi
on

al
su
pp

or
tf
or

im
pl
em

en
ta
tio

n
of

th
e
St
ra
te
gy

1.
5
Th

e
lo
ca
lc
on

te
xt

fo
r
th
e
de

liv
er
y
of

m
en

ta
lh
ea
lt
h
se
rv
ic
es

fo
r
ad

ul
ts

of
al
la
ge
s
w
it
h
m
en

ta
lh
ea
lt
h
pr
ob

le
m
s

H
ill
in
gd
on

CC
G
an
d
LB
H
re
co
gn
is
e
th
e
co
nn

ec
tio

n
be

tw
ee
n
br
oa
de

r
co
m
m
un

ity
,e
nv
ir
on

m
en

ta
la
nd

so
ci
al
fa
ct
or
s
an
d
he

al
th

an
d
th
e

co
nn

ec
tio

n
be

tw
ee
n
ph

ys
ic
al
an
d
m
en

ta
lw

el
lb
ei
ng

.T
he

tw
o

or
ga
ni
sa
tio

ns
ar
e
th
er
ef
or
e
in
cr
ea
si
ng
ly
ad
op

tin
g
a
jo
in
ta

pp
ro
ac
h
an
d

27
Li
vi
ng

w
el
lw

ith
de

m
en

tia
:A

N
at
io
na
lD

em
en

tia
St
ra
te
gy
,D

H
,2
00

9

Page 186



15

id
en

tif
yi
ng

cr
os
s
cu
tt
in
g
th
em

es
an
d
a
jo
in
tv
is
io
n.
Se
e
Fi
gu
re
s
5
to

7
be

lo
w
.

Fi
gu
re

5:
H
ill
in
gd
on

CC
G
an

d
LB
H
jo
in
tv

is
io
n

A
re
ce
nt

ex
er
ci
se

ha
s
id
en

tif
ie
d
th
e
pr
io
rit
ie
s
fo
rh

ea
lth

an
d
w
el
lb
ei
ng
.

Se
e
Fi
gu
re

6
be

lo
w
.

Fi
gu
re

6:
Pr
io
ri
ty

ar
ea
s
fo
r
ac
ti
on

re
le
va
nt

to
m
en

ta
lh
ea
lt
h
fr
om

th
e

JS
N
A

Ch
ild

re
n
en

ga
ge
d
in
ri
sk
y
be

ha
vi
ou

r:
To
o
m
an
y
yo
un

g
pe

op
le
en

ga
ge

in
po

te
nt
ia
lly

ha
rm

fu
lb
eh

av
io
ur
s
th
at

ca
n
ris
k
th
ei
rh

ea
lth

,s
uc
h
as

al
co
ho

la
bu

se
,d
ru
g
ta
ki
ng
,

sm
ok
in
g,
ta
ki
ng

ris
ks

w
ith

se
xu
al
be

ha
vi
ou

ro
rb

ei
ng

ov
er
w
ei
gh
t.

D
em

en
ti
a:
A
s
w
e
liv
e
lo
ng
er
,m

or
e
of

us
w
ill
su
ff
er

fr
om

de
m
en

tia
,a
nd

w
e
ar
e
no

t
cu
rr
en

tly
do

in
g
en

ou
gh

to
di
ag
no

se
or

su
pp

or
ti
ts
tr
ea
tm

en
t

Ph
ys
ic
al
ac
ti
vi
ty
:I
fw

e
ca
n
in
cr
ea
se

th
e
am

ou
nt

of
ph

ys
ic
al
ac
tiv
ity

fo
rp

eo
pl
e,
th
en

w
e

ca
n
im

pr
ov
e
ph

ys
ic
al
an
d
m
en

ta
lh
ea
lth

an
d
re
du

ce
ch
ro
ni
c
di
se
as
e

O
be

si
ty
:O

be
si
ty
is
th
e
m
os
tw

id
es
pr
ea
d
th
re
at

to
th
e
he

al
th

an
d
w
el
lb
ei
ng

of
th
e

po
pu

la
tio

n
A
du

lt
an

d
Ch

ild
M
en

ta
lH

ea
lt
h:

M
en

ta
li
lln
es
s
is
th
e
la
rg
es
ts
in
gl
e
ca
us
e
of

di
sa
bi
lit
y
in

ou
rs
oc
ie
ty
,a
nd

w
e
ca
n
be

m
or
e
im

ag
in
at
iv
e
in
th
e
de

si
gn

of
se
rv
ic
es

to
su
pp

or
ta

du
lts

an
d
ch
ild
re
n

O
ld
er

Pe
op

le
in
cl
ud

in
g
si
gh
tl
os
s:
W
ith

m
or
e
of

us
liv
in
g
lo
ng
er
,t
he

ra
ng
e
of

se
rv
ic
es

fo
ro

ld
er

pe
op

le
ne

ed
s
to

be
up

da
te
d
an
d
im

pr
ov
ed

Fi
gu
re

7:
Pr
io
ri
ty

th
em

es
fo
r
ac
ti
on

fr
om

JS
N
A
an

d
jo
in
tw

or
ki
ng

by
H
ill
in
gd
on

CC
G
an

d
LB
H

Sp
ec
ifi
c
pr
io
rit
ie
s
fo
rt
he

im
pr
ov
em

en
to

ft
he

m
en

ta
lh
ea
lth

an
d

w
el
lb
ei
ng

of
ad
ul
ts
in
H
ill
in
gd
on

ha
ve

be
en

id
en

tif
ie
d
in
th
e
se
ct
io
n
on

ad
ul
tm

en
ta
lh
ea
lth

an
d
de

m
en

tia
.S
ee

Ap
pe

nd
ix
2.

H
ill
in
gd
on

CC
G
ha
s
id
en

tif
ie
d
sh
ift
in
g
th
e
ba
la
nc
e
of

ca
re

fr
om

ho
sp
ita

lt
o

co
m
m
un

ity
se
tt
in
gs

as
its

m
ai
n
pr
io
rit
y
fo
r2

01
3/
14

an
d
go
in
g
fo
rw

ar
d.

Th
e
ob

je
ct
iv
e
is
to

us
e
re
so
ur
ce
s
ef
fe
ct
iv
el
y
to

im
pr
ov
e
th
e
he

al
th

an
d

w
el
lb

ei
ng

of
th
e
lo
ca
lp
op

ul
at
io
n
w
ith

th
e
ne

ed
to

ad
dr
es
s
th
e
ch
al
le
ng
es

fr
om

ad
ve
rs
e
he

al
th

tr
en

ds
an
d
fo
cu
s
on

ta
ck
lin
g
an
d
re
du

ci
ng

he
al
th

in
eq

ua
lit
ie
s.
Th
is
m
ea
ns
:

Fa
st
er

an
d
si
m
pl
er

ac
ce
ss
to

lo
ca
ls
er
vi
ce
s

M
or
e
“o
ne

st
op

sh
op

”
st
yl
e
se
rv
ic
es

th
at

in
cl
ud

e
di
ag
no

si
s
an
d

tr
ea
tm

en
ta

tf
ir
st
po

in
to

fc
on

ta
ct

M
or
e
“o
ne

st
op

sh
op

”
st
yl
e
se
rv
ic
es

th
at

in
cl
ud

e
di
ag
no

si
s
an
d

tr
ea
tm

en
ta

tf
ir
st
po

in
to

fc
on

ta
ct

Fa
st
er

re
sp
on

se
to

ur
ge
nt

ca
re

ne
ed

s
pa
r t
ic
ul
ar
ly
fo
rp

at
ie
nt
s

re
qu

iri
ng

ca
re

an
d
su
pp

or
ti
n
th
ei
rh

om
es

Se
am

le
ss
ca
re
,w

ith
H
ea
lth

an
d
so
ci
al
ca
re

pr
of
es
si
on

al
s
w
or
ki
ng

to
ge
th
er

Ti
m
e
in
ho

sp
ita

lf
oc
us
ed

on
ad
dr
es
si
ng

he
al
th
ca
re

ne
ed

s
th
at

ne
ed

ho
sp
ita

lc
ar
e
an
d
su
pp

or
tin

g
ra
pi
d
di
sc
ha
rg
e
to

a
sa
fe

en
vi
ro
nm

en
ta

th
om

e
as

so
on

as
ap
pr
op

ria
te

Th
e
co
re

m
is
si
on

fo
rL
BH

so
c i
al
ca
re
,h
ea
lth

an
d
ho

us
in
g
is
to

“e
na
bl
e

re
si
de

nt
s
in
ne

ed
to

liv
e
sa
fe
,h
ea
lth

y
an
d
in
de

pe
nd

en
tl
iv
es
”.

A
se
to

f
co
re

pr
in
ci
pl
es

un
de

rp
in
ni
ng

th
is
m
is
si
on

ha
ve

be
en

ag
re
ed

.
Se
e
Fi
gu
re

8
op

po
si
te
.

Fi
gu
re

8:
LB
H
:s
oc
ia
lc
ar
e,
he

al
th

an
d
ho

us
in
g
co
re

pr
in
ci
pl
es

To
en

su
re

th
at

pe
op

le
w
ho

ne
ed

he
al
th

an
d
so
ci
al
ca
re

tr
ea
tm

en
ta

nd
su
pp

or
ta

re
em

po
w
er
ed

an
d
su
pp

or
te
d
to

ch
oo

se
an

d
co
m
m
is
si
on

se
rv
ic
es

th
at

w
ill
m
ee
tt
he

ir
sp
ec
ifi
c
ne

ed
s,
he

lp
in
g
th
em

to
m
ov
e
to
w
ar
ds

re
co
ve
ry
,r
eg
ai
ni
ng

m
ea
ni
ng
fu
ll
iv
es

as
in
di
vi
du

al
s
w
ho

ar
e
ac
ti
ve

m
em

be
rs
of

th
e
co
m
m
un

it
ie
s
in
w
hi
ch

th
ey

liv
e
an

d
w
or
k

1.
Ch

oi
ce

an
d
co
nt
ro
l

W
e
w
ill
en

su
re

th
at

us
er
s
of

se
rv
ic
es

ar
e
in
th
e
dr
iv
in
g
se
at

in
de

ci
di
ng

ho
w
th
ei
r

de
si
re
d
ou

tc
om

es
w
ill
be

ac
hi
ev
ed

w
ith

in
av
ai
la
bl
e
re
so
ur
ce
s

2.
Sa
fe
,h

ea
lt
hy

an
d
in
de

pe
nd

en
tl
iv
es

W
e
w
ill
sh
ift

fr
om

pr
ov
id
in
g
lo
ng

te
rm

in
st
itu

tio
na
ls
er
vi
ce
s
to

pr
ov
id
in
g
tim

e
lim

ite
d

su
pp

or
tw

hi
ch

he
lp
s
pe

op
le
re
ga
in
in
de

pe
nd

en
ce

in
th
e
co
m
m
un

ity
3.
Su
pp

or
ti
ve

lo
ca
lc
om

m
un

it
ie
s

W
e
w
ill
ac
hi
ev
e
su
st
ai
na
bl
e
ch
an
ge

by
su
pp

or
tin

g
in
di
vi
du

al
s
an
d
co
m
m
un

iti
es

to
he

lp
th
em

se
lv
es

an
d
ea
ch

ot
he

r
4.
D
iff
er
en

tf
or

le
ss

W
e
w
ill
us
e
up

to
da
te
,e
vi
de

nc
e
ba
se
d
ap
pr
oa
ch
es

to
se
rv
ic
es

w
hi
ch

ar
e
m
or
e

I.
Im

pr
ov
e
he

al
th

an
d
w
el
lb
ei
ng

an
d
re
du

ce
in
eq

ua
lit
ie
s

2.
In
ve
st
in
pr
ev
en

ti
on

an
d
ea
rl
y
in
te
rv
en

ti
on

3.
D
ev
el
op

hi
gh

qu
al
it
y
in
te
gr
at
ed

so
ci
al
ca
re

an
d
he

al
th

se
rv
ic
es

w
it
hi
n
th
e
ho

m
e

an
d
co
m
m
un

it
y

4.
Cr
ea
te

a
po

si
ti
ve

ex
pe

ri
en

ce
of

ca
re

Page 187



16

PA
RT

2:
SE
RV

IC
ES

FO
R
A
D
U
LT
S
W
IT
H
M
EN

TA
L
H
EA

LT
H
PR

O
BL
EM

S
IN

H
IL
LI
N
G
D
O
N

2.
1
Re

vi
ew

of
th
e
st
ra
te
gy

fo
r
ad

ul
ts
er
vi
ce
s
fo
r
m
en

ta
lh
ea
lt
h
an

d
w
el
lb
ei
ng

20
08

13

Page 188



17

A
s
pa
rt
of

th
e
pr
oc
es
s
of

de
ve
lo
pi
ng

th
e
20

08
st
ra
te
gy

fo
rs
er
vi
ce
s
fo
r

ad
ul
ts
w
ith

m
en

ta
lh
ea
lth

pr
ob

le
m
s,
se
rv
ic
e
us
er
s
id
en

tif
ie
d
th
e
fo
llo
w
in
g

pr
io
rit
ie
s
fo
r
H
ill
in
gd
on

m
en

ta
lh
ea
lth

se
rv
ic
es
:

•
Fo
cu
s
on

m
en

ta
lw

el
lb
ei
ng

an
d
su
pp

or
tr
ec
ov
er
y
fr
om

m
en

ta
l

he
al
th

pr
ob

le
m
s

•
Im

pr
ov
e
ac
ce
ss
to

se
rv
ic
es

•
D
ev
el
op

pr
im

ar
y
ca
re

an
d
co
m
m
un

ity
ba
se
d
se
rv
ic
es

as
a
ke
y

co
m
po

ne
nt

of
th
e
m
en

ta
lh
ea
lth

ca
re

sy
st
em

•
Im

pr
ov
e
pa
th
w
ay
s
an
d
ch
oi
ce

•
In
cr
ea
se

in
cl
us
io
n
an
d
in
te
gr
at
io
n

•
En
su
re

pe
rs
on

an
d
ca
re
rc
en

tr
ed

ca
re

•
Im

pr
ov
e
qu

al
ity

,e
ff
ec
tiv

en
es
s
an
d
va
lu
e

Th
e
st
ra
te
gy

id
en

tif
ie
d
th
e
ne

ed
fo
ra

ne
w
m
en

ta
lh
ea
lth

pa
rt
ne

rs
hi
p
th
at

w
ou

ld
of
fe
rt
he

ra
ng
e
of

su
pp

or
ta

n d
ca
re

ne
ed

ed
by

in
di
vi
du

al
s
to

su
st
ai
n
th
ei
r
re
co
ve
ry
.
Th
is
pa
rt
ne

rs
hi
p
w
ou

ld
co

or
di
na
te

th
e
de

liv
er
y
of

al
ll
in
ke
d
m
en

ta
lh
ea
lth

st
ra
te
gi
es

in
cl
ud

in
g
ch
ild

an
d
ad
ol
es
ce
nt

m
en

ta
l

he
al
th

se
rv
ic
es

(C
A
M
H
S)
,s
er
vi
ce
s
fo
ro

ld
er

ad
ul
ts
an
d
su
bs
ta
nc
e
m
is
us
e

se
rv
ic
es

to
en

su
re

a
ho

lis
tic

ap
pr
oa
ch

th
at

w
ou

ld
de

liv
er

th
e
fo
llo
w
in
g

ou
tc
om

es
an

d
im

pr
ov
em

en
ts
:

•
M
ax
im

is
e
th
e
he

al
th

an
d
so
ci
al
ca
re

re
so
ur
ce
s
av
ai
la
bl
e
fo
r

m
en

ta
lh
ea
lth

•
Re

du
ce

th
e
im

pa
ct
of

m
en

ta
li
lln
es
s

•
En
su
re

th
at

se
rv
ic
es

ar
e
pr
ov
id
ed

in
th
e
le
as
tr
es
tr
ic
tiv

e
se
tt
in
g

•
po

ss
ib
le
w
ith

a
sh
ift

fr
om

ac
ut
e
to

se
co
nd

ar
y
an
d
pr
im

ar
y
ca
re

co
m
m
un

ity
se
tt
in
gs

•
En
su
re

th
at

th
e
ra
ng
e
of

se
rv
ic
es

av
ai
la
bl
e
is
in
fo
rm

ed
by

an
un

de
rs
ta
nd

in
g
of

th
e
ch
an
gi
ng

ne
ed

s
of

th
e
po

pu
la
tio

n

•
Re

sp
on

d
to

th
e
in
cr
ea
si
ng

di
ve
rs
ity

in
th
e
po

pu
la
tio

n,
en

su
ri
ng

th
at

re
so
ur
ce
s
ar
e
di
re
ct
ed

at
th
e
ar
ea
s
w
ith

gr
ea
te
st
ne

ed
an
d

ar
e
se
ns
iti
ve

to
th
e
ne

ed
s
of

th
e
di
ff
er
en

tc
om

m
un

iti
es

•
Su
pp

or
tt
he

de
ve
lo
pm

en
to

fs
ki
lls

of
th
os
e
w
or
ki
ng

w
ith

pe
op

le
w
ith

m
en

t a
lh
ea
lth

pr
ob

le
m
s
an
d
th
ei
r
ca
re
rs
as

ei
th
er

vo
lu
nt
ee
rs

or
as

em
pl
oy
ed

st
af
f

•
M
ee
tt
he

st
at
ut
or
y
du

tie
s
an
d
re
sp
on

si
bi
lit
ie
s

•
En
su
re

th
at

se
rv
ic
es

m
ee
tn

at
io
na
lly

an
d
lo
ca
lly

se
tq

ua
lit
y

st
an
da
rd
s

•
D
ev
el
op

th
e
be

st
po

ss
ib
le
ne

tw
or
k
of

se
rv
ic
es

w
ith

in
H
ill
in
gd
on

A
vi
si
on

fo
r
m
en

ta
lh
ea
lth

se
rv
ic
es

fo
r
ad
ul
ts
ag
ed

18
to

64
ye
ar
s
w
as

ag
re
ed

.S
ee

Fi
gu
re

9
be

lo
w
.

Fi
gu
re

9:
Th

e
20

08
vi
si
on

fo
r
ad

ul
tm

en
ta
lh
ea
lt
h
se
rv
ic
es

Si
nc
e
20

08
,p
ro
gr
es
s
ha
s
be

en
in
a
nu

m
be

ro
ft
he

ke
y
ob

je
ct
iv
es

id
en

tif
ie
d
w
ith

in
th
e
st
ra
te
gy
.S
ee

Fi
gu
re

10
be

lo
w
.

Pe
op

le
liv
in
g
in
H
ill
in
gd

on
sh
ou

ld
be

ne
fit

fr
om

op
po

rt
un

it
ie
s
fo
rp

os
it
iv
e
m
en

ta
lw

el
l

be
in
g
w
hi
ch

in
cl
ud

es
:

•
In
vo
lv
em

en
tw

it
h
co
m
m
un

it
y,
fr
ie
nd

s
an

d
fa
m
ily

•
M
ea
ni
ng
fu
lo
cc
up

at
io
n
le
ar
ni
ng

an
d
le
is
ur
e

•
H
av
in
g
th
e
ba

si
cs

in
pl
ac
e:

•
G
oo

d
he

al
th

ca
re

•
G
oo

d
ho

us
in
g

•
Fi
na

nc
ia
ls
ec
ur
it
y

•
A
cc
es
s
to

th
e
ab

ov
e
fo
r
pe

op
le
w
it
h
si
gn
ifi
ca
nt

m
en

ta
lh
ea
lt
h

pr
ob

le
m
s
as

w
el
la
s
ac
ce
ss

to
sp
ec
ia
lis
ts
er
vi
ce
s
w
hi
ch

pr
ov

id
e
fo
r

th
ei
r
in
di
vi
du

al
ne

ed
s
an

d
pr
ef
er
en

ce
s,
pr
om

ot
in
g
re
co
ve
ry

fr
om

th
e
ef
fe
ct
of

m
en

ta
lh
ea
lt
h
pr
ob

le
m
s

Pe
op

le
w
it
h
m
en

ta
lh
ea
lt
h
pr
ob

le
m
s
in
H
ill
in
gd
on

sh
ou

ld
be

ab
le
to
:

•
Li
ve

a
no

rm
al
lif
e
as

fa
r
as

po
ss
ib
le

•
Be

in
cl
ud

ed
in
lo
ca
lc
om

m
un

it
ie
s
an

d
ac
ti
vi
tie

s
•

N
ot

be
st
ig
m
at
is
ed

or
di
sc
ri
m
in
at
ed

ag
ai
ns
to

n
an

y
gr
ou

nd
s

•
H
av
e
ea
sy

ac
ce
ss

to
up

to
da

te
an

d
ac
cu
ra
te

in
fo
rm

at
io
n

•
H
av
e
op

ti
on

s
in
th
e
ch
oi
ce
s
of

ca
re

av
ai
la
bl
e
lo
ca
lly

•
H
av
e
pe

rs
on

al
is
ed

ca
re

pl
an

s
th
at

ar
e
bu

ilt
ar
ou

nd
th
e
w
is
he

s
of

ea
ch

in
di
vi
du

al
an

d
th
ei
r
ca
re
rs

•
Be

su
pp

or
te
d
w
ith

se
rv
ic
es

th
at

pr
om

ot
e
an

d
en

ab
le
re
co
ve
ry

an
d

w
el
lb

ei
ng

Page 189



18

Fi
gu
re

10
:E
va
lu
at
io
n
of

ke
y
ob

je
ct
iv
es
:H

ill
in
gd
on

ad
ul
ts
tr
at
eg
y
fo
r
m
en

ta
lh

ea
lt
h
an

d
w
el
lb
ei
ng

20
08

13
Pa

tt
er
ns

of
se
rv
ic
e
de

liv
er
y

O
bj
ec
ti
ve

20
08

Ev
al
ua

ti
on

:2
01
2

Pa
tt
er
ns

of
se
rv
ic
e
in
di
ca
te
d
th
at

th
e
ro
le
of

CM
H
Ts

an
d
CP

A
pr
og
ra
m
m
es

ne
ed

ed
to

be
m
or
e

ef
fe
ct
iv
el
y
ta
rg
et
ed

an
d
ac
ce
ss

to
se
rv
ic
es

im
pr
ov
ed

fo
rp

eo
pl
e
w
ith

m
ild

to
m
od

er
at
e
ne

ed
s
to

av
oi
d
re
fe
rr
al
to

se
co
nd

ar
y
ca
re
.

Al
te
rn
at
iv
e
ca
re

pa
th
w
ay
s
ne

ed
ed

to
be

de
ve
lo
pe

d
an
d
se
rv
ic
e
an
d
ac
ce
ss

m
od

el
s
ne

ed
to

ch
an
ge

to
re
fle

ct
th
e
di
ve
rs
ity

of
ne

ed
in
th
e
po

pu
la
tio

n.
G
en

er
al
ly
se
rv
ic
es

w
er
e
in
lin
e
w
ith

be
nc
hm

ar
k
pe

er
s
an
d
in
lin
e
w
ith

pr
ed

ic
te
d
de

m
an
d
ad
ju
st
ed

fo
rd

ep
riv

at
io
n

Th
e
nu

m
be

ro
fb

ed
s
w
as

de
em

ed
ap
pr
op

ria
te

fo
rt
he

po
pu

la
tio

n
si
ze

bu
tf
ur
th
er

an
al
ys
is
w
as

ne
ed

ed
to

un
de

rs
ta
nd

:
U
til
is
at
io
n
ra
te
s

A
dm

is
si
on

pa
tt
er
ns

Co
m
m
un

ity
se
rv
ic
es
:

CP
A
ap
pe

ar
ed

to
be

po
or
ly
ta
rg
et
ed

w
ith

hi
gh
er

us
e
of

CP
A
th
an

w
ou

ld
be

in
di
ca
te
d

ba
se
d
on

ne
ed

Ac
ce
ss

to
ps
yc
ho

lo
gi
ca
lt
he

ra
pi
es

an
d
pr
im

ar
y
ca
re

co
un

se
lli
ng

w
as

no
tm

ee
tin

g
cu
rr
en

t
or

pr
ed

ic
te
d
de

m
an
d

In
ve
st
m
en

ti
n
co
ns
ul
ta
nt

ps
yc
hi
at
ris
tr
es
ou

rc
es

w
as

no
tb

es
tu

til
is
ed

Th
e
pr
op

or
tio

n
of

pe
op

le
w
ith

m
en

ta
lh
ea
lth

pr
ob

le
m
s
in
co
nt
ac
tw

ith
sp
ec
ia
lis
tm

en
ta
lh
ea
lth

se
rv
ic
es

is
lo
w

co
m
pa
re
d
w
ith

be
nc
hm

ar
k
pe

er
s,
w
ith

a
la
rg
er

th
an

av
er
ag
e
pr
op

or
tio

n
of

pe
op

le
be

in
g
su
pp

or
te
d
in
pr
im

ar
y
ca
re

Th
er
e
is
st
ill
a
ne

ed
fo
rm

or
e
ta
rg
et
ed

us
e
of

sp
ec
ia
lis
tm

en
ta
lh
ea
lth

se
rv
ic
es
,w

ith
a
sh
ift

of
pe

op
le
w
ith

pe
op

le
w
ith

lo
ng

te
rm

m
en

ta
lh
ea
lth

pr
ob

le
m
s
w
ho

ar
e
st
ab
le
be

in
g
tr
an
sf
er
re
d
fr
om

se
co
nd

ar
y
to

pr
im

ar
y
ca
re
.T
hi
s

in
cl
ud

es
re
vi
ew

in
g
in
ve
st
m
en

ta
nd

ta
rg
et
in
g
of

co
ns
ul
ta
nt

ps
yc
hi
at
ris
tr
es
ou

rc
es

an
d
de

ve
lo
pi
ng

ca
re

pa
th
w
ay
s

an
d
se
rv
ic
e
m
od

el
s
th
at

en
ab
le
th
em

to
pr
ov
id
e
su
pp

or
tt
o
pr
im

ar
y
ca
re

D
ev
el
op

m
en

to
fp

rim
ar
y
ca
re

ba
se
d
m
en

ta
lh
ea
lth

se
rv
ic
es

is
ne

ed
ed

to
im

pr
ov
e
ac
ce
ss
an
d
en

su
re

ea
rly

in
te
rv
en

tio
n
to

m
in
im

is
e
th
e
ris
k
of

es
ca
la
tio

n
an
d
ne

ed
fo
rs
ec
on

da
ry

se
rv
ic
es

Th
er
e
is
in
su
ff
ic
ie
nt

di
ve
rs
ity

of
pr
ov
is
io
n
to

en
su
re

an
ap
pr
op

ria
te

re
sp
on

se
to

in
di
vi
du

al
di
ff
er
en

ce
an
d
th
e

di
ve
rs
e
ne

ed
s
of

th
e
po

pu
la
tio

n
U
se

of
ac
ut
e
m
en

ta
lh
ea
lth

be
ds

re
m
ai
ns

ap
pr
op

ria
te

fo
rt
he

po
pu

la
tio

n
si
ze
;p

at
te
rn
s
of

ut
ili
sa
tio

n
an
d
ra
te
s
of

ad
m
is
si
on

ar
e
be

tt
er

un
de

rs
to
od

.H
ow

ev
er
,b
ed

s
co
nt
in
ue

to
be

us
ed

di
sp
ro
po

rt
io
na
te
ly
by

pe
op

le
fr
om

bl
ac
k

co
m
m
un

iti
es

Th
er
e
ha
s
be

en
in
ve
st
m
en

ti
n
ps
yc
ho

lo
gi
ca
lt
he

ra
pi
es

bu
tf
ur
th
er

de
ve
lo
pm

en
ti
s
ne

ed
ed

in
or
de

rt
o
en

su
re

th
e

fu
ll
ra
ng
e
of

ps
yc
ho

lo
gi
ca
li
nt
er
ve
nt
io
ns

in
cl
ud

in
g
CB

T
an
d
ot
he

ri
nt
er
ve
nt
io
ns

sp
ec
ifi
ed

un
de

rt
he

In
cr
ea
si
ng

A
cc
es
s
to

Ps
yc
ho

lo
gi
ca
lT
he

ra
pi
es

in
iti
at
iv
e
ar
e
pr
ov
id
ed

Pa
tt
er
ns

of
In
ve
st
m
en

t

O
bj
ec
ti
ve

20
08

Ev
al
ua

ti
on

:2
01
2

Th
er
e
w
as

a
la
ck

of
co
ns
is
te
nc
y
in
da
ta

ab
ou

te
xp
en

di
tu
re

on
se
rv
ic
es

an
d
an

ur
ge
nt

ne
ed

to
as
se
ss
w
he

th
er

th
e
pa
tt
er
n
of

in
ve
st
m
en

tw
ou

ld
de

liv
er

th
e
vi
si
on

fo
rs
er
vi
ce
s

Th
e
ne

ed
to

re
co
nc
ile

di
sc
re
pa
nc
ie
s
w
as

id
en

tif
ie
d
w
ith

an
ur
ge
nt

ne
ed

to
:

Re
la
te

in
ve
st
m
en

tt
o
th
e
ne

ed
s
of

th
e
po

pu
la
tio

n
lo
ca
lly

A
ss
es
s
w
he

th
er

in
ve
st
m
en

tw
as

su
ff
ic
ie
nt

an
d/
or

ap
pr
op

ria
te

A
ss
es
s
w
he

th
er

th
e
pa
tt
er
n
of

in
ve
st
m
en

tw
ou

ld
de

liv
er

th
e
vi
si
on

Po
te
nt
ia
lt
o
re
du

ce
ca
pi
ta
lc
ha
rg
es

fo
rr
ei
nv
es
tm

en
tw

as
id
en

tif
ie
d

In
co
ns
is
te
nc
ie
s
in
da
ta

ab
ou

te
xp
en

di
tu
re

co
nt
in
ue

,a
lth

ou
gh

th
er
e
ha
s
be

en
so
m
e
im

pr
ov
em

en
tt
ha
th

as
in
fo
rm

ed
un

de
rs
ta
nd

in
g
of

pa
tt
er
ns

of
in
ve
st
m
en

t
Th
e
re
di
st
rib

ut
io
n
of

he
al
th

ca
re

in
ve
st
m
en

tf
ro
m

se
co
nd

ar
y
to

pr
im

ar
y
ca
re

se
tt
in
gs

ha
s
no

tb
ee
n
ac
hi
ev
ed

Ac
tio

n
ha
s
be

en
ta
ke
n
to

re
du

ce
ca
pi
ta
lc
ha
rg
es
.H

ow
ev
er
,o
ve
rh
ea
ds

an
d
in
di
re
ct
co
st
s
ar
e
in
di
ca
te
d
as

be
in
g

sl
ig
ht
ly
hi
gh
er

an
d
th
er
ef
or
e
th
er
e
m
ay

be
po

te
nt
ia
lt
o
re
le
as
e
sa
vi
ng
s
if
re
du

ce
d
to

th
e
lo
w
er

qu
ar
til
e
of

m
en

ta
l

he
al
th

tr
us
tp

er
fo
rm

an
ce

Page 190



19

2.
2
U
se

of
re
so
ur
ce
s
in
m
en

ta
lh
ea
lt
h
se
rv
ic
es

fo
r
ad

ul
ts
w
it
h
m
en

ta
l

he
al
th

pr
ob

le
m
s
in

H
ill
in
gd

on

2.
2.
1
H
ill
in
gd

on
CC

G
an

d
Lo
nd

on
Bo

ro
ug
h
of

H
ill
in
gd
on

:u
se

of
re
so
ur
ce
s

H
ill
in
gd
on

CC
G
an
d
LB
H
in
ve
st
£1

60
.6
8
pe

rw
ei
gh
te
d
he

ad
of

po
pu

la
tio

n
in
se
rv
ic
es

fo
ra

du
lts

w
ith

m
en

ta
lh
ea
lth

pr
ob

le
m
s.

A
na
ly
si
s
un

de
rt
ak
en

ac
ro
ss
N
W

Lo
nd

on
on

th
e
m
en

ta
lh
ea
lth

IC
P

(S
tr
at
eg
y)
an
d
th
e
re
ce
nt

lo
ca
lD

A
S
Ch

al
le
ng
e,
de

m
on

st
ra
te
d
th
at

th
er
e
is

po
te
nt
ia
lt
o
ac
hi
ev
e
si
gn
ifi
ca
nt

ef
fic
ie
nc
ie
s
an
d
im

pr
ov
em

en
tt
o

ef
fe
ct
iv
en

es
s,
pa
tie

nt
ex
pe

ri
en

ce
an
d
ou

tc
om

es
th
ro
ug
h
a
sh
ift

fr
om

a
be

d
ba
se
d
to

co
m
m
un

ity
ba
se
d
m
od

el
.R

ec
en

tw
or
k
by

LB
H
in
ve
st
m
en

t
ha
s
al
so

de
m
on

st
ra
te
d
th
at

th
e
sa
m
e
im

pr
ov
em

en
tc
ou

ld
be

m
ad
e.
Bo

th
or
ga
ni
sa
tio

ns
ha
ve

st
ar
te
d
to

im
pl
em

en
tt
he

se
fin

di
ng
s.
Th
is
w
or
k
w
ill

co
nt
in
ue

th
ro
ug
h
20

13
15

.T
he

fo
cu
s
fo
r
bo

th
or
ga
ni
sa
tio

ns
w
or
ki
ng

to
ge
th
er

an
d
se
pa
ra
te
ly
w
ill
th
er
ef
or
e
be

to
ac
hi
ev
e
a
sh
ift

fr
om

a
be

d
ba
se
d
to

co
m
m
un

ity
ba
se
d
se
rv
ic
es
.

2.
2.
2
H
ill
in
gd

on
CC

G
:u

se
of

re
so
ur
ce
s

20
11

/1
2
pr
og
ra
m
m
e
bu

dg
et
in
g
da
ta

sh
ow

s
th
at

H
ill
in
gd
on

CC
G
in
ve
st
s

£2
7.
2M

in
se
rv
ic
es

fo
ra

du
lts

w
ith

m
en

ta
lh
ea
lth

pr
ob

le
m
s.

£2
1.
7
m

is
in
ve
st
ed

w
ith

CN
W
L.
A
n
ad
di
tio

na
l£
1.
9m

w
as

in
ve
st
ed

w
ith

th
e
Tr
us
t

fo
llo
w
in
g
a
re
ba
si
ng

ex
er
ci
se

in
20

10
/1
1
an
d
20

11
/1
2
w
hi
ch

ad
dr
es
se
d
an

im
ba
la
nc
e
in
in
ve
st
m
en

tw
ith

th
e
Tr
us
ta

cr
os
s
N
W

Lo
nd

on
.
Th
e

re
m
ai
ni
ng

£5
.5
m

is
in
ve
st
ed

as
fo
llo
w
s
in
a
ra
ng
e
of

sp
ec
ia
lis
t(
tie

r
4)

an
d

vo
lu
nt
ar
y
se
ct
or

se
rv
ic
es

an
d
sp
ec
ia
lis
tp

la
ce
m
en

ts
.

A
re
ce
nt

an
al
ys
is
of

in
ve
st
m
en

tm
ad
e
by

H
ill
in
gd
on

CC
G
in
m
en

ta
lh
ea
lth

se
rv
ic
es

fo
ra

du
lts

of
al
la
ge
s
sh
ow

s
a
be

tt
er

ou
tc
om

e
in
re
la
tio

n
to

in
ve
st
m
en

tw
he

n
co
m
pa
re
d
w
ith

ot
he

r
CC

G
s
in
En
gl
an
d.
Se
e
Fi
gu
re

11
be

lo
w
(n
ex
tp

ag
e)
.

2.
2.
3
Lo
nd

on
Bo

ro
ug
h
of

H
ill
in
gd
on

:u
se

of
re
so
ur
ce
s

In
20

10
11

,L
BH

in
ve
st
ed

9
pe

rc
en

to
fi
ts
to
ta
le
xp
en

di
tu
re

in
se
rv
ic
es

fo
r

pe
op

le
w
ith

m
en

ta
lh
ea
lth

pr
ob

le
m
s.
Th
is
co
m
pa
re
s
w
ith

an
av
er
ag
e
of

8
pe

rc
en

tf
or

its
co
m
pa
ra
to
rg

ro
up

an
d
7
pe

rc
en

tn
at
io
na
lly
.I
n
20

11
12

,
LB
H
sp
en

t£
6.
2m

on
se
rv
ic
es
.T
hi
s
ex
pe

nd
itu

re
w
as

of
fs
et

by
£0

.3
m

in
co
m
e
w
ith

th
e
ne

te
xp
en

di
tu
re

be
in
g
£5

.9
m
.S
ee

Ta
bl
e
3
be

lo
w
.

Ta
bl
e
3:

LB
H
in
ve
st
m
en

ti
n
ad

ul
tm

en
ta
lh
ea
lt
h
se
rv
ic
es

20
11

12
D
es
cr
ip
ti
on

Bu
dg

et
(£
00

0s
)

G
ro
ss

Ex
pe

nd
it
ur
e

In
co
m
e

N
et

St
af
fin

g
2,
63
8.
2

(2
18
.2
)

2,
42
0.
0

Re
si
de

nt
ia
l

3,
13
9.
8

(8
5.
2)

3,
05
4.
6

Co
m
m
un

it
y
Su
pp

or
t

37
8.
8

(5
.5
)

37
3.
2

O
th
er

Co
st
s

26
.1

0.
0

26
.1

M
an

ag
em

en
t

Co
nt
ri
bu

ti
on

50
.0

0.
0

50
.0

To
ta
l

6,
23

2.
8

(3
08

.9
)

5,
92

3.
9

Page 191



20

Fi
gu
re

11
:S
pe

nd
an

d
ou

tc
om

e
in

H
ill
in
gd
on

re
la
ti
ve

to
ot
he

rC
CG

s
in

En
gl
an

d

Page 192



21

2.
3
Th

e
pe

rf
or
m
an

ce
of

se
rv
ic
es

fo
r
ad

ul
ts
w
it
h
m
en

ta
lh

ea
lt
h
pr
ob

le
m
s

in
H
ill
in
gd
on

2.
3.
1
Th

e
pe

rf
or
m
an

ce
of

N
H
S
co
m
m
is
si
on

ed
se
rv
ic
es

fo
r
ad

ul
ts
w
it
h

m
en

ta
lh

ea
lt
h
pr
ob

le
m
s
in
H
ill
in
gd
on

CN
W
L
is
th
e
m
ai
n
pr
ov
id
er

of
sp
ec
ia
lis
tm

en
ta
lh
ea
lth

se
rv
ic
es

in
H
ill
in
gd
on

.T
he

re
ha
s
be

en
a
si
gn
ifi
ca
nt

im
pr
ov
em

en
ti
n
th
e
pe

rf
or
m
an
ce

of
N
H
S
co
m
m
is
si
on

ed
m
en

t a
lh
ea
lth

se
rv
ic
es

A
su
m
m
ar
y
of

th
e
ke
y

pe
rf
or
m
an
ce

in
di
ca
to
rs
fo
rm

en
ta
lh
ea
lth

se
rv
ic
es

in
H
ill
in
gd
on

du
ri
ng

20
11

12
is
gi
ve
n
in
Ta
bl
e
12

be
lo
w
.

Fi
gu
re

12
:K

ey
pe

rf
or
m
an

ce
in
di
ca
to
rs
in
N
H
S
co
m
m
is
si
on

ed
ad

ul
t

m
en

ta
lh

ea
lt
h
se
rv
ic
es

in
H
ill
in
gd
on

20
11

12
Se
rv
ic
e

Pe
rf
or
m
an

ce
A
ss
er
ti
ve

ou
tr
ea
ch

Fo
llo
w
in
g
ag
re
em

en
tw

ith
co
m
m
is
si
on

er
s
th
at

tr
ea
tm

en
ts
ho

ul
d
be

pr
ov
id
ed

by
ot
he

rt
ea
m
s
in
H
ill
in
gd
on

,
th
er
e
is
no

as
se
rt
iv
e
ou

tr
ea
ch

se
rv
ic
e

Ea
rl
y
In
te
rv
en

ti
on

se
rv
ic
e

Te
am

ca
se
lo
ad

ha
s
be

en
in
cr
ea
si
ng

an
d

is
no

w
cl
os
e
to

m
ee
tin

g
its

ta
rg
et

of
38

ne
w
ca
se
s
by

ye
ar

en
d

H
om

e
tr
ea
tm

en
t

se
rv
ic
e

Te
am

ca
se
lo
ad

ha
s
be

en
in
cr
ea
si
ng

an
d

is
no

w
cl
os
e
to

m
ee
tin

g
its

ta
rg
et

of
38

ne
w
ca
se
s
by

ye
ar

en
d

In
pa

ti
en

ts
er
vi
ce
s

Th
e
ra
te

of
re
ad
m
is
si
on

is
w
el
lb
el
ow

ta
rg
et

(1
1%

)o
pe

ra
tin

g
at

3%
on

an
on

go
in
g
ba
si
s

D
el
ay
ed

tr
an
sf
er
s
of

ca
re

fr
om

in
pa
tie

nt
se
rv
ic
es

ha
ve

be
en

de
cr
ea
si
ng
:

M
id
20
11

at
10

12
%

Re
du

ce
d
to

4%
in
Ja
nu

ar
y
20
12

M
id
20
12

op
er
at
in
g
at

10
15

%
de

la
ys

ha
ve

be
en

ca
us
ed

by
de

la
ys

w
ith

in
bo

th
he

al
th

an
d
so
ci
al
ca
re

Co
m
m
un

it
y
te
am

s
D
N
A
s
fo
rf
irs
ta

pp
oi
nt
m
en

to
pe

ra
te
d
at

10
%
20
11
/1
2
an
d
ha
ve

in
cr
ea
se
d
to

15
%

fo
rQ

1
D
N
AS

fo
rf
ol
lo
w
up

ap
po

in
tm

en
ts

op
er
at
ed

at
10
%
du

rin
g
Q
3
an
d
Q
4,

20
11
/1
2
an
d
at

Q
1
20
12
/1
3
ha
ve

in
cr
ea
se
d
to

17
%

Th
e
pe

rf
or
m
an
ce

of
m
en

ta
lh
ea
lth

se
rv
ic
es

in
H
ill
in
gd
on

is
st
ro
ng

in
th
e

fo
llo
w
in
g
re
sp
ec
ts
:

In
ve
st
m
en

ti
n
co
un

se
lli
ng

se
rv
ic
es

is
hi
gh
er

th
an

av
er
ag
e
(N
B
se
e

*
be

lo
w
)

So
m
e
as
pe

ct
s
of

pr
im

ar
y
ca
re

of
m
en

ta
lh
ea
lth

pr
ob

le
m
s
e.
g.
a

hi
gh
er

pe
rc
en

ta
ge

of
pa
tie

nt
on

CH
D
an
d
di
ab
et
es

re
gi
st
er
s
ha
ve

be
en

sc
re
en

ed
fo
rd

ep
re
ss
io
n
(8
9.
5%

co
m
pa
re
d
to

88
.5
%
)

In
ve
st
m
en

ti
n
ho

m
e
su
pp

or
ts
er
vi
ce
s
i.e
.c
om

m
un

ity
ba
se
d

su
pp

or
ti
s
re
la
tiv

el
y
hi
gh

In
ve
st
m
en

ti
n
in
pa
tie

nt
se
rv
ic
es

is
le
ss
pe

rw
ei
gh
te
d
he

ad
of

po
pu

la
tio

n
th
an

th
e
re
st
of

Lo
nd

on
,t
he

Th
riv

in
g
Lo
nd

on
Pe

rip
he

ry
an
d
th
e
re
st
of

En
gl
an
d

he
ra
te

of
re
ad
m
is
si
on

to
in
pa
tie

n t
se
rv
ic
es

is
lo
w

Fo
ri
ts
po

pu
la
tio

n
ne

ed
,H

ill
in
gd
on

ha
s
a
la
rg
er

m
en

ta
lh
ea
lth

em
pl
oy
m
en

ts
ch
em

e
ca
se
lo
ad

th
an

th
e
Lo
nd

on
av
er
ag
e

Th
er
e
ar
e,
ho

w
ev
er
,c
on

ce
rn
s
ab
ou

to
th
er

as
pe

ct
s
of

th
e
pe

rf
or
m
an
ce

of
H
ill
in
gd
on

’s
m
en

ta
lh
ea
lth

se
rv
ic
es
:

Th
e
ra
te

of
co
nt
ac
tw

ith
se
co
nd

ar
y
ca
re

is
co
m
m
un

ity
m
en

ta
l

he
al
th

se
rv
ic
es

is
hi
gh

co
m
pa
re
d
to

th
e
Lo
nd

on
av
er
ag
e

Th
er
e
ar
e
et
hn

ic
in
eq

ua
lit
ie
s
in
ad
m
is
si
on

s
to

ad
ul
tp

sy
ch
ia
tr
ic

in
pa
tie

nt
se
rv
ic
es

in
H
ill
in
gd
on

.T
he

ad
m
is
si
on

ra
te

fo
rw

hi
te

et
hn

ic
gr
ou

ps
in
H
ill
in
gd
on

is
30

%
lo
w
er

th
an

th
e
En
gl
an
d
av
er
ag
e

Page 193



22

fo
ra

ll
et
hn

ic
gr
ou

ps
bu

tt
he

ad
m
is
si
on

ra
te

fo
rb

la
ck

et
hn

ic
gr
ou

ps
in
H
ill
in
gd
on

is
47

%
hi
gh
er

th
an

th
e
En

gl
an
d
av
er
ag
e

Th
er
e
ar
e
et
hn

ic
in
eq

ua
lit
ie
s
in
ad
m
is
si
on

s
to

ad
ul
tp

sy
ch
ia
tr
ic

in
pa
tie

nt
se
rv
ic
es

in
H
ill
in
gd
on

.T
he

ad
m
is
si
on

ra
te

fo
rw

hi
te

et
hn

ic
gr
ou

ps
in
H
ill
in
gd
on

is
30

%
lo
w
er

th
an

th
e
En
gl
an
d
av
er
ag
e

fo
ra

ll
et
hn

ic
gr
ou

ps
bu

t t
he

ad
m
is
si
on

ra
te

fo
rb

la
ck

et
hn

ic
gr
ou

ps
in
H
ill
in
gd
on

is
47

%
hi
gh
er

th
an

th
e
En

gl
an
d
av
er
ag
e

Th
e
ra
te

fo
ra

lc
oh

ol
re
la
te
d
ha
rm

is
hi
gh
er

th
an

th
e
Lo
nd

on
av
er
ag
e

Ex
pe

nd
itu

re
on

re
si
de

nt
ia
lc
ar
e
is
gr
ea
te
rt
ha
n
H
ill
in
gd
on

’s
co
m
pa
ra
to
rs

H
ill
in
gd
on

ha
s
on

ly
a
sm

al
li
nv
es
tm

en
ti
n
se
rv
ic
es

th
at

re
sp
on

d
to

th
e
ne

ed
s
of

pe
op

le
w
ith

de
pr
es
si
on

an
d
an
xi
et
y
(In

cr
ea
si
ng

A
cc
es
s
to

Ps
yc
ho

lo
gi
ca
l
Th

er
ap
ie
s
in
iti
at
iv
e)

H
ill
in
gd
on

’s
us
e
of

se
cu
re

an
d
hi
gh

de
pe

nd
en

cy
se
rv
ic
es

is
lo
w

H
ill
in
gd
on

ha
s
no

co
m
m
un

ity
te
am

fo
re

at
in
g
di
so
rd
er

or
fo
r

pe
op

le
w
ith

fo
re
ns
ic
ne

ed
s

Th
e
pe

rf
or
m
an
ce

of
se
rv
ic
es

in
re
la
tio

n
to

ke
y
pe

rf
or
m
an
ce

in
di
ca
to
rs
ha
s

im
pr
ov
ed

si
gn
ifi
ca
nt
ly
.N

H
S
co
m
m
is
si
on

ed
se
rv
ic
es

pe
rf
or
m

st
ro
ng
ly
in

re
sp
ec
to

ft
he

Ke
y
Pe

rf
or
m
an
ce

In
di
ca
to
rs
(K
PI
s)
.S
ee

Fi
gu
re

12
ab
ov
e.

2.
3.
2
Th

e
pe

rf
or
m
an

ce
of

LB
H
co
m
m
is
si
on

ed
se
rv
ic
es

fo
r
ad

ul
ts
w
it
h

m
en

ta
lh

ea
lt
h
pr
ob

le
m
s

LB
H
’s
pe

rf
or
m
an
ce

is
av
er
ag
e
fo
r
th
e
ke
y
in
di
ca
to
rs

of
pe

rf
or
m
an
ce

fo
r

co
un

ci
ls
: Se
lf
re
po

rt
ed

ex
pe

rie
nc
e
of

so
ci
al
ca
re

us
er
s

So
ci
al
ca
re

cl
ie
nt
s
re
ce
iv
in
g
se
lf
di
re
ct
ed

su
pp

or
t

Ca
re
rs

re
ce
iv
in
g

ne
ed

s
as
se
ss
m
en

t
or

re
vi
ew

an
d

a
sp
ec
ifi
c

ca
re
r’
s
se
rv
ic
e,
ad
vi
ce

or
in
fo
rm

at
io
n

Ad
ul
ts

in
co
nt
ac
t
w
ith

se
co
nd

ar
y
ca
re

m
en

ta
l
he

al
th

se
rv
ic
es

in
se
tt
le
d
ac
co
m
m
od

at
io
n

Ad
ul
ts

in
co
nt
ac
t
w
ith

se
co
nd

ar
y
ca
re

m
en

ta
l
he

al
th

se
rv
ic
es

in
em

pl
oy
m
en

t

Page 194



23

2.
3.
3
Ra

te
s
of

su
ic
id
e
in
H
ill
in
gd
on

Th
e
ra
te

of
su
ic
id
e
an
d
un

de
te
rm

in
ed

in
ju
ry

(D
SR
)p

er
10

0,
00

0
in
m
en

in
H
ill
in
gd
on

is
w
ith

in
th
e
Lo
nd

on
ra
ng
e
an
d
be

lo
w
th
e
na
tio

na
la
ve
ra
ge
.I
n

fe
m
al
es

th
e
ra
te
s
ar
e
hi
gh
er

th
an

fo
rL
on

do
n
an
d
na
tio

na
lly
.
Es
tim

at
es

m
ad
e
fo
r2

01
1
to

20
13

in
di
ca
te

th
at

th
er
e
is
lik
el
y
to

be
no

si
gn
ifi
ca
nt

ch
an
ge

or
va
ri
at
io
n
fr
om

th
e
cu
rr
en

tr
at
es
.S
ee

Ta
bl
es

4
to

6
be

lo
w
.

Ta
bl
e
4:

D
ir
ec
tl
y
ag
e
st
an

da
rd
is
ed

ra
te
s
by

ge
nd

er
20

07
82

8

Bo
ro
ug
h

D
ir
ec
tl
y
ag
e
st
an

da
rd
is
ed

ra
te
s

(D
SR

)p
er

10
0,
00
0

M
al
es

D
ir
ec
tl
y
ag

e
st
an

da
rd
is
ed

ra
te
s

(D
SR

)p
er

10
0,
00
0

Fe
m
al
es

Ea
lin

g
10
.0
8

2.
66

H
ill
in
gd

on
10
.6
5

4.
07

H
ou

ns
lo
w

14
.4
9

5.
69

Lo
nd

on
10
.6
7

3.
05

En
gl
an

d
12
.1
8

3.
63

S
ou

rc
e:

 L
on

do
n 

H
ea

lth
 P

ro
gr

am
m

es
 H

ea
lth

 n
ee

ds
 a

ss
es

sm
en

t t
oo

lk
it.

   

28
Lo

nd
on

 H
ea

lth
 P

ro
gr

am
m

es
 H

ea
lth

 n
ee

ds
 a

ss
es

sm
en

t t
oo

lk
it,
La
st
up

da
te
d:

Ju
n
20
11
,

N
ex
tu

pd
at
e
ex
pe

ct
ed

:D
ec

20
11
,h

ttp
://

hn
a.

lo
nd

on
hp

.n
hs

.u
k/

JS
N

A
.a

sp
xh

t

Ta
bl
e
5:
Su
ic
id
e
an

d
in
ju
ry
:u

nd
et
er
m
in
ed

ra
te
s
in

ou
te
r
Ea
lin

g
H
ill
in
gd
on

an
d
H
ou

ns
lo
w
:n

um
be

r
of

de
at
hs

an
d
ra
te
s
20

07
82

9

Bo
ro
ug
h

D
ea
th
s
fr
om

su
ic
id
e
&

in
ju
ry

un
de

te
rm

in
ed

20
07

20
09

D
ir
ec
tl
y
ag

e
st
an

da
rd
is
ed

ra
te
s

(D
SR

)p
er

10
0,
00
0

95
%
Co

nf
id
en

ce
In
te
rv
al

Ea
lin

g
69

6.
71

5.
08

–
8.
33

H
ill
in
gd

on
58

7.
26

5.
37

–
9.
14

Ta
bl
e
6:

Pr
oj
ec
te
d
Ra

te
of

Su
ic
id
e
an

d
un

de
te
rm

in
ed

in
ju
ry

20
11

to
20

13

Bo
ro
ug
h

Pr
oj
ec
te
d
D
ir
ec
tl
y
ag
e

st
an

da
rd
is
ed

ra
te
s
(D
SR

)p
er

10
0,
00

0
M
al
es

20
11

20
13

D
ir
ec
tl
y
ag
e
st
an

da
rd
is
ed

ra
te
s

(D
SR

)p
er

10
0,
00
0

Fe
m
al
es

20
11

20
13

Ea
lin

g
9.
6

3.
9

H
ill
in
gd

on
10
.7
9

3.
79

H
ou

ns
lo
w

14
.2
2

3.
6

Lo
nd

on
9.
92

3.
46

En
gl
an

d
11
.3
6

3.
6

La
st
up

da
te
d:

Ju
n
20

11
,N

ex
tu

pd
at
e
ex
pe

ct
ed

:D
ec

20
11

30

29
Lo

nd
on

 H
ea

lth
 P

ro
gr

am
m

es
 H

ea
lth

 n
ee

ds
 a

ss
es

sm
en

t t
oo

lk
it,
La
st
up

da
te
d:

Ju
n
20
11
,

N
ex
tu

pd
at
e
ex
pe

ct
ed

:D
ec

20
11
,h

ttp
://

hn
a.

lo
nd

on
hp

.n
hs

.u
k/

JS
N

A
.a

sp
xh

t
30

ht
tp

://
hn

a.
lo

nd
on

hp
.n

hs
.u

k/
JS

N
A

.a
sp

xh
t

Page 195



24

2.
4
Th

e
st
ra
te
gy

fo
r
se
rv
ic
es

fo
r
ad

ul
ts
w
it
h
m
en

ta
lh
ea
lt
h
pr
ob

le
m
s
in

H
ill
in
gd
on

20
13

16

2.
4.
1
Th

e
vi
si
on

fo
r
se
rv
ic
es

fo
r
ad

ul
ts
w
it
h
m
en

ta
lh
ea
lt
h
pr
ob

le
m
s
in

H
ill
in
gd
on

20
13

16

Th
e
vi
si
on

fo
r
ad
ul
tm

en
ta
lh
ea
lth

se
rv
ic
es

ag
re
ed

w
ith

se
rv
ic
e
us
er
s
an
d

pa
rt
ne

rs
in
20

08
is
st
ill
re
le
va
nt

to
cu
rr
en

tm
en

ta
lh
ea
lth

se
rv
ic
e
de

liv
er
y.

H
ow

ev
er
,s
om

e
re
vi
si
on

ha
s
be

en
m
ad
e
to
:

Ac
kn
ow

le
dg
e
fu
lly

th
e
co
nt
ri
bu

tio
n
of

ca
re
rs
of

pe
op

le
w
ith

m
en

ta
lh
ea
lth

pr
ob

le
m
s
an
d
to

en
su
re

th
at

th
ey

ar
e
su
pp

or
te
d

ef
fe
ct
iv
el
y
in
th
ei
r
ca
rin

g
ro
le

Em
ph

as
is
e
th
e
ne

ed
to

en
su
re

th
e
em

po
w
er
m
en

to
fs
er
vi
ce

us
er
s

an
d
ca
re
rs

by
en

su
ri
ng

re
al
in
vo
lv
em

en
ti
n
se
rv
ic
e
pl
an
ni
ng

an
d

de
liv
er
y

Em
ph

as
is
e
th
e
ne

ed
to

su
pp

or
ts
er
vi
ce

us
er
s
to

ta
ke

co
nt
ro
lo
f

th
ei
ro

w
n
liv
es

an
d
to

of
fe
rc
ho

ic
e
th
ro
ug
h
th
e
pr
ov
is
io
n
of

a
ra
ng
e
of

hi
gh

qu
al
ity

se
rv
ic
es

Se
e
Fi
gu
re

13
op

po
si
te
.

Th
e
co
m
m
itm

en
ts
m
ad
e
in
20

08
by

he
al
th

an
d
so
ci
al
ca
re

m
en

ta
lh
ea
lth

pa
rt
ne

rs
al
so

re
m
ai
n
re
le
va
nt

an
d
fo
rm

th
e
ba
si
s
of

th
e
m
en

ta
lh
ea
lth

se
rv
ic
es

pl
an

20
13

16
.
Th

es
e
in
cl
ud

e
m
en

ta
lh
ea
lth

an
d
so
ci
al
ca
re

pr
ov
id
er
s
an
d
co
m
m
is
si
on

er
s
co
m
m
itt
ed

to
w
or
k
to
ge
th
er

to
:

•
M
ax
im

is
e
th
e
he

al
th

an
d
so
ci
al
ca
re

re
so
ur
ce
s
av
ai
la
bl
e
fo
r

m
en

ta
lh
ea
lth

•
Re

du
ce

th
e
im

pa
ct
of

m
en

ta
li
lln
es
s

•
En
su
re

th
at

se
rv
ic
es

ar
e
pr
ov
id
ed

in
th
e
le
as
tr
es
tr
ic
tiv

e
w
ay

po
ss
ib
le
w
ith

a
sh
ift

fr
om

ac
ut
e
to

se
co
nd

ar
y
an
d
pr
im

ar
y
ca
re

co
m
m
un

ity
se
tt
in
gs

•
En
su
re

th
at

th
e
ra
ng
e
of

se
rv
ic
es

av
ai
la
bl
e
is
in
fo
rm

ed
by

an
un

de
rs
ta
nd

in
g
of

th
e
ch
an
gi
ng

ne
ed

s
of

th
e
po

pu
la
tio

n

Fi
gu
re

13
:T
he

vi
si
on

fo
rs
er
vi
ce
s
fo
r
ad

ul
ts
w
it
h
m
en

ta
lh
ea
lt
h
pr
ob

le
m
s

in
H
ill
in
gd
on

20
13

16
• • • • • •

Re
sp
on

d
to

th
e
in
cr
ea
si
ng

di
ve
rs
ity

in
th
e
po

pu
la
tio

n,
en

su
ri
ng

th
at

re
so
ur
ce
s
ar
e
di
re
ct
ed

at
th
e
ar
ea
s
w
ith

gr
ea
te
st
ne

ed
an
d

ar
e
se
ns
iti
ve

to
th
e
ne

ed
s
of

th
e
di
ff
er
en

tc
om

m
un

iti
es

•
Su
pp

or
tt
he

de
ve
lo
pm

en
to

fs
ki
lls

of
th
os
e
w
or
ki
ng

w
ith

pe
op

le
w
ith

m
en

ta
lh
ea
lth

pr
ob

le
m
s
an
d
th
ei
r
ca
re
rs
as

ei
th
er

vo
lu
nt
ee
rs

or
as

em
pl
oy
ed

st
af
f

•
M
ee
tt
he

st
at
ut
or
y
du

tie
s
an
d
re
sp
on

si
bi
lit
ie
s
la
id
ou

ti
n

le
gi
sl
at
io
n

•
En
su
re

th
at

se
rv
ic
es

m
ee
tn

at
io
na
lly

an
d
lo
ca
lly

se
tq

ua
lit
y

st
an
da
rd
s

Pe
op

le
w
it
h
m
en

ta
lh
ea
lt
h
pr
ob

le
m
s
an

d
th
ei
r
ca
re
rs
liv
in
g
in
H
ill
in
gd
on

sh
ou

ld
be

ne
fit

fr
om

op
po

rt
un

it
ie
s
fo
r
po

si
ti
ve

m
en

ta
lw

el
lb

ei
ng

w
hi
ch

in
cl
ud

es
:

•
In
vo
lv
em

en
tw

it
h
co
m
m
un

it
y,
fr
ie
nd

s
an

d
fa
m
ily

•
M
ea
ni
ng
fu
lo
cc
up

at
io
n
le
ar
ni
ng

an
d
le
is
ur
e

•
H
av
in
g
th
e
ba

si
cs

in
pl
ac
e:

•
G
oo

d
he

al
th

ca
re

•
G
oo

d
ho

us
in
g

•
Fi
na

nc
ia
ls
ec
ur
it
y

•
A
cc
es
s
to

th
e
ab

ov
e
fo
r
pe

op
le
w
it
h
si
gn
ifi
ca
nt

m
en

ta
lh
ea
lt
h

pr
ob

le
m
s
as

w
el
la
s
ac
ce
ss

to
sp
ec
ia
lis
ts
er
vi
ce
s
w
hi
ch

pr
ov

id
e

fo
r
th
ei
r
in
di
vi
du

al
ne

ed
s
an

d
pr
ef
er
en

ce
s,
pr
om

ot
in
g
re
co
ve
ry

fr
om

th
e
ef
fe
ct
of

m
en

ta
lh
ea
lt
h
pr
ob

le
m
s

Se
rv
ic
es

sh
ou

ld
su
pp

or
tp

eo
pl
e
w
it
h
m
en

ta
lh
ea
lt
h
pr
ob

le
m
s
to

re
co
ve
r
an

d
en

su
re

th
at

bo
th

th
ey

an
d
th
ei
r
ca
re
rs
:

•
A
re

su
pp

or
te
d
to

liv
e
a
no

rm
al
lif
e
as

fa
r
as

po
ss
ib
le

•
A
re

em
po

w
er
ed

to
ta
ke

co
nt
ro
lo
ft
he

ir
ow

n
liv
es

•
A
re

fu
lly

in
vo
lv
ed

in
th
e
pl
an

ni
ng

an
d
de

liv
er
y
of

se
rv
ic
es

•
A
re

in
cl
ud

ed
in

lo
ca
lc
om

m
un

it
ie
s
an

d
ac
ti
vi
ti
es

•
A
re

no
ts
ti
gm

at
is
ed

or
di
sc
ri
m
in
at
ed

ag
ai
ns
to

n
an

y
gr
ou

nd
s

•
H
av
e
ea
sy

ac
ce
ss
to

up
to

da
te

an
d
ac
cu
ra
te

in
fo
rm

at
io
n

•
H
av
e
op

ti
on

s
in
th
e
ch
oi
ce
s
of

hi
gh

qu
al
it
y
ca
re

an
d
su
pp

or
t

av
ai
la
bl
e
lo
ca
lly

•
H
av
e
pe

rs
on

al
is
ed

ca
re

pl
an

s
th
at

ar
e
bu

ilt
ar
ou

nd
th
ei
rn

ee
ds

an
d
w
is
he

s

Page 196



25

•
D
ev
el
op

th
e
be

st
po

ss
ib
le
ne

tw
or
k
of

se
rv
ic
es

w
ith

in
H
ill
in
gd
on

2.
4.
2
Th

e
jo
in
ts
tr
at
eg
y
fo
rs
er
vi
ce
s
fo
r
ad

ul
ts
w
it
h
m
en

ta
lh

ea
lt
h

pr
ob

le
m
s
in
H
ill
in
gd
on

20
13

16

Th
er
e
is
po

te
nt
ia
lf
or

si
gn
ifi
ca
nt

im
pr
ov
em

en
tt
o
th
e
ef
fic
ie
nc
y
an
d

ef
fe
ct
iv
en

es
s
of

th
e
se
rv
ic
es

fo
ra

du
lts

w
ith

m
en

ta
lh
ea
lth

pr
ob

le
m
s

th
ro
ug
h
th
e
de

ve
lo
pm

en
to

fa
n
in
te
gr
at
ed

,w
ho

le
sy
st
em

s
ap
pr
oa
ch
,

bu
ild
in
g
on

th
e
cu
rr
en

ts
tr
en

gt
h
of

G
Ps

in
m
an
ag
in
g
ad
ul
ts
w
ith

m
en

ta
l

he
al
th

pr
ob

le
m
s
in
th
e
co
m
m
un

ity
.
Im

pr
ov
em

en
tw

ill
be

ac
hi
ev
ed

th
ro
ug
h
ef
fe
ct
iv
e
pa
rt
ne

rs
hi
p
w
or
ki
ng

th
at

en
ab
le
s
se
rv
ic
e

re
co
nf
ig
ur
at
io
n
an
d
re
de

si
gn
,l
ea
di
ng

to
a
sh
ift

fr
om

a
be

d
ba
se
d
to

co
m
m
un

ity
ba
se
d
se
rv
ic
e
w
ith

tr
ea
tm

en
tp

ro
vi
de

d
at

ho
m
e
as

fa
r
as

po
ss
ib
le
,a
nd

ac
hi
ev
in
g
a
sh
ift

fr
om

se
co
nd

ar
y
to

pr
im

ar
y
ca
re

as
se
ss
m
en

t,
tr
ea
tm

en
ta

nd
su
pp

or
t.
Th

e
ob

je
ct
iv
e
w
ill
be

to
de

liv
er

in
te
gr
at
ed

,r
ec
ov
er
y
fo
cu
se
d,
pe

rs
on

al
is
ed

,o
ut
co
m
es

ba
se
d
as
se
ss
m
en

t
tr
ea
tm

en
ta

nd
su
pp

or
ti
n
th
e
co
m
m
un

ity
.
In
di
vi
du

al
an
d
jo
in
tp

la
ns

w
ill

be
de

ve
lo
pe

d
an
d
co
st
ed

to
re
al
is
e
th
e
po

te
nt
ia
lg
ai
ns
.K
ey

ac
tio

ns
to

ac
hi
ev
e
im

pr
ov
em

en
ta

re
su
m
m
ar
is
ed

be
lo
w
.

H
ill
in
gd
on

CC
G
an
d
LB
H
w
ill
in
iti
at
e
th
e
fo
llo
w
in
g
sp
ec
ifi
c
ac
tio

ns
w
ith

ke
y

pa
rt
ne

rs
,i
nc
lu
di
ng

CN
W
L:

D
ev
el
op

th
e
pr
im

ar
y
ca
re

ba
se
d
m
en

ta
lh
ea
lth

se
rv
ic
es

in
fr
as
tr
uc
tu
re

–
by

im
pl
em

en
tin

g
th
e
“s
hi
ft
in
g
se
tt
in
gs

of
ca
re
”

w
or
ks
tr
ea
m
s
pr
io
ri
tis
ed

fr
om

th
e
N
W

Lo
nd

on
M
en

ta
lH

ea
lth

In
te
gr
at
ed

Ca
re

Pa
th
w
ay

(IC
P)

/S
tr
at
eg
y

Im
pr
ov
e
th
e
ra
ng
e
of

ac
co
m
m
od

at
io
n
an
d
su
pp

or
ta

va
ila
bl
e
in

th
e
co
m
m
un

ity
Im

pr
ov
e
th
e
ef
fic
ie
nc
y
an
d
re
du

ce
th
e
co
st
of

se
rv
ic
es

To
su
pp

or
td

el
iv
er
y
of

th
es
e
ch
an
ge
s
an
d
th
e
ov
er
al
li
m
pr
ov
em

en
to

f
as
se
ss
m
en

t,
tr
ea
tm

en
ta

nd
su
pp

or
tf
or

ad
ul
ts
w
ith

m
en

ta
lh
ea
lth

pr
ob

le
m
s
in
H
ill
in
gd
on

,H
ill
in
gd
on

CC
G
an
d
LB
H
w
ill
pr
ov
id
e
st
ro
ng

le
ad
er
sh
ip
,a
do

pt
in
g
a
pa
rt
ne

rs
hi
p
ap
pr
oa
ch

w
ith

al
ls
ta
ke
ho

ld
er
s
to

in
te
gr
at
e
pl
an
s
to

im
pl
em

en
t
pe

rs
on

al
is
at
io
n,
im

pr
ov
e
th
e
ra
ng
e
an
d

qu
al
ity

of
ac
co
m
m
od

at
io
n
an
d
en

su
re

su
pp

or
tf
or

em
pl
oy
m
en

ta
nd

tr
ai
ni
ng

an
d
co
m
m
un

ity
ba
se
d
ac
tiv

iti
es

an
d
su
pp

or
ti
nt
o
th
e
in
iti
at
iv
es

ou
tli
ne

d
ab
ov
e.

Th
e
m
ai
n
op

po
rt
un

ity
fo
rH

ill
in
gd
on

w
ith

in
th
e
sh
ift
in
g
se
tt
in
gs

of
ca
re

pr
og
ra
m
m
e
is
to

im
pr
ov
e
pr
im

ar
y
ca
re

ba
se
d
m
en

ta
lh
ea
lth

se
rv
ic
es

in
or
de

rt
o: En

ab
le
a
tr
an
sf
er

of
ca
re

fo
rp

eo
pl
e
w
ith

se
ri
ou

s
m
en

ta
li
lln
es
s

w
ho

se
m
en

ta
lh
ea
lth

st
at
e
is
st
ab
le

fr
om

se
co
nd

ar
y
to

pr
im

ar
y

ca
re

En
ab
le
pr
im

ar
y
ca
re

to
as
se
ss
,t
re
at

an
d
su
pp

or
tp

eo
pl
e
w
ith

co
m
m
on

m
en

ta
lh
ea
lth

pr
ob

le
m
s
an
d
se
ri
ou

s
m
en

ta
li
lln
es
s

ef
fe
ct
iv
el
y

Pr
ov
id
e
ef
fe
ct
iv
e
ps
yc
ho

lo
gi
ca
li
nt
er
ve
nt
io
ns

Th
er
e
is
so
m
e
po

te
nt
ia
lf
or

a
re
du

ct
io
n
in
th
e
nu

m
be

ro
fm

en
ta
lh
ea
lth

in
pa
tie

nt
be

ds
as

co
m
m
un

ity
se
rv
ic
es

ar
e
st
re
ng
th
en

ed
,a

ne
ed

fo
r

re
vi
ew

of
re
ha
bi
lit
at
io
n
se
rv
ic
es

an
d
th
e
op

po
rt
un

ity
to

ra
tio

na
lis
e

ps
yc
hi
at
ri
c
in
te
ns
iv
e
ca
re

se
rv
ic
e
pr
ov
is
io
n
ac
ro
ss
N
W

Lo
nd

on
.

Th
e
ne

w
se
rv
ic
e
m
od

el
w
ill
re
qu

ire
th
e
de

ve
lo
pm

en
ta

nd
im

pl
em

en
ta
tio

n
of

in
te
gr
at
ed

ca
re

pa
th
w
ay
s.
Th
is
ha
s
be

en
sh
ow

n
to

fa
ci
lit
at
e
ne

w
w
ay
s

of
w
or
ki
ng

su
pp

or
tin

g
si
gn
ifi
ca
nt

im
pr
ov
em

en
ti
n
th
e
ef
fe
ct
iv
en

es
s
an
d

ef
fic
ie
nc
y
of

he
al
th

an
d
so
ci
al
ca
re

se
rv
ic
es

de
liv
er
y.
Th
is
ap
pr
oa
ch

w
ill

en
ab
le
ke
y
co
nc
er
ns

re
la
tin

g
to

th
e
ef
fe
ct
iv
en

es
s
an
d
ef
fic
ie
nc
y
of

se
rv
ic
es

in
H
ill
in
gd
on

to
be

ad
dr
es
se
d:

En
su
rin

g
th
at

se
rv
ic
es

ar
e
pe

rs
on

al
is
ed

an
d
re
co
ve
ry

an
d

ou
tc
om

es
fo
cu
ss
ed

Page 197



26

En
su
rin

g
th
at

se
rv
ic
es

em
po

w
er

pe
op

le
to

ta
ke

co
nt
ro
lo
ft
he

ir
ow

n
liv
es

En
su
rin

g
th
at

se
rv
ic
es

of
fe
rc
ho

ic
e
of

a
ra
ng
e
of

hi
gh

qu
al
ity

se
rv
ic
es

Im
pr
ov
in
g
ac
ce
ss
an
d
eq

ui
ty
of

se
rv
ic
es

En
su
rin

g
ac
ce
ss
to

ev
id
en

ce
ba
se
d
in
te
rv
en

tio
ns

En
su
rin

g
th
at

sp
ec
ia
lis
tn

ee
ds

ar
e
ad
dr
es
se
d
ef
fe
ct
iv
el
y,
in

pa
rt
ic
ul
ar
:

o
Ea
tin

g
di
so
rd
er

o
Fo
re
ns
ic
ne

ed
s

A
ct
io
n
ha
s
al
re
ad
y
be

en
ta
ke
n
by

H
ill
in
gd
on

CC
G
,L
BH

an
d
CN

W
L
to

en
su
re

th
e
ef
fe
ct
iv
e
an
d
ef
fic
ie
nt

us
e
of

sp
ec
ia
lis
tm

en
ta
lh
ea
lth

pl
ac
em

en
ts
w
ith

si
gn
ifi
ca
nt

im
pr
ov
em

en
tb

ei
ng

m
ad
e
in
ef
fic
ie
nc
y
an
d

ou
tc
om

es
fo
r
se
rv
ic
e
us
er
s.
Th
is
w
or
k
w
ill
co
nt
in
ue

w
ith

im
pl
em

en
ta
tio

n
of

a
jo
in
tp

la
n
fo
ri
m
pr
ov
em

en
t.
Se
e
A
pp

en
di
x
3.

In
or
de

r
to

he
lp
to

ac
hi
ev
e
th
e
re
qu

ir
ed

im
pr
ov
em

en
ts
,H

ill
in
gd
on

CC
G

an
d
LB
H
ar
e
ex
pl
or
in
g
ne

w
ap
pr
oa
ch
es

to
jo
in
ts
er
vi
ce

de
liv
er
y
an
d

co
m
m
is
si
on

in
g.

A
s
a
re
su
lt
of

th
e
cu
rr
en

tr
ef
or
m
s
to

th
e
N
H
S
an
d
so
ci
al
ca
re
,L
BH

w
ill

as
su
m
e
re
sp
on

si
bi
lit
y
fo
r
Pu

bl
ic
H
ea
lth

in
20

13
.M

en
ta
lh
ea
lth

pr
om

ot
io
n

an
d
pr
ev
en

tio
n
w
ill
th
er
ef
or
e
be

co
m
e
pa
rt
of

th
e
Co

un
ci
l’s

ov
er
ar
ch
in
g

st
ra
te
gy

an
d
re
sp
on

si
bi
lit
ie
s.
Ap

pl
yi
ng

th
e
ev
id
en

ce
ba
se

fo
re

ff
ec
tiv

e
m
en

ta
lh
ea
lth

in
te
rv
en

tio
ns
,t
he

Pu
bl
ic
H
ea
lth

de
pa
rt
m
en

tw
ill
de

ve
lo
p

an
d
im

pl
em

en
tp

ro
gr
am

m
es

th
at
:

A
dd

re
ss
he

al
th

in
eq

ua
lit
ie
s

Pr
om

ot
e
po

si
tiv

e
m
en

ta
lw

el
lb
ei
ng

an
d
m
en

ta
lh
ea
lth

in
al
l

gr
ou

ps
in
th
e
co
m
m
un

ity
by

en
su
ri
ng

th
at

ar
ea

ba
se
d
gr
ou

ps
ac
ro
ss
th
e
bo

ro
ug
h
co
ns
id
er

an
d
ad
dr
es
s
m
en

ta
lh
ea
lth

is
su
es

Su
pp

or
te

ar
ly
in
te
rv
en

tio
n

Pl
an
s
w
ill
be

m
ad
e
to

co
nt
in
ue

to
im

pl
em

en
ti
nt
er
ve
nt
io
ns

al
re
ad
y

pr
ov
en

to
be

ef
fe
ct
iv
e
in
th
e
bo

ro
ug
h
in
cl
ud

in
g
“g
et

in
to

re
ad
in
g/
re
ad
in
g

m
at
te
rs
”,
w
al
k
H
ill
in
gd
on

,w
el
lb
ei
ng

in
iti
at
iv
e
ne

tw
or
ks
:p

ro
m
ot
in
g
fiv
e

w
ay
s
to

w
el
lb
ei
ng
.S
ee

Ap
pe

nd
ix
2.

Im
pr
ov
em

en
ts
ha
ve

al
re
ad
y
be

en
m
ad
e
in
th
e
us
e
of

sp
ec
ia
lis
tm

en
ta
l

he
al
th

ho
us
in
g
an
d
re
si
de

nt
ia
lp
la
ce
m
en

ts
th
ro
ug
h
ef
fe
ct
iv
e
jo
in
ta

ct
io
n

be
tw

ee
n
LB
H
,H

ill
in
gd
on

CC
G
an
d
CN

W
L
(s
ee

ab
ov
e)
.
LB
H
ha
s
pr
io
rit
is
ed

en
su
rin

g
fu
rt
he

ri
m
pr
ov
em

en
ti
n
th
e
of
fe
ro

fa
cc
om

m
od

at
io
n
fo
r
pe

op
le

w
ith

m
en

ta
lh
ea
lth

pr
ob

le
m
s
to

20
16

.I
m
pr
ov
em

en
tw

ill
be

m
ad
e
by
:

In
cr
ea
si
ng

th
e
ra
ng
e
of

su
pp

or
te
d
ho

us
in
g
op

tio
ns

M
ov
in
g
fr
om

a
m
od

el
of

re
si
de

nt
ia
lc
ar
e
to

in
de

pe
nd

en
tl
iv
in
g

w
ith

pa
ck
ag
es

of
su
pp

or
tt
ai
lo
re
d
to

in
di
vi
du

al
ne

ed
Im

pl
em

en
tin

g
pe

rs
on

al
is
ed

ap
pr
oa
ch
es

to
su
pp

or
t.

Se
e
A
pp

en
di
x

3

M
ov
in
g
to
w
ar
ds

pe
rs
on

al
is
ed

,r
ec
ov
er
y
an
d
ou

tc
om

e
fo
cu
ss
ed

m
en

t a
l

he
al
th

se
rv
ic
es

in
H
ill
in
gd
on

w
ill
be

a
pr
io
ri
ty
fo
rH

ill
in
gd
on

CC
G
an
d
LB
H

w
or
ki
ng

w
ith

ke
y
pa
rt
ne

rs
.I
tw

ill
be

a
pa
rt
ic
ul
ar

fo
cu
s
of

th
ei
rw

or
k
w
ith

CN
W
L:

A
na
tio

na
ld
as
hb

oa
rd

w
ill
be

ut
ili
se
d
an
d
re
po

rt
ed

by
CC

G
to

ev
id
en

ce
th
e
pe

rf
or
m
an
ce

of
lo
ca
lm

en
ta
lh
ea
lth

se
rv
ic
es
.S
ee

Ap
pe

nd
ix
4;
th
is
w
ill
be

us
ed

to
in
fo
rm

co
m
m
is
si
on

in
g
de

ci
si
on

s
an
d
pr
io
rit
ie
s.

Th
e
H
ea
lth

of
th
e
N
at
io
n
O
ut
co
m
e
Sc
or
e
(H
oN

O
S)
ha
s
be

en
us
ed

to
m
ea
su
re

th
e
im

pa
ct
of

in
te
rv
en

tio
ns

m
ad
e
by

sp
ec
ia
lis
tm

en
ta
l

he
al
th

se
rv
ic
es

fo
rs
om

e
tim

e.
U
nd

er
Pa
ym

en
tb

y
Re

su
lts
,t
he

us
e

of
Pa
tie

nt
Re

po
rt
ed

O
ut
co
m
e
M
ea
su
re
s
(P
R O

M
S)
an
d
Cl
in
ic
ia
n

Re
po

rt
ed

O
ut
co
m
e
M
ea
su
re
s
(C
LO

M
S)
is
pl
an
ne

d
du

ri
ng

20
13

14
Si
nc
e
20

08
,C
N
W
L
ha
s
es
ta
bl
is
he

d
a
Re

co
ve
ry

Co
lle
ge
.
Th
e

Re
co
ve
ry

Co
lle
ge

of
fe
rs
a
ra
ng
e
of

co
ur
se
s,
se
m
in
ar
s
an
d

Page 198



27

w
or
ks
ho

ps
w
hi
ch

ar
e
co

de
si
gn
ed

an
d
co

de
liv
er
ed

by
Pe

er
Re

co
ve
ry

Tr
ai
ne

rs
(p
eo

pl
e
w
ith

liv
ed

ex
pe

ri
en

ce
of

m
en

ta
lh
ea
lth

is
su
es
)a
nd

m
en

ta
lh
ea
lth

pr
ac
tit
io
ne

rs
.T
he

Co
lle
ge

ai
m
s
to
:

o
O
ff
er

su
pp

or
tf
or

pe
op

le
w
ho

us
e
se
rv
ic
es
,a
nd

en
ab
le

th
em

to
be

co
m
e
ex
pe

rt
s
in
th
ei
r
ow

n
se
lf
ca
re

o
En
ab
le
fa
m
ily
,f
rie

nd
s,
ca
re
rs
an
d
CN

W
L
st
af
ft
o
be

tt
er

un
de

rs
ta
nd

m
en

ta
lh
ea
lth

co
nd

iti
on

s
an
d
su
pp

or
tp

eo
pl
e

in
th
ei
r
pe

rs
on

al
re
co
ve
ry

jo
ur
ne

ys
.

W
or
ki
ng

w
ith

CN
W
L,
it
is
pr
op

os
ed

th
at

a
pr
og
ra
m
m
e
of

co
ur
se
s
on

re
co
ve
ry

av
ai
la
bl
e
to

bo
th

se
rv
ic
e
us
er
s
an
d
ca
re
rs
in
H
ill
in
gd
on

w
ill
be

es
ta
bl
is
he

d.
In
ad
di
tio

n,
w
or
k
w
ill
be

do
ne

to
ex
pl
or
e
th
e
po

te
nt
ia
l

be
ne

fit
of

im
pl
em

en
tin

g
th
e
re
co
ve
ry

st
ar

as
a
to
ol
fo
rw

or
ki
ng

w
ith

se
rv
ic
e
us
er
s
to

m
ea
su
re

th
ei
rp

ro
gr
es
s
to
w
ar
ds

re
co
ve
ry
.S
ee

Fi
gu
re

14
op

po
si
te
.

A
pl
an

to
de

liv
er

th
e
re
qu

ir
ed

im
pr
ov
em

en
ts
id
en

tif
yi
ng

bo
th

th
e
jo
in
t

an
d
in
di
vi
du

al
ac
tio

n
re
qu

ir
ed

by
H
ill
in
gd
on

CC
G
an
d
LB
H
to

im
pr
ov
e

se
rv
ic
es

w
or
ki
ng

w
ith

ke
y
pa
rt
ne

rs
ha
s
be

en
ag
re
ed

.S
ee

Fi
gu
re

15
be

lo
w
.

Th
ro
ug
h
th
e
pr
oc
es
s
of

co
ns
ul
ta
tio

n
on

th
e
st
ra
te
gy

an
d
im

pl
em

en
ta
tio

n
pl
an

an
d
th
e
LB
H
Po

lic
y
an
d
O
ve
rv
ie
w
Co

m
m
itt
ee

re
vi
ew

of
ad
ul
tm

en
ta
l

he
al
th

se
rv
ic
es

th
at

w
as

un
de

rt
ak
en

fr
om

Se
pt
em

be
r2

01
2
to

Ja
nu

ar
y

20
13

,f
ee
db

ac
k
w
as

re
ce
iv
ed

th
at

w
ill
be

us
ed

to
in
fo
rm

im
pl
em

en
ta
tio

n
of

ea
ch

el
em

en
to

ft
he

pl
an
.T
he

fe
ed

ba
ck

re
ce
iv
ed

is
su
m
m
ar
is
ed

at
Ap

pe
nd

ic
es

5
an
d
6.
A
n
im

pl
em

en
ta
tio

n
pl
an

fo
ry

ea
r1

of
th
e
st
ra
te
gy

(2
01

3
14

)i
s
in
cl
ud

ed
at

A
pp

en
di
x
7.
A
fu
ll
eq

ua
lit
ie
s
im

pa
ct
as
se
ss
m
en

t
fo
rt
he

st
ra
te
gy

w
as

ca
rr
ie
d
ou

tf
ol
lo
w
in
g
th
e
co
ns
ul
ta
tio

n
pr
oc
es
s.
N
o

ne
ga
tiv

e
in
di
ca
to
rs
fo
re

qu
al
ity

w
er
e
id
en

tif
ie
d
th
ro
ug
h
th
is
pr
oc
es
s.
Se
e

Ap
pe

nd
ix
8.

Fi
gu
re

14
:T
he

m
en

ta
lh
ea
lt
h
re
co
ve
ry

ou
tc
om

es
st
ar

Page 199



28

Fi
gu
re

15
:
H
ill
in
gd
on

CC
G
an

d
LB
H
jo
in
tp

la
n
fo
r
th
e
im

pr
ov
em

en
to

fs
er
vi
ce
s
fo
r
ad

ul
ts
w
it
h
m
en

ta
lh

ea
lt
h
pr
ob

le
m
s
20

13
16

O
bj
ec
tiv

e
A
ct
io
ns

O
rg
an
is
at
io
n

Ye
ar

Pr
om

ot
e
m
en

ta
lh
ea
lt
h
an

d
w
el
lb
ei
ng

an
d
ea
rl
y

in
te
rv
en

ti
on

th
ro
ug
h
th
e
pr
io
ri
ti
sa
ti
on

an
d

im
pl
em

en
ta
ti
on

of
th
e
ev
id
en

ce
ba

se
fo
r

ef
fe
ct
iv
e
m
en

ta
lw

el
lb
ei
ng

an
d
m
en

ta
lh
ea
lt
h

pr
om

ot
io
n
in
te
rv
en

ti
on

s

A
pp

ly
in
g
th
e
ev
id
en

ce
ba
se

fo
re

ff
ec
tiv

e
m
en

ta
lh
ea
lth

in
te
rv
en

tio
ns
,

th
e
Pu

bl
ic
H
ea
lth

de
pa
rt
m
en

tw
ill
de

ve
lo
p
an
d
im

pl
em

en
tp

ro
gr
am

m
es

th
at
:

A
dd

re
ss
he

al
th

in
eq

ua
lit
ie
s

Pr
om

ot
e
po

si
tiv
e
m
en

ta
lw

el
lb
ei
ng

an
d
m
en

ta
lh
ea
lth

in
al
l

gr
ou

ps
in
th
e
co
m
m
un

ity
by

en
su
rin

g
th
at

ar
ea

ba
se
d
gr
ou

ps
ac
ro
ss
th
e
bo

ro
ug
h
co
ns
id
er

an
d
ad
dr
es
s
m
en

ta
lh
ea
lth

is
su
es

Su
pp

or
te

ar
ly
in
te
rv
en

tio
n

A
dd

re
ss
st
ig
m
a

St
ra
te
gi
es

w
ill
be

de
ve
lo
pe

d
to

im
pl
em

en
ti
nt
er
ve
nt
io
ns

al
re
ad
y
pr
ov
en

to
be

ef
fe
ct
iv
e
in
th
e
bo

ro
ug
h

Th
e
m
en

ta
lh
ea
lth

jo
in
ts
tr
at
eg
ic
ne

ed
s
as
se
ss
m
en

tw
ill
be

up
da
te
d

LB
H

LB
H

LB
H

20
13

16

20
13

16

20
13

16

A
gr
ee

an
d
im

pl
em

en
ta

su
ic
id
e
pr
ev
en

ti
on

st
ra
te
gy

W
or
k
w
ith

N
H
S
Br
en

t,
N
H
S
Ea
lin
g
an
d
N
H
S
H
ar
ro
w
to

ag
re
e
a
su
ic
id
e

pr
ev
en

tio
n
st
ra
te
gy

bu
ild
in
g
on

th
e
cu
rr
en

td
ra
ft
.

H
ill
in
gd
on

CC
G
an

d
LB
H

20
13

16

En
su
re

th
at

th
e
in
te
rf
ac
e
be

tw
ee
n
se
rv
ic
es

fo
r

ch
ild

re
n
an

d
ad

ol
es
ce
nt
s
an

d
ad

ul
tm

en
ta
lh
ea
lt
h

se
rv
ic
es

ar
e
ad

dr
es
se
d
ef
fe
ct
iv
el
y

Re
vi
ew

an
d
im

pr
ov
e
th
e
pa
th
w
ay

th
at

su
pp

or
ts
tr
an
si
tio

n
fr
om

ch
ild

an
d
ad
ol
es
ce
nt

to
ad
ul
tm

en
ta
lh
ea
lth

se
rv
ic
es

En
su
re

th
at

th
e
ne

ed
s
of

ch
ild
re
n
an
d
ad
ol
es
ce
nt
s
w
ho

se
pa
re
nt
s
ar
e

di
ag
no

se
d
w
ith

m
en

ta
lh
ea
lth

pr
ob

le
m
s
ar
e
ad
dr
es
se
d
ef
fe
ct
iv
el
y

Re
vi
ew

an
d
de

ve
lo
p
su
pp

or
tf
or

yo
un

g
ca
re
rs

H
ill
in
gd
on

CC
G
an

d
LB
H

LB
H

20
13

16

20
13

16
Su
pp

or
tp

ri
m
ar
y
ca
re

to
fu
rt
he

r
de

ve
lo
p
th
ei
r

ro
le
in
pr
ov
id
in
g
m
en

ta
lh
ea
lt
h
se
rv
ic
es

as
se
ss
m
en

t,
tr
ea
tm

en
ta

nd
su
pp

or
tb

y
de

ve
lo
pi
ng

th
e
m
en

ta
lh
ea
lt
h
se
rv
ic
es

in
fr
as
tr
uc
tu
re

w
it
hi
n
pr
im

ar
y
ca
re

an
d
en

ha
nc
in
g

ar
ra
ng
em

en
ts
fo
r
sp
ec
ia
lis
tm

en
ta
lh
ea
lt
h

se
rv
ic
es

su
pp

or
tf
or

pr
im

ar
y
ca
re

an
d
en

su
ri
ng

th
at

pe
op

le
w
ho

se
m
en

ta
lh
ea
lt
h
is

st
ab

le
ar
e

m
an

ag
ed

in
pr
im

ar
y
ca
re

Co
m
m
is
si
on

an
en

ha
nc
ed

co
m
m
un

ity
an
d
pr
im

ar
y
ca
re

ba
se
d
m
en

ta
l

he
al
th

se
rv
ic
e
th
at

en
ab
le
s
di
sc
ha
rg
e
fr
om

se
co
nd

ar
y
ca
re

an
d
en

su
re
s

th
at

as
se
ss
m
en

t,
tr
ea
tm

en
t
an
d
su
pp

or
ti
s
pr
ov
id
ed

in
th
e
le
as
t

re
st
ric
tiv
e
se
tt
in
g
po

ss
ib
le
,t
he

re
by

re
du

ci
ng

sp
ec
ia
lis
t
se
rv
ic
es

ac
tiv

ity
an
d
co
st
an
d
re

in
ve
st
in
g
in
pr
im

ar
y
ca
re

ba
se
d
m
en

ta
lh
ea
lth

se
rv
ic
es

an
d
ot
he

rc
om

m
un

ity
se
rv
ic
es
:

M
an
ag
e
pe

op
le
w
ith

se
rio

us
m
en

ta
li
lln
es
s
w
ho

se
m
en

ta
l

he
al
th

co
nd

iti
on

is
st
ab
le
ef
fe
ct
iv
el
y

Pr
ov
id
e
ef
fe
ct
iv
e
as
se
ss
m
en

ta
nd

tr
ea
tm

en
tf
or

pe
op

le
w
ith

se
rio

us
m
en

ta
li
lln
es
s
in
th
e
co
m
m
un

ity
w
he

re
po

ss
ib
le
/a
pp

ro
pr
ia
te

Pr
ov
id
e
ac
ce
ss
to

ps
yc
ho

lo
gi
ca
lt
he

ra
pi
es

fo
rp

eo
pl
e
w
ith

co
m
m
on

m
en

ta
lh
ea
lth

pr
ob

le
m
s
in
pr
im

ar
y
ca
re
/t
he

co
m
m
un

ity
.

H
ill
in
gd
on

CC
G

20
13

16

Im
pr
ov

e
cl
ie
nt

ex
pe

ri
en

ce
of

se
rv
ic
es
,r
ec
ov
er
y

D
ev
el
op

an
d
im

pl
em

en
te

ff
ec
tiv

e
in
te
gr
at
ed

ca
re

pa
th
w
ay
s
to

en
su
re

H
ill
in
gd
on

CC
G
an

d
20
13

16

Page 200



29

an
d
ou

tc
om

es
an

d
en

su
re

th
at

m
en

ta
lh
ea
lt
h

ne
ed

is
ad

dr
es
se
d
ef
fe
ct
iv
el
y
an

d
ef
fic
ie
nt
ly

th
ro
ug
h
re
de

si
gn

of
lo
ca
ls
er
vi
ce
s
an

d
th
e

im
pl
em

en
ta
ti
on

of
th
e
ev
id
en

ce
ba

se
fo
r

ef
fe
ct
iv
e
as
se
ss
m
en

t,
tr
ea
tm

en
t
an

d
su
pp

or
t

tim
el
y
ac
ce
ss
to

ef
fe
ct
iv
e,
ef
fic
ie
nt

he
al
th

an
d
so
ci
al
ca
re

as
se
ss
m
en

t,
tr
ea
tm

en
ta

nd
su
pp

or
t,
en

su
rin

g
ac
ce
ss
to

sp
ec
ia
lis
t(
ev
id
en

ce
ba
se
d)

in
te
rv
en

tio
ns

an
d
su
pp

or
t

LB
H

En
su
re

th
at

th
e
sp
ec
ia
lis
tn

ee
ds

of
se
rv
ic
e
us
er
s

ar
e
ad

dr
es
se
d
ef
fe
ct
iv
el
y
th
ro
ug
h
se
rv
ic
e

re
co
nf
ig
ur
at
io
n
an

d
re
de

si
gn

W
or
k
w
ith

N
W

Lo
nd

on
co
m
m
is
si
on

er
s
an
d
th
e
N
at
io
na
lC
om

m
is
si
on

in
g

Bo
ar
d
to

de
ve
lo
p
ef
fe
ct
iv
e:

i)
Pa
th
w
ay
s
fr
om

H
ea
th
ro
w
an
d
de

te
nt
io
n
ce
nt
re
s

ii)
Pa
th
w
ay
s
fo
rp

eo
pl
e
w
ith

a
le
ar
ni
ng

di
sa
bi
lit
y
w
ho

al
so

ha
ve

a
m
en

ta
lh
ea
lth

pr
ob

le
m

H
ill
in
gd
on

CC
G
an

d
LB
H

20
13

16

Pr
ov
id
e
as
se
ss
m
en

ta
nd

tr
ea
tm

en
tf
or

ac
ut
e

ph
ys
ic
al
an

d
m
en

ta
lh
ea
lt
h
pr
ob

le
m
s
in
th
e
le
as
t

re
st
ri
ct
iv
e
se
tt
in
g
po

ss
ib
le

W
or
k
w
ith

N
W

Lo
nd

on
co
m
m
is
si
on

er
s
to

ra
tio

na
lis
e
PI
CU

pr
ov
is
io
n

En
su
re

ef
fe
ct
iv
e
an
d
ap
pr
op

ria
te

us
e
of

in
pa
tie

nt
se
rv
ic
es

to
in
fo
rm

ac
ut
e
be

d
ca
pa
ci
ty
an
d
en

su
re

on
w
ar
d
tr
an
sf
er

of
ca
re

en
ab
le
s
tim

el
y

di
sc
ha
rg
e
an
d
ef
fe
ct
iv
e
tr
ea
tm

en
ta

nd
su
pp

or
ti
n
th
e
co
m
m
un

ity
Im

pr
ov
e
th
e
ef
fe
ct
iv
en

es
s
an
d
ef
fic
ie
nc
y
of

re
ha
bi
lit
at
io
n
se
rv
ic
es
;t
hi
s

w
ill
in
cl
ud

e
re
vi
ew

in
g
be

d
us
ag
e
an
d
de

te
rm

in
in
g
th
e
nu

m
be

rr
eq

ui
re
d

to
m
ee
tn

ee
d

Ev
al
ua
te

th
e
ps
yc
hi
at
ric

lia
is
on

se
rv
ic
e
in
H
ill
in
gd
on

H
os
pi
ta
lt
o
re
du

ce
ad
m
is
si
on

s
en

su
rin

g
ad
m
is
si
on

on
ly
w
he

re
ne

ce
ss
ar
y
to

tr
ea
ta

ph
ys
ic
al

he
al
th

ca
re

ne
ed

an
d
to

en
su
re

ef
fe
ct
iv
e
tr
ea
tm

en
to

fm
en

ta
lh
ea
lth

pr
ob

le
m
s
of

th
os
e
ad
m
itt
ed

to
ho

sp
ita

l
En
su
re

th
at

ar
ra
ng
em

en
ts
ar
e
in
pl
ac
e
to

pr
ov
id
e
ef
fe
ct
iv
e
su
pp

or
tt
o

se
rv
ic
e
us
er
s
in
cr
is
is

H
ill
in
gd
on

CC
G

H
ill
in
gd
on

CC
G

H
ill
in
gd
on

CC
G

H
ill
in
gd
on

CC
G
an

d
LB
H

20
13

16
20
13

16

20
12

13

20
13

14

En
su
re

th
at

th
e
ph

ys
ic
al
he

al
th

ca
re

ne
ed

s
of

pe
op

le
w
it
h
m
en

ta
lh
ea
lt
h
pr
ob

le
m
s
ar
e

ad
dr
es
se
d
ef
fe
ct
iv
el
y

En
su
re

co
ns
is
te
nt

an
d
ap
pr
op

ria
te

as
se
ss
m
en

ta
nd

tr
ea
tm

en
tf
or

th
e

ph
ys
ic
al
he

al
th

ne
ed

s
of

pe
op

le
w
ith

m
en

ta
lh
ea
lth

pr
ob

le
m
s
in
pr
im

ar
y

ca
re

En
su
re

th
at

se
co
nd

ar
y
ca
re

se
rv
ic
es

m
on

ito
rc
lie
nt
s’
ph

ys
ic
al
he

al
th

ca
re

ne
ed

s

H
ill
in
gd
on

CC
G

H
ill
in
gd
on

CC
G

20
13

16

20
13

16

En
su
re

ef
fe
ct
iv
e
us
e
of

re
so
ur
ce
s

Co
nt
in
ue

to
en

su
re

th
e
ef
fe
ct
iv
e
us
e
of

sp
ec
ia
lis
tm

en
ta
lh
ea
lth

pl
ac
em

en
ts

M
ax
im

is
e
th
e
be

ne
fit

of
cu
rr
en

ti
nv
es
tm

en
ti
n
or
de

rt
o
m
ak
e
be

st
us
e

of
re
so
ur
ce
s
(d
ir
ec
tc
os
ts
/i
nd

ire
ct
co
st
/c
ap
ita

lc
ha
rg
es
)

Ex
pl
or
e
th
e
po

te
nt
ia
lt
o
im

pr
ov
e
ef
fe
ct
iv
en

es
s
an
d
ef
fic
ie
nc
y
th
ro
ug
h

im
pr
ov
em

en
ts
to

th
e
m
od

el
of
:

Jo
in
td

el
iv
er
y

Jo
in
tc
om

m
is
si
on

in
g

H
ill
in
gd
on

CC
G
an

d
LB
H

H
ill
in
gd
on

CC
G

H
ill
in
gd
on

CC
G
an

d
LB
H

20
13

16

20
13

16

20
13

16

Page 201



30

Pr
om

ot
e
in
de

pe
nd

en
ce

an
d
em

po
w
er

pe
op

le
w
it
h
m
en

ta
lh
ea
lt
h
pr
ob

le
m
s
by

in
cr
ea
si
ng

th
e

su
pp

ly
of

su
pp

or
te
d
ho

us
in
g
an

d
th
e
ra
ng
e
of

se
rv
ic
es

av
ai
la
bl
e
an

d
pr
ov
id
in
g
pe

rs
on

al
is
ed

pa
ck
ag
es

of
su
pp

or
t

Re
vi
ew

an
d
im

pr
ov
e
th
e
ra
ng
e
of

se
rv
ic
es

av
ai
la
bl
e
to

en
ab
le
pe

op
le
to

liv
e
in
de

pe
nd

en
tly

as
fu
lly

pa
rt
ic
ip
at
in
g
m
em

be
rs
of

th
ei
rc
om

m
un

iti
es

(c
om

m
un

ity
co
nn

ec
tio

ns
)

D
el
iv
er

an
ad
di
tio

na
l5
5
un

its
of

su
pp

or
te
d
ho

us
in
g
ac
co
m
m
od

at
io
n
fo
r

pe
op

le
w
ith

fu
nc
tio

na
lm

en
ta
lh
ea
lth

pr
ob

le
m
s

En
su
re

th
e
pe

rs
on

al
is
at
io
n
of

ex
is
tin

g
su
pp

or
te
d
ho

us
in
g
se
rv
ic
es

fo
r

pe
op

le
w
ith

m
en

ta
lh
ea
lth

ne
ed

s
En
su
re

th
e
pe

rs
on

al
is
at
io
n
of

ex
is
tin

g
su
pp

or
te
d
ho

us
in
g
se
rv
ic
es

fo
r

pe
op

le
w
ith

m
en

ta
lh
ea
lth

pr
ob

le
m
s

LB
H

LB
H

LB
H

LB
H

20
13

16

20
13

16

20
13

16

20
13

16

En
su
re

th
at

se
rv
ic
e
us
er
s
an

d
ca
re
rs
ha

ve
ac
ce
ss

to
su
pp

or
tt
ha

ti
s
as

de
st
ig
m
at
is
in
g
an

d
em

po
w
er
in
g
as

po
ss
ib
le
an

d
ad

dr
es
se
s

in
eq

ua
lit
ie
s
in
m
en

ta
lh
ea
lt
h
st
at
us

W
or
k
w
ith

ke
y
st
ak
eh

ol
de

rs
to

re
vi
ew

al
lc
on

tr
ac
ts
w
ith

no
n
sp
ec
ia
lis
ts

m
en

ta
lh
ea
lth

se
rv
ic
es

co
m
m
is
si
on

ed
by

H
ill
in
gd
on

CC
G
an
d
LB
H
in

or
de

rt
o
es
ta
bl
is
h
an

in
te
gr
at
ed

“c
om

m
un

ity
co
nn

ec
tio

ns
”
se
rv
ic
e
(m

ay
no

tb
e
a
si
ng
le
co
nt
ra
ct
bu

tc
on

tr
ac
ts
w
ill
be

se
tw

ith
in
a
fr
am

ew
or
k

sp
ec
ify
in
g
re
qu

ire
d
ou

tc
om

es
)

W
or
k
w
ith

bm
e
an
d
fa
ith

gr
ou

ps
an
d
le
ad
er
s
to

id
en

tif
y
an
d
be

gi
n
to

ad
dr
es
s
m
en

ta
lh
ea
lth

in
eq

ua
lit
ie
s

H
ill
in
gd
on

CC
G
an

d
LB
H

H
ill
in
gd
on

CC
G
an

d
LB
H

20
13

16

20
13

16

En
su
re

th
at

se
rv
ic
e
de

liv
er
y
is
fo
cu
ss
ed

on
re
co
ve
ry
,p

er
so
na

lis
at
io
n
an

d
ou

tc
om

es
fo
r

se
rv
ic
e
us
er
s
an

d
ca
re
rs

Im
pl
em

en
tn

at
io
na
lly

ag
re
ed

pe
rf
or
m
an
ce

m
ea
su
re
s
(P
RO

M
S/
CL
O
M
S/

H
oN

O
S)

Ex
pl
or
e
th
e
po

te
nt
ia
lb
en

ef
it
of

im
pl
em

en
tin

g
a
se
rv
ic
e
us
er

ou
tc
om

e
m
ea
su
re

e.
g.
Re

co
ve
ry

St
ar

H
ill
in
gd
on

CC
G
/L
BH

/
CN

W
L

H
ill
in
gd
on

CC
G
/L
BH

/
CN

W
L

20
13

14

20
13

14

Im
pr
ov

e
su
pp

or
tt
o
ca
re
rs
of

ad
ul
ts
w
it
h
m
en

ta
l

he
al
th

ne
ed

s
Ex
pl
or
e
th
e
ne

ed
to

es
ta
bl
is
h
a
Bo

ro
ug
h
w
id
e
fo
ru
m

fo
rc
ar
er
s
of

pe
op

le
w
ith

m
en

ta
lh
ea
lth

pr
ob

le
m
s

Es
ta
bl
is
h
a
pr
og
ra
m
m
e
of

co
ur
se
s
ru
n
by

th
e
Re

co
ve
ry

Co
lle
ge

so
th
at

a
pr
og
ra
m
m
e
fo
r
ca
re
rs
in
H
ill
in
gd
on

is
pr
ov
id
ed

ro
ut
in
el
y

A
dd

re
ss
th
e
ps
yc
ho

lo
gi
ca
ln
ee
ds

of
ca
re
rs
by

pr
om

ot
in
g
aw

ar
en

es
s
of

th
e
rig

ht
of

ca
re
rs
to

re
fe
rr
al
to

ps
yc
ho

lo
gi
ca
lt
he

ra
pi
es

in
th
ei
ro

w
n

rig
ht

am
on

gs
tG

Ps
an
d
ot
he

rp
ro
fe
ss
io
na
ls

W
or
k
w
ith

ca
re
rs
–
in
di
vi
du

al
ly
an
d
co
lle
ct
iv
el
y

to
fin

d
ef
fe
ct
iv
e
w
ay
s

of
pr
ov
id
in
g
su
pp

or
tw

he
n
th
e
pe

rs
on

th
ey

su
pp

or
ti
s
in
cr
is
is

H
ill
in
gd
on

CC
G
/L
BH

/
CN

W
L

H
ill
in
gd
on

CC
G
/L
BH

/
CN

W
L

H
ill
in
gd
on

CC
G
/L
BH

/
CN

W
L

H
ill
in
gd
on

CC
G
/L
BH

/
CN

W
L

20
13

14

20
13

14

20
13

14

20
13

14

En
su
re

th
e
ef
fe
ct
iv
e
in
vo
lv
em

en
to

fs
er
vi
ce

us
er
s

in
se
rv
ic
e
de

liv
er
y
an

d
pl
an

ni
ng

W
or
k
w
ith

se
rv
ic
e
us
er
s
an
d
ke
y
ag
en

ci
es

to
de

ve
lo
p
th
e
Bo

ro
ug
h
w
id
e

se
rv
ic
e
us
er

fo
ru
m

to
en

su
re

ef
fe
ct
iv
e
in
vo
lv
em

en
to

fs
er
vi
ce

us
er
s
in

se
rv
ic
e
de

liv
er
y
an
d
pl
an
ni
ng

Es
ta
bl
is
h
a
pr
og
ra
m
m
e
of

co
ur
se
s
ru
n
by

th
e
Re

co
ve
ry

Co
lle
ge

so
th
at

a
pr
og
ra
m
m
e
fo
rs
er
vi
ce

us
er
s
in
H
ill
in
gd
on

is
pr
ov
id
ed

ro
ut
in
el
y

H
ill
in
gd
on

CC
G
/L
BH

/
CN

W
L

H
ill
in
gd
on

CC
G
/C
N
W
L

20
13

16

20
13

16

Page 202



31

PA
RT

3:
SE
RV

IC
ES

FO
R
O
LD

ER
A
D
U
LT
S
W
IT
H
M
EN

TA
L
H
EA

LT
H

PR
O
BL
EM

S
IN

H
IL
LI
N
G
D
O
N

3.
1
Th

e
de

ve
lo
pm

en
to

fs
er
vi
ce
s
fo
r
ol
de

r
ad

ul
ts
w
it
h
m
en

ta
lh

ea
lt
h

pr
ob

le
m
s
in
H
ill
in
gd
on

20
11

13

H
ill
in
gd
on

CC
G
an
d
LB
H
ha
ve

be
en

w
or
ki
ng

to
ge
th
er

to
ag
re
e
a
st
ra
te
gy

fo
rt
he

im
pr
ov
em

en
to

fs
er
vi
ce
s
fo
ro

ld
er

ad
ul
ts
w
ith

m
en

ta
lh
ea
lth

pr
ob

le
m
s
an
d
th
ei
r
ca
re
rs
fo
ri
m
pl
em

en
ta
tio

n
20

13
20

16
.T
he

ob
je
ct
iv
e
is

to
en

su
re

th
at

pe
op

le
w
ith

de
m
en

tia
an
d
th
ei
r
ca
re
rs
liv
in
g
in
H
ill
in
gd
on

ha
ve

tim
el
y
ac
ce
ss
to

ev
id
en

ce
ba
se
d
as
se
ss
m
en

t,
tr
ea
tm

en
ta

nd
su
pp

or
t

i.e
.a
s
de

fin
ed

in
th
e
N
at
io
na
lD

em
en

tia
St
ra
te
gy

31
an
d
SC
IE
gu
id
el
in
es

fo
rd

em
en

tia
32
.E
ar
ly
in
20

12
,b
ot
h
or
ga
ni
sa
tio

ns
pr
io
ri
tis
ed

an
d
m
ad
e
a

co
m
m
itm

en
tt
o
th
e
im

pr
ov
em

en
to

fs
er
vi
ce
s
fo
ra

du
lts

w
ith

m
en

ta
l

he
al
th

pr
ob

le
m
s:

En
su
rin

g
th
at

he
al
th

an
d
so
ci
al

ca
re

se
rv
ic
es

w
or
k
to
ge
th
er

w
ith

pa
rt
ne

rs
to

de
liv
er

ef
fe
ct
iv
e
as
se
ss
m
en

t,
tr
ea
tm

en
ta

nd
su
pp

or
t

En
su
rin

g
th
at

re
so
ur
ce
s
ar
e
us
ed

ef
fe
ct
iv
el
y
an
d
ef
fic
ie
nt
ly

O
pt
im

is
in
g
th
e
ex
pe

ri
e n

ce
of

se
rv
ic
es

an
d
ou

tc
om

es
fo
r
pe

op
le

di
ag
no

se
d
w
ith

de
m
en

tia
an
d
th
ei
r
ca
re
rs

En
su
rin

g
tim

el
y
di
ag
no

si
s
an
d
ea
rl
y
in
te
rv
en

tio
n,

in
cl
ud

in
g
th
e

pr
ov
is
io
n
of

in
fo
rm

at
io
n
an
d
ad
vi
ce

Pr
ov
id
in
g

as
se
ss
m
en

t,
tr
ea
tm

en
t
an
d

su
pp

or
t
in

co
m
m
un

ity
se
tt
in
gs

an
d
to

th
e
de

ve
lo
pm

en
to

fa
jo
in
ts
tr
at
eg
y.
In
or
de

r
to

de
ve
lo
p
a
ro
bu

st
st
ra
te
gy
, a

m
ul
ti
ag
en

cy
ca
pa
ci
ty

pl
an
ni
ng

an
d
se
rv
ic
e
m
od

el
lin
g
ex
er
ci
se

w
as

un
de

rt
ak
en

du
ri
ng

20
12

/1
3.

31
Li
vi
ng

w
el
lw

ith
de

m
en

tia
:A

N
at
io
na
lD

em
en

tia
St
ra
te
gy
,D

H
,2
00

9
32

Cl
in
ic
al
G
ui
de

lin
e
42
:
D
em

en
tia

:s
up

po
rt
in
g
pe

op
le
w
ith

de
m
en

tia
an
d
th
ei
rc
ar
er
s
in
he

al
th

an
d

so
ci
al
ca
re
,N

IC
E/
SC
IE
,2
00

6

A
s
a
re
su
lt
of

th
e
co
m
m
itm

en
tt
o
im

pr
ov
e
se
rv
ic
es

fo
r
ol
de

ra
du

lts
w
ith

m
en

ta
lh
ea
lth

pr
ob

le
m
s,
th
e
fo
llo
w
in
g
sp
ec
ifi
c
de

ve
lo
pm

en
ts
ar
e
be

in
g

im
pl
em

en
te
d
w
ith

co
m
pl
et
io
n
20

12
/1
3:

Es
ta
bl
is
hm

en
to

fa
m
em

or
y
as
se
ss
m
en

ts
er
vi
ce

to
re
pl
ac
e
th
e
ex
is
tin

g
m
em

or
y

cl
in
ic
;

th
e

ne
w

se
rv
ic
e

w
ill

co
m
m
en

ce
op

er
at
io
n

in
N
ov
em

be
r
20

12
an
d
w
ill
be

fu
lly

op
er
at
io
na
lb

y
Fe
br
ua
ry

20
13

.(
Th
is

de
ve
lo
pm

en
t
ha
s
be

en
ac
hi
ev
ed

by
re

in
ve
st
in
g
re
so
ur
ce
s
co
m
m
itt
ed

to
un

oc
cu
pi
ed

in
pa
tie

nt
be

ds
)

Tr
ai
ni
ng

fo
r
th
e

H
ill
in
gd
on

w
or
kf
or
ce

us
in
g

Se
ct
io
n

25
6

m
on

ie
s

al
lo
ca
te
d
to

LB
H

Th
e
A
lz
he

im
er
’s
So
ci
et
y
ha
ve

re
ce
nt
ly

op
en

ed
an

ad
di
tio

na
l
2
ca
fe
s

w
ith

in
th
e
bo

ro
ug
h
sp
ec
ifi
ca
lly

fo
rc
ar
er
s
of

pe
op

le
w
ith

de
m
en

tia
A
sp
ec
ia
lis
t
de

m
en

tia
in
fo
rm

at
io
n,

ad
vi
ce

an
d
gu
id
an
ce

se
rv
ic
e
ha
s

re
ce
nt
ly

be
en

es
ta
bl
is
he

d.
Th
is

se
rv
ic
e

is
av
ai
la
bl
e

to
al
l
ca
re
rs

re
ga
rd
le
ss
of

ag
e
i.e
.n
ot

re
st
ric
te
d
fo
r
ca
re
rs
of

ol
de

ra
du

lts
H
ill
in
gd
on

Ca
re
rs
op

er
at
es

as
th
e
lo
ca
l“
O
ne

St
op

Sh
op

”.
It
ha
s
3
ca
fe
s

lo
ca
te
d
ac
ro
ss

th
e
bo

ro
ug
h
pr
ov
id
in
g
go
od

ge
og
ra
ph

ic
al

ac
ce
ss

an
d

pr
ov
id
in
g
fle

xi
bi
lit
y
as

th
ey

of
fe
r
dr
op

in
se
ss
io
ns

w
hi
ch

do
no

t
re
qu

ire
pr
e
bo

ok
ed

ap
po

in
tm

en
ts

Re
vi
si
on

of
th
e
de

pl
oy
m
en

t
of

A
dm

ir
al

N
ur
se
s
Sc
he

m
e
to

of
fe
r
a

sp
ec
ia
lis
t
1:
1,

in
di
vi
du

al
ly

ta
ilo
re
d
se
rv
ic
e
fo
r
ca
re
rs

of
ol
de

r
ad
ul
ts

w
ith

m
en

ta
lh
ea
lth

pr
ob

le
m
s

Page 203



32

In
20

11
,t
he

LB
H
Ex
te
rn
al
Se
rv
ic
es

Co
m
m
itt
ee

co
m
pl
et
ed

a
re
vi
ew

of
de

m
en

tia
se
rv
ic
es

in
H
ill
in
gd
on

.T
he

Co
m
m
itt
ee

fo
un

d
th
at

a
si
gn
ifi
ca
nt

nu
m
be

ro
fp

eo
pl
e
w
er
e
no

tu
si
ng

se
rv
ic
es

as
th
ey

ha
d
no

tb
ee
n

di
ag
no

se
d
w
ith

de
m
en

tia
an
d
th
ei
r
pr
es
en

ta
tio

n
di
d
no

tr
eq

ui
re

su
pp

or
t

fr
om

sp
ec
ia
lis
tm

en
ta
lh
ea
lth

se
rv
ic
es
.I
tc
on

cl
ud

ed
th
at

it
w
as

be
st
to

fo
cu
s
on

pe
op

le
kn
ow

to
se
rv
ic
es

as
th
er
e
ar
e
no

ts
uf
fic
ie
nt

re
so
ur
ce
s
to

m
ee
tt
he

ne
ed

s
of

ev
er
yo
ne

w
ho

m
ay

ha
ve

de
m
en

tia
.I
n
ge
ne

ra
l,
th
e

gr
ou

p
kn
ow

n
to

se
rv
ic
es

w
ou

ld
be

th
os
e
m
os
ti
n
ne

ed
of

se
rv
ic
es

an
d

th
er
ef
or
e
th
e
gr
ou

p
on

w
hi
ch

se
rv
ic
es

sh
ou

ld
be

ta
rg
et
ed

.
A
s
a
re
su
lt
of

th
e
w
or
k
of

th
e
Ex
te
rn
al
Se
rv
ic
es

Co
m
m
itt
ee
,t
he

re
co
m
m
en

da
tio

ns
in

Fi
gu
re

15
be

lo
w
w
er
e
m
ad

e.

Fi
gu
re

15
:L
BH

Ex
te
rn
al
Se
rv
ic
es

Co
m
m
it
te
e
re
vi
ew

of
de

m
en

ti
a
se
rv
ic
es

20
11

12
:s
um

m
ar
y
of

re
co
m
m
en

da
ti
on

s
LB
H
Ex
te
rn
al
Se
rv
ic
es

Co
m
m
it
te
e
Re

vi
ew

of
D
em

en
ti
a
Se
rv
ic
es

20
11
:S
um

m
ar
y
of

Re
co
m
m
en

da
ti
on

s

Re
co
m
m
en

da
ti
on

1
To

en
su
re

tim
el
y
as
se
ss
m
en

t,
di
ag
no

si
s
an
d
tr
ea
tm

en
to

fd
em

en
tia

,C
ab
in
et

re
qu

es
ts
th
at

H
ill
in
gd
on

CC
G
an
d
th
e
Lo
ca
lC
lin
ic
al
Co

m
m
is
si
on

in
g
G
ro
up

be
as
ke
d
to

ex
pl
or
e
th
e
ex
pa
ns
io
n
of

m
em

or
y
cl
in
ic
se
rv
ic
es

in
H
ill
in
gd
on

an
d
th
at

th
is
be

do
ne

on
a
m
ul
ti
di
sc
ip
lin
ar
y,
m
ul
ti
ag
en

cy
ba
si
s,
re
po

rt
in
g
ba
ck

to
th
e
H
ea
lth

an
d

W
el
lb
ei
ng

Bo
ar
d

Re
co
m
m
en

da
ti
on

2
Th
at

Ca
bi
ne

tg
iv
es

its
fu
ll
su
pp

or
tf
or

th
e
de

ve
lo
pm

en
to

fa
si
ng
le
po

in
to

fa
cc
es
s
th
ro
ug
h
th
e
Co

un
ci
l’s

on
lin
e
in
fo
rm

at
io
n
po

rt
al
(w
hi
ch

w
ill
be

pr
ov
id
ed

in
pa
rt
ne

rs
hi
p
w
ith

th
e
W
es
tL
on

do
n
Al
lia
nc
e)

to
en

su
re

th
at

pe
op

le
w
ith

de
m
en

tia
an
d
th
ei
rc
ar
er
s/
fa
m
ili
es

ca
n
ac
ce
ss
tim

el
y
in
fo
rm

at
io
n,
ad
vi
ce

an
d
si
gn

po
st
in
g

to
th
e
m
em

or
y
cl
in
ic
an
d
ot
he

ra
pp

ro
pr
ia
te

se
rv
ic
es

to
ai
d
ea
rly

di
ag
no

si
s

Re
co
m
m
en

da
ti
on

3
Th
at

Ca
bi
ne

te
nd

or
se
s
th
e
W
or
ki
ng

G
ro
up

’s
en

th
us
ia
st
ic
su
pp

or
tf
or

th
e
w
id
er

di
st
rib

ut
io
n
as

w
el
la
s
on

lin
e
pu

bl
ic
at
io
n
of

th
e
de

m
en

tia
in
fo
rm

at
io
n
bo

ok
le
tt
o

G
Ps
,o
th
er

pr
of
es
si
on

al
s
an
d
vo
lu
nt
ar
y
or
ga
ni
sa
tio

ns
an
d,
in
pa
rt
ic
ul
ar
,t
o
pe

op
le
w
ith

de
m
en

tia
an
d
th
ei
rc
ar
er
s.

A
s
su
ch
,C
ab
in
et

ag
re
es

th
at

of
fic
er
s
w
or
k
w
ith

N
H
S
pa
rt
ne

rs
to

en
co
ur
ag
e
th
em

to
id
en

tif
y
fu
nd

in
g
st
re
am

s
to

en
ab
le
th
is
w
id
er

di
st
rib

ut
io
n

Re
co
m
m
en

da
ti
on

4
Th
at

Ca
bi
ne

tt
ak
es

in
to

co
ns
id
er
at
io
n
th
e
in
cr
ea
si
ng

pr
es
su
re

on
th
os
e
vo
lu
nt
ar
y
se
ct
or

or
ga
ni
sa
tio

ns
th
at

de
liv
er

se
rv
ic
es

to
pe

op
le
w
ith

de
m
en

tia
w
he

n
de

ve
lo
pi
ng

its
bu

dg
et

pr
op

os
al
s
fo
r2

01
3/
20
14

on
w
ar
ds

Re
co
m
m
en

da
ti
on

5
Th
at

Ca
bi
ne

ta
gr
ee
s
th
at

th
e
in
fo
rm

at
io
n
ga
th
er
ed

fr
om

th
e
D
em

en
tia

St
ak
eh

ol
de

rE
ve
nt

he
ld
on

12
Ja
nu

ar
y
20
12

an
d
th
ro
ug
ho

ut
th
is
re
vi
ew

be
us
ed

to
fo
rm

th
e
fo
un

da
tio

n
of

H
ill
in
gd
on

’s
D
em

en
tia

St
ra
te
gy

Re
co
m
m
en

da
ti
on

6
Th
at

Ca
bi
ne

te
nd

or
se
s
th
e
pr
ov
is
io
n
of

a
pr
og
ra
m
m
e
of

ef
fe
ct
iv
e
ba
si
c
tr
ai
ni
ng

an
d
co
nt
in
uo

us
pr
of
es
si
on

al
an
d
vo
ca
tio

na
ld
ev
el
op

m
en

ti
n
re
la
tio

n
to

de
m
en

tia
fo
rc
om

m
un

ity
he

al
th

an
d
so
ci
al
ca
re

st
af
f,
G
Ps

an
d
st
af
fw

ith
in
ca
re

ho
m
es

to
be

de
ve
lo
pe

d
jo
in
tly

by
th
e
Co

un
ci
la
nd

H
ill
in
gd
on

CC
G

An
d
th
e
fo
llo
w
in
g
pr
io
ri
tie

s
fo
rd

em
en

tia
w
er
e
ag
re
ed

by
LB
H
an
d

H
ill
in
gd
on

CC
G
:

To
in
cr
ea
se

aw
ar
en

es
s
an
d
un

de
rs
ta
nd

in
g
of

de
m
en

tia
To

de
ve
lo
p
ea
rl
y
di
ag
no

si
s
an
d
in
te
rv
en

tio
n

To
en

su
re

a
hi
gh

qu
al
ity

of
ca
re
/l
iv
in
g
w
el
lw

ith
de

m
en

tia
To

re
du

ce
de

m
en

tia
re
la
te
d
ho

sp
ita

la
dm

is
si
on

s
an
d
av
oi
da
bl
e

ca
re

co
st
s

To
su
pp

or
tr
es
id
en

ts
in
th
e
co
m
m
un

ity
To

fa
ci
lit
at
e
fu
tu
re

pl
an
ni
ng

i.e
.f
in
an
ce
s/
de

ci
si
on

s
In
ad
di
tio

n
to

th
e
sp
ec
ifi
c
w
or
k
on

se
rv
ic
es

fo
ro

ld
er

ad
ul
ts
w
ith

m
en

ta
l

he
al
th

pr
ob

le
m
s,
th
er
e
ha
s
be

en
a
fo
cu
s
on

th
e
im

pr
ov
em

en
to

fs
er
vi
ce
s

fo
ro

ld
er

ad
ul
ts
w
ith

ph
ys
ic
al
he

al
th

ca
re

ne
ed

s.
In
iti
at
iv
es

in
cl
ud

e
th
e

ag
re
em

en
to

fa
pl
an

fo
ri
m
pr
ov
em

en
to

fs
er
vi
ce
s
fo
r
ol
de

rp
eo

pl
e
20

12
16

33
an
d
an

“o
ut

of
ho

sp
ita

l”
st
ra
te
gy
.
Th
es
e
in
iti
at
iv
es

in
cl
ud

e

33
O
ld
er

Pe
op

le
’s
Co

m
m
is
si
on

in
g
Pl
an

20
12

16
,H

ill
in
gd
on

CC
G
an
d
LB
H
,2
01
2

Page 204



33

es
ta
bl
is
hi
ng

a
ra
ng
e
of

in
te
rm

ed
ia
te

ca
re

se
rv
ic
es

in
cl
ud

in
g
a
ra
pi
d

re
sp
on

se
te
am

to
as
se
ss
an
d
su
pp

or
to

ld
er

ad
ul
ts
in
th
e
co
m
m
un

ity
w
he

n
in
cr
is
is
,o
ff
er
in
g
al
te
rn
at
iv
es

to
ho

sp
ita

la
dm

is
si
on

an
d
th
e
es
ta
bl
is
hm

en
t

of
a
ra
pi
d
as
se
ss
m
en

tt
ea
m

in
th
e
ac
ci
de

nt
an
d
em

er
ge
nc
y
de

pa
rt
m
en

ta
t

Th
e
H
ill
in
gd
on

H
os
pi
ta
l.
Th

e
ai
m

of
th
is
te
am

is
to

en
su
re

ad
m
is
si
on

to
an

in
pa
tie

nt
be

d
on

ly
w
he

n
th
is
is
th
e
ap
pr
op

ria
te

re
sp
on

se
to

th
e

pr
es
en

tin
g
ne

ed
.O

ld
er

ad
ul
ts
w
ith

m
en

ta
lh
ea
lth

pr
ob

le
m
s
ar
e
in
cl
ud

ed
in
th
e
cr
ite

ria
fo
rt
he

se
se
rv
ic
es
,a
lth

ou
gh

ad
di
tio

na
lm

en
ta
lh
ea
lth

ex
pe

rt
is
e
is
ne

ed
ed

to
re
al
is
e
th
e
fu
ll
po

te
nt
ia
lt
o
su
pp

or
tt
he

m
ef
fe
ct
iv
el
y.

Se
e
Fi
gu
re

16
op

po
si
te
.

Fi
gu
re

16
:H

ill
in
gd
on

re
vi
se
d
in
te
rm

ed
ia
te

ca
re

m
od

el
20

12

Page 205



34

Fo
llo
w
in
g
st
ra
te
gi
c
w
or
k
un

de
rt
ak
en

ac
ro
ss
N
W

Lo
nd

on
,t
he

im
pl
em

en
ta
tio

n
of

in
te
gr
at
ed

ca
re

pa
th
w
ay
s
(IC

Ps
)f
or
:

El
de

rly
fr
ai
la
du

lts
(e
ld
er
ly
fr
ai
lI
CP

fo
ra

du
lts

ag
ed

75
ye
ar
s
an
d

ov
er
)

O
ld
er

ad
ul
ts
w
ith

m
en

ta
lh
ea
lth

pr
ob

le
m

(m
en

ta
lh
ea
lth

IC
P)

ha
s
be

en
pr
io
rit
is
ed

as
a
ke
y
st
ra
te
gy

fo
ri
m
pr
ov
ed

ef
fe
ct
iv
en

es
s
an
d

ef
fic
ie
nc
y,
pa
tie

nt
ex
pe

rie
nc
e
an
d
ou

tc
om

es
.
Th
e
de

ve
lo
pm

en
to

f
ef
fe
ct
iv
e
ca
re

pa
th
w
ay
s
fo
r
pe

op
le
w
ith

de
m
en

tia
ha
s
be

en
pr
io
rit
is
ed

w
ith

in
th
is
.
Th

e
ef
fe
ct
iv
e
m
an
ag
em

en
to

fp
eo

pl
e
w
ith

co
m
pl
ex

ne
ed

s
th
ro
ug
h
im

pr
ov
ed

m
ul
ti
di
sc
ip
lin
ar
y
w
or
ki
ng

in
pr
im

ar
y
ca
re

is
a
ke
y

co
m
po

ne
nt

of
th
e
pr
op

os
ed

im
pr
ov
em

en
ts
.

Th
e
m
en

ta
lh
ea
lth

IC
P
pr
io
ri
tis
es

th
e
im

pl
em

en
ta
tio

n
of

ps
yc
hi
at
ri
c
lia
is
on

in
ac
ut
e
ho

sp
ita

ls
in
or
de

r
to

en
su
re

ap
pr
op

ri
at
e
re
sp
on

se
to

cr
is
es

an
d

th
e
pr
ov
is
io
n
of

al
te
rn
at
iv
es

to
ho

sp
ita

la
ss
es
sm

en
ta

nd
tr
ea
tm

en
tw

he
re

ap
pr
op

ria
te
,e
ns
ur
in
g
ef
fe
ct
iv
e
m
an
ag
em

en
ta

nd
ap
pr
op

ri
at
e
us
e
of

re
so
ur
ce
s.

H
ill
in
gd
on

CC
G
co
m
m
is
si
on

s
a
sp
ec
ia
lis
ta

ss
es
sm

en
t,
tr
ea
tm

en
ta

nd
se
rv
ic
e
fo
ro

ld
er

ad
ul
ts
w
ith

m
en

ta
lh
ea
lth

pr
ob

le
m
s.
Th
e
se
rv
ic
e

co
m
pr
is
es

a
co
m
m
un

ity
m
en

ta
lh
ea
lth

te
am

an
d
in
pa
tie

nt
se
rv
ic
es
.
Th
e

CC
G
ha
s
al
so

re
ce
nt
ly
co
m
m
is
si
on

ed
a
m
em

or
y
as
se
ss
m
en

ts
er
vi
ce
.

Sp
ec
ia
lis
ts
er
vi
ce
s
fo
rp

eo
pl
e
w
ith

de
m
en

tia
ne

ed
si
gn
ifi
ca
nt

im
pr
ov
em

en
ta

s
th
er
e
ar
e
co
nc
er
ns

ab
ou

tc
ap
ac
ity

an
d
cu
rr
en

tp
at
hw

ay
s

to
an
d
w
ith

in
th
es
e.
Co

nc
er
ns

in
cl
ud

e
en

su
ri
ng

th
at

a
di
ag
no

si
s
of

de
m
en

tia
is
m
ad
e
ea
rl
y,
pr
ov
id
in
g
ef
fe
ct
iv
e
su
pp

or
tt
o
ca
re
rs
to

en
ab
le

th
em

to
co
nt
in
ue

in
th
ei
r
ca
ri
ng

ro
le
–
id
en

tif
ie
d
as

th
e
to
p
pr
io
ri
ty
fo
r

im
pr
ov
em

en
ti
n
H
ill
in
gd
on

,e
ff
ec
tiv

e
cr
is
is
re
sp
on

se
an
d
in
te
ns
iv
e
ho

m
e

tr
ea
tm

en
ts
er
vi
ce
s
an
d
im

pr
ov
in
g
th
e
qu

al
ity

of
ca
re

in
so
m
e
re
si
de

nt
ia
l

an
d
nu

rs
in
g
ho

m
e
se
tt
in
gs

.A
ga
p
an
al
ys
is
un

de
rt
ak
en

by
st
ak
eh

ol
de

rs

in
vo
lv
ed

in
ca
pa
ci
ty

pl
an
ni
ng

an
d
m
od

el
lin
g
w
or
k
pr
io
rit
is
ed

th
e

im
pr
ov
em

en
ts
re
qu

ir
ed

.S
ee

Fi
gu
re

17
be

lo
w
.I
n
ad
di
tio

n,
de

ta
ile
d

in
te
gr
at
ed

ca
re

pa
th
w
ay
s
fo
ro

ld
er

ad
ul
ts
w
ith

de
m
en

tia
ar
e
un

de
r

de
ve
lo
pm

en
t.
Th
is
is
w
or
k
in
pr
og
re
ss
.C

op
ie
s
of

th
e
cu
rr
en

td
ra
ft

pa
th
w
ay
s
ar
e
av
ai
la
bl
e
on

re
qu

es
t3

4 .

Fi
gu
re

17
:G

ap
an

al
ys
is
:d

em
en

ti
a
ca
pa

ci
ty

pl
an

ni
ng

an
d
m
od

el
lin

g
pr
oj
ec
t2

01
2

Se
rv
ic
e

Ra
ti
ng

N
ot
es

Cr
is
is
Su
pp

or
t(
Ra

pi
d
Re

sp
on

se
)

H
om

e
Tr
ea
tm

en
t

Ex
tr
a
Ca
re

H
om

es
D
em

en
tia

A
dd

iti
on

al
69

pl
ac
es
.
Ag

re
em

en
tt
o
fu
nd

.

M
em

or
y
As
se
ss
m
en

tS
er
vi
ce

A
dd

iti
on

al
in
ve
st
m
en

ti
n
3
D
em

en
tia

Ad
vi
so
rs

Su
pp

or
tF

or
Ca

re
rs

Re
sp
ite

Ca
re

En
ab
le
ca
re
rs
to

ha
ve

qu
al
ity

of
lif
e
to

m
ai
nt
ai
n
ca
ri
ng

ro
le
:

2
ho

ur
s
to

24
/7

fle
xi
bl
e

si
tt
in
g
se
rv
ic
e

be
d
an
d
ho

m
e
ba

se
d

In
fo
rm

at
io
n
an
d
A
dv
ic
e

D
ay
tim

e
an
d
So
ci
al
A
ct
iv
ity

D
em

en
tia

Pu
bl
ic
Aw

ar
en

es
s

Tr
ai
ni
ng

fo
rS

up
po

rt

St
af
fa

nd
Pr
of
es
si
on

al
s

CN
W
L

Re
si
de

nt
ia
lC
ar
e
/
N
ur
si
ng

H
om

es
G
Ps

Li
ai
so
n
w
ith

Re
si
de

nt
ia
lC
ar
e
/
N
ur
si
ng

H
om

es
Ps
yc
hi
at
ri
c
Li
ai
so
n
(A
cu
te
)

34
Co

nt
ac
t:
Fi
on

a
D
av
ie
s,
Sn
rC

om
m
is
si
on

in
g
M
an
ag
er
:f
io
na
.d
av
ie
s4
@
nh

s.
ne

t

Page 206



35

Yo
un

g
O
ns
et

D
em

en
tia

LD
an
d
D
em

en
tia

In
te
rm

ed
ia
te

Ca
re

Ke
y

'D
ou

bl
e
re
d'
:S
ig
ni
fic
an
tg

ap
&
ke
y
pr
io
rit
y

Re
d:

Si
gn
ifi
ca
nt

ga
p
an
d
a
pr
io
ri
ty

A
m
be

r
re
d:

Ex
is
tin

g
se
rv
ic
e
ad
eq

ua
te

bu
ta

pr
io
ri
ty
fo
rf
ur
th
er

de
ve
lo
pm

en
t

Am
be

r:
Ex
is
tin

g
se
rv
ic
e
ad

eq
ua
te

no
ta

pr
io
ri
ty
fo
rf
ur
th
er

de
ve
lo
pm

en
t

N
o
ra
tin

g:
no

ta
ss
es
se
d
to

da
te

LB
H
co
m
m
is
si
on

s
a
ca
re

m
an
ag
em

en
ts
er
vi
ce

w
hi
ch

w
or
ks

al
on

gs
id
e
th
e

sp
ec
ia
lis
tm

en
ta
lh
ea
lth

se
rv
ic
e
as

w
el
la
s
co
m
m
is
si
on

in
g
su
pp

or
ta

nd
ac
co
m
m
od

at
io
n
in
th
e
co
m
m
un

ity
th
ro
ug
h
vo
lu
nt
ar
y
se
ct
or

an
d
pr
iv
at
e

se
rv
ic
e
pr
ov
id
er
s.

In
ad
di
tio

n
to

th
e
ab
ov
e,

H
ill
in
gd
on

CC
G
ha
s
a
nu

m
be

r
of

ca
re
r
fo
ru
m
s

w
hi
ch

pr
ov
id
e
op

po
rt
un

ity
fo
r
us
er

fe
ed

ba
ck

w
hi
ch

ar
e
us
ed

fo
r
se
rv
ic
e

im
pr
ov
em

en
t/
re
de

si
gn
.

3.
2
U
se

of
re
so
ur
ce
s
in
se
rv
ic
es

fo
r
ol
de

r
ad

ul
ts
w
it
h
m
en

ta
lh

ea
lt
h

pr
ob

le
m
s
in
H
ill
in
gd
on

3.
2.
1
H
ill
in
gd

on
CC

G
an

d
LB
H
:U

se
of

re
so
ur
ce
s
fo
r
ol
de

r
ad

ul
ts
w
it
h

m
en

ta
lh

ea
lt
h
pr
ob

le
m
s

LB
H
an
d
H
ill
in
gd
on

CC
G
in
ve
st
£1

98
.6
8
pe

rh
ea
d
in
ol
de

rp
eo

pl
e’
s
m
en

ta
l

he
al
th

se
rv
ic
es
.T
hi
s
in
ve
st
m
en

ti
s
cu
rr
en

tly
in
ve
st
ed

in
se
rv
ic
es

th
at

ar
e

si
gn
ifi
ca
nt
ly
be

d
ba
se
d.
In
ad
di
tio

n,
th
er
e
is
si
gn
ifi
ca
nt

in
ap
pr
op

ri
at
e
us
e

of
ac
ut
e
ge
ne

ra
lh
os
pi
ta
lb
ed

s
by

ol
de

r
pe

op
le
w
ith

de
m
en

tia
.R

ec
en

t
w
or
k
w
ith

in
bo

th
or
ga
ni
sa
tio

ns
an
d
ac
ro
ss
N
W

Lo
nd

on
ha
s
de

m
on

st
ra
te
d

th
at

th
er
e
is
po

te
nt
ia
lt
o
ac
hi
ev
e
si
gn
ifi
ca
nt

ef
fic
ie
nc
ie
s
an
d
im

pr
ov
em

en
t

to
ef
fe
ct
iv
en

es
s,
pa
tie

nt
ex
pe

ri
en

ce
an
d
ou

tc
om

es
th
ro
ug
h
a
sh
ift

fr
om

be
d
ba
se
d
to

co
m
m
un

ity
ba
se
d
se
rv
ic
es
.

3.
2.
2
H
ill
in
gd

on
CC

G
:u

se
of

re
so
ur
ce
s
fo
r
ol
de

r
ad

ul
ts
w
it
h
m
en

ta
l

he
al
th

pr
ob

le
m
s

H
ill
in
gd
on

CC
G
in
ve
st
s
£4

.8
m

in
se
rv
ic
es

fo
ro

ld
er

pe
op

le
w
ith

m
en

ta
l

he
al
th

pr
ob

le
m
s.

£4
.5
m

of
th
e
to
ta
lI
s
in
ve
st
ed

w
ith

CN
W
L.
£3

.7
m

of
th
is

to
ta
l i
s
in
ve
st
ed

in
ac
ut
e
in
pa
tie

nt
se
rv
ic
es
.

3.
2.
3
Lo
nd

on
Bo

ro
ug
h
of

H
ill
in
gd
on

:u
se

of
re
so
ur
ce
s
fo
r
ol
de

r
ad

ul
ts

w
it
h
m
en

ta
lh
ea
lt
h
pr
ob

le
m
s

LB
H
do

es
no

td
iff
er
en

tia
te

be
tw

ee
n
in
ve
st
m
en

ti
n
se
rv
ic
es

fo
rp

eo
pl
e

w
ith

de
m
en

tia
an
d
ex
pe

nd
itu

re
on

se
rv
ic
es

fo
ro

ld
er

pe
op

le
al
th
ou

gh
in
fo
rm

at
io
n
is
av
ai
la
bl
e
on

ex
pe

nd
itu

re
on

re
si
de

nt
ia
la
nd

nu
rs
in
g
ho

m
e

ca
re
.

In
20

12
11

,L
BH

sp
en

t5
1
pe

rc
en

to
fi
ts
to
ta
le
xp
en

di
tu
re

on
se
rv
ic
es

fo
r

ol
de

rp
eo

pl
e
–
2
pe

rc
en

tl
es
s
th
an

th
e
ex
pe

nd
itu

re
of

its
co
m
pa
ra
to
r

gr
ou

p
an
d
5
pe

rc
en

tl
es
s
th
an

th
e
av
er
ag
e
fo
rE

ng
la
nd

.
To

ta
le
xp
en

di
tu
re

w
as

£3
6m

.£
22

m
w
as

sp
en

to
n
re
si
de

nt
ia
l/
nu

rs
in
g
ca
re

an
d
£6

.2
m

on
do

m
ic
ili
ar
y
an
d
da
y
se
rv
ic
es
.O

ft
he

2,
53

1
pe

op
le
re
ce
iv
in
g
do

m
ic
ili
ar
y

ca
re
,1
56

ha
d
be

en
di
ag
no

se
d
w
ith

de
m
en

tia
.O

ft
he

29
0
ol
de

rp
eo

pl
e

at
te
nd

in
g
da
y
se
rv
ic
es
,9
7
ha
d
be

en
di
ag
no

se
d
w
ith

de
m
en

tia
an
d
of

th
e

57
5
pe

rm
an
en

tp
la
ce
m
en

ts
,1
63

w
er
e
in
de

m
en

tia
re
si
de

nt
ia
lh
om

es
an
d

86
w
er
e
in
de

m
en

tia
nu

rs
i n
g
ho

m
es
.

In
ea
rl
y
20

11
,t
he

pr
oj
ec
te
d
ex
pe

nd
itu

re
on

ol
de

r
pe

op
le
20

11
/1
2
w
as

£3
0m

,£
6m

le
ss
th
an

th
e
pr
ev
io
us

ye
ar
.
A
n
in
cr
ea
se

of
£0

.8
m

to
£7

m
on

su
pp

or
tf
or

pe
op

le
w
ith

de
m
en

tia
w
as

pr
oj
ec
te
d
w
ith

in
th
is
.

Page 207



36

3.
3
Th

e
pe

rf
or
m
an

ce
of

se
rv
ic
es

fo
r
ol
de

r
ad

ul
ts
w
it
h
m
en

ta
lh

ea
lt
h

pr
ob

le
m
s
in
H
ill
in
gd
on

3.
3.
1
Th

e
pe

rf
or
m
an

ce
of

N
H
S
co
m
m
is
si
on

ed
se
rv
ic
es

fo
r
ol
de

r
ad

ul
ts

w
it
h
m
en

ta
lh
ea
lt
h
pr
ob

le
m
s

CN
W
L
is
th
e
m
ai
n
pr
ov
id
er

of
sp
ec
ia
lis
tm

en
ta
lh
ea
lth

se
rv
ic
es

in
H
ill
in
gd
on

.T
he

Tr
us
th

as
re
ce
nt
ly
as
se
ss
ed

th
e
pe

rf
or
m
an
ce

of
th
ei
r

se
rv
ic
es

fo
ro

ld
er

ad
ul
ts
w
ith

fu
nc
tio

na
lm

en
ta
lh
ea
l th

pr
ob

le
m
s
an
d/
or

de
m
en

tia
.T
he

y
id
en

tif
ie
d
th
e
fo
llo
w
in
g
ar
ea
s
of

co
nc
er
n:

Se
rv
ic
e
pr
ov
is
io
n
fo
rt
he

as
se
ss
m
en

ta
nd

ea
rl
y
di
ag
no

si
s
of

pe
op

le
w
ho

m
ay

ha
ve

or
go

on
to

de
ve
lo
p
de

m
en

tia
is
m
in
im

al
,

de
liv
er
ed

by
a
m
em

or
y
cl
in
ic
.T
he

re
is
no

m
em

or
y
as
se
ss
m
en

t
se
rv
ic
e.
Th
er
ef
or
e
de

m
an
d
fo
rc
om

m
un

ity
m
em

or
y
se
rv
ic
e

di
ag
no

si
s
an
d
tr
ea
tm

en
ti
s
fa
rg

re
at
er

th
an

ca
pa
ci
ty

w
ith

w
ai
tin

g
tim

es
fo
r
m
em

or
y
as
se
ss
m
en

t/
di
ag
no

si
s
up

to
6
m
on

th
s

M
os
to

ft
he

sp
ec
ia
lis
td

em
en

tia
pr
ov
is
io
n
is
pr
ov
id
ed

in
be

dd
ed

se
rv
ic
es
.A

ve
ra
ge

le
ng
th

of
st
ay

is
11

9
da
ys
.T
he

m
aj
or
ity

of
ad
m
is
si
on

s
ar
e
fr
om

pa
tie

nt
s’
ow

n
ho

m
es

(6
2%

).
H
ow

ev
er
,6
4

pe
rc
en

to
fp

at
ie
nt
s
ar
e
di
sc
ha
rg
ed

to
nu

rs
in
g
ho

m
es

(6
4%

)

Th
er
ef
or
e,
pr
ev
en

tio
n
of

ad
m
is
si
on

s,
re
du

ct
io
n
in
th
e
le
ng
th

of
in
pa
tie

nt
st
ay
,t
o
av
oi
d
in
st
itu

tio
na
lis
at
io
n
of

pa
tie

nt
s
an
d
m
or
e
co
m
pr
eh

en
si
ve

co
m
m
un

ity
pr
ov
is
io
n
(C
om

m
un

ity
M
en

ta
lH

ea
lth

Te
am

an
d
M
em

or
y

Se
rv
ic
e)

is
ne

ed
ed

.

3.
3.
2
Th

e
Pe

rf
or
m
an

ce
of

LB
H
co
m
m
is
si
on

ed
se
rv
ic
es

fo
r
ol
de

r
ad

ul
ts

w
it
h
m
en

ta
lh
ea
lt
h
pr
ob

le
m
s

In
20

12
/1
1,
LB
H
pe

rf
or
m
ed

w
el
li
n
co
m
pa
ri
so
n
w
ith

ot
he

rL
on

do
n

bo
ro
ug
hs

–
3r

d
ou

to
fi
ts
co
m
pa
ra
to
ra

nd
gr
ou

p
an
d
si
gn
ifi
ca
nt
ly
be

tt
er

th
an

En
gl
an
d
as

a
w
ho

le
fo
ra

ch
ie
vi
ng

in
de

pe
nd

en
ce

fo
ro

ld
er

pe
op

le
th
ro
ug
h
re
ha
bi
lit
at
io
n
an
d
in
te
rm

ed
ia
te

ca
re
.

In
20

12
/1
1,
LB
H
pe

rf
or
m
ed

w
el
li
n
co
m
pa
ri
so
n
w
ith

ot
he

rL
on

do
n

bo
ro
ug
hs

–
3r

d
ou

to
fi
ts
co
m
pa
ra
to
ra

nd
gr
ou

p
an
d
si
gn
ifi
ca
nt
ly
be

tt
er

th
an

En
gl
an
d
as

a
w
ho

le
fo
ra

ch
ie
vi
ng

in
de

pe
nd

en
ce

fo
ro

ld
er

pe
op

le
th
ro
ug
h
re
ha
bi
lit
at
io
n
an
d
in
te
rm

ed
ia
te

ca
re
.

3.
4
Th

e
st
ra
te
gy

fo
r
se
rv
ic
es

fo
r
ol
de

r
ad

ul
ts
w
it
h
m
en

ta
lh
ea
lt
h

pr
ob

le
m
s
in
H
ill
in
gd
on

20
13

16

Th
e
w
or
k
un

de
rt
ak
en

ha
s
id
en

tif
ie
d
th
at

si
gn
ifi
ca
nt

im
pr
ov
em

en
ts
to

th
e

ef
fic
ie
nc
y
an
d
ef
fe
ct
iv
en

es
s
of

th
e
se
rv
ic
es

fo
ro

ld
er

ad
ul
ts
w
ith

m
en

ta
l

he
al
th

pr
ob

le
m
s
ca
n
be

m
ad
e
th
ro
ug
h
th
e
de

ve
lo
pm

en
to

fa
n
in
te
gr
at
ed

,
w
ho

le
sy
st
em

s
ap
pr
oa
ch
,b
ui
ld
in
g
on

th
e
cu
rr
en

ts
tr
en

gt
h
of

G
Ps

in
m
an
ag
in
g
ad
ul
ts
w
ith

m
en

ta
lh
ea
lth

pr
ob

le
m
s
in
th
e
co
m
m
un

ity
.

Im
pr
ov
em

en
tw

ill
be

ac
hi
ev
ed

th
ro
ug
h
ef
fe
ct
iv
e
pa
rt
ne

rs
hi
p
w
or
ki
ng

th
at

en
ab
le
s
se
rv
ic
e
re
co
nf
ig
ur
at
io
n
an
d
re
de

si
gn
,l
ea
di
ng

to
a
sh
ift

fr
om

a
be

d
ba
se
d
to

co
m
m
un

ity
ba
se
d
se
rv
ic
e
w
ith

tr
ea
tm

en
tp

ro
vi
de

d
at

ho
m
e

as
fa
ra

s
po

ss
ib
le
,a
nd

ac
hi
ev
in
g
a
sh
ift

fr
om

se
co
nd

ar
y
to

pr
im

ar
y
ca
re

as
se
ss
m
en

t,
tr
ea
tm

en
ta

nd
su
pp

or
t.
Th

e
ob

je
ct
iv
e
w
ill
be

to
de

liv
er

re
co
ve
ry

fo
cu
se
d,
pe

rs
on

al
is
ed

,o
ut
co
m
es

ba
se
d
as
se
ss
m
en

tt
re
at
m
en

t
an
d
su
pp

or
ti
n
th
e
co
m
m
un

ity
.
In
di
vi
du

al
an
d
jo
in
tp

la
ns

w
ill
ne

ed
to

be
de

ve
lo
pe

d
an
d
co
st
ed

to
re
al
is
e
th
e
po

te
nt
ia
lg
ai
ns
.K
ey

ac
tio

ns
to

ac
hi
ev
e
im

pr
ov
em

en
ta

re
su
m
m
ar
is
ed

be
lo
w
.

Su
pp

or
tin

g
pe

op
le
in
th
ei
r
ow

n
ho

m
es

fo
ra

s
lo
ng

as
po

ss
ib
le
by

pr
ov
id
in
g
sp
ec
ia
lis
te

xp
er
tis
e
w
ith

in
se
rv
ic
es

fo
ro

ld
er

ad
ul
ts

w
he

re
ap
pr
op

ri
at
e,
in
pa
rt
ic
ul
ar

as
pa
rt
of

th
e
ou

to
fh

os
pi
ta
l

st
ra
te
gy

In
cr
ea
si
ng

th
e
ra
te

of
di
ag
no

si
s
of

de
m
en

tia
;i
nc
lu
di
ng

tr
ai
ni
ng

G
Ps

an
d
es
ta
bl
is
hi
ng

a
m
em

or
y
as
se
ss
m
en

ts
er
vi
ce

Page 208



37

Im
pr
ov
in
g
th
e
co

or
di
na
tio

n
of

ca
re

th
ro
ug
h
im

pr
ov
ed

as
se
ss
m
en

ta
nd

m
ul
ti
di
sc
ip
lin
ar
y
w
or
ki
ng

in
pr
im

ar
y
ca
re

(E
ld
er
ly
IC
P)

an
d
in
te
gr
at
io
n
of

th
e
w
or
k
of

al
lr
el
ev
an
ta

ge
nc
ie
s

in
to

an
ef
fe
ct
iv
e
m
od

el
of

ca
re

Pr
om

ot
in
g
aw

ar
en

es
s
of

de
m
en

tia
am

on
gs
tt
he

ge
ne

ra
lp
ub

lic
an
d
st
af
fw

or
ki
ng

w
ith

ol
de

ra
du

lts
Re

du
ci
ng

re
lia
nc
e
on

ac
ut
e
m
en

ta
lh
ea
lth

be
ds

D
ev
el
op

in
g
th
e
in
fr
as
tr
uc
tu
re

fo
rc
om

m
un

ity
ba
se
d
as
se
ss
m
en

t,
tr
ea
tm

en
ta

nd
su
pp

or
tt
hr
ou

gh
th
e
im

pl
em

en
ta
tio

n
of

ag
re
ed

in
te
gr
at
ed

ca
re

pa
th
w
ay
s

M
ax
im

is
in
g
th
e
co
nt
ri
bu

tio
n
of

th
e
vo
lu
nt
ar
y
se
ct
or

Co
ns
id
er
in
g
th
e
co
m
m
is
si
on

in
g
a
de

m
en

tia
re
so
ur
ce

ce
nt
re

to
pr
ov
id
e
an

ac
ce
ss
ib
le
co
m
m
un

ity
re
so
ur
ce

fo
rt
he

de
liv
er
y
of

he
al
th

an
d
so
ci
al
ca
re

se
rv
ic
es

Ag
re
ei
ng

a
co
st

ef
fe
ct
iv
e
w
ay

of
pr
ov
id
in
g
sp
ec
ia
lis
ta

dv
ic
e
to

re
si
de

nt
ia
la
nd

nu
rs
in
g
ho

m
e
se
rv
ic
es

in
or
de

r
to

pr
ev
en

t
es
ca
la
tio

n
of

ne
ed

an
d
av
oi
d
ad
m
is
si
on

to
in
pa
tie

nt
or

m
or
e

in
te
ns
iv
el
y
nu

rs
ed

ca
re

Ev
al
ua
tin

g
an
d
co
ns
id
er
in
g
co
nt
in
ue

d
op

er
at
io
n
of

th
e
ps
yc
hi
at
ri
c

lia
is
on

se
rv
ic
e
at

Th
e
H
ill
in
gd
on

H
os
pi
ta
l(
M
H
IC
P)

as
an

ef
fe
ct
iv
e

w
ay

to
en

su
re

ap
pr
op

ri
at
e
re
sp
on

se
to

ph
ys
ic
al
an
d
m
en

ta
l

he
al
th

ca
re

cr
is
es

Im
pr
ov
in
g
su
pp

or
tt
o
ca
re
rs
to

en
ab
le
th
em

to
co
nt
in
ue

in
th
ei
r

ca
rin

g
ro
le
;i
nc
lu
de

s
im

pr
ov
in
g
ca
re
rs
’a
ss
es
sm

en
ta

nd
im

pr
ov
in
g

re
sp
ite

ca
re

Re
vi
ew

in
g
se
rv
ic
es

an
d
de

ve
lo
pi
ng

an
d
im

pl
em

en
tin

g
im

pr
ov
ed

ca
re

pa
th
w
ay
s
to

id
en

tif
y
ne

ed
an
d
in
iti
at
e
im

pr
ov
em

en
tt
o

pe
op

le
w
ith

ea
rl
y
on

se
td

em
en

tia
Re

vi
ew

in
g
se
rv
ic
es

an
d
de

ve
lo
pi
ng

an
d
im

pl
em

en
tin

g
im

pr
ov
ed

ca
re

pa
th
w
ay
s
to

id
en

tif
y
ne

ed
an
d
in
iti
at
e
im

pr
ov
em

en
tt
o

pe
op

le
w
ith

a
le
ar
ni
ng

di
sa
bi
lit
y
w
ith

de
m
en

tia

Th
is
w
ill
be

ac
hi
ev
ed

by
:

Im
pl
em

en
tin

g
th
e
re
vi
se
d
ca
re

pa
th
w
ay
s
fo
rs
pe

ci
al
is
tm

en
ta
l

he
al
th

se
rv
ic
es

de
ve
lo
pe

d
by

th
e
m
ul
ti
ag
en

cy
st
ra
te
gy

gr
ou

p
Im

pl
em

en
tin

g
th
e
de

ta
ile
d
pl
an
s
ar
is
in
g
fr
om

th
e
ca
pa
ci
ty

an
d

m
od

el
lin
g
w
or
k
un

de
rt
ak
en

du
ri
ng

th
e
w
or
k
to

re
vi
se

th
e
ca
re

pa
th
w
ay
s

Bu
ild
in
g
on

th
e
ne

w
in
te
rm

ed
ia
te

ca
re

se
rv
ic
es

es
ta
bl
is
he

d
fo
r

ol
de

ra
du

lts
by

en
su
ri
ng

th
at

pa
th
w
ay
s
an
d
se
rv
ic
es

id
en

tif
y
an
d

m
ee
tt
he

ne
ed

s
of

pe
op

le
w
ith

de
m
en

tia
an
d
th
ei
r
ca
re
rs

A
pl
an

to
de

liv
er

th
e
re
qu

ir
ed

im
pr
ov
em

en
ts
id
en

tif
yi
ng

bo
th

th
e

jo
in
ta

nd
in
di
vi
du

al
ac
tio

n
re
qu

ire
d
by

H
ill
in
gd
on

CC
G
an
d
LB
H
to

im
pr
ov
e
se
rv
ic
es

w
or
ki
ng

w
ith

ke
y
pa
rt
ne

rs
ha
s
be

en
ag
re
ed

.S
ee

Fi
gu
re

18
be

lo
w
.

Page 209



38

Fi
gu
re

18
:
H
ill
in
gd
on

CC
G
an

d
LB
H
jo
in
tp

la
n
fo
r
th
e
im

pr
ov
em

en
to

fs
er
vi
ce
s
fo
r
ol
de

r
ad

ul
ts
w
it
h
m
en

ta
lh
ea
lt
h
pr
ob

le
m
s
20

13
16

O
bj
ec
tiv

e
A
ct
io
ns

O
rg
an
is
at
io
n

Ye
ar

Im
pr
ov

e
th
e
ra
te

of
de

m
en

ti
a
di
ag
no

si
s
in
or
de

r
to

pr
om

ot
e
ea
rl
y
in
te
rv
en

ti
on

M
ax
im

is
e
th
e
av
ai
la
bi
lit
y
of
,a
nd

ac
ce
ss
to
,
m
em

or
y
as
se
ss
m
en

t
se
rv
ic
es

H
ill
in
gd
on

CC
G

20
13

16

Pr
om

ot
e
aw

ar
en

es
s
of

de
m
en

ti
a

En
su
re

th
at

or
ga
ni
sa
tio

ns
ta
ke

ac
tio

n
to

pr
om

ot
e
kn
ow

le
dg
e
of

de
m
en

tia
of

th
e
ge
ne

ra
lp
ub

lic
an
d
th
e
he

al
th

an
d
so
ci
al
ca
re

w
or
kf
or
ce

Pr
ov
id
e
de

m
en

tia
aw

ar
en

es
s
tr
ai
ni
ng

fo
rt
he

pu
bl
ic
an
d
pr
of
es
si
on

al
s.

H
ill
in
gd
on

CC
G
an

d
LB
H

H
ill
in
gd
on

CC
G
an

d
LB
H

20
13

16

20
13

16
Pr
ov
id
e
as
se
ss
m
en

ta
nd

tr
ea
tm

en
tf
or

ac
ut
e

ph
ys
ic
al
an

d
m
en

ta
lh
ea
lt
h
pr
ob

le
m
s
in
th
e
le
as
t

re
st
ri
ct
iv
e
se
tt
in
g
po

ss
ib
le

Ev
al
ua
te

th
e
ps
yc
hi
at
ric

lia
is
on

se
rv
ic
e
in
H
ill
in
gd
on

H
os
pi
ta
lt
o
en

su
re

ad
m
is
si
on

on
ly
w
he

re
ne

ce
ss
ar
y
to

tr
ea
ta

ph
ys
ic
al
he

al
th

ca
re

ne
ed

s
an
d
to

en
su
re

ef
fe
ct
iv
e
tr
ea
tm

en
to

f
pe

op
le
w
ith

m
en

ta
lh
ea
lth

pr
ob

le
m
s
ad
m
itt
ed

to
ho

sp
ita

l
Se
ek

to
im

pr
ov
e
pr
ev
en

tio
n
an
d
re
sp
on

se
s
to

cr
is
es
,e
nh

an
ci
ng

in
te
rm

ed
ia
te

ca
re

an
d
ra
pi
d
re
sp
on

se
se
rv
ic
es

to
re
sp
on

d
ef
fe
ct
iv
el
y
to

th
e
ne

ed
s
of

pe
op

le
w
ith

de
m
en

tia
an
d
co
ns
id
er
in
g
th
e
es
ta
bl
is
hm

en
t

of
an

in
te
ns
iv
e
ho

m
e
tr
ea
tm

en
t
se
rv
ic
e

Fu
rt
he

rr
ev
ie
w
be

d
us
e
an
d
de

te
rm

in
e
w
he

th
er

fu
rt
he

rb
ed

re
du

ct
io
ns

(f
ro
m

25
)i
s
in
di
ca
te
d
in
or
de

rt
o
fa
ci
lit
at
e
th
e
es
ta
bl
is
hm

en
to

fa
co
m
m
un

ity
ba
se
d
se
rv
ic
e

H
ill
in
gd
on

CC
G

H
ill
in
gd
on

CC
G
an

d
LB
H

H
ill
in
gd
on

CC
G

20
13

14

20
13

14

20
13

14

En
su
re

th
at

th
e
ne

ed
fo
r
sp
ec
ia
lis
tm

en
ta
lh
ea
lt
h

as
se
ss
m
en

t,
tr
ea
tm

en
ta

nd
su
pp

or
to

fs
er
vi
ce

us
er
s
an

d
ca
re
rs
is

ad
dr
es
se
d
ef
fe
ct
iv
el
y
an

d
ef
fic
ie
nt
ly
th
ro
ug
h
se
rv
ic
e
re
co
nf
ig
ur
at
io
n
an

d
se
rv
ic
e
re
de

si
gn

of
lo
ca
ls
er
vi
ce
s

Im
pl
em

en
tt
he

ag
re
ed

ca
re

pa
th
w
ay
s
fo
ro

ld
er

ad
ul
ts
w
ith

m
en

ta
l

he
al
th

pr
ob

le
m
s,
en

su
rin

g
th
at

th
ey

bu
ild

on
an
d
in
te
rf
ac
e
w
ith

th
e

re
ce
nt
ly
ag
re
ed

ca
re

pa
th
w
ay
s
fo
ro

ld
er

ad
ul
ts
in

H
ill
in
gd
on

Es
ta
bl
is
h
a
si
ng
le
po

in
to

fa
cc
es
s
to

LB
H
se
rv
ic
es

Im
pr
ov
e
co
m
m
un

ity
ba
se
d
as
se
ss
m
en

t,
tr
ea
tm

en
ta

nd
su
pp

or
ts
er
vi
ce
s,

in
cl
ud

in
g
ex
pl
or
in
g
th
e
co
st
/b
en

ef
it
of

es
ta
bl
is
hi
ng

in
te
ns
iv
e
tr
ea
tm

en
t

an
d
su
pp

or
tt
o
pr
ev
en

ta
nd

m
an
ag
e
cr
is
es

in
th
e
co
m
m
un

ity
Fi
nd

co
st
ef
fe
ct
iv
e
w
ay
s
of

im
pr
ov
in
g
su
pp

or
tt
o
ca
re
rs
to

en
ab
le
th
em

to
co
nt
in
ue

in
th
ei
rc
ar
in
g
ro
le
:

Im
pr
ov
e
ca
re
rs
’a
ss
es
sm

en
t

D
ev
el
op

a
si
ng
le
po

in
to

fa
cc
es
s
to

se
rv
ic
es
,e
ns
ur
in
g
ac
ce
ss
to

ap
pr
op

ria
te

ad
vi
ce
,i
nf
or
m
at
io
n
an
d
su
pp

or
t

Im
pr
ov
e
ac
ce
ss
to

re
sp
ite

ca
re

Ex
pl
or
e
th
e
ne

ed
fo
ra

ni
gh
ts
itt
in
g
se
rv
ic
e

Co
ns
id
er

co
m
m
is
si
on

in
g
a
de

m
en

tia
re
so
ur
ce

ce
nt
re

to
pr
ov
id
e
a

se
tt
in
g
fo
rb

ot
h
he

al
th

an
d
so
ci
al
ca
re

co
m
m
is
si
on

ed
se
rv
ic
es

Re
m
od

el
th
e
co
m
m
un

ity
se
rv
ic
es

su
pp

or
tin

g
pe

op
le
w
ith

de
m
en

tia
to

H
ill
in
gd
on

CC
G
an

d
LB
H

LB
H

H
ill
in
gd
on

CC
G

H
ill
in
gd
on

CC
G

H
ill
in
gd
on

CC
G
an

d
LB
H

H
ill
in
gd
on

CC
G
an

d

20
13

14
20
13

14

20
13

14

20
13

16

20
13

16

20
13

16

20
13

16

Page 210



39

en
su
re

th
at

th
ey

ar
e
co
nt
ri
bu

tin
g
to

th
e
de

liv
er
y
of

th
e
de

m
en

tia
pa
th
w
ay

M
ax
im

is
e
th
e
co
nt
rib

ut
io
n
of

th
e
vo
lu
nt
ar
y
se
ct
or

to
th
e
pr
ov
is
io
n
of

co
st
ef
fe
ct
iv
e
su
pp

or
t;
th
is
in
cl
ud

es
m
ax
im

is
in
g
th
ei
rc
on

tr
ib
ut
io
n
to
:

Pr
om

ot
in
g
aw

ar
en

es
s
of

de
m
en

tia
Pr
ov
id
in
g
tr
ai
ni
ng

to
st
af
fw

or
ki
ng

w
ith

pe
op

le
w
ith

de
m
en

tia
Pr
ov
id
in
g
in
fo
rm

at
io
n
an
d
ad
vi
ce

to
pe

op
le
w
ith

de
m
en

tia
an
d

th
ei
rc
ar
er
s

Su
pp

or
tin

g
ca
re
rs

Pr
ov
id
in
g
da
y
an
d
le
is
ur
e
ac
tiv
iti
es

to
pe

op
le
w
ith

de
m
en

tia
A
gr
ee

a
co
st
ef
fe
ct
iv
e
w
ay

of
pr
ov
id
in
g
sp
ec
ia
lis
ta

dv
ic
e
ef
fe
ct
iv
el
y
to

re
si
de

nt
ia
la
nd

nu
rs
in
g
ho

m
e
se
rv
ic
es

in
or
de

r
to

pr
ev
en

te
sc
al
at
io
n
of

ne
ed

to
av
oi
d
ad
m
is
si
on

to
in
pa
tie

nt
or

nu
rs
in
g
ho

m
e
se
rv
ic
es

Re
vi
ew

se
rv
ic
es

an
d
de

ve
lo
p
an
d
im

pl
em

en
tc
ar
e
pa
th
w
ay
s
to

id
en

tif
y

ne
ed

an
d
in
iti
at
e
im

pr
ov
em

en
ts
to

se
rv
ic
es

fo
rp

eo
pl
e
w
ith

ea
rly

on
se
t

de
m
en

tia
Re

vi
ew

se
rv
ic
es

an
d
de

ve
lo
p
an
d
im

pl
em

en
tc
ar
e
pa
th
w
ay
s
to

pr
ov
id
e

ef
fe
ct
iv
e
as
se
ss
m
en

t,
tr
ea
tm

en
ta

nd
su
pp

or
tf
or

pe
op

le
w
ith

a
le
ar
ni
ng

di
sa
bi
lit
y
w
ho

al
so

ha
ve

de
m
en

tia

LB
H

H
ill
in
gd
on

CC
G
an

d
LB
H

H
ill
in
gd
on

CC
G

H
ill
in
gd
on

CC
G
an

d
LB
H

H
ill
in
gd
on

CC
G
an

d
LB
H

20
13

16

20
13

16

20
13

16

20
13

16

Pr
om

ot
e
in
de

pe
nd

en
ce

an
d
em

po
w
er

ad
ul
ts
w
it
h

m
en

ta
lh
ea
lt
h
pr
ob

le
m
s
by

in
cr
ea
si
ng

th
e
su
pp

ly
of

su
pp

or
te
d
ho

us
in
g
an

d
pr
ov
id
in
g
pe

rs
on

al
is
ed

pa
ck
ag
es

of
su
pp

or
t

D
el
iv
er

55
un

its
of

su
pp

or
te
d
ho

us
in
g
ac
co
m
m
od

at
io
n
fo
rp

eo
pl
e
w
ith

fu
nc
tio

na
lm

en
ta
lh
ea
lth

ne
ed

s,
in
cl
ud

in
g
ol
de

ra
du

lts
.

D
el
iv
er

69
un

its
of

ex
tr
a
ca
re

ac
co
m
m
od

at
io
n
fo
rp

eo
pl
e
w
ith

de
m
en

tia
In
pa
rt
ne

rs
hi
p
w
ith

re
gi
st
er
ed

pr
ov
id
er
s
an
d
pr
iv
at
e
se
ct
or

de
ve
lo
pe

rs
Pe
rs
on

al
is
e
ex
is
tin

g
su
pp

or
te
d
ho

us
in
g
se
rv
ic
es

fo
rp

eo
pl
e
w
ith

m
en

ta
l

he
al
th

ne
ed

Re
m
od

el
th
e
co
m
m
un

ity
su
pp

or
ts
er
vi
ce
s
fo
rp

eo
pl
e
w
ith

fu
nc
tio

na
l

m
en

ta
lh
ea
lth

ne
ed

s
pr
ov
id
ed

by
th
e
th
ird

se
ct
or

to
re
fle

ct
pe

rs
on

al
is
at
io
n
an
d
th
e
pr
ev
en

tio
n
ag
en

da

LB
H

LB
H

LB
H

LB
H

20
13

16

20
13

16

20
13

16

20
13

16

Page 211



40

G
LO

SS
A
RY

BM
E:
bl
ac
k
an
d
m
in
or
ity

et
hn

ic
co
m
m
un

iti
es

CA
M
H
S:
Ch

ild
an
d
Ad

ol
es
ce
nt

M
en

ta
lH

ea
lth

Se
rv
ic
es

CP
A
:C

ar
e
Pr
og
ra
m
m
e
A
pp

ro
ac
h

CN
W
L:
Ce

nt
ra
la
nd

N
or
th

W
es
tL
on

do
n
M
en

ta
lH

ea
lth

Tr
us
t

D
H
:D

ep
ar
tm

en
to

fH
ea
lth

H
CC

G
:H

ill
in
gd
on

Cl
in
ic
al
Co

m
m
is
si
on

in
g
G
ro
up

H
H
W
B:

H
ill
in
gd
on

H
ea
lth

an
d
W
el
lb
ei
ng

Bo
ar
d

IC
P:

In
te
gr
at
ed

Ca
re

Pa
th
w
ay

Im
RO

C:
Im

pl
em

en
tin

g
Re

co
ve
ry

Th
ro
ug
h
O
rg
an
is
at
io
na
lC
ha
ng
e
(a
n
ap
pr
oa
ch

to
im

pl
em

en
tin

g
re
co
ve
ry

pi
lo
te
d
du

rin
g
20

11
by

th
e
M
en

ta
lH

ea
lth

N
et
w
or
k

N
H
S
Co

nf
ed

er
at
io
n)

JS
N
A
:J
oi
nt

St
ra
te
gi
c
N
ee
ds

A
ss
es
sm

en
t

KP
Is
:K

ey
Pe

rf
or
m
an
ce

In
di
ca
to
rs

LB
H
:L
on

do
n
Bo

ro
ug
h
of

H
ill
in
gd
on

M
H
D
G
:M

en
ta
lH

ea
lth

D
el
iv
er
y
G
ro
up

M
IN
I:
M
en

ta
lI
lln
es
s
N
ee
ds

In
de

x
M
2K

:m
en

ta
lI
lln
es
s
N
ee
ds

In
de

x
20

00
N
H
S:
N
at
io
na
lH

ea
lth

Se
rv
ic
e

N
W
L:
N
or
th

W
es
tL
on

do
n

O
N
S:
O
ff
ic
e
of

N
at
io
na
lS
ta
t is
tic
s

SM
R:

St
an
da
rd
is
ed

M
or
ta
lit
y
Ra

tio

Page 212



41

APPENDIX 1: Living well with dementia: The National
Dementia Strategy, 2009: Objectives

Objective 1: Improving public and professional awareness and understanding of dementia.
Public and professional awareness and understanding of dementia to be improved and the
stigma associated with it addressed. This should inform individuals of the benefits of timely
diagnosis and care, promote the prevention of dementia, and reduce social exclusion and
discrimination. It should encourage behaviour change in terms of appropriate help seeking
and help provision.

Objective 2: Good quality early diagnosis and intervention for all.
All people with dementia to have access to a pathway of care that delivers: a rapid and
competent specialist assessment; an accurate diagnosis, sensitively communicated to the
person with dementia and their carers; and treatment, care and support provided as
needed following diagnosis. The system needs to have the capacity to see all new cases
of dementia in the area.

Objective 3: Good quality information for those with diagnosed dementia and their carers.
Providing people with dementia and their carers with good quality information on the illness
and on the services available, both at diagnosis and throughout the course of their care.

Objective 4: Enabling easy access to care, support and advice following diagnosis.
A dementia adviser to facilitate easy access to appropriate care, support and advice for those
diagnosed with dementia and their carers.

Objective 5: Development of structured peer support and learning networks.
The establishment and maintenance of such networks will provide direct local peer support
for people with dementia and their carers. It will also enable people with dementia and
their carers to take an active role in the development and prioritisation of local services.

Objective 6: Improved community personal support services.
Provision of an appropriate range of services to support people with dementia living at
home and their carers. Access to flexible and reliable services, ranging from early
intervention to specialist home care services, which are responsive to the personal
needs and preferences of each individual and take account of their broader family
circumstances. Accessible to people living alone or with carers, and people who pay for
their care privately, through personal budgets or through local authority arranged services.

Objective 7: Implementing the Carers’ Strategy.
Family carers are the most important resource available for people with dementia. Active
work is needed to ensure that the provisions of the Carers’ Strategy are available for carers
of people with dementia. Carers have a right to an assessment of their needs and can be
supported through an agreed plan to support the important role they play in the care of
the person with dementia. This will include good quality, personalised breaks. Action
should also be taken to strengthen support for children who are in caring roles, ensuring
that their particular needs as children are protected.

Page 213



42

Objective 8: Improved quality of care for people with dementia in general hospitals.
Identifying leadership for dementia in general hospitals, defining the care pathway for
dementia there and the commissioning of specialist liaison older people’s mental health
teams to work in general hospitals.

Objective 9: Improved intermediate care for people with dementia.
Intermediate care which is accessible to people with dementia and which meets
their needs.

Objective 10: Considering the potential for housing support, housing related services and
telecare to support people with dementia and their carers.
The needs of people with dementia and their carers should be included in the development
of housing options, assistive technology and telecare. As evidence emerges, commissioners
should consider the provision of options to prolong independent living and delay reliance on
more intensive services.

Objective 11: Living well with dementia in care homes.
Improved quality of care for people with dementia in care homes by the development of
Explicit leadership for dementia within care homes, defining the care pathway there,
the commissioning of specialist in reach services from community mental health teams,
and through inspection regimes.

Objective 12: Improved end of life care for people with dementia.
People with dementia and their carers to be involved in planning end of life care which
recognises the principles outlined in the Department of Health End of Life Care Strategy.
Local work on the End of Life Care Strategy to consider dementia.

Objective 13: An informed and effective workforce for people with dementia.
Health and social care staff involved in the care of people who may have dementia to have the
necessary skills to provide the best quality of care in the roles and settings where they work. To
be achieved by effective basic training and continuous professional and vocational development
in dementia.

Objective 14: A joint commissioning strategy for dementia.
Local commissioning and planning mechanisms to be established to determine the services
needed for people with dementia and their carers, and how best to meet these needs. These
commissioning plans should be informed by the World Class Commissioning guidance for
dementia developed to support this Strategy.

Objective 15: Improved assessment and regulation of health and care services and of how
systems are working for people with dementia and their carers.
Inspection regimes for care homes and other services that better assure the quality of dementia
care provided.

Objective 16: A clear picture of research evidence and needs.
Evidence to be available on the existing research base on dementia in the UK and gaps that need
to be filled.

Objective 17: Effective national and regional support for implementation of the Strategy.
Appropriate national and regional support to be available to advise and assist local implementation
of the Strategy. Good quality information to be available on the development of dementia services,
including information from evaluations and demonstrator sites.

Page 214



43

A
PP

EN
D
IX

2:
M
en

ta
lH

ea
lt
h
Pr
om

ot
io
n
an

d
W
el
lb
ei
ng
:A

ch
ie
ve
m
en

ts
20
11

12
an

d
In
te
nt
io
ns

20
12

15

M
en

ta
lH

ea
lt
h
Pr
om

ot
io
n
an

d
W
el
lb
ei
ng

Pr
om

ot
in
g
an

d
Pr
ot
ec
ti
ng

Be
tt
er

M
en

ta
lH

ea
lt
h

Ev
id
en

ce
sh
ow

s
th
e
po

si
tiv

e
im

pa
ct
of

im
pr
ov
in
g
pu

bl
ic
m
en

ta
lh
ea
lth

an
d
w
el
lb

ei
ng

on
he

al
th
,s
oc
ia
la
nd

ec
on

om
ic
ou

tc
om

es
(s
ee

Ap
pe

nd
ic
es
).

Bu
ild
in
g
a
se
ns
e
of

lo
ng

te
rm

w
el
lb
ei
ng

in
in
di
vi
du

al
s
an
d
co
m
m
un

iti
es

is
cr
uc
ia
l.
W
el
lb
ei
ng

dr
iv
es

up
pr
od

uc
tiv

ity
an
d
ca
n
re
du

ce
th
e
bu

rd
en

of
po

or
m
en

ta
lh
ea
lth

w
hi
ch

cu
rr
en

tly
co
st
s
th
e
U
K
ov
er

£1
00

bi
lli
on

.

N
at
io
na
lr
ec
om

m
en

da
tio

ns
se
to

ut
th
e
es
ca
la
tin

g
ne

ed
to

sh
ift

pr
og
ra
m
m
es

to
w
ar
ds

m
en

ta
lh
ea
lth

pr
ev
en

tio
n,
pr
om

ot
io
n,
an
d
ea
rl
y
in
te
rv
en

tio
n
in

or
de

rt
o
m
ak
e
si
gn
ifi
ca
nt

co
nt
ri
bu

tio
n
to

he
al
th
,q
ua
lit
y
of

lif
e,
ec
on

om
ic
an
d
so
ci
al
re
co
ve
ry

w
ith

in
co
m
m
un

iti
es
.
Se
rv
ic
es

an
d
st
ak
eh

ol
de

rs
sh
ou

ld
fo
cu
s
ef
fo
rt
an
d
re
so
ur
ce
s
to

pr
om

ot
e
an
d
pr
ot
ec
tb

et
te
r
m
en

ta
lh
ea
lth

,n
ot

ju
st
am

on
g
th
e
un

w
el
lb
ut

ac
ro
ss

w
ho

le
po

pu
la
tio

ns

Po
si
tiv

e
m
en

ta
lh
ea
lth

is
a
re
so
ur
ce

fo
r
ev
er
yd
ay

lif
e
an
d
is
th
er
ef
or
e
ev
er
yb
od

y’
s
bu

si
ne

ss
.
M
an
y
fa
ct
or
s
in
flu

en
ce

m
en

ta
lh
ea
lth

an
d
w
el
lb
ei
ng
:g
en

es
,

ch
ild
ho

od
ex
pe

ri
en

ce
s,
lif
e
ev
en

ts
,i
nd

iv
id
ua
la
bi
lit
y
to

co
pe

,h
ea
l th

lit
er
ac
y
an
d
le
ve
ls
of

su
pp

or
t,
as

w
el
la
s
fa
ct
or
s
su
ch

as
ho

us
in
g,
em

pl
oy
m
en

t,
fin

an
ci
al
se
cu
ri
ty

an
d
ac
ce
ss
to

ap
pr
op

ri
at
e
he

al
th

ca
re
.

M
en

ta
lh
ea
lth

pr
om

ot
io
n
fo
cu
se
s
on

im
pr
ov
in
g
th
e
so
ci
al
,p
hy
si
ca
la
nd

ec
on

om
ic
en

vi
ro
nm

en
ts
th
at

de
te
rm

in
e
th
e
m
en

ta
lh
ea
lth

of
co
m
m
un

iti
es
,

fa
m
ili
es

an
d
in
di
vi
du

al
s.
Ro

bu
st
ev
id
en

ce
ex
is
ts
to

sh
ow

th
at

po
si
tiv

e
m
en

ta
lh
ea
lth

pr
og
ra
m
m
es

ca
n
re
su
lt
in
im

pr
es
si
ve

lo
ng

la
st
in
g
ef
fe
ct
s
on

m
ul
tip

le
ar
ea
s
of

fu
nc
tio

ni
ng

an
d
ca
n
al
so

ha
ve

th
e
du

al
ef
fe
ct
of

re
du

ci
ng

ri
sk
s
of

m
en

ta
ld
is
or
de

rs
.
Ex
am

pl
es

of
po

si
tiv

e
m
en

ta
lh
ea
lth

in
di
ca
to
rs

in
cl
ud

e:
o

Be
tt
er

ph
ys
ic
al
he

al
th

o
Im

pr
ov
ed

pa
re
nt
in
g
sk
ill
s
an
d
fa
m
ily

fu
nc
tio

ni
ng

o
M
in
im

is
in
g
or

pr
ev
en

tin
g
m
en

ta
li
lln
es
s

o
Im

pr
ov
ed

co
nf
id
en

ce
o

Im
pr
ov
ed

m
en

ta
lh
ea
lth

lit
er
ac
y

o
In
cr
ea
se
d
co
m
m
un

ity
pa
rt
ic
ip
at
io
n
an
d
co
nn

ec
te
dn

es
s

o
Im

pr
ov
ed

co
pi
ng

an
d
pr
ob

le
m

so
lv
in
g
sk
ill
s

o
Ab

ili
ty

to
de

ve
lo
p
pe

rs
on

al
re
la
tio

ns
hi
ps

o
Ab

ili
ty

to
de

ve
lo
p
em

ot
io
na
lly
,c
re
at
iv
el
y,
in
te
lle
ct
ua
lly

o
Re

du
ce
d
m
or
ta
lit
y

Page 215



44

M
en

ta
lH

ea
lt
h
Pr
om

ot
io
n
an

d
W
el
lb
ei
ng

H
ill
in
gd
on

pr
og
ra
m
m
es
:d

ev
el
op

ed
by

th
e
Sp
ec
ia
lis
tH

ea
lt
h
Pr
om

ot
io
n
Te
am

Th
e
Sp
ec
ia
lis
tH

ea
lth

Pr
om

ot
io
n
Te
am

(w
ith

in
Pu

bl
ic
H
ea
lth

)h
av
e
se
tu

p
a
nu

m
be

ro
fp

ro
gr
am

m
es

to
pr
om

ot
e
th
e
m
en

ta
lh
ea
lth

an
d
w
el
lb
ei
ng

of
lo
ca
l

re
si
de

nt
s
ac
ro
ss
th
e
Li
fe

Co
ur
se
.
Ba

se
d
on

ev
id
en

ce
of

go
od

pr
ac
tic
e
th
e
pr
og
ra
m
m
es

ar
e
lo
w

co
st
or

fr
ee
,s
et

w
ith

in
a
no

n
m
ed

ic
al
co
m
m
un

ity
se
tt
in
g.

Th
e
pr
og
ra
m
m
es

ha
ve

be
en

de
ve
lo
pe

d
w
ith

a
ra
ng
e
of

ag
en

ci
es

to
en

su
re

th
at

m
en

ta
lh
ea
lth

an
d
w
el
lb
ei
ng

m
es
sa
ge
s
an
d
op

po
rt
un

iti
es

ar
e
pr
om

ot
ed

th
ro
ug
h
a
w
id
e
ra
ng
e
of

st
ak
eh

ol
de

rs
ac
ro
ss
th
e
bo

ro
ug
h.

Th
e
ou

tc
om

es
of

th
e
pr
og
ra
m
m
es

ha
ve

fo
cu
ss
ed

on
th
e
in
di
ca
to
rs
th
at

bu
ild

an
d
m
ai
nt
ai
n

in
di
ca
to
rs
fo
rp

os
iti
ve

m
en

ta
lh
ea
lth

.

T
he

 p
ro

gr
am

m
es

 h
av

e 
be

en
 d

es
ig

ne
d 

to
 e

nh
an

ce
 p

eo
pl

e’
s 

in
he

re
nt

 re
so

ur
ce

s 
as

 w
el

l a
s 

th
e 

ph
ys

ic
al

 a
nd

 s
oc

ia
l a

ss
et

s 
w

ith
in

 a
 c

om
m

un
ity

 s
et

tin
g.

  
T

hi
s 

ap
pr

oa
ch

 c
ha

ng
es

 th
e 

fo
cu

s 
fr

om
 re

ly
in

g 
on

 s
er

vi
ce

s 
on

ly
 a

nd
 to

 e
na

bl
in

g 
pe

op
le

 to
 b

e 
ac

tiv
e 

pa
rt

ic
ip

an
ts

 in
 s

ha
pi

ng
 w

ha
t 

im
pr

ov
es

 th
ei

r m
en

ta
l h

ea
lth

 a
nd

 w
el

lb
ei

ng
. 

T
ab

le
 to

 s
ho

w
 D

im
en

si
on

s 
of

 m
en

ta
l w

el
l-

be
in

g 

Em
ot
io
na
lr
es
ou

rc
es

e.
g
.

co
pi
ng

st
yl
es
,m

oo
d,

op
tim

is
m
,e
m
ot
io
na
l

in
te
lli
ge
nc
e

M
en

ta
lh
ea
lth

Co
gn
iti
ve

re
so
ur
ce
s
e.
g

le
ar
ni
ng

st
yl
e,

kn
ow

le
dg
e,
fle

xi
bi
lit
y,

in
no

va
tio

n,
cr
ea
tiv

ity

So
ci
al
sk
ill
s
e.
g
lis
te
ni
ng
,

re
la
tin

g,
co
m
m
un

ic
at
in
g,

co
op

er
at
in
g,
co
lle
ct
iv
e

ef
fic
ac
y

M
ea
ni
ng

an
d
pu

rp
os
e

e.
g
vi
si
on

,g
oa

ls
,v
al
ue

s,
co
nn

ec
te
dn

es
s

Page 216



45

G
oo

d
Pr
ac
ti
ce

Ex
am

pl
es

Ac
tiv

ity
‘G
et

In
to

Re
ad

in
g’

‘R
ea
d
O
ut

Lo
ud

’G
ro
up

“N
o
co
m
pa

ris
on

.
Th
is
is
gr
ou

nd
br
ea
ki
ng

…
ve
ry

hi
gh

st
an

da
rd
s
–
ne
ve
rh

ad
a
co
ur
se

as
go

od
.”

“I
ca
n'
tw

ai
tt
ill
ne
xt
w
ee
k
to

at
te
nd

th
e
ne
xt
se
ss
io
n”

“T
he

se
ss
io
n
m
ak
es

m
e
ha

pp
y”

“I
fo
rg
et

al
lm

y
pr
ob

le
m
s
w
he
n
Ic
om

e
to

th
e

se
ss
io
n”

“T
he
y
ar
e
ad

di
ct
iv
e”

“M
y
br
ai
n
an

d
co
nc
en
tr
at
io
n
ha

s
be
en

sw
itc
he
d
on

ag
ai
n
le
ad

in
g
m
e
to

w
an

tt
o
pu

rs
ue

ot
he
ra

ve
nu

es
of

En
gl
is
h
Li
te
ra
tu
re

an
d
us
in
g
th
e

En
gl
is
h
la
ng

ua
ge

to
ex
pr
es
s
m
ys
el
f,
m
y
fe
el
in
gs

an
d
de
si
re
s.
”

“W
e
no

rm
al
ly
go

ba
ck

to
ou

rr
oo

m
s
an

d
th
in
k
ab

ou
tn

ot
hi
ng

in
pa

rt
ic
ul
ar

bu
tn

ow
Ic
an

re
ad

th
e
po

em
an

d
im

ag
in
e
be
in
g
at

th
e
se
as
id
e”

Ke
y
M
es
sa
ge
s

Ea
rly

,m
in
im

al
in
te
rv
en

tio
n
–
le
d
by

tr
ai
ne

d
fa
ci
lit
at
or
s
(n
on

cl
in
ic
al
th
er
ap
is
ts
),
fo
cu
s
is
on

pa
rt
ic
ip
an
t
in
iti
at
ed

gr
ou

ps
.
M
en

ta
lh
ea
lth

an
d
w
el
lb
ei
ng

is
sh
ow

n
to

im
pr
ov
e
th
ro
ug
h
sh
ar
ed

re
ad
in
g
an
d
re
ad
in
g
of

bo
ok
s
ou

tl
ou

d.
U
p
to

12
pa
rt
ic
ip
an
ts
at
te
nd

ea
ch

gr
ou

p
ac
ro
ss
a
ra
ng
e
of

lo
ca
ls
et
tin

gs
an
d
ag
e
gr
ou

ps

In
di
ca
to
rs
fo
r

po
si
tiv

e
m
en

ta
l

he
al
th

In
cr
ea
se
d
co
nf
id
en

ce
an
d
co
pi
ng

sk
ill
s

Im
pr
ov
ed

vo
ca
bu

la
ry

In
cr
ea
se
d
fr
ie
nd

sh
ip
s,
co
m
m
un

ity
pa
rt
ic
ip
at
io
n
an
d
se
ns
e
of

‘c
om

m
un

ity
’

En
ha
nc
ed

m
ea
ni
ng
fu
lc
on

ve
rs
at
io
n
an
d
op

po
rt
un

ity
to

ta
lk
op

en
ly
an
d
ho

ne
st
ly
ab
ou

tf
ee
lin
gs

D
ec
re
as
e
in
fe
el
in
gs

of
is
ol
at
io
n
an
d
lo
ne

lin
es
s

D
ec
re
as
e
in
fe
el
in
gs

of
di
st
re
ss
an
d
an
xi
et
y

H
ill
in
gd
on

O
ut
co
m
es

17
G
ro
up

s
se
tu

p
ac
ro
ss
H
ill
in
gd
on

:i
nc
lu
di
ng

Li
br
ar
ie
s,
Sh
el
te
re
d
H
ou

si
ng
,M

en
ta
lH

ea
lth

W
ar
d,
D
ay

Ce
nt
re
s,
Yo
un

g
Pe

op
le
’s
gr
ou

ps
Fu
rt
he

r
5
CN

W
L
st
af
ft
ra
in
ed

an
d
us
in
g
m
od

el
w
ith

in
th
ei
r
w
or
k

Se
lf
re
po

rt
ed

w
el
lb
ei
ng

an
d
po

si
tiv

e
ex
pe

rie
nc
e
fr
om

gr
ou

p
fa
ci
lit
at
or
s
an
d
pa
rt
ic
ip
an
ts
.

Page 217



46

G
oo

d
Pr
ac
ti
ce

Ex
am

pl
es

Ac
tiv

ity
W
al
k
H
ill
in
gd

on
–
na

ti
on

al
ly
ac
cr
ed

it
ed

by
‘W

al
ki
ng

fo
r
H
ea
lt
h’

“T
he

w
al
ks

ha
ve

he
lp
ed

ou
rt
en
an

ts
in
m
an

y
w
ay
s
–
th
ey

ar
e
in
te
gr
at
ed

m
or
e
in
th
e
lo
ca
lc
om

m
un

ity
,t
he
y
ge
tr
eg
ul
ar

ex
er
ci
se
,t
he
y
ha

ve
m
et

ne
w
fr
ie
nd

s,
it
ha

s
he
lp
ed

to
bo

os
tt
he
ir
se
lf
es
te
em

an
d
co
nf
id
en
ce

by
be
in
g
w
ar
m
ly
w
el
co
m
ed

an
d
in
cl
ud

ed
re
ga

rd
le
ss
of

an
y

di
sa
bi
lit
y.
Th
an

ks
ev
er
yo
ne
!”

“T
he

w
al
ks

ha
ve

m
an

y
be
ne
fit
s
fo
rm

e
w
hi
ch

ha
ve

in
cl
ud

ed
di
sc
ov
er
in
g
pa

rt
s
of

th
e
bo

ro
ug

h
th
at

w
er
e
al
ln
ew

to
m
e,
be
in
g
ou

ti
n
th
e

fr
es
h
ai
ra

nd
m
ee
tin

g
ne
w
fr
ie
nd

s
w
ho

ha
ve

he
lp
ed

m
e
du

rin
g
a
ve
ry
di
ff
ic
ul
tt
im

e
in
m
y
lif
e”

Ke
y
M
es
sa
ge
s

W
al
ki
ng

is
re
co
m
m
en

de
d
as

an
in
te
rv
en

tio
n
in
N
IC
E
gu
id
an
ce

re
la
tin

g
to

a
ra
ng
e
of

ph
ys
ic
al
an
d
m
en

ta
lh
ea
lth

co
nd

iti
on

s
((
CH

D
,C
an
ce
rs
,

D
ia
be

te
s,
O
st
eo

po
ro
si
s,
An

xi
et
y,
St
re
ss
).
Re

se
ar
ch

in
di
ca
te
s
th
at

pe
op

le
w
ho

ar
e
ov
er

50
w
ho

ar
e
ph

ys
ic
al
ly
ac
tiv

e
ha
ve

be
tw

ee
n
1.
1
an
d

3.
7
ad
de

d
“q
ua
lit
y
lif
e
ye
ar
s”

(Q
AL
Y)
.
It
is
es
ti m

at
ed

th
at

ev
er
y
£1

sp
en

to
n
a
he

al
th

w
al
k
w
ill
sa
ve

a
Pr
im

ar
y
Ca

re
Tr
us
t£

7
on

ex
pe

nd
itu

re
su
ch

as
ho

sp
ita

la
dm

is
si
on

s
an
d
m
ed

ic
at
io
n.

Le
d
by

tr
ai
ne

d
W
al
k
Le
ad
er

Vo
lu
nt
ee
rs
,e
ve
ry
on

e
is
en

co
ur
ag
ed

to
w
al
k
at

th
ei
r
ow

n
pa
ce

so
th
at

st
re
ng
th

an
d
co
nf
id
en

ce
ca
n
be

bu
ilt

up
sl
ow

ly
.
A
ll
th
e
w
al
ks

ar
e
fr
ee
,r
is
k
as
se
ss
ed

an
d
th
e
he

al
th

st
at
us

of
al
l n
ew

w
al
ke
rs
is
ob

ta
in
ed

w
he

n
th
ey

co
m
e
on

a
w
al
k
fo
rt
he

fir
st

tim
e.

In
di
ca
to
rs
fo
r

po
si
tiv

e
m
en

ta
l

he
al
th

an
d

w
el
lb
ei
ng

In
cr
ea
se
d
so
ci
al
co
nn

ec
te
dn

es
s,
co
nf
id
en

ce
an
d
en

jo
ym

en
ti
n
ex
pl
or
in
g
lo
ca
la
re
as

In
cr
ea
se
d
us
e
of

gr
ee
n
an
d
op

en
sp
ac
es

Im
pr
ov
ed

he
al
th

an
d
m
en

ta
lh
ea
lth

be
ne

fit
s
–
re
du

ct
io
n
in
bl
oo

d
pr
es
su
re
,w

ei
gh
tl
os
s;
im

pr
ov
ed

he
ar
tr
at
e,
m
us
cl
e
to
ne

;r
ed

uc
tio

n
in
st
re
ss
an
d
an
xi
et
y

H
ill
in
gd
on

17
le
d
w
al
ks

ac
ro
ss
th
e
bo

ro
ug
h;

23
w
al
k
le
ad
er
s
tr
ai
ne

d
in
cl
ud

in
g
m
em

be
rs
of

th
e
pu

bl
ic
,N

H
S
se
rv
ic
es
,v
ol
un

ta
ry

se
ct
or
,H

ill
in
gd
on

M
IN
D
,c
om

m
un

ity
le
ad
er
s.

Page 218



47

O
ut
co
m
es

W
al
k
H
ill
in
gd
on

pr
og
ra
m
m
es

ar
e
av
ai
la
bl
e
fr
om

al
lH

ill
in
gd
on

lib
ra
ri
es
,G

P
su
rg
er
ie
s,
ph

ar
m
ac
ie
s,
an
d
Th

e
H
ill
in
gd
on

H
os
pi
ta
lT
ru
st

se
rv
ic
es

W
al
ke
rs

lo
g
th
ei
rw

al
ks

an
d
ex
pe

rie
nc
es

of
w
al
ks

on
W
al
k4
Li
fe

th
ro
ug
h
Lo
nd

on
Bo

ro
ug
h
of

H
ill
in
gd
on

w
eb

si
te

D
ia
be

tic
ar
e
an
d
Ca

rd
ia
c
Ca

re
pa
tie

nt
s
at
te
nd

re
gu
la
r
W
al
ks

as
pa
rt
of

th
ei
rc
ar
e
pa
th
w
ay
.

98
%

10
0%

po
si
tiv

e
fe
ed

ba
ck

fr
om

re
si
de

nt
s
ab
ou

te
nj
oy
in
g
th
e
w
al
ks
,s
oc
ia
lis
in
g,
ex
pl
or
in
g
ne

w
lo
ca
la
re
as

Ac
tiv

ity
Te
a
D
an

ce
an

d
H
ea
lt
h
Fa
ir
fo
r
ov
er

55
’s
–
O
ld
er

Pe
op

le
’s
W
el
lb
ei
ng

Fe
st
iv
al
Ju
ne

20
12

“I
ha

ve
n’
tl
au

gh
ed

so
m
uc
h
in
ye
ar
s”

“I
m
et

so
m
eo
ne

Iu
se
d
to

w
or
k
w
ith

40
ye
ar
s
ag

o”

“I
t’
s
lo
ve
ly
to

fe
el
al
iv
e”

“T
he

or
ga

ni
sa
tio

n
w
as

ex
ce
lle
nt

an
d
w
e
w
er
e
m
ad

e
to

fe
el
w
el
co
m
e”

“V
er
y
go

od
at
m
os
ph

er
e”

Ke
y
M
es
sa
ge
s

In
H
ill
in
gd
on

th
er
e
ar
e
34

,7
00

pe
op

le
ag
ed

65
ye
ar
s.
.R

es
ea
rc
h
ha
s
sh
ow

n
th
at

ta
ki
ng

pa
rt
in
ac
tiv

iti
es

an
d
so
ci
al
ev
en

ts
in
cr
ea
se
s
he

al
th

an
d
m
en

ta
lw

el
lb

ei
ng

th
ro
ug
h
of
fe
ri
ng

op
po

rt
un

iti
es

to
be

ac
tiv

e
an
d
de

ve
lo
p
ne

w
so
ci
al
in
te
ra
ct
io
ns
;h

el
p
pl
an

fo
rl
ife

tr
an
si
tio

n
fr
om

w
or
ki
ng

to
re
tir
em

en
tt
hr
ou

gh
ga
in
in
g
aw

ar
en

es
s
of

ac
tiv

iti
es

an
d
se
rv
ic
es

av
ai
la
bl
e
lo
ca
lly
;b

e
in
fo
rm

ed
ab
ou

tp
re
ve
nt
io
n
an
d
su
pp

or
t

fo
rk

ey
is
su
es

in
cl
ud

in
g
fa
lls
,d
em

en
tia

,s
tr
ok
es

an
d
in
co
nt
in
en

ce
;b

et
te
ru

nd
er
st
an
d
w
ha
ti
s
av
ai
la
bl
e
in
th
e
th
ro
ug
h
th
e
pe

rs
on

al
is
at
io
n

ag
en

da

In
di
ca
to
rs
fo
r

In
cr
ea
se
d
ac
ce
ss
an
d
ut
ili
sa
tio

n
of

gr
ee
n
sp
ac
e

Im
pr
ov
ed

pe
rc
ep

tio
n
of

co
m
m
un

ity
sa
fe
ty

by
ol
de

r
pe

op
le

Page 219



48

po
si
tiv

e
m
en

ta
l

he
al
th

an
d

w
el
lb
ei
ng

Im
pr
ov
ed

So
ci
al
co
nn

ec
te
dn

es
s

Pa
rt
ic
ip
at
io
n
in
ph

ys
ic
al
ac
tiv

ity
:w

al
ki
ng
,c
yc
lin
g

Im
pr
ov
ed

se
lf
re
po

rt
ed

w
el
lb
ei
ng

Im
pr
ov
ed

he
al
th

re
la
te
d
qu

al
ity

of
lif
e
fo
ro

ld
er

pe
op

le

H
ill
in
gd
on

O
ut
co
m
es

55
9
re
si
de

nt
s
at
te
nd

ed
7
te
a
da
nc
es

he
ld
ac
ro
ss
th
e
bo

ro
ug
h
in
Ju
ne

’1
2

11
8 

pe
op

le
 o

ut
 o

f 
40

7 
sa

id
 t

he
y 

w
ou

ld
 li

ke
 m

or
e 

ph
ys

ic
al

 a
ct

iv
ity

; 
69

%
 r

ep
or

te
d 

ba
ck

 t
he

y 
w

an
te

d 
to

 d
o 

m
or

e 
da

nc
in

g
Th

e 
th

re
e 

m
os

t 
co

m
m

on
 r

ea
so

ns
 s

ta
te

d 
th

at
 m

ad
e 

th
e 

ev
en

t 
en

jo
ya

bl
e 

w
er

e35
:

m
us

ic
  
87

%
; 

da
nc

in
g 

85
%

; 
so

ci
al

is
in

g 
84

%
 

99
.8

%
 p

eo
pl

e 
sa

id
 t

ha
t 

th
ey

 e
nj

oy
ed

 t
he

 e
ve

nt
 a

nd
 9

8%
 s

ai
d 

th
ey

w
ou

ld
 a

tt
en

d 
ag

ai
n

G
oo

d
Pr
ac
tic
e
Ex
am

pl
es

Ac
tiv

ity
W
el
lb
ei
ng

In
it
ia
ti
ve

N
et
w
or
k
(W

IN
)–

Pr
om

ot
in
g
Fi
ve

W
ay
s
to

W
el
lb
ei
ng

”
If
ee
lb
et
te
r.
Il
ik
e
to

le
ar
n
En
gl
is
h.
M
or
e
fr
ie
nd

s
m
ad

e.
Ie
nj
oy

th
e
gr
ou

p.
Ih
av
e
m
or
e
co
nf
id
en
ce
”

“T
od

ay
Ia
m

ha
pp

y.
Ia
m

fe
el
in
g
in
te
re
st
ed

in
th
is
on

e
ho

ur
”

Ke
y
M
es
sa
ge
s

A
re
ce
nt

U
K
st
ud

y
to

m
ea
su
re

w
el
lb

ei
ng

es
tim

at
ed

th
at

on
ly
14

pe
rc
en

to
ft
he

po
pu

la
tio

n
ha
s
a
hi
gh

le
ve
lo
fw

el
lb

ei
ng
,r
ef
er
re
d
to

as
‘fl
ou

ri
sh
in
g’
.A

fu
rt
he

r1
4
pe

rc
en

th
as

ve
ry

lo
w
w
el
lb

ei
ng
,n
ot
w
ith

st
an
di
ng

in
di
vi
du

al
s
w
ith

a
di
ag
no

se
d
m
en

ta
ld
is
or
de

r.
A
w
ho

le
ra
ng
e

Page 220



49

of
fa
ct
or
s
de

te
rm

in
e
an

in
di
vi
du

al
’s
le
ve
lo
fp

er
so
na
lw

el
lb

ei
ng

bu
te

vi
de

nc
e
in
di
ca
te
s
th
at

th
e
th
in
gs

w
e
do

an
d
th
e
w
ay

w
e
th
in
k
ca
n

ha
ve

th
e
gr
ea
te
st
im

pa
ct
.W

el
lb

ei
ng

co
m
pr
is
es

tw
o
m
ai
n
el
em

en
ts
:f
ee
lin
g
go
od

an
d
fu
nc
tio

ni
ng

w
el
l.
Ex
pe

rie
nc
in
g
po

si
tiv

e
re
la
tio

ns
hi
ps
,h
av
in
g
so
m
e
co
nt
ro
lo
ve
r
on

e’
s
lif
e
an
d
ha
vi
ng

a
se
ns
e
of

pu
rp
os
e
ar
e
al
li
m
p o

rt
an
ta

tt
rib

ut
es

of
w
el
lb
ei
ng
.T
he

W
ar
w
ic
k

Ed
in
bu

rg
h
M
en

ta
lW

el
lb

ei
ng

Sc
al
e
(W

EM
W
BS
)h

as
14

qu
es
tio

ns
on

an
in
di
vi
du

al
’s
w
el
lb
ei
ng
..
It
ha
s
be

en
us
ed

su
cc
es
sf
ul
ly
us
ed

in
Sc
ot
la
nd

an
d
th
e
U
K
an
d
is
be

co
m
in
g
th
e
ac
ce
pt
ed

be
nc
hm

ar
k
fo
r
w
el
lb
ei
ng
.

In
di
ca
to
rs
fo
r

po
si
tiv

e
m
en

ta
l

w
el
lb
ei
ng

In
cr
ea
se

in
em

ot
io
na
lw

el
lb

ei
ng
:f
re
qu

en
cy

of
po

si
tiv

e
em

ot
io
ns

an
d
ab
se
nc
e
of

ne
ga
tiv

e
fe
el
in
gs

In
cr
ea
se

in
po

si
tiv

e
ev
al
ua
tio

n
of

a
pe

rs
on

’s
lif
e
ov
er
al
l

Im
pr
ov
ed

vi
ta
lit
y:
in
cr
ea
se

in
en

er
gy
,f
ee
lin
g
w
el
lr
es
te
d
an
d
he

al
th
y,
an
d
be

in
g
ph

ys
ic
al
ly
ac
tiv

e
Im

pr
ov
ed

re
si
lie
nc
e:
se
lf
es
te
em

,o
pt
im

is
m
,r
es
ili
en

ce
En
ha
nc
ed

po
si
tiv

e
fu
nc
tio

ni
ng
:a
ut
on

om
y,
co
m
pe

te
nc
e,
en

ga
ge
m
en

t,
m
ea
ni
ng

an
d
pu

rp
os
e

H
ill
in
gd
on

O
ut
co
m
es

3
W
IN

Ch
am

pi
on

s
se
tu

p
pi
lo
tp

ro
gr
am

m
es

to
pr
om

ot
e
Fi
ve

W
ay
s
to

W
el
lb
ei
ng

in
3
w
ar
ds

in
H
ill
in
gd
on

Fo
llo
w
in
g
re
si
de

nt
de

m
an
d
‘C
re
at
e
yo
ur

ow
n
W
el
lb
ei
ng
’t
oo

lk
it
gr
ou

p
ac
tiv

iti
es

se
tu

p
in
H
ar
ef
ie
ld

20
0
W
el
lb
ei
ng

qu
es
tio

nn
ai
re
s
ad
m
in
is
te
re
d

in
di
vi
du

al
s
at
te
nd

in
g
an
y
gr
ou

p
fo
ra

tl
ea
st
4
tim

es
a
m
on

th
(a
n
av
er
ag
e
of

on
ce

a
w
ee
k)
,r
ep

or
th

ig
h e

ro
n
th
ei
rw

el
lb

ei
ng

sc
or
e

11
5
ne

w
co
nt
ac
ts
(in

di
vi
du

al
s
an
d
gr
ou

ps
)l
in
ke
d
in
to

W
el
lb
ei
ng

pr
og
ra
m
m
e:
sw

im
m
in
g
cl
as
se
s,
ex
er
ci
se

cl
as
se
s
fo
ro

ve
r6

5’
s,

co
ok
in
g
cl
as
se
s,
vo
lu
nt
ee
ri
ng
,a
tt
en

di
ng

co
nv
er
sa
tio

n
cl
as
se
s
(f
or

BM
E
gr
ou

ps
),
w
al
ki
ng

gr
ou

ps

Be
ne

fit
s

A
cc
es
s
fo
rr
es
id
en

ts
an
d
se
rv
ic
es

to
co
m
m
un

ity
ba
se
d
pr
og
ra
m
m
es

is
st
ra
ig
ht
fo
rw

ar
d
an
d
fr
ee

W
id
e
ra
ng
e
of

lo
ca
lp
ro
gr
am

m
es

ar
e
av
ai
la
bl
e
th
at

ar
e
no

n
m
ed

ic
al
an
d
fo
cu
s
on

pr
om

ot
in
g
po

si
tiv

e
he

al
th
,w

el
lb
ei
ng

an
d
ph

ys
ic
al
he

al
th

Im
pr
ov
ed

pr
ev
en

tio
n
an
d
en

ha
nc
ed

re
co
ve
ry

Page 221



50

O
ve
rv
ie
w
fo
r2

01
2/
13

Cu
rr
en

tly
th
er
e
is
no

m
en

ta
lh
ea
lth

co
m
m
is
si
on

in
g
in
to

th
e
Sp
ec
ia
lis
tH

ea
lth

Pr
om

ot
io
n
Te
am

to
ad
dr
es
s
m
en

ta
lh
ea
lth

pr
om

ot
io
n
an
d
w
el
lb
ei
ng
.
Th
e

pr
og
ra
m
m
es

ha
ve

be
en

fu
nd

ed
th
ro
ug
h
co
re

N
H
S
fu
nd

s
an
d
ha
ve

be
en

se
tu

p
to

ad
dr
es
s
th
e
w
id
er

he
al
th

im
pr
ov
em

en
ts
ob

je
ct
iv
es

w
ith

in
th
e
Pu

bl
ic

H
ea
lth

O
ut
co
m
es
.
To

ta
lf
un

ds
fo
rt
he

cu
rr
en

tp
ro
gr
am

m
es

ar
e
ap
pr
ox
im

at
el
y
£3

5k
.

Cu
rr
en

tO
ut
pu

ts
an

d
ar
ea
s
fo
r
de

ve
lo
pm

en
t

G
et

In
to

Re
ad
in
g

10
4
pa
rt
ic
ip
an
ts
at
te
nd

in
g
G
et

In
to

Re
ad
in
g
G
ro
up

s
ac
ro
ss
th
e
bo

ro
ug
h

Ex
ce
lle
nt

fe
ed

ba
ck

on
se
lf
re
po

rt
ed

w
el
lb
ei
ng
,i
m
pr
ov
em

en
ti
n
lit
er
ac
y,
en

jo
ym

en
to

fr
ea
di
ng

in
a
gr
ou

p

A
re
as

fo
rd

ev
el
op

m
en

t

Fu
rt
he

r
3
gr
ou

ps
se
tu

p
w
ith

in
vo
lu
nt
ar
y
an
d
st
at
ut
or
y
se
tt
in
gs
;l
ib
ra
rie

s
ar
e
co
m
m
is
si
on

ed
to

de
liv
er

m
en

ta
lh
ea
lth

ac
tiv

iti
es
,n
um

be
ro

f
fa
ci
lit
at
or
s
is
ex
pa
nd

ed
ac
ro
ss
th
e
bo

ro
ug
h,
ex
pl
or
e
A
cc
re
di
ta
tio

n
m
od

el

W
al
k
H
ill
in
gd
on

34
00

un
its

of
w
al
ki
ng

oc
cu
rr
ed

ac
ro
ss
th
e
bo

ro
ug
h

W
al
ke
rs
re
po

rt
th
ey

en
jo
y
w
al
ks

an
d
th
at

it
he

lp
s
th
em

w
ith

th
ei
r
m
ob

ili
ty
,h
ea
lth

an
d
se
ns
e
of

w
el
lb
ei
ng

A
re
as

fo
rd

ev
el
op

m
en

t

5%
in
cr
ea
se

in
un

its
of

w
al
ki
ng
;L
ib
ra
ry

se
rv
ic
es

an
d
N
H
S
se
rv
ic
es

ha
ve

w
al
ks

as
pa
rt
of

th
ei
r
co
re

co
m
m
un

ity
su
pp

or
to

bj
ec
tiv

es
;
re
fe
rr
al

pr
oc
es
s
de

ve
lo
pe

d
as

pa
rt
of

CC
G
;l
in
k
in
to

M
ac
M
ill
an

vo
lu
nt
ee
rs
;G

Ps
ac
tiv

el
y
pr
om

ot
e
W
al
k
H
ill
in
gd
on

pr
og
ra
m
m
e
as

pa
rt
of

ca
re

pa
th
w
ay
s

O
ld
er

Pe
op

le
’s

W
el
lb
ei
ng

60
0
O
ld
er

pe
op

le
pa
rt
ic
ip
at
ed

in
va
rie

ty
of

ac
tiv

iti
es

ac
ro
ss
th
e
bo

ro
ug
h

Po
si
tiv

e
se
lf
re
po

rt
in
g
in
cl
ud

in
g
fe
el
in
g
va
lu
ed

,e
nj
oy
m
en

tf
ro
m

go
in
g
ou

t,
in
te
re
st
ed

in
m
or
e
an
d
si
m
ila
r
ac
tiv

iti
es

A
re
as

fo
rd

ev
el
op

m
en

t

“B
re
at
he

”
pr
oj
ec
tf
or

pe
op

le
w
ith

de
m
en

tia
an
d
th
ei
rc
ar
er
s
(t
o
in
cl
ud

e
m
us
ic
an
d
G
et

In
to

Re
ad
in
g
pr
og
ra
m
m
e)
;“
O
pe

ni
ng

D
oo

rs
”
pi
lo
t

Page 222



51

(a
tG

ra
ss
y
M
ea
do

w
s
D
ay

Ce
nt
re
)t
o
en

co
ur
ag
e
O
ld
er

Pe
op

le
to

w
or
k
to
ge
th
er

to
ac
tiv

el
y
or
ga
ni
se

a
se
ri
es

of
ac
tiv

iti
es

an
d
ev
en

ts
fo
r

th
em

to
ta
ke

pa
rt

in
;R

e
ab
le
m
en

tP
ro
vi
si
on

by
de

ve
lo
pi
ng

a
pa
ck
ag
e
of

ph
ys
ic
al
ac
tiv

ity
op

po
rt
un

iti
es

th
at

O
ld
er

Pe
op

le
ca
n
ta
ke

pa
rt
in

(A
ge

W
el
lo
n
W
he

el
s
–
cy
cl
in
g;
Fo
ot
ba
ll;
D
an
ce
);
W
el
lb
ei
ng

ac
tiv

iti
es

–
3
m
or
e
Te
a
D
an
ce
s,
Fi
lm

ev
en

ts
in
lo
ca
lc
om

m
un

ity
se
tt
in
gs
,

ou
tin

gs
w
ith

in
th
e
bo

ro
ug
h.

W
el
lb
ei
ng

In
iti
at
iv
e

N
et
w
or
k
(W

IN
)

3
w
ar
ds

w
or
ki
ng

w
ith

lo
ca
lc
om

m
un

ity
gr
ou

ps
,v
ol
un

ta
ry

se
ct
or

an
d
se
rv
ic
es
.
10

0
re
si
de

nt
s
–
ol
de

r
pe

op
le
,p
ar
en

ts
,B

M
E
gr
ou

ps
,

pa
rt
ic
ip
at
in
g
in
W
IN

ac
tiv

iti
es

th
at

ad
dr
es
s
‘F
iv
e
W
ay
s
to

W
el
lb
ei
ng
’

Pa
rt
ic
ip
an
ts
ha
ve

se
lf
re
po

rt
ed

th
at

th
ey

ha
ve

le
ar
nt

ab
ou

tt
he

ir
ar
ea
,f
ee
lb
et
te
rc
on

ne
ct
ed

,m
or
e
co
nf
id
en

tt
o
be

in
vo
lv
ed

in
lo
ca
l

gr
ou

ps
an
d
en

ga
ge

in
lo
ca
lf
ac
ili
tie

s

A
re
as

fo
rd

ev
el
op

m
en

t

D
ev
el
op

‘F
iv
e
W
ay
s
to

W
el
lb
ei
ng
’F
ra
m
ew

or
k
th
at

in
co
rp
or
at
es

ot
he

rw
el
lb
ei
ng

pr
ov
id
er
s
an
d
re
so
ur
ce
s;
pu

bl
ic
is
e
an
d
pr
om

ot
e
‘F
iv
e

W
ay
s
to

W
el
lb
ei
ng
’m

es
sa
ge
s
an
d
ac
tiv

iti
es

in
lo
ca
la
re
as

ac
ro
ss
th
e
bo

ro
ug
h
us
in
g
Co

m
m
un

ic
at
io
ns

de
pa
rt
m
en

t,
m
ed

ia
(p
ap
er

an
d

di
gi
ta
l);

e n
ga
ge

w
ith

N
H
S
se
rv
ic
es

an
d
CC

G
s
to

pr
om

ot
e
po

si
tiv

e
m
en

ta
lh
ea
lth

th
ro
ug
h
th
ei
rc
ar
e
pa
th
w
ay
s

In
te
nt
io
ns

fo
r2

01
3/
14
,2
01

4/
15

To
ad
dr
es
s
th
e
na
tio

na
lr
ec
om

m
en

da
tio

ns
to

pr
om

ot
e
po

si
tiv

e
m
en

ta
lh
ea
lth

an
d
w
el
lb
ei
ng
,l
oc
al
ow

ne
rs
hi
p
of

pr
og
ra
m
m
es

ne
ed

s
to

be
m
or
e
ro
bu

st
an
d

le
ad

by
th
e
M
en

ta
lH

ea
lth

D
el
iv
er
y
G
ro
up

(a
nd

its
pa
rt
ne

rs
).
A
lth

ou
gh

fu
nd

in
g
is
no

tc
ri
tic
al
fo
rt
he

cu
rr
en

tp
ro
gr
am

m
es

to
de

ve
lo
p
in
20

13
/1
4
–
as

pa
rt
ne

rs
hi
p
w
or
ki
ng

an
d
po

ol
in
g
ex
is
tin

g
re
so
ur
ce
s
is
a
ke
y
pr
in
ci
pl
e
of

th
e
he

al
th

pr
om

ot
io
n
ap
pr
oa
ch

–
a
co
st
ed

,t
im

e
ta
bl
ed

fr
am

ew
or
k
is
im

po
rt
an
t.

Th
is
w
ill
en

su
re

th
at

th
e
in
di
ca
to
rs
fo
rp

os
iti
ve

m
en

ta
lh
ea
lth

ar
e
ex
pe

ri
en

ce
d
by

a
w
id
er

po
pu

la
tio

n
gr
ou

p
w
ith

in
a
ch
an
gi
ng

la
nd

sc
ap
e
th
at

w
ill
im

pa
ct
on

m
en

ta
lh
ea
lth

se
rv
ic
e
se
rv
ic
es

(a
du

lts
an
d
ol
de

r
pe

op
le
)a
nd

re
si
de

nt
s
w
ho

ar
e
no

ty
et

kn
ow

n
to

he
al
th

se
rv
ic
es

bu
tn

ee
d
lo
ca
l,
ev
id
en

ce
d
ba
se
d
su
pp

or
t

w
ith

in
co
m
m
un

ity
se
tt
in
gs
.
N
ex
ts
te
ps

w
ou

ld
be

fo
r
th
e
M
en

ta
lH

ea
lth

D
el
iv
er
y
G
ro
up

to
re
vi
ew

cu
rr
en

tp
ro
gr
am

m
es
,c
os
tin

gs
an
d
op

po
rt
un

iti
es

to
ex
pa
nd

th
e
Sp
ec
ia
lis
tH

ea
lth

Pr
om

ot
io
n
Te
am

pr
og
ra
m
m
es

th
at

im
pa
ct
on

po
si
tiv

e
m
en

ta
lh
ea
lt h

an
d
w
el
lb
ei
ng

Page 223



52

A
PP

EN
D
IX

3:
LB
H
Pr
io
ri
ti
es

fo
r
Im

pr
ov
em

en
t2

01
2
15

M
en

ta
lH

ea
lt
h
Pl
ac
em

en
ts
Ef
fic
ie
nc
y
Pr
oj
ec
t

Ex
te
ns
iv
e
w
or
k
ha
s
be

en
do

ne
by

th
e
ke
y
ag
en

ci
es

in
H
ill
in
gd
on

to
im

pr
ov
em

en
t
th
e
pl
ac
em

en
t
m
an
ag
em

en
t
sy
st
em

ov
er

th
e
pa
st

ye
ar
.
Ke

y
sa
vi
ng
s
ar
e
re
qu

ire
d
in

ad
di
tio

n
to

im
pr
ov
em

en
ts
in

qu
al
ity

e.
g.
pe

rs
on

al
is
at
io
n
an
d
ra
ng
e
of

op
tio

ns
.
Th
is
al
ln

ee
ds

to
be

su
pp

or
te
d
by

ne
w
IT
,p

er
fo
rm

an
ce

m
an
ag
em

en
t,
tr
ai
ni
ng

an
d
Se
rv
ic
e

U
se
r/
Ca
re
r
in
vo
lv
em

en
t.
Th
is
pa
pe

r
co
m
es

fr
om

a
su
rv
ey

of
ke
y
st
af
fa

nd
ag
en

ci
es

ab
ou

tp
ro
gr
es
s
on

th
e
6
po

in
tp

la
n
ag
re
ed

by
al
lD

ire
ct
or
s
ea
rli
er

in
th
e
ye
ar
.
Pr
og
re
ss

is
be

in
g
m
ad
e
on

fin
an
ci
al
ta
rg
et
s
–
se
e
PE
P
pl
an
.
Ye
tm

uc
h
m
or
e
is
ne

ed
ed

to
en

su
re

m
ea
ni
ng
fu
li
m
pr
ov
em

en
ts
in
th
e
m
ed

iu
m

te
rm

.L
ea
de

rs
hi
p
is
ch
a n
gi
ng

in
th
e
ag
en

ci
es

an
d
re
pl
ac
em

en
ts
ne

ed
to

be
id
en

tif
ie
d
w
ho

ca
n
re
al
is
tic
al
ly
un

de
rt
ak
e
th
e
ke
y
re
sp
on

si
bi
lit
ie
s
an
d
th
us

be
ac
co
un

ta
bl
e
fo
r
pr
og
re
ss

–
es
pe

ci
al
ly
in
a
pr
oc
es
s
th
at

de
m
an
ds

ef
fe
ct
iv
e
jo
in
tw

or
ki
ng
.

Pe
rf
or
m
an

ce
up

da
te
:

W
or
k
st
re
am

an
d
ac
ti
on

s
Pr
og
re
ss

1,
In

bo
ro
ug
h
re
so
ur
ce
s
fo
r
ef
fe
ct
iv
e
pl
ac
em

en
ts

[L
ea
d
LB
H
]

O
bj
ec
tiv
es
:

1.
St
im

ul
at
e
th
e
pr
ov
id
er

m
ar
ke
t

2.
In
cr
ea
se

st
ep

do
w
n
an
d
m
ov
e
on

op
tio

ns
3.

D
ev
el
op

cl
ea
r
pa
th
w
ay
s
an
d
ex
is
ts

th
ro
ug
h

th
e
re
co
ve
ry

s.
lin
e
an
d
pr
im

ar
y
ca
re

s.
lin
e.

A
ct
io
ns
:

1.
M
ap

al
lp

ro
vi
si
on

in
cl
ud

in
g
lo
ca
lp

ro
vi
si
on

no
tc
ur
re
nt
ly
us
ed

by
co
m
m
is
si
on

er
s

2.
Co

nd
uc
t
a

ga
p

an
al
ys
is
/n
ee
d

an
al
ys
is

–
in
cl
ud

in
g
fu
tu
re

gr
ow

th
3.

D
ev
el
op

pr
ov
id
er

en
ga
ge
m
en

t
pl
an

to
w
or
k
w
it
h
ne

w
an

d
po

te
nt
ia
lp
ro
vi
de

rs
4.

D
ev
el
op

a
sy
st
em

of
di
ss
em

in
at
in
g

th
is

in
fo
rm

at
io
n

to
m
ax
im

is
e

th
e

op
ti
on

s
av
ai
la
bl
e
in
th
e
bo

ro
ug
h.

1.
O
pt
io
ns

an
d
la
ck

of
aw

ar
en

es
s
of

th
e
op

tio
ns

is
a
ke
y
is
su
es

e.
g.

fo
st
er
in
g,

Te
le
ca
re
,
Ca
re

sp
ac
e,

su
pp

or
tin

g
ho

us
in
g
op

tio
ns
,M

in
d,

da
y
ce
nt
re
,a

cc
es
s
to

gr
ou

ps
.
A
ch
la
of

th
e
Re

ha
bi
lit
at
io
n
Se
rv
ic
e
is

tr
yi
ng

to
w
or
k
w
ith

ne
w

pr
ov
id
er
s
(w

ho
co
nt
ra
ct

A
ch
la
,
se
nd

in
fo

ab
ou

t
op

en
in
gs
)
an
d

pa
ss
es

in
fo
rm

at
io
n
on

to
br
ok
er
ag
e
to

lo
ok

at
th
e
do

cu
m
en

ts
.
A
ch
la
ha
s
lit
tle

tim
e
to

go
ou

t
an
d
as
se
ss

ne
w

pr
ov
id
er
s.

N
ew

pr
ov
id
er
s
in
cl
ud

e
Fi
rs
t
Ch

oi
ce
,
Ch

ur
ch

Fa
r,
Ai
ria

lC
ar
e,

Br
am

pt
on

vi
ew

,
m
en

ta
lh

ea
lth

ps
yc
hi
at
ric

re
ha
b
fo
r
ad
ul
ts

et
c.

Th
ey

ha
ve

de
ve
lo
pe

d
an

op
tio

ns
fo
ld
er

an
d
co
ul
d
po

ss
ib
ly

cr
ea
te

a
di
re
ct
or
y.

2.
Q
ua
lit
y

m
on

ito
rin

g
of

ex
is
tin

g
an
d

fu
tu
re

op
tio

ns
–

pl
ac
em

en
t
op

tio
ns
/p
la
ce
m
en

t
re
vi
ew

s
et
c.

D
iff
er
en

ce
s
in

ex
pe

rie
nc
es

of
co
m
m
is
si
on

er
s,

us
er
s
an
d
ad
vo
ca
te
s.

CQ
C

sy
st
em

in
H
ill
in
gd
on

fo
r

qu
al
ity
/p
ro
cu
re
m
en

tn
ee
ds

to
be

in
co
rp
or
at
ed

.
It
w
ill
al
so

he
lp
to

ov
er
co
m
e
di
ff
er
en

ce
s
in
pe

rs
pe

ct
iv
es

be
tw

ee
n
Pa
ne

ls
,P

ro
vi
de

rs
Se
rv
ic
es

an
d
Ke

y
w
or
ke
rs

w
he

re
un

de
rs
ta
nd

in
gs

an
d
ex
pe

rie
nc
es

di
ff
er
.
A

qu
al
ity
/a
ud

it
of
fic
er

co
ul
d

pr
ov
id
e

ke
y

in
fo
rm

at
io
n

ab
ou

t
ac
tu
al

st
an
da
rd
s
of

pr
ov
is
io
n

to
he

lp
co
m
m
is
si
on

er
s,

pa
ne

ls
an
d
ca
re

co
or
di
na
to
rs

w
or
k
in

a
tr
an
sp
ar
en

t
w
ay

w
ith

se
rv
ic
e
us
er
s
–
gi
vi
ng

th
em

ge
nu

in
e
ch
oi
ce
.

3.
Lo
ca
l
H
ill
in
gd
on

Bo
ro
ug
h
M
en

ta
l
H
ea
lth

Po
lic
y
O
ve
rv
ie
w

an
d
sc
ru
tin

y
Co

m
m
itt
ee

re
vi
ew

w
ill

he
lp

to
cl
ar
ify

th
e
se
rv
ic
es

th
at

ar
e
av
ai
la
bl
e,

ga
ps
,a

nd
pr
op

os
al
s
fo
r
de

ve
lo
pm

en
t.

Th
e
PO

C
re
vi
ew

w
or
ki
ng

w
ith

th
e
bo

ro
ug
h
M
en

ta
lH

ea
lth

St
ra
te
gy

be
in
g
de

ve
lo
pe

d
by

th
e
PC

T
w
ill
he

lp
to

bu
ild

a
be

tt
er

ra
ng
e

of
op

tio
ns

av
ai
la
bl
e
to

s.
us
er
s
at

th
e
va
rio

us
st
ag
e
of

th
e
IC
P
(2
01
2)

Page 224



53

4.
Cl
ea
re
r
pa
th
w
ay
s
be

tw
ee
n
se
rv
ic
es

at
di
ff
er
en

t
le
ve
ls
in
cl
ud

in
g
be

tw
ee
n
se
rv
ic
e
lin
es

w
ill

ne
ed

to
be

cl
ar
ifi
ed

to
en

su
re

cl
ar
ity

of
op

tio
n
se
le
ct
io
n
an
d
ea
se

of
pl
ac
em

en
t.

5.
A
ct
io
ns

2,
3
an
d
4
to

be
pi
ck
ed

up
in
co
m
m
is
si
on

in
g
pl
an
.

W
or
k

st
re
am

2:
Pe

rs
on

al
is
at
io
n

fo
r

ef
fe
ct
iv
e

pl
ac
em

en
ts
[L
ea
d
LB
H
]

O
bj
ec
tiv
es
:

1.
M
ov
e

fr
om

bl
oc
k
co
nt
ra
ct
s
to

in
di
vi
du

al
bu

dg
et
s

2.
Su
pp

or
t

m
en

ta
l

he
al
th

w
or
ke
rs

to
im

pl
em

en
t
th
e
pe

rs
on

al
is
at
io
n
po

lic
y
w
ith

se
rv
ic
es

us
er
s
so

th
at

th
ey

be
ne

fit
3.

Re
du

ce
pe

rc
ei
ve
d

ba
rr
ie
rs

to
pe

rs
on

al
is
at
io
n

A
ct
io
ns
:

1.
D
ev
el
op

,
de

liv
er

an
d
ev
al
ua

te
a
ra
ng
e
of

ta
ilo

re
d

tr
ai
ni
ng

pr
og
ra
m
m
es

fo
r

al
l

w
or
ke
rs

on
Pe

rs
on

al
is
at
io
n,

it
s

im
pl
em

en
ta
ti
on

an
d

th
e

ov
er
co
m
in
g

of
ba

rr
ie
rs
to

su
cc
es
sf
ul
us
e.

2.
U
nd

er
ta
ke

a
pe

rs
on

al
is
at
io
n
sy
st
em

s
an

d
pr
oc
es
s
re
vi
ew

.
3.

Re
se
ar
ch

an
d

in
tr
od

uc
e

be
st

pr
ac
ti
ce

in
pe

rs
on

al
is
at
io
n
fr
om

ot
he

rb
or
ou

gh
s.

1.
Th
er
e
is
a
ne

ed
to

cl
ar
ify

th
at

th
e
le
ad

re
sp
on

si
bi
lit
y
is
w
ith

th
e
Lo
ca
lB

or
ou

gh
.
A
dr
ia
n
Fr
ith

of
LB
H
is

le
ad
in
g
th
e
w
or
k,
in
co
ns
ul
ta
tio

n
w
ith

A
nn

e
Sh
er
id
an

of
CN

W
L.

2.
A
sa
vi
ng

pl
an

is
ne

ed
ed

an
d
ne

ed
s
to

be
de

ve
lo
pe

d
be

tw
ee
n
LB
H
an
d
PC

T.
3.

A
go
od

es
tim

at
e
of

th
e
to
ta
l
nu

m
be

r
of

m
en

ta
l
he

al
th

se
rv
ic
e
us
er
s
to

be
in
co
rp
or
at
ed

in
to

th
e

pe
rs
on

al
is
at
io
n
bu

dg
et

sy
st
em

ne
ed

s
to

be
m
ad
e
cl
ea
r.

4.
Th
er
e
is
a
ne

ed
to

se
e
a
sh
ift

fr
om

1%
of

M
en

ta
lH

ea
lth

Se
rv
ic
e
U
se
rs
w
ith

Pe
rs
on

al
Bu

dg
et
s
to

10
0%

.
A
cl
ea
r
pl
an

is
ne

ed
ed

fo
r
th
is
w
it
h
de

ta
ile
d
m
ile
st
on

es
fo
r
th
e
ne

xt
3
an

d
6
m
on

th
s.

5.
A
pr
og
re
ss
re
po

rt
fr
om

An
ne

Sh
er
id
an
:

‘W
e
ha
ve

do
ne

a
lo
t
of

w
or
k
on

pe
rs
on

al
is
at
io
n
in

th
is
bo

ro
ug
h
w
hi
ch

ha
s
be

en
ve
ry

m
uc
h
le
d

by
th
e
Bo

ro
ug
h.
..
w
ith

ac
tiv
e
in
pu

t
fr
om

CN
W
L
to

en
su
re

th
at

th
e
pl
an

re
fle

ct
s
a
M
H

an
d

in
te
gr
at
ed

pe
rs
pe

ct
iv
e
th
at

is
th
e
re
al
ity

of
de

liv
er
in
g
m
od

er
n
M
H
se
rv
ic
es
.O

ne
pe

rs
on

ke
y
to

th
is
w
or
k
ha
s
be

en
Ad

ria
n
Fr
ith

fr
om

th
e
Bo

ro
ug
h.

A
t
re
ce
nt
ly
up

da
te
d
w
or
k
pl
an

ha
s
no

t
as

ye
t
be

en
se
nt

ou
t.

W
e
pl
an

to
m
ee
t
ag
ai
n
on

th
e
12

th
Se
pt
em

be
r
at

2p
m

at
th
e
Ci
vi
c
Ce

nt
re
.

Th
e
pr
oc
es
s
to

da
te

ha
s
be

en
ag
re
e
on

e
se
t
of

do
cu
m
en

ts
fo
r
as
se
ss
m
en

t
an
d
re
vi
ew

es
se
nt
ia
lly

th
e
in
te
gr
at
ed

pr
oc
es
s

de
ve
lo
pe

d
in
W
es
tm

in
st
er

D
ev
el
op

a
RA

S
re
so
ur
ce

al
lo
ca
tio

n
sy
st
em

th
e
pr
oc
es
s
fo
rt
ur
ni
ng

an
as
se
ss
m
en

ti
nt
o
m
on

ey
U
se

ex
is
tin

g
ca
se
s
to

ca
lib
ra
te

th
e
RA

S
to

se
e
if
it
w
or
ks

Tr
ai
n
ke
y
st
af
f
in

su
pp

or
t
pl
an
ni
n g

lik
e
ou

r
ca
re

pl
an
ni
ng

bu
t
w
ith

a
m
or
e
as
se
rt
iv
e
cr
ea
tiv
e

el
em

en
t
in
gi
vi
ng

pe
op

le
gr
ea
te
r
fr
ee
do

m
in
ac
ce
ss
in
g
su
pp

or
t

se
en

as
ke
y
to

pe
rs
on

al
is
at
io
n

su
cc
es
s

Lo
ok

at
w
ho

in
pu

ts
on

IT
LA

sy
st
em

an
d
tr
an
sp
or
ta

ss
es
sm

en
ta

nd
ca
re

pl
an

on
to

IT
LA

sy
st
em

H
ow

to
tr
ai
n
st
af
f

th
is
is
w
he

re
w
e
ar
e
at

pr
es
en

t
Se
tt
ra
in
in
g
da
te
s
fo
rl
at
e
Se
pt
.

Ih
av
e
al
so

be
en

ke
en

to
th
in
k
of

A
BT

an
d
th
e
re
ab
le
m
en

t
ag
en

da
,f
ro
m

a
sy
st
em

at
ic
pr
oc
es
s

its
re
ab
le
m
en

t
fir
st

to
ge
t
pe

op
le

to
th
ei
r
m
ax
im

um
le
ve
l
of

w
el
l
be

in
g
an
d
th
en

if
ne

ed
ed

re
di
re
ct
in
to

pe
rs
on

al
is
at
io
n.

Th
is
st
ag
e
ha
s
no

t
re
al
ly

be
en

de
ve
lo
pe

d
an
d
I
su
gg
es
te
d
to

A
dr
ia
n
th
at

he
,
Pa
ul
,
Sa
nd

ra
or

M
ar
tin

an
d
In
ee
d
to

m
ee
tt
o
m
ap

ou
ta

pr
oc
es
s
lik
e
ab
ov
e
fo
rP

er
so
na
lis
at
io
n’

Page 225



54

6.
Je
nn

ife
r
th
e

m
an
ag
er

of
th
e

Re
co
ve
ry

Te
am

w
ith

A
ch
la

ha
s
do

ne
60

ca
se

de
sc
rip

tio
ns

fo
r
th
e

de
ve
lo
pm

en
t
of

th
e
pe

rs
on

al
is
at
io
n
so
ft
w
ar
e
pa
ck
ag
e.

Tr
ai
ni
ng

ha
s
be

en
pr
ov
id
ed

to
st
af
f
–
ho

w
ev
er

m
or
e
th
eo

re
tic
al

th
an

pr
ac
tic
al

as
th
is
st
ag
e.

W
he

n
th
e
pe

rs
on

al
is
at
io
n
so
ft
w
ar
e
is
up

an
d
ru
nn

in
g

fu
rt
he

r
tr
ai
ni
ng

w
ill
be

ne
ed

ed
.
Th
is
w
ill
ne

ed
to

be
ro
lle
d
ou

t
to

al
la
ge
nc
ie
s
an
d
in
cl
ud

e
Se
rv
ic
e
us
er
s

an
d
Ca
re
rs
.

7.
Pe
rs
on

al
is
at
io
n
is
no

t
sp
ec
ifi
ca
lly

fo
r
th
os
e
on

S1
17
;
ho

w
ev
er

so
m
e
of

th
os
e
ca
se

de
sc
rip

tio
ns

ha
ve

be
en

se
nt

of
f.

8.
Th
er
e
is

a
ne

ed
to

di
sc
us
s
w
ith

te
am

s
ab
ou

t
S1
17

re
vi
ew

s
–
to

be
he

ld
pr
io
r
to

th
e
CP

A
re
vi
ew

s.
Th
er
e
is
al
so

a
ne

ed
to

w
or
k
up

th
e
pr
oc
es
s
fo
rc
ar
er
s
an
d
ge
tc
ar
er

bu
dg
et
?

9.
Tr
ai
ni
ng

w
ill
ne

ed
to

in
cl
ud

e
ad
m
in
an
d
cl
in
ic
ia
ns
.

10
.
Th
e
ne

w
so
ft
w
ar
e
sh
ou

ld
pr
ov
id
e
a
co
st
in
g
fo
r
pa
ck
ag
es
.
Th
e
ne

xt
st
ag
e
w
ill
be

th
e
tr
ai
ni
ng

of
st
af
f
to

pu
ti
n
th
e
da
ta
.
N
ee
d
to

be
ca
re
fu
la
s
S1
17

w
ill
no

tg
et

pe
rs
on

al
is
at
io
n
bu

dg
et
s.

En
co
ur
ag
in
g
di
sc
us
si
on

ab
ou

t
s1
17

w
he

n
di
sc
us
si
ng

CP
A
re
vi
ew

s.
CP

A/
S1
17

re
vi
ew

s
ac
co
m
m
od

at
io
n,

bu
dg
et

m
an
ag
em

en
t,

un
de

rs
ta
nd

in
g
st
ep

do
w
n
w
ith

in
S1
17

ne
ed

ed
.

Co
m
bi
ne

d
tr
ai
ni
ng

in
S1
17
/C
PA

/P
er
so
na
lis
at
io
n
is

ne
ed

.
11
.
En
su
re

th
at

al
lr
ev
ie
w
pr
oc
es
se
s
ar
e
in
te
gr
at
ed

an
d
no

td
up

lic
at
ed

i.e
.:

CP
A
re
vi
ew

RA
P

S.
11
7
Re

vi
ew

Pe
rs
on

al
is
at
io
n
Bu

dg
et

Re
vi
ew

W
or
k

st
re
am

3:
Fu
nd

in
g

st
re
am

s
fo
r

ef
fe
ct
iv
e

pl
ac
em

en
ts
[L
ea
d
CN

W
L]

O
bj
ec
tiv
es
:

1.
In
cr
ea
se

aw
ar
en

es
s

of
S1
17
,
co
nt
in
ui
ng

ca
re

an
d
im

pl
ic
at
io
ns

fo
rp

la
ce
m
en

ts
.

2.
En
su
re

pr
om

pt
re
vi
ew

of
S1
17

in
re
la
tio

n
to

ac
co
m
m
od

at
io
n
su
pp

or
t.

3.
In
cr
ea
se

aw
ar
en

es
s
of

S1
17

di
sc
ha
rg
e
an
d

im
pl
ic
at
io
ns

of
de

la
ye
d

or
av
oi
di
ng

di
sc
ha
rg
e

on
se
rv
ic
e

us
er
s,

se
rv
ic
es

an
d

co
m
m
is
si
on

er
s.

A
ct
io
ns
:

1.
A
fo
rm

al
re
vi
ew

of
CN

W
L’
s
S1
17

di
sc
ha

rg
e

pr
oc
es
s
to

le
ad

to
a

m
or
e

re
gu
la
r
an

d

1.
Le
ad

or
ga
ni
sa
tio

n
CN

W
L.

2.
Jo
hn

D
ug
ui
d
w
ith

A
la
n
Co

e
of

LB
H
an
d
Fi
on

a
D
av
ie
s
of

th
e
PC

T
ar
e
de

ve
lo
pi
ng

a
ne

w
S1
17

po
lic
y
an
d

pr
oc
ed

ur
e.

N
ee
d
to

br
in
g
on

bo
ar
d
Te
am

le
ad
er
s
an
d
co
ns
ul
ta
nt
s
ab
ou

t
le
ga
li
ss
ue

s
an
d
re
co
ve
ry

ga
in
s

fr
om

st
ep

do
w
n
w
ith

in
an
d
fr
om

S1
17

.

3.
N
ee
d
a
re
gi
st
er

of
cl
ie
nt
s
on

CP
A
an
d
s1
17

fo
r
au
di
tin

g.
Le
ad
er
sh
ip

fo
r
si
gn
ifi
ca
nt

cu
ltu

re
ch
an
ge
s
w
ill

be
ne

ed
ed

.
4.

Te
am

is
de

pe
nd

en
to

n
th
e
po

lic
y
fo
rg

ui
da
nc
e
on

S1
17

w
hi
ch

ne
ed

s
to

be
si
gn
ed

of
f.

5.
Fo
llo
w
in
g
th
e
si
gn

of
ft
he

tr
ai
ni
ng

w
ill
ha
ve

to
be

pu
ti
n
pl
ac
e.

6.
Th
e
po

lic
y
ne

ed
s
to

m
ak
e
th
e
lin
k
be

tw
ee
n
CP

A
an
d
S1
17

pl
an
s/
re
vi
ew

.
S1
17

ne
ed

s
to

be
cl
ea
rly

hi
gh
lig
ht
ed

on
th
e
CP

A
ca
re

pl
an
.
A
pl
an

to
in
vo
lv
e
th
e
m
ed

ic
al
co
lle
ag
ue

s
is
ne

ed
ed

.

Page 226



55

pr
oa

ct
iv
e
m
an

ag
em

en
ta

pp
ro
ac
h.

2.
D
ev
el
op

tr
ai
ni
ng

on
S1
17

re
vi
ew

an
d

fu
nd

in
g

st
re
am

s
fo
r

CN
W
L

an
d

al
lie
d

te
am

s
ac
ro
ss

se
rv
ic
e
lin

es
.

3.
D
ev
el
op

an
d
m
ak
e
ea
si
ly
av
ai
la
bl
e
su
pp

or
t

m
at
er
ia
l
fo
r
S1
17

re
vi
ew

e.
g.

vi
a
in
tr
an

et
an

d
lib

ra
ry

so
ur
ce
s

w
hi
ch

ar
e

ea
sy

to
ac
ce
ss
.

4.
A
fo
rm

al
re
vi
ew

of
cu
rr
en

t
CP

A
re
vi
ew

an
d

m
on

it
or
in
g
pr
oc
es
se
s
an

d
th
ei
r
im

pa
ct

on
S1
17

re
vi
ew

an
d
it
s
pr
oc
es
s.

7.
D
is
se
m
in
at
io
n
of

th
e
ne

w
S1
17

in
fo
rm

at
io
n
is
ne

ed
ed

.

W
or
k
st
re
am

4:
Pl
ac
em

en
t
m
an

ag
em

en
t
pr
oc
es
s
–

ef
fe
ct
iv
en

es
s

[L
ea
d
LB
H
/P
CT

]

O
bj
ec
ti
ve
s:

1.
En

su
re

ef
fe
ct
iv
e

pa
ne

ls
by

im
pr
ov
in
g

un
de

rs
ta
nd

in
g
of

th
em

an
d
th
ei
r
us
e.

2.
In
cr
ea
se

th
e
kn
ow

le
dg
e
an

d
sk
ill
s
of

th
os
e

re
vi
ew

in
g
pl
ac
em

en
ts

3.
Im

pr
ov

e
pa

ne
l
de

ci
si
on

m
ak
in
g
to
ol
s
an

d
re
so
ur
ce
s

an
d

en
su
re

th
ey

ar
e

fu
lly

m
ax
im

is
ed

.

A
ct
io
ns
:

1.
Re

vi
ew

pa
ne

ls
an

d
th
ei
r

pr
oc
ed

ur
es
,

pr
oc
es
se
s
an

d
sy
st
em

s,
an

d
en

su
re

th
ey

ar
e

re
so
ur
ce
s

ad
eq

ua
te
ly

e.
g.

ad
m
in
is
tr
at
iv
e
st
af
f.

2.
U
pd

at
e
pa

ne
l
pr
oc
ed

ur
es
,
pr
oc
es
se
s
an

d
do

cu
m
en

ta
ti
on

us
ed

fo
r

pl
ac
em

en
t

re
vi
ew

s

1.
Le
ad

or
ga
ni
sa
tio

ns
ar
e
LB
H
w
ith

PC
T.

2.
Pa
ne

ls
up

an
d
ru
nn

in
g
w
ith

po
lic
y
an
d
pr
oc
ed

ur
e.

O
ve
ra
ll
re
vi
ew

ne
ed

ed
of

ef
fe
ct
iv
en

es
s
an
d
lia
is
on

be
tw

ee
n
al
lt
he

pa
ne

ls
e.
g.
su
bs
ta
nc
e
m
is
us
e.

3.
N
ee
d
m
et
ric
s
fo
rm

on
ito

rin
g
an
d
re
vi
ew

.
4.

N
ee
d
to

in
vo
lv
e
te
am

le
ad
er
s.

5.
Pl
ac
em

en
tE

ff
ic
ie
nc
y
Pr
oj
ec
tr
ep

or
tp

ro
vi
di
ng

ke
y
m
on

ito
rin

g
an
d
ev
al
ua
tio

n
da
ta

ea
ch

m
on

th
.

6.
Ca
re

Fu
nd

in
g
Ca
lc
ul
at
or

(C
FC
)h

el
ps

to
id
en

tif
y
pe

rs
on

al
is
at
io
n
co
st
s.

M
or
e
tr
ai
ni
ng

of
st
af
ft
o
us
e
th
is
is

ne
ed

ed
.
Lo
ts
of

pr
ov
id
er
s
ar
e
no

w
us
in
g
th
e
to
ol
.

7.
A
sy
st
em

of
st
af
fr
ot
at
io
n
to

he
lp

st
af
fd

ev
el
op

th
ei
r
pl
ac
em

en
sk
ill
s
is
ne

ed
ed

.
A
su
pe

rn
um

er
ar
y
po

st
is
ne

ed
ed

fo
rt
hi
s.
Fu
nd

in
g
to

be
ex
pl
or
ed

.

8.
Pl
ac
em

en
tP

ro
ce
du

re
,P
la
ce
m
en

tR
ev
ie
w
Fo
rm

s,
Ap

pl
ic
at
io
n
to

Pa
ne

ls
,P
an
el
D
ec
is
io
n
Sh
ee
ts
ha
ve

be
en

ag
re
ed

am
on

gs
tc
lin
ic
al
le
ad
s
vi
a
PE
P
fo
ru

til
is
at
io
n
ac
ro
ss
CN

W
L
pe

nd
in
g
co
m
m
is
si
on

er
ag
re
em

en
t

9.
N
ew

pr
oc
ed

ur
e
ha
s
be

en
ci
rc
ul
at
ed

to
al
l
CN

W
L
H
ill
in
gd
on

se
rv
ic
es
.
Ac
hl
a
re
gu
la
rly

ad
vi
se
s/
up

da
te
s

ot
he

rT
ea
m

M
an
ag
er
s.

10
.
En
su
re

co
m
pl
ia
nc
e
vi
a
ef
fe
ct
iv
e
pe

rf
or
m
an
ce

m
an
ag
em

en
t.

11
.
A

re
vi
ew

of
th
e
fo
ur

pa
ne

ls
th
at

S.
U
se
rs
m
ay

ac
ce
ss
an
d
th
ei
rc
on

ne
ct
iv
ity

is
ne

ed
ed

:
Su
pp

or
te
d
ho

us
in
g
pa
ne

l;
Co

m
pl
ex

ca
re

pa
ne

l;
Pa
ne

lf
or

su
pp

or
te
d
ho

us
in
g
–
ex
tr
a
ca
re
;

Su
bs
ta
nc
e
m
is
us
e
pa
ne

l(
du

al
ly
di
ag
no

se
d
s.
us
er
s)
.

Page 227



56

3.
Re

vi
ew

br
ok

er
ag
e
an

d
it
s
ro
le

w
it
hi
n
th
e

pl
ac
em

en
t
pa

th
w
ay
.
Re

vi
ew

ho
w

it
co
ul
d

be
de

ve
lo
pe

d
to

m
ee
tf
ut
ur
e
ne

ed
s.

4.
D
ev
el
op

ef
fe
ct
iv
e

pl
ac
em

en
t

tr
ai
ni
ng

pa
ck
ag
es

to
be

de
liv
er
ed

to
CN

W
L
te
am

s
ac
ro
ss

al
ls
er
vi
ce

lin
es
.

5.
Ra

is
e

aw
ar
en

es
s

of
pa

ne
ls

an
d

th
ei
r

pr
oc
es
se
s

vi
a

ag
re
ed

pl
ac
em

en
t

pr
oc
ed

ur
es

6.
D
ev
el
op

lo
ca
l
LB
H

jo
in
t
pr
ot
oc
ol
s
fo
r
th
e

ap
pl
ic
at
io
n
of

CF
C
pr
oc
ed

ur
es
.

W
or
k

st
re
am

5:
Se
rv
ic
e

lin
e

pl
ac
em

en
t

de
ve
lo
pm

en
t
fo
r

ef
fe
ct
iv
e

pl
ac
em

en
ts

[L
ea
d

CN
W
L]

O
bj
ec
tiv
es
:

1.
D
ev
el
op

bo
th

ca
pa
ci
ty

an
d
ca
pa
bi
lit
y
w
ith

in
th
e
re
ha
bi
lit
at
io
n
se
rv
ic
e
lin
e
to

m
an
ag
e
al
l

24
ho

ur
s
pl
ac
em

en
ts

in
LB
H
M
en

ta
lH

ea
lth

Se
rv
ic
es
.

2.
D
ev
el
op

ef
fe
ct
iv
e
pl
ac
em

en
ts
pe

ci
al
is
m

an
d

cr
os
s
fe
rt
ili
se

th
ei
r
ca
pa
bi
lit
ie
s
ac
ro
ss

al
l

se
rv
ic
e
lin
es
.

3.
Pr
ov
id
e
tr
ai
ni
ng

to
in
cr
ea
se

th
e
kn
ow

le
dg
e

of
st
af
f

ab
ou

t
ef
fe
ct
iv
e

pl
ac
em

en
t

pr
oc
ed

ur
es

in
al
ls
er
vi
ce

lin
es
.

4.
En
su
re

cl
ea
r

co
m
m
un

ic
at
io
n

pa
th
w
ay
s

be
tw

ee
n

se
rv
ic
e
lin
es

an
d

m
on

ito
r
th
es
e

in
te
rn
al
ly
an
d
th
ei
re

ff
ec
tiv

en
es
s
ex
te
rn
al
ly
.

A
ct
io
ns
:

1.
M
ap

co
m
m
un

it
y
re
ha

bi
lit
at
io
n
se
rv
ic
e
lin

e
st
af
f
ne

ed
s
fo
r
bo

th
cu
rr
en

t
an

d
fu
tu
re

gr
ow

th
to

m
ee
tp

la
ce
m
en

tg
ro
w
th
.

1.
Le
ad

fo
rt
hi
s
w
or
k
is
CN

W
L.

2.
D
is
cu
ss
io
n
w
ith

se
rv
ic
e
lin
e
di
re
ct
or
s
an
d
se
ni
or

m
an
ag
er

is
ne

ed
ed

to
cl
ar
ify

im
pl
em

en
ta
tio

n.
3.

PC
T
to

ex
pl
or
e
w
ith

Pr
og
ra
m
m
e
Bo

ar
d
fo
rL
on

do
n
to

lo
ok

at
re
ha
b
se
rv
ic
es
.

4.
Pa
ne

ls
an
d
ex
pe

rt
s
ne

ed
ed

to
tr
ai
n
ot
he

rs
in

m
ak
in
g
fu
nd

in
g
de

ci
si
on

s
an
d
he

al
th

an
d
so
ci
al

ca
re

pr
ov
is
io
n.

5.
A
lo
to

fw
or
k
ne

ed
ed

to
de

ve
lo
p
al
lR
ec
ov
er
y
Ke
y
w
or
ke
rs
as

ex
pe

rt
pl
ac
em

en
tp

re
se
nt
er
s.

Al
te
rn
at
iv
el
y

a
fe
w
hi
gh
ly
sk
ill
ed

st
af
fn

ee
d
to

be
de

ve
lo
pe

d
fo
r
th
is
w
or
k
e.
g.
te
am

le
ad
er
s.

Cl
ar
ity

on
th
is
is
ne

ed
ed

so
as

no
tt
o
w
as
te

cl
ie
nt
s’
tim

e
an
d
bu

sy
ke
y
w
or
ke
rs
.
Pa
ne

ll
ea
de

rs
ne

ed
to

be
cl
ea
r.

6.
Re

ha
bi
lit
at
io
n

st
af
f

ha
ve

be
co
m
e
ve
ry

kn
ow

le
dg
ea
bl
e.

Sh
ar
on

To
w
ns
en

d
ha
s
gi
ve
n
tw

o
so
ci
al

w
or
ke
rs

fo
r
2
fo
r
pl
ac
em

en
ts
.

Th
er
e
is
al
so

a
lo
cu
m

an
d
an

ad
ve
rt

ou
t
fo
r
an
ot
he

r
on

e.
A
ch
la

is
no

w
m
an
ag
in
g
re
ha
b
se
rv
ic
e
lin
e

w
or
ki
ng

w
ith

H
ill
in
gd
on

an
d
ha
rr
ow

.

Page 228



57

2.
M
ap

an
d
an

al
ys
e
th
e
sk
ill

se
t
ne

ed
s
vi
a

tr
ai
ni
ng

ne
ed

s
an

al
ys
is
fo
r
al
l
st
af
f
to

us
e

th
e

ef
fe
ct
iv
e

pl
ac
em

en
t

pr
oc
ed

ur
es

in
H
ill
in
gd
on

.
3.

D
ev
el
op

an
d

im
pl
em

en
t

ef
fe
ct
iv
e

pl
ac
em

en
t
tr
ai
ni
ng

w
hi
ch

is
ta
rg
et
ed

at
th
e
sp
ec
ifi
c
ne

ed
s
of

th
e
di
ff
er
en

t
se
rv
ic
e

lin
es
.

4.
D
ev
el
op

a
pr
og
ra
m
m
e

of
su
pp

or
t

–
in
cl
ud

in
g
sh
ad

ow
in
g
an

d
m
en

to
ri
ng

w
it
h

ex
pe

ri
en

ce
d
st
af
f.

5.
Bu

ild
co
m
m
un

ic
at
io
n

an
d

in
te
rf
ac
e

st
ru
ct
ur
es

an
d

pr
oc
es
se
s

be
tw

ee
n

ke
y

st
ak
eh

ol
de

rs
in

th
e
ef
fe
ct
iv
es

pl
ac
em

en
t

pr
oc
es
s.

W
or
k
st
re
am

6:
Jo
in
t
co
m
m
is
si
on

in
g
of

ef
fe
ct
iv
e

pl
ac
em

en
ts
[L
ea
d
LB
H
/P
CT

]

O
bj
ec
tiv
es
:

1.
Re

vi
ew

jo
in
ts

co
m
m
is
si
on

in
g
ar
ra
ng
em

en
ts

an
d
de

ve
lo
p
ne

w
ar
ra
ng
em

en
ts
w
he

re
ga
ps

ar
e
id
en

tif
ie
d.

2.
En
su
re

sh
ar
ed

ob
je
ct
iv
es

fo
r

jo
in
t

co
m
m
is
si
on

in
g
th
at

ar
e
si
gn
ed

up
to

by
al
l

pa
rt
ie
s.

3.
Jo
in
t
fu
nd

in
g
pa
ck
ag
es

to
be

de
ve
lo
pe

d
fo
r

th
os
e
su
bj
ec
t
to

tr
ea
tm

en
t
or
de

rs
an
d
M
O
J

re
st
ric
tio

ns
.

G
oo

d
pr
ac
tic
e
gu
id
el
in
es

ar
e

ne
ed

ed
.

A
ct
io
ns
:

1.
Id
en

ti
fy

po
te
nt
ia
lg

ap
s
in

ar
ra
ng
em

en
t
fo
r

jo
in
t
co
m
m
is
si
on

in
g
–
pa

rt
ic
ul
ar
ly
th
e
jo
in
t

pr
oc
es
s
fo
rp

an
el
s.

2.
Re

vi
ew

S1
17

fu
nd

in
g
ar
ra
ng
em

en
ts

1.
A
n
‘E
na
bl
er
’i
s
ne

ed
ed

fo
rt
hi
s
w
or
k
fr
om

th
e
PC

T.
2.

Je
nn

ife
r
Le
w
is
id
en

tif
ie
s
th
at

jo
in
t
co
m
m
is
si
on

in
g
w
ith

su
bs
ta
nc
e
m
is
us
e
se
rv
ic
e
i.e
.5

0/
50

on
oc
ca
si
on

.
PC

T
is
no

t
do

in
g
m
uc
h
jo
in
t
co
m
m
is
si
on

in
g.

Se
c
37
/4
1
jo
in
t
fo
r
is
ne

ed
ed

as
it
is
th
e
m
os
t
ex
pe

ns
iv
e

pl
ac
em

en
tw

or
k.

3.
So
m
et
im

es
Se
rv
ic
e
U
se
rs

re
m
ai
n
on

th
e
w
ar
ds

as
‘d
el
ay
ed

di
sc
ha
rg
es
’
be

ca
us
e
of

a
la
ck

of
jo
in
t

de
ci
si
on

s.
Th
is
al
so

ap
pl
ie
s
to

jo
in
t
w
or
ki
ng

w
ith

se
rv
ic
e
lin
es

an
d
ta
ki
ng

a
m
ul
ti
ag
en

cy
ap
pr
oa
ch
.

Th
er
e
is
a
la
ck

of
po

ol
bu

dg
et

an
d
w
ho

le
sy
st
em

th
in
ki
ng

pr
oc
ed

ur
es
.

4.
Th
e
PE
P
te
a m

id
en

tif
y
th
at

It
is
re
co
m
m
en

de
d
w
e
ad
op

t
O
pt
io
n
c)

as
th
is
re
pr
es
en

ts
th
e
cl
ie
nt

gr
ou

p
m
os
t
cl
os
el
y
al
ig
ne

d
w
ith

FA
CS

cr
ite

ria
i.e
.r
ec
ei
vi
ng

on
go
in
g
jo
in
t
so
ci
al
ca
re

an
d
he

al
th

in
te
rv
en

tio
ns
.

Bo
th

op
tio

ns
a)

an
d

b)
al
so

in
cl
ud

e
a
su
bs
ta
nt
ia
l
pr
op

or
tio

n
of

cl
ie
nt
s
re
ce
iv
in
g
on

ly
he

al
th
ca
re

in
te
rv
en

tio
ns

at
th
e
tim

e
th
e
ca
lc
ul
at
io
n
fo
rr
ev
ie
w
s
is
un

de
rt
ak
en

.

Page 229



58

3.
D
ev
el
op

ag
re
em

en
t
fo
r
th
os
e
af
fe
ct
ed

by
tr
ea
tm

en
to

rd
er
s
an

d
M
O
Jr
es
tr
ic
ti
on

s.

KE
Y
PE

RF
O
RM

A
N
CE

IN
D
IC
A
TO

RS

A
n
ar
ra
y
of

po
ss
ib
le
pe

rf
or
m
an
ce

in
di
ca
to
rs
w
er
e
pl
ac
ed

in
to

th
e
6
po

in
t
pl
an
.
A
pa
rt
ne

rs
hi
p
ap
pr
oa
ch

be
tw

ee
n
CN

W
L,
LB
H
an
d
PC

T
is
pr
od

uc
in
g
a
on

e
sh
ee
t
sc
or
ec
ar
d.

Cl
ea
r
fin

an
ci
al
ou

tc
om

e
ar
e
be

in
g
fo
cu
se
d
up

on
as

w
el
la
s
a
nu

m
be

r
of

pr
oc
es
s
in
di
ct
or
s
th
at

sh
ou

ld
le
ad

to
fin

an
ci
al
ou

tc
om

es
in

th
e
m
ed

iu
m

te
rm

.
Th
e
m
on

th
ly
PE
P

re
po

rt
pr
ov
id
es

a
co
m
pr
eh

en
si
ve

se
to

fm
et
ric
s
to

de
sc
rib

e
th
e
PE
P
pl
ac
em

en
tw

or
k
an
d
its

pr
oc
es
s
m
et
ric

an
d
fin

an
ci
al
ou

tc
om

es
.

Page 230



59

LB
H
So

ci
al
Ca

re
,H

ea
lt
h
an

d
H
ou

si
ng

Pr
io
ri
ti
es

20
11

15

Pr
io
ri
ty

O
ne

:M
an

ag
in
g
D
em

an
d

Pr
io
ri
ty

Tw
o:

M
an

ag
in
g
th
e
Su
pp

or
tS

ys
te
m

Pr
io
ri
ty

Th
re
e:
M
an

ag
in
g
Su
pp

ly

U
ni
ve
rs
al
Se
rv
ic
es

W
or
k
jo
in
tly

w
ith

le
is
ur
e,
lib
ra
rie

s,
ad
ul
t

ed
uc
at
io
n
an
d
ot
he

rc
ou

nc
il
se
rv
ic
es
,t
o

en
su
re

th
at

co
m
m
un

ity
re
so
ur
ce
s
ar
e
us
ed

ef
fe
ct
iv
el
y
to

su
pp

or
tl
oc
al
re
si
de

nt
s.

In
fo
rm

at
io
n,

A
dv
ic
e
an

d
G
ui
da

nc
e

D
el
iv
er

so
ci
al
ca
re
,h
ou

si
ng

an
d
be

ne
fit
s

in
fo
rm

at
io
n
an
d
ad
vi
ce

se
rv
ic
es

th
at

ar
e

ei
th
er

pr
ov
id
ed

di
re
ct
ly
or

up
da
te
d
an
d

m
an
ag
ed

by
th
e
vo
lu
nt
ar
y
se
ct
or

an
d
lo
ca
l

co
m
m
un

iti
es

to
en

ab
le
re
si
de

nt
s
to

id
en

tif
y

fo
rt
he

m
se
lv
es

ho
w
th
ei
rn

ee
ds

ca
n
be

ad
dr
es
se
d

Ca
re
r
Su
pp

or
t

D
el
iv
er

sp
ec
ia
lis
ts
er
vi
ce
s
fo
rc
ar
er
s
to

su
pp

or
tt
he

m
in
th
ei
rc
ar
in
g
ro
le
an
d
in
th
ei
r

ev
er
yd
ay

liv
es
,i
nc
lu
di
ng

sp
ec
ia
lis
t

in
fo
rm

at
io
n
an
d
ad
vi
ce

se
rv
ic
es

an
d

de
ve
lo
pi
ng

Pe
rs
on

al
Bu

dg
et
s
fo
rC

ar
er
s

Pr
ev
en

ta
ti
ve

Se
rv
ic
es

Co
m
m
is
si
on

pr
ev
en

ta
tiv
e
se
rv
ic
es

th
at

ca
n

de
m
on

st
ra
te

si
gn
ifi
ca
nt

be
ne

fit
s
in
he

lp
in
g

pe
op

le
to

le
ad

in
de

pe
nd

en
ta

ct
iv
e
liv
es

as
w
el
la
s
re
du

ce
pr
es
su
re
s
on

st
at
ut
or
y

se
rv
ic
es

U
se

th
e
be

ne
fit
s
sy
st
em

to
re
du

ce
po

ve
rt
y

an
d
su
pp

or
ti
nd

ep
en

de
nc
e.

Pe
rs
on

al
Bu

dg
et
s

En
su
re

al
la
du

lt
so
ci
al
ca
re

cu
st
om

er
s
ha
ve

ac
ce
ss
to

a
Pe

rs
on

al
Bu

dg
et

by
A
pr
il
20
13
.

Th
ro
ug
h
co
lla
bo

ra
tiv
e
co
m
m
is
si
on

in
g,
su
pp

or
ta

nd
de

ve
lo
p
th
e
ex
te
rn
al

pr
ov
id
er

m
ar
ke
tf
or

pe
rs
on

al
is
ed

se
rv
ic
es

W
or
k
w
ith

H
ea
lth

pa
rt
ne

rs
to

su
pp

or
tt
he

de
ve
lo
pm

en
to

fp
er
so
na
l

he
al
th
ca
re

bu
dg
et
s
to

en
ab
le
se
rv
ic
e
us
er
s
to

ac
hi
ev
e
po

si
tiv
e
ou

tc
om

es
in
he

al
th

an
d
w
el
lb
ei
ng

W
or
k
w
ith

ot
he

rC
ou

nc
il
D
ire

ct
or
at
es
,t
he

vo
lu
nt
ar
y
se
ct
or

an
d
lo
ca
l

co
m
m
un

iti
es

to
su
pp

or
ts
oc
ia
lc
ar
e
se
rv
ic
e
us
er
s
to

ac
ce
ss
ge
ne

ric
pu

bl
ic

se
rv
ic
es

O
ff
er

Pe
rs
on

al
Bu

dg
et

ho
ld
er
s
a
‘P
re

pa
id
de

bi
tc
ar
d’
to

pr
ov
id
e
gr
ea
te
r

pu
rc
ha
si
ng

fle
xi
bi
lit
y,
si
gn
ifi
ca
nt

re
du

ct
io
n
in
on

er
ou

s
pa
pe

rw
or
k,

sa
fe
gu
ar
di
ng

ag
ai
ns
tf
in
an
ci
al
ab
us
e

D
el
iv
er

cr
ea
tiv
e
su
pp

or
tp

la
nn

in
g
an
d
in
cr
ea
se
d
ch
oi
ce

an
d
co
nt
ro
lf
or

re
si
de

nt
s

H
ou

si
ng

re
la
te
d
Su
pp

or
t

D
el
iv
er

ad
vi
ce

an
d
su
pp

or
tt
o
re
si
de

nt
s
to

he
lp
pe

op
le
liv
e
in
de

pe
nd

en
tly

En
su
re

th
at

ho
us
in
g
su
pp

or
ta

nd
ad
ul
ts
oc
ia
lc
ar
e
se
rv
ic
es

ar
e
pr
ov
id
ed

in
a
w
ay

th
at

m
ax
im

is
es

th
e
ch
oi
ce

an
d
co
nt
ro
lf
or

te
na
nt
s,
le
as
eh

ol
de

rs
an
d

ow
ne

ro
cc
up

ie
rs
ov
er

th
e
se
rv
ic
es

th
ey

re
ce
iv
e
an
d
ho

w
th
ey

ar
e
pr
ov
id
ed

an
d
th
e
ab
ili
ty
to

pu
rc
ha
se

in
de

pe
nd

en
ts
up

po
rt
us
in
g
th
ei
rp

er
so
na
l

bu
dg
et
s

Re
ab

le
m
en

t
D
el
iv
er

a
sp
ec
ia
lis
tr
ea
bl
em

en
ts
er
vi
ce

to
he

lp
pe

op
le
to

m
ax
im

is
e
th
ei
r

ab
ili
ty

to
liv
e
in
de

pe
nd

en
tly

an
d
w
ith

in
th
ei
ro

w
n
ho

m
e

M
ak
e
be

st
us
e
of

al
lc
om

m
un

ity
in
te
rm

ed
ia
te

fa
ci
lit
ie
s
ac
ro
ss
he

al
th

an
d

so
ci
al
ca
re

as
a
st
ep

pi
ng

st
on

e
be

tw
ee
n
le
av
in
g
ho

sp
ita

la
nd

go
in
g
ho

m
e

an
d
to

pr
ev
en

tu
nn

ec
es
sa
ry

ad
m
is
si
on

to
ho

sp
ita

l

M
ar
ke
tM

an
ag
em

en
t

W
or
k
w
ith

th
e
pr
iv
at
e
se
ct
or

to
m
ak
e
be

st
us
e

of
ho

us
in
g
su
pp

ly
A
pp

ly
st
ra
te
gi
c
m
ar
ke
t
m
an
ag
em

en
t
th
ro
ug
h

fr
am

ew
or
k

ca
re

co
nt
ra
ct
s

an
d

le
ve
ra
gi
ng

ec
on

om
ie
s
of

sc
al
e
w
ith

lo
ca
l
he

al
th

se
rv
ic
es

an
d
ot
he

rW
es
tL
on

do
n
co
un

ci
ls

Su
pp

or
t
th
e

de
ve
lo
pm

en
t
of

a
pe

rs
on

al
is
ed

se
rv
ic
es

bu
si
ne

ss
m
od

el
w
ith

in
th
e

vo
lu
nt
ar
y

se
ct
or

or
ga
ni
sa
tio

ns

Re
du

ce
d
an

d
Re

ne
go
ti
at
ed

H
ig
h
co
st
Ca

re
Pa

ck
ag
es

an
d
Pl
ac
em

en
ts

Re
vi
ew

an
d
re
ne

go
tia

te
co
st
ly
su
pp

or
tp

ac
ka
ge
s

w
hi
le
re
ta
in
in
g
qu

al
ity

an
d
go
od

ou
tc
om

es
fo
r

se
rv
ic
e
us
er
s

Su
pp

or
te
d
H
ou

si
ng

an
d
In
de

pe
nd

en
tL
iv
in
g

Re
du

ce
th
e
us
e
of

un
ne

ce
ss
ar
y
re
si
de

nt
ia
lc
ar
e

by
ex
te
nd

in
g
th
e
ra
ng
e
of

su
pp

or
te
d
ho

us
in
g

op
tio

ns
Sa
fe
,w

ar
m
,a
ff
or
da
bl
e
en

vi
ro
nm

en
ts
to

liv
e

in Su
pp

or
tt
he

de
ve
lo
pm

en
to

fa
ff
or
da
bl
e

ho
us
in
g

Re
du

ce
ov
er
cr
ow

di
ng

an
d
th
e
us
e
of

te
m
po

ra
ry

ac
co
m
m
od

at
io
n

Re
du

ce
fu
el
po

ve
rt
y

H
om

es
th
at

ar
e
su
ita

bl
e
an
d
ha
za
rd

fr
ee

fo
r

th
e
pe

op
le
liv
in
g
in
th
em

:

Page 231



60

Te
le
Ca

re
Li
ne

Fu
rt
he

re
xp
an
d
th
e
as
si
st
iv
e
te
ch
no

lo
gy

an
d
te
le
ca
re

of
fe
rf
or

H
ill
in
gd
on

re
si
de

nt
s
to

m
ax
im

is
e
in
de

pe
nd

en
ce

Sa
fe
gu
ar
di
ng

A
du

lt
s

Su
pp

or
ta

du
lts

at
ris
k
to

liv
e
fr
ee

fr
om

ha
rm

an
d
ex
pl
oi
ta
tio

n

M
od

er
ni
se

D
ay

O
pp

or
tu
ni
ti
es

Se
rv
ic
es

D
ev
el
op

m
or
e
ch
oi
ce

an
d
a
w
id
er

ra
ng
e
of

co
m
m
un

ity
se
rv
ic
es

or
su
pp

or
t

to
ac
ce
ss
th
os
e
se
rv
ic
es

th
at

ca
n
be

pu
rc
ha
se
d
by

pe
rs
on

al
bu

dg
et

ho
ld
er
s

an
d
se
lf
fu
nd

er
s.

En
su
re

th
at

co
un

ci
lp
ro
vi
de

d
bu

ild
in
gs

ba
se
d
da
y
se
rv
ic
es

ha
ve

th
e

fle
xi
bi
lit
y
to

su
pp

or
tp

eo
pl
e
w
ith

th
e
m
os
tc
om

pl
ex

ne
ed

s
an
d
be

tr
an
sp
ar
en

tly
co
st
ed

to
en

ab
le
pe

rs
on

al
bu

dg
et

ho
ld
er
s
to

pu
rc
ha
se

th
es
e

se
rv
ic
es

D
ev
el
op

de
m
en

tia
ca
re

se
rv
ic
es

an
d
co
m
pl
ex

ca
re

to
su
pp

or
tp

eo
pl
e
in

th
ei
ro

w
n
ho

m
es

or
th
e
co
m
m
un

ity
w
he

re
po

ss
ib
le

En
su
re

th
at

co
un

ci
lp
ro
vi
de

d
or

fu
nd

ed
tr
an
sp
or
ts
er
vi
ce
s
ar
e
av
ai
la
bl
e
to

re
si
de

nt
s
in
th
e
gr
ea
te
st
ne

ed
w
hi
ls
tp

ro
vi
di
ng

op
po

rt
un

iti
es

fo
rt
ho

se
re
si
de

nt
s
to

ha
ve

th
e
ch
oi
ce

to
de

ve
lo
p,
in
di
vi
du

al
,m

or
e
fle

xi
bl
e
tr
av
el

so
lu
tio

ns

D
el
iv
er

ho
us
in
g
ad
ap
ta
tio

ns
Pr
om

ot
e
en

er
gy

ef
fic
ie
nc
y

Page 232



61

APPENDIX 4: Draft Mental Health Dashboard: No health without mental
health – a cross government mental health outcomes strategy for people

Page 233



62

A
PP

EN
D
IX

5:
Th

e
Jo
in
tS

tr
at
eg
y
an

d
Co

m
m
is
si
on

in
g
Pl
an

fo
r
A
du

lt
s
w
it
h
M
en

ta
lH

ea
lt
h

Pr
ob

le
m
s
in
H
ill
in
gd
on

:2
01
3
14
:I
m
pl
em

en
ta
ti
on

Pl
an

S
T

R
A

T
E

G
IC

 
O

B
JE

C
T

IV
E

 
A

C
T

IO
N

S
 

R
E

S
P

O
N

S
IB

L
E

T
IM

E
-

S
C

A
L

E

O
U

T
C

O
M

E
S

 

T
o

 e
n

su
re

 t
h

e 
b

es
t 

u
se

 o
f 

 r
es

o
u

rc
es

 
• 

A
gr

ee
 c

on
tr

ac
t e

ffi
ci

en
ci

es
 w

ith
 th

e 
m

ai
n 

pr
ov

id
er

 
of

 m
en

ta
l h

ea
lth

 s
er

vi
ce

s 
20

13
-1

4 
• 

R
et

en
de

r 
co

m
m

un
ity

 s
up

po
rt

 s
er

vi
ce

s 
co

m
m

is
si

on
ed

 fr
om

 th
e 

vo
lu

nt
ar

y 
se

ct
or

  
• 

Im
pr

ov
e 

th
e 

ra
ng

e 
of

  s
up

po
rt

ed
 a

cc
om

m
od

at
io

n 
an

d 
th

e 
flo

at
in

g 
su

pp
or

t a
va

ila
bl

e 
 

• 
R

ed
uc

e 
th

e 
us

e 
of

 o
ut

 o
f a

re
a 

sp
ec

ia
lis

t, 
nu

rs
in

g 
ho

m
e 

an
d 

re
si

de
nt

ia
l  

ca
re

 p
la

ce
m

en
ts

  
• 

Im
pl

em
en

t o
bj

ec
tiv

es
 in

 th
e 

jo
in

t c
om

m
is

si
on

in
g 

pl
an

 a
im

ed
 a

t r
ed

uc
in

g 
cr

is
es

 (
as

 li
st

ed
 b

el
ow

) 
 

• 
A

gr
ee

 p
la

ns
 w

ith
 k

ey
 p

ro
vi

de
rs

  o
f m

en
ta

l h
ea

lth
 

se
rv

ic
es

 to
 im

pr
ov

e 
th

e 
us

e 
of

 r
es

ou
rc

es
 2

01
4-

15
 a

nd
 2

01
5-

16
 

• 
H

C
C

G
 

• 
LB

H
  

• 
LB

H
 

• 
LB

H
 a

nd
 

H
C

C
G

   
• 

LB
H

 a
nd

 
H

C
C

G
  

• 
LB

H
 a

nd
 

H
C

C
G

01
.0

4.
13

31
.0

3.
14

31
.0

3.
14

31
.0

3.
14

31
.0

3.
14

31
.0

3.
14

• 
Im

pr
ov

ed
 v

al
ue

 fo
r 

m
on

ey
  a

nd
 

ef
fe

ct
iv

e 
ta

rg
et

in
g 

of
 r

es
ou

rc
es

  
• 

Im
pr

ov
ed

 c
ho

ic
e 

 
• 

E
vi

de
nc

e 
ba

se
d 

se
rv

ic
es

 o
ffe

re
d 

 
• 

A
 s

hi
ft 

fr
om

 b
ed

 to
 c

om
m

un
ity

 b
as

ed
 

as
se

ss
m

en
t, 

tr
ea

tm
en

t a
nd

 s
up

po
rt

  
• 

R
ed

uc
tio

n 
in

 th
e 

nu
m

be
r 

an
d 

co
st

 o
f  

sp
ec

ia
lis

t, 
re

si
de

nt
ia

l a
nd

 n
ur

si
ng

 
ho

m
e 

ca
re

• 
R

ed
uc

tio
n 

in
 th

e 
pr

op
or

tio
n 

of
  

pr
es

en
ta

tio
ns

 in
 c

ris
is

 to
 h

ea
lth

 a
nd

 
so

ci
al

 c
ar

e 
se

rv
ic

es

T
o

 im
p

ro
ve

 t
h

e 
m

en
ta

l h
ea

lt
h

 a
n

d
 

w
el

lb
ei

n
g

 o
f 

th
e 

p
o

p
u

la
ti

o
n

 o
f 

H
ill

in
g

d
o

n

• 
C

on
si

de
r 

th
e 

de
ve

lo
pm

en
t  

of
 a

 M
en

ta
l H

ea
lth

  
   

   
   

   
 W

el
lb

ei
ng

 C
ol

la
bo

ra
tiv

e 
 a

nd
/o

r 
R

ec
ov

er
y 

  
   

   
   

   
 C

ol
le

ge
 in

 H
ill

in
gd

on
 

• 
D

ev
el

op
 a

 r
an

ge
 o

f m
en

ta
l h

ea
lth

 p
ro

m
ot

io
n 

an
d 

   
   

   
   

 p
re

ve
nt

io
n 

in
iti

at
iv

es
 w

ith
 in

di
vi

du
al

s 
an

d 
  

   
   

   
   

 c
om

m
un

iti
es

 
• 

Id
en

tif
y 

an
d 

ad
dr

es
s 

th
e 

ne
ed

s 
of

  c
om

m
un

iti
es

 
an

d 
in

di
vi

du
al

s 
fr

om
 B

M
E

 b
ac

kg
ro

un
ds

 fo
r 

m
en

ta
l w

el
lb

ei
ng

 a
nd

 c
om

m
un

ity
 b

as
ed

 a
nd

 
sp

ec
ia

lis
t a

ss
es

sm
en

t a
nd

 tr
ea

tm
en

t 

• 
LB

H
  

• 
LB

H
 a

nd
  

   
   

   
   

 H
C

C
G

 

• 
LB

H
 a

nd
 

H
C

C
G

  

31
.0

3.
14

31
.0

3.
14

31
.0

3.
14

• 
Im

pr
ov

ed
 m

en
ta

l w
el

lb
ei

ng
 a

nd
 s

el
f-

 
di

re
ct

ed
 c

ar
e 

 v
ia

  H
ill

in
gd

on
 M

en
ta

l 
H

ea
lth

 a
nd

 W
el

lb
ei

ng
 C

ol
la

bo
ra

tiv
e 

an
d/

or
 R

ec
ov

er
y 

C
ol

le
ge

 c
on

si
de

re
d 

an
d 

w
or

k 
to

  i
ni

tia
te

 c
om

m
en

ce
d 

if 
ap

pr
op

ria
te

  
• 

In
cr

ea
se

d 
ac

ce
ss

 to
 a

 r
an

ge
 o

f 
m

en
ta

l h
ea

lth
 p

ro
m

ot
io

n/
pr

ev
en

tio
n 

ac
tiv

iti
es

 fo
r 

in
di

vi
du

al
s 

an
d 

co
m

m
un

iti
es

   
• 

Im
pr

ov
ed

 m
en

ta
l h

ea
lth

 a
nd

 w
el

lb
ei

ng
 

• 
In

te
rv

en
tio

n 
ea

rli
er

 in
 th

e 
co

ur
se

 o
f 

ill
ne

ss
 w

ith
 a

 r
ed

uc
tio

n 
in

 th
e 

im
pa

ct
 

of
 m

en
ta

l i
lln

es
s 

• 
Im

pr
ov

ed
 r

ec
ov

er
y 

 fr
om

 m
en

ta
l 

he
al

th
 p

ro
bl

em
s 

Page 234



63

T
o

 im
p

ro
ve

 s
u

p
p

o
rt

 t
o

 
ca

re
rs

  e
n

ab
lin

g
 t

h
em

 
to

 c
o

n
ti

n
u

e 
in

 t
h

ei
r 

ca
ri

n
g

 r
o

le
 a

n
d

 t
o

 
en

jo
y 

q
u

al
it

y 
o

f 
lif

e 
fo

r 
th

em
se

lv
es

 

• 
A

gr
ee

 a
nd

 b
eg

in
 to

 im
pl

em
en

t a
n 

ac
tio

n 
pl

an
 fo

r 
ca

re
rs

 o
f p

eo
pl

e 
w

ith
 m

en
ta

l h
ea

lth
 p

ro
bl

em
s 

• 
E

ns
ur

e 
th

at
 th

e 
ne

ed
s 

of
 c

ar
er

s 
of

 a
du

lts
 w

ith
 

de
m

en
tia

 a
re

 a
dd

re
ss

ed
 w

ith
in

 th
e 

ac
tio

n 
pl

an
 fo

r 
ca

re
rs

 o
f  

ol
de

r 
pe

op
le

• 
LB

H
 

• 
LB

H
 

31
.0

3.
14

31
.0

3.
14

• 
Im

pr
ov

ed
 a

cc
es

s 
to

 in
fo

rm
at

io
n,

 
ad

vi
ce

  a
nd

 s
up

po
rt

 fo
r 

ca
re

rs
 o

f 
ad

ul
ts

 o
f a

ll 
ag

es
  

• 
R

ed
uc

tio
n 

in
 th

e 
pr

op
or

tio
n 

of
 a

du
lts

 
pr

es
en

tin
g 

in
 c

ris
is

 to
 h

ea
lth

 a
nd

 
so

ci
al

 c
ar

e 
se

rv
ic

es
 

• 
R

ed
uc

tio
n 

in
 c

ris
es

 a
ris

in
g 

fr
om

 c
ar

er
  

   
   

   
   

 b
re

ak
do

w
n

T
o

 p
ro

vi
d

e 
ca

re
 

cl
o

se
r 

to
 h

o
m

e 
b

y 
in

cr
ea

si
n

g
 a

cc
es

s 
to

 
co

m
m

u
n

it
y 

b
as

ed
 

as
se

ss
m

en
t 

an
d

 
tr

ea
tm

en
t 

• 
A

gr
ee

 a
nd

 c
om

m
en

ce
 im

pl
em

en
ta

tio
n 

of
 a

 m
od

el
 

of
 e

nh
an

ce
d 

pr
im

ar
y 

ca
re

 b
as

ed
 m

en
ta

l h
ea

lth
 

se
rv

ic
es

, i
nc

lu
di

ng
 p

sy
ch

ol
og

ic
al

 th
er

ap
ie

s.
  

• 
E

ns
ur

e 
ac

ce
ss

 to
 p

sy
ch

ol
og

ic
al

 th
er

ap
ie

s 
fo

r 
ad

ul
ts

 w
ith

 a
nx

ie
ty

 a
nd

 d
ep

re
ss

io
n 

as
 s

pe
ci

fie
d 

un
de

r 
th

e 
na

tio
na

l i
ni

tia
tiv

e 
to

 in
cr

ea
se

 a
cc

es
s 

to
 

ps
yc

ho
lo

gi
ca

l t
he

ra
pi

es
; m

ee
t 5

%
 o

f t
he

 
pr

ev
al

en
ce

 o
f t

he
 d

is
or

de
r 

in
 th

e 
ad

ul
t p

op
ul

at
io

n 
in

 H
ill

in
gd

on
  

• 
A

gr
ee

 th
e 

ta
rg

et
 c

oh
or

t o
f s

er
vi

ce
 u

se
rs

  
cu

rr
en

tly
  s

up
po

rt
ed

 b
y 

 o
ut

pa
tie

nt
 m

en
ta

l h
ea

lth
 

se
rv

ic
es

  w
ho

 c
ou

ld
 b

e 
m

or
e 

ef
fe

ct
iv

el
y 

su
pp

or
te

d 
in

 p
rim

ar
y 

ca
re

 b
as

ed
 s

et
tin

gs
 w

ith
 

ac
ce

ss
 to

 e
nh

an
ce

d 
su

pp
or

t 
• 

Id
en

tif
y 

an
d 

ag
re

e 
th

e 
su

pp
or

t a
nd

 th
e 

se
rv

ic
e 

m
od

el
 a

nd
 p

la
n 

ne
ed

ed
 to

 e
na

bl
e 

 a
 c

oh
or

t o
f 

se
rv

ic
e 

us
er

s 
w

ho
 c

ou
ld

 b
e 

m
or

e 
ef

fe
ct

iv
el

y 
su

pp
or

te
d 

in
  p

rim
ar

y 
ca

re
 b

as
ed

 s
et

tin
gs

 to
 b

e 
tr

an
sf

er
re

d 
 

• 
D

ev
el

op
 a

nd
 im

pl
em

en
t a

 s
ch

ed
ul

e 
of

 tr
ai

ni
ng

  i
n 

th
e 

m
an

ag
em

en
t o

f m
en

ta
l h

ea
lth

 p
ro

bl
em

s 
fo

r 
G

P
s 

an
d 

ot
he

r 
pr

im
ar

y 
ca

re
 p

ra
ct

iti
on

er
s 

 
• 

R
ed

uc
e 

th
e 

us
e 

of
 o

ut
 o

f a
re

a 
sp

ec
ia

lis
t, 

nu
rs

in
g 

ho
m

e 
an

d 
re

si
de

nt
ia

l  
ca

re
 p

la
ce

m
en

ts
  

• 
Im

pr
ov

e 
ac

ce
ss

 a
nd

 c
ho

ic
e 

of
 c

om
m

un
ity

 b
as

ed
 

so
ci

al
, l

ei
su

re
, w

or
k 

an
d 

tr
ai

ni
ng

 o
pp

or
tu

ni
tie

s 
 

(c
om

m
un

ity
 c

on
ne

ct
io

ns
) 

 
• 

E
xp

lo
re

 o
pt

io
ns

 fo
r 

co
nt

in
ua

tio
n 

of
  t

he
 

ps
yc

hi
at

ric
 li

ai
so

n 
pi

lo
t a

t T
he

 H
ill

in
gd

on
 H

os
pi

ta
l  

• 
H

C
C

G
  

• 
H

C
C

G
 

• 
H

C
C

G
 

• 
H

C
C

G
 

• 
H

C
C

G
  

• 
H

C
C

G
 

• 
LB

H
   

•
H

C
C

G

31
.0

3.
14

31
.0

3.
14

31
.0

3.
14

31
.0

3.
14

31
.0

3.
14

31
.0

3.
14

31
.0

3.
14

31
.0

7.
13

• 
E

ar
lie

r 
in

te
rv

en
tio

n 
w

ith
 r

ed
uc

ed
 

im
pa

ct
 o

f m
en

ta
l i

lln
es

s 
fo

r 
in

di
vi

du
al

s 
an

d 
co

m
m

un
iti

es
  

• 
S

hi
ft 

fr
om

 a
 s

ec
on

da
ry

 c
ar

e 
ba

se
d 

to
 

pr
im

ar
y 

ca
re

 b
as

ed
 m

en
ta

l h
ea

lth
 

se
rv

ic
e 

• 
E

nh
an

ce
d 

m
od

el
 o

f p
rim

ar
y 

ca
re

 
ba

se
d 

m
en

ta
l h

ea
lth

 s
er

vi
ce

s 
• 

In
cr

ea
se

d 
ex

pe
rt

is
e 

in
 th

e 
m

an
ag

em
en

t o
f m

en
ta

l h
ea

lth
 

pr
ob

le
m

s 
by

 a
nd

 in
 p

rim
ar

y 
ca

re
  

• 
A

 s
hi

ft 
fr

om
 b

ed
 to

 c
om

m
un

ity
 b

as
ed

 
as

se
ss

m
en

t, 
tr

ea
tm

en
t a

nd
 s

up
po

rt
  

• 
R

ed
uc

tio
n 

in
  t

he
  n

um
be

r 
an

d 
co

st
 o

f  
sp

ec
ia

lis
t, 

re
si

de
nt

ia
l a

nd
 n

ur
si

ng
 

ho
m

e 
ca

re
• 

E
va

lu
at

io
n 

of
 th

e 
po

te
nt

ia
l f

or
 

re
du

ct
io

n 
 in

 th
e 

nu
m

be
r 

of
 in

pa
tie

nt
 

as
se

ss
m

en
t a

nd
 tr

ea
tm

en
t b

ed
s 

fo
r 

ol
de

r 
ad

ul
ts

  
• 

Im
pr

ov
ed

 m
en

ta
l h

ea
lth

 a
nd

 w
el

lb
ei

ng
 

• 
Im

pr
ov

ed
 r

ec
ov

er
y 

fr
om

 m
en

ta
l h

ea
lth

 
pr

ob
le

m
s 

; i
nc

re
as

e 
in

 n
um

be
r 

of
 

pe
op

le
 r

ec
ov

er
in

g,
 s

ho
rt

er
 d

ur
at

io
n 

of
 

m
en

ta
l i

ll 
he

al
th

  
• 

C
on

fir
m

at
io

n 
of

 th
e 

ex
te

ns
io

n 
 a

nd
 

ev
al

ua
tio

n 
of

 th
e 

pi
lo

t o
 p

sy
ch

ia
tr

ic
 

lia
is

on
 p

ilo
t a

t T
he

 H
ill

in
gd

on
 H

os
pi

ta
l

Page 235



64

To
im

pr
ov
e
ac
ce
ss

to
ev
id
en

ce
ba

se
d

as
se
ss
m
en

t,
tr
ea
tm

en
t

an
d
su
pp

or
tf
or

pe
op

le
w
it
h
de

m
en

ti
a
an

d
th
ei
r
ca
re
rs

• 
E

ns
ur

e 
an

 in
cr

ea
se

 in
 th

e 
ra

te
 o

f d
ia

gn
os

is
 o

f 
de

m
en

tia
 th

ro
ug

h 
th

e 
M

em
or

y 
A

ss
es

sm
en

t 
se

rv
ic

e 
es

ta
bl

is
he

d 
du

rin
g 

20
12

-1
3 

• 
F

in
al

is
e 

an
d 

be
gi

n 
to

 im
pl

em
en

t a
 jo

in
t p

la
n 

fo
r 

de
m

en
tia

 s
er

vi
ce

s 
 to

 in
cl

ud
e 

a 
se

rv
ic

e 
m

od
el

  
th

at
 d

el
iv

er
s 

ef
fe

ct
iv

e 
 a

ss
es

sm
en

t, 
tr

ea
tm

en
t 

an
d 

 c
om

m
un

ity
 b

as
ed

 s
up

po
rt

 a
nd

 in
te

rv
en

es
 

ea
rli

er
 in

 th
e 

co
ur

se
 o

f t
he

 d
is

ea
se

 
• 

A
gr

ee
  a

 jo
in

t i
m

pl
em

en
ta

tio
n 

pl
an

 fo
r 

ye
ar

s 
2 

an
d 

3 
of

 th
e 

A
du

lt 
M

en
ta

l H
ea

lth
 S

tr
at

eg
y

• 
H

C
C

G
  

• 
LB

H
 a

nd
 

H
C

C
G

 

• 
LB

H
 a

nd
 

H
C

C
G

  

31
.0

3.
14

31
.0

3.
14

31
.0

3.
14

• 
Im

pr
ov

ed
 r

at
e 

of
 d

ia
gn

os
is

 o
f 

de
m

en
tia

• 
E

ar
lie

r 
in

te
rv

en
tio

n 
fo

r 
pe

op
le

 w
ith

 
de

m
en

tia
 a

nd
 th

ei
r 

ca
re

rs
  

• 
Im

pr
ov

ed
 a

cc
es

s 
to

 s
pe

ci
al

is
t a

nd
 

co
m

m
un

ity
 b

as
ed

 a
ss

es
sm

en
t, 

tr
ea

tm
en

t a
nd

 s
up

po
rt

 
• 

R
ed

uc
tio

n 
in

 c
ris

es
  

• 
R

ed
uc

tio
n 

in
  p

ro
po

rt
io

n 
of

 a
du

lts
 

pr
es

en
tin

g 
in

 c
ris

is
 to

 h
ea

lth
 a

nd
 

so
ci

al
 c

ar
e 

se
rv

ic
es

Page 236



65

A
PP

EN
D
IX

6:
Th

e
Jo
in
tS

tr
at
eg
y
an

d
Co

m
m
is
si
on

in
g
Pl
an

fo
r
A
du

lt
s
w
it
h
M
en

ta
lH

ea
lt
h

Pr
ob

le
m
s
in
H
ill
in
gd
on

20
13

16
:E
qu

al
it
y
Im

pa
ct
A
ss
es
sm

en
t

S
ec

ti
o

n
 1

: 
G

en
er

al
 in

fo
rm

at
io

n

B
ac

kg
ro

u
n

d
: 

In
 M

ar
ch

 2
01

2,
 H

ill
in

gd
on

 C
lin

ic
al

 C
om

m
is

si
on

in
g 

G
ro

up
 (

H
C

C
G

) 
an

d 
Lo

nd
on

 B
or

ou
gh

 o
f H

ill
in

gd
on

 (
LB

H
) 

jo
in

tly
 in

iti
at

ed
 a

 r
ef

re
sh

 o
f t

he
 2

00
8 

st
ra

te
gy

 
fo

r 
ad

ul
ts

 w
ith

 m
en

ta
l h

ea
lth

 p
ro

bl
em

s 
ag

ed
 1

8-
64

 y
ea

rs
36

 a
nd

 th
e 

de
ve

lo
pm

en
t o

f a
n 

im
pl

em
en

ta
tio

n 
pl

an
 to

 im
pr

ov
e 

se
rv

ic
es

 fo
r 

pe
op

le
 w

ith
 d

em
en

tia
 

in
 o

rd
er

 to
 c

re
at

e 
a 

ne
w

 P
la

n 
th

at
 w

ou
ld

 p
ro

vi
de

 a
 fr

am
ew

or
k 

fo
r 

im
pr

ov
em

en
t o

ve
r 

th
e 

ne
xt

 2
 y

ea
rs

.  

T
he

 C
ou

nc
il 

an
d 

H
ill

in
gd

on
 C

C
G

 w
or

ke
d 

to
ge

th
er

 to
 u

nd
er

ta
ke

 a
 fu

ll 
pu

bl
ic

 c
on

su
lta

tio
n 

on
 th

e 
st

ra
te

gi
c 

di
re

ct
io

n,
 p

rio
rit

ie
s 

an
d 

ac
tio

n 
pl

an
 p

re
se

nt
ed

 in
 

th
e 

do
cu

m
en

t o
ve

r 
a 

pe
rio

d 
of

 1
2 

w
ee

ks
 s

ta
rt

in
g 

on
 2

4 
Ja

nu
ar

y 
20

13
.  

 

D
at

e 
co

m
p

le
te

d
: 

25
th
 A

pr
il 

20
13

 

Page 237



66

R
el

ev
an

t 
d

o
cu

m
en

ts
: 

N
am

e 
o

f 
d

o
cu

m
en

t
Y

ea
r 

  O
w

n
er

(s
) 

A
 s

tr
at

eg
y 

fo
r 

ad
ul

t s
er

vi
ce

s 
fo

r 
m

en
ta

l h
ea

lth
 a

nd
 w

el
lb

ei
ng

 
20

08
 -

 2
01

3 
H

ill
in

gd
on

 P
rim

ar
y 

C
ar

e 
T

ru
st

 a
nd

 L
on

do
n 

B
or

ou
gh

 o
f H

ill
in

gd
on

  

P
ro

m
ot

in
g 

m
en

ta
l w

el
lb

ei
ng

 a
nd

 e
na

bl
in

g 
re

co
ve

ry
 fr

om
 

m
en

ta
l h

ea
lth

 p
ro

bl
em

s 
fo

r 
ad

ul
ts

 o
f a

ll 
ag

es
 in

 H
ill

in
gd

on
: A

 
jo

in
t s

tr
at

eg
y 

fo
r 

m
en

ta
l h

ea
lth

 a
nd

 w
el

lb
ei

ng

20
13

 -
 2

01
5 

 H
ill

in
gd

on
 P

rim
ar

y 
C

ar
e 

T
ru

st
 a

nd
 L

on
do

n 
B

or
ou

gh
 o

f H
ill

in
gd

on
 

Jo
in

t c
om

m
is

si
on

in
g 

pl
an

 fo
r 

ad
ul

ts
 o

f a
ll 

ag
es

 w
ith

 M
en

ta
l 

H
ea

lth
 p

ro
bl

em
s 

20
13

 -
 2

01
5 

 H
ill

in
gd

on
 P

rim
ar

y 
C

ar
e 

T
ru

st
 a

nd
 L

on
do

n 
B

or
ou

gh
 o

f H
ill

in
gd

on
  

S
um

m
ar

y 
fr

om
 th

e 
A

du
lt 

M
en

ta
l H

ea
lth

 S
tr

at
eg

y 
co

ns
ul

ta
tio

n 
 

20
13

H
ill

in
gd

on
 P

rim
ar

y 
C

ar
e 

T
ru

st
 a

nd
 L

on
do

n 
B

or
ou

gh
 o

f H
ill

in
gd

on
  

A
cc

o
u

n
ta

b
le

 o
ff

ic
er

s

C
er

i J
ac

ob
, H

C
C

G
 C

hi
ef

 O
pe

ra
tin

g 
O

ffi
ce

r 
 

Jo
an

 V
ey

se
y,

 H
C

C
G

, D
ep

ut
y 

D
ire

ct
or

  

Li
nd

a 
S

an
de

rs
, C

or
po

ra
te

 D
ire

ct
or

 S
oc

ia
l C

ar
e,

 H
ea

lth
 a

nd
 H

ou
si

ng
  

Page 238



67

S
u

p
p

o
rt

in
g

 t
ea

m
  

F
io

na
 D

av
ie

s,
 H

C
C

G
 S

en
io

r 
C

om
m

is
si

on
in

g 
M

an
ag

er
  

D
ia

na
 G

ar
an

ito
, H

C
C

G
 H

ea
d 

of
 C

om
m

un
ic

at
io

ns
 a

nd
 E

ng
ag

em
en

t  

A
nd

re
w

 T
hi

ed
em

an
, L

B
H

 I
nt

er
im

 S
er

vi
ce

 M
an

ag
er

 M
en

ta
l H

ea
lth

 

P
au

l K
en

t, 
LB

H

S
ec

ti
o

n
 2

: 
D

at
a 

g
at

h
er

in
g

P
u

rp
o

se
 o

f 
S

tr
at

eg
y 

 

T
he

 r
ef

re
sh

ed
 s

tr
at

eg
y 

ai
m

s 
to

 p
ro

m
ot

e 
re

co
ve

ry
, m

en
ta

l h
ea

lth
 a

nd
 w

el
lb

ei
ng

 fo
r 

ad
ul

ts
.  

T
he

 H
ill

in
gd

on
 v

is
io

n 
fo

r 
m

en
ta

l h
ea

lth
 a

nd
 w

el
l-b

ei
ng

 is
 th

at
  p

eo
pl

e 
liv

in
g 

in
 H

ill
in

gd
on

 w
ill

  b
en

ef
it 

fr
om

 o
pp

or
tu

ni
tie

s 
fo

r 
po

si
tiv

e 
m

en
ta

l w
el

lb
ei

ng
, 

w
hi

ch
 in

cl
ud

es
 in

vo
lv

em
en

t w
ith

 c
om

m
un

ity
, f

rie
nd

s 
an

d 
fa

m
ily

; m
ea

ni
ng

fu
l o

cc
up

at
io

n,
 le

ar
ni

ng
 a

nd
 le

is
ur

e,
 a

nd
 h

av
in

g 
th

e 
ba

si
cs

 in
 p

la
ce

, s
uc

h 
as

 
go

od
 h

ea
lth

 c
ar

e,
 h

ou
si

ng
 a

nd
 fi

na
nc

ia
l s

ec
ur

ity
.  

 

P
eo

pl
e 

w
ith

 s
ig

ni
fic

an
t m

en
ta

l h
ea

lth
 p

ro
bl

em
s 

sh
ou

ld
 h

av
e 

ac
ce

ss
 to

 th
e 

sa
m

e 
op

po
rt

un
ity

 to
 le

ad
 m

ea
ni

ng
fu

l l
iv

es
 a

s 
ac

tiv
e 

m
em

be
rs

 o
f t

he
 

co
m

m
un

iti
es

 in
 w

hi
ch

 th
ey

 li
ve

 a
s 

ot
he

rs
 in

 th
e 

H
ill

in
gd

on
 p

op
ul

at
io

n.
 In

 o
rd

er
 to

 d
o 

th
is

, t
he

y 
sh

ou
ld

 a
ls

o 
be

 a
bl

e 
to

 b
en

ef
it 

fr
om

 o
pp

or
tu

ni
tie

s 
fo

r 
po

si
tiv

e 
m

en
ta

l w
el

lb
ei

ng
 a

s 
w

el
l a

s 
ha

ve
 a

cc
es

s 
to

 th
e 

sp
ec

ia
lis

t s
er

vi
ce

s 
w

hi
ch

 p
ro

vi
de

 fo
r 

th
ei

r 
in

di
vi

du
al

 n
ee

ds
 a

nd
 p

re
fe

re
nc

es
, p

ro
m

ot
in

g 
th

ei
r 

re
co

ve
ry

 fr
om

 m
en

ta
l h

ea
lth

 p
ro

bl
em

s.
 

Page 239



68

H
o

w
 d

o
es

 t
h

e 
se

rv
ic

e 
cu

rr
en

tl
y 

m
ee

t 
th

e 
n

ee
d

s 
o

f 
th

e 
w

h
o

le
 c

o
m

m
u

n
it

y?
 

T
he

 s
tr

at
eg

y 
ag

re
ed

 in
 2

00
8 

de
liv

er
ed

 s
om

e 
si

gn
ifi

ca
nt

 im
pr

ov
em

en
ts

 to
 m

en
ta

l h
ea

lth
 s

er
vi

ce
s 

in
cl

ud
in

g:
 

 
B

et
te

r 
ac

ce
ss

 to
 p

sy
ch

ol
og

ic
al

 th
er

ap
ie

s 
fo

r 
pe

op
le

 w
ith

 d
ep

re
ss

io
n 

an
d 

an
xi

et
y 

by
 s

ig
ni

fic
an

tly
 in

cr
ea

si
ng

 th
e 

si
ze

 o
f t

hi
s 

se
rv

ic
e

 
Im

pr
ov

em
en

t t
o 

pr
om

ot
in

g 
m

en
ta

l w
el

lb
ei

ng
 

 
R

e-
or

ga
ni

si
ng

 s
er

vi
ce

s 
to

 im
pr

ov
e 

ac
ce

ss
  

 
Im

pr
ov

in
g 

 d
ia

gn
os

is
 a

nd
 s

up
po

rt
 fo

r 
pe

op
le

 w
ith

 d
em

en
tia

 a
nd

 th
ei

r 
ca

re
rs

 th
ro

ug
h 

es
ta

bl
is

hm
en

t o
f a

 m
em

or
y 

as
se

ss
m

en
t s

er
vi

ce
 

P
ro

vi
di

ng
 s

up
po

rt
 fo

r 
m

or
e 

pe
op

le
 th

an
 th

e 
av

er
ag

e 
fo

r 
a 

po
pu

la
tio

n 
su

ch
 a

s 
H

ill
in

gd
on

 in
 c

om
m

un
ity

 a
nd

 p
rim

ar
y 

ca
re

 s
et

tin
gs

;
pe

op
le

 e
xp

er
ie

nc
e 

ho
sp

ita
l a

dm
is

si
on

s 
le

ss
 fr

eq
ue

nt
ly

 a
nd

 a
re

 le
ss

 li
ke

ly
 to

 b
e 

ad
m

itt
ed

 w
he

n 
th

ei
r 

ill
ne

ss
 d

oe
s 

no
t r

eq
ui

re
 h

os
pi

ta
l

tr
ea

tm
en

t
 

T
re

at
m

en
t t

o 
su

pp
or

t r
ec

ov
er

y 
fr

om
 e

pi
so

de
s 

of
 s

er
io

us
 m

en
ta

l i
lln

es
s 

ar
e 

no
 lo

ng
er

 p
ro

vi
de

d 
in

 d
ay

 h
os

pi
ta

l s
et

tin
gs

; p
eo

pl
e 

ha
ve

ac
ce

ss
 to

 a
 r

an
ge

 o
f c

om
m

un
ity

 b
as

ed
 a

ct
iv

iti
es

 to
 a

ss
is

t t
he

m
 w

ith
 r

ec
ov

er
y

 
A

do
pt

in
g 

a 
m

or
e 

pe
rs

on
al

iz
ed

 a
pp

ro
ac

h 
to

 c
ar

e 

H
o

w
 w

ill
 t

h
e 

re
fr

es
h

ed
 s

tr
at

eg
y 

im
p

ro
ve

 c
o

m
m

u
n

it
y 

in
vo

lv
em

en
t?

 

T
he

 r
ef

re
sh

ed
 s

tr
at

eg
y 

ai
m

s 
to

 c
on

tin
ue

 to
 h

el
p 

m
en

ta
l h

ea
lth

 s
er

vi
ce

s 
to

 m
ov

e 
to

w
ar

ds
 th

e 
go

al
s 

la
id

 o
ut

 in
 th

e 
20

08
 s

tr
at

eg
y.

  W
ith

in
 th

e 
re

fr
es

he
d 

st
ra

te
gy

, a
ct

io
n 

pl
an

s 
ha

ve
 b

ee
n 

de
ve

lo
pe

d 
to

 a
ss

is
t w

ith
 a

tta
in

in
g 

go
al

s 
no

t y
et

 a
ch

ie
ve

d 
an

d 
to

 c
on

tin
ue

 to
 im

pr
ov

e 
se

rv
ic

es
 th

at
 h

av
e 

al
re

ad
y 

pr
og

re
ss

ed
.

In
 a

dd
iti

on
 to

 th
e 

ab
ov

e,
 th

e 
re

fr
es

he
d 

st
ra

te
gy

 n
ow

 in
co

rp
or

at
es

 a
n 

im
pl

em
en

ta
tio

n 
pl

an
, d

ev
el

op
ed

 b
y 

H
C

C
G

 a
nd

 L
B

H
 th

at
 a

im
s 

to
 im

pr
ov

e 
se

rv
ic

es
 

fo
r 

pe
op

le
 w

ith
 d

em
en

tia
 o

ve
r 

th
e 

ne
xt

 2
 y

ea
rs

 in
cl

ud
in

g:
 

 
M

en
ta

l h
ea

lth
 p

ro
m

ot
io

n 
an

d 
w

el
lb

ei
ng

 
 

P
ro

m
ot

in
g 

co
m

m
un

ity
 b

as
ed

 c
ar

e:
 s

hi
fti

ng
 th

e 
se

tti
ng

 o
f c

ar
e 

to
 c

om
m

un
ity

 s
et

tin
gs

 w
he

re
ve

r 
po

ss
ib

le
/s

af
e,

  w
ith

 a
 tr

an
sf

er
 o

f r
es

po
ns

ib
ili

ty
 fo

r 
ca

re
 fr

om
 s

ec
on

da
ry

 to
 p

rim
ar

y 
ca

re
, e

na
bl

ed
 b

y 
in

ve
st

m
en

t i
n 

pr
im

ar
y 

ca
re

 b
as

ed
 m

en
ta

l h
ea

lth
 s

er
vi

ce
s 

Page 240



69

 
D

ev
el

op
in

g 
co

m
m

un
ity

 c
on

ne
ct

io
ns

: i
m

pr
ov

in
g 

th
e 

in
fr

as
tr

uc
tu

re
 fo

r 
su

pp
or

t a
nd

 in
fo

rm
at

io
n 

in
 th

e 
co

m
m

un
ity

  
 

Im
pr

ov
ed

 d
em

en
tia

 a
ss

es
sm

en
t, 

tr
ea

tm
en

t a
nd

 s
up

po
rt

  
 

A
dd

re
ss

in
g 

in
eq

ua
lit

ie
s 

an
d 

ta
ck

lin
g 

ex
cl

us
io

n 
 

Im
pr

ov
in

g 
th

e 
qu

al
ity

 a
nd

 e
ffe

ct
iv

en
es

s 
of

 s
er

vi
ce

s 
 

Im
pr

ov
in

g 
th

e 
ef

fic
ie

nc
y 

of
 s

er
vi

ce
s:

 v
al

ue
 fo

r 
m

on
ey

 
 

Im
pr

ov
in

g 
th

e 
w

ay
 in

 w
hi

ch
 c

ar
e 

is
 d

el
iv

er
ed

 s
o 

th
at

 c
ar

e 
is

: 
o

 
P

er
so

na
lis

ed
  

o
 

T
ar

ge
te

d:
 tr

ea
tm

en
t w

ill
 a

dd
re

ss
 th

e 
is

su
es

 o
f g

re
at

es
t c

on
ce

rn
 to

 th
e 

in
di

vi
du

al
 in

 te
rm

s 
of

 th
ei

r 
m

en
ta

l h
ea

lth
 a

nd
/o

r 
re

co
ve

ry
 fr

om
 

m
en

ta
l h

ea
lth

 p
ro

bl
em

s
o

 
F

oc
us

se
d 

on
 r

ec
ov

er
y 

an
d 

ou
tc

om
es

  
o

 
E

ffe
ct

iv
el

y 
co

-o
rd

in
at

ed
 a

nd
 s

ea
m

le
ss

  

W
h

o
 w

ill
 b

en
ef

it
 f

ro
m

 t
h

e 
ch

an
g

es
 p

ro
p

o
se

d
 in

 t
h

e 
re

fr
es

h
ed

 s
tr

at
eg

y?
 

P
eo

pl
e 

ag
ed

 1
8 

ye
ar

s 
an

d 
ov

er
 in

cl
ud

in
g 

th
os

e 
w

ho
 h

av
e 

a 
du

al
 d

ia
gn

os
is

 o
f a

 d
ru

g 
an

d/
or

 a
lc

oh
ol

 p
ro

bl
em

.  

It 
in

cl
ud

es
 p

eo
pl

e 
w

ho
 a

re
 r

eg
is

te
re

d 
w

ith
 a

 G
P

 in
 H

ill
in

gd
on

 o
r 

liv
in

g 
in

 th
e 

bo
ro

ug
h 

of
 H

ill
in

gd
on

, r
eg

ar
dl

es
s 

of
 th

ei
r 

ge
nd

er
, e

th
ni

ci
ty

, d
is

ab
ili

ty
, s

ex
ua

l 
or

ie
nt

at
io

n,
 o

r 
ec

on
om

ic
 s

ta
tu

s.
 

M
en

ta
l h

ea
lth

 c
ar

e 
an

d 
su

pp
or

t i
n 

H
ill

in
gd

on
 w

ill
 b

e 
ta

rg
et

ed
 to

 s
up

po
rt

:  
 

 
P

eo
pl

e 
w

ho
 a

re
 a

t r
is

k 
of

 d
ev

el
op

in
g 

m
en

ta
l h

ea
lth

 p
ro

bl
em

s 
 

P
eo

pl
e 

su
ffe

rin
g 

m
en

ta
l h

ea
lth

 p
ro

bl
em

s 
(h

ow
ev

er
 lo

ng
 th

e 
du

ra
tio

n 
of

 th
ei

r 
ill

ne
ss

) 
 

P
eo

pl
e 

w
ho

 a
re

 r
ec

ov
er

in
g 

fr
om

 m
en

ta
l h

ea
lth

 p
ro

bl
em

s 
an

d 
ne

ed
 h

el
p 

to
 r

e-
es

ta
bl

is
h 

th
ei

r 
liv

es
 

 
T

he
 fa

m
ili

es
 a

nd
 o

th
er

 c
ar

er
s 

of
 p

eo
pl

e 
w

ith
 m

en
ta

l h
ea

lth
 p

ro
bl

em
s 

W
h

at
 is

 t
h

ei
r 

eq
u

al
it

y 
p

ro
fi

le
?

 

Page 241



70

39
.4

%
 o

f t
he

 p
op

ul
at

io
n 

in
 H

ill
in

gd
on

 is
 fr

om
 a

 c
om

m
un

ity
 th

at
 is

 e
ith

er
 m

ix
ed

, A
si

an
 o

r 
A

si
an

 B
rit

is
h,

 B
la

ck
 o

r 
B

la
ck

 B
rit

is
h,

 A
ra

b 
or

 o
th

er
. 

S
ee

 ta
bl

e 
be

lo
w

.

3
Et
hn

ic
gr
ou

p
N
o

%

W
hi
te

16
6,
03 1

60
. 6

M
ix
ed

10
,4
79

3.
8

A
si
an

or
A
si
an

Br
iti
sh

69
,2
53

25
. 3

Bl
ac
k
or

Bl
ac
k

Br
iti
sh

20
,0
82

7.
3

A
ra
b
or

ot
he

r
8,
09

1
3.
0

So
ur
ce
:2
01

1
Ce
ns
us

T
he

 p
ro

fil
e 

of
 r

el
ig

io
ns

 in
 th

e 
bo

ro
ug

h 
 is

 s
um

m
ar

is
ed

 b
el

ow
. 

7
Re

lig
io
n

N
o

%

Ch
ri
st
ia
n

13
4,
81 3

49
. 2

Bu
dd

hi
st

2,
38

6
0.
9

H
in
du

22
,0
33

8.
0

Je
w
is
h

1,
75

3
0.
6

M
us
lim

29
,0
65

10
.

Page 242



71

6

Si
kh

18
,2
30

6.
7

O
th
er

1,
66

9
0.
6

N
o
re
lig
io
n

46
,4
92

17
. 0

N
ot

st
at
ed

17
,4
95

6.
4

So
ur
ce
:2
01

1
Ce
ns
us

W
h

at
 o

u
tc

o
m

es
 a

re
 w

an
te

d
 f

ro
m

 t
h

e 
re

fr
es

h
ed

 s
tr

at
eg

y?
 

 
Im

pr
ov

ed
 m

en
ta

l h
ea

lth
 a

nd
 w

el
lb

ei
ng

 in
 th

e 
po

pu
la

tio
n 

as
 a

 w
ho

le
 

 
A

 r
ed

uc
tio

n 
in

 h
ea

lth
 a

nd
 m

en
ta

l h
ea

lth
 in

eq
ua

lit
ie

s 
 

 
Im

pr
ov

ed
 a

cc
es

s,
 d

ia
gn

os
is

 a
nd

 e
ar

lie
r 

in
te

rv
en

tio
n 

fo
r 

 b
ot

h 
th

e 
ge

ne
ra

l p
op

ul
at

io
n 

an
d 

fo
r 

di
sa

dv
an

ta
ge

d 
gr

ou
ps

 w
ith

 m
en

ta
l 

he
al

th
 p

ro
bl

em
s

 
A

 c
o-

or
di

na
te

d 
ap

pr
oa

ch
 to

 a
ss

es
sm

en
t, 

tr
ea

tm
en

t a
nd

 s
up

po
rt

 fo
r 

bo
th

 p
hy

si
ca

l a
nd

 m
en

ta
l h

ea
lth

 n
ee

ds
  

 
S

er
vi

ce
s 

pr
ov

id
ed

 o
n 

th
e 

ba
si

s 
of

 n
ee

d 
no

t a
ge

 
 

A
 s

hi
ft 

fr
om

 b
ed

 a
nd

 s
ec

on
da

ry
 c

ar
e 

ba
se

d 
to

 c
om

m
un

ity
 a

nd
 p

rim
ar

y 
ca

re
 b

as
ed

 a
ss

es
sm

en
t, 

tr
ea

tm
en

t a
nd

 s
up

po
rt

, w
ith

 th
is

 
be

in
g 

de
liv

er
ed

 a
s 

cl
os

e 
to

 p
eo

pl
e’

s 
ho

m
es

 a
s 

po
ss

ib
le

 
 

Im
pr

ov
ed

  s
up

po
rt

 in
 c

ris
is

  
 

Im
pr

ov
ed

 a
cc

es
s 

to
 s

pe
ci

al
is

t a
ss

es
sm

en
t, 

tr
ea

tm
en

t a
nd

 s
up

po
rt

 fo
r 

th
os

e 
w

ho
 n

ee
d 

it 
 

G
re

at
er

 c
ho

ic
e 

an
d 

fle
xi

bi
lit

y 
in

 th
e 

ra
ng

e 
of

 h
ou

si
ng

 a
nd

 o
pt

io
ns

 fo
r 

pe
rs

on
al

is
ed

 s
up

po
rt

 
A

 fo
cu

s 
on

 s
up

po
rt

in
g 

re
co

ve
ry

 a
nd

 r
ea

l o
ut

co
m

es
  

 
A

 p
er

so
na

lis
ed

 a
pp

ro
ac

h 
to

 a
ss

es
sm

en
t, 

tr
ea

tm
en

t a
nd

 s
up

po
rt

 
 

P
rio

rit
y 

gi
ve

n 
to

 im
pr

ov
in

g 
su

pp
or

t t
o 

re
ta

in
 o

r 
se

cu
re

 e
m

pl
oy

m
en

t

Page 243



72

 
In

cr
ea

se
d 

co
nt

ro
l a

nd
 c

ho
ic

e 
fo

r 
se

rv
ic

e 
us

er
s,

 e
m

po
w

er
ed

 th
ro

ug
h 

th
e 

pr
ov

is
io

n 
of

 m
or

e 
ac

ce
ss

ib
le

 in
fo

rm
at

io
n 

an
d 

ad
vi

ce
, a

 
pa

rt
ne

rs
hi

p 
ap

pr
oa

ch
 a

nd
 in

cr
ea

se
d 

in
vo

lv
em

en
t i

n 
se

rv
ic

e 
de

ve
lo

pm
en

t a
nd

 d
el

iv
er

y 
 

In
cr

ea
se

d 
co

nt
ro

l a
nd

 c
ho

ic
e 

fo
r 

ca
re

rs
 e

m
po

w
er

ed
 th

ro
ug

h 
m

or
e 

ac
ce

ss
ib

le
 in

fo
rm

at
io

n 
an

d 
ad

vi
ce

, a
 p

ar
tn

er
sh

ip
 a

pp
ro

ac
h 

an
d 

in
cr

ea
se

d 
in

vo
lv

em
en

t i
n 

se
rv

ic
e 

de
ve

lo
pm

en
t a

nd
 d

el
iv

er
y 

 
Im

pr
ov

em
en

ts
 in

 p
at

ie
nt

 e
xp

er
ie

nc
e 

 
 

S
er

vi
ce

s 
th

at
 a

re
 in

fo
rm

ed
 b

y 
be

st
 p

ra
ct

ic
e 

an
d 

ev
id

en
ce

 o
f n

ee
d 

an
d 

pe
rf

or
m

an
ce

 
 

Im
pr

ov
ed

 u
se

 o
f t

he
 r

es
ou

rc
es

 a
va

ila
bl

e

A
re

 t
h

er
e 

an
y 

fa
ct

o
rs

 t
h

at
 m

ig
h

t 
p

re
ve

n
t 

th
es

e 
o

u
tc

o
m

es
 b

ei
n

g
 a

ch
ie

ve
d

?
 

N
on

e 
ar

is
in

g 
 

D
id

 y
o

u
 c

ar
ry

 o
u

t 
an

y 
co

n
su

lt
at

io
n

 o
r 

en
g

ag
em

en
t 

as
 p

ar
t 

o
f 

th
is

 a
ss

es
sm

en
t?

 

Y
es

W
h

o
 w

as
 c

o
n

su
lt

ed
 o

r 
en

g
ag

ed
?

 

A
s 

pa
rt

 o
f t

he
 s

tr
at

eg
y’

s 
re

fr
es

h 
th

e 
H

ill
in

gd
on

 C
lin

ic
al

 C
om

m
is

si
on

in
g 

G
ro

up
 (

H
C

C
G

) 
an

d 
Lo

nd
on

 B
or

ou
gh

 o
f 

H
ill

in
gd

on
 (

LB
H

) 
co

nd
uc

te
d 

a 
12

 w
ee

k 
co

ns
ul

ta
tio

n 
to

 s
ee

k 
th

e 
vi

ew
s 

of
, 

an
d 

di
sc

us
s 

th
e 

st
ra

te
gy

 w
ith

, 
se

rv
ic

e 
us

er
s,

 c
ar

er
s 

an
d 

se
rv

ic
e 

pr
ov

id
er

s 
liv

in
g 

an
d/

or
w

or
ki

ng
 in

 H
ill

in
gd

on
.

T
he

 f
ul

l c
on

su
lta

tio
n 

co
ns

is
te

d 
of

 a
n 

on
lin

e 
in

vi
ta

tio
n 

to
 m

em
be

rs
 o

f 
th

e 
pu

bl
ic

 t
o 

su
bm

it 
co

m
m

en
ts

 o
n 

th
e 

st
ra

te
gy

 a
nd

 2
 L

B
H

 a
nd

 H
C

C
G

 
le

d 
pu

bl
ic

 c
on

su
lta

tio
n 

ev
en

ts
. 

 A
 s

um
m

ar
y 

of
 t

he
 r

es
po

ns
es

 r
ec

ei
ve

d 
fr

om
 t

he
 c

on
su

lta
tio

n 
ev

en
ts

 c
an

 b
e 

fo
un

d 
in

 t
he

 s
um

m
ar

y 
fr

om
 t

he
 

A
du

lt 
M

en
ta

l H
ea

lth
 S

tr
at

eg
y 

co
ns

ul
ta

tio
n 

do
cu

m
en

t. 

In
 a

dd
iti

on
 to

 th
e 

ab
ov

e,
 H

C
C

G
 a

nd
 L

B
H

 a
tte

nd
ed

 a
nd

 p
re

se
nt

ed
 a

t t
he

 fo
llo

w
in

g 
pu

bl
ic

 e
ve

nt
s:

  
 

M
en

ta
l H

ea
lth

 S
er

vi
ce

 U
se

r 
an

d 
C

ar
er

 F
or

um
 

Page 244



73

 
M

en
ta

l H
ea

lth
 C

ar
er

s 
gr

ou
p 

 
 

O
ak

tr
ee

 G
ro

up
 (

Lo
ca

l s
er

vi
ce

 u
se

r 
fo

ru
m

) 
 

R
e-

T
hi

nk
 c

ar
er

s 
gr

ou
p 

 

In
 to

ta
l H

C
C

G
 a

nd
 L

B
H

 e
ng

ag
ed

 w
ith

 o
ve

r 
75

 m
em

be
rs

 o
f t

he
 p

ub
lic

, w
hi

ch
 in

cl
ud

ed
 a

m
on

gs
t s

er
vi

ce
 u

se
rs

 a
nd

 c
ar

er
s,

 r
ep

re
se

nt
at

iv
es

fr
om

 v
ar

io
us

 o
rg

an
is

at
io

ns
 in

cl
ud

in
g,

 b
ut

 n
ot

 li
m

ite
d 

to
; H

ill
in

gd
on

 M
in

d,
 H

ill
in

gd
on

 A
ss

oc
ia

tio
n 

of
 V

ol
un

ta
ry

 S
ec

to
r 

(H
A

V
s)

, C
N

W
L,

R
ef

ug
ee

s 
in

 E
ffe

ct
iv

e 
an

d 
A

ct
iv

e 
P

ar
tn

er
sh

ip
 (

R
E

A
P

),
 A

ge
 U

K
 a

nd
 H

ill
in

gd
on

 H
ou

si
ng

 S
up

po
rt

.  

H
C

C
G

 a
nd

 L
B

H
 r

ec
ei

ve
d 

no
 fo

rm
s 

/ c
om

m
en

ts
 w

er
e 

re
ce

iv
ed

 v
ia

 th
e 

on
lin

e 
fo

rm
.  

 

In
 a

dd
iti

on
 t

o 
th

e 
pu

bl
ic

 c
on

su
lta

tio
n,

 H
ill

in
gd

on
 G

P
s 

an
d 

P
ra

ct
ic

e 
M

an
ag

er
s 

ha
ve

 b
ee

n 
ke

pt
 i

nf
or

m
ed

 a
nd

 p
ro

vi
de

d 
th

e 
op

po
rt

un
ity

 t
o 

en
ga

ge
 w

ith
 t

he
 s

tr
at

eg
y 

at
 t

he
 H

C
C

G
’s

 G
P

 Q
ua

rt
er

ly
 f

or
um

 a
nd

 a
t 

su
b-

gr
ou

p 
le

ve
l. 

U
pd

at
es

 w
er

e 
al

so
 s

ub
m

itt
ed

 v
ia

 t
he

 H
C

C
G

 G
P

 
m

on
th

ly
 n

ew
sl

et
te

r.
 

H
C

C
G

 C
om

m
un

ic
at

io
ns

 a
re

 in
 th

e 
pr

oc
es

s 
of

 d
ev

el
op

in
g 

a 
co

m
m

un
ic

at
io

ns
 a

nd
 e

ng
ag

em
en

t p
la

n 
to

 fu
rt

he
r 

in
vo

lv
e 

H
C

C
G

 G
P

 s
ta

ff.
 

T
o 

as
si

st
 w

ith
 t

he
 c

on
su

lta
tio

n,
 t

he
 C

C
G

 a
nd

 L
B

H
 d

ev
el

op
ed

 s
up

po
rt

in
g 

pu
bl

ic
 d

oc
um

en
ts

 t
o 

su
pp

or
t 

in
te

re
st

ed
 p

ar
tie

s 
in

 u
nd

er
st

an
di

ng
th

e 
st

ra
te

gy
: 

i)
 S

u
m

m
ar

y 
o

f 
th

e 
20

13
 –

 1
5 

st
ra

te
g

y

T
he

 s
um

m
ar

y 
w

as
 p

la
ce

d 
on

 b
ot

h 
LB

H
 a

nd
 H

C
C

G
s 

pu
bl

ic
 fa

ci
ng

 w
eb

si
te

s 
ac

co
m

pa
ny

in
g 

th
e 

fu
ll 

st
ra

te
gy

 a
nd

 a
 fo

rm
 fo

r 
su

bm
itt

in
g 

co
m

m
en

ts
 to

 th
e 

st
ra

te
gy

.  
T

he
 a

im
 o

f t
hi

s 
do

cu
m

en
t w

as
 to

 p
ro

vi
de

 th
e 

re
ad

er
 w

ith
 a

n 
ov

er
vi

ew
 o

f t
he

 s
tr

at
eg

y 
an

d 
ke

y 
ch

an
ge

s 
fr

om
 th

e 
20

08
 s

tr
at

eg
y.

  C
op

ie
s 

of
 th

is
 s

um
m

ar
y 

w
er

e 
al

so
 m

ad
e 

av
ai

la
bl

e 
at

 a
ll 

pu
bl

ic
 e

ve
nt

s.
  H

C
C

G
 a

nd
 L

B
H

 r
ec

ei
ve

d 
no

 w
rit

te
n 

co
m

m
en

ts
 v

ia
 

th
e 

on
lin

e 
fo

rm

ii)
 P

re
se

n
ta

ti
o

n
 s

lid
e 

d
ec

k 
fo

r 
p

u
b

lic
 e

ve
n

ts

Page 245



74

T
he

 p
re

se
nt

at
io

n 
sl

id
e 

de
ck

 w
as

 u
se

d 
at

 b
ot

h 
th

e 
co

ns
ul

ta
tio

n 
ev

en
ts

 a
nd

 lo
ca

lly
 le

d 
us

er
 fo

ru
m

s.
 

W
h

o
 h

as
 b

ee
n

 s
ig

h
te

d
 o

n
 t

h
e 

st
ra

te
g

y,
 w

h
en

 a
n

d
 w

h
at

 f
ee

d
b

ac
k 

d
id

 y
o

u
 r

ec
ei

ve
?

 

T
he

 P
ol

ic
y 

O
ve

rv
ie

w
 C

om
m

itt
ee

 (
P

O
C

) 
re

vi
ew

ed
 th

e 
st

ra
te

gy
 a

s 
pa

rt
 o

f t
he

ir 
ow

n 
re

vi
ew

 o
f a

du
lt 

m
en

ta
l h

ea
lth

 s
er

vi
ce

s 
in

 H
ill

in
gd

on
un

de
rt

ak
en

 S
ep

te
m

be
r 

20
12

 to
 J

an
ua

ry
 2

01
3.

F
ol

lo
w

in
g 

th
e 

re
vi

ew
, t

he
 P

O
C

 r
ec

om
m

en
de

d 
th

at
 in

 o
rd

er
 to

 e
ns

ur
e 

th
at

 th
er

e 
is

 a
cc

es
s 

to
, a

nd
 a

cc
es

si
bi

lit
y 

of
 e

xc
el

le
nt

 o
ut

re
ac

h 
se

rv
ic

es
 

in
 t

he
 c

om
m

un
ity

 f
or

 a
ll 

se
rv

ic
e 

us
er

s 
an

d 
th

ei
r 

ca
re

rs
, 

th
e 

C
ou

nc
il 

an
d 

C
N

W
L 

sh
ou

ld
 w

or
k 

in
 p

ar
tn

er
sh

ip
 t

o 
m

ak
e 

im
pr

ov
em

en
ts

 i
n 

th
e 

fo
llo

w
in

g 
ar

ea
s:

 

a)
 

Id
en

tif
yi

ng
 n

ee
ds

 a
nd

 e
ar

ly
 id

en
tif

ic
at

io
n 

 
b)

 
In

fo
rm

at
io

n 
an

d 
su

pp
or

t f
or

 u
se

rs
 a

nd
 c

ar
er

s
c)

 
E

na
bl

in
g 

pe
op

le
 to

 m
ak

e 
ch

oi
ce

s,
 b

al
an

ci
ng

 r
is

ks
 a

nd
 c

om
m

un
ity

 in
vo

lv
em

en
t  

d)
 

P
ar

tn
er

sh
ip

 w
or

ki
ng

 
e)

 
S

ta
ff 

tr
ai

ni
ng

 a
nd

 d
ev

el
op

m
en

t  
f)

 
Le

ar
ni

ng
 fr

om
 b

es
t p

ra
ct

ic
e 

g)
U

se
 o

f r
es

ou
rc

es

In
 D

ec
em

be
r 

20
12

, C
ab

in
et

 a
pp

ro
ve

d 
th

e 
st

ra
te

gy
 s

ub
je

ct
 to

 a
 fu

ll 
pu

bl
ic

 c
on

su
lta

tio
n.

  T
he

 G
ov

er
ni

ng
 B

od
y 

of
 th

e 
H

ill
in

gd
on

 C
lin

ic
al

C
om

m
is

si
on

in
g 

G
ro

up
 a

ls
o 

ap
pr

ov
ed

 th
e 

st
ra

te
gy

 s
ub

je
ct

 to
 fu

ll 
pu

bl
ic

 c
on

su
lta

tio
n.

 

T
he

 p
ub

lic
 c

on
su

lta
tio

n 
ap

pr
oa

ch
 w

as
 r

ev
ie

w
ed

 b
y 

th
e 

H
C

C
G

’s
 P

at
ie

nt
 P

ub
lic

 In
vo

lv
em

en
t C

om
m

itt
ee

 in
 J

an
ua

ry
 2

01
3 

an
d 

ap
pr

ov
ed

.

W
h

at
 c

h
an

g
es

 h
av

e 
b

ee
n

 m
ad

e 
as

 a
 r

es
u

lt
 o

f 
th

e 
fe

ed
b

ac
k 

yo
u

 h
av

e 
re

ce
iv

ed
?

 

T
he

 P
la

n 
ha

s 
be

en
 r

ev
is

ed
 fo

llo
w

in
g 

th
e 

fe
ed

ba
ck

 r
ec

ei
ve

d 
fr

om
 th

e 
co

ns
ul

ta
tio

n 
an

d 
th

e 
P

O
C

 r
ev

ie
w

. W
he

re
 a

n 
is

su
e 

w
as

 a
ls

o 
id

en
tif

ie
d

Page 246



75

fo
llo

w
in

g 
bo

th
 th

e 
co

ns
ul

ta
tio

n 
an

d 
th

e 
P

O
C

 r
ev

ie
w

, e
ve

n 
gr

ea
te

r 
em

ph
as

is
 w

as
 g

iv
en

 to
 it

 in
 r

ev
is

io
n.

F
ol

lo
w

in
g 

th
e 

co
ns

ul
ta

tio
n,

 th
e 

fo
llo

w
in

g 
co

m
m

itm
en

ts
 a

lre
ad

y 
m

ad
e 

in
 th

e 
P

la
n 

ha
ve

 b
ee

n 
gi

ve
n 

gr
ea

te
r 

em
ph

as
is

/p
rio

rit
y 

an
d 

th
er

ef
or

e
st

re
ng

th
en

ed
:

a)
 

E
ns

ur
in

g 
th

at
 s

er
vi

ce
 u

se
rs

 a
nd

 c
ar

er
s 

co
nt

in
ue

 to
 b

e 
fu

lly
 in

fo
rm

ed
, i

nv
ol

ve
d 

an
d 

en
ga

ge
d 

in
 s

er
vi

ce
 d

el
iv

er
y 

an
d 

de
ve

lo
pm

en
t.

b)
 

A
do

pt
in

g 
a 

fu
ll 

an
d 

re
al

 p
ar

tn
er

sh
ip

 a
pp

ro
ac

h 
to

 s
er

vi
ce

 im
pr

ov
em

en
t a

nd
 d

el
iv

er
y.

 
c)

 
P

rio
rit

is
in

g 
m

en
ta

l h
ea

lth
 p

ro
m

ot
io

n 
an

d 
pr

ev
en

tio
n,

 in
 p

ar
tic

ul
ar

 c
ha

lle
ng

in
g 

an
d 

ta
ck

lin
g 

st
ig

m
a.

d)
 

S
up

po
rt

in
g 

st
af

f t
o 

de
ve

lo
p 

ne
w

 w
ay

s 
of

 w
or

ki
ng

 a
nd

 a
ch

ie
ve

 th
e 

si
gn

ifi
ca

nt
 c

ul
tu

ra
l s

hi
ft 

ne
ed

ed
 to

 a
ch

ie
ve

 th
e 

re
qu

ire
d 

im
pr

ov
em

en
t i

n 
ou

tc
om

es
 fo

r 
se

rv
ic

e 
us

er
s 

an
d 

ca
re

rs
.

e)
 

P
rio

rit
is

in
g 

th
e 

pr
ov

is
io

n 
of

 s
up

po
rt

 to
 e

na
bl

e 
pe

op
le

 to
 g

ai
n 

or
 r

et
ai

n 
em

pl
oy

m
en

t.
f)

 
Im

pr
ov

in
g 

ac
ce

ss
 to

 s
er

vi
ce

s 
an

d 
pr

ov
id

in
g 

ro
bu

st
 a

nd
 a

cc
es

si
bl

e 
in

fo
rm

at
io

n 
an

d 
su

pp
or

t f
or

 s
er

vi
ce

 u
se

rs
 a

nd
 c

ar
er

s 
(in

cl
ud

in
g

re
vi

ew
 o

f t
he

 C
ou

nc
il’

s 
w

eb
si

te
 a

nd
 d

ire
ct

or
y 

of
 s

er
vi

ce
s)

 
g)

 
E

ns
ur

in
g 

m
or

e 
tim

el
y 

ac
ce

ss
 to

 h
ou

si
ng

 b
y 

en
su

rin
g 

cl
os

er
 w

or
ki

ng
 b

et
w

ee
n 

m
en

ta
l h

ea
lth

 s
er

vi
ce

s 
an

d 
th

e 
C

ou
nc

il’
s 

ho
us

in
g 

te
am

s
h)

 
E

ns
ur

in
g 

th
e 

de
liv

er
y 

of
 a

 li
fe

 c
ou

rs
e 

ap
pr

oa
ch

, e
ns

ur
in

g 
a 

se
am

le
ss

 tr
an

si
tio

n 
fr

om
 c

hi
ld

 a
nd

 a
do

le
sc

en
t t

o 
ad

ul
t m

en
ta

l h
ea

lth
se

rv
ic

es
 a

nd
 e

ns
ur

in
g 

th
at

 th
er

e 
is

 e
ffe

ct
iv

e 
jo

in
t w

or
ki

ng
 b

et
w

ee
n 

he
al

th
 a

nd
 s

oc
ia

l c
ar

e 
se

rv
ic

es
 to

 th
e 

pr
ov

is
io

n 
of

 a
ss

es
sm

en
t,

tr
ea

tm
en

t a
nd

 s
up

po
rt

.
i) 

E
ns

ur
in

g 
th

at
 p

eo
pl

e 
ar

e 
pr

op
er

ly
 s

up
po

rt
ed

 a
s 

th
ey

 le
av

e 
se

rv
ic

es
 a

nd
 k

no
w

 h
ow

 to
 r

e-
ac

ce
ss

 s
up

po
rt

 if
 n

ec
es

sa
ry

. 
j) 

P
rio

rit
is

in
g 

st
af

f t
ra

in
in

g 
an

d 
de

ve
lo

pm
en

t f
or

 s
ta

ff 
in

cl
ud

in
g 

en
su

rin
g 

th
at

 th
os

e 
w

ho
 a

re
 in

 th
e 

fr
on

t l
in

e 
w

or
ki

ng
 w

ith
 th

e 
w

id
er

 
po

pu
la

tio
n 

ha
ve

 m
en

ta
l h

ea
lth

 fi
rs

t a
id

 tr
ai

ni
ng

.
k)

 
C

on
si

de
ra

tio
n 

of
 th

e 
po

te
nt

ia
l f

or
 g

re
at

er
 in

de
pe

nd
en

ce
 o

ffe
re

d 
by

 th
e 

us
e 

of
 a

ss
is

tiv
e 

te
ch

no
lo

gi
es

. 
l) 

F
oc

us
si

ng
 o

n 
se

rv
ic

e 
qu

al
ity

.  

T
he

 ti
m

es
ca

le
 fo

r 
im

pl
em

en
ta

tio
n 

of
 th

e 
P

la
n 

ha
s 

be
en

 e
xt

en
de

d 
fr

om
 2

 to
 3

 y
ea

rs
 in

 o
rd

er
 to

 g
iv

e 
su

ffi
ci

en
t t

im
e 

to
 w

or
k 

w
ith

 k
ey

 p
ar

tn
er

s 
to

 a
ch

ie
ve

 th
e 

si
gn

ifi
ca

nt
 c

ha
ng

es
 in

 s
er

vi
ce

 m
od

el
s 

an
d 

cu
ltu

re
. T

hi
s 

ex
te

ns
io

n 
al

so
 a

lig
ns

 th
e 

ac
tio

ns
 to

 th
e 

tim
es

ca
le

s 
in

 th
e 

H
ill

in
gd

on
 

C
C

G
 r

ec
ov

er
y 

pl
an

.

Page 247



76

T
he

 d
et

ai
le

d 
co

ns
ul

ta
tio

n 
re

su
lts

 a
nd

 P
O

C
 r

ev
ie

w
 w

ill
 b

e 
re

fe
re

nc
ed

 to
 in

fo
rm

 im
pl

em
en

ta
tio

n.
  

S
ec

ti
o

n
 3

: 
Im

p
ac

t

C
on

si
de

r 
th

e 
in

fo
rm

at
io

n 
ga

th
er

ed
 in

 s
ec

tio
n 

2 
of

 th
is

 a
ss

es
sm

en
t f

or
m

 a
nd

 a
ss

es
s:

 

1.
 W

he
re

 y
ou

 th
in

k 
th

at
 th

e 
st

ra
te

gy
 c

ou
ld

 h
av

e 
a 

N
E

G
A

T
IV

E
im

pa
ct

 o
n 

an
y 

of
 th

e 
eq

ua
lit

y 
gr

ou
ps

, i
.e

. i
t c

ou
ld

 d
is

ad
va

nt
ag

e 
th

em
 

2.
 W

he
re

 y
ou

 th
in

k 
th

at
 th

e 
st

ra
te

gy
 c

ou
ld

 h
av

e 
a 

P
O

S
IT

IV
E

im
pa

ct
 o

n 
an

y 
of

 th
e 

eq
ua

lit
y 

gr
ou

ps
 li

ke
 p

ro
m

ot
in

g 
eq

ua
lit

y 
an

d 
eq

ua
l

op
po

rt
un

iti
es

 o
r 

im
pr

ov
in

g 
re

la
tio

ns
 w

ith
in

 e
qu

al
ity

 g
ro

up
s 

3.
 W

he
re

 y
ou

 th
in

k 
th

at
 th

is
 s

tr
at

eg
y 

ha
s 

a 
N

E
U

T
R

A
L

ef
fe

ct
 o

n 
an

y 
of

 th
e 

eq
ua

lit
y 

gr
ou

ps
 li

st
ed

 b
el

ow
 i.

e.
 it

 h
as

 n
o 

ef
fe

ct
 c

ur
re

nt
ly

 o
n 

eq
ua

lit
y 

gr
ou

ps
. 

D
o 

yo
u 

th
in

k 
th

at
 th

e 
st

ra
te

gy
 im

pa
ct

s 
on

 p
eo

pl
e 

on
 th

e 
gr

ou
nd

s 
of

 th
ei

r 
ra

ce
/e

th
n

ic
it

y?

R
ac

e
P

o
si

ti
ve

  
N

eg
at

iv
e 

 
N

eu
tr

al
  

R
ea

so
n

s 
fo

r 
yo

u
r 

d
ec

is
io

n
  

P
ro

m
ot

in
g

eq
ua

lit
y 

of
 

op
po

rt
un

ity
X

 
In

 2
00

8,
 s

ig
ni

fic
an

t d
iff

er
en

ce
s 

an
d 

in
eq

ua
lit

ie
s 

in
 s

er
vi

ce
 e

xp
er

ie
nc

e 
an

d 
ou

tc
om

e 
fo

r 
so

m
e 

m
in

or
ity

 g
ro

up
s 

w
as

 id
en

tif
ie

d.
 T

hi
s 

is
 s

til
l t

he
 c

as
e 

in
 2

01
2.

 T
he

 r
ef

re
sh

ed
 s

tr
at

eg
y 

pl
an

s 
to

 
ad

dr
es

s 
th

es
e 

in
eq

ua
lit

ie
s 

as
 a

 m
at

te
r 

of
 p

rio
rit

y 
du

rin
g 

th
e 

tim
ef

ra
m

e 
of

 th
e 

st
ra

te
gy

.  

P
ro

m
ot

in
g 

go
od

 
 

 
 

Page 248



77

ra
ce

re
la

tio
ns

X

E
lim

in
at

in
g

un
la

w
fu

l

di
sc

rim
in

at
io

n 

 
 

 X

D
o 

yo
u 

th
in

k 
th

at
 th

e 
st

ra
te

gy
 im

pa
ct

s 
on

 p
eo

pl
e 

be
ca

us
e 

of
 th

ei
r 

re
lig

io
n

 o
r 

fa
it

h
?

R
el

ig
io

n
 o

r 
F

ai
th

 
P

o
si

ti
ve

  
N

eg
at

iv
e 

 
N

eu
tr

al
  

R
ea

so
n

s 
fo

r 
yo

u
r 

d
ec

is
io

n
  

X

 
T

he
 r

ef
re

sh
ed

 s
tr

at
eg

y 
ta

rg
et

s 
B

M
E

 C
om

m
un

iti
es

 a
nd

 w
ill

 w
or

k 
w

ith
 fa

ith
 le

ad
er

s 
to

 a
ch

ie
ve

 
th

e 
ou

tc
om

es
 s

et
 o

ut
 in

 th
e 

re
fr

es
he

d 
st

ra
te

gy
. 

D
o 

yo
u 

th
in

k 
th

at
 th

e 
st

ra
te

gy
 im

pa
ct

s 
on

 p
eo

pl
e 

w
ith

 a
 d

is
ab

ili
ty

?
 

D
is

ab
ili

ty
  

P
o

si
ti

ve
  

N
eg

at
i

ve
N

eu
tr

al
  

R
ea

so
n

s 
fo

r 
yo

u
r 

d
ec

is
io

n
  

V
is

ua
lly

 im
pa

ire
d

X

P
eo

pl
e 

w
ith

 lo
ng

 te
rm

 c
on

di
tio

ns
 a

nd
 d

is
ab

ili
tie

s 
w

ill
 b

en
ef

it 
fr

om
 th

e 
de

ve
lo

pm
en

t o
f p

rim
ar

y 
ca

re
 b

as
ed

 m
en

ta
l h

ea
lth

 s
er

vi
ce

s 
th

at
 h

av
e 

be
en

 p
rio

rit
is

ed
 in

 th
e 

re
fr

es
he

d 
st

ra
te

gy
. 

H
ea

rin
g 

im
pa

ire
d 

X

 
 

P
eo

pl
e 

w
ith

 lo
ng

 te
rm

 c
on

di
tio

ns
 a

nd
 d

is
ab

ili
tie

s 
w

ill
 b

en
ef

it 
fr

om
 th

e 
de

ve
lo

pm
en

t o
f p

rim
ar

y 
ca

re
 b

as
ed

 m
en

ta
l h

ea
lth

 s
er

vi
ce

s 
th

at
 h

av
e 

be
en

 p
rio

rit
is

ed
 in

 th
e 

re
fr

es
he

d 
st

ra
te

gy
. 

Page 249



78

P
hy

si
ca

lly
di

sa
bl

ed
X

 
 

P
eo

pl
e 

w
ith

 lo
ng

 te
rm

 c
on

di
tio

ns
 a

nd
 d

is
ab

ili
tie

s 
w

ill
 b

en
ef

it 
fr

om
 th

e 
de

ve
lo

pm
en

t o
f p

rim
ar

y 
ca

re
 b

as
ed

 m
en

ta
l h

ea
lth

 s
er

vi
ce

s 
th

at
 h

av
e 

be
en

 p
rio

rit
is

ed
 in

 th
e 

re
fr

es
he

d 
st

ra
te

gy
. 

Le
ar

ni
ng

 d
is

ab
ili

ty
X

 
 

T
he

 s
tr

at
eg

y 
ta

rg
et

s 
th

e 
m

en
ta

l h
ea

lth
 n

ee
ds

 o
f p

eo
pl

e 
w

ith
 c

om
pl

ex
 n

ee
ds

.  
P

eo
pl

e 
w

ith
 

le
ar

ni
ng

 d
is

ab
ili

ty
 w

ho
 a

ls
o 

ha
ve

 m
en

ta
l h

ea
lth

 p
ro

bl
em

s 
ar

e 
a 

pr
io

rit
y 

gr
ou

p.
 

M
en

ta
l h

ea
lth

 
X

 
 

P
eo

pl
e 

liv
in

g 
in

 H
ill

in
gd

on
 w

ill
 b

en
ef

it 
fr

om
 o

pp
or

tu
ni

tie
s 

fo
r 

po
si

tiv
e 

m
en

ta
l w

el
lb

ei
ng

 w
hi

ch
 

in
cl

ud
es

 in
vo

lv
em

en
t w

ith
 th

e 
co

m
m

un
ity

 a
nd

 in
cr

ea
se

d 
ac

ce
ss

 to
 c

ar
e.

 

O
th

er
 (

H
IV

 
po

si
tiv

e,

m
ul

tip
le

 s
cl

er
os

is
, 

ca
nc

er
, d

ia
be

te
s,

 

ep
ile

ps
y)

X

 
 

P
eo

pl
e 

w
ith

 lo
ng

 te
rm

 c
on

di
tio

ns
 a

nd
 d

is
ab

ili
tie

s 
w

ill
 b

en
ef

it 
fr

om
 th

e 
de

ve
lo

pm
en

t o
f p

rim
ar

y 
ca

re
 b

as
ed

 m
en

ta
l h

ea
lth

 s
er

vi
ce

s 
th

at
 h

av
e 

be
en

 p
rio

rit
is

ed
 in

 th
e 

re
fr

es
he

d 
st

ra
te

gy
. 

Page 250



79

D
o 

yo
u 

th
in

k 
th

at
 th

e 
st

ra
te

gy
 a

ffe
ct

s 
m

en
 a

n
d

 w
o

m
en

 in
 d

iff
er

en
t w

ay
s?

 

G
en

d
er

   
P

o
si

ti
ve

  
N

eg
at

iv
e 

 
N

eu
tr

al
 

R
ea

so
n

s 
fo

r 
yo

u
r 

d
ec

is
io

n
  

M
al

e

X

F
em

al
e

X

D
o 

yo
u 

th
in

k 
th

at
 th

e 
st

ra
te

gy
 im

pa
ct

s 
on

 p
eo

pl
e 

be
ca

us
e 

of
 th

ei
r 

se
xu

al
 o

ri
en

ta
ti

o
n

?
 

S
ex

u
al

O
ri

en
ta

ti
o

n
 

P
o

si
ti

ve
  

N
eg

at
iv

e 
 

N
eu

tr
al

 
R

ea
so

n
s 

fo
r 

yo
u

r 
d

ec
is

io
n

  

Le
sb

ia
n

X

G
ay

 
 

 
X

H
et

er
os

ex
ua

l  
 

 
X

B
is

ex
ua

l 
 

 
X

T
ra

ns
se

xu
al

  
 

 
X

Page 251



80

D
o 

yo
u 

th
in

k 
th

at
 th

e 
st

ra
te

gy
 im

pa
ct

s 
on

 p
eo

pl
e 

be
ca

us
e 

of
 th

ei
r 

ag
e?

 

A
g

e
P

o
si

ti
ve

  
N

eg
at

iv
e 

 
N

eu
tr

al
 

R
ea

so
n

s 
fo

r 
yo

u
r 

d
ec

is
io

n
  

Y
ou

ng

(C
hi

ld
re

n 
an

d 

yo
un

g 
pe

op
le

, 

w
or

ki
ng

 a
ge

) 

X

Li
fe

 c
ou

rs
e 

st
ra

te
gy

.  
T

he
 s

tr
at

eg
y 

pr
op

os
es

 to
 im

pr
ov

e 
m

en
ta

l h
ea

lth
 s

er
vi

ce
s 

fo
r 

ad
ul

ts
 b

y 
en

su
rin

g 
ea

rly
 in

te
rv

en
tio

n 
an

d 
pr

om
ot

io
n 

of
 m

en
ta

l h
ea

lth
 a

nd
 w

el
lb

ei
ng

 is
 e

st
ab

lis
he

d 
in

 a
ll 

co
m

m
un

iti
es

.

O
ld

er

(W
or

ki
ng

 a
ge

, 

60
+,

 a
nd

 

re
tir

em
en

t a
ge

) 

X

 
Li

fe
 c

ou
rs

e 
st

ra
te

gy
.  

T
he

 s
tr

at
eg

y 
w

ill
 e

ns
ur

e 
th

at
 s

pe
ci

al
is

t n
ee

ds
 fo

r 
pe

op
le

 w
ith

 d
em

en
tia

 a
nd

 
ol

de
r 

ad
ul

ts
 w

ho
 a

re
 p

hy
si

ca
lly

 fr
ai

l w
ho

 a
re

 e
xp

er
ie

nc
in

g 
m

en
ta

l h
ea

lth
 p

ro
bl

em
s 

ar
e 

ad
dr

es
se

d 
 

S
ec

ti
o

n
 4

: 
A

ss
es

sm
en

t

F
ro

m
 y

o
u

r 
re

sp
o

n
se

s 
g

at
h

er
ed

 in
 s

ec
ti

o
n

 3
 h

as
 a

 ‘N
o

 d
if

fe
re

n
ti

al
 im

p
ac

t’
 b

ee
n

 id
en

ti
fi

ed
 a

n
d

 d
o

es
 t

h
is

/is
 t

h
is

 li
ke

ly
 t

o
 a

m
o

u
n

t 
to

 a
n

 a
d

ve
rs

e 
im

p
ac

t?

N
o

Page 252



81

If 
ye

s 
pl

ea
se

 s
ta

te
 b

el
ow

: 

If
 a

 d
if

fe
re

n
ti

al
 im

p
ac

t 
h

as
 b

ee
n

 id
en

ti
fi

ed
 w

h
ic

h
 c

an
 a

m
o

u
n

t 
to

 a
n

 a
d

ve
rs

e 
im

p
ac

t 
yo

u
 w

ill
 n

ee
d

 t
o

 c
o

m
p

le
te

 a
n

d
 a

tt
ac

h
 t

o
 t

h
is

 E
IA

 a
n

 
E

q
u

al
it

ie
s 

Im
p

lic
at

io
n

s 
A

ct
io

n
 P

la
n

. 

C
o

n
ta

ct
 D

ia
n

a 
G

ar
an

it
o

 d
ia

n
a.

g
ar

an
it

o
@

n
h

s.
n

et
 f

o
r 

th
e 

fo
rm

. 

Is
 t

h
e 

st
ra

te
g

y 
d

ir
ec

tl
y 

o
r 

in
d

ir
ec

tl
y 

d
is

cr
im

in
at

o
ry

 u
n

d
er

 t
h

e 
eq

u
al

it
ie

s 
le

g
is

la
ti

o
n

?
 

N
o

If
 t

h
e 

st
ra

te
g

y 
is

 in
d

ir
ec

tl
y 

d
is

cr
im

in
at

o
ry

 c
an

 it
 b

e 
ju

st
if

ie
d

 u
n

d
er

 t
h

e 
re

le
va

n
t 

le
g

is
la

ti
o

n
?

 

N
/A

S
ec

ti
o

n
 5

: 
P

u
b

lis
h

 A
ss

es
sm

en
t 

R
es

u
lt

s 

In
 o

rd
er

 d
em

on
st

ra
te

 o
pe

nn
es

s 
ab

ou
t t

he
 w

ay
 H

ill
in

gd
on

 C
lin

ic
al

 C
om

m
is

si
on

in
g 

G
ro

up
s 

po
lic

ie
s,

 s
er

vi
ce

s 
an

d 
pa

rt
ne

rs
hi

ps
 a

re
 d

ev
el

op
ed

 a
nd

 o
ur

 
co

m
m

itm
en

t t
o 

pr
om

ot
in

g 
eq

ua
lit

y 
an

d 
di

ve
rs

ity
, r

es
ul

ts
 o

f t
he

 im
pa

ct
 a

ss
es

sm
en

t w
ill

 b
e 

pu
bl

is
he

d 
on

 to
 th

e 
pu

bl
ic

 fa
ci

ng
 w

eb
si

te
.

w
w

w
.h

ill
in

gd
on

cc
g.

nh
s.

uk

Page 253



82

Is
 t

h
er

e 
an

y 
re

as
o

n
 w

h
y 

th
is

 E
q

u
al

it
y 

Im
p

ac
t 

A
ss

es
sm

en
t 

sh
o

u
ld

 n
o

t 
b

e 
p

u
b

lis
h

ed
, p

le
as

e 
u

se
 t

h
is

 s
p

ac
e 

to
 s

ta
te

 y
o

u
r 

re
as

o
n

s:
 

N
/A

S
ec

ti
o

n
 6

: 
S

ig
n

 o
ff

S
ec

ti
o

n
 7

: 
G

lo
ss

ar
y 

 

Li
st

ed
 b

el
ow

 a
re

 d
ef

in
iti

on
s 

of
 k

ey
 w

or
ds

 th
at

 w
ill

 p
ro

vi
de

 a
dd

iti
on

al
 g

ui
da

nc
e 

in
 r

el
at

io
n 

to
 m

ee
tin

g 
re

qu
ire

m
en

ts
 o

f a
n 

E
qu

al
ity

D
ir

ec
t 

D
is

cr
im

in
at

io
n

 

T
ha

t i
s 

tr
ea

tin
g 

pe
op

le
 le

ss
 fa

vo
ur

ab
ly

 th
an

 o
th

er
s 

as
 it

 w
ou

ld
 a

pp
ly

 to
 a

ge
, d

is
ab

ili
ty

, g
en

de
r,

 r
ac

e,
 r

el
ig

io
n 

an
d 

be
lie

f, 
se

xu
al

 o
rie

nt
at

io
n.

 T
he

re
 is

 n
o 

ju
st

ifi
ca

tio
n 

fo
r 

di
re

ct
 d

is
cr

im
in

at
io

n 

In
d

ir
ec

t 
d

is
cr

im
in

at
io

n
 

A
pp

ly
in

g 
a 

pr
ov

is
io

n,
 c

rit
er

io
n 

or
 p

ra
ct

ic
e 

th
at

 d
is

ad
va

nt
ag

es
 p

eo
pl

e 
as

 a
pp

lie
s 

to
 a

ge
, d

is
ab

ili
ty

, g
en

de
r,

 r
ac

e,
 r

el
ig

io
n 

an
d 

be
lie

f, 
se

xu
al

 o
rie

nt
at

io
n 

an
d 

ca
n’

t b
e 

ju
st

ifi
ed

 a
s 

a 
pr

op
or

tio
na

te
 m

ea
ns

 o
f a

ch
ie

vi
ng

 a
 le

gi
tim

at
e 

ai
m

. T
he

 c
on

ce
pt

 o
f '

pr
ov

is
io

n,
 c

rit
er

io
n 

or
 p

ra
ct

ic
e'

 c
ov

er
s 

th
e 

w
ay

 in
 w

hi
ch

 a
n 

in
te

nt
io

n 
or

 p
ol

ic
y 

is
 a

ct
ua

lly
 c

ar
rie

d 
ou

t, 
an

d 
in

cl
ud

es
 a

tti
tu

de
s 

an
d 

be
ha

vi
ou

r 
th

at
 c

ou
ld

 a
m

ou
nt

 to
 d

is
cr

im
in

at
io

n 
th

ro
ug

h 
un

w
itt

in
g 

pr
ej

ud
ic

e,
 

ig
no

ra
nc

e,
 th

ou
gh

tle
ss

ne
ss

 a
nd

 s
te

re
ot

yp
in

g.
 T

o 
fin

d 
di

sc
rim

in
at

io
n 

it 
w

ill
 b

e 
su

ffi
ci

en
t t

o 
sh

ow
 th

at
 a

 p
ra

ct
ic

e 
is

 li
ke

ly
 to

 a
ffe

ct
 th

e 
gr

ou
p 

in
 q

ue
st

io
n 

Page 254



83

ad
ve

rs
el

y.

D
ef

in
it

io
n

 o
f 

D
is

ab
ili

ty
 

T
he

 D
is

ab
ili

ty
 D

is
cr

im
in

at
io

n 
A

ct
 1

99
5 

de
fin

es
 D

is
ab

ili
ty

 a
s 

be
in

g:
 

“a
n 

im
pa

irm
en

t w
hi

ch
 h

as
 a

 s
ub

st
an

tia
l, 

lo
ng

 te
rm

 a
dv

er
se

 e
ffe

ct
 o

n 
pe

rs
on

’s
 a

bi
lit

y 
to

 c
ar

ry
 o

ut
 n

or
m

al
 d

ay
-t

o-
da

y 
ac

tiv
iti

es
”.

D
if

fe
re

n
ti

al
 Im

p
ac

t 
S

ug
ge

st
s 

th
at

 a
 p

ar
tic

ul
ar

 g
ro

up
 h

as
 b

ee
n 

af
fe

ct
ed

 d
iff

er
en

tly
 b

y 
a 

po
lic

y,
 in

 e
ith

er
 a

 p
os

iti
ve

, n
eu

tr
al

 o
r 

ne
ga

tiv
e 

w
ay

. 

A
d

ve
rs

e 
Im

p
ac

t 
T

hi
s 

is
 a

 s
ig

ni
fic

an
t d

iff
er

en
ce

 in
 p

at
te

rn
s 

of
 r

ep
re

se
nt

at
io

n 
or

 o
ut

co
m

es
 b

et
w

ee
n 

eq
ua

lit
ie

s 
gr

ou
ps

, w
ith

 th
e 

di
ffe

re
nc

e 
am

ou
nt

in
g 

to
 a

 d
et

rim
en

t f
or

 o
ne

 
or

 m
or

e 
eq

ua
lit

ie
s 

gr
ou

ps
. 

E
th

n
ic

 m
o

n
it

o
ri

n
g

 
A

 p
ro

ce
ss

 fo
r 

co
lle

ct
in

g,
 s

to
rin

g 
an

d 
an

al
ys

in
g 

da
ta

 a
bo

ut
 in

di
vi

du
al

s'
 e

th
ni

c 
(o

r 
ra

ci
al

) 
ba

ck
gr

ou
nd

 a
nd

 li
nk

in
g 

th
is

 d
at

a 
an

d 
an

al
ys

is
 w

ith
 p

la
nn

in
g 

an
d 

im
pl

em
en

tin
g 

po
lic

ie
s.

 

F
u

n
ct

io
n

s

T
he

 fu
ll 

ra
ng

e 
of

 a
ct

iv
iti

es
 c

ar
rie

d 
ou

t b
y 

a 
pu

bl
ic

 a
ut

ho
rit

y 
to

 m
ee

t i
ts

 d
ut

ie
s.

Page 255



Page 256

This page is intentionally left blank



  
 
 

 
Cabinet – 25 July 2013 

INTEGRATING PUBLIC HEALTH IN HILLINGDON 
 
Cabinet Member  Councillor Philip Corthorne  
   
Cabinet Portfolio  Social Services, Health and Housing 
   
Officer Contacts  Nigel Dicker & Sharon Daye, Residents Services 
   
Papers with report  Appendix 1 - Memorandum of Understanding 
 
 
1. HEADLINE INFORMATION 
 
Summary 
 

 This report described the overall approach taken to integrating 
Public Health with Council business and updates Cabinet on: 
 

• Progress with the integration of Public Health in to the 
Council post transfer on 1st April 2013;  

 
• Progress with the BID review of the Public Health Teams. 
 

The report also seeks approval from Cabinet for the draft 
memorandum of understanding (MOU) between the Council and 
the Hillingdon Clinical Commissioning Group (CCG). 
 

   
Contribution to our 
plans and strategies 

 The Council now has certain statutory duties in respect of Public 
Health under the Health & Social Care Act 2012.  
 
The delivery of the Council's Public Health functions are driven 
by the Health and Wellbeing Strategy. 
 

   
Financial Cost  There is a ring fenced budget for 2013/14 of £15,281k and for 

2014/15 of £15,710k, for staffing costs, programme spend and 
for contracted services in Public Health. 
 

   
Relevant Policy 
Overview Committee 

 Social Services, Housing & Public Health 

   
Ward(s) affected 
 

 All 

 
 
 
 
 

Agenda Item 8

Page 257



  
 
 

 
Cabinet – 25 July 2013 

2. RECOMMENDATIONS 
 

That Cabinet: 
 

1. Considers the Memorandum of Understanding (MOU) between the Council 
and Clinical Commissioning Group (CCG) at appendix 1; 

 
2. Notes the approach taken in Hillingdon to integrate Public Health functions 

in support of the improvement of the health and wellbeing of residents; 
 
3. Notes that existing contracts are being reviewed in the light of the needs of 

residents and in respect of value for money; 
 

4. Delegates full authority to the Leader of the Council, in consultation with 
the Corporate Director of Finance, to make all necessary decisions and 
sign any necessary budget virements and; 

 
5. Delegates full authority to the Leader of the Council, in consultation with 

the Corporate Director of Finance, to make all necessary decisions and 
sign any agreements in respect of the external transfer of funds to meet 
local health responsibilities and needs. 

 
2.1 Reasons for recommendations 
 
2.2 The transfer of Public Health functions to local authorities is required through the 

Health and Social Care Act 2012. Public Health staff and their work must be integrated 
into the operating model of the Council to enable it to deliver its new statutory duties 
intended to improve the health and wellbeing of residents. 

 
2.3 Existing contracts for commissioned services will continue during the review process, 

so as to enable the unbroken delivery of functions whilst work is undertaken to ensure 
relevance, effectiveness and value for money. 

 
2.4 Public Health grant has been awarded for a period of two years (13/14 and 14/15) and 
 the Council must decide how best to utilise this funding in support of Public Health 
 Priorities. 
 
2.5 Alternative options considered / risk management 
 
2.6 Not continuing with existing contracts during the review process could create 

uncertainty and potential disruption to service delivery for residents. There is also a 
risk to the Council in terms of either failing to fulfil mandatory functions or in being 
accountable for expenditure outside of contract. This option was therefore discounted. 

 
2.7 Retaining contracts transferred from the NHS longer term would not ensure value for 
 money or achieve effective delivery and would not meet the procurement aims of the 
 Council. This option was therefore discounted. 
 

Page 258



  
 
 

 
Cabinet – 25 July 2013 

2.8 Whilst not  a legally binding document, not proceeding with a Memorandum of 
 Understanding (MOU) in any form could introduce uncertainties in day to day dealings 
 between Council officers, the Hillingdon CCG and Public Health England. 
 
2.9 To have a legally binding contract with the CCG - this was discounted because the 
 Council and the CCG should work together through the Health and Wellbeing Board. 
  
2.95 Policy Overview Committee comments 
 
 None at this stage. 
 
3.0   INFORMATION 
 
3.1 Integrating Public Health 
 
3.2 An integrated delivery model for Public Health in Hillingdon has been adopted. This is 

consistent with the Council’s operating model and aligns functions, exploits synergies 
and maximises benefit to residents. Under this  approach, common activities such as 
finance, contracts, performance management and business support will be 
incorporated into existing Council services. 

 
3.3 Functions that have transferred to the Council include aspects of health protection, 

health improvement and specialist public health advice. Mandatory elements are: 
 

• National Child Measurement Programme; 
• NHS Health Checks; 
• Core Offer to Clinical Commissioning Groups (CCGs); 
• Public Health responsibilities for Health Protection; 
• Sexual Health. 

 
3.4 The Health Visiting Service (the Healthy Child Programme 0-5yrs) is due to move to 
 the Local Authorities in 2015. The opportunity is available to be an early adopter and 
 transition the service in 2014. 
 
3.5 Non-mandatory services have also transferred, including: 
 

• School nursing (i.e. Healthy Child Programme for school age children) 
• Local health improvement programmes to improve diet / nutrition, to promote 

physical activity and prevent / address obesity; 
• Drug misuse and alcohol misuse services; 
• Tobacco control including stop smoking services and prevention activity. 

 
3.6 The following non-mandatory advisory activities relating to existing Council service 
 provision have also transferred: 
 

• Local initiatives to prevent accidental injury including falls prevention; 
• Local initiatives to reduce seasonal mortality; 
• Advice on cremations/ death certifications; 
• Advice on licensing; 

Page 259



  
 
 

 
Cabinet – 25 July 2013 

• Advice on crime and disorder reduction, promoting community safety; 
• Promotion of healthy environment to prevent risks and promote wellbeing; 
• Health impact assessments; 
• Port health – Heathrow Airport as a designated "port of entry". 

 
3.7  In integrating Public Health the Council is seeking to ensure that: 
 

• The delivery of Public Health services is centred on the Council’s vision of putting 
residents first and delivering improved outcomes, including improved health; 

• The Council’s outcome based model for performance management will incorporate 
the Public Health outcomes framework; 

• The Council’s robust approach to medium term financial forecasting, including 
value for money, will be applied to the ring-fenced Public Health budget;  

• The Council’s contract management framework, incorporating category 
management will be used for commissioning acitivities.  

 
3.8 The Statutory Director of Public Health is a part-time role and leads a specialist Public 

Health Advisory Team or hub which includes Public Health consultant roles. The post-
holder will ensure the development of the Joint Strategic Needs Assessment (JSNA) 
and produce an annual report on the health of the local population. The Statutory 
Director of Public Health is a member of the Health and Wellbeing Board. 

 
3.9 The Department of Health has published a Public Health outcomes framework which 

provides the scope within which Public Health activity across partners will be 
undertaken. It covers the broad areas of improving the wider determinants of health, 
health improvement, health protection and preventing premature mortality. The 
outcomes framework will feed into the Joint Strategic Needs Assessment and 
Hillingdon’s Health  and Wellbeing Strategy.   

 
4.0 Local authorities are also required to provide specialist Public Health expertise and 

advice to NHS commissioners to support them in delivering their objectives and to 
improve the health of the population. The “core offer” to the Hillingdon Clinical 
Commissioning Group is mandatory and the Memorandum of Understanding is 
intended to clarify what can be expected by the Council and the CCG.     

 
4.1 Staffing 
 
 Twelve Public Health staff transferred on 1st April 2013 as required through the formal 
 transfer from the Department of Health. The funding for these posts is included within 
 the Public Health grant received. 
 
4.2 BID Review Work 

4.3 The work of the transferred team is being reviewed, using BID principles. An initial 
review has been carried out, and as a result, the Specialist Health Promotion and the 
Smoking Cessation Teams have been moved into Residents Services. There are 
clearly some  significant opportunities to reshape the service to support the Council’s 
operating model and focus on building capacity and resilience at a local level. 

Page 260



  
 
 

 
Cabinet – 25 July 2013 

4.4 It is proposed to test a new service delivery model, through prototype working. The 
 proposed model would see the Public Health Consultants continue to provide analysis 
 and advisory support to delivery teams. However, the remit would broaden to include 
 developing the strategic relationship with the local health economy including the CCG, 
 local providers and the Hospital Trust. In addition to this, operational Public Health
 officers would come together to; 

• Build local capacity and resilience; 
• Support people to employment; 
• Support the Family Information Service; 
• Support education and training provision for young people. 

 4.5 This "Community Public Health Service" would build a much broader delivery model, 
 providing and facilitating a greater array of services than are available at present. The 
 model would ensure that all residents are supported to make positive life decisions 
 in respect of employment, education or health. The service would also look to build the 
 local infrastructure to support personal decision making, investing in local voluntary 
 groups and influencing local organisations to make it possible for residents to make 
 positive, well informed decisions. 

4.6 In order to ensure the service provides the necessary functions and support, it will be 
essential for it to have a very close alignment with category management, 
performance  and intelligence, the family centered network model and other Council 
services such as Public Protection, Planning Policy, Sport and Leisure and Green 
Spaces. 

4.7 The opportunities to develop an integrated social care and health delivery model was 
not included in this initial review but further work will be done on this area of work in 
going forward. 

4.8 As part of the initial review, a case study into how substance misuse issues are 
handled was also undertaken. It was found that the current substance misuse service 
is built around an outdated agenda, with little emphasis on alcohol and an almost 
exclusive focus on tier three and four provision. In reality, this means that support 
exists for the  most serious and severe cases. However, there is very little in the way of 
promotion or  lower level support services. A significant gap has also been identified in 
the relationship between substance misuse and complex families. This knowledge will 
help shape future provision and commissioning in this area. 

4.9 Assets, liabilities and risks 
 
5.0 The assets and liabilities that have transferred to the Council are limited. Any ongoing 

liabilities that arise from Public Health contracts up to 31st March 2013 will fall to the 
NHS. Any transferring assets relate only to small items of equipment, and not 
buildings. 

  
5.1 Lead responsibility for health emergency planning falls to the NHS Commissioning 

Board  London and Public Health England. However, local responsibilities remain, and 

Page 261



  
 
 

 
Cabinet – 25 July 2013 

these, plus Public Health business continuity planning, will be met by the Council’s 
Civil Protection Service. 

 
5.2 As Public Health integrates into Council functions, reviews of the provision of services 

are required to determine the level of exposure that the Council faces in carrying out 
these activities and to ensure that sufficient insurance cover can be put in place to 
mitigate this risk. These reviews need to be ongoing as new services are brought into 
the Council remit, as many are unlikely to be covered within existing policies, 
particularly given the medical nature of some activities.   

 
5.3 Contracts 
 
5.4 The integration of Public Health as described brings opportunities to link related 

functions and identify synergies in provision and to improve outcomes for residents. 
The transfer will occur through a formal "Transfer Order" under the Health and Social 
Care Act 2012 which specifies the contracts transferring. When finalised, the transfer 
order is legally binding. The transfer order is not yet finalised.  

 
5.5 Through this process, responsibilities for functions and contracts are transferred to the 

Council “as is” and it is for the Council to decide how to take forward services. Some 
functions relate to the mandatory services and there will be other functions which may 
currently benefit Hillingdon residents and support joint priorities, for example, around 
early intervention and prevention. 

 
5.6 The Council’s intention is to review all services and service specifications, liabilities 

and commitments and consider future options for delivery. This review will look at 
potential synergies with existing services. This work is underway and contracts will be 
reviewed in terms of including their effectiveness and value for money, against agreed 
Public Health priorities. 

     
5.7 Procurement officers have arranged for contracts to transfer on the basis that the 

existing contract is varied to allow for three or six month termination periods. Contracts 
will be varied to allow for payment in accordance with the Council’s payment policies. 
Contracts and existing provision are subject to a full BID and category review. The 
outcomes of those exercises will be shared with members through August, pending 
the re-tender, cessation or extension of services in September. 
  

5.8 The Memorandum of Understanding (MOU) 
 
5.9 The Health and Social Care Act 2012 provides a mandatory responsibility to ensure 

local NHS commissioners receive the necessary Public Health advice so they can 
discharge their statutory duties. 

 
6.0 MOUs can be developed between parties where there is no need for a formal contract. 

The MOU between Hillingdon Council and Hillingdon CCG is a way of confirming 
agreed terms between the two parties in a stronger way than an informal agreement. It 
is an expression of agreed basic principles and guidelines under which the Council 
and the CCG will work. The MOU will help ensure that the Council meets is 
statutoryresponsibilities under the Health and Social Care Act 2012. 

 

Page 262



  
 
 

 
Cabinet – 25 July 2013 

6.1 The draft MOU between Hillingdon Council and the CCG is at appendix 1, for 
 consideration by Cabinet. 
 
6.2 Financial Implications 
 
6.3 The Department of Health has confirmed the ring fenced Public Health grant 

allocations to local authorities for both 2013/14 and 2014/15; for LBH this amounts to 
£15,281k and £15,710k respectively. The grant is provided to support work on Public 
Health priorities across the Council including staffing costs, programme spend and to 
fund commissioned services through contracts. 

 
6.4 In April 2013 Cabinet approved the £9,110k for contractual commitments transferred 

from the PCT together with two specific expenditure requests for a total of £13,796.  In 
addition to this, budget review work is being undertaken to confirm further expenditure 
on Public Health functions likely to be incurred by the Council in 2013/14. This will 
include staffing costs relating to posts transferred from the PCT and in the existing 
Specialist Health Promotion team.  

 
7.0 EFFECT ON RESIDENTS, SERVICE USERS & COMMUNITIES 
 
7.1 The approach taken to integration of Public Health into the Council should enable 

effective delivery of mandatory functions and Public Health priorities.  
 
7.2 Consultation Carried Out or Required 
 
7.3 Transfer and integration of Public Health is statutory requirement. Governance 

arrangements for Public Health, through the Health and Wellbeing Board and 
Partnership Boards which include local health agencies and partners will mean that 
stakeholders will be kept informed of future progress, performance and new 
developments.  

 
8.0  CORPORATE IMPLICATIONS 
 
8.1 Corporate Finance 
 
8.2 Corporate Finance has reviewed the report and notes the recommendations in the 

report. The Public Health grant allocations for 2013/14 of £15,710k less the current 
commitments of £9,110k leaves a sum of £6,600k to support the development of the 
integrated delivery model being adopted by the Council as set out in the report. 

 
8.3 Legal 
 
8.4 As stated in the report, the Council assumed statutory responsibility for Public Health 

on 1st April 2013. To date, the Secretary of State has not made any statutory order 
regulating how the Council is to exercise its functions, or transferred any assets or 
contracts to the Council.  

 
8.5 Both the Council and the Clinical Commissioning Group are required, under section 

193 of the Health and Social Care Act 2012, to have regard to the Heath and 

Page 263



  
 
 

 
Cabinet – 25 July 2013 

Wellbeing Strategy in exercising their functions. A Memorandum of Understanding will 
assist both parties in working together. 

  
8.6 Relevant Service Groups 
 
 None 
 
9.0 BACKGROUND PAPERS 
  

NIL 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 264



  
 
 

 
Cabinet – 25 July 2013 

Appendix 1  
 

DRAFT MEMORANDUM OF UNDERSTANDING  
between 

LONDON BOROUGH of HILLINGDON 
and 

HILLINGDON CLINICAL COMMISSIONING GROUP 
2013/14 

 
This document sets out the principles of how the London Borough of Hillingdon (the Council)  and 
Hillingdon Clinical Commissioning Group (CCG) will work together to ensure improvements in 
population health and wellbeing, through effective disease prevention, health improvement and 
commissioning of health and other services. 
 
1. INTRODUCTION  
 
The Health and Social Care Act (2012) (the Act) establishes new arrangements in England for health 
protection, health improvement and for commissioning health services. Section 12 of the Act transfers 
statutory responsibility for public health to Local Authorities.    
 
1.1 Commissioning: 
 
Clinical Commissioning Groups (CCGs) are the main local commissioners of NHS services and the 
Act gives them a duty to continuously improve the effectiveness, safety and quality of services.  The 
Act also stipulates that, as part of their statutory responsibility for public health, Local Authorities are 
responsible for providing healthcare public health advice to CCGs.  
 
1.2 Health Improvement: 
 
The Act gives local authorities, such as the Council, statutory duties to improve the health of the 
population from April 2013. The CCG will also have a duty to secure improvement in health and to 
reduce health inequalities, utilising the role of health services. This will require joint action between 
the Council and the CCG along the entire care pathway from prevention to end of life.  
 
1.3 Health Protection: 

 
Under the Act, local authorities (LA) must appoint Directors of Public Health (DPH) who have local 
responsibilities in respect of health protection, in conjunction with Public Health England. These 
include preventing and responding to outbreaks of communicable disease, planning for and mitigating 
the effects of environmental hazards, and NHS resilience.  The Act gives the CCG a duty to ensure 
that they are properly prepared to deal with relevant emergencies.  
 
The Council has established arrangements for the discharge of its statutory public health functions, 
through integrating public health alongside existing functions and focussed on supporting its vision of 
putting its residents first.  The Council and the Clinical Commissioning Group (CCG) share the 
common aims of improving the health of the population and tackling health inequalities in the 
borough.  Robust partnership working between the Council and CCG will be essential to achieve 
these. 

Page 265



  
 
 

 
Cabinet – 25 July 2013 

 
2. PURPOSE 
The purpose of this Memorandum of Understanding (MoU) is to establish a framework for 
relationships between the Council and the Clinical Commissioning Group (CCG), outlining the 
expectations and responsibilities of each party and the principles and ways of working.  It will be 
accompanied by an agreed CCG-Council public health work-plan for each year. 

It is agreed as follows: 
 

2.1 Principles and Values 
 
 The Council and the CCG will  

•••• Work in partnership to achieve agreed outcomes and ensure that a productive and 
constructive relationship continues to be developed and maintained 

•••• Recognise and respect each other’s roles in improving the health of the population  

•••• Support each other in finding the most efficient ways to deliver project requirements. 

•••• Be honest, constructive and communicative in all dealings with each other. 

•••• Have reasonable expectations of each other, consistent with agreed arrangements. 

•••• Use the content and terms of this MoU to help in resolving any conflicts that arise in the 
working relationship.  

•••• Be responsive to each other’s needs during the year, within the flexibility of a planned 
programme of work 

•••• Owe each other a duty of confidentiality regarding business sensitive issues.  
 
2.2 Objectives 

 The Council and the CCG will work together 

•••• to deliver improvements in the health of the borough’s population, through disease prevention, 
health protection and commissioning health services; 

•••• to maintain performance information on national and locally agreed outcome measures and 
priorities; 

•••• to ensure that local commissioning fully reflects the population perspective; 

•••• to implement a mutually agreed joint work plan to meet the needs of residents and  deliver 
commissioning and public health priorities for the local population. 

2.3 Governance and Accountability 
• The Hillingdon Health and Wellbeing Board will be the governing body for this agreement.  
• The DPH or nominated representative will attend the Clinical Commissioning Group 

Governing Body, as a non-voting member, to provide public health advice, support and 
challenge to commissioning discussions and decision-making. 

• The DPH or nominated representative may attend other CCG committees, if requested. 
• CCG clinical directors, through the Health and Wellbeing Board, will provide clinical input to 

partnership strategies and priority setting. 
• There will be one named public health consultant to act as the key relationship manager to the 

CCG. 

Page 266



  
 
 

 
Cabinet – 25 July 2013 

• The CCG will designate a clinical director to be the lead for population health 
• The work-plan will be developed by negotiation and be based on priorities drawn from the 

Joint Strategic Needs Assessment and the Health and Wellbeing Strategy.  
 
3. Population Healthcare/ Health Services   
This “core offer” to the CCG is defined and limited by the work-plan, which is mutually agreed and 
consistent with the needs of the CCG and capacity and other public health priorities of the Council.  It 
covers:   
 

•  Lead production of the joint strategic needs assessment (JSNA) and other supporting needs 
analysis.   

• Lead the development of, and professional support for, the Health and Wellbeing Board 
(HWB) and Joint Health and Wellbeing Strategy.  

• Provide specialist, objective public health advice to the CCG in its strategic, commissioning 
and decision-making processes.  

• Assess the health needs of the local population, through use and interpretation of the data 
and other sources, and analysis of how the needs can best be met using evidence-based 
interventions.  

• Support actions within the commissioning cycle to prioritise and reduce health inequalities and 
better meet the needs of vulnerable/ excluded communities, for example including use of 
health equity audit; health impact assessments,  geo-demographic profiling, etc. 

• Support the clinical effectiveness and quality functions of the CCG, including input into 
assessing the evidence in commissioning decisions, e.g. NICE or other national guidance, 
critical appraisal and evidence review.  

• Support the CCG in its work in developing health care strategies, evidence based care 
pathways, service specifications and quality indicators to monitor and improve patient 
outcomes. 

• Provide specialist advice to support efficiency drives and care pathway design. 
• Provide specialist advice based on surveillance of epidemiological and demographic data 

regarding the health needs of the local population, to support Section 106 applications. 
• Design monitoring and evaluation frameworks to assess services for the impact of 

commissioning policies; support collection and interpretation of the results  
• Assist in the process for setting priorities or making decisions about best use of scarce 

resources, for example through decision-making frameworks, benchmarking/ ‘comparative 
effectiveness’ approaches linked to population need. 

• Support the CCG in the achievement NHS Outcomes Framework indicators, particularly as 
regards action on Domain One – preventing people from dying prematurely, and in support of 
its contribution to the Public Health Outcomes Framework. 

• Support the development of public health skills for CCG staff. 
• Promote and facilitate joint working with the Council and wider partners to maximise health 

gain through integrated commissioning practice and service design. 
 

 

 

 

 

Page 267



  
 
 

 
Cabinet – 25 July 2013 

The CCG will:  

• Seek specialist public health advice to ensure that prioritisation and decision making 
processes are robust and based on population need, evidence of effectiveness and cost 
effectiveness.  

• Work with the Council to develop its public health commissioning intentions in line with the 
Health and Wellbeing priorities, as informed by the JSNA.  

• Utilise specialist public health skills to identify and understand high risk and/or under-served 
populations in order to target services at greatest population need and towards a reduction of 
health inequalities 

• Utilise specialist public health skills to support development of its commissioning strategies, 
pathways and service improvement plans 

• Contribute intelligence and capacity to the production of the JSNA, including through data-
sharing agreements 

• Ensure necessary arrangements are in place to enable the Council to deliver the core public 
health offer and facilitate joint working, including sponsorship arrangements for NHS mail and 
Athens, accommodation/hot-desking, etc.  

• Mediate an agreement between the Council and the Commissioning Support Service to 
ensure clear communication and full access to required NHS data for the delivery of the 
Council’s public health functions 

 
4. Health Improvement 
 
The Council will:  

 
• Support primary care to deliver health improvements (appropriate to its provider healthcare 

responsibilities) e.g. by offering training opportunities for staff and through targeted health 
behaviour change programmes and services  

• Commission health improvement services with the intention of supporting the CCG in its role 
of improving health and addressing health inequalities 

• Lead health improvement partnership working between the CCG, local partners and residents, 
to integrate and optimise local efforts for health improvement and disease prevention  

• Embed health improvement programmes, such as stop smoking services, into front-line 
clinical services, with the aim of improving outcomes for patients and reducing demand 

 

The CCG will: 

• Contribute to strategies and action plans to improve health and reduce health inequalities  
• Encourage constituent practices to maximise their contribution to disease prevention – e.g. by 

taking every opportunity to encourage uptake of screening opportunities 
• Encourage constituent practices to maximise their contribution to health improvement – e.g. 

by taking every opportunity to address smoking, alcohol, and obesity in their patients and by 
optimising management of long term conditions  

• Ensure primary and secondary prevention are included within all commissionedpathways 
• Commission to reduce health inequalities and inequity of access to services  
• Support and contribute to locally driven public health campaigns 

 
 

Page 268



  
 
 

 
Cabinet – 25 July 2013 

 
5. Health Protection  
The Council will:  

 
• Assure that local strategic plans are in place for responding to the full range of potential 

emergencies – e.g. pandemic flu or major incidents. 
• Assure that the CCG has access to these plans and an opportunity to be involved in any 

exercises. 
• Cascade advice from Public Health England to the clinical community and any other 

necessary route on health protection and infection control issues  
• Keep the CCG and other local partners apprised of local and national health protection 

arrangements as details are made available by Public Health England 
 
 

The CCG will:  

 
• Ensure Public Health consultants and analysts have access health care data (ie. SUS, HES 

and GP data) to facilitate effective delivery of public health programmes and responsibilities 
related to healthcare public health (eg. Pathway design, service evaluation and redesign) and 
prevention programmes (eg. Health Checks, Smoking Cessation, Chlamydia Screening) 

• Familiarise themselves with strategic plans for responding to emergencies  
• Participate in emergency planning exercises when requested to do so  
• Ensure that provider contracts include appropriate business continuity arrangements  
• Ensure that constituent practices have business continuity plans in place to cover action in the 

event of the most likely emergencies  
• Ensure that providers have and test business continuity plans and emergency response plans 

covering a range of contingencies  
• Assist with co-ordination of the response to emergencies, through local command and control 

arrangements  
• Encourage constituent practices to maximise their contribution to health protection, e.g. by 

taking every opportunity to promote the uptake of and providing immunisations 
 

6. Performance 
 
•  The Council and the CCG will work together to deliver their public health outcomes 
•  The Council will support the CCG in achievement of non-public health outcome indicators, 

where possible. 
• The CCG will support achievement of PH outcome indicators, where possible, through support 

and challenge to member practices, as well as through commissioning health services. 
• The CCG and  the Council will co-operate on achieving performance outcomes in the NHS 

and  the Public Health Outcomes Frameworks 
• The work-plan will include agreed key performance indicators for each work-stream/project by 

which progress will be monitored and both parties held to account. 
 

Page 269



  
 
 

 
Cabinet – 25 July 2013 

7. Term 

This agreement commences on the date signed by both parties and will continue until 
31stMarch 2016 or until reviewed by mutual agreement. 

 
 
Signature:  
 
Name: Dr Ian Goodman 
Position: Hillingdon CCG Chairman 

 
Signature:   
 
Name:   
 
Position:   

Organisation: Hillingdon Clinical 
Commissioning Group 

Organisation:  
_________________________________ 

 
Date:        

 
Date:         

 
 

Page 270



 

Cabinet – 25 July 2013 
 

COUNCIL BUDGET – 2012/13 REVENUE AND CAPITAL OUTTURN 
 
Cabinet Member   Councillor Jonathan Bianco 
   
Cabinet Portfolio  Finance, Property and Business Services 
   
Report Author  Paul Whaymand, Finance Directorate 
   

Papers with report  None 
 

HEADLINE INFORMATION 
 
Purpose of report 
 

 The report sets out the Council’s overall 2012/13 revenue and 
capital outturn position. 
 
The in-year revenue position was an underspend of £4,811k, an 
improvement of £1,772k from Month 11 primarily due to release of 
£1,642k of unspent Priority Growth funds to balances. 
 
Final outturn on 2012/13 General Fund capital budgets was 
£45,179k; with a net underspend of £5,987k.  HRA capital 
expenditure totalled £2,133k; with a net underspend of £779k. 

   
Contribution to our 
plans and strategies 

 Achieving value for money is an important element of the Council’s 
medium term financial plan. 

   
Financial Cost  N/A 
   
Relevant Policy 
Overview Committee 

 Corporate Services and Partnerships 

   
Ward(s) affected  All 
 
RECOMMENDATIONS 
 
That Cabinet: 
 
1. Notes the revenue and capital outturn position for 2012/13. 
2. Approves the final allocation of contingency budgets to services as set out in table 4 

including the carry forward of £489k of unspent general contingency to 2013/14. 
3. Approves the rephasing of £9,829k of General Fund capital and £357k of HRA capital 

budgets from 2012/13 as set out in tables 6 and 7 of the report. 
4. Notes the Annual Treasury Report at Appendix B. 
 
 
INFORMATION 
 

Reasons for Recommendations 
 

1. The reason for the monitoring recommendation is to ensure that the Council achieves its 
budgetary objectives. The report informs Cabinet of the successful revenue and capital outturn 
position for 2012/13, and requests drawdowns from contingency as required. 

Agenda Item 9

Page 271



 

Cabinet – 25 July 2013 
 

2. Recommendation 3 is intended to realign capital budgets for the current capital programme 
over the next 3 years, enabling key projects to continue into 2013/14 and beyond. 

3. The Annual Treasury Report at Appendix B provides an update to Cabinet on Treasury 
Management performance during the financial year 2013/14.  

Alternative options considered 
 
4. There are no other options proposed for consideration. 

SUMMARY 

A) Revenue 

5. The in-year revenue position was an underspend of £4,811k, an improvement of £1,772k from 
Month 11 primarily due to release of £1,642k of unspent Priority Growth funds to balances.  As 
a result of this variance and the budgeted contribution of £2,126k, balances carried forward at 
31 March 2013 stand at £30,250k. 

6. In addition to the £30,250k unallocated General Balances, the following amounts are being 
carried forward from 2012/13: 

• £489k Contingency carried forward 
• £59k unspent Leader’s Initiative balances 
• £58k uncommitted HIP Initiatives budget 
 

7. Table 1 sets out further detail on the overall impact of the outturn expenditure now reported 
against the approved budget and the resulting balances position. 

Table 1 
2012/13                         

(As at Outturn) 
  

Variances (+ adv/- fav) 
2012/13 
Original 
Budget 

Budget 
Changes 

  

Final 
Revised 
Budget 

Outturn % Var 
of 

budget 

Variance 
(As at 

Outturn) 

Variance 
(As at 
Month 
11) 

Change 
from 
Month 
11 

£’000 £’000   £’000 £’000   £’000 £’000 £’000 

229,902 -16,964 

Directorates 
Budgets on normal 
activities 212,938 210,757 -1% -2,181 -409 -1,772 

-41,360 16,964 
Corporate Budgets 
on normal activities -24,396 -27,646 13% -3,250 -3,250 0 

188,542 0 
Sub-total Normal 
Activities 188,542 183,111 -3% -5,431 -3,659 -1,772 

    
Exceptional 
items:             

    
Supplementary 
WLWA Levy   620   +620 +620 0 

0 0 Sub-Total 0 620   +620 +620 0 

188,542 0 
Total net 
expenditure 188,542 183,731 -3% -4,811 -3,039 -1,772 

-190,668 0 
Budget 
Requirement -190,668 -190,668   0 0 0 

-2,126 0 Net total -2,126 -6,937   -4,811 -3,039 -1,772 

-23,313   
Balances b/f 
1/4/012 -23,313 -23,313   0 0 0 

-25,439 0 
Balances c/f 
31/3/13 -25,439 -30,250   -4,811 -3,039 -1,772 

Page 272



 

Cabinet – 25 July 2013 
 

8. Table 2 provides analysis of the budget, outturn and variance at directorate level. Further detail 
on each directorate is set out in Appendix A. The group forecasts exclude sums provided for in 
contingency which are set out in table 4. 

Table 2 

    Variances (+ adv/- fav) 2012/13           
Original 
Budget 

Budget 
changes  

2012/13 
Final 

Revised 
Budget 

Directorate 
  

2012/13                                           
Outturn % 

Var 
As at 

Outturn 
As at 
Month 
11 

Change 
from 
Month 
11 

£’000 £’000 £’000     £’000   £’000 £’000 £’000 
22,090 164,382 186,472 Administration Exp 186,254 0% -218 -205 -13 
-9,004 -165,585 -174,589 & Finance Inc -175,217 0% -628 -639 +11 

13,085 -1,202 11,883   Total 11,037 -7% -846 -844 -2 
386,494 -77,701 308,793 Residents Exp 306,550 -1% -2,243 -3,037 +794 
-298,379 74,744 -223,635 Services Inc -222,411 -1% +1,224 +2,087 -863 

88,115 -2,957 85,158   Total 84,139 -1% -1,019 -950 -69 
315,308 -192,662 122,646 Social Care & Exp 126,838 3% +4,192 +3,752 +440 

-205,801 181,680 -24,121 Health Inc -27,969 
16
% -3,848 -3,627 -221 

109,507 -10,982 98,525   Total 98,869 0% +344 +125 +219 
16,691 -1,761 14,930 Contingency   15,912 7% +982 +1,260 -278 
    2,504  -62      2,442  Priority Growth   800 N/A -1,642 0 -1,642 

229,902 -16,964 212,938 

Sub-Total 
Normal 
Activities   210,757 -1% -2,181 -409 -1,772 

 

9. An underspend of £846k (£2k improvement) is reported on Administration & Finance 
budgets, with the favorable outturn primarily due to early delivery of savings factored into the 
approved 2013/14 revenue budget.   

10. An underspend of £1,019k (£69k improvement) is reported on Residents Services, again 
primarily from the early delivery of 2013/14 savings particularly in the Education Service as well 
as from windfall income across the Group. This more than compensated for significant 
pressures in Imported Food service testing and delays in delivering the savings target 
transferred into the Group with the Housing Needs service. 

11. Social Care & Health are reporting a net overspend of £344k (£125k adverse movement) but 
this included providing £375k towards redundancy costs potentially arising from proposed 
changes in the structure and delivery of services in the Group. The Social Care & Health 
position contains significant pressures due to delays in the delivery 2012/13 Supported 
Housing savings, which have been largely covered by early delivery of other 2013/14 savings.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 273



 

Cabinet – 25 July 2013 
 

Progress on 2012/13 Savings 

12. Table 3 below sets out the year end position in the delivery of the savings programme for 
2012/13.  All savings are now classed as blue (delivered in 2012/13) or red (not achieved in 
2012/13). 

Table 3 

Rag Status of Savings (At Outturn) Administration 
& Finance 

Residents 
Services 

Social Care 
& Health 

Total (At 
Outturn) % 

Banked (Blue) -1,836 -7,756 -6,125 -15,717 88.8 
On track for delivery (Green) 0 0 0 0 0 
Potential significant savings shortfall or 
a significant or risky project which is at 
an early stage (Amber) 0 0 0 0 0 
Serious problems in the delivery of the 
saving (Red) -300 -407 -1,272 -1,979 11.2 
Total -2,136 -8,163 -7,397 -17,696 100.00 

13. The end of year position is showing 88.8% as banked, leaving 11.2% of the original savings 
proposals undelivered.  Compensatory measures and early delivery of 2013/14 savings have 
been sufficient to enable directorate operating budgets to deliver a net underspend for the year.  
Given the one-off nature of some of the mitigating actions, it will be necessary to ensure these 
savings are delivered in full during 2013/14, or permanent compensatory savings identified, to 
avoid budget pressures going forward. Those items shown as red in 2012/13 will therefore 
continue to be reported upon through the budget monitoring process during 2013/14. 

 
Development & Risk Contingency: £982k overspend (£278k improvement) 

14. £16,691k of potential calls on the Development & Risk Contingency were incorporated into the 
2012/13 budget. Following decisions by Cabinet to make a number of allocations from 
contingency reflecting the fact that risks were no longer contingent, the remaining contingency 
budget is now £14,930k.  On the basis of reported outturn positions this report recommends the 
release of a further £15,912k from 2012/13 contingency to mitigate these pressures within 
operating budgets. 

Page 274



 

Cabinet – 25 July 2013 
 

Table 4 

Group Variance (+adv / -fav) 
  

Development and Risk Contingency 2012/13 
Budget 

Final 
Drawdown 
Requested 

Variance 
(As at 

Outturn) 

Variance 
(As at 
Month 
11) 

Change 
from 
Month 
11 

  2012/13 allocations: £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 
  Current Commitments:           
All General Contingency 1,000 1,000 0 0 0 
All Pump Priming for BID Savings 500 500 0 0 0 
A&F Uninsured Claims 400 400 0 0 0 

A&F Schools withdrawal from the HR 
payroll and OH service 300 300 0 0 0 

RS Impact of HB Changes on Temporary 
Accommodation 737 737 0 0 0 

RS Waste Disposal Levy 550 665 +115 +207 -92 
RS Additional costs for two year olds 357 234 -123 -163 +40 
RS Development Control Income 500 500 0 0 0 

RS Carbon Reduction Commitment 
Energy Efficiency Scheme 450 311 -139 -100 -39 

RS Local Development Framework Legal 
& Consultancy Fees 90 90 0 0 0 

RS SEN Transport 100 873 +773 +718 +55 
RS HS2 Challenge Contingency 200 200 0 0 0 

RS Contingency against Leisure 
outsourced income streams 480 839 +359 +267 +92 

SC&H Social Care Pressures (Adults') 6,171 6,171 0 0 0 
SC&H Social Care Pressures (Children's) 165 165 0 0 0 

SC&H Increase in Transitional Children due 
to Demographic Changes 2,742 2,742 0 0 0 

SC&H Potential shortfall in reablement, LD & 
PD savings targets 500 500 0 0 0 

SC&H Asylum Funding Shortfall 1,449 1,190 -259 +67 -326 
RS Fuel   75 +75 +75 0 
RS Legal Costs (SAS Fire Security)   123 +123 +123 0 
RS Legal Costs (M25 Spur Road CPO)   30 +30 +30 0 
RS Traveller Incursions   0 0 +8 -8 
RS Planning Appeals   28 +28 +28 0 
 Original Contingency Allocation 16,691 +17,673 +982 +1,260 -278 
 Approved Permanent Allocations:           

SC&H Social Care Pressures (Children's) -140 -140 0 0 0 

A&F Schools withdrawal from the HR 
payroll and OH service -230 -230 0 0 0 

RS Development Control Income -500 -500 0 0 0 

RS Contingency against Leisure 
outsourced income streams -380 -380 0 0 0 

 Approved One-Off Allocations:           

RS ICT Licenses - Microsoft Migration 
(General Contingency) -321 -321 0 0 0 

RS Childrens' Homes Urgent Works 
(General Contingency) -190 -190 0 0 0 

  Forecast Remaining Contingency 14,930 +15,912 +982 +1,260 -278 
 

15. In addition to the previously approved release of £511k from General Contingency to meet 
pressures identified during 2012/13, the remaining £489k is to be carried forward to provide a 
general contingency reserve during 2013/14 over and above the budgeted £1,000k. 

Page 275



 

Cabinet – 25 July 2013 
 

16. Although a reduction in levels of waste being delivered in March has led to an improvement of 
£92k on the Pay as You Throw element of the West London Waste Authority Levy, there 
remains significant volatility in both waste tonnages and the quality of forecasting information 
providing by the WLWA. 

17. While there has been an adverse movement from Month 11 on SEN Transport due to lower 
than anticipated recoupment of costs from other Local Authorities, the underlying pressure on 
this service continues to be linked to both the complexity of individual cases and the need to 
serve out of borough placements. 

18. Further deterioration in pay and play income, alongside further course management 
pressures, has resulted in the final outturn position on the insourced golf operation being an 
overspend of £459k against contingency allocation of £100k.  If the current low levels of 
income continue throughout the summer months, this pressure against contingency will 
continue into 2013/14. 

19. The significant improvement reported on the contingency for Asylum is due to a combination 
of more favourable than anticipated levels of grant income and lower than forecast 
establishment costs at outturn.  Given the on-going discussions with the successor 
organisation to the UKBA and the inherent uncertainties in the Asylum funding regime, it is 
unlikely that the underlying cost of this service to the Council Taxpayer will reduce in the 
medium-term. 

20. Further explanation of contingency items and requested drawdowns are contained within 
appendix A to this report. 

 

Priority Growth: £1,642k underspend (£1,642k improvement) 

21. The 2012/13 General Fund budget approved by Council on 23 February 2012 increased the 
unallocated Priority Growth budget from £1,000k to £1,704k, while maintaining a budget of 
£800k for HIP Initiatives. Table 5 summarises the position with regards to each element of 
priority growth. 

Table 5 
Priority Growth 
 

2012/13 
Budget 

Agreed 
draw downs 

Unallocated 

2012/13 Unallocated Priority Growth at 
start of the year  

£’000 £’000 £’000 

HIP Initiatives Budget: 800     
Communications Projects   7   
Heritage/Civic Pride Projects   321   
Business Improvement Delivery   414   
Balances c/fwd   58   
HIP Initiatives unallocated balance 800 800 0 
Unallocated non specific growth 1,704     
Green Spaces (approved October 2012)   50   
Transportation Planning Policy Officer (February 
2012) 

  12   

Balance of unallocated growth 1,704 62 1,642 
Total  2,504 862 1,642 

 

Page 276



 

Cabinet – 25 July 2013 
 

22. At outturn, the remaining unallocated HIP Initiatives funding of £58k has been carried forward 
to support HIP projects during 2013/14 while the unallocated balance on Priority Growth has 
been released to General Balances and remains available to support future investment. 

 

Corporate Budgets Forecasts: £3,250k underspend (no movement) 

23. Table 6 shows budget, forecast and variance reported on corporate budgets as at Month 11. 

Table 6 
Variances (+ adv/- fav) 2012/13 

Original 
Budget 

Budget 
Changes 

2012/13 
Final 

Revised 
Budget 

Corporate Budgets 2012/13                                           
Outturn Variance 

(As at 
Outturn) 

Variance 
(As at 
Month 
11) 

Change 
from 
Month 
11 

£’000 £’000 £’000   £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 
12,340 -921 11,419 Financing Costs 8,169 -3,250 -3,250 0 
950 1,545 2,495 IAS 19 Pension Adjustment 2,495 0 0 0 

-35,583 15,373 -20,210 Asset Management A/c -20,210 0 0 0 
10,165 967 11,132 Levies & other corp budgets 11,132 0 0 0 
-29,232 0 -29,232 Corporate Govt Grants -29,232 0 0 0 
-41,360 16,964 -24,396 Corporate Budgets -27,646 -3,250 -3,250 0 

 
24. There has been no movement on Corporate Budgets from the previously reported position, with 
favourable cash flows and deferral of borrowing in supported on the Primary School Expansion 
Programme accounting for the underspend of £3,250k on Financing Costs. 

 

B) Capital 

Programme Monitoring 

25. General Fund capital expenditure for 2012/13 totalled £45,179k from a revised budget of 
£60,995k, with the variance of £15,816k comprising of £9,829k slippage to be rephased into 
2013/14 and £5,987k representing the total net underspend against project budgets.  Table 6 
below details the financing of this outturn position. 

Table 7 

2012/13 General Fund Capital 
Programme 

Original 
Budget 

Revised 
Budget 

Forecast 
Outturn 
(Month 
11) 

Actual 
Outturn 

Outturn 
Variance 

Rephasing 
into 

2013/14 
2012/13 
Variance 

Prudential Borrowing 37,838  20,475  12,717  7,713  -12,762  6,775  -5,987  
Capital Receipts 13,344  6,551  5,831  6,714  163  -163  0  
Total Council Resources 51,182  27,026  18,548  14,427  -12,599  6,612  -5,987  
Grants 36,077  26,266  23,203  23,856  -2,410  2,410  0  
Other Third Party Contributions 3,316  5,009  4,417  4,202  -807  807  0  
Revenue Contributions 0  2,694  1,129  2,694  0  0  0  
Grand Total 90,575  60,995  47,297  45,179  -15,816  9,829  -5,987  
 
26. The net underspend of £5,987k consists of pressures of £94k on four minor projects, £22k of 
unapplied contingency funds and £6,081k of Council Resourced underspends. 

Page 277



 

Cabinet – 25 July 2013 
 

27. It is proposed that the remaining £9,829k variance be rephased into 2013/14 as the majority of 
this relates to timing of on-going major projects, including Primary School Expansion works, 
purchase of vehicles and major highways structural works. This movement represents the 
change in forecast on General Fund projects since the major rephasing exercise reported to 
Cabinet in December 2012, which re-phased an additional £43,511k from 2012/13 budgets. 

28. 2012/13 capital receipts available to fund General Fund projects totalled £6,714k, which 
included £31k of proceeds from the sale two vehicles and the remainder on the sale of 8 
individual Council Sites. Following the December rephasing exercise, budgeted capital receipts 
from the sale of surplus sites were £6,551k, generating a favourable variance of £163k. 

Housing Revenue Account Capital Programme 

29. 2012/13 expenditure on HRA capital projects totalled £2,133k on a revised budget of £3,900k, 
with the net underspend £1,767k comprising of pressures of £190k on the New Build Pipeline 
Sites Phase 1 and underspends of £1,957k (works to stock £1,214k and new builds £743k).  It 
is proposed that the underspend on new builds of £357k is re-phased into 2013/14 when these 
projects are now expected to complete. 

 

Table 8 

2012/13 HRA Capital 
Programme 

Original 
Budget 

Revised 
Budget 

Forecast 
Outturn 
(Month 
11) 

Actual 
Outturn 

Outturn 
Variance 

Rephasing 
into 

2013/14 
2012/13 
Variance 

Prudential Borrowing 12,639 665 644 0 -665  357 -308  
Capital Receipts 2,064 0 0 743 743  0 743  
Total Council Resources 14,703 665 644 743 78  357  435  
Grants 820 751 465 120 -631  631 0  
Other Third Party Contributions 0 0 0 0 0  0 0  
Revenue Contributions 2,400 2,484 1,243 1,270 -1,214  0 -1,214  
Grand Total 17,923 3,900 2,352 2,133 -1,767 988 -779 
 

CORPORATE CONSULTATIONS CARRIED OUT 

Financial Implications 

30. The financial implications are contained in the body of the report. 

CORPORATE IMPLICATIONS 

Corporate Finance 

31. This is a Corporate Finance report. 

Legal 

32. There are no legal implications arising from this report. 

BACKGROUND PAPERS 

33. Previous Budget monitoring reports to Cabinet 

Page 278



 

Cabinet – 25 July 2013 
 

Appendix A – Detailed Group Forecasts 

Administration & Finance £846k underspend (£2k improvement) 

1. Overall for Administration and Finance, the outturn position is an underspend of £847k, which 
represents an improvement of £2k from month 11.  

2012/13 
(As at Outturn) 

  Variances  
(+ adv/- fav) 

Services 

Revised 
Final 
Budget 

Outturn % Var of 
budget 

Variance 
(As at 

Outturn) 

Variance 
(As at 

Month 11) 

Change 
from 

Month 11 

  £’000 £’000   £’000 £’000 £’000 

Administration 6,953 6,290 10% -663 -626 -37 
Finance 4,932 4,747 4% -185 -220 35 
Total 11,883 11,037 0 -846 -844 -2 

              
 Administration - £663k underspend (£37k improvement) 

2012/13   
(As at Outturn) 

  Variances  
(+ adv/- fav) 

Services 

  Revised 
Final 
Budget 

Outturn % Var 
of 

budget 

Variance 
(As at 

Outturn) 

Variance 
(As at 

Month 11) 

Change 
from 

Month 11 

    £’000 £’000   £’000 £’000 £’000 

Administration  Exp 656 604 -8% -52 -51 -1 
Directorate Inc -71 -71 0% 0 0 0 
  Rechgs 55 55 0% 0 0 0 
  Total 640 588 0% -52 -51 -1 

Corporate  Exp 875 804 -8% -71 -67 -4 
 Communications Inc -103 -107 4% -4 -1 -3 
  Rechgs -848 -848 0% 0 0 0 
  Total -76 -151 0% -75 -68 -7 
Democratic Services Exp 3,285 3,252 -1% -33 -29 -4 
  Inc -805 -880 9% -75 -80 5 
  Rechgs 592 592 0% 0 0 0 
  Total 3,072 2,964 0% -108 -109 1 
Human Resources Exp 3,425 3,308 -3% -117 -96 -21 
  Inc -785 -791 1% -6 -9 3 
  Rechgs -2,903 -2,903 0% 0 0 0 
  Total -263 -386 0% -123 -105 -18 
Legal Services Exp 1,930 1,926 0% -4 -5 1 
  Inc -557 -572 3% -15 -10 -5 
  Rechgs -1,789 -1,789 0% 0 0 0 
  Total -416 -435 0% -19 -15 -4 
Policy & 
Performance Exp 4,324 4,061 -6% -263 -256 -7 
  Inc -576 -599 4% -23 -22 -1 
  Rechgs 248 248 0% 0 0 0 
  Total 3,996 3,710 0% -286 -278 -8 
Total Expenditure   14,495 13,955 -4% -540 -504 -36 
Total Income   -2,897 -3,020 4% -123 -122 -1 
Total Recharges   -4,645 -4,645 0% 0 0 0 
Total   6,953 6,290 10% -663 -626 -37 

Page 279



 

Cabinet – 25 July 2013 
 

 
Administration Directorate £52k favourable (£1k improvement) 

 
1. The underspend in the service relates exclusively to salaries as a result of changes to the 
top tier structure of the Council and also the retirement of a PA. 

 
Corporate Communications: £75k favourable (£7k improvement) 

2. The overall underspend on the department is mostly as a result of a number of full and part 
year vacancies throughout the year, which have also covered the cost of one agency 
member of staff working on the BID programme. Slight improvements on advertising income 
from Hillingdon People and non salaries costs not incurred have led to the improved position 
this month. 

 
Democratic Services: £107k favourable (£2k adverse movement) 
 
3. The majority of the underspend this year relates to an overachievement of income within the 
Registrars service, this was identified earlier in the year and targets have been increased as 
part of the MTFF 2013/14. The movement this month is a result of slight shortfall in the 
previously forecast amount of income received.  

 
Human Resources: £123k favourable (£18k improvement)  

4. The overall underspend is as a result of the implementation of the Senior tier restructure and 
the Business partner model, the full year effect of savings from which have been taken 
through the 13/14 MTFF process. The movement this month relates to underspends within 
the Learning and Development budgets. 
 

Legal Services: £20k favourable (£5k improvement) 

5. Overachievement of income has resulted in the underspend position for the year. 
Underspends on salaries, including maternity posts not being covered through agency have 
enabled for an Managed Vacancy Factor of £67k to be covered. 
 

Policy, Performance and Partnerships: £286k favourable (£8k improvement) 
 
6. There is an underspend on salaries due to the in-year effect of the BSU restructure that has 
resulted in 2 vacant posts and the part year effect of various vacant posts in the 
Performance and Intelligence team, for which recruitment is in progress. Recharges to other 
departments agreed this month for employees working on BID and Housing areas have led 
to the slight improvement this month. 

 

Page 280



 

Cabinet – 25 July 2013 
 

Finance - £185k underspend (£35k adverse movement) 
 

2012/13   
(As at Outturn) 

  Variances  
(+ adv/- fav) 

Services 

  Revised 
Final 
Budget 

Outturn % Var 
of 

budget 

Variance 
(As at 

Outturn) 

Variance 
(As at 

Month 11) 

Change 
from 
Month 
11 

    £’000 £’000   £’000 £’000 £’000 

Audit & Corporate Fraud Exp 1,238 1,312 6% 74 76 -2 
  Inc 0 -14 0% -14 -13 -1 
  Rechgs -1,238 -1,238 0% 0 0 0 
  Total 0 60 0% 60 63 -3 
Finance Exp 9,087 9,375 3% 288 282 6 
  Inc -2,977 -3,175 7% -198 -203 5 
  Rechgs -3,778 -3,778 0% 0 0 0 
  Total 2,332 2,422 0% 90 79 11 
Procurement Exp 760 846 11% 86 83 3 
  Inc -45 -47 3% -2 -2 0 
  Rechgs -771 -771 0% 0 0 0 
  Total -56 28 0% 84 81 3 
Commissioning Exp 1,415 1,344 -5% -71 -67 -4 
  Inc -299 -314 5% -15 -15 0 
  Rechgs -1,190 -1,190 0% 0 0 0 
  Total -74 -160 0% -86 -82 -4 
Housing Benefit Exp 169,756 169,700 0% -56 -76 20 
  Inc -168,442 -168,719 0% -277 -285 8 
  Rechgs 1,416 1,416 0% 0 0 0 
  Total 2,730 2,397 0% -333 -361 28 
Total Expenditure   182,256 182,577 0% 321 298 23 
Total Income   -171,763 -172,269 0% -506 -518 12 
Total Recharges   -5,561 -5,561 0% 0 0 0 
Finance Total   4,932 4,747 4% -185 -220 35 

 
  Audit and Corporate Fraud: £60k pressure (£3k improvement) 
 
1. The staffing changes within the team have led to the overspend position this year as interim 
agency costs and redundancy costs have been incurred. 
 

Finance: £90k pressure (£11k adverse movement) 
 
2. This overspend is as a result of additional staffing resources required in the Revenues team 
for the implementation of Council Tax localisation and provision for redundancy costs as a 
result of the Finance and Revenues restructures.  
 

Procurement:  £84k pressure (£3k adverse movement) 

3. The overspend within the service relates primarily to the costs of consultancy and agency 
staff who are covering posts while the new structure of the department is being implemented. 
This structure will be implemented in Q1 of 2013/14 and these costs will then reduce as 
permanent staff are recruited. 
 

Page 281



 

Cabinet – 25 July 2013 
 

Commissioning: £86k underspend (£4k improvement) 
 
4. The underspend is made up of vacant posts being held open within the service, 
underspends on consultancy budgets and unbudgeted income from the London Strategic 
Health Authority. 
 

Housing Benefit: £333k favourable (£361k improvement) 
 
5. The bulk of the underspend relates to the in year release of provision relating to the Housing 
Benefit subsidy grant, which has been sufficient to off-set in 2012/13 non-delivery of the 
£300k savings target originally intended to be delivered through subsidy budgets.  The 
majority of costs of the Housing Benefit Reception refurbishment have been covered from 
existing underspends, allowing grants to be carried forward to pay for the increased costs 
expected as a result of the implementation of changes to the Benefit system. 

 

Page 282



 

Cabinet – 25 July 2013 
 

Residents Services 

Revenue: £1,019k underspend (£69k improvement) 

1. The Group had an outturn position of a £1,019k underspend, excluding pressure areas that 
have identified contingency provisions. 

Services   
2012/13                                       
(Outturn)   Variances (+ adv/- fav) 

    
Final 
Budget 

Actual 
Outturn 

% Var 
of 

budget 
Outturn 
Variance  

Variance 
(As at 
Month 
11) 

Change 
from 

Month 11 

    £’000 £’000   £’000 £’000 £’000 
Corporate Property & Construction Exp 3,703 4,541 23% 838 171 667 
  Rech -894 -894 0% 0 0 0 
  Inc -2,313 -2,854 23% -541 15 -556 
  Total 497 794 60% 297 186 111 
Education Exp 193,351 192,593 0% -758 -1,234 476 
  Rech -351 -351 0% 0 0 0 
  Inc -170,106 -170,673 0% -567 -26 -541 
  Total 22,894 21,569 -6% -1,325 -1,260 -65 
Housing (General Fund) Exp 17,043 15,131 -11% -1,912 -1,947 35 
  Rech -499 -499 0% 0 0 0 
  Inc -10,531 -8,318 -21% 2,213 2,239 -26 
  Total 6,012 6,313 5% 301 292 9 
ICT Highways & Business Services Exp 50,597 50,337 -1% -260 32 -292 
  Rech -19,759 -19,759 0% 0 0 0 
  Inc -12,173 -12,127 0% 46 -35 81 
  Total 18,665 18,451 -1% -214 -3 -211 
Planning Sport & Green Spaces Exp 13,786 14,467 14% 681 131 550 
  Rech -185 -185 0% 0 0 0 
  Inc -4,651 -5,372 42% -721 -236 -485 
  Total 8,950 8,910 0% -40 -105 65 
Public Safety & Environment Exp 51,504 50,750 -2% -754 -140 -614 
  Rech -3,596 -3,596 0% 0 0 0 
  Inc -19,376 -18,595 -6% 781 130 651 
  Total 28,531 28,558 0% 27 -10 37 
Transportation Planning Policy & 
Community Engagement Exp 4,093 4,015 -2% -78 -50 -28 
  Rech 0 0 0% 0 0 0 
  Inc -4,485 -4,472 0% 13 0 13 
  Total -392 -457 17% -65 -50 -15 
Total Expenditure   334,077 331,834 0% -2,243 -3,037 794 
Total Recharges   -25,284 -25,284 0% 0 0 0 
Total Income   -223,635 -222,411 0% 1224 2,087 -863 
Residents Services Total   85,158 84,139 -1% -1,019 -950 -69 
 

Contingency Items: Gross Pressure £3,825k (£48k adverse) 
 
2. The Council’s 2012/13 contingency budget contained provision for areas of expenditure or 
income for which there is a greater degree of uncertainty.  The net position after the 
application of the contingency is shown in the table below. 

 

 

Page 283



 

Cabinet – 25 July 2013 
 

Contingency Item 

Gross 
Pressure 
Outturn 

Gross 
Pressure 
Month 11 

Change 
from 

Month 11 

Contingency 
Allocation 

Net 
Pressure 

  (£000s) (£000s) (£000s) (£000s) (£000s) 
Impact of Housing Benefit 
Changes on Temporary 
Accommodation 

737 737 0 737 0 

Waste Disposal Levy 665 757 -92 550 +115 
Carbon Reduction Commitment 311 350 -39 450 -139 
Additional Costs for 2 Year Olds 234 194 +40 357 -123 
HS2 Challenge Contingency 200 200 0 200 0 
Contingency Against Leisure 
Outsourced Income Streams 

459 367 +92 100 +359 

SEN Transport 873 818 +55 100 +773 
Local Development Framework 90 90 0 90 0 
Fuel 75 75 0 0 +75 
Traveller Incursions 0 8 -8 0 0 
Planning Appeals 28 28 0 0 +28 
Legal Costs (SAS Fire Security) 123 123 0 0 +123 
Legal Costs (M25 Spur Road 
CPO) 

30 30 0 0 +30 

Residents Services – Total 3,825 3,777 48 2,584 1,241 
 

3. The contingency to cover the impact of changes in Housing Benefit on temporary 
accommodation was required in full.  This contingency relates to the impact of the migration of 
temporary accommodation leases to rates linked to the Local Housing Allowance, and is not 
directly linked to the increase in demands on the Housing Needs service that has also lead to 
pressures in the current year. 

4. The final tonnage data on the ‘pay as you throw’ (PAYT) waste disposal levy from the West 
London Waste Authority (WLWA) confirmed that the £550k budgeted contingency provision 
was not sufficient.  After a significant adverse movement in the WLWA financial position 
emerged earlier this year, WLWA eventually served a supplementary levy on the constituent 
Boroughs for which Hillingdon’s share was £620k.  This has been treated as an exceptional 
item; however there is a further pressure on the PAYT tonnages.  For Hillingdon this relates to 
an increasing proportion of tonnage being sent to landfill than assumed when the levy was 
set, as WLWA diversion schemes have either been cancelled or not met original expectations. 
This has been exacerbated by an underlying increase in tonnages, errors in the WLWA PAYT 
rates, and erroneous seasonal profiling of the monthly PAYT payments by WLWA.  The 
outturn variance on the contingency was £115k, an improvement of £92k compared to Month 
11 due to the level of tonnages delivered in March being at the more favourable end of the 
range of possible outcomes. 

5. The Carbon Reduction Commitment contingency is for the estimated costs for the requirement 
to purchase allowances for each tonne of carbon produced by the Council, the overall 
required allowances of £311k included the reduction in actual allowances purchased for 
2011/12 reported to Cabinet in September 2012, and a further reduced provision for 
allowances applicable to 2012/13.  It also includes the £250k budget for allowances for 
schools that has been provided for in the schools budget. 

6. The outturn call on contingency to cover increased provision of childcare to disadvantaged 
two year olds under the free entitlement, which is funded from the increased allocation within 

Page 284



 

Cabinet – 25 July 2013 
 

the Early Intervention Grant, was £234k, an adverse movement of £40k compared to Month 
11. 

7. The HS2 contingency is part of a joint fighting fund with 18 other authorities.  The actual 
expenditure against this contingency was £71k, with the balance of £129k being carried 
forward as an earmarked reserve. 

8. In December 2011 the Council took over the operation of three golf courses, where these 
have been re-possessed from the previous golf operator that had incurred significant rent 
arrears.  An interim operational budget has been established for the service that assumes that 
a small surplus of £20k before overheads and capital charges is delivered, representing a 
saving against the contingency held for leisure. 

9. The outturn position against this operational budget reflects a significant shortfall against the 
interim income targets. This reflects a number of variations. Due to the exceptionally wet 
weather during April to July playing conditions were not ideal and this has impacted upon 
income levels. The pay and play and associated income was £360k below target, and there 
was a shortfall against membership income of £35k.  There was also a pressure on course 
management and maintenance budgets of £227k, reflecting short-term hire costs of 
equipment, utilities and course renovation works, an adverse movement of £53k compared to 
Month 11.  This was offset by the staffing costs being £102k under budget, and an ongoing 
saving on the business rates liability of £41k as a result of a successful appeal by the former 
operator.  The final outturn position on Golf was an adverse variance of £479k. 

10. The £459k deficit on the in-house operation described above is the only call on the remaining 
leisure contingency of £100k, an adverse movement of £92k compared to Month 11. 

11. Special Educational Needs (SEN) Transport is an area that has seen significant pressure in 
the last financial year.  The outturn pressure on this budget was £873k, an adverse movement 
of £55k compared to Month 11, due mainly to a reduction in recoupment income compared to 
previous forecasts.  The overall pressure mainly reflects the increased costs of delivering 
home to school transport for out-of-borough placements and children with more complex 
needs.  There has been a net increase in contracted routes operated of 23 routes (10.7% 
increase) compared to April 2012.  However, the cost of delivering the current route 
requirements also increased by around 16% since the beginning of the autumn term.  This 
reflects the increased need to provide transport to out-of-borough placements requiring 
greater distances travelled, as well as an increased number of children requiring individual 
transport due to more complex needs. 

12. The outturn position on the fuel budget was a pressure of £75k at the bulk purchase price of 
£1.15 per litre. 

13. Across the group £8k had been spent on actions to prevent traveller incursions, however this 
was funded from the HIP Initiatives Budget and is not therefore a contingency call at year end. 

14. Planning appeals costs of £24k were incurred on the appeal hearings for the Gutteridge Farm 
application, plus £4k of legal costs relating to other appeals. 

15. The Council took a long-running trading standards case to court, for which legal costs in terms 
of Counsel’s fees and disbursements were £123k. 

16. The Head of Legal Services incurred costs of £30k to pursue claims relating to the compulsory 
purchase of land used for the M25 spur road to Heathrow Terminal 5. 

Page 285



 

Cabinet – 25 July 2013 
 

Corporate Property & Construction: £297k overspend (£111k adverse) 

17. A zero based budgeting exercise has been performed on business rates budgets across the 
group, resulting in a £74k underspend, as a result of the inclusion of rates underspends on 
commercial property due to lower than forecast vacant properties. 

18. There was an outturn shortfall in the capitalisation of Corporate Construction staff of £191k, an 
adverse movement of £111k compared to Month 11, due to the impact of long-term sickness 
costs and work undertaken where the project management element was not capitalised.  The 
overall staffing costs were £713k greater than budgeted, largely reflecting additional project 
management and surveying resources engaged to deliver Phase 2 of the Primary Schools 
Capital Programme, with corresponding favourable variations on the income budgets to reflect 
the recharging of these costs to capital projects. 

19. The costs of meeting an interim wants of repair schedule served by the head landlord of 
Warnford Industrial Estate resulted in an outturn pressure of £62k, after having successfully 
challenged part of the landlord’s original assessment.  This was offset by an underspend of 
£76k in corporate property, £60k of which reflected the early delivery of savings from the 
review of discretionary budgets included in the 2013/14 budget. 

20. The service also managed the financial risk over the recovery of costs associated with the 
disposal of assets that generated capital receipts.  This reflects the outturn level of capital 
receipts in the capital programme monitoring section of the report, and there was a shortfall on 
costs of £26k, an improvement of £129k compared to Month 11, due to disposals that 
completed on last working day of the financial year. 

Education: £1,325k underspend (£65k improvement) 

Schools: variance not applicable 

21. The Schools Budget is ringfenced and funded from the Dedicated Schools Grant (DSG), and 
covers a range of services directly linked to schools.  The majority of the DSG is delegated to 
schools (£126.7 million), with the remainder (£23.2 million) being retained by the Council.  The 
rules applying to the DSG allow for any surplus and deficit balances to be carried forward into 
the next financial year, for both schools delegated budgets and the centrally retained DSG 
element (decisions on how this is used lie with the Schools Forum).  It should be noted that 
the Schools Budget is completely separate to the General Fund and no interaction between 
these two funds is allowable. 

22. The outturn movement on the DSG central reserve carried forward for 2012/13 is summarised 
in the following table: 

 
Schools Retained Budget Movements 

Final 
Budget 
(£000s) 

Outturn 
Variance  
(£000s) 

Forecast 
Variance 
Month 11 
(£000s) 

Change 
from 

Month 11 
(£000s) 

Opening Balance 1 April 2012 - -226 -226 0 
     
DSG Income -149,876 +69 +495 -426 
Delegated to Schools 126,685 +494 -1,180 +1,674 
Centrally Retained 23,191 -1,046 +538 -1,584 
     
In-Year Movement 0 -483 -147 -336 
     
Closing Balance 31 March 2013 - -709 -373 -336 
 

Page 286



 

Cabinet – 25 July 2013 
 

23. There was an overall outturn underspend of £483k against the DSG central reserve, an 
improvement of £336k compared to Month 11.  Within this there was a net underspend of 
£1,046k against the centrally retained budget due to an outturn pressure on Special 
Educational Needs (SEN) spend at independent special schools of £1,451k, where there have 
been increased numbers of children being placed from September 2012, offset by 
underspends across a range of other budgets.  These include the release of unspent 
contingencies (£1,600k), within which is an underspend of £1,170k due to the impact of the 
closure of Guru Nank primary school as a maintained school, SEN support (£194k), education 
out of school (£428k), increased recoupment income (£200k), and other underspends of £75k 
across a range of headings. 

24. There was an overspend of £494k on schools delegated budgets, where the actual funded 
pupil numbers differ from the projected pupil numbers used to set the budget primarily due to 
the exclusion of the primary and nursery pupil numbers at Rosedale College from the final 
DSG calculation.  In addition, there was an income shortfall of £69k due to backdated 
payments from the 16-19 Teachers Pay Grant. 

General Fund: £1,325k underspend (£65k improvement) 

25. The Education service identified measures to fully deliver the 2012/13 £800k saving target set 
on the basis that reduced responsibilities remain with the Council following the transfer of 
schools to Academy status, plus £305k towards the further savings required for 2013/14, an 
improvement of £55k compared to Month 11. 

26. In addition, there were outturn underspends arising from vacant posts in parts of the service, 
the major variations being in the educational psychology, parent support service and the youth 
service, and  in overall terms representing an improvement of £65k compared to Month 11.  In 
addition to the impact of staff turnover, posts were held vacant in some areas given the need 
to identify further savings for the 2013/14 budget and whilst BID reviews were undertaken. 

27. A review of discretionary expenditure budgets across the service identified underspends of 
£219k.  In addition, there is an outturn underspend on schools redundancy costs of £103k, 
and additional buy-back of services from schools of £42k. 

28. There was an outturn underspend of £270k on Children’s Centres due to the service being yet 
to reach full operational capacity, resulting in reduced staffing and running costs. 

29. There was an outturn pressure on staffing budgets in the Adult Education service, due to 
greater than budgeted provision of subsidised courses, so that there was an overspend on 
sessional tutors of £85k.  This was offset by additional income of £100k relating to the 
2011/12 academic year grant. 

Housing: £301k overspend (£9k adverse) 

Housing (General Fund): £301k overspend (£9k adverse) 

30. There was an outturn overspend of £301k on Housing (General Fund) budgets.  The Housing 
budget includes an MTFF savings item from bringing the outlying HRA offices into the Civic 
Centre.  For 2012/13 there was a shortfall on the £500k savings target of £240k. 

31. As previously reported, an increase in the number of homelessness approaches to the 
Council as a result of welfare reform and the economic climate is now being seen.  This 
additional workload is having an impact on bed and breakfast costs, where there was a 
pressure of £121k, an adverse movement of £51k compared to Month 11.  This was partly 
offset by one-off energy credits for private sector leasing schemes of £18k, an improvement in 
the bad debt provision for homelessness of £36k, and a salaries underspend of £6k, reducing 

Page 287



 

Cabinet – 25 July 2013 
 

the pressure on the Housing Needs budget overall to £61k.  The increase in demand is 
expected to continue in 2013/14 given the anticipated impact of welfare reforms.  Mitigating 
the potential pressure, especially in bed and breakfast, will at least in part depend on the 
ability to procure temporary accommodation properties.  

Housing Revenue Account: £5,127k underspend (£1,598k adverse) 

32. The Housing Revenue Account (HRA) had an in-year outturn underspend of £5,127k as 
shown in the table below. Despite a headline adverse movement of £1,598k compared to 
Month 11, the underlying position improved by £1,902k. However this has been offset by an 
additional contribution towards debt repayment of £3.5m, which effectively reduces the overall 
HRA debt by this same amount. The service delivered an MTFF saving of £229k.  These 
savings reflect changes in the delivery of the service consistent with the BID programme 
enabling the service to deliver to the same level of quality as before. 

Services   

Final 
Budget 
(£000s) 

Actual 
Outturn 
(£000s) 

% Var 
of 

budget 

Outturn 
Variance  
(£000s) 

Variance 
(As at 

Month 11) 
(£000s) 

Change 
from 

Month 11 
(£000s) 

Housing Maintenance  Exp 27,639 22,836 -17% -4,803 -3,990 -813 
Housing Management  Exp 34,543 35,583 3% 1,040 -1,639 +2,679 
Rent & Other Income   Inc -63,855 -65,219 -2% -1,364 -1,096 -268 
In Year (Surplus) / Deficit    Total -1,673 -6,800   -5,127 -6,725 +1,598 

 

33. There was an outturn underspend on the housing maintenance budget of £4,803k, a 
favourable movement of £813k compared to Month 11.  The main items for the overall 
underspend related to slippage on several of the works to stock programmes, including the 
window replacement programme, adaptations on Council properties and the lift programme. 
This slippage has arisen mainly as a result of a major procurement review within this area to 
ensure that contracts provide maximum value to the Council. 

34. The outturn position for the housing management budget has been affected by the 
contribution towards debt repayment, offsetting an underlying favourable position to show a 
net adverse variance of £1,040k. The debt contribution will have long-term favourable impacts 
through reducing overall debt, which both improves the overall HRA borrowing capacity by the 
same amount, and reduces the ongoing debt costs. The overall underspend reflect savings 
from closure of outlying HRA offices, reduced insurance costs, and improvement in bad debt 
provisions. 

35. The income budget has an overall favourable outturn variance of £1,364k, an improvement of 
£268k compared to Month 11.  Within the context of an overall income budget of £63.8 million 
this overall variance amounts to just over 2%. 

ICT Highways & Business Services: £214k underspend (£211k improvement) 

36. There is an outturn pressure of £345k on maintenance budgets for day to day repairs for both 
the Civic Centre and outstations around the borough, an adverse movement of £195k 
compared to Month 11 reflecting continued maintenance requirements across the Council 
estate and that these works were not part of the capital programme. 

37. A restructure of the Facilities Management service delivered a £41k saving this financial year, 
which has a full year effect feeding into the budgeted savings for 2013/14. 

38. There was an outturn underspend of £29k on postage costs, reflecting work across the 
Council to reduce the use of external mail services. 

Page 288



 

Cabinet – 25 July 2013 
 

39. The significant risks around the outdoor advertising income target meant that it was flagged as 
‘red’ in the savings tracker, with a pressure against the overall target of £100k, no change 
compared to Month 11. 

40. The fleet management service was in a transitional position as the vehicle replacement 
programme took effect.  The outturn position was a net overspend of £39k, an improvement of 
£67k compared to Month 11. The service has actively been managing down maintenance 
costs as older vehicles are replaced.  However in this interim period there were pressures on 
contract hire and leased vehicles due to short-term arrangements being put in place while 
replacement vehicles were procured 

41. There is an underspend on salaries budgets across the division of £79k, due to posts being 
held vacant pending further restructures, as part of the ongoing BID work. 

42. There was also an underspend of £45k on Ordnance Survey mapping charges which have 
been covered this financial year directly by the Government, an improvement of £5k 
compared to Month 11. 

43. In the highways and street scene services, income from the London Common Permit Scheme 
exceeded the target set by £369k, an improvement of £234k compared to Month 11 due to a 
reduction in the level of income that should be carried forward.  There was an outturn 
underspend of £25k on winter maintenance and £69k on street lighting. The latter mainly due 
to energy credits received during the year.  There was also reduced turnover of £306k on 
signage and contractual items recharged to capital projects and externally funded schemes 
due to the rephasing of these programmes. 

Planning Sport & Green Spaces: £40k underspend (£65k adverse) 

44. The outturn position for Development Control income was an excess over the income target of 
£198k.  The position this year was significantly boosted by one-off Council-led applications for 
school expansions through the Primary Schools Capital Programme. 

45. Pre-application advice income from developers showed an outturn pressure of £43k, reflecting 
continuing weak demand for major applications other than for very large sites where the trend 
is towards funding this advice through planning performance agreements (gift funding).  £168k 
of gift funding was used during the year, and was fully committed to the additional temporary 
staff engaged by the service to deliver these agreements. 

46. The outturn pressure on building control was £80k, driven by the budgeted over-recovery of 
fee income compared to the costs of processing building control applications under the cost 
recovery model, which is ringfenced to the service. 

47. There was an outturn underspend of £45k on centrally held leisure budgets for consultancy 
and clothing. These were included in the budgeted savings for 2013/14 arising from the 
review of discretionary budgets. 

48. There was an outturn overspend of £80k on green spaces, reflecting contract costs during the 
interim period up to the establishment of the in-house grounds maintenance service from 
January 2013. 

Page 289



 

Cabinet – 25 July 2013 
 

Public Safety & Environment: £27k overspend (£37k adverse) 
 
49. There was an outturn shortfall of £177k on off-street parking income which is attributable to 
Cedars and Grainges multi-storey car parks in Uxbridge town centre.   

50. The Parking Revenue Account had an in-year overspend of £28k, due to pressures on income 
from Penalty Charges Notices, an improvement of £117k compared to Month 11, due to the 
continuing impact of tight controls over expenditure. 

51. There was a staffing underspend of £165k in Technical Administration and Business Support, 
an improvement of £75k compared to Month 11, as the impact of restructuring in these 
support services took effect.  In addition, there was an underspend across the division of £67k 
on training, printing and stationery costs that are also included in budgeted savings for 
2013/14. 

52. Waste Services had an £80k net outturn underspend.  There was a pressure of £47k on the 
New Years Green Lane Civic Amenity site as a result of the refurbishment works, whilst Trade 
Waste and Grafitti services returned underspends of £98k and £29k respectively to offset this 
pressure. 

53. Within the Public Protection service there was a staffing pressure of £46k reflecting delays in 
delivering the savings from the risk-based assessment project. There was a net pressure of 
£144k on the imported food service.  Income targets for this service were exceeded by £77k, 
mainly due to strong imports of seasonal fruit and vegetables, however the costs of testing 
these products was overspent by £221k, with a significant acceleration of costs towards the 
end of the financial year due to changes in the sampling requirements specified by the 
European Union for these products.  If this continues into the new year there could be 
continuing challenges in meeting the financial targets set for the service.  Elsewhere in the 
service Licensing income exceeded the income targets set by £33k and during the year 
responsibility for the Health Control Unit was passed to the Health Protection Agency resulting 
in reduced externally funded expenditure of £1,695k. 

54. There was a net shortfall of income compared to expenditure of £34k on the environmental 
enforcement pilot project, mainly due to contractual issues, offset by a £29k underspend on 
staffing budgets within the Community Safety service. 

Transportation Planning Policy and Community Engagement: £65k underspend (£15k 
improvement) 

55. The service had a £60k favourable outturn position due to the impact of vacant posts across 
the service.  This included the part-year effect of the restructure of the town centres and 
community engagement teams into a single team. 

 

Page 290



 

Cabinet – 25 July 2013 
 

Social Care and Health Services 

Revenue: £344k overspend (£125k adverse) 

1. Social Care & Health are reporting a net overspend of £344k (£125k adverse movement) after 
drawdown from contingency, which includes provision of £375k towards redundancy costs 
potentially arising from changes in the structure and delivery of services.  The position 
contains significant pressures due to delays in the Supported Housing build programme, 
which have been covered during the current year by early delivery of 2013/14 savings. 

2. The net pressure in Adult services of £1,388k (prior to £500k of contingency being applied) is 
primarily due to slippage in the Supported Housing programme which has been estimated at 
£1,500k and resulted in clients not being able to move from Residential placements to 
supported living placements. This has been offset by strong management controls across the 
whole service. 

2012/13 
(As at Outturn) Variances (+ adv/- fav) 

Services 

  

Final 
Revised 
Budget 
£'000 

Forecast 
£'000 

% Var 
of 

budget 
Variance 
(As at 

Outturn) 
£'000 

Variance 
(As at 

Month 11) 
£000 

Change 
from 

Month 11 
£000 

Children & Families  Exp +30,938 +30,584 -1% -354 -351 -3 
Services Inc -3,381 -3,254 -4% +127 +275 -149 

  Total +27,557 +27,330 -1% -227 -76 -151 

Asylum Services  Exp +8,061 +8,061 0% -0 +0 -0 
  Inc -6,715 -6,715 0% +0 +0 +0 

  Total +1,345 +1,345 0% +0 +0 -0 

Older Peoples Services  Exp +33,589 +35,317 5% +1,728 +1,613 +115 
  Inc -7,677 -9,193 20% -1,516 -1,426 -91 

  Total +25,913 +26,124 1% +212 +188 +24 

Physical & Sensory  Exp +8,475 +9,125 8% +649 +679 -29 

Disability Services  Inc -587 -812 38% -225 -225 +0 

  Total +7,888 +8,313 5% +425 +454 -29 

Learning Disability  Exp +27,946 +28,900 3% +954 +842 +112 
Services Inc -4,036 -4,165 3% -130 -98 -31 

  Total +23,910 +24,734 3% +824 +743 +81 

Mental Health Services  Exp +5,860 +5,468 -7% -391 -303 -88 
  Inc -394 -364 -8% +30 -25 +55 

  Total +5,466 +5,105 -7% -361 -328 -33 

SCH&H Other Services  Exp +7,778 +9,008 16% +1,230 +1,273 -42 
  Inc -1,332 -3,466 160% -2,133 -2,129 -5 

  Total +6,446 +5,542 -14% -903 -856 -47 

Total Expenditure    +122,646 +126,462 24% +3,816 +3,752 +64 
Total Income    -24,121 -27,969 210% -3,847 -3,627 -221 
SC&H Sub Total    +98,525 +98,494 -12% -31 +125 -157 

 Redundancy Provision    0 +375 n/a +375 0 +375 

 SC&H Total    +98,525 +98,869 0% +344 +125 +218 

3. The draft outturn assumes the draw down of contingency as shown in the table immediately 
below. 

 
Page 291



 

Cabinet – 25 July 2013 
 

Division of Service 

Gross 
Pressure 
Outturn Contingency 

Net 
Pressure 

Current Commitments:    

 Asylum Funding Shortfall  +1,190 +1,449 -259 

 Social Care Pressures (Children's)  +165 +165 0 

 Social Care Pressures (Adults)  +6,171 +6,171 0 

 Increase in Transitional Children due to Demographic Changes  +2,742 +2,742 0 

 Potential shortfall in reablement, LD & PD savings targets  +500 +500 0 

Original Contingency Allocation +10,768 +11,027 -259 

Approved Allocations:       

 Social Care Pressures (Children's)   -140   

Remaining Contingency Allocation   +10,887   

4. The call down on contingency is £326k less than the previous forecast of £67k due to a 
favourable movement in the provision for Asylum; the reasons for which are reported below. 

MTFF Savings 

5. The group has delivered savings of £6,125k (83%) against the target of £7,397k. The shortfall 
of £1,272k results from the BID children's services business support review (£255k), review of 
LD Day Services (£311k), and Supported Housing (referred to below). With these exceptions 
the remainder of the programme has been delivered representing major changes in service 
delivery for the group. 

6. The Supported Housing capital programme has for a number of reasons slipped from its 
original timetable; the revenue impact of this slippage in 2012/13 has been estimated at 
£1.5m (£803k 2011/12 savings and £706k 2012/13 savings). The MTFF did allow for £0.5m 
contingency for Social Care demographics and this has been allocated to Learning Disability 
where the pressure is greatest. 

Children Services: £227k favourable (£151k favourable) 

7. The favourable outturn position of £227k on a gross budget for this service of £30.9m.is due 
primarily to the difficulties the service is currently experiencing with recruitment to Children 
services. Although the staffing budget was underspent by £485k this has been offset primarily 
by additional legal costs (£124k) and pressures relating to looked after children (£65k). The 
favourable movement from the Month 11 position is due to a favourable movement in the 
staffing forecast of £160k due to a reduction in agency staff coupled with start dates for 
permanent staff being later than originally forecast. 

8. The service includes an MTFF saving target of £1,968k which has been delivered; the 
£1,673k placements saving being the most significant. The MTFF savings strategy from April 
2011 is to retain, recruit and increase the number of in-house Foster placements thereby 
reducing reliance on the independent foster agencies (IFA). This has been very successful to 
date resulting in the proportion of IFA’s reducing from 63% to 49%. Since this strategy started 
there has been a net increase in the number of in-house foster families from 74 to 81 enabling 
the proportion of placements with in-house foster parents to also increase from 37% to 51%. It 
is this successful approach which has enabled the service to reduce the spend on IFA’s 
from £6,713k in 2010/11 to £4,508k in 2012/13, thus contributing towards £1,988k saving 
target. 

Page 292



 

Cabinet – 25 July 2013 
 

Asylum: Nil Variance (no change) 

9. An adverse pressure on contingency had been flagged in previous Cabinet reports of £67k 
based on analysis of the Q1 and Q2 claims to UKBA which showed a higher rate of rejection 
than experienced previously. The forecast assumed this would be repeated for Q3 and Q4. In 
the event these two claims were more favourable than anticipated and resulted in additional 
UKBA grant income of £140k over that previously forecast. In line with mainstream children 
services the staffing forecast has reduced by £115k as the service has also experienced 
difficulties in recruitment. There has also been a £70k favourable movement in 
accommodation costs. 

10. The Department is in ongoing discussion with UKBA on specific LBH matters with regard to 
the funding shortfall. As a result representations have been made to the UKBA regarding the 
ongoing financial support LBH receive from the ‘Gateway’ grant. In addition the council has 
been engaging with the three other most affected councils to lobby the UKBA on areas of joint 
interest. As a result Officers from the four most affected councils have met with UKBA officials 
regarding a replacement ‘Gateway’ agreement; the current agreement finishes on 31st March 
2014. 

Older People Services: £212k adverse (£24k adverse) 

11. There has been no material movement from the Month 11 forecast on a gross budget for this 
service of £33.6m which has delivered the MTFF saving of £1,985k. The gross budget for 
placements and community support services is £26.4m. 

12. The adverse outturn position of £212k is primarily due to a £277k pressure in community 
services which support people to live in their own homes.  

13. There continues to be robust management scrutiny of residential and nursing placement 
requests and full application of the benefits of the TeleCareLine service and Reablement. 
These actions have been instrumental in enabling the total number of new placements in 
2012/13 reducing to 310 compared with 505 in the previous year. As a result the number of 
Older People Care placements at the end of March is 490 compared with 639 at April 2011.  

Physical Disabilities: £425k adverse (£29k favourable) 

14. There has been no material movement from the Month 11 forecast on a gross budget for this 
service of £8.5m which has delivered an MTFF saving of £442k against the target of £517k. 
The £75k slippage is due to the reasons outlined under MTFF Savings above. The gross 
budget for placements and community support services is £7,128k. The forecast for the 
remainder of this service is currently on budget.  

15. The adverse outturn position of £425k is due to the increase in demand for services for people 
with complex long term conditions and unavailability of supported accommodation. The 
2012/13 budget was based on an estimated need to provide 2,094 placement weeks but due 
to the build programme slippage the service needed to provide for 3,275 placement weeks. 
This additional pressure was offset by an underspend on community services resulting in a 
net pressure of £389k across this part of the service. 

Learning Disability: £824k adverse (£81k adverse) 

16. The adverse outturn position of £824k on a gross budget for this service of £27.9m assumes 
that £500k can be drawn down from the Contingency held for this purpose mitigating the 
pressure from £1,324k to £824k as reported. 

Page 293



 

Cabinet – 25 July 2013 
 

17. This adverse outturn is due to the delays in the Supported Housing programme (£942k) for 
the reasons outlined under MTFF Savings above, coupled with delays in reproviding day 
service provision (£475k) due to the Judicial Review challenge which has now been 
successfully resolved. The gross budget for placements and community support services is 
£24,696k. The 2012/13 budget was based on an estimated need to provide 10,454 placement 
weeks but due to the slippage the service needed to provide for 11,984 placement weeks. 
This additional pressure was offset by an underspend on community services resulting in a 
net pressure of £630k across this part of the service. 

18. There has been a £81k adverse movement from the Month 11 forecast due to a number of 
small movements across various budgets. 

Mental Health: £361k favourable (£33k favourable) 

19. The favourable outturn position of £361k on a gross budget for this service of £5.9m.is due to 
the successful partnership work with the Central & North West London Trust (CNWL). 
Through this partnership approach and within a joint placements efficiency project the service 
has delivered £339k savings in 2012/13; the full year effect of £370k has been factored into 
revenue budgets from 2013/14. 

20. There has been no material movement from the Month 11 forecast on a gross budget for this 
service of £5.9m which has delivered the MTFF saving of £500k. The gross budget for 
placements and community support services is £3,038k. 

SC&H Other Services: £903k favourable (£47k favourable) 

21. The favourable outturn position of £903k on a gross budget of £7.8m is primarily due to 
successful renegotiation of contracts relating to the delivery of housing related support 
(£720k).  TeleCareLine service has fully delivered its objectives and satisfied all assessed 
need the outcome has resulted in less equipment (£182k) being required than was expected. 

22. There has been no material movement from the Month 11 forecast on a gross budget for this 
service of £7.8m which has delivered the MTFF saving of £1,465k. 

Page 294



 

Cabinet – 25 July 2013 
 

APPENDIX B – Annual Treasury Report 2012/13 

 
1. Summary 
 
This report summaries the Council’s treasury management activities during 2012/13 and presents 
details of capital financing, borrowing, debt management and investment transactions alongside an 
outturn position. 
 
During the year the imbalance between the rates paid on investments and borrowing remained, 
leading to a continued cost of carry for any funds borrowed but not drawn upon. As a result the 
Council maintained a policy of utilising internal balances and no new borrowing was taken to fund 
capital expenditure. The Council’s loan portfolio has one of the lowest average rates in London at 
3.0%, whilst the sustained downward pressure on gilt yields made the premature repayment of debt 
cost prohibitive. The portfolio was reduced by £10.3m with debt that matured naturally leaving a 
balance at year end of £346.5m. (General Fund £93.4m, HRA £253.1m). With interest rates 
remaining low the strategy of holding a proportion of variable rate debt proved successful as a 
hedge against the fixed element. The total interest paid over the year totalled £10.5m (GF £3.1m, 
HRA £7.4m) 
  
Economic growth continued to prove illusive leading the Bank of England to hold base rate fast at 
0.5%. Further government stimulus packages such as the Funding for Lending Scheme were 
introduced to increase liquidity but also a contributory cause for short term money market rates 
remaining very low. This subdued investment income with returns for the year yielding just 0.66% 
(0.85% 2011/12). However, by incorporating a mix of short and longer term deposits, interest 
income totalled £774k (£815k in 2011/12). This favourable outturn was largely due to maintaining 
high balances as a result of rephasing within the Capital Programme and higher than expected 
capital receipts.   
 
At the start of the financial year there were unpaid deposits with Icelandic banks; Heritable (£4.8m) 
and Landsbanki (£3.5m). The administrators of Heritable issued dividends during the year totalling 
£1.4m leaving a balance of £3.4m. Total dividends received for Heritable now equate to 77% of the 
claim value. The administrators of Landsbanki issued a dividend this year totalling £0.9m, which is 
18% of the claim value, leaving a balance outstanding of £2.6m at the end of March.  
 
Careful treasury and cashflow management resulted in no breaches of Prudential Indicators during 
the period. The Council also complied with the balanced budget requirement set before the start of 
the year. 
 
 
 

Page 295



 

Cabinet – 25 July 2013 
 

2. The Borrowing Requirement and Debt Management  
 

 

Balance on 
31/3/2012 
£m 

New 
Borrowing 
£m 

Debt 
Maturing 
£m 

Debt 
Prematurely 
Repaid £m 

Balance on 
31/3/2013  
£m 

Average 
Rate % 

CFR  417.96    408.00  
GF Loans       
PWLB Fixed 
Rate Maturity  54.60 - 3.00 - 51.60 3.66 

PWLB Fixed 
Rate EIP 18.61 - 2.28  16.33 3.10 

Market Fixed 
Rate 15.00 - - - 15.00 4.28 

PWLB Variable 
Rate EIP  12.00 - 1.50 - 10.50 0.75 

Temporary 
Borrowing 0.00 - - - 0.00 0.00 

Total GF Loans 100.21 0.00 6.78 0.00 93.43 3.28 
       
HRA Loans       
PWLB Fixed 
Rate Maturity  98.57 - - - 98.57 3.56 

PWLB Fixed 
Rate EIP 85.00 - 3.50 - 81.50 2.75 

Market Fixed 
Rate 33.00 - - - 33.00 4.03 

PWLB Variable 
Rate Maturity 40.00 - - - 40.00 0.62 

PWLB Variable 
Rate EIP  0.00 - - - 0.00 0.00 

Temporary 
Borrowing 0.00 - - - 0.00 0.00 

Total HRA 
Loans 256.57 0.00 3.50 0.00 253.07 2.89 

Total Loans 356.78 0.00 10.28 0.00 346.50 3.00 
Other Long Term 
Liabilities 3.12  0.49  2.63  

Total External 
Debt 359.90  10.77  349.13  

 
The Council’s underlying need to borrow is measured by the Capital Financing Requirement 
(CFR) which, as at 31/3/2013, was £408m (31/3/2012 £417m). The Council’s borrowing 
requirement (the difference between the CFR and total physical borrowing) was £58.5m. This 
amount represents the level of internal borrowing, primarily supported by the Council’s own 
reserves. 
 
Following the introduction of the Localism Act 2011 the London Borough of Hillingdon was 
required to borrow £191.6m to finance the HRA Housing Reform Settlement in March 2012. A 
broad portfolio containing both Maturity and EIP loans were taken with variable and fixed rates 
and with varying maturities. The average rate payable on this tranche of borrowing in 2012/13 
was 2.47% with £40m of variable rate loans at a rate between 0.54% and 0.62%. In addition, 
£3.5m of principal was repaid with another £7.7m set aside for future principal repayment or 
towards financing future capital schemes. 

Page 296



 

Cabinet – 25 July 2013 
 

This, coupled with unusually low capital spend in 2012/13 within the HRA resulted in its CFR 
falling by £10.8m. Under the current borrowing cap regime this amount represents additional 
available headroom for potential borrowing. The borrowing capacity of the HRA is now £57m 
before the cap is breached. 
  
The Council has £48m of market loans, which are LOBO loans (Lender’s Options Borrower’s 
Option) of which £8m of loans were in their option state in 2012/13. During the year the lenders of 
these loans did not exercise any call options and therefore the loans remain outstanding on the 
same terms.  
 
By using internal resources in lieu of borrowing, loan interest costs for the year totalled £10.5m, 
avoiding interest costs of £1.755m that would have been incurred otherwise.  
 
3. Investment Activity  
 
The table below shows investment balances on 31st March 2013, which historically tends to be 
the lowest level of balances during the financial year due to lower Council Tax and NNDR 
receipts during March. 
 

Investments 
 

Balance on 
31/3/2012 
£m 

Balance on 
31/03/2013  
£m 

Call Accounts 0.00 30.70 
Money Market Funds 26.20 30.10 
Short Term Investments  45.00 25.60 
Long Term Investments 0.00 0.00 
Investment Default 8.50 6.00 
Total Investments 79.70 92.40 
Average Rate 0.85% 0.66% 

 
Security of capital remained the Council’s chief investment objective. This was maintained by 
following the Council’s counterparty policy as set out in its Treasury Management Strategy 
Statement for 2012/13. Investments during the year included deposits with the Debt Management 
Office, Local Authorities, investments in AAA-rated Constant Net Asset Value Money Market 
Funds and deposits, both instant access and fixed term with Banks and Building Societies 
systematically important to the UK banking system. 
 
Credit Risk: Counterparty credit quality was assessed and monitored with reference to credit 
ratings (Council’s minimum long-term counterparty rating of A- across all three rating agencies, 
Fitch, Standard & Poor’s and Moody’s). However reliance does not rest solely with theses 
agencies and are supplemented by use of market/economic information, media updates and 
intelligence from the Council’s Treasury Advisors.   
 
Liquidity: In keeping with CLG’s Guidance on Investments, the Council maintained a sufficient 
level of liquidity through the use of Money Market Funds, overnight deposits and the use of call 
accounts.   
 
Yield: The Council sought to optimise returns commensurate with its objectives of security and 
liquidity. The UK Bank Rate was maintained at 0.5% through the year with short term money 
market rates also remaining at very low levels. Most short-term money was placed in instant 
access accounts as these were achieving higher rates of interest than those offered on short 
fixed term deposits of up to three months. A small proportion of longer dated deposits were 
placed to enhance income in a low interest rate environment. The two approaches resulted in an 
average return on Investments of 0.66% 

Page 297



 

Cabinet – 25 July 2013 
 

 
All investments made during the year complied with the Council’s agreed Treasury Management 
Strategy, Prudential Indicators, Treasury Management Practices and prescribed limits. Maturing 
investments were repaid to the Council in full and in a timely manner.  
 
Update on deposits with Icelandic Banks   
 
At the beginning of 2012/13 the Council had unpaid deposits of £4.8m with Heritable Bank and 
£3.5m with Landsbanki Islands. During the year three dividends were received from the 
administrators of Heritable; 3.79% in April, 2.85% in July, 2.72% in January, totalling £1.4m. Total 
dividends received for Heritable at the end of March equated to 77% of the claim value and 
predictions of an 88% recovery rate still remain the best estimate, although there are significant 
prospects of this figure being revised upwards. 
 
For Landsbanki, creditors lost their appeal and the Icelandic courts have upheld the original 
decision to award priority status to Local Authorities and the expected recovery rate for Local 
Authorities is now 100%. During the year Landsbanki issued dividends totalling £0.91m, 
representing 18% of the claim value. In addition to this first distribution 6,962k of Icelandic Krona 
(ISK) is being held in an Icelandic escrow account. As there are currently controls on the 
distribution of ISK, the funds will remain in this account until the winding up board has obtained 
permission from the Central Bank of Iceland (CBI) to pay the money to Creditors. The Local 
Authorities’ Steering Committee and Bevan Britten are negotiating with CBI to release funds. 
 
4. Compliance with the Prudential Code and Prudential Indicators 
 
The Local Government Act 2003 gave freedoms to Local Authorities to borrow subject to macro 
economic considerations however, only on condition that compliance with the Prudential Code is 
observed. The code developed a series of ‘prudential indicators’ (Appendix 1) that were designed 
to provide greater information to the council tax payer and the rent payer on the impact of any 
borrowing decisions taken.  
 
The main objectives of the prudential code are to demonstrate affordability of the authority’s 
capital expenditure plans and ensure prudent external borrowing levels, which are sustainable in 
the future. It also verifies that treasury management decisions are taken in accordance with best 
professional practice.  
 
The Council can confirm that it has complied with its Prudential Indicators for 2012/13, set in 
February 2012 as part of the Council’s Treasury Management Strategy Statement.  The levels of 
debt were measured on an ongoing basis during the year for compliance with the Authorised 
Limit of £492m and the Operational Boundary of £462m, the former being somewhat higher to 
allow for fluctuations in cash-flow.  The Council maintained its total external borrowing and other 
long-term liabilities within both limits; at its peak this figure was £356.78m. 
 
Upper Limits for Interest Rate Exposure:    
  

 Estimated % Actual % 
Upper Limit for Fixed Rate exposure 100 100.00 
Upper Limit for Variable Rate exposure 50 (55.47) 

 
The negative variable rate exposure shown above is the result of a having more variable rate 
investments compared to variable rate loans.  
 
 
 

Page 298



 

Cabinet – 25 July 2013 
 

 
Maturity Structure of Fixed Rate borrowing:  

 
For 2012/13 the total principal sums invested for periods longer than 364 days was set at £50m 
and during the year there were no fixed term deposits placed for >364 days. 
      
Non-treasury related Prudential Indicators are included in Appendix 1.  
 
5. Balanced Budget 
 
The Council complied with the Balanced Budget requirement. 
 
6. Training 
 
As part of the Council’s continuous performance and development programmes, officers received 
treasury management training by attending workshops and seminars provided by CIPFA and the 
Council’s treasury advisers Arlingclose. 

 

 
Upper 
limit 
% 

Lower 
limit 
% 

Actual 
Borrowing as at 
  31/3/2013 (£m) 

Percentage 
of total as at  
31/3/2013 

under 12 months  25 0 10.28 2.97%
12 months and within 24 months 25 0 9.28 2.68%
24 months and within 5 years 50 0 36.83 10.63%
5 years and within 10 years 75 0 105.44 30.43%
10 years and within 20 years 100 0 54.00 15.58%
20 years and within 30 years 100 0 54.07 15.60%
30 years and within 40 years 100 0 0.0 0.0%
40 years and within 50 years 100 0 28.60 8.25%
50 years and above 100 0 48.00 13.86%

Page 299



 

Cabinet – 25 July 2013 
 

Appendix 1  
Non Treasury Prudential Indicators 2012/13 
 

1 Estimated and Actual Capital Expenditure  
Prudential Indicator 2012/13 2012/13 
Capital Expenditure Estimated £m Outturn £m 
Non-HRA 87.3 43.7 
HRA 17.9 5.2 
Total 105.2 48.9 

 
2 Estimated and Actual Ratio of Financing Costs to Net Revenue Stream 

Prudential Indicator 2012/13 2012/13 
Ratio of Financing Costs 
to Net Revenue Stream Estimated % Outturn % 

Non-HRA 4.00% 3.66% 
HRA 15.23% 26.08% 
Total 9.07% 8.34% 

 
3 Capital Financing Requirement  

Prudential Indicator Estimated (£m) Outturn (£m) 

CFR 31/03/12 31/03/12 
Non-HRA 191.2 163.1 
HRA 268.0 245.3 
Total 429.7 408.4 

 
 The Council had no difficulty meeting its CFR in 2012/13. On both General Fund & 

Housing Revenue Account there has been significant rephasing of projects to be funded 
from borrowing into 2013/14, accounting for the reduction in capital expenditure & CFR for 
2012/13. 

 
4 Actual External Debt 

Actual External Debt as at 31/03/2013 £m 
Borrowing 346.50 
Other Long-term Liabilities 2.63 
Total 349.13 

 
5 Incremental Impact of Capital Investment Decisions 

Incremental Impact of Capital Investment 
Decisions 2012/13 (£) 

Increase in Band D Council tax 9.35 
Increase in average weekly housing rents 0.00 

  
 Capital investment decisions do not impact on the weekly housing rents as the Council 

sets its housing rents in line with the policy laid down by CLG. Any increases in borrowing 
costs will be contained within existing HRA budgets. 

 
 There was no increase in Hillingdon’s Council Tax for 2012/13, with any additional 

borrowing costs being supported through savings and efficiencies.  
 
 

Page 300



 
Cabinet – 25 July 2013 

COUNCIL BUDGET – MONTH 2 2013/14 REVENUE AND CAPITAL 
MONITORING 
 
Cabinet Member   Councillor Jonathan Bianco 
   
Cabinet Portfolio  Finance, Property and Business Services 
   
Report Author  Paul Whaymand, Corporate Director of Finance 
   

Papers with report  None 
 

HEADLINE INFORMATION 
 
Purpose of report 
 

 This report provides an update to Cabinet on the Council's 
latest financial position and performance against the 2013/14 
revenue budget and current capital programme, as forecast at 
the end of May 2013 (Month 2). 
 
An underspend of £24k is forecast against 2013/14 General 
Fund revenue budgets. 
 
The latest position on other funds and the capital programme 
is detailed within the body of this report. 

   
Contribution to our 
plans and strategies 

 Achieving value for money is an important element of the 
Council’s medium term financial plan. 

   
Financial Cost  N/A 
   
Relevant Policy 
Overview Committee 

 Corporate Services and Partnerships 

   
Ward(s) affected  All 
 
RECOMMENDATIONS 
 
That Cabinet: 
 
1. Note the forecast management budget position for revenue and capital as at 

Month 2. 
2. Note the treasury management update for Month 2 at Appendix E. 
3. Approves funding of the following from capital contingency budget: 
- Hayes Civic Hall Car Park scheme (£53k), and 
-  Libraries Refurbishment scheme (£99k). 

4. Continue the delegated authority up until the 26 September 2013 Cabinet meeting 
to the Chief Executive to approve any consultancy and agency assignments over 
£50k, with final sign-off of any assignments made by the Leader of the Council. 
Cabinet are also asked to note those consultancy and agency assignments over 
£50k approved under delegated authority between the 25 April and 25 July 2013 
Cabinet meetings, detailed at Appendix F. 

Agenda Item 10

Page 301



 
Cabinet – 25 July 2013 

5. Approve the allocation of £25k of High Street Innovation Fund grant to Residents 
Services revenue budget in 2013/14 to continue an existing project to support 
independent retailers up to March 2014. 

6. Approve the allocation of £787k of Weekly Collection Support Scheme grant to 
Residents Services revenue budget in 2013/14 to introduce a food waste 
collection service from October 2013. 

7. Note that the Council has with partners secured £450k of funding from Mayor’s 
Air Quality Fund, and approves the Council’s participation in the development of 
detailed proposals for the use of this funding. 

8. Approve the allocation of £25k of Getting Young People Working grant to 
Children’s & Young People Services revenue budget in 2013/14 to continue work 
with young unemployed people with behavioural difficulties to help them into 
work. 

9. Approve the submission of a funding bid into the Greater London Authority 
Pocket Parks programme. 

10. Approve the submission of a funding bid into the Sport England Community Sport 
Activation Fund, and delegate the final details of the bid to the Corporate Director 
of Residents Services to agree in consultation with the Cabinet Member for 
Community, Commerce and Regeneration. 

11. Approve the allocation of £56k of Food Standards Agency grant to Residents 
Services revenue budget in 2013/14 to undertake additional sampling of imported 
food products. 

12. Approve the allocation of £856k Adoption Reform Grant to the Children’s Social 
Care revenue budget 2013/14 to increase the number of Looked After Children 
adopted. Delegate the final decision over the allocation of the £856k to the 
Director of Children and Young People’s Services, in consultation with the Leader 
of the Council and the Cabinet Member for Education and Children’s Services. 

13. Approve the allocation of £100k of Social Housing Fraud Grant to Residents 
Services (HRA) revenue budget in 2013/14 to continue the existing work to reduce 
fraudulent use of Council Housing. 

14. Note that the Council has made a bid for Department of Communities and Local 
Government funding to tackle use of bed and breakfast accommodation to house 
homeless families. 

15. Ratify emergency contract and financial decisions made by the Chief Executive 
and Leader of the Council on 30 May 2013 in relation to the Ruislip 
Lido Enhancement Programme and Northwood Bowls Club refurbishment. 

16. Ratify an emergency contract decision made by the Chief Executive and Leader of 
the Council on 2 July 2013 in relation to the refurbishment works at Harlington 
Library. 

17. Authorise the Leader of the Council and Cabinet Member for Finance, Property 
and Business Services, in consultation with the relevant Corporate Director, to 
make all necessary decisions in respect of the utilisation of Priority Growth 
capital and revenue funds as required between Cabinet meetings. Such decisions 
to be reported to the next Cabinet meeting. 

18. Agree that during the intervening period between the 2013 July and September 
Cabinet meetings, to delegate full authority to the Leader of the Council, in 
conjunction with the relevant Cabinet Member(s) and Corporate Director(s), to 
make any policy, contractual or financial decision that would otherwise be 
reserved constitutionally to the Cabinet, if a delay would prejudice Council 
projects or service delivery. Such decisions to be reported to the next Cabinet 
meeting. 

 

Page 302



 
Cabinet – 25 July 2013 

 

INFORMATION 

Reasons for Recommendations 
 
1. The reason for the monitoring recommendation is to ensure that the Council achieves its 
budgetary objectives, providing Cabinet with an update on performance to date against 
budgets approved by Council on 14 February 2013 and management actions to deliver 
outturn within that approved budget. 

2. The treasury management update provides an update to Cabinet on Treasury 
Management performance during the previous month. 

3. Recommendation 3 - Hayes Civic Hall Car Park – contingency funding is required to 
fund a projected overspend of £53k due to an area of defective concrete slab which 
required repairing being significantly larger than originally tendered for. Libraries 
refurbishment – an additional £158k is required for asbestos work and roof repairs at 
Oak Farm library.  The unallocated libraries refurbishment budget will fund £59k towards 
this, however the remaining £99k is a cost pressure which requires funding from the 
corporate contingency 

4. Recommendation 5 - An existing project to fund support to independent retailers to 
maximise the visual impact of shop frontages in three town centres, funded from the 
Greater London Authority Outer London Fund and from LAA Reward Grant is currently 
contracted up to November 2013.  It is recommended to extend this contract to provide 
further support up to March 2014, funded from High Street Innovation Fund grant 
received in 2011/12. 

5. Recommendation 6 - In 2012/13 the Council has made a successful bid for DCLG 
funding from the Weekly Collection Support Scheme to introduce a weekly food waste 
collection service.  The proposal is to introduce this service in October 2013. 

6. Recommendation 7 - The Council has made successful bids into the Mayor of 
London’s Air Quality Fund for two projects promoting the use of electric vehicles and to 
monitor air quality along strategic transport corridors.  This is followed by a more 
detailed proposal stage at which point the final details of the actual award will be 
confirmed with Transport for London, which is due to be completed in the autumn of 
2013. 

7. Recommendation 8 - The Council has successfully applied for Greater London 
Authority Getting Young People Working grant to assist young people with behavioural 
difficulties not in education employment or training (NEET) to progress into further 
learning or apprenticeship opportunities, where these young people are outside the 
remit for support from existing programmes. 

8. Recommendation 9 - The  Greater London Authority Pocket Parks programme will be 
open for bids in July 2013, and it is recommended that the Council bid for funding 
following up on proposed projects developed for earlier funding rounds. 

9. Recommendation 10 - It is recommended that the Council makes a grant application 
for £240k over three years to Sport England's Community Sport Activation Fund.  If 
successful the grant will provide additional revenue funding that will further extend the 

Page 303



 
Cabinet – 25 July 2013 

range of sports activities available to adult residents for the next 2 or 3 years including 
extending the existing Back to Sport programme.   

10. Recommendation 11- The Council has successfully applied for funding from the Food 
Standards Agency to undertake additional sampling as part of the national co-ordinated 
risk-based food sampling programme 2013/14. 

11. Recommendation 12 - The grant will be used to reduce the delay for children waiting to 
be adopted by improving the number and range of adopters recruited and improve 
support to adopters on a ongoing basis. 

12. Recommendation 13 – The Council has made a successful bid for DCLG Social 
Housing Fraud grant to continue existing work and build on the results achieved so far in 
identifying unlawful sub-letting and recovery of Council housing for use by people with 
genuine housing needs.   

13. Recommendation 14 – On 28 June 2013 the Council submitted an application for 
£300k of funding support to support and develop innovative and sustainable solutions to 
the problems that are driving the use of bed and breakfast accommodation to house 
homeless families. The funding seeks to halt the rapid rise in the number of families in 
Hillingdon in bed and breakfast accommodation, and then reduce the numbers as 
quickly as possible. 

14. Recommendations 15 and 16 formally ratify recent emergency decisions taken as per 
the Constitution, due the absence of a Cabinet meeting. 

15. Recommendations 17 and 18 provide for continuity of top-level decision-making during 
the summer period, as required between Cabinet meetings, to make any necessary 
Cabinet level decisions in respect of the Council's finances, service or projects. Any 
decisions made under this delegation will be reported to the next Cabinet meeting.  

Alternative options considered 
 
16. There are no other options proposed for consideration. 

 

SUMMARY 

A) Revenue  

17. As at Month 2, the in year revenue monitoring position shows that forecast next 
expenditure for the year 2013/14 is £24k less than the budget.  The variance relating to 
Group budgets is an overspend of £2,476k which consists of an overspend in ASC of 
£675k, primarily relating to delays in the delivery of savings in Learning Disabilities 
following the Judicial Review of the closure of day centres and a pressure on Home 
Care services; an overspend in Residents Services of £1,032k reflecting the high 
demand led pressures being experienced on Housing Needs,  partially offset by an 
underspend on Education budgets; an overspend in Childrens & Families of £998k due 
to an increase in the number of looked after children; and an underspend in 
Administration & Finance of £229k, primarily from significant salary underspends in both 
Groups.  The overall adverse position is offset by an underspend of £2,500k in capital 

Page 304



 
Cabinet – 25 July 2013 

financing costs, set aside for the Primary Capital Programme, which will now not be 
required until the next financial year.   

18. Although a significant overspend on directorate operating budgets is currently forecast, 
all Groups are working up plans to ensure that they deliver an outturn within budget this 
year and do not rely on the capital financing underspend.  

19. The month 2 position also assumes that the £1,000k unallocated priority growth budget 
and the £800k HIP budget will be fully spent by the year end. Projected balances carried 
forward in the month 2 report are £30,274k an improvement of £24k on the figure of 
£30,250k included in the February 2013 budget report to Cabinet and Council.   

 
20. The reported position takes into account the delivery of £17,111k savings included in the 
2013/14 budget of which 53% are banked or on track for delivery. There are also 
savings brought forward from 2012/13 to be permanently identified of £1,979k of which 
54% are banked or on track for delivery.    

B) Capital  

21.  Forecast outturn on the 2013/14 General Fund Capital is £116,988k a variance of 
£267k on a revised budget of £116,722k after transferring £152k from the contingency 
budget to the main capital programme. 

22. Over the three-year period 2013 to 2016, an underspend of £4,108k is now reported on 
the General Fund Capital Programme made up of £4,375k relating to the corporate 
contingency budget offset by £267k on project overspends.  

23. General Fund capital receipts to be generated for 2013/14 are projected to be £8,801k 
as at month 2 of which £15k has been realised year to date.  This is £3,135k lower than 
the budget for 2013/14 but it is due to 2 receipts being delivered at the end of 2012/13 
rather than early in 2013/14.  An overall adverse variance of £3,667k for capital receipts 
is forecast over the next four years of the capital programme, 2013/14 to 2016/17.   

24. A net pressure of £777k is reported on the HRA capital programme over the period of 
2013 to 2016, which relates to variances on New Build projects. 

25. Full details of the Capital Programme are provided in Appendix D. 

  

 

 

  

Page 305



 
Cabinet – 25 July 2013 

FURTHER INFORMATION 

A) General Fund Revenue Budget 

26. As at month 2, General Fund revenue expenditure is forecasting a slight underspend of 
£24k.  Directorate operating budgets are forecasting a £2,476k pressure which is offset 
by an underspend on corporate operating budgets.  The budget for development and 
risk contingency contains an additional £489k carried forward from 2012/13 and the 
unallocated contingency provision should be sufficient to cover emerging in year 
pressures.  At this stage Priority growth is forecast to be required in full.  As a result 
balances as at 31 March 2014 are projected to be £30,274k. 

Table 1: General Fund Overview  

Month 2 Variance (+ adv / - fav) 
Original 
Budget 

Budget 
Changes Revised 

Budget 
Forecast 
Outturn 

Variance 
(As at 

Month 2) 

Variance 
(As at 

Month 1) 

Movement 
from 

Month 1 

£'000 £'000 

  

£'000 £'000 

% 
Var 

£'000 £'000 £'000 

165,738 (156) Directorate Operating Budgets 165,582 168,058 1% 2,476 0 2,476 

20,738 156 Corporate Operating Budgets 20,894 18,394 -
12% (2,500) 0 (2,500) 

22,883 489 Development & Risk Contingency 23,372 23,372 0% 0 0 0 

1,800 0 Priority Growth 1,800 1,800 0% 0 0 0 

211,159 489 Sub-total Normal 
Activities 211,648 211,624 0% (24) 0 (24) 

    Exceptional items:            

211,159 0 Total Net 
Expenditure 211,648 211,135 0% (24) 0 (24) 

(211,159) (489) Budget Requirement (211,648) (211,159)   0 0 0 

0 0 Net Total 0 (24)   (24) 0 (24) 

(30,250) 0 Balances b/fwd 01/04/13 (30,250) (30,250)   0 0 0 

(30,250) 0 Balances c/fwd 
01/14/13 (30,250) (30,274)   (24) 0 (24) 

 
27. At this early stage of the year there are significant pressures emerging within service 
budgets and an overview of these are given in the following paragraphs whilst the 
detailed explanations are contained within Appendix A.   There are particular pressures 
temporary accommodation, in Looked after Children and in special educational needs, 
both for places and transport.  Close scrutiny of all these issues is being undertaken to 
analyse possible links with welfare reforms, as well as work on mitigating strategies. 

Page 306



 
Cabinet – 25 July 2013 

Directorate Operating Budgets (£2,476k pressure) 

28. Table 2 below provides an overview of forecast outturn on directorate operating 
budgets, excluding those items managed through contingency.  Further detail on group 
positions is set out in Appendix A to this report. 

Table 2: Directorate Operating Budgets  

Month 2 Variance (+ adv / - fav) 
Original 
Budget 

Budget 
Changes Revised 

Budget 
Forecast 
Outturn 

Variance 
(As at 

Month 2) 

Variance 
(As at 

Month 1) 

Movement 
from 

Month 1 

£'000 £'000 

Directorate 

£'000 £'000 

% 
Var 

£'000 £'000 £'000 

197,598 265 Expenditure 197,863 197,622 0% (241) 0 (241) 

(174,923) (275) Income (175,198) (175,186) 0% 12 0 12 

22,675 (10) 

Admin. & 
Finance 

Sub-Total 22,665 22,436 -
1% (229) 0 (229) 

136,323 145 Expenditure 136,468 139,686 2% 3,218 0 3,218 

(71,997) (237) Income (72,234) (74,420) 3% (2,186) 0 (2,186) 
64,326 (92) 

Residents 
Services 

Sub-Total 64,234 65,266 2% 1,032 0 1,032 

31,099 0 Expenditure 31,099 32,677 5% 1,578 0 1,578 

(7,855) 0 Income (7,855) (8,435) 7% (580) 0 (580) 

23,244 0 

Children’s 
Social 
Care 

Sub-Total 23,244 24,242 4% 998 0 998 

72,393 (54) Expenditure 72,339 73,932 2% 1,593 0 1,593 

(16,900) 0 Income (16,900) (17,818) 5% (918) 0 (918) 
55,493 (54) 

Adult 
Social 
Care 

Sub-Total 55,439 56,114 1% 675 0 675 

165,738 (156) Total Directorate 
Operating Budgets 165,582 168,058 1% 2,476 0 2,476 

 
29. An underspend of £229k is forecast on Administration and Finance primarily due to 
significant salary underspends  as a result of vacant posts in both Groups following  
restructures in several services.   

30. A pressure of £1,032k is forecast for Residents Services, primarily as a result of 
exceptional demand-led pressures being experienced at present on Housing Needs.  In 
addition, demographic pressures on special needs transports budgets are impacting on 
the corporate contingency budgets and special needs placements are impacting on the 
schools budget. 

31. A pressure of £998k is forecast in Children Social Care Service is primarily due to an 
increase in demand for Looked after Children placements above the numbers forecast 
for the approved budget 2013/14. 

32. A pressure of £675k in Adults Social Care Services primarily results the delays in 
implementation of the Day Centre reconfiguration as a result of the Judicial Review and 
from an increase in demand on Learning Disability services.   

 

Page 307



 
Cabinet – 25 July 2013 

Progress on Savings 

33. An update on the 2013/14 savings programme is set out in table 3 below. In cases 
where slippage is reported in delivery of savings, the impact upon directorate budgets 
has been included in the forecast outturn position in table 2. 

Table 3: Month 2 RAG Status for 2013/14 Savings 
Admin. 

& 
Finance 

Residents 
Services 

Children 
& 

Families 

Social 
Care 

Cross 
Cutting 

Total 2013/14 
Savings   

£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 % 
Banked (953) (3,475) (293) (1,179) 0 (5,900) 35% 
On track for delivery (98) (2,118) (255) (673) 0 (3,144) 18% 
Potential significant savings 
shortfall or a significant or risky 
project which is at an early 
stage; 

0 (509) (1,396) (3,162) (3,000) (8,067) 47% 

Serious problems in the 
delivery of the saving 0 0 0 0 0 0 0% 

Total 2013/14 Savings (1,051) (6,102) (1,944) (5,014) (3,000) (17,111) 100% 

 
34. As at month 2, 53% of the savings are classified as either banked or on track for 
delivery. There are no savings classified as red, but there are 47% classified as amber 
highlighting the large programme of more complex savings currently being implemented. 
A large proportion of these amber savings is expected to ultimately be delivered, but will 
require a close focus throughout the year. The £3,000k cross cutting Social care BID 
savings will be split into respective Groups once the restructures from the pathway 
projects are finalised and the technical admin review which has been extended to cover 
a wider range of services is fully scoped and costed. £1,500k of the £3,000k cross 
cutting BID saving target is covered by contingency provision.  

35. As part of the 2013/14 monitoring we are also tracking progress on the delivery of the 
£2m savings from 2012/13 that, although covered by alternative savings during 2012/13, 
did not have permanent budget solutions in place for delivery in the current financial 
year.   At this stage of the year, 54% of those savings have now been classed as 
banked or on track for delivery whilst of the remaining 46%, 33% are classified as 
amber.  The red saving in Residents services relates to the proposed saving in Housing 
from the move of the area office staff into the Civic centre.  Further work on recharges to 
the HRA is being undertaken to see if there is capacity to deliver this remaining savings 
target through other routes. 

Table 4: Month 2 RAG Status for b/fwd 2012/13 Savings  
Admin. 

& 
Finance 

Residents 
Services 

Children 
& 

Families 

Social 
Care 

Total B/fwd 
Savings   

£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 % 
Banked (145) (77) 0 0 (222) 11% 
On track for delivery (90) (50) 0 (706) (846) 43% 
Potential significant savings 
shortfall or a significant or risky 
project which is at an early 
stage; 

(65) (30) (255) (311) (661) 33% 

Serious problems in the delivery 
of the saving 0 (250) 0  (250) 13% 

Total B/fwd Savings (300) (407) (255) (1,017) (1,979) 100% 

Page 308



 
Cabinet – 25 July 2013 

Corporate Operating Budgets (£2,500k underspend) 

36. Table 5 below provides an overview of forecast outturn on corporately managed 
budgets as at Month 2.  These budgets include the externally set levies and central 
government grants, over which the Council has limited control. 

Table 5: Corporate Operating Budgets  
Month 2 Variance (+ adv / - fav) 

Original 
Budget 

Budget 
Changes Revised 

Budget 
Forecast 
Outturn 

Varianc
e (As at 
Month 
2) 

Variance 
(As at 

Month 1) 

Movement 
from 

Month 1 

£'000 £'000 

  

£'000 £'000 

% 
Var 

£'000 £'000 £'000 

11,456 0 Interest & Investment Income 11,456 9,456 -22% (2,500)  (2,500) 

9,282 156 Levies & Other Corporate Budgets 9,438 9,438 0% 0   0 

20,738 156 Total Corporate 
Operating Budgets 20,894 18,894 -12% (2,500) 0 (2,500) 

 
37. An underspend of £2,500k on financing costs has been forecast due to the deferral of 
borrowing on the primary School Expansion Programme for 2013/14. However this sum 
is expected to be required in 2014/15 as the Council continues to provide additional 
school places within the borough. 

38. There are no reported variances on levies or other budgets at this stage. 

 

Development & Risk Contingency  

39. The Council has set aside £23,372k to manage volatile and uncertain budgets within the 
Development & Risk Contingency, which included £21,883k for specific risks and 
£1,489k as General Contingency.  £489k was carried forward from an underspend on 
unallocated contingency in 2012/13.  Table 6 below sets out the latest forecast call on 
these contingency budgets, with further detailed provided at a directorate level in 
Appendix A to this report.  At this stage it is expected that all increases to specific 
contingency provisions will be contained with the unallocated contingency provision. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 309



 
Cabinet – 25 July 2013 

 
Table 6: Development and Risk Contingency  

    Variance (+ adv / - fav) 
Original 
Budget 

Budget 
Changes 

Current Commitments 

Revised 
Budget 

Forecast 
as 

Needed 
Variance 
(As at 

Month 2) 

Variance 
(As at 

Month 1) 

Movement 
from 

Month 1 
£'000 £'000     £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 
1,000 489 General Contingency 1,489 875 (614) 0 (614) 

500 0 BID Pump Priming 
Fund 500 500 0 0 0 

660 0 C
o
rp
o
ra
te
 

Pensions Auto-
enrolment 660 660 0 0 0 

400 0 

A
&
F
 

Uninsured Claims 400 400 0 0 0 

402 0 Carbon Reduction 
Commitment 402 365 (37) 0 (37) 

217 0 Outsourced Leisure 
Income Streams 217 386 169 0 169 

200 0 HS2 Challenge 200 200 0 0 0 

200 0 Heathrow Expansion 
Challenge 200 200 0 0 0 

737 0 
Impact of Welfare 
Reform on 
Homelessness 

737 737 0 0 0 

30 0 Hillingdon Local Plan 30 30 0 0 0 
760 0 SEN Transport 760 1,338 578 0 578 

2,010 0 

R
es
id
en
ts
 S
er
vi
ce
s 

Waste Disposal Levy 2,010 2,409 399 0 399 

1,995 0 Reduction in UKBA 
Asylum Funding 1,995 1,500 (495) 0 (495) 

781 0 

C
S
C
 

Looked After Children 
(Demographic) 781 781 0 0 0 

3,814 0 Transitional Children 
(Demographic) 3,814 3,814 0 0 0 

1,500 0 BID Staffing Structure 
Review 1,500 1,500 0 0 0 

3,997 0 
Older People's 
Services 
(Demographic) 

3,997 4,492 495 0 495 

1,226 0 Physical Disability 
(Demographic) 1,226 1,059 (167) 0 (167) 

896 0 
Learning Disability 
Service 
(Demographic) 

896 692 (204) 0 (204) 

1,558 0 

A
d
u
lt
 S
o
ci
al
 C
ar
e 

Mental Health Service 
(Demographic) 1,558 1,434 (124) 0 (124) 

22,883 489 Total Development & 
Risk Contingency 23,372 23,372 0 0 0 

 
40. A number of adverse movements have been forecast on the Development and Risk 
contingency for 2013/14. The major movements include the council’s share of the 
increase in the fixed cost levy from West London Waste Authority due the correction of a 
base budget adjustment; a significant pressure on SEN transport; also continuing 
pressure on income from outsourced leisure services; and forecast pressures in Older 

Page 310



 
Cabinet – 25 July 2013 

People placements.  The overall pressure is partially mitigated by reduced pressures for 
other Social Care clients and fin relation to Asylum funding. 

Priority Growth  

41. The 2013/14 General Fund Revenue Budget approved by Council on 14 February 2013 
set aside £1,000k within the unallocated Priority Growth budget, in addition to £800k in 
the HIP Initiatives budget.  Table 6 summarises the position with regard to each of these 
elements. 

Table 6: Priority Growth  

  Budget Approved 
Allocations 

Unallocated 
Growth 

  £'000 £'000 £'000 
HIP Initiatives Budget:       
Original Budget 800 297    
      503 

Sub-Total HIP Initiatives 
Budget 800 297 503 

Non-Specific Priority 
Growth       

Original Budget 1,000     
      1,000 
Sub-Total Non-Specific 
Priority Growth Budget 1,000 0 1,000 

Total Priority Growth 1,800 297 1,503 

 
42. As at Month 2 HIP steering group has approved £297k from the HIP initiatives budget 
leaving £503k to fund further initiatives in the current year. In addition no allocations 
have been made from Priority Growth.  The General Fund forecast assumes the 
remaining unallocated budgets for both HIP initiatives and Priority Growth will be 
committed in full. 

 

Schools Budget, Parking Revenue Account and Collection Fund 

43. Details of the Schools Budget and the Parking Revenue Account have now been 
included in the monitoring report and while these budgets do not directly impact on the 
General Fund this will enable any interaction with the General Fund to be noted.  At 
month 2, the Schools Budget is forecasting an overspend of £294k primarily due to an 
increase in demand for SEN placements.  The Parking Revenue Account is forecasting 
an in-year deficit from a forecast shortfall in income.  Details of these funds are 
explained in Appendix B.  

44. In addition, information on the Collection Fund is now being included in this report as 
with the changes to local government funding and the retention of business rates, the 
implications on the Council’s finances are significant.  The latest Collection Fund 
position is forecasting the release of £2,895k into the general Fund in 2014/15, arising 
from a forecast in year surplus and from a carried forward surplus from 2012/13 due to a 
reduction in the bad debt provision.  Details of the Collection Fund are contained within 
Appendix B. 

Housing Revenue Account Budget 

Page 311



 
Cabinet – 25 July 2013 

45. The Housing Revenue Account (HRA) is currently forecasting an underspend of £542k. 
Whilst there is a forecast slight pressure income, this is offset by underspends on 
staffing and on overheads.  Further details are explained in Appendix C.  

Page 312



 
Cabinet – 25 July 2013 

Appendix A – Detailed Group Forecasts (General Fund) 

ADMINISTRATION & FINANCE (£229k underspend) 

1. The combined position for the Administration and Finance Groups at month 2 is an 
underspend of £229k. Underspends as a result of vacant posts have been netted down 
by the cost of agency staff, employed to ensure the smooth implementation of current 
restructures and also cover the potential pressure on income from schools for the 
purchase of training.  

Table 1: Administration & Finance Summary 
Month 2 Variance (+ adv / - fav) 

Original 
Budget 

Budget 
Changes Revised 

Budget 
Forecast 
Outturn 

Variance 
(As at 

Month 2) 

Variance 
(As at 

Month 1) 

Movement 
from 

Month 1 

£'000 £'000 

  

£'000 £'000 

% 
Var 

£'000 £'000 £'000 

8,749 42 Salaries 8,791 8,703 -
1% (88) 0 (88) 

5,052 0 Non-Sal Exp 5,052 4,990 -
1% (62) 0 (62) 

(2,744) 0 Income (2,744) (2,734) 0% 10 0 10 

11,057 42 

A
dm
in
. D
ire
ct
or
at
e 

Sub-Total 11,099 10,959 -
1% (140) 0 (140) 

11,558 350 Salaries 11,908 11,822 -
1% (86) 0 (86) 

172,239 (127) Non-Sal Exp 172,112 172,107 0% (5) 0 (5) 
(172,179) (275) Income (172,454) (172,452) 0% 2 0 2 

11,618 (52) 

F
in
an
ce
 

D
ire
ct
or
at
e 

Sub-Total 11,566 11,477 -
1% (89) 0 (89) 

20,307 392 Salaries 20,699 20,525 -
1% (174) 0 (174) 

177,291 (127) Non-Sal Exp 177,164 177,097 0% (67) 0 (67) 
(174,923) (275) Income (175,198) (175,186) 0% 12 0 12 

22,675 (10) 

  

Total 22,665 22,436 -1% (229) 0 (229) 

 
2. As a result of part year vacant posts across the Administration Group, particularly in 
Performance, Occupational Health and Legal Services teams, not providing cover for 
maternity leave and employees in full time posts returning to work part time after 
maternity leave, there are significant salaries underspends in Administration in Month 2 

3. Through price negotiations, a reduction of £17k in the contract spend for Hillingdon 
People has been secured, without affecting the service provision. Additionally, post 
entry training qualifications coming to an end this summer and reviews of subscriptions 
and ICT spend within service areas have contributed £25k towards the projected 
underspend on Non salaries expenditure within the Group. 

4. As a result of high demand and more efficient operation with regard to appointment 
scheduling, income within the Registration of Births, Deaths and Marriages is projected 
to overachieve by £20k this year. This includes delivering an increased target as a result 
of an MTFF 13/14 proposal for £30k, which has now been affected in budgets. 
Conversely, a £32k pressure is projected on schools income for training services 
provided by Human Resources as a result of lower take up of both SLA and ‘pay as you 
go’ services. 

Page 313



 
Cabinet – 25 July 2013 

 
Table 2: Administration Operating Budgets 

Month 2 Variance (+ adv / - fav) 
Original 
Budget 

Budget 
Changes Revised 

Budget 
Forecast 
Outturn 

Variance 
(As at 

Month 2) 

Variance 
(As at 

Month 1) 

Movement 
from 

Month 1 

£'000 £'000 

Service 

£'000 £'000 

% 
Var 

£'000 £'000 £'000 
442 2 Salaries 444 432 -3% (12)   (12) 
6 0 Non-Sal Exp 6 6 0% 0  0 

(56) 0 Income (56) (56) 0% 0  0 
392 2 D

ire
ct
or
at
e 

Sub-Total 394 382 -3% (12) 0 (12) 
676 4 Salaries 680 735 8% 55   55 
187 0 Non-Sal Exp 187 169 (10%) (18)  (18) 
(103) 0 Income (103) (103) 0% 0  0 
760 4 C

or
po
ra
te
 

C
om
m
s 

Sub-Total 764 801 5% 37 0 37 
1,425 7 Salaries 1,432 1,469 3% 37   37 
1,895 0 Non-Sal Exp 1,895 1,885 -1% (10)  (10) 
(849) 0 Income (849) (869) 2% (20)  (20) 
2,471 7 D

em
oc
r.
 

S
er
vi
ce
s 

Sub-Total 2,478 2,485 0% 7 0 7 
2,347 12 Salaries 2,359 2,341 -1% (18)   (18) 
467 0 Non-Sal Exp 467 455 -3% (12)  (12) 
(591) 0 Income (591) (561) -5% 30  30 
2,223 12 

H
um
an
 

R
es
ou
rc
es
 

Sub-Total 2,235 2,235 0% 0 0 0 
1,924 8 Salaries 1,932 1,885 -2% (47)   (47) 
98 0 Non-Sal Exp 98 99 1% 1  1 

(575) 0 Income (575) (575) 0% 0  0 
1,447 8 

Le
ga
l 

S
er
vi
ce
s 

Sub-Total 1,455 1,409 -3% (46) 0 (46) 
1,935 9 Salaries 1,944 1,841 -5% (103)   (103) 
2,399 0 Non-Sal Exp 2,399 2,376 -1% (23)  (23) 
(570) 0 Income (570) (570) 0% 0  0 
3,764 9 

P
ol
ic
y 
&
 

P
er
f. 

Sub-Total 3,773 3,647 -3% (126) 0 (126) 
8,749 42 Salaries 8,791 8,703 -1% (88) 0 (88) 
5,052 0 Non-Sal Exp 5,052 4,990 -1% (62) 0 (62) 
(2,744) 0 Income (2,744) (2,734) 0% 10 0 10 
11,057 42 

A
dm
in
. 

D
ire
ct
or
at
e 

Total 11,099 10,959 -1% (140) 0 (140) 

 
5. Within the Finance Directorate, vacant posts as a result of ongoing restructures within 
have added to the salaries underspend in month 2. Recruitment is underway in 
Procurement & Commissioning with posts expected to be filled by September.  To effect 
a smooth transition and to embed the Category Management approach, agency staff 
have been employed while the implementation of the new structure is ongoing. 

6. In April 2013 Council Tax Benefit was abolished and replaced with a local Council Tax 
Reduction Scheme and administration funding for the scheme was reduced.  Workload 
increased as a result of the changes and from having numerous vacant posts and so the 
contract with Liberata to use their capacity grid to deal with queries received has been 
extended.  

7. The funding for discretionary housing payments (DHP) increased this year to £1,245k. 
Whilst claims for DHP have risen significantly, payments made this year have followed 
the strict criteria put in place and are less that would be expected at this point in the 

Page 314



 
Cabinet – 25 July 2013 

year. However, it is likely that forthcoming Benefit Cap introduction will affect around 600 
households in Hillingdon and so the demand on DHP is likely to increase. 

Table 3: Finance Operating Budgets 
Month 2 Variance (+ adv / - fav) 

Original 
Budget 

Budget 
Changes Revised 

Budget 
Forecast 
Outturn 

Variance 
(As at 

Month 2) 

Variance 
(As at 

Month 1) 

Movement 
from 

Month 1 

£'000 £'000 

Service 

£'000 £'000 

% 
Var 

£'000 £'000 £'000 
547 3 Salaries 550 552 0% 2   2 
50 0 Non-Sal Exp 50 53 6% 3  3 
0 0 Income 0 0 0 0  0 

597 3 

In
te
rn
al
 

A
ud
it 

Sub-Total 600 605 1% 5 0 5 
3,549 8 Salaries 3,557 3,580 1% 23   23 
688 98 Non-Sal Exp 786 766 -3% (20)  (20) 
(984) 0 Income (984) (963) -2% 21  21 
3,253 106 O

pe
ra
tio
na
l 

F
in
an
ce
 

Sub-Total 3,359 3,383 1% 24 0 24 
2,115 360 Salaries 2,475 2,467 0% (8)   (8) 
188 0 Non-Sal Exp 188 188 0% 0  0 
(344) (275) Income (619) (618) 0% 1  1 
1,959 85 P

ro
cu
re
m
en

t 

Sub-Total 2,044 2,037 0% (7) 0 (7) 
4,350 (79) Salaries 4,271 4,195 -2% (76)   (76) 

170,659 (225) Non-Sal Exp 170,434 170,428 0% (6)  (6) 
(170,727) 0 Income (170,727) (170,726) 0% 1  1 

4,282 (304) R
ev
en
ue
s 
&
 

B
en
ef
its
 

Sub-Total 3,978 3,897 -2% (81) 0 (81) 
997 58 Salaries 1,055 1,028 -3% (27)   (27) 
654 0 Non-Sal Exp 654 672 3% 18  18 
(124) 0 Income (124) (145) 17% (21)  (21) 
1,527 58 S

tr
at
eg
ic
 

F
in
an
ce
 

Sub-Total 1,585 1,555 -2% (30) 0 (30) 
11,558 350 Salaries 11,908 11,822 -1% (86) 0 (86) 
172,239 (127) Non-Sal Exp 172,112 172,107 0% (5) 0 (5) 
(172,179) (275) Income (172,454) (172,452) 0% 2 0 2 

11,618 (52) 

F
in
an
ce
 

D
ire
ct
or
at
e 

Total 11,566 11,477 -1% (89) 0 (89) 

 

 

Page 315



 
Cabinet – 25 July 2013 

RESIDENTS SERVICES (£1,032k pressure) 

8. Residents Services has a projected outturn position of an £1,032k overspend, excluding 
pressure areas that have identified contingency provisions.  This reflects the exceptional 
demand-led pressures being experienced at present on housing needs, demographic 
pressures on special needs transport budgets impacting on the corporate contingency 
and special needs placements impacting on the schools budget. 

Table 1: Residents Services Operating Budgets 
Month 2 Variance (+ adv / - fav) 

Original 
Budget 

Budget 
Changes Revised 

Budget 
Forecast 
Outturn 

Variance 
(As at 

Month 2) 

Variance 
(As at 

Month 1) 

Movement 
from 

Month 1 

£'000 £'000 

Service 

£'000 £'000 

% 
Var 

£'000 £'000 £'000 
1,381 0 Salaries 1,381 1,381 0% 0   0 
838 288 Non-Sal Exp 1,126 1,126 0% 0  0 

(2,142) (302) Income (2,444) (2,444) 0% 0  0 

77 (14) C
or
po
ra
te
  

P
ro
pe
rt
y 
&
 

C
on
st
ru
ct
io
n 

Sub-Total 63 63 0% 0 0 0 

9,849 (81) Salaries 9,768 9,248 -5% (520)   (520) 

12,133 32 Non-Sal Exp 12,165 11,755 -3% (410)  (410) 
(10,421) 65 Income (10,356) (10,386) 0% (30)  (30) 

11,561 16 E
du
ca
tio
n 
(G
F
) 

Sub-Total 11,577 10,617 -8% (960) 0 (960) 

3,852 (93) Salaries 3,759 3,820 2% 61   61 
11,098 0 Non-Sal Exp 11,098 14,976 35% 3,878  3,878 
(11,123) 0 Income (11,123) (13,177) 18% (2,054)  (2,054) 

3,827 (93) H
ou
si
ng
 (
G
F
) 

Sub-Total 3,734 5,619 50% 1,885 0 1,885 
13,294 5 Salaries 13,299 13,299 0% 0   0 
25,058 (468) Non-Sal Exp 24,590 24,790 1% 200  200 
(12,031) 0 Income (12,031) (12,231) 2% (200)  (200) 
26,321 (463) IC

T
 H
ig
hw
ay
s 

&
 B
us
. S
er
v.
 

Sub-Total 25,858 25,858 0% 0 0 0 
4,026 0 Salaries 4,026 4,019 0% (7)   (7) 
4,541 (33) Non-Sal Exp 4,508 4,508 0% 0  0 
(4,733) 0 Income (4,733) (4,728) 0% 5  5 
3,834 (33) P

la
nn
in
g 
S
po
rt
 

&
 G
re
en
 

S
pa
ce
s 

Sub-Total 3,801 3,799 0% (2) 0 (2) 
17,662 (5) Salaries 17,657 17,537 -1% (120)   (120) 
14,755 500 Non-Sal Exp 15,255 15,412 1% 157  157 
(10,020) 16 Income (10,004) (9,899) -1% 105  105 
22,397 511 P

ub
lic
 S
af
et
y 
&
 

E
nv
iro
nm
en
t 

Sub-Total 22,908 23,050 1% 142 0 142 
1,544 0 Salaries 1,544 1,523 -1% (21)   (21) 
1,011 0 Non-Sal Exp 1,011 1,011 0% 0  0 
(6,246) (16) Income (6,262) (6,274) 0% (12)  (12) 
(3,691) (16) 

T
P
P
&
C
E
 

Sub-Total (3,707) (3,740) 1% (33) 0 (33) 
439 0 Salaries 439 325 (26%) (114)   (114) 

14,842 0 Non-Sal Exp 14,842 14,956 1% 114  114 
(15,281) 0 Income (15,281) (15,281) 0% 0  0 

0 0 P
ub
lic
 H
ea
lth
 

Sub-Total 0 0 0 0 0 0 
52,047 (174) Salaries 51,873 51,152 -1% (607) 0 (607) 
84,276 319 Non-Sal Exp 84,595 88,534 5% 3,825 0 3,825 
(71,997) (237) Income (72,234) (74,420) 3% (2,186) 0 (2,186) 
64,326 (92) R

es
id
en
ts
 

S
er
vi
ce
s 

Total 64,234 65,266 2% 1,032 0 1,032 

Page 316



 
Cabinet – 25 July 2013 

 
9. The Council’s 2013/14 contingency budget contains provision for areas of expenditure 
or income within Residents Services for which there is a greater degree of uncertainty.  
The position against these contingency items is shown in Table 2 below. 

Table 2: Residents Services Contingency Items 
Variance 
(+ adv / - 
fav) Original 

Budget 
Budget 
Changes Current Commitments Revised 

Budget 

Forecast 
as 

Needed Variance 
(As at 

Month 2) 
£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 

2,010 0 Waste Disposal Levy (Demand-led Tonnage Increases) 2,010 2,409 (399) 

760 0 SEN Transport 760 1,338 578 

737 0 Impact of Welfare Reform on Homelessness 737 737 0 

402 0 Carbon Reduction Commitment 402 365 (37) 

217 0 Outsourced Leisure Income Streams 217 386 169 

200 0 HS2 Challenge Contingency 200 200 0 

200 0 Heathrow Expansion Challenge Contingency 200 200 0 

30 0 Hillingdon Local Plan 30 30 0 
4,556 0   4,556 5,665 1,109 

 
10. The contingency allocation reflects the budgeted projection set by the West London 
Waste Authority (WLWA) for the impact of the ‘Pay as You Throw’ (PAYT) scheme.  
After two months the increase in tonnages in lower than assumed when the levy was 
set, producing a forecast underspend against the full contingency of £56k.  In addition, 
Hillingdon’s share of the portion of the increase in the Fixed Cost Levy from WLWA due 
to a correcting base budget adjustment by WLWA of £2.6 million is £455k. 

11. Special Educational Needs (SEN) Transport is an area that has seen significant 
pressure in the last financial year.  The forecast pressure on this budget is now £1,338k, 
which exceeds the budgeted contingency allocation of £760k by £578k.  The overall 
pressure mainly reflects the increased costs of delivering home to school transport for 
out-of-borough placements and children with more complex needs.  There has been a 
net increase in contracted routes operated of 15 routes (7% increase) compared to April 
2012.  However, the cost of delivering the current route requirements increased by over 
20% since the beginning of the autumn term.  This reflects the increased need to 
provide transport on 19 new routes to out-of-borough placements requiring greater 
distances travelled, as well as an increased number of children requiring individual 
transport due to more complex needs, that could not appropriately be provided on 
existing routes. 

12. The pressure beyond the budgeted contingency allocation of £578k reflects that 
mitigating actions through policy changes and controls that in the budget were assumed 
to reduce overall costs by £250k are serving mainly to slow the overall rate of growth in 
the demographic pressure.  There are also additional costs reflect the transport needs of 
statemented children that commenced between budget setting and the start of the 

Page 317



 
Cabinet – 25 July 2013 

financial year with a full year effect of £354k.  This is offset by a one-off underspend on 
inter-authority recoupment of £26k due to lower than average recoupment activity. 

13. Chart 1 below illustrates the recent trends in SEN transport contracted route costs 
compared to the overall numbers of statemented pupils that Hillingdon supports.  The 
increase in the number of statemented pupils is also impacting on the Schools Budget in 
Appendix B where an overspend of £871k is forecast on independent special needs 
school placements. 

10,000

12,500

15,000

17,500

20,000

22,500

25,000

Oct-12 Nov-12Dec-12 Jan-13 Feb-13 Mar-13 Apr-13 May-
13

D
ai
ly
 C
o
n
tr
ac
te
d
 R
o
u
te
 C
o
st
 (
£)

1000

1200

1400

1600

1800

2000

N
u
m
b
er
 o
f 
S
ta
te
m
en
te
d
 P
u
p
ils

Daily Contracted
Route Cost (£)

Number of
Statemented
Pupils

 
14. The contingency to cover the impact of changes in Housing Benefit on temporary 
accommodation is forecast to be required in full.  This contingency relates to the impact 
of the migration of temporary accommodation leases to rates linked to the Local 
Housing Allowance, and is not directly linked to the increase in demands on the Housing 
Needs service that is also leading to pressures in the current year. 

15. The Carbon Reduction Commitment contingency is for the estimated costs for the 
requirement to purchase allowances for each tonne of carbon produced by the Council.  
The requirement to purchase allowances under the Carbon Reduction Commitment 
energy efficiency scheme for 2012/13 was reported to Cabinet in June 2013.  An 
underspend against the contingency of £37k is expected due to the exemption for 
unmetered supplies continuing in 2013/14.  The contingency requirement also includes 
the £250k budget for allowances for schools that has been provided for in the schools 
budget. 

Page 318



 
Cabinet – 25 July 2013 

16. There was an outturn deficit on the in-house management of golf courses in 2012/13 of 
£459k.  As the service is entering its second full season there is an improvement in this 
position.  Membership charges were reduced and membership income is reduced by 
£40k compared to last year.  However, pay and play and associated income is showing 
a forecast improvement of £143k compared to last year.  Staffing costs are £50k higher 
than last year due to the impact of recruitment activity, offset by the falling out of one-off 
costs for course improvements and consultancy last year of £120k.  Hence the overall 
pressure is forecast at £286k, an improvement of £173k compared to last year’s outturn. 

17. There is a pressure of £100k due to the loss of rental income from the Minet gym.  The 
current operator has exercised their break clause with effect from August, and a 
procurement exercise has been undertaken to identify an alternative operator, however 
it is unlikely that the current income stream will be replaced. 

18. The HS2 and Heathrow expansion challenge contingencies provide resources to enable 
the Council to respond flexibly and effectively to the continuing threat that these 
infrastructure projects pose to residents, and it is expected that they will be fully utilised. 

19. The examination in public of Part 2 of the Hillingdon Local Plan is on track to take place 
in spring 2014, and it is therefore expected that this contingency will be fully utilised. 

Corporate Property & Construction (nil variance) 

20. The service is managing financial risks around the achievement of capital receipts and 
the delivery of the capital programme, particularly the Primary School Capital 
Programme and it is currently forecast that these risks can be contained within budgets. 

Education (£960k underspend) 

21. The education service has savings items totalling £1,369k included in the 2013/14 
budget, including savings from the children’s pathway project, and the further 
management restructure of the service which has yet to reach the implementation stage. 

22. The service continues to experience high staff turnover and vacancies resulting in 
forecast staffing underspends in the youth service (£170k), the school improvement 
service (£175k), education welfare (£40k), parent support (£30k), educational 
psychology (£70k) and the early years’ team (£35k).  Many of these posts have been 
held vacant pending the full implementation of the children’s pathway. 

23. There is a forecast underspend of £260k on Children’s Centres due to the combined 
impact a more corporate approach to commissioning services from the centres, and 
continued underspends on running costs identified in the previous financial year; a 
forecast underspend of £150k on training for early years providers, continuing the 
position identified last year; and an over-achievement of £30k on income due to 
additional buy back from schools. 

Housing (£1,885k pressure) 

24. During this financial year, the Housing Needs budget is under considerable pressure as 
a result of the supply of Private Sector Leasing (PSL) and other private rented sector 
accommodation being taken by either private tenants or other local authorities.  
Consequently, the Council has had to put people in much more expensive bed and 

Page 319



 
Cabinet – 25 July 2013 

breakfast (B&B) accommodation.  As a result the Housing Needs budget is projecting an 
overspend of £1,635k. 

25. Bed and Breakfast accounts for the vast majority of this overspend, showing a forecast 
overspend of £1,180k.  In addition, increased incentive payments to procure prevention 
properties accounts for £420k of the overall pressure.  The B&B pressure is due to the 
number of households reaching 194 at the end of May, compared with 61 at the end of 
December 2012 and 102 at the end of March 2013.  The Month 2 figure of 194 has more 
than trebled since December and continued the sharp increase since the end of March 
increasing by 92 households.  In addition, the average net cost for the Council for the 
B&B accommodation has also increased - the full year average cost of £4,300 in 
2012/13 rising to a current level of £5,800. 

26. The Month 2 projection assumes the B&B numbers will only increase to 240 by the end 
of the year.  This is based on 200 additional properties being available from initiatives to 
contain the pressure such as making use of other Council accommodation and making 
use of partnership funding for procuring properties.  If these and other similar initiatives 
fail to deliver the properties then there is a risk that the pressure will rise to over £3 
million.  There is also likely to be some pressure from welfare reforms and specifically 
from the Benefit Cap.  However, this will depend on whether the Cap is implemented at 
the planned date of August 2012 or is delayed.  Mitigation measures to reduce the 
impact include the use of Discretionary Housing Payments (DHP), helping people into 
work, and as a last resort, out-of-borough procurement.  In addition any additional new 
build properties will help to free up larger Council housing properties to alleviate the 
impact of the Cap for a small number of families who might not be able to cover rents 
from Housing Benefit income if they have to pay the higher levels of private sector rents. 

27. There is also a pressure of £250k due to the shortfall in savings from targeted recharges 
to the HRA arising from returning staff in outlying offices to the Civic Centre, which is 
shown as ‘red – shortfall’ in the savings tracker.  Further work is continuing to identify 
mitigating opportunities within the overall impact of recharges to the HRA across 
Residents Services. 

ICT Highways & Business Services (nil variance) 

28. There is a forecast pressure of £280k on maintenance budgets for day to day repairs for 
both the Civic Centre and outstations around the borough, reflecting a continuation of 
last year’s outturn position. 

29. The fleet management service has been in a transitional position as the vehicle 
replacement programme takes effect, and the benefits of this programme are now 
feeding through.  A net underspend of £40k is now reported, as the service is actively 
managing down maintenance costs as older vehicles are replaced, producing an 
underspend of £185k.  However in this interim period there are remain pressures on 
contract hire and leases of £145k due to short-term arrangements being put in place 
while replacement vehicles are procured.  The service is also closely monitoring 
insurance claims, where there is a greater risk around accidental damage under self-
insurance arrangements. 

30. There is also an underspend of £40k on Ordnance Survey mapping charges which are 
being covered again this financial year directly by the Government. 

Page 320



 
Cabinet – 25 July 2013 

31. Income from the London Common Permit Scheme is forecast to exceed the target set 
by £200k.  The outturn variance for 2012/13 was £369k, however a cautious approach 
has been taken as there is no guarantee that this income stream will be sustained at the 
current level throughout the year. 

 

Planning Sport & Green Spaces (£2k underspend) 

32. The forecast pressure on building control is £90k, driven by the budgeted over-recovery 
of fee income compared to the costs of processing building control applications under 
the cost recovery model, which is ringfenced to the service. 

33. The management agreement with the operator of the Hillingdon Sports & Leisure Centre 
has now been completed, releasing an ongoing annual contribution for contract 
monitoring of £30k which is additional income to the service, of which £20k can be 
released the current year. 

34. There is additional income of £55k due to the impact of the rent escalator for Stockley 
Park golf course, £10k from other leisure rents, and a minor staffing underspend of £7k 
due to a vacant post in the Events team. 

Public Health (nil variance) 

35. The responsibility for Public Health was transferred into Residents Services in May 
2013, and since then an exercise has been undertaken linked to a BID project to review 
all of the budget assumptions underpinning the allocation of the ringfenced Public Health 
grant.  This is reported in detail in a separate report on this agenda.  Within this there 
are two vacant posts in the Specialist Health Promotion, producing the staffing 
underspend of £114k, and increasing the grant available for allocation by the same 
amount. 

Public Safety & Environment (£142k pressure) 

36. There is a projected shortfall of £150k on off-street parking income, which is attributable 
to Cedars and Grainges multi-storey car parks in Uxbridge town centre, reflecting the 
continuation of pressures reported last financial year. 

37. There is a forecast pressure of £180k on the imported food service.  Income targets for 
this service are on track to be delivered, mainly due to continued strong imports of 
seasonal fruit and vegetables, however the costs of testing these products has 
increased significantly due to changes in the sampling requirements specified by the 
European Union for these products.  This position assumes there are no further changes 
to the list of ‘high risk’ products and their sampling frequencies, which are re-issued 
quarterly, over the remainder of the financial year. 

38. There is a forecast staffing underspend of £120k in Technical Administration and 
Business Support, due to the impact of vacant posts that have been held open during 
the restructuring process for this service.  This service area is also delivering a savings 
target of £169k included in the 2013/14 budget. 

39. Waste Services is currently forecast at a £68k underspend.  This is due to a forecast 
underspend on graffiti removal of £23k and additional recycling income of £45k. 

Page 321



 
Cabinet – 25 July 2013 

Transportation Planning Policy & Community Engagement (£33k underspend) 

40. The forecast underspend results from the impact of a vacant post within the planning 
policy team (£21k), and the final allocation of the New Homes Bonus adjustment grant 
for 2013/14 being £12k greater than assumed at the time of budget setting. 

Page 322



 
Cabinet – 25 July 2013 

CHILDREN SOCIAL CARE SERVICES (£998k pressure) 

41. The month 2 revenue budget forecast for 2013/14 shows an adverse movement of 
£998k against budget as shown in the table 1 below. The adverse movement from 
budget is primarily due to an increase in Looked after Children higher than originally 
forecast in the budget for 2013/14. 

Table 1: Children Social Care Operating Budget  
Month 2 Variance (+ adv / - fav) 

Original 
Budget 

Budget 
Changes Revised 

Budget 
Forecast 
Outturn 

Variance 
(As at 

Month 2) 

Variance 
(As at 

Month 1) 

Movement 
from 

Month 1 

£'000 £'000 

Service 

£'000 £'000 

% 
Var 

£'000 £'000 £'000 

13,067 0 Salaries 13,067 13,317 2% 250   250 

12,822 0 Non-Sal Exp 12,822 13,771 7% 949  949 
(2,645) 0 Income (2,645) (2,846) 8% (201)  (201) 
23,244 0 C

hi
ld
re
n 
&
 

F
am
ili
es
 

Sub-Total 23,244 24,242 4% 998 0 998 
2,768 0 Salaries 2,768 3,094 12% 326   326 
2,442 0 Non-Sal Exp 2,442 2,495 2% 53  53 
(5,210) 0 Income (5,210) (5,589) 7% (379)  (379) 

0 0 

A
sy
lu
m
 

Sub-Total 0 0 0 0 0 0 
15,835 0 Salaries 15,835 16,411 4% 576 0 576 
15,264 0 Non-Sal Exp 15,264 16,266 7% 1,002 0 1,002 
(7,855) 0 Income (7,855) (8,435) 7% (580) 0 (580) 
23,244 0 C

h
ild
re
n
’s
 

S
o
ci
al
 C
ar
e 

Total 23,244 24,242 4% 998 0 998 

 

42. The Children services forecast assumes the full use of the £781k contingency available 
to the service but for Asylum services the position is more favourable and a reduced use 
of contingency is now forecast, see table 2 below. 

Table 2: Children Social Care Development and Risk Contingency  

Variance (+ adv / - fav) 
Original 
Budget 

Budget 
Changes Current Commitments Revised 

Budget 

Forecast 
as 

Needed Variance 
(As at 

Month 2) 

Variance 
(As at 

Month 1) 

Movement 
from 

Month 1 
£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 
781 0 Social Care Pressures 781 781 0 0 0 

1,995 0 Asylum Funding shortfall 1,995 1,500 (495) 0 495 

2,776 0   2,776 2,281 (495) 0 495 

 
Children and Families Service: £998k adverse 

43. Budget forecast at month 2 indicates a pressure of £950k in looked after children due to 
an additional 18 FTE placements in excess of the forecast built into the 2013/14 budget 
for 2013/14. This cost pressure for the Children and Families service is mainly driven by 
the number of Looked after Children (LAC) which is at risk of increasing due to an 
increase in children moving into the Borough. To minimise any potential impact of these 
increased numbers management are addressing preventative measures to mitigate 

Page 323



 
Cabinet – 25 July 2013 

against a like for like increase. For example the estimated average cost of a LAC is 
some £50k over the course of their ‘stay’.  

 
44. A recent report produced by the London Councils Safeguarding Board on the numbers 
of LAC in inner London Boroughs showed a significant reduction against an increase 
nationally and more importantly against outer London boroughs. It maybe that 
inner London are more effective with their prevention services but one could also take 
the view it because there is a movement of families away from inner London effected by 
welfare capping. It is too early to be confident about the impact of these changes for 
Hillingdon but increasing pressure from numbers of intentionally homeless families with 
no access to public funds is likely to continue to place significant demands on the 
resources of Children Services. 

 
45. There has also been a sharp increase recently in the need for C&F services (under s17 
of the Children Act) to fund homeless families (e.g. with children) who have been 
evicted.  At this stage it is not clear whether this is a one-off ‘spike’ or the beginning of a 
‘cost shunt’ resulting from impending Welfare Benefit changes.  However, the spend 
from January to May 2013 totals £47k and if this continued there could be an increase of 
£120k over last years costs.  Whilst this is not included in the budget forecast at this 
stage the position will be carefully monitored over the next few months. 

 

Asylum Service 

46. A renegotiation of the UKBA Gateway agreement is currently in progress in conjunction 
with the three other most affected councils. The four councils met with UKBA in May 
2013 and these discussions were encouraging with broad agreement reached on 
several issues albeit subject to formalised agreements. In respect of other issues raised 
by the councils the UKBA haven’t shut the door but have asked for evidence and further 
information to substantiate the council’s argument. 

47. The financial forecast does though indicate that the call on contingency for 2013/14 will 
be £495k less than that provided for in the Risk and Development Contingency due to 
grant income being higher than the budget for 2013/14. 

 

Page 324



 
Cabinet – 25 July 2013 

ADULT SOCIAL CARE (£675K pressure) 

48. The adverse movement from budget set out in Table 1 below is primarily due to slippage 
resulting from the Judicial Review challenge of Day Centres reconfiguration (£350k) 
which delayed these changes into 2013/14. The balance relates to the placements 
budget, being £300k higher than built into the Budget for 2013/14. 

Table 1: Adult Social Care Operating Budgets 
Month 2 Variance (+ adv / - fav) 

Original 
Budget 

Budget 
Changes Revised 

Budget 
Forecast 
Outturn 

Variance 
(As at 

Month 2) 

Variance 
(As at 

Month 1) 

Movement 
from 

Month 1 

£'000 £'000 

Service 

£'000 £'000 

% 
Var 

£'000 £'000 £'000 

6,431 0 Salaries 6,431 6,301 -2% (130)   (130) 

23,572 17 Non-Sal Exp 23,589 24,518 4% 929  929 

(8,977) 0 Income (8,977) (9,621) 7% (644)  (644) 

21,026 17 O
ld
er
 P
eo
pl
e 

Sub-Total 21,043 21,198 1% 155 0 155 

1,612 0 Salaries 1,612 1,480 -8% (132)   (132) 

6,726 0 Non-Sal Exp 6,726 6,767 1% 41  41 

(592) 0 Income (592) (647) 9% (55)  (55) 
7,746 0 P

hy
si
ca
l &
 

S
en
so
ry
 

D
is
ab
ili
ty
 

Sub-Total 7,746 7,600 -2% (146) 0 (146) 
5,882 0 Salaries 5,882 5,360 -9% (522)   (522) 
21,157 0 Non-Sal Exp 21,157 22,498 6% 1,341  1,341 
(6,281) 0 Income (6,281) (6,518) 4% (237)  (237) 
20,758 0 Le

ar
ni
ng
 

D
is
ab
ili
ty
 

Sub-Total 20,758 21,340 3% 582 0 582 
1,526 0 Salaries 1,526 1,449 -5% (77)   (77) 
4,889 0 Non-Sal Exp 4,889 5,003 2% 114  114 
(400) 0 Income (400) (382) -5% 18  18 
6,015 0 

M
en
ta
l 

H
ea
lth
 

Sub-Total 6,015 6,070 1% 55 0 55 
2,322 (71) Salaries 2,251 2,280 1% 29   29 
(1,724) 0 Non-Sal Exp (1,724) (1,724) 0% 0  0 
(650) 0 Income (650) (650) 0% 0  0 
(52) (71) S

oc
ia
l C
ar
e 

D
ire
ct
or
at
e 

Sub-Total (123) (94) 0% 29 0 29 
17,773 (71) Salaries 17,702 16,870 -5% (832) 0 (832) 
54,620 17 Non-Sal Exp 54,637 57,062 4% 2,425 0 2,425 
(16,900) 0 Income (16,900) (17,818) 5% (918) 0 (918) 
55,493 (54) 

A
d
u
lt
 

S
o
ci
al
 C
ar
e 

Total 55,439 56,114 1% 675 0 675 

 

49. The contingency for Adult Social Care clients has been disaggregated this year to 
provide a more transparent view of the demographic pressures on different client 
groups.  The Month 2 forecast  for each client group  shows a number of variances from 
the budgeted contingency , however the net effect is that the forecast assumes the full 
use of contingency available to the department as shown in  table 2 below 

 

 

 

Page 325



 
Cabinet – 25 July 2013 

 

Table 2: Adult Social Care Contingency 
Variance (+ adv / - fav) 

Original 
Budget 

Budget 
Changes Current Commitments Revised 

Budget 

Forecast 
as 

Needed 

Variance 
(As at 

Month 2) 

Variance 
(As at 

Month 1) 

Movement 
from 

Month 1 
£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 

3,814 0 Transitional Children (Demographic) 3,814 3,814 0  0 

1,500 0 BID Staffing Structure Review 1,500 1,500 0  0 

3,997 0 Older People's Services (Demographic) 3,997 4,492 495  495 

1,226 0 Physical Disability (Demographic) 1,226 1,059 (167)  (167) 

896 0 Learning Disability Service (Demographic) 896 692 (204)  (204) 

1,558 0 Mental Health Service (Demographic) 1,558 1,434 (124)  (124) 

12,991 0   12,991 12,991 0 0 0 

 
50. The delay resulting from the Judicial Review challenge to the council’s decision to close 
Day Centres at Parkview and Woodside enabling the delivery of £350k savings from 
both the closure and associated client transport costs, has caused a budget pressure in 
2013/14 of £90k for Older People Services and £260k in Learning Disabilities. 

51. The remaining £65k pressure for Older People Services is made up of an increase in 
homecare costs of £168k offset by additional client income and underspends on staffing 
costs; and the remaining pressure on Learning Disabilities of £321k relates to the 
forecast number of  placements being 5 fte clients higher than originally budgeted for in 
2013/14.  

52. The expenditure forecast for Physical Disabilities is an underspend of £146k due to 
forecast placements there being 3 fte clients less than included in the 2013/14 budget. 

53. There is also an adverse pressure on Mental Health budgets due to an increase in the 
amount of community support provided to clients, which includes home care and 
personal budgets of £55k.  

54. Following on from the restructure of the Social Care and Health group into separate 
Adults and Children Groups, the former Social Care Directorate Budgets need to be 
disaggregated and  this  should be completed  shortly with the appointment of the new 
Director of Adults . The current forecast shows an adverse position of £29k due to the 
increased salary costs arising from the restructure and use of agency staff to cover 
vacancies.  

 

Page 326



 
Cabinet – 25 July 2013 

Appendix B – Other Funds 

Schools Budget 

1. The Schools Budget is ringfenced and funded from the Dedicated Schools Grant (DSG), 
and covers a range of services directly linked to schools.  The majority of the DSG is 
delegated to maintained schools (£118.4m), with the remainder (£31.7m) being retained 
by the Council.  The rules applying to the DSG allow for any surplus and deficit balances 
to be carried forward into the next financial year, for both schools delegated budgets 
and the centrally retained DSG element (decisions on how this is used lie with the 
Schools Forum).  It should be noted that the Schools Budget is completely separate to 
the General Fund and no interaction between these two funds is allowable. 

2. The forecast movement on the DSG central reserve carried forward for 2012/13 is 
summarised in the following table: 

Month 2 Variance (+ adv / - fav) 
Original 
Budget 

Budget 
Changes Revised 

Budget 
Forecast 
Outturn 

Variance 
(As at 

Month 2) 

Variance 
(As at 

Month 1) 

Movement 
from 

Month 1 

£'000 £'000 

  

£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 
(150,058) 0 DSG Income (150,058) (150,058) 0   0 

118,379 0 Delegated to Schools 118,379 118,379 0   0 

4,826 0 Early Years 4,826 4,826 0   0 
4,906 0 Schools (Retained) 4,906 4,222 (684)   (684) 
21,947 0 SEN 21,947 22,925 978   978 

0 0 Total Schools 
Budget 0 294 294 0 294 

(709) 0 Balances b/fwd 01/04/13 (709) (709) 0 0 0 

(709) 0 Balances c/fwd 
01/14/13 (709) (415) 294 0 294 

 
3. The overspend of £294k is due primarily to an overspend of £871k on independent 
special needs school placements for pre- and post-16 pupils, which assumes that more 
pupils are placed in these establishments as local provision is at full capacity.  
Statemented pupil numbers are expected to reach a total of nearly 1,600 placements by 
the end of the financial year, continuing the trend set out in Chart 2 above.  This is 
netted down by an underspend on joint funded placements, where action taken by the 
Council to place children nearer to home has resulted in a significant decrease in the 
numbers placed in residential placements, where to date there are only 8 pupils being 
funded. 

4. The expanding schools contingency is also forecast to overspend by £248k reflecting 
the full impact of places delivered through the Primary Schools Capital Programme for 
September 2013. 

5. At this stage it is too early in the year to forecast with certainty the year end budget 
impact for the 2 year old free entitlement, the 2 year old capacity building fund, and the 
impact of the transfer of responsibility for post-16 pupils.  It is expected that these items 
will be contained within existing budgets. 

6. In year over or underspends are allowed to be carried forward within the DSG central 
reserve.  At the end of the 2012/13 financial year, the DSG central reserve had a surplus 

Page 327



 
Cabinet – 25 July 2013 

balance of £709k.  This is forecast to be reduced by the in-year overspend of £294k, to 
a projected reserve level of £415k as at 31 March 2014. 

Parking Revenue Account 

7. The Parking Revenue Account is established to govern the use of income from Penalty 
Charges Notices (PCNs), together with other on-street parking income streams, in 
accordance with Section 55 of the Road Traffic Regulation Act 1984. 

Month 2 Variance (+ adv / - fav) 
Original 
Budget 

Budget 
Changes Revised 

Budget 
Forecast 
Outturn 

Variance 
(As at 

Month 2) 

Variance 
(As at 

Month 1) 

Movement 
from 

Month 1 
£'000 £'000 

  

£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 
(4,387) 0 Income (4,387) (4,032) 355 0 355 
4,295 0 Expenditure 4,295 4,072 (223) 0 (223) 

(92) 0 In year Surplus 
/Deficit (92) 40 132 0 132 

(67) 0 
Unallocated 
Balances b/fwd 
01/04/13 

(67) (67) 0 0 0 

(159) 0 
Unallocated 
Balances c/fwd 
01/14/13 

(159) (27) 132 0 132 

 
8. An in-year deficit of £40k is forecast for the 2013/14 financial year.  There is a total 
forecast shortfall of income of £355k, reflecting the continued lower level of Penalty 
Charge Notice (PCN) income relative to the historic income target.  This level of shortfall 
assumes that the new parking enforcement contractor in place from August 2013 will be 
able to immediately maintain PCN income at current levels.  The income pressure is 
offset by compensating savings totalling £315k, from the enforcement contract (£180k), 
and various non-pay budgets (£43k), as well as the budgeted surplus of £92k. 

 

Page 328



 
Cabinet – 25 July 2013 

Collection Fund 

9. The collection of local taxes is managed through the Council’s Collection Fund, in order 
to avoid short-term volatility in income impacting on provision of services.  As such any 
surplus or deficit will be factored into budget setting for 2014/15, with current forecasts 
indicating that £2,895k can be released to the General Fund. 

Month 2 Variance (+ adv / - fav) 
Original 
Budget 

Budget 
Changes Revised 

Budget 
Forecast 
Outturn 

Variance 
(As at 

Month 2) 

Variance 
(As at 

Month 1) 

Movement 
from 

Month 1 

£'000 £'000 

  

£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 

(112,926) 0 Gross Council Tax Income (112,926) (113,426) (485) 0 (485) 

15,605 0 Council Tax Reduction Scheme 15,605 15,605 0 0 0 

(480) 0 Balance b/fwd (480) (2,890) (2,410) 0 (2,410) 

(97,801) 0 Net Council Tax 
Income (97,801) (100,711) (2,895) 0 (2,895) 

(99,398) 0 Gross NNDR Income  (99,398) (99,398) 0 0 0 

58,027 0 Less: Tariff 58,027 58,027 0 0 0 
(60) 0 Less: Levy (60) (60) 0 0 0 

(41,431) 0 Net NNDR Income (41,431) (41,431) 0 0 0 

 
10. Current forecasts for 2013/14 Council Tax revenues indicate an in-year surplus of 
£485k, however there may be scope for further improvement in this position as 
additional properties come on stream in the coming months.  To date there has been no 
material movement in uptake of the Council Tax Reduction Scheme however the 
potential impact of upcoming wider benefit reforms may result in adverse movement in 
this position as the year progresses. 

11. In addition to this in-year surplus, a surplus of £2,410k was reported for 2012/13 due to 
limited volatility around exemptions during the fourth quarter of the year and lower than 
anticipated requirement for bad debt provision.  This sum can be added to the in-year 
position to release £2,895k to the General Fund in 2014/15. 

12. Latest NNDR forecasts show no material movement to date on rateable value, however 
there has been an adverse movement on empty properties expected to reduce income 
by £3,000k in 2013/14.  The impact of this variance on Hillingdon’s General Fund would 
be approximately £900k in 2014/15 however there remains significant provision for 
decline in rateable value which could potentially absorb this pressure.  Were rateable 
value to remain constant for the remainder of 2013/14 a surplus of £500k would be 
expected.  In light of the balance of probabilities a breakeven position is reported at 
Month 2. 

 

Page 329



 
Cabinet – 25 July 2013 

Appendix C – HOUSING REVENUE ACCOUNT 

1. The Housing Revenue Account (HRA) is showing an in-year underspend of £542k as 
shown in the following table. 

Table 1: HRA Overview 2013/14 

Month 2 
Variance 
(+ adv / - 
fav) Original 

Budget 
Budget 
Changes 

Revised 
Budget 

Forecast 
Outturn 

Variance 
(As at 

Month 2) 

£'000 £'000 

  

£'000 £'000 

% Var 

£'000 

10,537 0 Housing Management 10,537 10,075 -4% (462) 

12,341 0 Repairs & Maintenance 12,341 12,341 0% 0 

17,838 0 Major Works 17,838 17,838 0% 0 

1,357 0 Development & Risk Contingency 1,357 1,080 -20% (277) 

15,307 0 Interest & Investment Income 15,307 15,307 0% 0 

57,380 0 Sub-total Normal 
Activities 57,380 56,641 -1% (739) 

    Exceptional items:         
  0         0 

57,380 0 Total Net 
Expenditure 57,380 56,641 -1% (739) 

(57,428) 0 Rental Income (57,428) (57,231)   197 
(48) 0 Net Total (48) (590)   (542) 

(20,213) 0 Balances b/fwd 01/04/13 (20,213) (20,213)   0 

(20,261) 0 Balances c/fwd 
31/03/14 (20,261) (20,803)   (542) 

 
2. The Housing Management budget is showing an underspend of £462k.  This is mainly 
due to staffing savings of £110k due to vacant posts pending restructuring proposals, 
and £243k from savings on the costs of the Hayes Area Office. 

3. At this stage both Repairs and Maintenance and Major Works budgets are projected to 
spend to budget.  A process for authorisation and release of Major Works projects is 
being finalised and this will ensure that the budget is spent in line with the approved 
plan. 

4. There is a forecast £277k underspend on the HRA contingency due to projections for 
bad debt movements.  At this stage it unlikely that the full provision will be needed in the 
current year that was assumed for the impact of welfare reforms. 

5. The rental income is showing a small overspend of £197k against a target of £57.4 
million, due to a higher reduction in number of properties through the right-to-buy (RTB) 
scheme, both at the end of last year and then expected for this year. 

Page 330



 
Cabinet – 25 July 2013 

Appendix D – CAPITAL PROGRAMME 
 
Capital Programme Monitoring 

6.  The current forecast outturn on current General Fund capital projects is detailed in table 
1 below.  Forecasts for future years include live capital projects and programmes of 
works as included in the draft programmes for 2013/14 to 2015/16 reported to Cabinet 
and Council in February 2013. 

7.  General Fund Capital Expenditure currently totals £1,179k, representing 1% of forecast 
outturn. The majority of projects are forecasting to fully spend to annual budget.  Capital 
expenditure in 2013/14 is expected to be considerably higher that in 2012/13 as a 
significant proportion of the capital programme is for school expansions and many of the 
schools are now entering the construction stage and will therefore result in significant 
expenditure.    

Table 1 – General Fund Capital Programme 

2013/14 2014/15 2015/16 
Total 
Month 
02   

£’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 

Original Budget 130,779 63,141 17,803 211,723 

Revised Budget 116,722 84,488 16,303 217,513 

Forecast Outturn 116,988 84,488 16,303 217,779 

Council Resourced Variance – see table 8 267 0 0 267 

External Grants Variance 0 0 0 0 

Other Resourced Variance 0 0 0 0 

Programme Variance 267 0 0 267 

 
8. The main internally funded programme shows a net adverse variance of £267k 
comprising pressures of £273k and under spends of £6k as set out in Table 8 below.  
This assumes that the recommendations to fund the cost pressures of £152k from 
general contingency will be approved.  

9. Although not reported as a variance in the above table, phase 2 of the schools expansion 
programme could have a potential surplus against budget of up to £9.8 million. This is 
due to the contract awards indicating lower costs than anticipated during the feasibility 
and design stage of the projects. However, as the construction phase is just beginning it 
would be imprudent not to report an underspend at this stage. There may be unforeseen 
issues that could reduce this favourable position moving forward. Furthermore as phase 
2 develops a favourable position is more likely to emerge in next year with regards to 
budget phasing, in line with the completion of the projects. 

  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 331



 
Cabinet – 25 July 2013 

 
Table 2 

2013/14 2014/15 2015/16 
Total  

(Mth 02) Council Resourced Variance 
£’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 

Pressures:         

Hillingdon Sports & Leisure Centre 73 0 0 73 

Primary School Expansions - Phase 2A Temporary 200 0 0 200 

Total Council Resourced Pressures: 273 0 0 273 

Underspends:         

Manor Farm Stables Development -6 0 0 -6 

Total Council Underspends: -6 0 0 -6 

Projected Rephasing 0 0 0 0 

Main Programme Variance 267 0 0 267 

General Contingency -1,375 -1,500 -1,500 -4,375 

Unallocated Priority Growth 0 0 0 0 

Council Resourced Variance -1,108 -1,500 -1,500 -4,108 

 
Council Resourced Variances 
 
10. Negotiations are ongoing with the contractor over the completion of remedial works at 
Hillingdon Sports & Leisure Centre.  Consultants have been appointed to assess the 
scope of the additional works required.  These issues are resulting in a forecast over 
spend of £73k. 

11. Primary Schools Expansions – Phase 2A temporary - due to the poor performance of 
the contractor on these projects, the contract was terminated and new contractors 
employed.  The likely over spend is estimated to be £200k; however it now seems likely 
that the final position may reduce further as negotiations have progressed. 

12. General Contingency – funds totalling £4,527k are reserved to deal with cost pressures 
arising on projects in the main capital programme over the next three years to 2015/16 
and currently are reported as under spent by £4,375k. 

External Grants Variance 

13. Abbotsfield Sixth Form Refurbishment - final accounts have been agreed resulting in an 
under spend of £69k which will be returned to the urgent building schools conditions 
unallocated budget. 

Capital Financing  

Table 3 

2013/14 2014/15 2015/16 2016/17-
2017/18 

Total 
Month 
(02) 

Capital Receipts 
  

£’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 

Budget Approved February 2013 11,936 17,057 9,173 5,464 43,630 

Revised Budget 9,024 17,057 9,173 5,464 40,718 

Forecast Capital Receipts from 
Disposals  8,801 14,087 10,764 3,399 37,050 

Page 332



 
Cabinet – 25 July 2013 

Variance 223 2,970 -1,591 2,065 3,667 
 

14. Capital receipts for 2013/14 are forecast to be £8,801k. This represents a £223k 
reduction from the revised budget level.  Over the next four years, the forecast 
accumulated disposal receipts is £37,050k. There is an element of risk around the 
certainty of these receipts being fully realised which has been reflected in the disposals 
forecast.  This is £3,667k lower than the budgeted level which will have the effect of 
increasing borrowing levels.  However overall borrowing levels are offset by a reduction 
£4,081k from under spends on council resourced schemes. 

Table 4 

2013/14 2014/15 2015/16 2016/17-
2017/18 

Total 
Month 
(02) 

Prudential Borrowing Forecast 
  

£’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 
Revised Budget 75,513 26,634 563 3,772 106,481 

Council Resourced Variance -1,081 -1,500 -1,500 0 -4,081 

Capital Receipts Variance 223 2,970 -1,591 2,065 3,667 

Forecast Borrowing 74,655 28,104 -2,528 5,837 106,067 

 

Housing Revenue Account Capital Programme 

16. Table 11 sets out the latest forecast outturn for the HRA capital programme. 

Table 5 

2013/14 2014/15 2015/16 
Total 
Month 
(02) 

Housing Revenue Account Capital Programme 
  

£’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 
Original Budget 3,352 3,485 3,485 10,322 

Revised Budget 3,709 3,485 3,485 10,679 

Forecast Outturn 4,486 3,485 3,485 11,456 

HRA  Resourced Variance – see table 12 777 0 0 777 

External Grants Variance 0 0 0 0 

Other Resources Variance 0 0 0 0 

Programme Variance 777 0 0 777 

 

17. HRA capital expenditure to the end of May 2013 was £76k representing 2% of the 
forecast outturn. Over spends forecast for 2013/14 amount to £777k. 

Table 6 

2013/14 2014/15 2015/16 
Total 
Month 
02 

HRA Resourced Variance 

£’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 
Pressures:         

New Build - Extra Care Sites Phase 1 535 0 0 535 

New Build - HRA Pipeline Sites Phase 1 5 0 0 5 

New Build - Learning Disability Sites Phase 1 121 0 0 121 

New Build - HRA Pipeline Sites Phase 2 116 0 0 116 

Total HRA Resourced Pressures: 777 0 0 777 

Page 333



 
Cabinet – 25 July 2013 

Projected Rephasing 0 0 0 0 

HRA Resourced Variance 777 0 0 777 

18. New Build HRA Extra Care Sites Phase 1: Triscott House – contractual issues (change 
in design briefs) leading to a forecast over spend of £535k have yet to be resolved with 
the main contractor. The over spend will depend on the outcome of final assessment of 
cost and could range from £416k to £892k. The forecast represents a median case 
scenario representing approximately 10% of the total budget. The Council is in litigation 
with the contractor and this significantly extends the time frame to resolve these issues. 

19. The New Build HRA Learning Disability Sites scheme is currently expected to 
overspend by £121k. Whilst the project is now complete, there are additional costs to be 
incurred on final account around external landscaping and flooring costs at Horton Road 
and drainage and utility connection works at Ascott Court. 

20.New Build HRA Pipeline Sites Phase 2 is forecasting an overspend of £116k  on final 
account for the Gilbert Road site due to extra demolition costs, pre-construction fees 
and additional highways works.    

21The HRA Works to Stock is currently forecasting to spend to budget £3,352k although 
once works have commenced and progressed further during the financial year this 
forecast will be revised. 

 

 

Page 334



 
Cabinet – 25 July 2013 

Appendix E- Treasury Management Report 

Outstanding Deposits - Average Rate of Return on Deposits: 0.50% 
 Actual 

£m 
Actual   
% 

Bench-mark 
% 

Up to 1 Month 89.1 59.36 60.00 
1-2 Months 13.0 8.66 15.00 
2-3 Months 15.0 9.99 10.00 
3-6 Months 24.0 15.99 10.00 
6-9 Months 3.0 2.00 5.00 
9-12 Months 0.0 0.00 0.00 
12-18 Months 0.0  0.00 0.00 
Subtotal 144.1 96.00 100.00 
Unpaid Maturities 6.0 4.00 0.00 
Total 150.1 100.00 100.00 

 
1. With the exception of the unpaid Icelandic investments, our deposits are held with UK 
institutions, which hold at a minimum, a Fitch or lowest equivalent of A- long-term credit 
rating. 

2. Deposits are currently held with the following institutions; BlackRock MMF, Deutsche 
MMF, Fidelity MMF, Goldman Sachs MMF, Ignis MMF, HSBC MMF, PSDF MMF, Royal 
Bank of Scotland, HSBC, Lloyds TSB, Bank of Scotland, Barclays and Kinston-upon-
Hull City Council. 

3. During May fixed-term deposits continued to mature in line with cashflow requirements. 
Any surplus funds were either placed in instant access accounts or fixed term deposits 
of up to six months in order to meet near term cash flow requirements. 

Outstanding Debt - Average Interest Rate on Debt: 2.98% 
 Actual 

£m 
Actual 
% 

General Fund   
PWLB 75.04 21.87 
Long-Term Market 15.00 4.37 
HRA    
PWLB 220.07 64.14 
Long-Term Market 33.00 9.62 
Total 343.11 100.00 

 
4. There were no early debt repayment opportunities or rescheduling activities and no 
breaches of the prudential indicators during May. 

Ongoing Strategy 
 
5. In order to maintain liquidity for day-to-day business operations, short-term balances will 
be placed in short term deposits of up to three months, as these are generally yielding a 
higher rate of interest than instant access accounts. When cash flow allows, long term 
deposits will be placed to help increase the average rate of return achieved.  

6. During May outstanding PWLB loans still carried large premiums and therefore made 
rescheduling of debt unfeasible. Early redemption opportunities will continue to be 
monitored. 

Page 335



 
Cabinet – 25 July 2013 

Appendix F – Consultancy and agency assignments over £50k approved under 
delegated authority 

 
The following Agency staff costing over £50k have been approved under delegated powers 
by the Chief Executive in consultation with the Leader and are reported here for 
information.  
 

Post Title  Start Date  Proposed 
End Date 

2011/12
Spend 
(or 

earlier)    
£'000s 

2012/13 
Spend    
£'000s 

Current 
Request 
£'000s  

Total 
Spend      
£'000s 

Administration & Finance 

Commercial 
Manager - 
ASC/Children's 

  08-Nov-11 06-Dec-13 0  39  73  112  

Commercial 
Manager - 
Public Health 

09-Nov-12 23-Jun-13 0  27  23  50  

Commercial 
Manager 

06-Nov-12 05-Sep-13 0  34  29  63  

Procurement 
Manager 

20-Feb-12 13-Dec-13 8  104  53  165  

Procurement 
Manager – 
Construction 

18-Jun-12 05-Sep-13 0  100  48  148  

Senior Lawyer 
ECS & Social 
Care 

01-Apr-12 30-Jun-13 0  49  18  67  

Senior Lawyer 
– HRA 

01-Apr-10 31- Mar-14 47  57  58  162  

Property 
Lawyer 

01-Jun-12 30-Sep-13 0  45  26  71  

Property 
Lawyer 

16-Jul-12 30-Sep-13 0  36  26  62  

Head of Internal 
Audit 

15-May-13 14-Aug-13  0 38  41  79  

Principal 
Accountant 
Capital 

13-May-13 23-Jun-13  0  81 13  94  

Residents Services 

Clerk of Works 
(outside 
establishment) 

01-Feb-13 30-Sep-14 0  0  120  120  

Senior Delivery 
Manager 

03-Mar-11 27-Sep-13 89  95  50 234  

Page 336



 
Cabinet – 25 July 2013 

 
Post Title  Start Date  Proposed 

End Date 
2011/12
Spend 
(or 

earlier)    
£'000s 

2012/13 
Spend    
£'000s 

Current 
Request 
£'000s  

Total 
Spend      
£'000s 

Senior Delivery 
Manager 
(outside 
establishment) 

  05-Nov-12 27-Sep-13            0  49  61  110  

Delivery 
Manager 
(outside 
establishment) 

 
26-Apr-12 

 
27-Sep-13 

 
0  

 
65  

 
55  

 
120  

Delivery 
Manager 
(outside 
establishment) 

13-Aug-12 27-Sep-13 0  48  38  86  

Delivery 
Manager 
(outside 
establishment) 

07-Jan-13 27-Sep-13 0  23  41  64  

Principal 
Quantity 
Surveyor 
(outside 
establishment) 

04-Apr-11 27-Sep-13 53 57 42 152 

Quantity 
Surveyor  

13-Mar-11 27-Sep-13 56 51 29 136 

Quantity 
Surveyor 
(outside 
establishment) 

19-Nov-12 27-Sep-13 0 26 33 59 

Quantity 
Surveyor 
(outside 
establishment) 

12-Nov-12 27-Sep-13 0  23  34  57  

Quantity 
Surveyor 
(outside 
establishment) 

11-Jul-12 27-Sep-13 0  41  29  70  

Project 
Manager 
(outside 
establishment) 

08-Oct-12 27-Sep-13 0  40  43  83  

Delivery 
Manager 
(outside 
establishment) 

15-Oct-12 27-Sep-13 0  41  56  97  

Development 
Surveyor 

19-Jul-11 29-Nov-13 31  64  50  145  

Project 
Manager 
(outside 
establishment) 

09-Jul-12 12-Jul-13 0  55  21  76  

Early Years 
Practitioner 

01-Jan-11 01-Jun-13 25  20  5  50  

Early Years 
Practitioner 

01-Jan-11 01-Jun-13 25  20  5  50  

Page 337



 
Cabinet – 25 July 2013 

 
Post Title  Start Date  Proposed 

End Date 
2011/12
Spend 
(or 

earlier)    
£'000s 

2012/13 
Spend    
£'000s 

Current 
Request 
£'000s  

Total 
Spend      
£'000s 

Electrical 
Engineer 

04-Oct-10 30-Aug-13 68  42  19  129  

Highways 
Engineer 
(outside 
establishment) 

30-Jul-12 02-Aug-13 0  38  19  57  

Building Control 
Surveyor 

02-Jul-12 19-Jul-13 0  49  21  70  

Interim Chief 
Education 
Officer 

    01-Jul-12 26-Jul-13 0  92  128  220  

Interim 
Corporate 
Transformation 
Manager 
(outside 
establishment) 

 
01-Aug-10 

 
30-Sep-13 

 
240  

 
172  

   
 273  

 
685  

Early Years 
Practitioner 

01-Jul-13 31-Mar-14 0  37 21  58  

Programme Co-
Ordinator, 
General 
Construction 

12-Nov-12 10-Jan-14 0  22 49  71  

Development 
Surveyor 

19-Jul-11 29-Nov-13 31 64 50  145  

Architect  15-Apr-11 04-Oct-13 35 49 27  111  

Architect 23-May-11 27-Sep-13 29 65 27 121 

Schools 
Building 
Surveyor 

25-Jun-12 27-Sep-13 0 39 34 73 

Planning 
Enforcement 
Lawyer 

13-Sep-12 27-Sep-13 0  27  33  60  

Social Care and Health 

Children’s 
Homes 
Residential 
Care Worker 

01-Apr-10 28-Jul-13 42  18  2  62  

Merrifield Team 
Residential 
Care Worker 

01-Apr-10 28-Jul-13 61  29  11  101  

Merrifield Team 
Residential 
Care Worker 

01-Jan-11 28-Jul-13 40  23  10  73  

Children’s 
Homes 
Residential 
Care Worker 

01-Apr-10 28-Jul-13 42  19  5  66  

Children’s 
Homes 
Residential 
Care Worker 

01-Apr-12 28-Jul-13 0  53  12  65  

Page 338



 
Cabinet – 25 July 2013 

 
Post Title  

 
Start Date  

 
Proposed 
End Date 

 
2011/12
Spend 
(or 

earlier)    
£'000s 

 
2012/13 
Spend    
£'000s 

 
Current 
Request 
£'000s  

 
Total 
Spend      
£'000s 

ASC Disabilities 
Day Centre Off. 
 

01-Apr-10 28-Jul-13 41  25  3  69  

C&F -Merrifield 
Team Residential 
Care Worker 

 
01-Sep-11 

 
28-Jul-13 

 
14  

 
26  

       
   10  

 
50  

C&F -Merrifield 
Team Residential 
Care Worker 

01-Apr-11 28-Jul-13 33  29  11  73  

ASC Disabilities 
Residential Care 
Worker 

01-Apr-10 28-Jul-13 57  21  9  87  

ASC Disabilities 
Residential Care 
Worker 

01-Apr-10 28-Jul-13 57  21  9  87  

ASC Disabilities 
Residential Care 
Worker 

01-Apr-10 28-Jul-13 57  21  9  87  

ASC Disabilities 
Residential Care 
Worker 

01-Apr-10 28-Jul-13 57  21  9  87  

ASC Disabilities 
Residential Team 
Leader 

01-Apr-10 28-Jul-13 45  17  6  68  

ASC Disabilities 
Residential Care 
Worker 

01-Apr-10 28-Jul-13 46  26  7  79  

ASC Disabilities 
Residential Care 
Worker 

01-Apr-10 28-Jul-13 46  26  9  81  

ASC Disabilities 
Residential Care 
Worker 

01-Apr-10 28-Jul-13 46  26  9  81  

ASC Disabilities 
Residential Team 
Leader 

01-Apr-10 28-Jul-13 48  33  11  92  

ASC Disabilities 
Residential Care 
Worker 

01-Apr-10 28-Jul-13 46  26  6  78  

ASC Disabilities 
Residential Care 
Worker 

01-Apr-10 28-Jul-13 46  26  6  78  

ASC Disabilities 
Residential Care 
Worker 

01-Apr-10 28-Jul-13 46  26  12  84  

ASC Disabilities 
Night Care 
Worker 

01-Apr-10 28-Jul-13 39  22  6  67  

Page 339



 
Cabinet – 25 July 2013 

 
Post Title  Start Date  Proposed 

End Date 
2011/12
Spend 
(or 

earlier)    
£'000s 

2012/13 
Spend    
£'000s 

Current 
Reques
t £'000s  

Total 
Spend      
£'000s 

ASC Disabilities 
Residential Care 
Worker 

01-Apr-10 28-Jul-13 36  26  6  68  

ASC Disabilities 
Residential Team 
Leader 

 
01-Apr-10 

 
28-Jul-13 

 
57  

 
19  

 
11  

 
87  

ASC Disabilities 
Senior Support 
Worker 

01-Apr-10 28-Jul-13 37  15  6  58  

ASC Disabilities 
Day Centre 
Officer 

01-Apr-10 28-Jul-13 25  33  8  66  

ASC Disabilities 
Day Centre 
Officer 

01-Apr-10 28-Jul-13 40  25  8  73  

ASC Disabilities 
Day Centre 
Officer 

01-Apr-10 28-Jul-13 41  25  8  74  

ASC Disabilities 
Day Centre 
Officer 

01-Apr-10 28-Jul-13 41  25  8  74  

ASC Deputy 
Director 

 
24-Apr-12 

 
28-Jul-13 

 
0  

 
175  

 
63  

 
238  

ASC Access and 
Assessment 
Team Manager 

23-Jul-12 28-Jul-13 0  58  27  85  

ASC Access and 
Assessment 
AMHP 

02-Aug-10 28-Jul-13 58  61  21  140  

ASC Technical 
Admin Team 
Project Manager 

17-Jun-10 28-Jul-13 153  70  32  255  

C&F Triage Social 
Worker 

19-Feb-12 28-Jul-13 20  53  14  87  

C&F-Tech Admin 
Officer 

01-Apr-10 30-Jun-13 44  21  2  67  

C&F 
Safeguarding 
Disabled 
Children's 
Strategy 

01-Apr-10 28-Jul-13 78  36  5  119  

C&F Triage Social 
Worker 

01-May-12 28-Jul-13 0  57  18  75  

C&F CIN Team 
Social Worker 

01-Apr-10 28-Jul-13 94  49  16  159  

Page 340



 
Cabinet – 25 July 2013 

 
    Post Title  Start Date  Proposed 

End Date 
2011/12
Spend 
(or 
earlier)    
£'000s 

2012/13 
Spend    
£'000s 

Current 
Reques
t £'000s  

Total 
Spend      
£'000s 

C&F Referral & 
Assessment 
Team Manager 

01-Apr-12 28-Jul-13 0 48 25 73 

C&F Referral & 
Assessment 
Team Archiver 

01-Apr-10 28-Jul-13 40  22  4  66  

C&F Asylum  
Deputy Team 
Manager 

17-Oct-11 28-Jul-13 12  73  24  109  

C&F-Referral & 
Assessment 
Team Social 
Worker 

01-Aug-11 28-Jul-13 33  45  32  110  

C&F-Tech Admin 
Assistant 

01-Apr-10 28-Jul-13 48  22  5  75  

C&F Asylum  
Social Worker 

12-Sep-11 28-Jul-13 26  47  16  89  

C&F Asylum  
Social Worker 

07-Nov-11 28-Jul-13 30 49 16 95 

C&F CIN Team 
Senior Social 
Worker 

01-Apr-12 28-Jul-13 0  51  14  65  

C&F Referral & 
Assessment 
Team Social 
Worker 

01-Mar-12 28-Jul-13 6  50  23  79  

C&F Referral & 
Assessment 
Team Social 
Worker 

01-Apr-12 28-Jul-13 0  57  21  78  

ASC  - Mental 
Health AMHP 

20-Aug-12 28-Jul-13 0  33  17  50  

ASC Disabilities 
O/T Care 
Manager 

18-Jun-12 28-Jul-13 0  41  20  61  

ASC Mental 
Health Service 
Manager 

10-Oct-12 28-Jul-13 0  47  18  65  

ASC Reablement 
Project Manager 

01-Aug-12 28-Jul-13 0  40  21  61  

C&F Asylum 
Social Worker 

15-Aug-11 28-Jul-13 28  48  17  93  

C&F Asylum 
Support Worker 

01-Apr-12 28-Jul-13 0  41  14  55  

Page 341



 
Cabinet – 25 July 2013 

 
Post Title  Start Date  Proposed 

End Date 
2011/12
Spend 
(or 

earlier)    
£'000s 

2012/13 
Spend    
£'000s 

Current 
Reques
t £'000s 

Total 
Spend      
£'000s 

C&F CIN Team 
Senior Social 
Worker 

 
 

01-Apr-12 

 
 

28-Jul-13 

 
 
0  

 
 

49  

 
 

22  

 
 

71  
C&F CIN Team 
Senior Social 
Worker 

01-Apr-12 28-Jul-13 0  46  19  65  

C&F CIN Team 
Senior Social 
Worker 

 
01-Apr-12 

 
28-Jul-13 

 
0  

 
46  

 
19  

 
65  

C&F Triage 
Deputy Team 
Manager  

15-Jul-12 28-Jul-13 0 49 23 72 

C&F CIN Team 
Senior Social 
Worker 

01-Apr-12 28-Jul-13 0  50  19  69  

C&F -Technical 
Admin Team 
Admin Assistant 

01-Apr-11 28-Jul-13 21  23  7  51  

C&F-Tech Admin 
Officer 

 
01-Feb-11 

 
28-Jul-13 

 
26  

 
23  

 
7  

 
56  

Telecare & 
Reablement 
Project Manager 

01-Apr-13 31-Jul-13  0 40  46  86  

C&F Social 
Worker 

01-Jan-12 30-Jun-13  14 58  6  78  

C&F Social 
Worker 

 01-Jan-12 30-Jun-13  6 43  5  54  

C&F Social 
Worker 

 01-Jan-12 30-Jun-13  14 51   5 70 

C&F Service 
Manager  

01-Aug-12 30-Jun-13 0 102          12 114  

C&F Assessment 
& Intervention 
Social Worker 

 01-May-12 30-Jun-13  0 49  4  53  

Social Worker 
(Asylum Team) 

01-May-13 30-Jun-13  0 49  4  53  

Service Support 
Manager ASC 

06-May-13 30-Jun-13  153 70  25  248  

 

 
 

Page 342



 
 

 
Cabinet – 25 July 2013 

SCHOOL PLACES PLANNING UPDATE (2013-2022) 
 
Cabinet Member(s)  Councillor David Simmonds 
   
Cabinet Portfolio(s)  Deputy Leader of the Council 

Education and Children’s Services 
   
Officer Contact(s)  Julien Kramer, Residents Services 

Dan Kennedy, Administration Directorate 
   
Papers with report  None 
 
HEADLINE INFORMATION 
 
Summary 
 

 The local authority has a statutory responsibility to secure 
sufficient early years and school places for children resident in 
Hillingdon.  The demand for early years and school places in 
Hillingdon is rising and is forecast to continue to grow.  This is in 
line with national and London-wide predictions.  This report builds 
on the previous updates to Cabinet in February and April 2013 
which set out the future forecast needs.  This update report 
presents steps taken and action planned to address future needs 
for schools places to make best use of the education resources in 
Hillingdon.  

   
Contribution to our 
plans and strategies 

 Effective early years and school places planning is a key element 
of the Council-led Children’s Pathway Programme to put ‘families 
first’ in Hillingdon. 

   
Financial Cost  There are no direct costs arising from the recommendations of this 

report. However there are significant potential resource 
implications arising from the analysis of the increase in school 
places requirement. 

   
Relevant Policy 
Overview Committee 

 Education and Children’s Services  

   
Ward(s) affected  All wards in Hillingdon 
 
2. RECOMMENDATIONS 
 
That the Cabinet: 
 
1) Note the progress to date to ensure the sufficient provision of early years child care 
places for disadvantaged two year olds and the rising demand for primary and secondary 
school places and special education needs and; 
 
2) Agree proposals for meeting forecast needs are reported to a future meeting of the 
Cabinet for approval. 

Agenda Item 11

Page 343



 
 

 
Cabinet – 25 July 2013 

Reasons for recommendation 
 
As part of the strategic education function of the local authority, Hillingdon Council has a 
statutory responsibility to secure sufficient early years and school places to meet the needs of 
children resident in the Borough.  From September 2013 this includes the provision of child care 
places for disadvantaged two year olds.  The demand for primary school places in Hillingdon 
has been rising for the last six years and is forecast to continue to grow and will continue into 
secondary school education.  This is in line with national and London-wide predictions for 
school places.  Demand for school places from children with special educational needs is also 
increasing. Given the forecast rising demand for school places across the education system in 
Hillingdon there is therefore an opportunity to make best use of all education resources and 
partner resources available in Hillingdon by delivering a co-ordinated school places plan over 
the next ten years for children of all age groups, educational and special needs. 
 
Alternative options considered / risk management 
 
The ten year school places plan for children and young people positions the local authority to 
continue to successfully meet its statutory duty working with provider partners and those who 
have an interest in education to secure sufficient and high quality early years and school places 
for children. 
 
Policy Overview Committee comments 
 
None at this stage. 
 
3. INFORMATION 
 
Supporting Information 
 
Summary 
 
3.1 An outline plan for Hillingdon’s early years child care and school places was agreed at 

February 2013 Cabinet to cover all age ranges and educational needs for children and 
young people.  This joined-up approach ensures effective planning and commissioning of 
education services to make best use of existing resources to meet forecast needs in 
flexible and creative ways.  This report provides an update of progress made to 
successfully increase the provision of high quality school places in the right place at the 
right time for children.  For primary school places the report highlights those parts of the 
Borough where there is a remaining pressure over the next five years and what action is 
being taken to prepare proposals to address the predicted need.  For children of secondary 
school age, the pressure is predicted in 2016/17 and officers have been working with Head 
Teachers to explore options for increasing the provision of secondary school places in the 
Borough.  Options to develop the provision of school places to meet the needs of children 
with additional and complex needs is also progressing and will be presented to a future 
Cabinet meeting. 

 
3.2 The increasing demand for early years and school places in Hillingdon is attributable to a 

number of factors: 
 

• A growing population in Hillingdon – particularly concentrated in the south/south-east of 
the Borough 

Page 344



 
 

 
Cabinet – 25 July 2013 

 
• An increase in premature babies survival rates with a commensurate increase in the 

number of children with severe and complex needs 
 

• Inward migration and reduced outward migration, including a growing number of 
children with complex needs moving into Hillingdon 

 
Early Years – Child Care Places for Disadvantaged Two Year Olds 
 
3.3 From September 2013 the offer of early education extends to 20% of the most 

disadvantaged two year olds and then 40% of disadvantaged two year olds from 
September 2014.  The Department for Education (DfE) have estimated that in Hillingdon 
these percentages equate to 757 places for disadvantaged two years olds by September 
2013 and at least an additional 800 places by September 2014. 

 
3.4 Officers have been actively progressing action to ensure a sufficient supply of early years 

places for two year olds including: 
 

• Targeting existing providers to make sufficient child care places available for 
disadvantaged two year olds.  Officers have been targeting the south and south east of 
the Borough as an area experiencing higher birth rates and therefore higher potential 
demand for child care places 

• Working with existing providers to make best use of their existing buildings and to re-
configure their day care timetable to maximise the number of places available 

• Supporting new child care providers to enter the market-place 
• Increasing the awareness of parents of the offer for two year olds 
• Improving parents’ perception of the benefits of early years child care and the provision 

of child minder services in their area 
• Flexible use of temporary accommodation as it becomes available in the capital build 

programme 
 
3.5 Good progress has been made towards meeting the target for September 2013 of 

providing an early learning place for the 20% most disadvantaged two year olds (target of 
757 places).  Work has taken place with existing private, voluntary and independent 
childcare settings to make full use of existing capacity and currently there are 680 places 
available for disadvanategd two year olds.  A further 43 childminders are being considered 
for approval to offer funded places which is expected to deliver the remaining child care 
places by September 2013. 

 
3.6 Encouraging take up of the ‘two year old offer’ by the most disadvantaged families is a 

challenge and to help with this, a marketing and communications campaign is underway to 
raise awareness of the child care support available and to support eligible families to 
access the scheme. 

 
3.7 By September 2014, 40% of two year olds nationally will be eligible to receive a funded 

place.  In Hillingdon this is likely to mean 1,500 places will need to be available.  This is a 
significant increase in places and it is anticipated that these additional places can only be 
met by providers opening new child care places in Hillingdon.  Planning is taking place to 
meet this target by looking at premises that can be used to offer childcare provision e.g. 
local authority premises that are either empty or not being used fully and also through the 
use of temporary classroom units no longer needed for the school expansion programme. 

Page 345



 
 

 
Cabinet – 25 July 2013 

Primary School Places 
 
3.8 As reported to Cabinet in February and April 2013 there is a need to secure an additional 

3,150 primary school places over the next ten years over and above the existing 
successful schools expansion programme.  The growth in pupil numbers is concentrated in 
the south/south-east of the Borough. 

 
3.9 The delivery of the council-led schools expansion programme has successfully kept pace 

with the the rising demand for primary school places and at £149m is one of the largest 
expansion programmes in London.  The programme has ensured sufficient provision of 
high quality school places in the right place at the right time. 

 
3.10 The council has successfully secured approval for two new primary schools in those areas 

of the Borough experiencing high demand for school places (a new three form entry 
primary school in the Uxbridge area and a new three-form entry primary school in the 
Hayes / Wood End area).  These two new purpose-built schools will open for September 
2014 and will provide a total of 1,260 places for children. 

 
3.11 Hillingdon Council has also been working in partnership with local education providers and 

the Education Funding Agency to support the provision of high quality free school places in 
those areas of highest need.  This includes a new one-form entry primary school in the 
Hayes area of the Borough and a new-four form of entry primary school in the Hayes / 
Wood End area of the Borough.  These schools are expected to provide a total of 150 
additional reception school places from September 2013 onwards. 

 
3.12 The significant expansion programme of existing schools and the provision of new schools 

in the Borough has mitigated the presenting demand pressures for school places in 
Hillingdon.  The demand for primary school places continues to grow and there are now 
four ‘hotspots’ remaining in the Borough over the next five years where officers are actively 
progressing proposals to address the predicted need.  The remaining areas of the Borough 
where pressure for places is predicted over the next five years includes the following (set 
out below).  Officers are keeping under close review the numbers of children who need a 
primary school place to ensure that the provision of school places is responsive to 
fluctuations in demand.  Officers will present options to the Leader of the Council, the 
Cabinet Member for Education and Children’s Services and the Cabinet Member for 
Finance, Property and Business Services before the end of July for consideration in the 
first instance. 

 
• North Ruislip Area (Pupil Place Planning Area 3) – the forecast indicates a need for one 

additional form of entry required for September 2016. 
 
• Ruislip Area (Pupil Place Planning Area 5) – the primary pupil planning forecast for the 

Ruislip area indicates a need for one additional form of entry over the next five years.   
 

• Yiewsley/West Drayton Area (Pupil Place Planning Areas 10 and 14) – pupil place 
planning forecasts predict a need for a minimum of three additional forms of entry over 
the next two to three years.  Localised pressure for primary school places is beginning 
to emerge in these areas.  Officers have been reviewing options to meet this need. 

 
 
 

Page 346



 
 

 
Cabinet – 25 July 2013 

• Hayes / Cranford Area (Pupil Place Planning Area 12) – an additional two forms of 
entry are predicted to be required in this area over the next five years.  The need for 
additional places is being kept under review in light of additional capacity expected from 
the provision of the new free school in the Hayes area. 

 
Secondary School Places 
3.13 Predictions from the Greater London Authority indicate the number of secondary pupils in 

Hillingdon is set to increase by 25% (an extra 3,900 pupils) to more than 19,000 between 
September 2012 and 2021/22.  The rate of increase is faster for year 7 pupils (the entry 
year into secondary schools) as the growth in primary pupils moves into secondary 
education.  This is consistent with the increase in primary pupil numbers and similarly is 
concentrated in the south/south-east of the Borough.  In the medium-term there are 
sufficient secondary school places.  The pressure for secondary school places is expected 
to begin from the year 2016/17 onwards and will lead to a need to provide an additional 16 
forms of entry for secondary school places in the Borough. 

 
3.14 Since the update to Cabinet in April 2013 officers have been in discussion with the Head 

Teachers of secondary schools in the Borough to establish what their plans are for 
developing their school and to undertake an outline appraisal of existing school sites to 
assess the potential for expanding the provision of school places.  Officers have been 
exploring opportunities to expand existing secondary schools in the first instance given the 
significant land required for a typical six form of entry secondary school to meet prescribed 
school standards e.g. space for playing fields.  Typically the size of site required for a 
school of this size is approximately six hectares. 

 
3.15 Officers are finalising the findings from discussions with Head Teachers and their 

Governors and will present a briefing paper setting out options for consideration to the 
Leader of the Council, the Cabinet Member for Education and Children’s Services and the 
Cabinet Member for Finance, Property and Business Services before the end of July 2012.  
Proposals will be brought back to Cabinet for approval. 

 
Special Educational Needs (SEN) 
3.16 The number of children with an assessed special education need has increased by 20% 

over the last 6 years (approximately an extra 250 children) and the needs of children are 
becoming more complex requiring higher levels of support in some cases.  The increase in 
the number of children with a SEN in Hillingdon has required the use of school places 
outside Hillingdon or in independent special schools in recent years which brings with it the 
need for longer journeys travelling from home to/from school with increased transport 
costs. 

 
3.17 Children with additional needs require extra support to reach their full potential in school 

and to make a successful transition into adulthood, whether into employment, further or 
higher education or training.  Some children will be subject to an assessment of their 
educational needs by the local authority and if their needs are complex will receive a 
statement of special educational needs (SEN) which sets out what the needs are and how 
their needs will be met.  SEN means that a child either has a: 

 
• significantly greater difficulty in learning than the majority of children of the same age 
• disability that prevents or hinders them from making use of educational facilities 

normally provided for children of the same age in schools 
 

Page 347



 
 

 
Cabinet – 25 July 2013 

3.18 The key categories of need of children who have a SEN are: 
• Cognition and learning needs (e.g. moderate to severe learning disability) 
• Behaviour, emotional and social development needs 
• Communication and interaction needs (e.g. autistic spectrum disorder) 
• Sensory and / or physical needs (e.g. visual impairment) 

 
3.19 There is the option available to evolve a more local model of school provision.  This 

includes the option to increase the provision of places available at local mainstream 
schools through a special resource provision (SRP).  This would enhance the integration of 
pupils with SEN in Hillingdon.  Therefore proposals to meet the future education needs of 
children with special educational needs are being developed alongside those for primary 
and secondary school places. 

 

Number of Children with a Statement of Educational Need - 
Hillingdon (actual - January each year)

1150

1200

1250

1300

1350

1400

1450

1500

2007 2008 2009 2010 2011 2012 2013

 
 
3.20 As part of the BID Children’s Pathway Programme in Hillingdon focused on ‘putting 

families first’, over the last two months officers have been reviewing opportunities to 
develop the number of school places available locally by increasing special resource 
provision (SRP) within local schools.  A site-by-site outline assessment is underway and 
discussion with Head Teachers to inform an options appraisal is being prepared for the 
end of July 2013 for consideration by the Leader of the Council, the Cabinet Member for 
Education and Children’s Services and the Cabinet Member for Finance, Property and 
Business Services.  Proposals will be presented to Cabinet for approval. 

 
Financial Implications 
 
For early years the target of 20% provision by September 2013 for the most disadvantaged two 
year olds has progressed with the majority of places now identified within the voluntary and 
independent sector with plans in place to meet the remaining target. The further target of a 40% 
provision by September 2014 has led to a review of local authority premises that are empty or 
partly empty and consideration of the potential use of temporary classrooms no longer being 
utilised by the expansion programme to provide additional space for the early years provision. 
Both of these options will have potential financial implications in any conversion or 
refurbishment requirements plus use of temporary classrooms that require to be moved to a 
new site, costs for which will need to be identified and if agreed be added to the capital 
programme in due course via the MTFF.  The potential resourcing of this could be provided by 

Page 348



 
 

 
Cabinet – 25 July 2013 

the current one off Capacity Building grant held within the DSG of £937k, this has had a limited 
commitment against it and with Schools Forum agreement could be earmarked for an 
investment of this nature.  In addition there may be flexibility with the current 2013/14 2 year old 
“free entitlement offer” DSG placement funding of £2.3 million to provide resource as a 
underspend is expected in this first year of operation.  This would also need to be agreed with 
the Schools Forum. 
 
The Council’s current approved Primary Schools Expansion programme is set at £149 million 
and will provide 30.5 additional permanent forms of entry and 32 temporary forms. This has 
been planned to provide the increased primary school places up to September 2015. The 
pressures described in the paper above are over and above that existing programme. Based on 
experience so far the average cost of 1 permanent form of entry has ranged from £4.5 million to 
£5 million. Therefore for the further Primary pressure outlined in the paper above this would 
suggest the need for further expansion of a further 6 FE or an investment of between £27 
million to £30 million and for Secondary pressure the required expansion would be a required 
investment of between £72 million and £80 million.  
 
Previous up-dates on placement planning have recommended that partnership working and 
engaging with potential new providers of Free Schools be actively explored.  Financially this is 
likely to be a less costly approach than to match school place growth with a pure Council driven 
programme, which may not be affordable in the long term.  Free Schools are more likely to 
attract government and private sector funding. 
 
The current Primary Schools Expansion programme factors in £63.6 million of DFE grant and 
£16.7 million of S106 resources.  The balance of £69.4 million is being resourced from a 
combination of borrowing and capital receipts from disposals of council assets. Further increase 
in a Council led build programme for further schools expansion would require a significant 
increase in borrowing with associated revenue cost implications. Therefore a strategy that looks 
at partnership would potentially mitigate the further impact on council resources.  
 
The report also notes the potential impact on Post 16 year-old education and training and 
Special Education Needs, growth of which in both areas will have revenue implications for the 
Council. 
 
4. EFFECT ON RESIDENTS, SERVICE USERS & COMMUNITIES 
 
What will be the effect of the recommendation? 
The recommendations set out in this report will ensure the local authority and partners in 
Hillingdon deliver sufficient, high quality education provision for children resident in the Borough. 
 
Consultation Carried Out or Required 
Council officers have been consulted and involved in developing the outline school places plan 
and priorities to support and align fully to Hillingdon’s Children’s Pathway Programme.  The 
development and implementation of the school places plan will involve partners and other 
stakeholders. 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 349



 
 

 
Cabinet – 25 July 2013 

5. CORPORATE IMPLICATIONS 
 
Corporate Finance 
 
Corporate Finance has reviewed this report and notes that although there are no direct financial 
implications arising from the recommendations there are considerable resource implications for 
the Council’s capital programme as outlined within the Financial Implications section. The 
Council is still awaiting Central Government Targeted Basic Needs capital funding allocation 
announcements.  However, even with this and other future funding streams it is highly likely that 
the Council will have to apply its own resources to any additional expansion programme and a 
figure of over £50m is already factored into the MTFF alongside corresponding revenue 
financing provision.  The report highlights additional pressures within all sectors, particularly 
disadvantaged 2 year olds and SEN.  Financing strategies for further places provision will be 
developed through the MTFF process as developments are further progressed. 
 
Legal 
 
Pursuant to section 14 of the Education Act 1996 the Council has a statutory duty to ensure that 
sufficient school places are available in its area for providing primary, secondary and special 
education. Further, the Childcare Act 2006 places the following legal duties on the Council: to 
make sure that there are enough childcare services for working parents/carers; secure free 
early years provision; and assess childcare provision.  
 
With regards to establishment of new schools it is worth noting that the Education and 
Inspections Act 2006, (as amended by the Education Act 2011), places a statutory duty to give 
precedence to academy/free school proposals, where a local authority identifies the need to 
establish a new school in their area. 
 
Under the Council’s Constitution Cabinet has the appropriate power to agree recommendations 
proposed at the outset of this report.  Further, by virtue of Section 1 of the Localism Act 2011 
which makes provision for ‘a general power of competence’ for local authorities in England. The 
‘power’ gives local authorities the power to do anything an individual can do unless specifically 
prohibited by law.  This includes the power to act in the interest of their communities. 
 
6. BACKGROUND PAPERS 
 
NIL 
 
 

Page 350



Agenda Item 12

Page 351

By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government (Access to Information) Act 1985 as amended.

Document is Restricted



Page 364

This page is intentionally left blank



Agenda Item 13

Page 365

By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government (Access to Information) Act 1985 as amended.

Document is Restricted



Page 376

This page is intentionally left blank



Agenda Item 14

Page 377

By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government (Access to Information) Act 1985 as amended.

Document is Restricted



Page 392

This page is intentionally left blank



Agenda Item 15

Page 393

By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government (Access to Information) Act 1985 as amended.

Document is Restricted



Page 402

This page is intentionally left blank



Agenda Item 16

Page 403

By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government (Access to Information) Act 1985 as amended.

Document is Restricted



Page 408

This page is intentionally left blank



Agenda Item 17

Page 409

By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government (Access to Information) Act 1985 as amended.

Document is Restricted



Page 424

This page is intentionally left blank



Agenda Item 18

Page 425

By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government (Access to Information) Act 1985 as amended.

Document is Restricted



Page 430

This page is intentionally left blank



Agenda Item 19

Page 431

By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government (Access to Information) Act 1985 as amended.

Document is Restricted



Page 444

This page is intentionally left blank



Agenda Item 20

Page 445

By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government (Access to Information) Act 1985 as amended.

Document is Restricted



Page 458

This page is intentionally left blank



Agenda Item 21

Page 459

By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government (Access to Information) Act 1985 as amended.

Document is Restricted



Page 462

This page is intentionally left blank



Page 463

By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government (Access to Information) Act 1985 as amended.

Document is Restricted



Page 466

This page is intentionally left blank



Agenda Item 22

Page 467

By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government (Access to Information) Act 1985 as amended.

Document is Restricted



Page 472

This page is intentionally left blank



Agenda Item 23

Page 473

By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government (Access to Information) Act 1985 as amended.

Document is Restricted



Page 482

This page is intentionally left blank



Page 483

By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government (Access to Information) Act 1985 as amended.

Document is Restricted



Page 484

This page is intentionally left blank



Page 485

By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government (Access to Information) Act 1985 as amended.

Document is Restricted



Page 486

This page is intentionally left blank



Page 487

By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government (Access to Information) Act 1985 as amended.

Document is Restricted



Page 526

This page is intentionally left blank



Agenda Item 24

Page 527

By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government (Access to Information) Act 1985 as amended.

Document is Restricted



Page 534

This page is intentionally left blank



Page 535

By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government (Access to Information) Act 1985 as amended.

Document is Restricted



Page 536

This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	3 To approve the minutes of the last Cabinet meeting
	5 High Speed 2 Update (Cllrs Puddifoot & Burrows)
	Appendix 1 - London Assembly Environment Committee Response
	Appendix 2 - London Assembly Transport Committee Response
	Appendix 3 - Design Refinement Consultation response
	Appendix 4 - Draft Environmental Statement consultation response

	6 Report from the Residents' & Environmental Services Policy Overview & Scrutiny Committees 2012/13 - A Review into local Pest Control Services and the impact of Waste Management processes on them (Cllrs Bianco, Burrows & Corthorne)
	Policy Overview Committee Review - Final Report

	7 Joint Adult Mental Health Commissioning Plan 2013/15 (Cllrs Corthorne & Seaman-Digby)
	Appendix - Joint Adult Mental Health Commissioning Plan

	8 Integrating Public Health in Hillingdon (Cllr Corthorne)
	9 Budget 2012/13 Outturn (Cllr Bianco)
	10 Monthly Council Budget Monitoring Report 2013/14 (Cllr Bianco)
	11 School Places Planning Update (Cllr Simmonds)
	12 School Capital Programme Update (Cllrs Bianco & Simmonds)
	13 Contract Award for Meals on Wheels (Cllr Corthorne)
	14 Contract Award for Preventive Drop In and Outreach Service for Disabled People with Low or Moderate Needs (Cllr Corthorne)
	15 Contract Hire of Winter Maintenance vehicles (Cllr Bianco)
	16 Repair and Maintenance of the Council Vehicle Fleet (Cllr Bianco)
	17 Contract Extension for Generic Carers Support Service and Young Carers Service (Cllrs Corthorne)
	18 Contract Extension for Extra Care Housing provision of personal care (Cllr Corthorne)
	19 Contract Award for Uxbridge Library Refurbishment (Cllr Bianco)
	20 Framework Agreement for Major Adaptations Works (Cllr Bianco)
	21 Collation & processing of rubble & hard core aggregates for highways functions (Cllr Burrows)
	Tender Appendix

	22 Land at Highfield Crescent, Northwood (Cllr Bianco)
	23 Park Lodge Farm, Harefield (Cllr Bianco)
	Appendix 1
	Appendix 2
	Appendix 3

	24 Voluntary Sector Leases (Cllr Bianco)
	Site Plan


